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HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.


BOOK VI.
(CONTINUED)


CHAP. VII.



Proceedings in Parliament relative to the renewal of the Company's Charter in 1793—Sir John Shore succeeds Lord Cornwallis as Governor-General—Relations of the English Government to the Nizam and the Mahrattas—Death of Mhadajee Scindia—War between the Nizam and Mahrattas—Guarantee of the Treaty of Alliance—Death of the Peshwa, and its Effects—Treaty fulfilled by Tippoo, and the Hostages restored—State of Oude—Death of the Nabob of Oude, and Succession of his Son—The young Nabob dethroned by the English on a charge of Spuriousness, and Saadut Ali made Nabob—Affairs at Madras—Death of Mahomed Ali—Lord Hobart endeavours to obtain the Transfer
Edition: current; Page: [2]
of part of the Nabob's Country—Dispute between Lord Hobart and the Supreme board—Capture of the Dutch Settlements.





BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.In 1793, the termination of the period assigned to the exclusive privileges of the Company so nearly approached, that the question of renewing the charter, and of confirming or changing the present system of government, could no longer be deferred. People had now so generally acquired the habit of lifting their eyes to the management of national affairs; and equal treatment to all so forcibly recommended itself as the best rule of government, that the commercial and manufacturing population were impelled to make an effort, more than usually strong, for the freedom of the Eastern trade. The principal places of manufacture and commerce, in the kingdom; Liverpool, Glasgow, Paisley, Manchester, Norwich, Exeter; exhibited combinations of the merchants and manufacturers, who passed the strongest resolutions; importuned the ministers; petitioned the legislature; and desired to have an opportunity of proving how much the real policy of commerce was violated, and the wealth of the country kept down, by the monopoly of so large a field of trade as that unhappily consigned to the East India Company.

The Indian government was so organized, as now very well to answer ministerial purposes; it was therefore the study of ministers to preserve things as they were. The Board of Control and the Court of Directors cast, with some skill, the parts which they had respectively to perform. A committee of Directors was appointed whose business it was to draw up reports upon the subject of the Eastern trade, and to answer the arguments of those by whom the freedom
Edition: current; Page: [3]
of that trade was advocated or claimed. Three suchBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. reports were exhibited. They were in the first instance referred to the Committee of the Privy Council relating to trade and plantations; and in the proper stage of the business were submitted to the House of Commons.

On the 25th of February, Mr. Dundas, in the House of Commons, made a display of the pecuniary state of the Company. Fortunately for the designs which were in agitation, the accounts of receipt and disbursement presented, just at that moment, a balance of a large amount, on the favourable side. Of this circumstance, the greater possible advantage was taken. Every thing which could be effected by the confident assertions, so potent in persuasion, of men of influence and power, was done, to captivate the general mind with a prospect of Indian prosperity; to generate a belief that a great fountain, whence a perennial stream of wealth would flow upon the British nation, was, by the wisdom of its rulers, secured to them in India. Estimates were formed, with all the airs of accuracy, or rather of moderation, by which it was made to appear, that the surplus, exhibited by the accounts of the year immediately passed, would, in future years, rather increase than diminish. And with profound solemnity an appropriation, as if for perpetuity, was proposed, of a large superabounding sum, which would, it was said, be annually received from India. The eyes of men were successfully dazzled; and when Mr. Dundas called out to them, “Will you stop the tide of so much prosperity for untried theories,” those who knew but little either about the theory or the practice of the case, that is, the greater number, were easily made to believe, that there was a great certainty of securing what they were told was the actual influx of
Edition: current; Page: [4]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.wealth, if they persevered in the present course; a great danger of losing it, if they allowed themselves to be drawn, by delusive prospects, into another.

The friend of Mr. Dundas, and, as well from intellect as from office, the advocate of his schemes, Mr. Bruce, the historiographer of the Company, says, “Upon no occasion, perhaps, have men's minds been less prepared for a decision, on a subject of such magnitude and importance.”1 It is, indeed, true, that the people were deplorably ignorant of the history and management of their East India affairs; and it was, on this account, the more easy to make them throw themselves, with blind confidence, upon the assertions of men, whose knowledge was presumed from their situation and pretensions.

An annual surplus of 1,239,241l. from the revenues and Commerce of India, after paying the Company's Indian charges of every description, was assumed. Of this magnificent sum, the following distribution was to be made. In the first place, as most due, it was proposed, that 500,000l. should be annually appropriated to liquidate the debt of the Company contracted in India. But in the next place, it was patriotically determined, that 500,000l. should be annually given to the nation, as a tribute from its Indian dominion. With regard to the remainder of the grand surplus, it was represented, by the Indian minister, as no more than equitable, that the meritorious proprietors of East India stock should not be forgotten. He recommended an increase of dividend from eight to ten per cent. By this, 100,000l. more
Edition: current; Page: [5]
of the annual surplus would be absorbed. A circumstance,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. which might have excited suspicion, but which appears to have been perfectly guiltless of any such disagreeable effect, was this; that, amid all these promises of wealth, the Company was in want of pecuniary assistance; and was to receive immediate authority for raising what was equivalent to a loan of 2,000,000l. It was not indeed to be called a loan. The name of a loan, associated with the idea of poverty, was at this time to be avoided. The Company were to be empowered to add 1,000,000l. to their capital stock, which, being subscribed, on the faith of a dividend of ten per cent., at 200 per cent., produced to the Company's treasury a sum of 2,000,000l. By this, it was said, the Company's bond debt in England would be reduced to 1,500,000l. The dividend upon this new capital would exhaust 100,000l. more of the surplus revenue. Of the appropriation of the remainder, which, to show accuracy, and because even small sums are of great importance, was carried to the last degree of minuteness, it would here, however, be out of place to render any account.

After some affectation of discord between the Board of Control and the Court of Directors, Mr. Dundas having even pretended in parliament to beleive it possible that the Company might decline to petition for the renewal of their charter on the terms which the minister desired to impose, the petition of the Company was presented to the House of Commons, and taken into consideration on the 23d of April.

It was, to some of the opposing members, a source of complaint, when a measure, on which interests of so much importance depended, and about which so profound an ignorance prevailed, was to be considered and determined, that a committee, to collect and to communicate information, had not, as on former occasions,
Edition: current; Page: [6]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.preceded the decision, for which a call upon the legislature was now about to be made. Such a committee, by which ministerial purposes were more likely at the present moment to be thwarted than served, the ministers represented as altogether unnecessary; because, there was no material circumstance, they asserted, relating to India, about which there was not sufficient information, in the valuable and numerous documents, which they had communicated to the House.

The speech of Mr. Dundas displayed and recommended the projected plan. In all the great and leading particulars, the scheme which had been introduced by Mr. Pitt's bill of 1784, and better adapted to ministerial or national purposes by the amendments or declarations of succeeding acts, remained without alteration.

The powers of the Board of Control, and of the Court of Directors, were established on the same footing, on which they had been placed by the declaratory act of 1788. The powers of the Governor-General and his Council, of whom was composed the supreme organ of government in India, with the powers of the Governors and Councils at the subordinate presidencies, remained as they had been established by the act of 1784, and the amending act of 1786. The monopoly of the Eastern trade was still secured to the Company. The appropriations recommended by Mr. Dundas, of a supposed surplus of revenue, were dressed in the formalities of law. The increase of dividend, and the increase of capital, were authorized. And the lease of the exclusive privileges was renewed for a term of twenty years.

Only two alterations were introduced, of sufficient importance to require statement and explanation.

When the bill of Mr. Pitt entered the lists against
Edition: current; Page: [7]
that of Mr. Fox, the ground of patronage was theBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. field of contention. On this it was, that, as the demerit of the one was to suffer defeat, the merit of the other was to be crowned with victory. On the part, therefore, of Mr. Pitt, Mr. Dundas, and their party, was required, either the reality, or, in place of the reality, the affectation, of a sort of horror at the enormity of increasing ministerial influence. To evade objections from this source; objections which they themselves had raised to such a height of importance, it was arranged, on the introduction of the plan, that no salary should be annexed to the duties of the Board of Control. These duties were to be executed by Members of His Majesty's Privy Council, who had good emoluments, on some other score, and so little to do for them, as to be very well paid for discharging the duties of the Board of Control into the bargain. This make-shift, unless it be contemplated in the light of a trick, to amuse the spectators till their attention relaxed, when paid functionaries of the usual sort might be quietly introduced, is a species of burlesque on legislation. To attach to one office a salary whose magnitude is out of all proportion to the duties; next to create another office with ample duties but no salary: and then to jumble both sets of duties, however heterogeneous, into one set of hands, exhibits a singular contrast with the rule of securing every service by its own appropriate reward; and paying no more for any service, than the performance of the service strictly demands. The time was now come, when the same aversion to patronage was not necessary to be displayed. It was therefore enacted, that a salary, to be paid by the Company, should be annexed to the office of certain of the Commissioners of the India Board; and that, in the appointment of those Commissioners, the circle
Edition: current; Page: [8]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.of the Privy Council should no longer be the boundary of His Majesty's choice.

The second alteration regarded the Indian trade. As an expedient, for softening the opposition of the commercial bodies, it was devised, that the Company should afford annually not less than 3,000 tons of shipping, in which private individuals might on their own account traffic with India, subject to the restriction of not importing military stores, or importing piece goods, and subject also to the restriction of lodging imports in the Company's warehouses, and disposing of them at the Company's sales.

In adducing motives for the approbation of these measures, Mr. Dundas was successful and unsuccessful: unsuccessful in offering any reasons which can now satisfy an enlightened inquirer, but completely successful in offering reasons which satisfied the bulk of his auditory. He began with what he knew to be a favourite topic for a British Parliament—the wisdom of contempt for theory. On this occasion, however, theory was treated by him with unusual lenity; for though Mr. Dundas affirmed that the theories to which he was opposed did not hold true in the case for which he had to provide; he was not very unwilling to allow that they held good in all other cases. The propositions, which Mr. Dundas here vilified by the name of theories, were two; the first, That the business of government, and the business of commerce, cannot, with advantage to the governed, be lodged in the same hands; the second, That freedom is the life of commerce, and restraint and monopoly its bane. What argument did Mr. Dundas produce to show that these propositions did not hold true in the case of India? India, said he, has hitherto been governed in contempt of them: ergo, they do not hold true in the case of
Edition: current; Page: [9]
India. Mr. Dundas, it is true, asserted also, that IndiaBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. had been governed well; but “governed well,” in this case, means simply governed, and nothing more; “governed,” somehow or other. As to the quality of the government, besides that it was the gratuitous and interested assumption, therefore worth nothing, of Mr. Dundas, what is the standard of comparison? India had been governed well, as compared with what? As compared with the highest state of advantage in which human nature is capable of being placed? This is what Mr. Dundas himself would not have ventured, even in his boldest moments of affirmation, to state. As compared with the ancient Mogul government? Was that the meaning of Mr. Dundas? A mighty boast! That the pride of British legislation should produce something not quite so bad as the despotism of barbarians. And this, even at that time, was a matter of doubt. It is, now, something more. If this, however, was the meaning; the logic of the ministers and of parliament, the one inventing, the other assenting, stood as follows: “India, in the hands of a civilized people, has been governed, not quite so badly, say the ministers; quite as badly, say other persons; as when it was under the despotism of barbarians: Therefore, it is true, that the union of commerce with government, and the monopoly of trade, are good things in India.” This is a logic by which a man may be helped to a great variety of convenient conclusions. With Mr. Dundas, the Grand Vizir of Constantinople might say, The empire of the Sublime Port is “governed well;” ergo, janisaries, and the bow-string, are excellent in the empire of the Sublime Port. The above reasoning Mr. Dundas corroborated by an established parliamentary axiom, which he often found of unspeakable utility, That all change in matters of government is bad. Allow
Edition: current; Page: [10]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.this, and it followed, with undeniable certainty, that all change in the government of India was bad. On the other hand, if the absolute and universal truth of that celebrated axiom should be susceptible of dispute, all the oratory which Mr. Dundas expended on the topic of change in general, falls, unsupported, to the ground.

The particular change which his opponents contemplated, the removal of the government of India from the hands of a commercial corporation, would, he said, produce the following effects; It would retard the payment of the Company's debts; it would check the growing commerce between the two countries; and it would endanger the allegiance of India. He asked, if it would be wise to incur so much danger for a theory? With regard to the first two of these bare, unsupported assumptions, which ought to have passed for nothing, experience has provided the answer. The government has remained as Mr. Dundas desired, and the Company, so far from paying its debts, has enormously increased them; it has remained as Mr. Dundas desired, and the commerce, instead of increasing, has dwindled to a trifle. That in a well-ordered attempt to improve the mode of governing the people of India, there was any thing to weaken their allegiance, is so evidently untrue, that it is only wonderful there should be a legislative assembly, in a civilized country, in which it could be asserted without derision and disgrace.

“All this danger, said the Indian minister, “to be incurred for a theory?” First, Mr. Dundas's eagerness to escape from theory has not avoided the danger, but realized a great part of it. Secondly, when he treats the word theory; when all that class of politicians, to which he belonged, treat the word theory, with so much contempt, what is it they
Edition: current; Page: [11]
mean? Thought: All application of the thinkingBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. powers to the business of government, they call theory; every thing, in short, except mechanical trudging in a beaten track. In the present case, thought, applying the results of experience to the circumstances of India, endeavoured to foresee what mode of government would be attended with the happiest effects: But if ever thought, in consequence of this operation, recommends any thing different in government from that which actually exists, it is by Mr. Dundas and his fellows, to receive the name of theory, and to be exploded. “All the good which now exists, will you sacrifice it to a theory?” When thought has accurately weighed the value of that which exists, and accurately weighed the value of that which may be got by a change; and, after all that is good and evil on both sides is maturely considered, pronounces deliberately that the second value is greater than the first; what is meant by asking, whether it is wise to sacrifice so much good to a theory? Is it not asking us whether it is wise to sacrifice the less good to the greater? In such cases the answer is, That it is wise, to sacrifice so much good to theory. It is only an abuse of language to express the facts in such inappropriate terms.

Mr. Dundas said, that no two persons agreed, in the substitutes which were proposed for the present plan. This, too, however ridiculous, is a standing argument against improvement. Yet it is not the question, whether few or many schemes are proposed; but whether any of them is good. It would be a strange maxim of government, that, where a great end is in view, and men have different opinions about the means, in that case all power of choice should be extinguished, and things must remain as they are. How numerous soever the opinions, it is still the business
Edition: current; Page: [12]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.of wisdom to inquire what is best; and take the most effectual measures for carrying it into happy execution. It is worthy of particular regard, that almost all the general arguments of those who oppose the improvement of political institutions, may thus be traced up to one assumption; viz. That the original condition of human beings, the brutal savage state, ought never to have been altered: and that all those men who have laboured to make human nature what it is, ought to be condemned as wicked.

Among his other arguments, or more properly speaking his assertions, Mr. Dundas affirmed, that the surplus revenue of India could not be carried to England, which he affectedly called realizing, but by the Company's trade. There is nothing, it appears from experience, too absurd to pass for an argument in an aristocratically assembly. That neither money nor goods could be conveyed from India to England, except by the East India Company, was a proposition which it required no ordinary share of credulity to digest. Experience, moreover, has proved, what a knowledge of the theory of man would have foretold, that there would be no surplus revenue to bring.

Mr. Dundas made use of other assertions. He asserted, that free trade would produce colonization; and that colonization would produce the loss of India. Unhappily, it is almost impossible to establish any considerable number of Europeans in India; because the natives subsist upon so little, that the wages of labour are too low to enable Europeans to live. If it were possible, nothing would be of so much advantage, both to the people of India, and to the people of England.

As a weight to counterbalance the arguments of those who pleaded for the separation of the commerce from the government of India, and for the dissolution
Edition: current; Page: [13]
of the Company, Mr. Dundas delivered it as his old,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. and, after much time and experience, his present and confirmed opinion, that, if the patronage of India were added to the other sources of the influence of the crown, it would be sufficient to ensure to the crown a majority in both houses of parliament, and would destroy the substance of the constitution, through the medium of its forms. The patronage of India was transferred to the crown. It was the express purpose of the declaratory act of 1788, to place the government of India fully and completely in the hands of the ministers. Is the patronage of the Admiralty Board, the patronage of the Commander-in-Chief, or that of the Lord Chancellor less ministerial patronage, because it is by these functionaries it is dispensed? Was it possible to give to ministers the unlimited power over the government of India, and not to give the benefit of the patronage along with it?

The two great crimes of which the government in India had been accused were; pillage of the natives; and wars of conquest. The present bill, Mr. Dundas asserted, would cure these evils. How? It had two expedients for that purpose: The land-tax was now fixed: And the Governor-General was responsible to parliament.

For annexing salaries to the Board of Control, and enabling his Majesty to make any body a Commissioner, little trouble in search of a reason seems to have been thought necessary. Without a salary, and without a choice of other persons than members of the Privy Council, no body, said Mr. Dundas, could be got who would keep the office so long, or attend to its business so much, as to be capable of taking a useful part in its management. Nine years before, was this incapable of being foreseen? But foresight
Edition: current; Page: [14]
BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.is theory. When the Commissioners of Control were first appointed, there were persons who had so much salary, and so little to do for it, that they would be very well paid for both services, viz those of the India Board, and those attached to the salary, added together. After an additional salary was got for the India Commissioners, what was done with the surplus salary of those who had too much for the services which it was intended to pay? Was any of it taken away? No. Why? To this last question, no answer is required.

By allowing 3,000 tons for private trade in the Company's ships, Mr. Dundas took credit for having done something considerable in favour of the manufacturers and merchants. The source of advantage in private trade would be found in the more expeditious and economical methods to which private interest would give birth. By subjecting the private trader to the delays and expenses of the Company, Mr. Dundas cut off the possibility of advantage; and the merchants declined to occupy the unprofitable channel which he had opened.

In every one of the particular objects which this bill pretended to have in view; the enlargement of British commerce; the extinction of debt; and the prevention of conquest; its failure, on experience, has proved to be complete.

It encountered very little opposition till its third reading in the lower house. On that occasion it was furiously assaulted by Mr. Fox. The House of Commons, he observed, had, in the year 1780, proclaimed their solemn opinion, that, “the influence of the Crown had increased, was increasing, and ought to be diminished.” In defiance of this alarming declaration, in violation of the solemn protestations with which the nation were amused, upon the first introduction
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of the present system of Indian government,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. a new lot of influence was avowedly created. This was little. The mighty mass of evil existed in the influence which was warehoused for ministerial use with the Court of Directors. This was the most dangerous patronage at the disposal of the Crown. Why? because it was irresponsible. “Is it,” said Mr. Fox, “to be placed in the hands of those who really have the power over it? No! it is to be given to their agents and dependents; whose responsibility, from the nature of their situation, it is absurd to speak of.—It has been asserted,” he cried, “that the patronage of India consists in the appointment of a few writers. If there is a man in this House! if there is a man in this country! if there is one man in the British territory in India! who can believe this assertion, I wish him joy of his credulity! I ask any man, who is not insane,—in whom, if this bill shall pass into a law, will the whole of the patronage of India be invested? Will not the Company and their Directors be the mere tools of the minister? Who appointed Lord Cornwallis? who Sir John Shore? The clear effect of the measure is to give to the minister all the power, and screen him from all responsibility”2

Mr. Pitt answered; By complaining that his opponent had deferred to the last stage the statement of his objections; And by endeavoring to show, that the appointment of writers to India, who begin as clerks, and rise by seniority to places of importance, could not greatly increase the influence of ministers, even if their power over Directors were as complete as the argument of the opposition supposed. This, however, was not to deny, that ministers possessed
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.all the influence created by the patronage of India; a fact which, at this time, Mr. Pitt did not affect to dispute: It was only to assert, that this influence, when it was got, was of inconsiderable importance. This was to contradict his own arguments against the bill of Mr Fox; and to recant every assertion by which he had successfully covered it with odium. It was also to contradict the principal argument by which Mr. Dundas had defended the propriety of continuing the government of India in the hands of a commercial company. But it did not subvert the truth, that a mass of wealth equivalent to all the lucrative offices in India, ready to be employed by the Crown, in purchasing the co-operation of those who were appointed to check it, would contribute largely to convert the checking into a confederate body; and to establish a fatal union of King and parliament upon the ruin of the people.

The views of the parties who demanded, on this occasion, a change in the management of Indian affairs, are too nearly the same with the views, which have already been discussed, of preceding parties, to require any particular examination. The merchants petitioned chiefly for freedom of trade. On what grounds of reason, has been, as far as compatible with the nature of the present undertaking, already disclosed. The political change which most of the complaining parties appeared to contemplate, was the transfer of the details of government from the Court of Directors to his Majesty's ministers. On what ground, it appears to me, that the transfer of power which has already been made from the Court of Directors to his Majesty's ministers is not an improvement, and, by parity of reason, that any further transfer would not be an improvement, has been seen in my explanation of the nature of the
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instrument for the good government of India, whichBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. was provided, by Mr. Pitt, in the Board of Control.

To communicate the whole of the impression, made upon a mind, which has taken a survey of the government of India, by the East India Company, more completely through the whole field of its action, than was ever taken before, and which has not spared to bring forward into the same light the unfavourable and the favourable points, it may be necessary to state, and this I conceive to be the most convenient occasion for stating, That, in regard to intention, I know no government, either in past or present times, that can be placed equally high with that of the East India Company; That I can hardly point out an occasion on which the schemes they have adopted, and even the particular measures they pursued, were not by themselves considered as conducive to the welfare of the people whom they governed; That I know no government which has on all occasions shown so much of a disposition to make sacrifices of its own interests to the interests of the people whom it governed, and which has, in fact, made so many and such important sacrifices; That, if the East India Company have been so little successful in ameliorating the practical operation of their government, it has been owing chiefly to the disadvantage of their situation, distant a voyage of several months from the scene of action, and to that imperfect knowledge which was common to them with almost all their countrymen: But that they have never erred so much, as when, distrusting their own knowledge, they have followed the directions of men whom they unhappily thought wiser than themselves, viz. practical Statesmen, and Lawyers; And that, lastly, in the highly important point of the servants, or subordinate agents of government, there is nothing
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.in the world to be compared with the East India Company, whose servants, as a body, have not only exhibited a portion of talent which forms a contrast with that of the ill-chosen instruments of other governments: but have, except in some remarkable instances, as that of the loan transactions with the Nabob of Arcot, maintained a virtue, which, under the temptations of their situation, is worthy of the highest applause.

For the immediate successor of Lord Cornwallis, choice was mude of Mr. Shore, a civil servant of the Company, whose knowledge of the revenue system of India was held in peculiar esteem. Pacific habits, and skill in revenue, were possibly regarded as means abundantly necessary for realizing those pecuniary promises, which had been so loudly and confidently made to both the parliament and people of England.

About the same time that Mr. Shore, dignified for his new station with the title of Sir John Shore, succeeded to the substantial power of the government of Bengal, its nominal sovereign, the Nabob Mubarek ul Dowla, died, after a life of thirty-seven years, and a reign of twenty-three. He left twelve sons and thirteen daughters, and was succeeded by his eldest son Uzeer ul Dowla, who was solemnly proclaimed at Calcutta on the 28th of September.

The first important circumstance which solicited the attention of the new Governor-General, was the appearance of an approaching rupture between two of the late confederates; the Nizam, and the Mahrattas. The views, upon one another, of these two states, had undergone no permanent alteration from the union to which the desire of sharing in the spoils of Tippoo had given a temporary existence. Intervening circumstances had nearly matured into act their inimical designs.
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The treaty of alliance, offensive and defensive,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793. between the English, the Nizam, and Mahrattas, included a mutual guarantee against the common object of their hatred and apprehensions, the sovereign of Mysore. This guarantee Lord Cornwallis appears to have thought of great importance for English security. It follows, that he must have expected greater benefit from the co-operation of the Nizam and Mahrattas, in case of an attack, than mischief from entanglement in the wars to which the turbulent politics of these native states would certainly give occasion. The mode in which the contracting parties were to act, in accomplishing the objects of the guarantee, was left, in the treaty concluded previously to the war, to be settled by subsequent regulation. So much had the Governor-General this affair of the guarantee at heart, that he endeavoured, as soon after the war as possible, to secure it by an express treaty devoted to that particular object. It was, however, to be an extraordinary treaty; for Lord Cornwallis, not being altogether without foresight of the evils likely to abound from an obligation to take a part in the wars which the Nizam and Mahrattas might kindle, was for inserting an article, by which the allies were not to assist one another, except, just when they pleased; or, as he chose to express it, “until they were convinced that the party requiring assistance had justice on his side, and all measures of conciliation had proved fruitless.”3

A draught of a treaty, to this effect, was transmitted to the courts of Hyderabad and Poonah. The
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1793.Nizam, though fully sensible that the English alone stood between him and destruction, was yet encouraged to the hope of drawing his profit out of the eagerness for this treaty which the Governor-General displayed. A dispute had already sprung up between him and Tippoo Sultan. The Nabob of Kernoul was the dependant of the Nizam. On that chief Tippoo was urging claims which the Nizam contested. When solicited on the subject of the treaty, the Nizam demanded, as the price of his consent, the support of the English in the affair with Tippoo. This behaviour, the English, who knew their advantages, treated as a crime; and expressed so much of anger, that the Nizam was eager to redeem his offence by unlimited complaisance.

As the power of the Mahrattas was different, so was their temper. The Poonah Councils were still governed by Nana Furnaveze, who now despairing of assistance from the English to support him against the designs of Scindia, opposed to the importunities of the Governor-General, on the subject of his treaty, evasion and delay. At last the Mahratta minister produced a sketch of a treaty of guarantee to which he expressed his willingness to accede, but involving terms, the acceptance of which, it is probable, he did not expect. Among these was an engagement for realizing the claims of chout upon the dominions of Tippoo.

The Mahrattas were jealous of the enlarged, and growing power of the English. They were impatient to reap the spoils of the feeble Nizam; an acquisition, to which they regarded the connexion of that prince with the English as the only obstruction. Scindia, whose power had been so greatly increased, now exerted a decisive influence on the Mahratta councils; and entertained designs of future grandeur
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with which the ascendancy, or rather the existence,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794. of the English in India was altogether incompatible. He was not solicitous to disguise his hatred of the connexion between them and the Nizam; or the satisfaction with which he regarded the power of Tippoo, as a counterpoise to the still more formidable power of the English.

After a negotiation of more than a year, the accession of the Mahrattas to the union so fondly projected by Lord Cornwallis, was regarded as hopeless. The Nizam, who saw in their aversion to the proposed engagements, a design of holding themselves at liberty to fall upon him, was kindled to an ardent pursuit of the guarantee; and urged upon the English government the propriety of concluding the treaty singly with him; as it could be no reason, because a third party swerved from its engagements, that the other two should abandon theirs.4 It entered, however, into the policy of Sir John Shore, to avoid whatever could excite the jealousy of the Mahrattas: The English government, accordingly, declared its satisfaction with the verbal acquiescence of the Nizam; and on the part of the Mahrattas, with a promise, incidentally given, that they would act agreeably to existing treaties.

The Nizam became at last so much impressed with the prospect of the dangers around him, that on the 1st of January, 1794, Sir John Kennaway, the English resident at Hyderabad, described him to the Governor-General, as prepared to form, with the English, engagements, which would render them masters of his country for ever; and urged the wisdom of not allowing so favourable an opportunity to escape.5
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794.The course into which the Mahrattas had been guided, by impulse of the circumstances in which they were placed, very highly favoured the extension of their dominion, by gradual encroachments upon the slothful and improvident governments of India. Enabled from the nature of their country, and their state of society, to exercise with advantage a continual war of depredation against the surrounding states, they were often bribed to forbearance, by those who could find no other security against their ravages. The terms of this agreement came at last to be fixed, at a fourth part of the revenues of the country which they consented to spare. This was an opening, at which the stronger party generally found the means of introducing whatever was required for the final subjugation of the country. The fourth part of the revenues was always a disputed sum; and as the Mahrattas endeavoured to make it appear to be greater than it really was, the government of the country endeavoured to make it less. Nothing is ever paid by an Indian government, so long as it can help it; least of all, an odious tribute. The Mahratta chout therefore was seldom paid, except by the terror of a Mahratta army; and by consequence it was almost always in arrear. Under the
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pretension of security against imposition and delay inBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794. the receipt of the chout, the Mahrattas as often as possible insisted upon sending their own officers into the country to collect it. This gave them a power of interference in every measure of the government, and the support of a body of partisans, who, exercising the powers of Indian tax-gatherers, were masters of the property, and to a great degree of the person of every man subject to their exactions.

The dominions of the Nizam had long sustained the Mahratta chout; and previous to the connexion which was formed between the Hyderabad government and Lord Cornwallis, the Mahrattas exercised so great an authority in his country, that the minister of the Nizam was more attentive to the wishes of the Mahrattas than the commands of his Master. During the necessity of exertion against Tippoo, and the union formed for his subjugation, the Mahrattas had yielded to a temporary relaxation of their influence over the country of the Nizam. But they now intended to resume it with improvements; and a long arrear of chout afforded the pretext for interference.

The English government offered its mediation. The ready acceptance of the Nizam was not a matter of doubt. The Mahrattas employed evasion; and as soon as they were convinced that the interposition of the Governor-General would certainly not be with arms, they treated his mediating propositions with frigid indifference.

A circumstance, calculated to alarm the English government, occurred. Tippoo Sultan had an army in the field, and either intended, or under terror was suspected of intending, a confederacy with the Mahrattas for the subjugation of the Nizam. The question was, what course it now behoved the English government to pursue.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794.By the treaty of alliance, the Nizam, it might be urged, was entitled to the assistance of the English against Tippoo; and so little were they released from their engagement, by the infidelity of the Mahrattas, that they were rather bound to compel them to fulfil the conditions of a treaty, of which the parties were implied guarantees. Besides, the Nizam had declared, that his accession to the alliance against Tippoo was founded, not upon any confidence which he could place in Mahratta, but on that alone which he reposed in English, faith: Receiving him into the alliance upon this declaration was a virtual pledge, that the protection to which he looked from the English was not to depend upon that security which he expressly rejected: To make it depend upon that security, was, therefore, a breach of engagement. At the time when the Nizam, confiding in the security of English protection, took part with the English, the value attached to his alliance was such, that it would have been purchased with eagerness at the expense of an engagement offensive and defensive with himself. Would the Nizam, being attacked by Tippoo, have been entitled to assistance from the English, if defended by the Mahrattas? And was his title less, when about to be attacked by Tippoo, with the Mahrattas conjoined? Such a disappointment in hopes, on which he had staked the very existence of his throne, could not do less than ensure to the English the enmity of the Nizam. Nor could the English abandon him, without the appearance at once of weakness and infidelity; without descending from that high station in which they now over-awed the Princes of India, as well by the terror of their arms, as the purity of their faith.

Considerations presented themselves of an opposite tendency. If the co-operation of all the parties in a
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treaty were necessary to the attainment of its end,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794. and the defection of any one of them rendered the attainment of the end no longer possible, the defection of one dissolved, of course, the obligation of all. Again, the treaty of alliance between the English, the Nizam, and the Mahrattas, bound the parties not to assist the enemies of one another. In the case, therefore, of a war between any two of the parties, the third could not interfere. In such a case, the neutrality of the third party was that which the terms of the treaty expressly required. If the friendship of the Nizam would be lost; if the opinion which prevailed of English power, and of the tenacity of English engagements, should endure a slight and temporary diminution, war was beyond comparison a greater evil. It was impossible for any body to suppose, that a war against Tippoo and the Mahrattas would be easily sustained. And as the revenue of the Company was confessedly unequal to the expenditure of war, a protracted contest was to be regarded as pregnant with ruin. Even the destruction of the Nizam could not be considered as adding to the dangers of the English; since, after subverting that power, the Mahrattas and Tippoo were much more likely to make war upon one another than to combine their arms for an attack upon the British state. Finally, by the act of parliament the Company's servants were clearly prohibited from interfering in the quarrels of the native princes, and from taking up arms against them, unless to oppose an actual invasion of the British provinces.

By these considerations, the mind of the Governor-General was determined; and he purposed to leave the Nizam to his fate. That such a determination was contrary to the expectations upon which the Nizam was induced to enter into the alliance,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794.expectations which for that purpose he was encouraged to entertain, there seems no reason to doubt. The difficulties of the Governor-General, and the disappointment of the Nizam, were created by the looseness of the treaty. Two obvious cases, the authors of that treaty had not been able to foresee; First, if one of the three contracting parties were attacked by Tippoo, and one of the two who in that case were bound to assist should decline; Secondly, if one of the three were attacked, and one of the two, who ought to assist, instead of assisting, should join the aggressor. There was nothing in the treaty which determined what was to be done by the third party in either of those cases.

If Tippoo had attacked the English, and the Mahrattas had either not assisted, or joined in the attack, it may be strongly suspected that the English, in that case, would not have held the Nizam released from his engagement.

The opinion has also been urged, and it is not without probability, that, by declaring themselves bound to protect the Nizam, the English would not have involved themselves in the calamities of war, but would have prevented hostilities by the terror of their interference.6

When once the English have thoroughly imbibed the dread of an enemy, Tippoo, or any other; that dread, after the cause of it is weakened, or, peradventure, wholly removed, continues for a long time to warp their policy. In the opinion of the Governor-General, great danger still impended over the Company by the existence of Tippoo: The Nizam he regarded as too weak; the Mahrattas alone as sufficiently powerful to yield a counterpoise to that detested
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sovereign: His policy, therefore, was to retain,BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1794. at some cost, the friendship of the Mahrattas; and for this purpose not to grudge the sacrifice of the Nizam.

He was relieved from a portion of his difficulties by the assurance that, if Tippoo had entertained the project of an attack upon the Nizam, it was now laid aside. In the dispute between the Nizam and Mahrattas, the treaty, he thought, created, certainly, no obligation to interfere.

In the opinion of Sir John Malcolm, an obligation existed, which cannot fail to be considered as a little extraordinary. He seems to say, for it is seldom that a rhetorical writer is entirely free from ambiguity, that the native powers, by joining the English in any war in which they were engaged, established a right, which nothing but their own misconduct could ever forfeit, to their friendship, and to protection against any power to whom by that conduct they might have given offence.7 He adduces Lord Cornwallis as a party to this speculation; who, “in his letter, under date the 28th of February, 1790, to the resident at Poonah, declared, that the Mahratta state, by acting against Tippoo in concert with the British government, became entitled, in reason and equity, to a defensive alliance against that prince, even though no previous engagement existed.” If this proposition means any thing real; and if assistance in war creates an obligation to assistance in return, except an obligation of which the party obliged is alone to judge, in other words an obligation binding him only when agreeable, that is, no obligation at all; the receipt of assistance in war is a snare, which carries ruin in its consequences, and ought for ever to be shunned.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.One little consequence, in the present instance, it would appear that Sir John Malcolm overlooked. The Nizam and Mahrattas were about to go to war: The English had received assistance from both of them: The English were therefore bound to lend assistance to both of them; that is, to send one body of English troops to fight against another.

Before hostilities commenced between the Subahdar and the Mahrattas, Mahdajee Scindia died. The power of this chief, and his ascendancy in the Mahratta confederacy, had lately been so great, that his death was expected to produce considerable changes; and the resident at Poonah thought it probable, that the opportunity might be so improved, as to effect an adjustment between the Nizam and Mahrattas. The Governor-General however would not risk offence to the Poonah government, by any sort of interference more forcible than words; and the successor of Mahdajee Scindia, his nephew Doulut Row, soon assembled his army from the remotest parts of his dominions, and obtained an ascendancy at once in the Poonah councils, and in the confederacy which was forming against the dominions of the Nizam.

The Nizam was the party in danger, but the first in the field. He advanced to Beder, if not with a view to actual aggression, at least with a view to interfere in the internal affairs of the Mahratta government, a considerable time before the movement of the Mahratta armies. Early in March, 1795, the advanced corps of the Mahratta army, under the command of Doulut Row Scindia approached; and the Nizam advanced from Beder to meet him. A general action took place. Both armies were thrown into some confusion, and neither obtained any considerable advantage. But the women of the Nizam were frightened; and under their influence he retreated
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from the scene of action during the night. He soughtBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. protection in the small fort of Kurdlah, where the Mahrattas had the advantage of terminating the war without another blow. The fort is completely surrounded by hills, except at one particular spot. The Mahrattas took possession of this outlet, by which they completely shut up the Nizam, and cut him off from supplies. After remaining some weeks in this miserable situation, he found himself at the mercy of his enemy, and concluded a peace on such terms as they were pleased to dictate. The particulars of the treaty were not fully made known; but, beside establishing all their former claims, the Mahrattas compelled him to cede to them a country of thirty-five lacs revenue, including the celebrated fort of Doulutabad; to pay three crores of rupees, one-third immediately, the rest by instalments of twenty-five lacs perannum; and to give up, as a hostage for the performance of these conditions, his minister Azeem ul Omrah, whose abilities had for some time been the great support of his throne; who was the zealous friend of the English connexion; and a firm opponent of the Mahrattas.

No part of the conduct of the English had more offended the Nizam, than the refusal to permit his two battalions of British troops to accompany him to the war. As the Mahrattas were the great source from which he apprehended danger, an expensive force which could not be employed against the Mahrattas, was a loss, rather than advantage. He, therefore, shortly after his return to Hyderabad, intimated his desire to dispense with the service of the English battalions; and they marched to the territories of the Company.

The Subahdar of Deccan had never, from the time of Bussy, been without French officers in his service.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.In the confederate war against Tippoo, he had two battalions of regular infantry, officered by Frenchmen, and commanded by a gentleman of the name of Raymond; who began his military career in India, at an early age, in the disastrous campaigns of Lally. At first his establishment amounted to no more than 300 men; and he hired their arms from a merchant of his own country, at the rate of eight annas8 a month. By his services and address, he rapidly increased the favour and liberalities of the Subahdar; of which he availed himself for the augmentation and equipment of his corps. It had received great accessions both to its numbers, and appointments, since the peace of Seringapatam; and the English resident reported, probably with great exaggeration, that twenty-three battalions of this description, with twelve field pieces, accompanied the Nizam in his campaign against the Mahrattas.

After the return of that Prince to his capital, he ordered new levies of this corps; and assigned a portion of territory for its regular payment. The expostulations of the British resident, and his intimations that so much encouragement of the French portended serious changes in his relations with the English, were but little regarded.

A part of this corps was sent to occupy the districts of Kurpah, and Cummum. These districts lay upon the frontier of the Company's possessions; and the Governor-General took the alarm. “The measure itself,” he remarked,9 “had a suspicious not to say criminal appearance;” and he directed “the strongest representations to be made, to induce the Nizam to recall the detachment of Monsieur Raymond.” In case of refusal, the resident was even instructed to
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threaten him with the march of a body of EnglishBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. troops to his frontier. The apprehensions of the English government were increased by some French officers, prisoners at Madras, who were detected in a project of escape, and suspected of a design to join M. Raymond.

Whether the Nizam could have been led on to risk the displeasure of the English, or whether the knowledge of his defenceless condition would soon have brought him back to court their support, sufficient time was not afforded to try. On the 28th of June, his eldest son Ali Jah fled from the capital, and placed himself in open rebellion; when his fears were so vehemently excited, that he applied himself with the utmost eagerness to recover the friendship of the English. He agreed to the recall of Raymond's corps from the district of Kurpah; and warmly solicited the return of the subsidiary force. The battalions were ordered to join him with the greatest possible expedition; but before they were able to arrive, an action had taken place, in which Ali Jah was made prisoner. He did not long survive his captivity. The Nizam, however, enjoyed but a few months tranquillity, when another member of his family revolted, at the head of a large body of troops. In quelling this rebellion, and recovering the fort of Rachore, which the insurgents had occupied, the English battalions had an opportunity of rendering conspicuous service.

The Nizam, though brought again to a sufficient sense of his dependance upon the English, could not help reflecting that from them he had nothing to expect in seeking the means of his defence against that insatiate neighbour, whom nothing less than his ruin would content; nor could he forbear turning with particular favour to that body of his troops, on whom,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.in contending with the Mahrattas, his principal dependance must rest. The value of M. Raymond's corps had risen in his estimation by the activity which it had displayed in the reduction of Ali Jah. Its numbers and appointments were increased; additional lands for its support were assigned to its commander; and arsenals and foundaries were established for its equipment. The abilities of M. Raymond qualified him to improve the favourable sentiments of his prince; the discipline and equipment of his corps were carried to the highest perfection, of which his circumstances would admit; and his connexions with the principal officers of the government were industriously cultivated and enlarged. He was not anxious to avoid those little displays, by which the fears and hatred of the English were most likely to be inflamed. The colours of the French republic were borne by his battalions; and the cap of liberty was engraved on their buttons. While a detachment of this corps was stationed on the frontier of the Company's territories, a partial mutiny was raised in a battalion of Madras sepoys. It was ascribed, of course, to the intrigues of the French abominable officers. Whether this was, or was not the fact; two native commissioned officers, with a number of men, went over to the French.

It was by no means without jealousy and apprehension, that the English government beheld the progress of a French interest in the councils of the Nizam. That Prince declared his readiness to dismiss the rival corps, provided the English subsidiary force was so increased, and its service so regulated, as to render it available for his defence. This, however, the desire of standing fair with the Mahrattas dissuaded, and a succedaneum was devised. It was thought expedient to encourage the entrance of English
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adventurers into the service of the Nizam, whoBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. might form a rival corps to counterbalance the French. But the English were less qualified than the French for this species of adventure; there was no man to be found whose abilities and address could balance those of M. Raymond; and this project totally failed.

An event, in the mean time, occurred, which materially affected the politics of this part of India. On the 27th of October, 1795, happened the death of the young Peshwa, Madhoo Row; and introduced the most serious divisions among the Mahratta chiefs. Nanah Furnavese desired to place upon the vacant throne an infant whom he could use as a tool. Bâjee Row, undoubted heir, the son of Ragoba, was supported by the influence of Scindia. In these circumstances, Nanah Furnavese was anxious to strengthen himself by the alliance of the Nizam. He released Azeem ul Omrah, opened a negotiation with that minister on behalf of his master; and concluded a treaty, by which all the cessions extorted at Curdlagh were resigned. In the mean time, Scindia hastened to Poonah, with an army which his rival was unable to oppose; and Bâjee Row was placed upon the musnud of Poona. The treaty with the minister of the Nizam was of course annulled; but a new one was concluded, by which the Nizam was required to make good only one fourth of the cessions and payments which had been fixed by the convention of Curdlah.

The intercourse with Tippoo, during the administration of Sir John Shore, was bounded by the execution of the treaty of Seringapatam. When the sons of Tippoo were restored,10 the officer who conducted
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.them was empowered to make overtures towards a more amicable connection, provided a favourable disposition appeared on the part of the Sultan. But the pride of that Prince was too much wounded to consort with friendship; and on this occasion, the tyrant, as the English called him, disdained to practise hypocrisy. He received the officer with frigid civility.

Though Lord Cornwallis, upon taking the reins of the Company's government, had agreed with the Nabob of Oude, that the government of his country should be divided into two parts, of which the one, namely, the business of defence, and all transactions with foreign states, should belong to the Company, and the other, namely, the internal administration, including the collection of the revenue, the coercion of the people, and the distribution of justice, should, without interference or control, belong to himself the English rulers had, nevertheless, observed the extraordinary vices of his government with great solicitude, as leading necessarily to that desolation of the country, with which the payment of the Company's subsidy would soon be incompatible. On the visit of Lord Cornwallis to Lucknow, in the first year of his administration, “I cannot,” he said, express how much I was concerned, during my short residence at the capital of the Vizir, and my progress through his dominions, to be witness of the disordered state of his finances and government, and of the desolated appearance of the country.”11 The Directors,
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with an extraordinary candour, declared, that theBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. vices of the native government were not the only cause of this desolation; that for a great part of it the vices of their own administration were justly accountable. “Under a system,” they say, “defective in almost every part of it, and the abuses which arose out of that system, the present unfortunate state of the country may, in our opinion, be fairly attributed to a combination of causes. Among these is a claim which is now very wisely relinquished, of right of pre-emptions, and of exemptions from duties, in the province of Oude; made, and exercised, by contractors employed in providing the investment; and which, in the opinion of Lord Cornwallis, has essentially contributed to its ruin. The immense drain of specie from that country of late years, amounting, from February 1794, to September 1783, to the enormous sum of two crores and thirty-nine lacs of rupees, exclusive of what may have been sent down to Calcutta to answer the bills drawn for the payment of the troops, and on private account, stands foremost in our opinion, among the causes that have operated so much to its prejudice.”12 Though the Directors saw but imperfectly the mode in which connexion with their government had been ruinous to Oude, they had the merit of tracing, in a general way, the relation between cause and effect.13

In the year 1792 died Hyder Beg Khan, the minister. As the Nabob was a cipher in the hands of his minister, and the minister was a mere instrument
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.in the hands of the Company, this was an event which deeply interested the Company's government. The Nabob appointed a person of the name of Hossein Reza Khan, who had enjoyed the principal share of his confidence even in the time of the deceased minister, to execute provisionally the duties of the vacant office. As this person, however, was but little acquainted with the business of revenue, Raja Tickait Roy, to whom that business was confided under Hyder Beg, was placed at the head of the financial department. The final election remained till the pleasure of the Governor-General should be known; who, satisfied of the inclination of both the men to rely upon the English government, and not acquainted with any persons who were better qualified, signified his approbation of the choice of the Nabob; and, on condition of their good behaviour, gave to the new ministers assurance of his support. The influence of the new ministers was still less able, than that of their predecessor, to limit either the expenses of the Vizir, or the ruinous exactions upon the people which those expenses, the English subsidy, and the extortions of the tax-gatherers, imposed. In the month of January, 1793, Lord Cornwallis thought it necessary to write to the Vizir a solemn letter of expostulation and advice. “On my return,” said he, “from the war in the Deccan, I had the mortification to find that, after a period of five years, the evils which prevailed at the beginning of that time had increased; that your finances had fallen into a worse state by an enormous accumulated debt; that the same oppressions continue to be exercised by rapacious and overgrown aumils towards the ryots; and that not only the subjects and merchants of your own dominions, but those residing under the Company's
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protection, suffered many exactions contrary to theBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. commercial treaty, from the custom-house officers, from Zemindars, aumils, and others.”

The Governor-General then proceeded to pen advices, which, though they were lost upon a sensual and profligate prince, will not be lost upon the people of England. “As in a state,” said he “the evils that are practised, by the lower class of men, are to be attributed to the example held out to them by their superiors, and to their connivance, or to their weak government; so am I obliged to represent, that all the oppressions and extortions committed by the aumils on the peasantry, take their source in the connivance and irregularities of the administration of Lucknow.”

His meaning, as he himself explains it, is, That an expensive government is, by the very nature of things, an unjust and oppressive government; and that expense, when it proceeds to a certain pitch, is the cause, not of misery alone, but of ruin and desolation. “Though the Company's subsidy,” said he, “is at present paid up with regularity, yet I cannot risk my reputation, nor neglect my duty, by remaining a silent spectator of evils which will, in the end, and perhaps that end is not very remote, render abortive even your Excellency's earnest desire that the subsidy should be punctually paid. Thus, I recommend economy in your own household disbursements, as the first measure, whence all other corrections are to take place.—I do not neglect the dignity of your station: nor am I actuated by views for the Company's subsidy only. Your dignity does not flow from a splendid retinue; and unnecessary establishment of household servants, elephants, sumptuous ceremonies, and other circumstances of similar nature:
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.But from a just and wise administration of your government and finances.”14

Just before the departure of Lord Cornwallis, the new ministers repaired to Calcutta; in order more fully to explain the deplorable state in which the government and population of the country were placed, and to pray for counsel and support in conducting the affairs of a prodigal government and an impoverished people. The Governor-General, before leaving India, addressed to the Vizir another letter, of great length, from Madras. In this he repeats, that the effects of an expensive government are two, First, the oppression and misery of the people; and secondly, the fall of the government itself. “It is well known,” says he; “not only throughout Hindustan but to all Europe, that the revenues of your Excellency's dominions are diminished beyond all conjecture.—Does not this consideration alarm your Excellency?—Can any thing but ruin result from such circumstances?—Are not these facts a decisive proof of tyranny, extortion, and mismanagement, in the aumils?—And, what must be the situation of the ryots who are placed under such people?—But your Excellency knows, that the prayers of the oppressed are attended to by the Almighty; and often call down his vengeance upon their oppressors.—History confirms the observation, by exhibiting innumerable examples of monarchies overturned, and families effaced from the earth, by a violation of justice in the sovereign, or neglect in him to enforce its laws.”

He continues; “The evils flowing from this source would have been less felt, if, in proportion as the
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revenues declined, a diminution of expenses had takenBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. place. But profusion, in fact, was the cause of the first evil: and the continuance of it increased its magnitude.”

He adds, “All the world concurs in encomiums upon the dignity and splendour which adorned the court of your illustrious father; but his splendour did not arise from the gaudiness of equipage, from frivolous dissipation, or from profuse expenditure. He well knew, that the best ornament of sovereignty is justice: that due economy is the source of order and dignity: that the true splendour of a court is derived from equity and wisdom.”

“If,” says he, “the information which I have received of the state of the country be true, the disorders exceed all bounds, and all description. The consequence is, that the revenues are collected, without system, by force of arms; that the aumils (revenue agents) are left to plunder uncontrouled; and the ryots have no security from oppression, nor means of redress for injustice exercised upon them.”15

In May 1794, Sir John Shore, in his letter to the Resident at Lucknow, said; “It has long been my anxious wish, no less than that of my predecessor, the Marquis Cornwallis, to prevail upon the Nabob Vizir to arrange the internal administration of his country, and establish it upon principles calculated to promote the happiness of his subjects and the permanency of his own authority. I cannot, therefore, observe, without regret, that his Excellency does not appear to have adopted any measures for this purpose, in consequence of the letter addressed to him by Marquis Cornwallis from Madras, and which I delivered to his ministers in Calcutta, with the most
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.serious recommendation to them to use their utmost exertions in giving effect to the advice and representations of his Lordship.”16

Fyzoollah Khan, the Rohilla chief, to whom the district of Rampore had been preserved, at the time when the rest of his nation were exterminated from the country to which they had given their name, died, at an advanced age, in 1794, leaving the country over which he had ruled, in a high state of cultivation and prosperity. The succession went to Mahommed Ali, his eldest son, who was duly confirmed by the Vizir, and acknowledged by the principal Rohilla chiefs. His younger brother Gholaum Mahomed, an ambitious man, contrived in a little time to get him into his power; when he put him to death; and sent a large present to the Vizir, with a promise of augmented tribute, if he were confirmed in the government of Rampore. Though the murdered Prince left a son, in a state of nonage, the Vizir was by no means disinclined to the proposition of Gholaum Mahomed. It was, however, a proceeding of too much importance to be concluded without the permission of the British government; and that was refused. The British troops, under Sir Robert Abercromby, joined by such forces as the Vizir could afford, were ordered to march against the usurper, and treat him as a rebel. It was the purpose of the Governor-General, to wrest the country entirely from the family of Fyzoolah Khan, notwithstanding the rights of the son of Mahomed Ali, guaranteed by the British government;17 and notwithstanding the rights of the people of the Country, happy under the frugal government of the Rohilla chief, menaced with
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misery and ruin under the exactions of the Vizir, toBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. which, with a full knowledge of the circumstances, the British ruler was about to condemn them. The rapidity of Sir Robert Abercromby anticipated the arrival of the instructions which were forwarded to this effect. A battle was fought at Bittawrah; in which, after making a partial impression upon the British line, the Rohillas were defeated. Negotiation followed, and an arrangement was made. The treasures of the late prince, Fyzollah Khan, were given up to the Vizir. And a jaghire, of ten lacs of revenue, under the express guarantee of the English government was granted to Asoph Jah, the son of Mahomed Ali.18

The retrograde movement was uninterrupted in the Nabob's affairs. “The exigencies of his government,” as we are informed by the Directors, “were supplied by loans, on terms increasing in proportion to the sums demanded, and the discharge of one debt was effected, not from the revenue, but by contracting another of an increasing interest.” The ministers Hussein Reza Khan, and Rajah Tickait Roy, had become odious to him, by opposing obstructions to his will: and he accused them of the embarrassments which had grown upon him during their administration. His desire was to make Rajah Jao Loll his minister; who had been one of his intimates for several years, and professed absolute subserviency. The aversion of the English government to this minion was not unknown. The Nabob therefore was advised to assume the appearance of acting as his own minister; while the business and power, in reality, passed into the hands of Jao Loll.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1796.The English troops, employed in the country of the Vizir, were always on the increase. Instead of the single brigade, which Hastings had pronounced sufficient, even the two brigades, for which Lord Cornwallis had made provision, in the subsidy of fifty lacs, were now exceeded. In their dispatch of the 22d of April, 1796, the Directors commanded the two regiments of native cavalry, serving under the Presidency of Bengal, to be augmented to four; and, “in order to relieve the Company from a considerable part of the expense, they directed that every possible effort should be made to induce the Vizir to disband his own useless cavalry, and to apply a part of the sums expended in their support to defraying a part of the charges which the Company incurred by the proposed augmentation.”19 With this proposition, the Vizir, at first, would by no means comply. And in March, 1797, the Governor-General paid a visit to Lucknow, for the “two avowed objects,” as he himself expressed it, “of inducing the Vizir to establish a reform in his administration, and to pay part of the new cavalry establishment, which he had already peremptorily refused.”20 The influence of the British ruler was not entirely without success; and agreement was obtained from the wretched Vizir to add to his former subsidy the expense of one European and one native regiment of English cavalry, provided the annual amount should not exceed five and a half lacs of rupees; and Tuffeizel Hussein Khan, a man in whose probity and talents the Governor-General placed great reliance, was appointed minister.

Only a few months elapsed, when, after a short illness, the Vizir expired. The eldest of his brothers
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was Saadut Ali, who, in fear of intrigues, had beenBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1797. compelled to reside on a pension at Benares. To the succession of Mirza Ali, the eldest son of Asoph ul Dowlah, Saadut Ali offered objections, asserting that neither he, nor any other of the reputed children of the late Vizir, was really his offspring: And he urged his own pretensions to the vacant throne. The arbiter in this great dispute was the Governor-General. The acknowledgement of the late Vizir, who had treated Mirza Ali as his son and successor; the undoubted principle of the Moslem law, which renders that acknowledgement a valid title; the acquiescence of the Begums, the wife and mother of Asoph ul Dowlah; the concurrence of the capital; and the danger of admitting reports on the filiation of princes to decide the question of their succession, swayed the mind of the Governor-General; and Mirza Ali, commonly known by the name of Vizir Ali, was placed on the musnud, and recognized by the English government as Nabob of Oude.

The young sovereign had not long enjoyed his power and dignity, when complaints were received by the Governor-General, both respecting his title, and respecting his conduct. The situation of affairs appeared to require the presence of the English ruler; and he began his journey to Lucknow. Upon his arrival, he found a scene of intrigue of extraordinary activity, and extraordinary complication. The elder Begum, having interfered with the conduct of the Nabob, had been urged to return to Fyzabad; and animosity succeeded to friendship. Almas Ali Khan, who had been an object of district to the British government for many years, and forced to keep aloof from public affairs, had so successfully employed his leisure, in carrying on the business of renter, that a great proportion of the country was now placed in his
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1797.hands; and he was the most powerful individual in the state. Upon her quarrel with the Nabob, the Begum had resigned herself to the councils of this man; who advised an apparent reconciliation with the Nabob. “On my arrival at Lucknow,” says the Governor-General, “the confederacy between the Nabob and Begum appeared indissoluble, and it was the opinion of the minister that they could not be disunited. The principal adviser of the Begum was Almas, either directly, or through (her principal eunuch) Jewahur Ali Khan. And Hossein Reza Khan, and Tickait Roy, ranged under their banners. With the Nabob, his father-in-law Sherf Ali Khan was supposed to have the most influence.—The object of all parties was to oppose the English influence.”

Presently the views of the actors began to disclose themselves. And a malady which attacked the Nabob, the measles, or small-pox, shortly after the arrival of the Governor-General, afforded a favourable opportunity for intrigue.—“I confess,” says the Governor-General, “without reserve, that I never was involved in a scene of more perplexity and profligacy.”

“On the 29th of December,” (I still use the language of the Governor-General's report,) “Almas, who has most sedulously studied appearances, waited on the minister, and entered into conferences with him which lasted several days. He began with strong complaints of the conduct of Vizir Ali, whom he designated by a most opprobrious term. He spoke of him as spurious and profligate; as a man who would ruin the country by his vices and profusion. He mentioned the earnest wish of the Begum and himself, that he should be deposed, and some one of the sons of Suja ud Dowlah, be placed on the musnud, excluding all the sons of Asoph ul Dowlah, as spurious.” The same representations were successively
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repeated to the Governor-General, and to the Governor-GeneralBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1797. in company with the Commander-in-Chief. Mirza Jungly, a brother of the late Nabob, younger than Saadut Ali, was the person whom the Begum and Almas combined in recommending. And “a large pecuniary sacrifice,” says the Governor-General, “was promised, as a compensation for my acquiescence.”—“Almas,” he continues, “acts in the name of the Begum; and while he pretends to disavow, on her part, all wish to interfere in the administration, his propositions to me were directly calculated to place it in her power.”

Great industry and skill had been employed in prepossessing the mind of the Governor-General with the most unfavourable opinion of the young Nabob, as a man between whose character, and the interests of the English, an irreconcileable contrariety was placed. He was represented as extremely profuse in his expenditure, and therefore likely to absorb the funds from which annual payments to the English might proceed; as of a violent, ungovernable will, and therefore unlikely to be obedient to the English; and finally, as altogether averse to the English, and likely to use his utmost endeavors to free himself from their yoke.

The belief of these representations, communicated to the Governor-General, appears to have decided the question. It prepared his mind for annexing weight to any evidence which might be preferred of the spuriousness of the man whom he wished not to reign. It was no objection to the legitimacy of the Nabob, that he was not the son of the Begum, who had no child; that he was the son of a female, menially employed in the zenana. He was acknowledged by Asoph ul Dowlah as his son, and, according to the law of the Moslems, that was enough. Tehzeen Ali
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1797.Khan, however, a confidential eunuch of the late Vizir, told the following story; That the mother of Vizir Ali had a husband of her own rank; was never confined to the zenana, but quitted it daily, as is customary with menials of the same description, and went to her husband's house; that Vizir Ali was not the son of the Nabob, but purchased of his mother for 500 rupees after his birth; that it was customary for the Nabob, having no progeny, to purchase women who were pregnant, and bring up their children as his own; and that this was the origin of all the children who were now regarded as the offspring of Asoph ul Dowlah.21

In this statement, the only point of real importance was, whether Asoph ul Dowlah was, or thought that he was, the father of the child produced by the mother of Vizir Ali. Tehzeen Ali Khan said, that he was not, and did not know of her pregnancy till after the birth of the child. And upon this story, told privately to the Governor-General by Tehzeen, who complained of having been traded with injustice by the Nabob, and who might have been suborned by his enemies; told without confrontation with the public, without confrontation with the Nabob, without cross examination, without counter evidence, without hearing any thing the party affected might have to adduce in his behalf, without pushing the inquiry by examination of other persons to whom the secrets of the zenana might be known, and corroborated only by what he was told was the public opinion, did the Governor-General declare, that a man whom he had acknowledged as Nabob of Oude, and who succeeded to the throne with the apparent concurrence
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of all ranks, except the single voice of SaadutBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1797. Ali, was not the son of the late Vizir, and ought to be displaced from the throne.

It is impossible, to read the account of this transaction, drawn up by the Governor-General, and not to be impressed with a conviction of his sincerity, and his desire to do justice. But it is easy also to perceive how much his understanding was bewildered; and impossible not to confess that he decided against the unfortunate Nabob the great question of a kingdom, upon evidence upon which a court of English law would not have decided against him a question of a few pounds.”22

When the resolution of deposing Vizir Ali was taken, the choice of a successor was easily made. Saadut Ali was the eldest surviving son of Suja Dowlah; and would not, as Mirza Jungly, become a tool in the hands of the Begum and Almas. When the treaty proposed by the Governor-General was communicated to Saadut Ali, it was not the time to dispute about terms. He gave his consent to every particular. He then proceeded to Caw pore; from which he was escorted by a large body of European troops to Lucknow. The military force of the country was almost wholly English. The Nabob was, therefore, completely helpless; and Saadut Ali
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1798.was proclaimed, without opposition, on the 21st of January, 1798.

The terms, to which he had at first assented, were somewhat modified after he came to the throne. It was finally established, that the annual subsidy should be raised to seventy-six lacs of rupees, and that the fort of Allahabad should be made over to the English. It was also arranged, that the regular amount of the English forces stationed in Oude should be 10,000 men, including all descriptions; that, if at any time the amount should exceed 13,000 men, the expense of all the troops above that number should be defrayed by the Nabob; if it should fall below 8,000, a proportional deduction should be made. The Nabob further agreed, to pay twelve lacs of rupees to the English, as compensation money, for the expense of placing him on the mosnud; and not, without their consent, to hold communication with any foreign state, to employ no Europeans in his service, or to permit any to settle in his dominions. Finally he agreed to allow a lac and a half of rupees as an annual pension to the deposed Vizir Ali, who was removed to Benares; and to afford a suitable maintenance to the rest of the reputed children of his brother, the deceased Nabob.23

The transaction had one attractive feature; that of gain to the Company: And it received the most cordial approbation of the powers, ministerial, and directorial, at home. The political letter to Bengal, dated 15th May, 1799, after a full commentary upon the proceedings, thus declares: “Having taken this general view of the subject, with a minute attention, however, to all the papers and proceedings, we are,
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upon the whole, decidedly of opinion, that the lateBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. Governor-General, Lord Teignmouth, in a most arduous situation, and under circumstances of much delicacy and embarrassment, conducted himself with great temper, impartiality, ability, and firmness; and that he finished a long course of faithful services, by planning and carrying into execution an arrangement, which not only redounds highly to his own honour, but which will also operate to the reciprocal advantage of the Company, and the Nabob Vizir.”24

On the 1st of August, 1792, Sir Charles Oakley succeeded General Medows, as Governor of Fort St. George, and President of the Council at Madras. Sir Charles remained in the government till the 7th of September, 1794, when Lord Hobart was placed at the head of the Carnatic Presidency. On the 13th of October, 1795, died, at the age of seventy-eight, the Nabob Mahomed Ali, Walau Jaw; and was succeeded by Omdut ul Omrah, his eldest son. From the date of the treaty, framed by Lord Cornwallis in 1792, the payments of the Nabob, being in years of peace, had, through the agency of the money-lenders, been regular. But the country, made over to the cruel exactions of this description of men, had rapidly declined. The continued operation of the same causes threatened to extinguish the resources of the government; and, though no attempt had been made to ameliorate the state of affairs, during the life of Mahomed Ali, the succession of Omdut ul Omrah appeared to Lord Hobart to present a favourable opportunity for introducing those reforms of which the necessity had become so urgent.

On the 24th of the same month, in which the Nabob died, the President deemed it expedient to
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place on record, by a Minute in Council, a descriptionBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. of the ruinous course in which affairs had proceeded, under the arrangement of 1792. The source of the evil was laid in “the usurious loans, which,” says he, “it has long been the practice, principally among the European gentlemen of the Presidency, to make to the Durbar for mortgages upon the different provinces of the Carnatic.” Some of the principal houses of business at Madras, said the Governor, or even some of the Company's servants, enter into an agreement with the Nabob for the payment of the sums which may have become due to the Company's treasury. They receive a mortgage upon a portion of the territory. To render this availing, they stipulate for the appointment of the manager of the territory. It is also requisite to establish an understanding with the military commanding officer of the district. And, then, the chain of power is complete. Then, the unhappy ryots are delivered over to the uncontrolled operations of men who have an interest in nothing but exacting the greatest sums in the shortest time, of men “hardened by practice, and with consciences lulled to rest by the delusive opiate of interest upon interest.”25

It is not in the way of direct exaction alone, that the mischief was accomplished. Another “endeavour,” said the President, “of those engaged in a concern of this nature is to enhance the price of grain by artificial means, lest the ordinary price of that article, the sole subsistence of the natives, should fail to answer the large advance of money, and the exorbitant advantage expected upon it, by the soukars,” or subordinate money lenders, to whose ruinous assistance
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the ryots are compelled to have recourse.BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. “The means of effecting this purpose,” continues the magistrate, “is easy; for the necessitous condition of the ryots compels them to dispose of their grain as soon as it comes into their possession, in order to satisfy the urgent demands upon them which I have already described: the purchasers of this grain monopolize it, until the demand advances the price. If, towards the expiration of the season, any part of the grain should yet remain on hand, the expedient is, to divide the whole quantity, in whatever condition it may be, among the inhabitants: and the people are compelled (in general the manufacturers) to take it at a valuation considerably above the market price.”

Such was the general course of oppression. The modes were infinite. “The subject,” says the indignant Governor, “is exhaustless.”26

“After this exposition, no comment,” he cries, “can be required, to show that this species of government, if it deserves the name of government, contains the most grievous oppression of the people, the certain impoverishment of the country, and, consequently, the inevitable decay of revenue.”

A fact is here very forcibly urged upon our attention,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.of which it is important to find the true explanation. Under their dependence upon the English government, it has been seen, that the people of Oude and Carnatic, two of the noblest portions of India, were, by misgovernment, plunged into a state of wretchedness, with which no other part of India, hardly any other part of the earth, had any thing to compare. In what manner did the dependence of the native states upon the English tend to produce those horrid effects? The difficulty of the answer is not very great. The oppressions of the native governments were limited by their weakness. When they received the use of English strength, their oppressions were limited by nothing, but the physical powers of the people to exist under oppression. So ill has the science of government been hitherto understood, that under all the governments which ever yet existed, except perhaps one or two, there is no regular and effective restraint upon bad government, except from the dread of the insurrection and rebellion of the people. In the government of Asia, this produces no inconsiderable effects; as the frequent revolutions and changes of dynasty abundantly demonstrate. When misery had produced disaffection, and disaffection had increased to a certain height, there was generally some popular leader who offered himself to the nation as an instrument of revenge, and cast the unworthy possessor from his throne. The progress, in general, was rapid, and easy. When oppression produced a decline of revenue, the evident instability of the government deterred lenders; money became wanting to pay the troops; the troops first clamoured and then mutinied; the voice of the nation joined that of the army; a revolution took place; and commonly, for two or three generations, the new family governed comparatively well. Among
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the small sovereignties of India, misgovernment producedBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. weakness, and weakness invited conquest. The misgovernment, for example, of Carnatic and Oude, would infallibly have produced the conquest, of the one by Tippoo, and of the other by the Mahrattas; and as a Prince was commonly strong, only because he governed well, to be conquered was among the happiest results which the people knew. Till, indeed, governments attain that high pitch of excellence, at which they really perform in the best manner, and at the cheapest rate, the services of government to the people, all changes are, in general, for the good of the people. It is the stability of governments, which, before this state of excellence, human nature has to dread. Now it is evident that when the uncontrollable force of a British army is lent to an Indian prince, his subjects are immediately placed without the pale of hope. The Prince is completely set above the only fears, which, in his situation, could operate as a restraint upon his disposition to oppress; that of insurrection, and that of being conquered. The source of almost all oppression, in Asiatic and European governments alike, is the rage of extorting more and more of their earnings from the people. This passion, instead of being abated by connexion with the English, is prodigiously inflamed; when the tributary prince is carried to all the excesses of taxation, not only by his own rapacity, but the necessity of supplying the enormous demands of his European masters; and when his soldiers, as well as people, are kept in abject and hopeless subjection, by the terror of European arms.

The progress of this oppression produced in the English any determinate resolution of reform, only when the visible desolation of the country presented the prospect of a rapidly approaching moment, at
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.which the English subsidy could no longer be found. We have seen what anticipations of this disastrous period the English rulers had already expressed with regard to Oude. The danger was still more imminent in the case of Carnatic. “I cannot,” says Lord Hobart, “but look with extreme anxiety to the nature of the security, provided by the treaty of 1792, for those resources on which the British interests on the coast of Coromandel materially depend. I cannot but see that the present system of collecting the revenues of the Carnatic manifestly invalidates that security: And that, whenever a failure may happen in the payment of his Highness's kists, we shall in vain have recourse to it for the recovery of the defalcation.”

A palliative, if not a remedy, suggested itself, in the prohibition of loans to the Nabob by Europeans; because, “though the dealings of Soukars (native money lenders) in the collection of revenue, were not of recent establishment, yet the terms of loans had never been carried to so usurious an extent as since the practice had been introduced among Europeans.”

This, however, the Governor declared to be completely ineffectual. “The prohibitory orders hitherto published, have,” he says, “all failed of their object: Because the evasion of them is easy to Europeans, through the agency of their native servants; and because the enormous profits which arise from those usurious loans, hold out an irresistible temptation to adventurers. To prohibit the intercourse of Europeans at the Durbar, is ineffectual. Other channels of communication are open; and the superintendant of an usurious loan at Palamcotah conveys his demands to the ears of the Nabob with no less certainty than he who lives in the precincts of Chepauk. As long, therefore, as his Highness shall be
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so regardless of his true interests, as to deliver up hisBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. provinces, and his people, to public depredation, so long will there be found men, who, in the pursuit of extravagant advantages, will overleap the bounds of discretion and moral obligation.”

In these circumstances, what is to be done? “So desperate a malady,” said the President, “requires a remedy that shall reach its source. And I have no hesitation in stating my opinion, that there is no mode of eradicating the disease, but by removing the original cause; and placing those districts, which are pledged for the security of his kists, beyond the reach of his Highness's management;” in other words, assuming the collection of the revenue, and the whole of the internal government. And even this was a partial remedy; for though it might alleviate the distress of those particular districts, it left the remainder of the country to all the deplorable consequences of the misgovernment of the Nabob.

The Governor describes, in a style instructive for other occasions, the tissue of interests by which radical reform was opposed. “The disposition,” says he, “which his Highness has already evinced to oppose such an arrangement, leaves me no doubt of the real cause. It is not possible to calculate the extent and variety of interests which are involved in this one pursuit. And, though they are subdivided in every direction of the Carnatic, yet at the call of danger they all rally round a common centre. The great houses of business, who are the principal money-lenders at the Durbar, borrow from individuals, who, though not absolutely engaged in the loan itself, are partakers of the speculation in a remote degree, and feel, with no less sensibility than their principals, the approach of danger. Similarity of interest makes a common cause. And the great body of interest which is condensed
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.upon this principle, is uniformly exerted to support his Highness in an inflexible resistance against a melioration of system, and to oppose a reformation which I consider essential to the national welfare.”27 This representation is the more worthy of regard, as it is applicable, mutatis mutandis, to every government under the sun, in which there is need of reform.

On the day following the date of the Minute from which these particulars have been taken, the Governor of Fort St. George addressed a letter to the Governor-General in Council, in which he represents, that, in consequence of several communications which he had with Mr. Dundas, and with Lord Cornwallis, before leaving England, respecting the necessity of a change in that state of things which was established by the treaty of 1792, he had opened a negotiation for that purpose with Omdut ul Omrah; and that he had not communicated his intention to the Supreme Government, or waited for its concurrence, on account of the intrigues of those, who, from personal interest, endeavoured to prevent the accomplishment of his object.

The first of the points, which the Governor endeavoured to gain, was the transfer of the collections, including all the powers of internal government, in the districts pledged for the subsidy. The benefits would be; to the Nabob, the saving of the exorbitant interest which the usurers received; to the people, deliverance from extortion; to the Company, security against the desolation of the country. The second point regarded the Southern Polygars. The right of collecting the tribute from the country of the Polygars had been yielded to the Company by the treaty of
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1792, but the nominal right of sovereignty reservedBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. to the Nabob. This proved a source of obstruction to the right ordering of the country; and the Governor was desirous of seeing it resigned. In the third place he endeavoured to obtain the cession of the forts in Carnatic, which, according to an expression in the treaty of Cornwallis, were to be garrisoned by the troops of the Company.

To obtain the consent of the Nabob, Lord Hobart offered to relinquish certain claims, to the amount of thirty lacs of pagodas, or more. The influence of those who had opposite interests prevailed. “It has been with the deepest regret,” said the Governor, “that I have found the Nabob unmoved by my entreaties and remonstrances upon this subject: Not that he has been insensible to the justice and expediency of what I have proposed; but, as he has candidly confessed at several interviews with me, that he has not the resolution to comply; informing me, that his native ministers and European advisers, so perplexed, plagued, and intimidated him, that he could not venture upon the measure, notwithstanding his conviction that he ought to do so.”28

The Members of the Supreme Government carried
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.their expectations even farther than the President of the Council of Madras; for no sooner was the decease of the preceding Nabob known than they sent to that Governor their instructions, dated the 28th of October, 1795, to endeavour to obtain the consent of Omdut ul Omrah to the cession of all his territories.

Upon the failure of his endeavours to obtain the concurrence of the Nabob, Lord Hobart intimated his intention, to assume the district of Tinivelly, for the liquidation of the debt termed the cavalry loan; and to insist upon possession of the Carnatic forts. To this the Supreme Government objected, as an indirect mode of compelling the Nabob. They argued, that the treaty, in which that loan was not mentioned, gave no right to any assumption of territory for its liquidation; and, although the treaty did say absolutely, and without any specification either of time or circumstances, that “all the forts in the Carnatic were to be garrisoned with the troops of the Company;” as some case had not occurred which was specified in one of the negotiating letters of Lord Cornwallis, the Supreme Government contended that even this measure it was not lawful to enforce.

Lord Hobart was of opinion, That the Nabob had himself infringed the treaty, and thereby liberated the Company from its engagements, by granting assignments, which the treaty prohibited, upon the districts mortgaged for security of his annual payments: That self-preservation, threatened by the rapid desolation of the country, and the loss of resources which it implied, justified the Company in such interference as the necessity of the case required: And, above all, that the people of the Carnatic, to whom, beside the claims of humanity, it would be infamous to suppose, that the Company had not, by sharing the fruits of their labour, contracted sacred obligations, ought not
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to be sacrificed in millions, to any obligations, to anyBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. one man, which it was possible to contract.

On this subject, the Supreme Government declared “That their principles were fairly at issue with those of the Governor of Fort St. George,” and appealed to the authorities at home. That jealousy, which was so apt to arise between the heads of the two Presidencies, especially when the head of the Supreme was inferior in rank to the head of the subordinate government, appears on this occasion to have embittered the opposition of the Governor-General. In the address from the Supreme Government to the Court of Directors, commenting upon the arguments of the Governor of Fort St. George, it is said; “On the language of declamation or intemperance we shall never animadvert, unless it becomes necessary to the support of the authority of the Supreme Government; leaving it, on this, as on former occasions, to the observation and notice of your Honourable Court.” On this expression Lord Hobart remarked; “If I am not to defend my conduct, when attacked—attacked in terms, not indeed of intemperance and declamation, but of cool, deliberate censure and severity, impeaching my character, as a public servant, in a manner not possible to be misunderstood, I am placed in a situation wholly incompatible with a due regard to my own reputation.”

As for the principles stated by the Supreme Government as in opposition to his, he remarked that they could only be useful, in as far as they afforded “rules sufficiently definite to refer to, when exigencies called for specific measures of government; but that principles, professedly admitting of deviation, fluctuating with circumstances, neither alluded to, nor enumerated, but to be estimated, as they arise, by the existing government—the propriety, or impropriety of that
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BOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795.estimation to depend, not upon precedent, analogy, or any written law, but upon the subsequent opinion of the world—can never be productive of those beneficial effects, avowedly sought for by the Supreme Board.”29 In this instance, the Governor of Fort St. George saw clearly, and justly exposed, the futility of those loose and indefinite expressions of obligation, which are so fondly and frequently made use of by the half-informed persons at the heads of governments; expressions which are so effectual in misleading their understandings; but, at the same time, so fortunately adapted to enlarge the sphere of their arbitrary power.

Though, by the compound opposition of the Supreme Government, and of the powerful class of individuals whose profit depended upon the misgovernment of the country, no reform could be introduced, the war, which the progress of the French revolution brought on with the Dutch, provided for the Governor a sort of triumph, to which the enemies of reform, that is, of mankind, have seldom any objection. In 1795, an armament was fitted out at Madras, which, aided by a squadron of his Majesty's fleet under Admiral Ranier, completely reduced the settlements of the Dutch, on Ceylon, Malacca, Banda, and Amboyna, without any incident of sufficient importance to require a particular description. Their possessions on the Peninsula were likewise subdued; Cochin, after a great resistance. And their grand settlement at the Cape of Good Hope fell into the hands of the English, the same year. In 1797, preparation was made for expeditions against Mauritius, and the Spanish settlement of Manilla.
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The first division of the armament against ManillaBOOK VI. Chap. 7. 1795. had actually sailed to Penang, the port of rendezvous; when the accounts received of the treaty of Campo Formio, and the suspicions excited of Tippoo and the Mahrattas, frightened the government, after incurring the expense, into a renunciation of both enterprises.

In the beginning of the year 1798, Sir John Shore, who had been raised to the peerage, by the title of Lord Teignmouth, resigned the government of India, and sailed for England. Lord Clive, who was appointed to succeed Lord Hobart in December, 1797, arrived at Madras on the 21st of August, 1798.
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CHAP. VIII.



Lord Mornington Governor-General—Agents of Tippoo at the Isle of France—Governor-General resolves on immediate War—Import of the Circumstances—Opinions in India—Nizam Ali receives more English Troops and dismisses the French—Unfruitful Negotiations at Poonah—Progression of Governor-General's Demands—War begins—Plan of the Campaign.—March of the Army—Siege of Seringapatam—Alarming Situation of the British Army in regard to Food—Seringapatam taken, and the Sultan killed—Division and Settlement of the conquered Country.





BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.When the play of private interest is not instructive, either by the inferences which may be drawn from it, or by the consequences to which it leads, it escapes the curiosity of the historian, whose views are directed by utility alone. Whatever share ministerial intrigues may have had, in the fluctuations of counsel, which attended the choice of a new Governor-General, it is sufficient for us to relate, that after Lord Hobart was appointed, on the 23d of October, 1793, to be Governor at Madras, he was nominated, on the 24th of December, in the same year, to succeed the Marquis Cornwallis, as Governor-General of India. That, enjoying honourable and affluent prospects at home, and at that time filling an office of high dignity and trust, Lord Hobart would not have left his country for less than the assurance of the highest place in
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India, was well understood. Ministerial volition, ofBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. course, was the origin of both the one appointment and the other. The administration, however, of Sir John Shore, who succeeded to the place of Governor-General, as senior member of the council, immediately upon the resignation of Lord Cornwallis, was not interrupted till the month of March, in the year 1797; when Lord Cornwallis was nominated a second time to fill the offices of Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief. The appointment was announced to the different Presidencies in India; and a measure, so extraordinary, seemed to declare that there was something extraordinary in the cause of it. Extra-traordinary as it was, it remained without effect. In the month of October, of the same year, it was notified to the different Presidencies, that the Earl of Mornington was appointed to be Governor-General, in lieu of Marquis Cornwallis. He was appointed, it was said, “under circumstances, and for reasons, of a peculiar nature.” The Directors added, that “various circumstances had induced the Marquis to resign his appointments.”1 Such were the mysterious terms to which the actors thought fit to confine themselves.

The Earl of Mornington had recently distinguished himself by a brilliant speech, in the House of Lords, against Jacobinism, which recommended him to the ministry, as a personage both of good principles, and of good abilities. The breach of faith to Lord Hobart it was proposed to compensate, viz. by money; and that out of the Company's purse. A proposition was brought forward for bestowing upon him a pension of 1,500l. per annum, and this after being once
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.rejected in the General Court, was, nevertheless, by the due application of influence, finally confirmed. The Directors, when pushed for their reasons, hinted, that the attempt of Lord Hobart to transfer to the Company the civil, as well as the military, government of the Carnatic, was, in some way, which they said it was delicate to explain, the cause which rendered it inexpedient that he should continue longer in India. “That attempt,” they observed, “whether owing to the ardour of Lord Hobart, or some other cause, unfortunately failed. This failure involved his Lordship in an altercation with the Supreme Government; upon which the Court of Directors thought it right to support their Government-General and to recall Lord Hobart.”2

Lord Mornington arrived at Calcutta on the 17th of May, 1798, carrying out with him a mind more than usually inflamed with the ministerial passions then burning in England; and in a state peculiarly apt to be seized both with dread and with hatred of any power that was French. He had possessed but little time for acquainting himself with the complicated affairs of India, when all his attention was attracted to a particular point. On the 8th of June, about three weeks after his arrival, a paper was received at Calcutta, which purported to be a proclamation issued by the Governor at the Isle of France. The paper imported, that two ambassadors had arrived from Tippoo Sultan, with letters addressed to the constituted authorities of the island, and dispatches to be forwarded to the government of France; that the object of the embassy was, to propose an alliance offensive and defensive with the French;
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and to request a supply of troops for the purpose of aBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. war against the English; a war, which, with an earnest desire to expel the said English from India, the Sultan was ready to commence, as soon as the French should arrive to assist him. The proclamation then invited the citizens to offer their services, on the liberal terms, which the ambassadors of the Sultan were ready to offer.

This paper, which the Governor-General calls truly an “extraordinary publication,” he was at first inclined to regard as a forgery; because, if a scheme, of the nature here described, were really entertained, it was so much the interest both of Tippoo and the French, to conceal, and an act of such contemptible folly, to divulge it, that such a total want of all capacity for business was scarcely credible, on the part either of a man entrusted with the government of the Isle of France, or of men whom Tippoo would choose for a delicate and important commission.

The Governor-General, nevertheless, received so violent an impulse from the paper that the dispatched a copy of it, even on the following day, to General Harris, the Commander-in-Chief on the coast of Coromandel, at that time occupying, temporarily, the station of Governor of Fort St. George. His doubts respecting the authenticity of the document were declared; but General Harris was commanded “to consider without delay the means of assembling the army on the coast of Coromandel, if necessity should unfortunately require such a precaution.”

On the 18th of June a letter was received, written by the Earl of Macartney at the Cape of Good Hope, for the purpose of conveying to the Indian government intelligence, that such a proclamation had in fact been issued at the Isle of France. And about
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.the same time, several persons arrived at Calcutta, who had been present on the island, when the incident occurred. “A strict examination” of those, whom the Governor-General calls “the most respectable of those persons,” was performed. If their information was to be relied upon, it appeared that toward the close of the month of January, 1798, two persons arrived at the Isle of France, by a ship from Mangalore; that they were received with great demonstrations of respect, treated as ambassadors from Tippoo, and, during their stay on the island, entertained at the public expense; that, without any previous rumour or notion on the island that aid was about to be given to that prince, or a war about to commence between him and the English, the proclamation in question, two days after their arrival, was fixed up, and circulated; that the persons, thus treated as ambassadors, were so far from disowning the publication, that they ostentatiously held the same language, saw it publicly distributed by their agents at the place of their residence, and made promises in the name of the Sultaun, according to its terms; and that on the 7th of March they embarked on board the French frigate La Preneuse, accompanied by the men on whom the inducements held out by them had prevailed, to the amount of about two hundred, including some officers.3 From other sources the Governor-General
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was informed, that the French frigate arrivedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. at Mangalore on the 26th of April; that both the Frenchmen and the persons by whom they had been brought, were received with great marks of satisfaction by the Sultan, and that the principal part of the Frenchmen were admitted into his service.

That the Governor-General should have regarded these incidents as tokens of the hostile mind of Tippoo, was natural. The only material question relates to the nature of the impression on the mind of a wise man, which that inference was calculated to produce. That the mind of Tippoo, in regard to the English, was full of hatred, and the spirit of revenge, it needed no new incident to disclose, or to confirm. In fact, the peace of Seringapatam was concluded with him, under a perfect conviction that his mind was breathing all the rage of disappointed ambition and humiliated pride; and if the hostility of his sentiments had constituted a reason for war, in the opinion of the persons in India and Europe, who at that time composed the compound government of India, that peace would never have been made, as it was made, abroad; nor applauded, as it was applauded, at home. The basis on which the wisdom of that agreement rested was the supposed soundness of the conclusion, that the power of Tippoo, far from able to resist the British when entire, was so little formidable when diminished to one half, that the hostility of his sentiments, however intense, and however certainly known, was a matter unworthy of particular regard, on the part of a people who declared all increase of territory unfavourable to their interests,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.and who, in the opposition of interest between Tippoo and the Mahrattas, could not fail to behold a security against the most formidable of the enemies whom India could raise them up.

The impression made upon the mind of the Governor-General, by the incidents of which the above is the account, appears to have been strong and agitating in the highest degree. “Under all these circumstances, an immediate attack,” says he, “upon Tippoo Sultan, for the purpose of frustrating the execution of his unprovoked and unwarrantable projects of ambition and revenge, appeared to me to be demanded by the soundest maxims both of justice and policy.—Such was the tenor of my opinions as early as the 20th of June, 1798;” that is, only two days after any authentic information of the facts had been received. “I therefore,” continues he, “recorded my decided judgment, that it was necessary to assemble the armies on the coasts of Coromandel and Malabar without delay, and I issued my final orders for this purpose on that day. I have no hesitation in declaring, that my original intention was—if circumstances would have admitted—to have attacked the Sultaun instantly, and on both sides of his dominions, for the purpose of defeating his hostile preparations and of anticipating their declared object. I was concerned, however, to learn, from persons most conversant in military details at Fort St. George, that the dispersed state of the army on the coast of Coromandel, and certain radical defects in its establishments, would render the assembling a force equal to offensive movements against Tippoo, a much more tedious and difficult operation than I had apprehended.”4
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Either the Governor-General condemned the policyBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. of the treaty which was concluded by Lord Cornwallis, and highly applauded by the ministers, by the parliament, and by the people of England; Or, such was the change in circumstances, that the enmity of Tippoo, which was neither formidable, nor offered any reasonable prospect of being formidable, in 1792, had become intensely formidable in 1798; Or, lastly, the mind of the Governor-General was in a state of inflammation, and decided upon suggestion totally different from a cool and accurate contemplation of the circumstances of the case.

No where, in his official correspondence, as he lays down the reasons of his conduct, does he state any disapprobation of the treaty of Seringapatam. It seems, therefore, a proper conclusion, that no disapprobation of it existed in his mind.

Whether, in the circumstances of Tippoo or the English, there was any thing at that time, which rendered the inimical mind of Tippoo more alarming, than at the date of the peace, is the next point of rational enquiry. The English, unless we are to suppose that the government which they had established in India was too bad to admit of progression, must have advanced in all the elements of political power. They had enjoyed uninterrupted peace; they had
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.taken possession, almost unresisted, of both the French and Dutch settlements in India; time had been given to improve their experience, and their institutions, and to reap the greatest possible fruit from the extensive district which the partition of one half of Tippoo's former territories had added to their dominions. On the side of Tippoo on change could possibly have taken place, except by the exertions which he might have made to improve his revenues, and his army—revenues completely exhausted, and an army conquered and reduced—out of the resources of a country desolated in every quarter, by the ravages of war; and reduced to one half of that extent, over which the English had found it so easy to prevail.

It would be ridiculous, and at the same time the deepest imputation upon the English government, to suppose, that, intrinsically, the power of the English had not risen upon that of Tippoo, and rendered its preponderance still greater, during the interval of only six years which had elapsed since the pacification of Seringapatam. If then any danger to the English now accrued from Tippoo greater than the danger of 1792, it must be sought for in causes exterior to the condition and resources of the countries appertaining to each. The connection with allies was the only circumstance from without, by which the power of either government was affected.

With respect to the English, it was indeed alleged that their allies, the Nizam and the Mahrattas yielded a prospect rather of danger than of aid. This, however, was a circumstance which presented consequences of two different sorts. If the want of allies increased the causes of their dread of Tippoo, it rendered them less able to fight with him, and therefore increased the motives to peace. If they were perfectly able to fight with him, notwithstanding the
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want of allies, this very circumstance proved, thatBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. they had nothing to apprehend from remaining at peace. If it was alleged that they were able to fight now, but should not be able, after the lapse of some time, it implied that Tippoo's government was better than theirs, and would more rapidly increase his resources.

Besides; it was not true, that the English were to a considerable, if to any degree, less sure of auxiliary operations, than at the commencement, or any moment since the commencement of the peace. The Mahrattas, it was supposed, would stand aloof, even if the Company were attacked. But, in the first place, it was to be remembered, that as the Mahrattas dreaded nothing more than the increase of Tippoo's power, the natural conclusion was, that, if they saw the Company in any danger, they would be too strongly impressed with a sense of interest not to offer effectual assistance, and if at present they showed indifference to the dispute, or rather a jealousy of the English, the reason was, because they saw the English not likely, by suffering at the hand of Tippoo, to make Tippoo formidably strong, but much more likely, by crushing Tippoo, to raise their own power to a great and formidable height. It was also true, that at the moment when Lord Cornwallis concluded the treaty, a knowledge of the case was all that was necessary to convince any man, that hardly any dependance could, even then, be placed on assistance from the Mahrattas, in the event of a subsequent dispute; and in fact, every circumstance, to which a hope of the co-operation of that people against the aggressions of Tippoo could be attached in 1792, existed in equal force at the present hour, and was as likely to produce the desired effect.

The only source of jealousy which regarded the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.Nizam, the second of the English allies, was the corps of sepoys commanded by Frenchmen. In the state of mind by which the Governor-General, and Englishmen of his intellectual and moral cast, were at that time distinguished, the very existence of a Frenchman was a cause of alarm: and a military corps, under the direction of Frenchmen, assumed the dreadful aspect of a most enormous evil. It was, at the same time, however, a circumstance perfectly known, that this evil, whatever it was, it depended upon the English themselves, by an act totally free from difficulty, completely to remove. The Nizam had already proposed to Sir John Shore the dismissal of the French officers in his service, and the abolition of the corps, provided the English troops in his pay were so increased, and their services so extended, as to enable them to defend him against the aggressions of the Mahrattas. The English themselves indeed were eager to hold forth, that the French officers, by the avidity with which they absorbed the powers of the state, had become odious to the Nizam, who was now alarmed at their daring encroachments, and eager for their destruction. In point of fact, it was found, that, as soon as the Governor-General proposed to agree to the conditions upon which the Nizam had already offered to dismiss the French, his assent was obtained, and this cause, if such it is to be deemed, of seeking the destruction of Tippoo, was speedily taken away. The truth is, that the English were, in the first place, stronger, intrinsically; and, in the next place, not weaker, on any rational ground of computation, in respect of allies, in the year 1798, than in the year 1792. If there was any thing real, therefore, in the ground of alarm, it is not in the circumstances of the English, but in those of Tippoo, that it is to be found.

The revenue which it was possible for the very limited
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territory of the Sultan to yield, and the moderateBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. army which that revenue could maintain, it is miserable to contemplate as having been a subject of alarm, to a people, possessing the resources of the English, and so many degrees advanced beyond their opponents in the art and science of war. Of course, it is in circumstances extrinsic to his dominions, if in any, that Tippoo can be regarded as having been formidable to the English, or as laying them under any obligation, beyond that which existed in 1792, to adopt extraordinary measures of self-defence. But of such circumstances one only can be named; and that is, his union with the French. To clear up, therefore, every difficulty in this question of policy, it only remains to inquire how much of danger was implied in the connexion which he had formed with that formidable people.

Tippoo was by no means without a connexion with the French at the date of the treaty of Seringapatam. A French corps had formed a distinguished part of his army from the moment he ascended the throne. When that treaty was concluded, a war was impending between the English and the French; and no man could have a doubt that Tippoo would gladly join the enemies of those whom he regarded as his inveterate foes, should those enemies think of carrying their arms to that distant part of the globe. With all these circumstances fully before him, Lord Cornwallis thought it wise to make peace. Had any new circumstance occurred, to make it wise in Lord Wellesley to come to the determination, which he says he had formed on the 20th of June, 1798, of attacking Tippoo immediately, if he had found it possible to assemble the troops? Two men had appeared at the isle of France, and a proclamation had been issued by the Governor. From this, as far as then
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.was known, only one of three inferences could rationally be drawn: Either that it set forth a number of falsehoods, for the purpose of precipitating the English into an Indian war: Or that it was the act of a madman making public a communication which it was so much the interest of both parties to keep in the profoundest secresy: Or, which was by far the most probable supposition, that it was nothing but an act of boasting, bragging, folly, with something of very small importance for its foundation. Nothing was more likely than that Tippoo, seeing the increase which had taken place in the French corps in the service of other native powers, both in that of the Nizam, and that of the principal Mahratta power, was very desirous of increasing his own; and might have sent agents to the Isle of France for the purpose of engaging both officers and men. It is well known, how much of boasting, and of exaggeration, enters into the verbal intercourse of the East; it is well known, also, that Tippoo carried this weakness to excess, and might be regarded as a braggart even among orientals. It is still further known, that on nothing was he fonder of bragging, than his power in relation to the English, and the vengeance which, if provoked by them, he should one day inflict. It was, therefore, not incredible, it was highly probable, that with a view to obtain a more favorable reception to his application for leave to enlist soldiers in the Isle of France, his agents were instructed to talk very high, to boast of his enmity to the English, and even his power, if well supported by the French, to expel them from India. Vapour, of this kind, was a thing too common in India to excite any particular regard. But it was not surprising, if it produced on the French Governor a very different effect. It was very well known, at the period when
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the Governor-General was called upon to deliberate,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. or to decide without deliberation, upon the question of peace or war, that a high degree of excitability had, by the events of their revolution, been conveyed to the minds of Frenchmen; that they were almost as much disposed to the language of vanity and ostentation as the orientals themselves: and the only rational conclusion was, that the French Governor, evidently a very ignorant and foolish man, had been eager to adopt any occasion, however insignificant, of indulging his propensity for boasting, exaggeration, and display; that the loose, hyperbolical talk of Indians had been held forth as the momentous language of a solemn negotiation; and that two agents for recruiting soldiers had been transformed into ambassadors, for the purpose of contracting an alliance, offensive and defensive, between the Sultan of Mysore, and the Republic of France.

But, even should we go so far as to allow the wisdom of supposing that Tippoo had made an overture of the most serious kind for an alliance offensive and defensive against the English, an important question is still to be asked. Did this, in the smallest degree, alter the circumstances of the English in regard to Tippoo? Was their danger, in any respect, increased? Would they have been perfectly safe to remain at peace, had not this overture been made? If so, in what respect did this overture increase the probability of evil? It may be affirmed, without any dread of refutation, that it produced no effect of that description whatsoever. In reality, the incident disclosed nothing with regard to the mind of Tippoo, which was not perfectly known, believed, and acted upon before; namely, his eager desire to do mischief to the English, and to unite with any power that would embark in the same design, more especially with the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.French, whose power and hatred appeared to offer so great a resource. In fact, the incident made a disclosure, which might have been regarded as agreeable; that the connection between Tippoo and the French was so trifling, and their mode of intercourse so very childish and absurd. It might have been expected, and it ought to have been beforehand supposed, that a perfect and regular channel of communication was opened between them, and that their conjoint means of annoying the English had been well digested, and perfectly understood.

But, if this incident disclosed nothing with regard to the minds of Tippoo, and the French, except that they were less capable of doing mischief to the English, than might before have been reasonably expected, it can hardly be supposed, that an overture so loose, indefinite, full of negligence and mismanagement, could add any thing to the motives of the French for carrying hostilities to India, if their circumstances admitted so costly an experiment. And, lastly, if this overture intrinsically altered nothing, either in regard to the dangers of the English, or their knowledge of that danger, except by showing that it was less than they might have supposed, was there any thing (for that is the last hypothesis) in the state and condition of the French nation, at that particular time, which rendered it more likely they should now send an army to India, than at any period since the conclusion of the treaty of Seringapatam? During the two days between the 18th and the 20th of June, 1798, in which contracted space the Governor-General made up his mind, upon the strength of the incident in question, to attack the sovereign of Mysore instantly; it may be affirmed, that he had no rational ground for supposing it more likely that the French would then make war upon India, than it had been at any period
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since the war between them and England began. ItBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. evidently follows, that there was no reason for destroying Tippoo, at this particular moment, which had not existed at every moment since the commencement of the negotiation for peace.

Still, the character of the policy which was pursued by the Governor-General remains to be determined, by the solution, not of the question whether more reason, than at any preceding period, existed for the destruction of the Sultan, but of the question, whether then sufficient reason existed as well as, if such were the coincidence, at any antecedent time. More obscurity rests upon this determination. If it be true, that the Governor-General ought to have been guided by the act of parliament, made and provided for the express regulation of his conduct, the answer is not doubtful. By that act, all augmentation of territory, and every act of war against an Indian prince, except for self-defence, in the case of actual hostilities, was declared to be contrary to the interest, and injurious to the honour of the British nation. It will be impossible to show, that the war into which the Governor-General was so eager to plunge, was a war of self-defence, except by such arguments as will show, that no war which has a prospect of adding to the securities of a nation can ever be a war of a different sort. If it was proper in the Governor-General to treat the act of parliament with contempt; as the parliament itself soon after declared that it was, by thanking and applauding him for his flagrant violation of that act; and if the only question was, whether or not the British interests were to be promoted, or the contrary, by the ruin of this dreaded foe, the inquiry is more complicated. What was to be gained was abundantly obvious; it was the saving of the expense, which the maintenance of a force, sufficient
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.to guard against any chance of evil from his malignity, would have required. This expense, if the war by good fortune had not been so very short, would not perhaps have equalled the interest of the money expended by the war. Had this been the fact, more would have been lost, it is evident, than gained by the destruction of Tippoo; for as to the mere increase of dominion, independent of security, that, in the shape of a good, was not less violently renounced by Lord Mornington, than by the parliament, and by the nation at large. It was on this foundation, or otherwise it will be difficult to find one, on which, after conquering the dominions of Tippoo, instead of keeping the whole for the benefit of his country, he gave to others an important part, and even urged upon the Mahrattas a portion which they refused. With regard to what was lost to the British interests by the destruction of Tippoo (for even the power of Tippoo was an evil not without its good), it is much less easy to form any thing like a determinate opinion. While Tippoo existed, the Mahrattas might be confidently expected to be much more subservient to the English, on whom alone they depended for assistance against this their greatly dreaded foe, than they were likely to be after his destruction, when every source of apprehension was taken away. What amount of evil might be involved in thus relieving the Mahrattas from all dependance upon the English cannot of course be exactly defined. The English were able to chastise them when they thought chastisement requisite. A case might even be supposed, in which Tippoo, instead of being an opponent, might have been a confederate of the Mahrattas against the English. This supposition, however, is obviously confined to one case, that in which the English, renouncing their pacific policy, should bring the Mahrattas
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into greater dread of unprovoked evil from theBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1793. English, than they lay under in regard to Tippoo. As affairs were actually situated, the effects of their emancipation from the dread of Tippoo soon began to appear; and the Governor-General found himself under the supposed necessity of checking their audacity by a war.

That the contemplation of the facts made, on other occasions, an impression, correspondent to the inferences which have here been drawn: made such an impression, at the time, on the minds of the most instructed men in India, there is a remarkable document to show. On the 24th of July, 1798, a meeting was held of the British inhabitants of Calcutta, on the subject of the voluntary contributions in support of the war against the French, contributions promoted with great zeal, by all expectants and dependants on government, in every part of the British dominions. To this meeting great importance was attached; and all the persons highest in their consequence, and warmest in their aspirings, were forward, by the exhibition of their persons, and of their fervour, not to omit so easy an opportunity of establishing a new title of merit in the eyes of their superiors. In this splendid, and numerous assembly, the Advocate-General, Mr. Burroughs, made the introductory address, at great length, and with the best of his eloquence. He introduced in it the following observations, which constitute an article of evidence, of some weight, in determining the questions which arise out of the circumstances of that important era. “Every man,” he said, “at all acquainted with our situation, must know that in India we never before were so powerful and so unassailable, as at the present moment. We have an army infinitely stronger, in number and discipline, than we ever had before in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.India. We are without an enemy who can venture to attack us; and he would assert that there was not a single native who would now even wish to attack us, unless, indeed, our old enemy Tippoo might have such a wish. But that Prince had received such a lesson in the last Mysore war, as must deter him from any such enterprise again, even if he could have the aid of France in doing so. Any aid from Europe it was impossible he could have, considering the total want of ships in France, on which troops could be transmitted; and we know besides, that the English fleets maintained the entire dominion of the seas, and that our enemies were every day lamenting their inability to send one sail in safety from any of their ports, as they were all blocked up by the British navy. The French islands in India had thrown off all connection with France, and, instead of taking any part against us, must now look to us as friends, to protect them from any attempts which might be made on them by France.”5

Compelled reluctantly to abandon the design of immediately invading Mysore, the Governor-General, nevertheless, renewed his orders for assembling the army with the smallest possible delay. In the policy of this measure the Madras council by no means concurred. Besides the length of time necessary for assembling the army, the expense, they said, would be so enormous; and so much danger would be unavoidably created of provoking hostilities with Tippoo, by vast preparations importing the design of war; that they could not think themselves justified, without a strong representation, in obeying the orders which they had received.6 “Not discouraged,” says the
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Governor-General, “by these suggestions and representations,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. I insisted on the immediate execution of my orders.”7

During the interval which was required for assembling the army, the Governor-General found employment in negotiating with Nizam Ali the dismission of the French officers, and the dissolution of their corps. His minister, to whom the business of the state was almost wholly committed, was a partisan of the English, and well disposed for the annihilation of the French party; as soon as the British government would consent to replace them by a force adequate to the service which the French performed in the protection of the country. The Nizam was not altogether blind to the dangers of placing himself in a state of helpless dependance upon a superior power. But totally unequal, as he knew that he was, to the defence of himself, against the Mahrattas, against the Sultan, or against the English, it was easy for the minister to convince him, that he was safer in the hands of the English than of either of the other two. From the attainment of what he regarded as an object of unspeakable importance, the dissolution of a French corps in the service of the Nizam, Lord Mornington was far from allowing himself to be restrained by any dread of offending the Mahrattas; the motive by which the mind of his predecessor had been swayed. His instructions were issued to the acting resident at
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.Hyderabad, on the 8th of July, to open a negotiation with the Nizam; and on the 1st of September a treaty was concluded, by which four battalions of British troops were added to the former two, and the British government was pledged for the protection of the Nizam, against any unjust demands of the Mahrattas. The Nizam, on his part, engaged to disband the French corps in his service; to deliver over its officers to the British government, whenever the whole of the British force should arrive in his capital; and to raise the subsidy, which he paid for the maintenance of the British troops, from 57,713, to 2,01,425 rupees per month.

Though the force which the French officers commanded consisted, after all the alarm which it occasioned, of less than 14,000 men, it was necessary to take precautions against the chance of their resistance. Pending the negotiation, the additional troops destined for the service of the Nizam were collected in that part of the Company's territory which touched upon his frontier; and on the 10th of October joined the two former battalions at Hyderabad. Fortunately for the schemes of the Governor-General, Raymond, whose talents and great influence might have been formidably exerted for the preservation of his power, had died a few months before; and a struggle for ascendancy had introduced great animosity and disunion into the corps. Not only the Nizam, but even the minister himself, wavered, however, and drew back, when the enterprise came to the verge of execution. In so little respect was this greatly dreaded corps really held by the British officer, who commanded the six subsidiary battalions, that he did not hesitate to take a decisive step. He declared his determination, unless the Nizam came to the immediate resolution of fulfilling his engagements, to make
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an attack on the French camp with his own forces,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. and proclaim the want of faith in the Nizam's government as the cause of all the consequences which might ensue. A proclamation was soon after sent to the French camp, announcing the discharge of the officers, and declaring it treason in the soldiers to obey them. The soldiers were already in a state approaching to mutiny. The disorders now proceeded to greater violence; and the officers were imprisoned by their men. In this helpless situation, the camp, which at the time did not contain above 11,000 men, the rest of the corps being on a distant detachment, was surrounded by the whole of the British battalions, and a strong body of the Nizam's horse. The men, upon a promise of their pay, and continuance of service, laid down their arms; and the arrest of the officers was accomplished without difficulty or danger. Notwithstanding the unfriendly passions which Frenchmen at this moment excited in the breast of the Governor-General, he was careful to insure to the individuals, who had fallen into his power, that generosity of treatment which a gallant mind is ever prompted to bestow. Their property, together with such arrears as were due to them by the Nizam, were secured to their use; they were conveyed to Calcutta, under every indulgence compatible with the security of their persons; and on their arrival in England the Governor-General provided that they should not be treated as prisoners of war, but transported to their country without detention.8
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.The chances of good or evil from the Mahrattas, also, forced themselves upon the attention of the British government; and negotiations were carried on at Poonah, at the same time with those, which, at Hyderabad, were conducted to an issue deemed so exceedingly favourable. The negotiations, however, attempted with the Mahrattas, produced not equal results. The substance of the treaty negotiated at Hyderabad was communicated to the Peshwa, both before and after its conclusion. “And at both periods,” says the Governor-General to the Court of Directors, “he expressed his entire approbation of the nature and tendency of the new engagements, as well in their operation upon the interests of the Mahratta empire, as upon those of the Nizam.”9 On the other hand, Sir John Malcolm says, “The measures taken at Hyderabad were regularly communicated to the Peshwa: but that prince, either influenced by his weak counsellors, or acting under the control of Dowlut Row Scindia, obstinately continued to withold his formal consent to any acknowledgement of the right of the British government to arbitrate in his disputes with the court of Hyderabad.”10 Of course, it may be said, the Governor-General knew best. It may also, however, with equal certainty be said, that he had the greatest temptation to lay on a colour; that if none except agreeable consequences were supposed to flow from his measures the favour of his employers would be enhanced; that from this species of art, which had been amply practised by his predecessors, Lord Mornington must have been a man far superior to his predecessors to stand always
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exempt; and that of those expedients for a colour,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. the two letters which have just been quoted appear to present us with instances. In the first place, when mention is made of the time which would be required for assembling the army of the Carnatic, no mention whatsoever is made of the disapprobation expressed by the Madras council. In the next place, when the execution is described of the measures taken for the destruction of the French corps, in the service of the Nizam, the reluctance exhibited by the Nizam, when the crisis arrived, is not only covered with silence, but with a language which implies uninterrupted alacrity and zeal. Beside the difficulty, in such a situation as that of Sir John Malcolm, of remaining long ignorant of such a general and important fact, the consequences also tally with his representation, for all the efforts of the Governor-General to draw the Mahrattas into an intimate connection with him, totally failed. And again; as Scindia, not the Peshwa, was at this time predominant over the Mahratta councils, the assent of the Peshwa had little value; and if presented to people ignorant of the state of the facts, as equivalent to that of the Mahratta power, was only calculated to produce deception. It seems to be affirmed, from private information, by Colonel Wilks, that both Scindia and the Peshwa, under alarm at the symptoms of ambition which at this moment distinguished the movements of the British power, were actuated by favourable dispositions towards the sovereign of Mysore; but Scindia was afraid to take a positive step, on account of his dominions in the North, which the English had an army ready to invade; and the Peshwa, beside the imminent danger to which the hostility of the English would expose him, had no liberty to act
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.but as Scindia directed. The Governor-General, accordingly, when at last he found that assistance from the Mahrattas was not to be obtained, encouraged by the probability that he would receive no opposition, resolved to proceed in his warlike operations without them.11

On the 18th of June, the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors wrote from England to the Governor-General in Council, that they had just received from his Majesty's ministers, information of a large armament which had sailed from Toulon on the 19th of the preceding month; and that amid the various conjectures respecting its destination, it was not conceived impossible that India might be the object of attack, by way of the Red Sea, or its coast, after conquest of Egypt; “or even,” the Directors add, “by the Black Sea, or by Bussora. His Majesty's ministers,” they continue, “have therefore informed us, that immediate measures will be taken for a considerable augmentation of the European force in the East Indies: You may expect that not less than 4,000 seasoned and disciplined troops, and perhaps a larger number, may be sent to the Company's settlements with all possible expedition, part of which will, we trust, reach India not many months after the receipt of this dispatch.”12

It was not before the 18th of October that the Governor-General first received authentic intelligence of the expedition from Toulon, and the invasion of Egypt; when his preparations against Tippoo were approaching maturity. The constituted authorities in England, under impression of the danger which the invasion of India by so great an army would produce, gave directions to the Governor-General, to
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make war upon Tippoo, if he appeared to be actuallyBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. accumulating the means of seconding invasion by the French. They seem not to have regarded the proclamation at the Mauritius as satisfactory evidence of any such design; of which they express themselves in the following words: “We are unable to judge, whether this proclamation be in reality what its import declares it to be; or intended merely as a feint, with a view to embroil us with Tippoo.” And they marked out unambiguous preparations for war, as the circumstance by which the judgment of their subordinates in India ought to be determined. “It is highly improbable,” they say, “that Tippoo should have entered into any league with the French, without some apparent preparation, on his part, of an hostile nature, in furtherance of their designs. If such shall have been the case, it would be neither prudent nor politic to wait for actual hostilities on his part.” Preparation for war, in the only sense which can here be applied, is such an augmentation, or such a disposition, of the instruments of war, as, to some considerable degree, is both unusual, and increases the danger of the suspecting state. That any such augmentation or disposition of the instruments of war had taken place on the part of Tippoo, no evidence was ever produced; while evidence to the contrary appears in abundance.13 Even with the permission which the alarm of the French expedition extorted
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.from the Directors, they thought proper to enjoin that in resorting to hostilities, “the utmost discretion” should be used; “that we may not,” they say, “be involved in a war in India, without the most inevitable necessity.”—That inevitable necessity existed, or any necessity at all, will not easily, after the first impartial exposition of the facts, be again alleged. The war might be advantageous, or it might be not advantageous. But the word must be used in an extraordinary sense, if it ever be denominated necessary.

On the last day of October, that is, in less than a fortnight after he was informed of the invasion of Egypt, the Governor-General received intelligence of the destruction of the French fleet by Sir Horatio Nelson, at the mouth of the Nile. Notwithstanding this decisive event; “I did not,” he says, “relax any part of the naval or military preparations which had been commenced under my orders;—being still uncertain of the fate of the French army in Egypt, and ignorant whether an additional force might not have been intended to co-operate with it in India, by the ordinary passage round the Cape of Good Hope.”14 The chance of the invasion of India, from either quarter, will not at the present moment be regarded as having been very great. It will not come up to the description of what constituted an “inevitable necessity” for going to war with Tippoo.

“The immaturity, however,” says Sir John Malcolm, “of the Sultan's plans formed, in Lord Wellesley's opinion, the strongest reason for an immediate attack upon his possessions; but the delay, which was likely to occur in assembling the army on the coast of Coromandel, which had been reduced to a
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very low establishment, and was in a very dividedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. and unequipped state, obliged him to alter it; and he made no communication whatever to Tippoo Sultaun on the subject of his proceedings, till the military preparations, both at Madras and Bombay, were complete; and the alliance with the Nizam had not merely been restored, but rendered so efficient, as to secure the full application of the resources of that Prince in aid of the common cause.”15

During all the time of these remarkable proceedings, it is singular that Tippoo was either without the means, or without the inclination, of making any considerable addition to his habitual state of equipment for war, and, with an appearance of insensibility to all that surrounded him, forbore even to remonstrate against the accumulation which was going forward of the instruments of his destruction. When the beginning of November arrived, the Governor-General thought the opportunity was now favourable to exhibit his complaints. On the 8th of that month, he addressed a letter to the Sultan, in which the expressions were conciliatory, rather than hostile, but in which he informs him of the connection which he was aware had been formed between him and the French, “Whom you know,” says he, “to be the inveterate enemies of the Company, and to be now engaged in an unjust was with the British nation.” He then gives him a lecture, on French principles; which will be appealed to hereafter as a monument of the times. “It appears not,” he adds, “either necessary or proper, that I should any longer conceal from you the surprise and concern with which I perceived you disposed to involve yourself in all the ruinous consequences of a connexion, which threatens,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798.not only to subvert the foundations of friendship between you and the company, but to introduce, into the heart of your kingdom, the principles of anarchy and confusion; to shake your own authority; and to destroy the religion which you revere.” On the disposition of the Company to preserve inviolate the obligations imposed by the relation of amity and peace, the Governor-General cited the remarkable instance which had recently occurred; of a district of country to which, though possessed by the Company, the Sultan laid claim, and of which, his right having been ascertained by arbiters mutually chosen, restitution had been made. As the result of these premises, the Governor-General proposed to send to him a British officer, whom he already knew, to communicate to him, on the part of the English, and of the Peshwa and Nizam, their allies, the plan which in their opinion was calculated “to remove all existing distrust and suspicion, and to establish peace and good understanding on the most durable foundations.”16

Of the terms which, at different periods, the Governor-General was disposed to allow Tippoo Sultaun, he himself has given a very instructive history, in his letter to the Court of Directors, under date the 3d of August, 1799.17 What was the extent of his views in relation to the attack which he was so eager to make immediately after he first received intelligence of the foolish proclamation at the Isle of France, he has no where disclosed. When he found the execution of this design impossible, and how much time it would require to put the army in a condition for
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action, he would, he says, have been “contentedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1798. with any adjustment which offered a reasonable prospect of detaching. Tippoo from his connexion with the French;” and that, “in the arrangement which then occurred to him, his views were limited to the establishment of permanent residents, on the part of the Company, and of the allies, at Seringapatam, to the dismission of all the French then in the Sultaun's service, and to the perpetual exclusion of the French from his armies and dominions.”

Before preferring these demands, he first, however, deemed it politic, to place the armies in a posture for action; and to take measures for lessening the chances of evil, as well as improving the chances of good, at the hands of the Nizam and the Mahrattas. The month of November had thus arrived before he was ready to make his first communication. But, at that time the French had invaded Egypt, which appeared to increase the dangers of the English dominion in India; on the other hand, the military preparations of the English were advancing to maturity on a great scale, the French party at Hyderabad was destroyed, the resources of the Nizam's country were by the late arrangement placed at the disposal of the Company's servants, and the English now had power to enforce whatever demands they might think proper to advance. The Governor-General, therefore, resolved not to content himself with the terms which, without having communicated them, he would have thought sufficient for all necessary purposes before. If, however, the real ground of the war was not the love of conquest, which was so fervently disclaimed, but the chance of danger from the power of Tippoo, as was the grand pretence, the new degree of security which had accrued to the Company was a reason, not for war,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.but peace. The additional chance of invasion, by the presence in Egypt of the French, presented, as far as it went, a demand for additional security. But that chance was to be weighed, and its value ascertained. Except to an eye surrounded by the mists of ignorance or passion, which saw its object hideously enlarged, it could not appear to be great. Besides, as the British government would not long remain without a grand effort to expel the enemy from Egypt, the Company might have quietly rested on its guard, without incurring the mischievous expenditure, not to speak of any more of the detestable consequences of actual war, at least for a little time, till they understood what was the result of the measures adopted against the invaders of Egypt, and whether a few months would not set India free from any danger on account of the French. However, the terms, beyond which the Governor-General did not think as yet of proceeding, were not extravagant. Beside the conditions first meditated, he meant to demand the cession of Canara, a maritime province on the western coast, which appeared to facilitate the communication of Tippoo with the French; but to allow him an equivalent in some other quarter distant from the coast. This, then, in the opinion of the Governor-General, who now felt himself in a condition to enforce any demand, and whose apprehension from French invasion, and the rooted enmity of Tippoo, was then at its height, was all the security, as against Tippoo, which the British interests really required. If nothing followed to create occasion for more security, every addition which was made to the sacrifices exacted of the hated foe, was made either in the spirit of revenge, or from the love of conquest; for no other solution remains.

The Governor-General professes, and with all the
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marks of sincerity, his expectation to have been, thatBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. Tippoo, overawed by the discomfiture of the French fleet in Egypt, by the ascendancy of the English at Hyderabad, the strength of the English army, and an English fleet on the coast of Malabar, would accede to the terms which he meant to propose, and that the calamities of war might still be avoided. For the purpose of accelerating measures, whether of a pacific or hostile description, he thought it expedient to be near the scene, and in a letter dated the 10th of December acquainted the Sultan with his intention of repairing shortly to Madras. He arrived on the 31st of the same month, and found waiting for him an answer from Tippoo.

In the letter of the Sultan, the expressions were not less pacific than those of the Governor-General. He declares the highest satisfaction at the naval victory gained on the coast of Egypt by the English over the French; the former of whom he describes as possessing almost every virtue, the latter every vice. The charge which had been urged by the Governor-General, of soliciting an hostile connexion with the French, he endeavoured to answer thus; “In this Sircar (state) there is a mercantile tribe, who employ themselves in trading by sea and land. Their agents purchased a two-masted vessel, and having loaded her with rice, departed with a view to traffic. It happened that she went to the Mauritius, from whence forty persons, French, and of a dark colour, of whom ten or twelve were artificers, and the rest servants, came here in search of employment. Such as chose to take service were entertained, and the remainder departed beyond the confines of this Sircar: And the French, who are full of vice and deceit, have perhaps taken advantage of the departure of the ship to put about reports with the view to ruffle the minds of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.both Sircars.” He then made protestation of his earnest desire to preserve and to strengthen the bands of peace between himself and the Company; described his own occupations as all in the highest degree pacific; and added, “In this case, the allusion to war in your friendly letter, and the following passage, namely, that prudence required that both the Company and their allies should adopt certain measures of precaution and self-defence, have given me the greatest surprise.” As the proposition of sending to him a deputy, and opening a negotiation, appeared to imply, that new sacrifices were to be exacted of him, he appealed to the existing treaty, as affording the proper and adequate adjustment of the rights and interests of the contracting parties; and said, “I cannot imagine that means more effectual than these can be adopted, for giving stability to the foundations of friendship and harmony, promoting the security of states, or the welfare and advantage of all parties.”18 This letter the Governor-General regarded as marked by prevarication and falsehood, in respect to his intercourse with the French; and by criminal evasion, in regard to the moderate and amicable proposition for opening a negotiation. He replied, accordingly, by a letter, dated the 9th of January, 1799, in which he described the embassy to the Isle of France; and explicitly declared, that the new engagements into which he affirmed that Tippoo had thus entered with the enemies of the allies required a new arrangement for their security. He recommended that only one day should be taken to reply to this letter; intimating that dangerous consequences might result from a greater delay.19 That time might not be wanting for the campaign before the commencement
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of the rains, was the motive which impelled theBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. Governor-General to hasten; and, beside the established practice, and inveterate habits of all Oriental courts, the same circumstance afforded a strong motive to the Sultan to make use of every expedient for delay.

The end of January approached, and an answer from the Sultan had not yet arrived. This was interpreted contempt and obstinacy. It is even assigned as proof of more determined enmity than was previously supposed. The army was now irresistible. “On these grounds,” says the Governor-General, “towards the close of the month of January, 1799, my intention was to have required from Tippoo Sultaun, in addition to the terms already stated, the payment of a considerable sum of money, as an indemnification for the expense to which his hostile and treacherous conduct had subjected the allies.”20

Before the 3d of February, Lord Mornington received intelligence, that Tippoo had prepared two native vakeels, who, together with one of the French officers who had lately arrived from the Isle of Franch, were waiting at Tranquebar, to embark on a mission to the Executive Directory of France. This cannot be regarded as a very extraordinary proceeding in a prince who knew that a vast army had been levied against him before any complaint had been preferred, or so much as an explanation asked, of his conduct; and might by himself have been represented, with surely not less plausibility than by the English their preparations for attack, as a proceeding purely defensive, and imperiously called for by the dangers with which he was conspicuously threatened. At this
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.time, however, the Governor-General determined to suspend all negotiation, until the united forces of the Company and their allies should, to use his own expressions, “have made such an impression on the territories of Mysore, as might give full effect to our just representations.”21

On the 3d of February, his Lordship dispatched his commands to General Harris, to enter the territory of Mysore, with the army which had been assembled at Velore, and to General Stuart to co-operate with the Bombay army from Malabar; while at the same time he gave intimation to the allied courts, and the British admiral on the coast, that he now considered the Company as at war with Tippoo Sultan.

Another addition was now made to the severity of the terms. From this time nothing less was to be exacted of the Sultan than a cession of his maritime provinces in perpetuity to the English; an equal territory on their respective frontiers to each of the allies, amounting to about a fourth part of his dominions, and a crore and a half of rupees. But, in the second place, if any decisive advantage should be obtained in the field, or the operations of the war should be advanced to the opening of the batteries upon Seringapatam, the General was not to content himself with less than the cession of one whole half of the territories of which the Sultan was in possession at the commencement of the war, the relinquishment of all claim to any of the places, on the frontiers of the Company and their allies, about which there was any dispute, and the payment of two crores of sicca rupees. The dismission of all Europeans belonging to any country at war with the English, the renunciation of all connexion with the French, an engagement never to
Edition: current; Page: [97]
retain any individual of that nation in his service, orBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. even to permit him to reside within his dominions, to receive at his court a permanent ambassador from each of the allies, to keep with each of them an ambassador of his own, and to give up certain forts and hostages as security for the execution of the treaty: These were articles common to this, with the former catalogue of terms.22

On the 13th of February, the Governor-General received a letter from Tippoo, in which, after acknowledging the receipt of his letters, he desires, as he is going upon a hunting excursion, in which he frequently indulged, that he would send the deputy (about whom his friendly pen had repeatedly written), slightly attended. This consent, which was sufficiently cold and ungracious, the Governor-General describes, as reluctant and insidious; and he answered it by referring him to General Harris, to whom all his communications were now to be addressed. This answer was even transmitted through that General, who had orders to forward it to the Sultan, on the same day on which the army should pass the frontier.

The army, now assembled at Velore, exceeded 20,000 men, whereof 2,635 were cavalry, and 4,381 Europeans: It was joined, before the commencement of its march, by the whole of the British detachment serving with the Nizam, 6,500 strong, by about an equal number of the Nizam's infantry, including a portion of Sepoys lately commanded by the French, but now by British officers, and a large body of cavalry; “an army,” than which, says the Governor-General, one “more completely appointed, more amply and liberally supplied in every department, or
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.more perfect in its discipline, and in the acknowledged experience, ability, and zeal of its officers, never took the field in India:” The army of the western coast, equal in excellence, assembled at Cananore, under General Stuart, amounted to 6,420 fighting men, of whom 1,617 were Europeans: And a force, described as considerable, but of which the amount is not specified, under Colonels Read and Brown, were to join or co-operate with the Commander-in-Chief from the southern districts of Carnatic and Mysore. All this was directed against the chieftain of Mysore, who, six years before, was stripped of one half of his dominions; and left in possession of a territory yielding a revenue of little more than a crore of rupees, or one million sterling; while the revenue of the Anglo-Indian government alone, without speaking of that of its ally, exceeded nine millions. What a mass of talent the petty prince of a petty country must have been supposed to possess!23

The army of Bombay, under the command of General Stuart, marched from Cananore on the 21st of February; it arrived at the head of the Poodicherrum Ghaut on the 25th of the same month; and took post at Seedapore and Seedasere, on the 2d of March, where it both protected the large supplies which had been collected in the district of Coorg; and could readily communicate with the main army as it approached to Seringapatam. General Harris entered the Mysore territory on the 5th of March, and commenced his operations by the reduction of several forts
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upon the frontier; of which none made any considerableBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. resistance; and some made no resistance at all.

At the time when the British General passed the eastern frontier of Mysore, Tippoo was supposed to be encamped in the vicinity of Madoor, and was expected to move in the direction of Bangalore, for the purpose of opposing the progress of the army. Having succeeded in raising this expectation, he left his camp near Senapatam, on the 28th of February, taking with him the principal part of his army; and on the morning of the 5th of March, a large encampment was observed by General Stuart, forming between him and Periapatam, a town about seven miles distant from Seedasere. On the morning of the 6th, little intelligence was yet obtained of the amount of the enemy, or the meaning of their appearance; and General Hartley, the second in command, went forward to reconnoitre. From his hill of observation, at day-break, he perceived the whole of the hostile force in motion; the country, however, was covered with jungle; the atmosphere was hazy, and it was impossible to judge correctly either of their numbers or object. Between the hours of nine and ten, the enemy had penetrated with so much secrecy and expedition through the jungle, that they attacked the front and rear of the British advanced position at almost the same instant.

The nature of the country had induced General Stuart to place the army in several divisions. Three native battalions, under Colonel Montresor, were posted at Seedasere, to which another battalion was added, after the appearance of the enemy on the 5th; the main body of the army, with the park and provisions, remained at Seedapore and Ahmootenar, the first eight miles, the latter twelve, in rear of the advanced position. General Hartley remained to aid in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.repelling the attack. The best position, of which the circumstances admitted, was assumed; and this body of Sepoys, though completely surrounded, and contending not only with a great disparity of numbers, but other unfavourable circumstances, defended themselves with such determined gallantry, that the Sultan's troops were unable to break them. The General hastened forward with the rest of the army, excepting the fourth corps, which being posted at some distance in the rear, was intercepted by a column of the enemy, and unable to join. It was not till half past two, however, that he arrived in sight of the division of the enemy which had penetrated to the rear. It withstood and answered a brisk fire of musquetry, for about half an hour; but then fled with precipitation through the jungles, to join the rest of the army to which it belonged. The General now advanced to join Montresor and his brave companions. The men had for more than six hours been engaged with a superior enemy; were spent with fatigue; and their ammunition almost exhausted. The advance of the troops with the General was the signal for the enemy to intermit the attack, which till this time they had upheld in front; and at twenty minutes past three they were retiring in all directions. General Stuart, apprehending a return of the enemy, which might place them in his rear, and perhaps in possession of the great magazine of rice collected by the Coorg Rajah,24 deemed it of more importance to concentrate his army at Seedapore, than to maintain the position of Seedasere, which was chiefly useful, as the only spot from which the signals, concerted between the two armies, could be observed.
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The killed, wounded, and missing, according to theBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. regimental returns, in the British army, were only 143. The loss of the enemy was no doubt considerable. Tippoo remained in his camp at Periapatam till the 11th, desiring, but afraid, to strike a second blow; and arrived at Seringapatam on the 14th, whence he hastened to meet the army approaching from the east.

So little, in truth, did the Governor-General respect the power of the Sultan, that the plan upon which he determined implied a confidence in the inability of that prince to offer almost any obstruction to the army which was sent to destroy him. It was planned, that it should not wait to reduce any of the intermediate forts between the frontier and the capital of the Sultan, or to form a clear line of communication, but march directly upon Seringapatam, and by a single blow terminate the contest.

The Governor-General, amid the talents for command which he possessed in a very unusual degree, displayed two qualities of primary importance: He has seldom been surpassed in the skill with which he made choice of his instruments: And having made choice of his instruments, he communicated to them, with full and unsparing hands, the powers which were necessary for the end they were employed to accomplish. General Harris was not only invested with unrestricted military powers, but was authorized to exert all the civil authority which would have belonged to the Governor-General himself, in his situation. His instructions embraced the two sets of terms, to which, in two events, the Governor-General determined, upon the march of the army, to elevate his demands. And he was further provided with a political and diplomatic commission. This was composed of the Honourable Colonel Wellesley, Lieutenant
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.Colonel Close, Lieutenant Colonel Agnew, and Captain Malcolm, with Captain Macaulay as their secretary. The commission was not entitled to act, except in obedience to the orders of the General.

The army was not ready to make its first united movement on the enemy's ground before the 9th of March; within one day of the time which the Commander, in his orders to General Stuart, had described, as the latest moment at which he could with safety arrive at Seringapatam. The British army was overloaded with equipments: It carried an enormous train of battering cannon for the siege of Seringapatam; it required a prodigious mass of vehicles for the provisions and stores of a campaign to be carried on without an open line of communication; to all this was added the cumbrous baggage of the Nizam's army, a host of brinjarries, and the innumerable followers of the camp. No sufficient measures were prepared for the orderly movement of this vast, unwieldy machine. Colonel Wilks alleges that such measures were impossible. If so; either this was one of the most rash and hazardous expeditions that ever was undertaken; or the British leaders must have counted upon a wonderful inferiority, either of means, or of understanding, on the part of their foe. Assuredly, had an enemy, with any thing like an adequate force, employed himself with any considerable degree of activity and skill, in making war upon the movement of this disorderly mass, which it was by no means possible to cover with the troops, it is hardly probable that he would not have retarded it, till the commencement of the rains; and so harassed the infantry, and worn out the cavalry, that a great portion of the baggage, stores, and ammunition would have fallen into his hands. The great thing to be dreaded, in marching at once to Seringapatam,
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without regard to the communication behind, wasBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. famine. This evil was all but incurred; and nearly the whole of the draught and carriage bullocks died, though the arrival of army was probably not retarded a single day by the efforts of the enemy.

So great was the confusion, even on the first day's march, that the army halted on the 11th, to see if a remedy could in any degree be applied. It moved on the 12th, but with so little improvement, that it halted again on the 13th.

From Bangalore, within sight of which, now dismantled, the army encamped on the 14th, there were three roads by which it could march upon Seringapatam. The expectation of the enemy was, that the British would occupy and repair Bangalore, form a line of communication in the same manner as before, and advance by the middle and shortest of the roads.

The confusion of the march was so great, that the British army halted a third time on the 15th; and destroyed as much of the mass of stores as it was supposed that by any possibility the exigencies of the service would allow. On the 18th, it again halted a fourth day; and “the loss of powder, shot, and other military stores, had already been so considerable, as to excite some degree of alarm, at this early period of the campaign.”25

Of the roads leading to Seringapatam, the southern, by Kaunkanhully, was that selected for the advance of the British army; and so well had the design been disguised, that while the forage on the expected route had been completely destroyed, it was still preserved upon this. No memorable incident occurred
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.from the time when the army entered the Kaunkanhully route on the 16th, till it reached the tanks at Achel, between Kaunkanhully and Sultanpet. These tanks were of so much importance, that “the destruction of them,” says Colonel Wilks, “in 1791, had compelled Lord Cornwallis to make the longer march, the injurious effects of which, on his exhausted cattle, were sensibly and severely felt during the remainder of the campaign.” Of a similar destruction, that intelligent officer adds, “the consequences on this occasion would have been still more injurious than those experienced in 1791.” It was by the merest accident, that this fatal event was prevented. A detachment sent forward on the night of the 21st, arrived not till the breaches were made in the embankment, and were just in time to save the total loss of the waters.

When the Sultan, after his return from the attack upon General Stuart, left his capital to meet the advancing army, he made his first movement on the middle road, but being soon made acquainted with its true direction, he deviated by his right to Malvilly, and encamped, on the 18th, at the Madoor river, where he was joined by the two corps of his army, which had been left during his absence to hang upon the British line. “The southern road,” says Colonel Wilks, “from this river, to the point where General Harris first entered it, presented numerous situations, where the advance of the British army might have been obstructed, and at least materially delayed, by steady troops, without any risk of disaster to themselves.” What is more remarkable, Tippoo, as we are told by the same high authority, “after examining and occupying the finest imaginable position for opposing the passage of the river in front, and placing beyond it a strong corps to operate at the same time
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on his enemy's right flank, from very advantageousBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. ground, with an open rear and a secure retreat from both positions, abandoned the intention of giving battle on this ground;” and determined to fight on ground, about two miles from Malvilly, which, among other advantages gratuitously bestowed on this enemy, gave them, during the intended action, the most convenient cover for their unwieldly impediments.”

The slow movement of the English brought them to the Madoor river on the 24th, where they learned the particulars of the march which had been made by the Sultan upon General Stuart; and on the evening of the 27th, on approaching the intended ground of encampment to the westward of Malvilly, they espied the army of the Sultan, at a few miles distance, drawn up on a height. As the first grand object of the General was, to carry his equipments safe to the walls of Seringapatam, he determined neither to seek nor avoid an action. The advanced picquets, however, being attacked by the enemy, and more troops being sent to their aid, a general action came on. The British army under General Harris formed the right wing; the Nizam's army with the 33d regiment, under Colonel Wellesley, formed the left. On the right wing, which had deployed into line, and begun to advance, an opening between two brigades, produced by the ground, tempted the Sultan. He advanced in person with a body of cavalry, till in the very act to charge. The effort was against the Europeans; coolly directed; and executed with so much spirit, that many of the horsemen fell on the bayonets. But it produced not so much as a momentary disorder in the ranks; and the line advancing in such a manner as to outflank the enemy's left, his guns were soon after withdrawn from the heights. The cushoons of the Sultan faced Colonel Wellesley
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.with some steadiness, till within sixty yards, when, the 33d regiment quickening step, they gave way; and Colonel Floyd, seizing the critical moment, charged them with his cavalry, and destroyed them to a man. The efficient state of the Sultan's equipments, and the deplorable state of the British, admitted not an idea of pursuit. The loss of the English was sixty-nine men, that of the Sultan, more than a thousand.

Immediately after this injudicious affair, the Sultan marched, with a design to place himself on the rear of General Harris, during the remainder of his march to Seringapatam. But he expected him to advance on the same road which had been taken by Lord Cornwallis in 1791. As it was anticipated, that the forage on this road would be completely destroyed, the project had for some time been contemplated of crossing the Cavery at Sosilla, about fifteen miles east of Seringapatam, if the ford upon examination should appear to be practicable. The success was complete, and the battering train, with the last of the army, was over on the 30th, while the enemy was at a distance looking for them in a different direction. This last disappointment struck a damp to the heart of the Sultan. Having received the whole of his principal officers, “We have arrived,” said he, “at our last stage, what is your determination?” “To die along with you,” was the unanimous reply.26 It was the opinion of this meeting of Tippoo and his friends, that General Harris would not make his friends, that General Harris would not make his attack on the southern side of the fort, but would cross over into the island. The determination was, to meet him on this route, and find either victory or death. The Sultan and his friends
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took a most affecting leave, as if for the last time inBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. this world, and all were bathed in tears. It was easy for the Sultan, whose equipments were in order, to anticipate the approach of the English. He crossed at the ford of Arakerry, and took up the intended position near the village of Chendgâl. It was not however the intention of the English General to cross into the island; and when, instead of pointing to the fords, he made a circuit to the left, to avoid some inconvenient marching, and reach the ground occupied by General Abercromby in 1792, the Sultan, whose dispositions were not calculated for such a movement, ventured not to make opposition; and the English army took up its ground for the siege of the capital, on the 5th day of April, exactly one month after it passed the enemy's frontier, having advanced at the rate of not seven miles a day on enemy's ground, and not five miles a day from the commencement of its march.

A new line of entrenchments had been constructed on this side of the fort, which, reaching from the Dowlut Baug to the Periapatam bridge, and within six or seven hundred yards of the walls, avoided the fault of the redouts in 1792, distant too far to be supported by the guns of the fort. Between these works and the river, the infantry of Tippoo was now encamped. To save the British camp from annoyance, and advance some posts, an attack was ordered the same evening under Colonels Wellesley and Shaw, on a part of the enemy, occupying a water-course in front. It failed, not without loss. But next morning a force was sent, which the party of the enemy could not resist; and strong advanced posts were established within 1800 yards of the fort, with their left on the river, and their right on Sultanpet.

On the 6th, General Floyd, with four regiments
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.of cavalry, and the greater part of the left wing of the army, marched for the purpose of bringing on General Stuart; a proceeding, which the cavalry and part of the infantry of the Sultan marched at the same time to impede. The junction was made on the 14th; the active and well-conducted exertions of the Sultan's cavalry having produced no other effect than the necessity of a little more caution, and a little more time. And on the next day the Bombay army, having crossed the river to the north, occupied a ground in continuation of the line of General Harris, with a view particularly to the enfilade both of the face to be attacked, and the exterior trenches.

On the 9th, Tippoo, who had not before made any answer to the letter of the Governor-General, forwarded to him when the army crossed his frontier, sent to General Harris a letter, of which the following is a translation:

“The Governor-General, Lord Mornington, Bahauder, sent me a letter, copy of which is enclosed: you will understand it. I have adhered firmly to treaties: What then is the meaning of the advance of the English armies, and the occurrence of hostilities? Inform me.—What need I say more.”

The British commander replied in the following terms:













“10th April, 1799.















“Your letter, enclosing copies of the Governor-General's letter, has been received. For the advance of the English and allied armies, and for the actual hostilities, I refer you to the several letters of the Governor-General, which are sufficiently explanatory on the subject.”



On the 16th was made an alarming discovery. The General, in his letter to Lord Mornington, dated
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the 18th, says; “On measuring the bags, to ascertainBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. what rice they really contained, they were found so much diminished by loss or fraud, that eighteen days, provision, for the fighting men, at half allowance, is all that remains in camp. Our supplies must, therefore arrive before the 6th of May, to save us from extreme distress.”

On the 17th, operations of considerable importance, less difficult because simultaneous, were accomplished on both sides of the river. The enemy were dislodged from a ground commanding that which was intended for the approaches and batteries of General Stuart; the troops were established under a good cover within 1,000 yards of the western angle of the fort; and while the enemy's attention was engaged with these operations, the bed of a water-course was seized on the southern side, which formed a parallel at an equal distance from the fort.

The state of the grain constituted now an object of the greatest solicitude, and every thing was to be done, for the purpose of hastening the arrival of the two corps, which were expected to bring a supply from Coimbetore and Baramahl. To conduct them, General Floyd marched on the 19th toward the Caveriporam pass, with the whole of the regular cavalry, the whole of Nizam Ali's cavalry, and a brigade of infantry, followed by all the brinjarries, and all the superfluous followers of the camp.

The 20th produced several events. A battery opened from the northern bank on the enfilade of the south-western face, and of the enemy's entrenchment on the southern side of the river. The enemy were dislodged from a position 400 yards in advance of their general entrenchments; and a parallel was established on the spot within 780 yards of the fort.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.In the evening, the following letter from the Sultan was received in camp:

“In the letter of Lord Mornington, it is written, that the clearing up of matters at issue is proper, and that therefore you, having been empowered for the purpose, will appoint such persons as you judge proper for conducting a conference, and renewing the business of a treaty. You are the well-wisher of both Sircars. In this matter what is your pleasure? Inform me, that a conference may take place.”

On the 22d, General Harris replied by a letter, stating, that security, not conquest, was the object of the English government, to whose pacific propositions he complained that Tippoo had hitherto refused to listen; and transmitted the draught of a preliminary treaty, drawn up according to the second and severest set of terms contained in the Governor-General's instructions.

In the situation to which affairs were now reduced, the annexation of the following severities was deemed adviseable: That four of the Sultan's sons, and four of his generals, to be named by the British commander, should be given up as hostages; That acceptance of these conditions should be transmitted under his hand and seal within twenty-four hours; and the hostages, and one crore of rupees, be delivered in forty-eight: And that if these pledges were not given, the British commander would hold himself at liberty to extend his demands for security, even to the possession of the fort of Seringapatam, till the conclusion of a definitive treaty.

It was the instruction of the Governor-General, that the set of terms now put in the shape of a treaty should be sent just before the opening of the batteries upon the fort of Seringapatam. But the advanced
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period of the season, and the failure of provisions,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. when nothing but possession of the fort could, in the opinion of General Harris, justify him in delaying the siege for an instant, made him deem it hazardous to be the leader in an overture toward peace. The sentiments to which the Governor-General was brought by the progress of events are thus described in his own words. “Towards the end of April, fresh circumstances arose which disposed me to think, that if the course of the war should favour the attempt, it would be prudent and justifiable entirely to overthrow the power of Tippoo: Accordingly, on the 23d of April, I signified to Lieutenant-General Harris my wish, that the power and resources of Tippoo Sultan should be reduced to the lowest state, and even utterly destroyed, if the events of the war should furnish the opportunity.”27

On the night of the 24th, the approaches to the fort were advanced 250 yards. On the 25th, a battery of four guns was erected to destroy the defences of some works which bore on the assailants; and it opened with considerable effect on the morning of the 26th. The enemy's guns were now almost wholly silenced. On the evening of the same day, the enemy's entrenchments, in advance, were attacked; and carried, after an obstinate contest, which lasted a great part of the night. This acquisition was important, because it furnished the ground on which the breaching batteries were to be erected. The British troops occupied the works on the 27th; and in the following night made their lodgment secure.

On the morning of the 28th, another letter arrived from the Sultan, intimating the magnitude of the questions to be determined, and signifying his intention
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.to send two persons, for the immediate commencement of a conference, without which an adjustment of so much importance could not be satisfactorily performed. To this the General replied, that no modification would be made of the terms already transmitted; that ambassadors were, therefore, unnecessary, and would not be received, unless they were accompanied by the hostages, and specie, already demanded; and that only till three o'clock the next day would time be allowed for an answer.

A breaching battery of six guns was erected on the night of the 28th; and on the morning of the 30th it began to fire. On the first day it demolished part of the outward wall at the west angle of the fort, and made an impression on the masonry of the bastion within it. On the second its fire was attended with increased effect. An additional battery, constructed on the night of April the 30th, opened in the morning of the 2d of May. On the 3d, the breach appeared to be practicable, and preparations were eagerly made for the assault. On the morning of the 4th, the troops destined for the service were placed in the trenches before day-light, that no extraordinary movement might serve to put the enemy on their guard. The heat of the day, when the people of the East, having taken their mid-day repast, give themselves up to a season of repose, and when it was expected that the troops in the fort would be least prepared to resist, was chosen for the hour of attack. Four regiments, and ten flank companies of Europeans, three corps of grenadier sepoys, and 200 of the Nizam's troops, formed the party for the assault. Colonels Sherbrooke, Dunlop, Dalrymple, Gardener, and Mignan, commanded the flank corps; and the conduct of the enterprise was entrusted to Major-General Baird, who had solicited the dangerous service. At
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one o'clock the troops began to move from the trenches.BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. The width, and rocky channel of the river, though at that time it contained but little water, its exposure to the fire of the fort, the imperfection of the breach, the strength of the place, the numbers, courage, and skill of its defenders, constituted such an accumulation of difficulties, that nothing less than unbounded confidence in the force and courage of his men could have inspired a prudent General with hopes of success. The troops descended into the bed of the river, and moved, regardless of a tremendous fire, towards the opposite bank.

From the time when General Harris sat down before the fort, the Sultan had remained on the ramparts, varying his position according to the incidents of the siege. The general charge of the angle attacked, was given to Seyed Saheb, and Seyed Ghoffâr, the last, an able officer, who began his career in the English service, and was in the number of the prisoners at the disaster of Colonel Brathwaite.

The angle of the fort which the English attacked was of such a nature, that a retrenchment to cut it off might have been easily effected; and this was counselled by the most judicious of the Mysorean officers. But the mind of the Sultan, which was always defective in judgment, appears to have been prematurely weakened by the disadvantages of his situation. By the indulgence of arbitrary power, and the arts of his flatterers, his mind was brought into that situation in which it could endure to hear nothing but what gratified the will of the moment. He had accordingly estranged from his presence every person of a manly character; and surrounded himself with young men and parasites, who made it their business not only to gratify his most childish inclinations,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.but to occupy him with a perpetual succession of wretched pursuits. He seems, therefore, when adversity came upon him, to have been rendered too effeminate, to look it steadily in the face; and, exploring firmly the nature of the danger, to employ in the best manner the means which were in his power for averting it. The flatterers were able to persuade him, partly that the fort was too strong to be taken, partly that God would protect him; and they maintained successfully that indecision which was now congenial to the relaxed habit of his mind. “He is surrounded,” said Seyed Goffhâr, who was wounded early in the siege, “by boys and flatterers, who will not let him see with his own eyes. I do not wish to survive the result. I am going about in search of death, and cannot find it.”

On the morning of the 4th, Seyed Goffhâr, who from the number of men in the trenches inferred the intention to assault, sent information to the Sultan. The Sultan returned for answer, that it was good to be on the alert, but assured him, as persuaded by the flatterers, that the assault would not take place till night. And in the mean time he was absorbed in religious and astrological operations; the one, to purchase the favour of heaven; the other, to ascertain its decrees. Seyed Goffhâr, says Colonel Wilks, “having satisfied himself, by further observation, that one hour would not elapse before the assault would commence, hurried in a state of rage and despair towards the Sultan: ‘I will go,’ said he, ‘and drag him to the breach, and make him see by what a set of wretches he is surrounded; I will compel him to exert himself at this last moment.’ He was going, and met a party of pioneers, whom he had long looked for in vain, to cut off the approach by the southern rampart. ‘I
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must first,’ said he, ‘show those people the work theyBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. have to do;’ and in the act of giving his instructions, was killed by a cannon shot.”28

The Sultan was about to begin his mid-day repast, under a small tent, at his usual station, on the northern face, when the news was brought him of the death of Seyed Goffhâr, and excited strong agitation. Before the repast was finished, he heard that the assault was begun. He instantly ordered the troops which were about him, to stand to their arms, commanded the carbines to be loaded, which the servants in attendance carried for his own use, and hurried along the northern rampart to the breach.

“In less than seven minutes, from the period of issuing from the trenches, the British colours were planted on the summit of the breach.” It was regulated that as soon as the assailants surmounted the rampart, one half of them should wheel to the right, the other to the left, and that they should meet over the eastern gateway. The right, which was led by General Baird, met with little resistance, both as the enemy, lest retreat should be cut off, abandoned the cavaliers, and as the inner rampart of the southwestern face was exposed to a perfect enfilade. The assailants on the left were opposed in a different manner. Lieut.-Col. Dunlop, by whom it was commanded, received a wound in the ascent; and the Sultan passed the nearest traverse, as the column quitted the breach. A succession of well-constructed traverses were most vigorously defended; and a flanking fire of musquetry from the inner rampart did great execution upon the assailants. All the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.commissioned officers, attached to the leading companies, were soon either killed or disabled; and the loss would, at any rate, have been great, had not a very critical assistance been received. When the assailants first surmounted the breach, they were not a little surprised by the sight of a deep, and, to appearance, impassable ditch between the exterior and interior lines of defence. A detachment of the 12th regiment, having discovered a narrow strip of the terreplein, left for the passage of the workmen, got up the inner rampart of the enfiladed face, without much opposition, and wheeling to the left, drove before them the musqueteers who were galling the assailants of the left attack, and they at last reached the flank of the traverse, which was defended by the Sultan. The two columns of the English, on the outer and inner rampart, then moved in a position to expose the successive traverses to a front and flank fire at the same time; and forced the enemy from one to another, till they perceived the British of the right attack, over the eastern gate, and ready to fall upon them in the rear; when they broke, and hastened to escape. The Sultan continued on foot during the greater part of this time, performing the part rather of a common soldier, than a General, firing several times upon the assailants with his own hands. But a little before the time at which his troops resigned the contest, he complained of pain and weakness in one of his legs, in which he had received a severe wound when young, and ordered a horse. When abandoned by his men, instead of seeking to make his escape, which the proximity of the water gate would have rendered easy, he made his way toward the gate into the interior fort. As he was crossing to the gate by the communication from the outer rampart, he received a musket ball in the right side nearly as high as the breast, but still pressed on, till
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he arrived at the gate. Fugitives, from within, asBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. well as from without, were crowding in opposite directions to this gate; and the detachment of the 12th had descended into the body of the place, for the purpose of arresting the influx of the fugitives from the outer works. The two columns of the assailants, one without the gate and one within, were now pouring into it a destructive fire from both sides, when the Sultan arrived. Endeavouring to pass, he received another wound from the fire of the inner detachment; his horse also being wounded sunk under him, and his turban fell to the ground, while his friends dropped rapidly around him. His attendants placed him in his palanqueen, but the place was already so crowded, and choked up with the dead and the dying, that he could not be removed. According to the statement of a servant who survived, some English soldiers, a few minutes afterwards, entered the gateway; and one of them offering to pull off the sword belt of the Sultan, which was very rich, Tippoo, who still held his sabre in his hand, made a cut at him with all his remaining strength. The man, wounded in the knee, put his firelock to his shoulder, and the Sultan, receiving the ball in his temple, expired.

The two bodies of assailants, from the right and the left had met over the eastern gateway; and the palace was the only place within the fort not now in their possession. In this the faithful adherents of Tippoo, whose fate was yet unknown, were expected to make a desperate stand in defence of their sovereign and his family. The troops, exhausted by the heat and the toils of the day, stood in need of refreshment. In the mean time Major Allan was sent with a guard to inform the persons within the palace, that if they surrendered immediately their lives
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.should be secured; that any resistance on the other hand would be fatal to them all. When that officer arrived at the palace, before which a part of the British troops were already drawn up, he observed several persons in the balcony, apparently in the greatest consternation. Upon communicating his message, the Kelledar, another officer of distinction, and a confidential servant, came over the terrace of the front building, and descended by an unfinished part of the wall. They exhibited great embarrasment, and a disposition to delay; upon which the British officer reminded them of their danger, and pledging himself for the protection of the inmates of the palace, desired admittance, that he might give the same assurance to the Sultan himself. They manifested strong aversion to this proposition; but the Major insisted upon returning with them; and desiring two other officers to join him, they ascended by the broken wall, and lowered themselves down on a terrace, on which there was a number of armed men. The Major, carrying a white flag in his hand, which he had formed on the spur of the occasion by fastening a cloth to a serjeants pike, assured them it was a pledge of security, provided no resistance was attempted: and as an additional proof of his sincerity took off his sword, which he insisted upon placing in the hands of the Kelledar. All affirmed that the family of the Sultan was in the palace, but not the Sultan himself. Their agitation and indecision were conspicuous. The Major was obliged to remind them, that the fury of the troops, by whom they were now surrounded, was with difficulty restrained; and that the consequences of delay would be fatal. The rapid movements of several persons within the palace, where many hundreds of Tippoo's troops still remained, made him begin to think the situation critical even of
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himself and his companions, by whom he was advisedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. to take back his sword. As any suspicion, however, of treachery, reaching in their present state the minds of the British soldiers, would inflame them to the most desperate acts, probably the massacre of every human being within the palace walls, he had the gallantry, as well as presence of mind to abstain from such an exhibition of distrust. In the mean time, he was entreated by the people on the terrace to hold the flag in a conspicuous manner, as well to give confidence to the people within the palace, as to prevent the British troops from forcing the gates. Growing impatient of delay, the Major sent another message to the Princes. They now sent him word, that he would be received as soon as a carpet for the purpose could be procured; and in a few minutes the Kelledar returned to conduct him.

He found two of the Princes seated on the carpet, surrounded by attendants. “The recollection,” says Major Allan, “of Moiz ad Dien, whom on a former occasion I had seen delivered up with his brother, hostages to Marquis Cornwallis; the sad reverse of their fortunes; their fear, which, notwithstanding their struggles to conceal it, was but too evident, excited the strongest emotions of compassion in my mind.” He endeavoured by every mark of tenderness, and by the strongest assurances of protection and respect, to tranquillize their minds. His first object was, to discover where the Sultan was concealed. He next requested their assent to the opening of the gates. At this proposition they were alarmed. Without the authority of their father, whom they desired to consult, they were afraid to take upon themselves a decision of such unspeakable importance. The Major assured them, that he would post a guard of their own sepoys within the palace, and a guard of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.Europeans without; that no person should enter but by his authority; that he would return and remain with them, until General Baird should arrive; and that their own lives, as well as that of every person in the palace, depended upon their compliance. Their confidence was gained. Upon opening the gate, Major Allan found General Baird and several officers with a large body of troops assembled. It was not safe to admit the troops assembled. It was not safe to admit the troops who were burning for vengeance. And Major Allan returned to conduct the Princes, whose reluctance to quit the palace was not easy to be overcome, to the presence of the General. General Baird was one of those British officers who had personally experienced the cruelty of their father, and suffered all the horrors of a three years’ imprisonment in the place which he had now victoriously entered. His mind too had been inflamed by a report at that instant received, that Tippoo had murdered all the Europeans made prisoners during the siege. “He was nevertheless,” says Major Allan, “sensibly affected by the sight of the Princes; and his gallantry on the assault was not more conspicuous, than the moderation and humanity which he on this occasion displayed. He received the Princes with every mark of regard: repeatedly assured them that no violence or insult should be offered to them, and he gave them in charge to two officers to conduct them to head quarters in camp.” They were escorted by the light company of a European regiment; and the troops were ordered to pay them the compliment of presented arms as they passed.

The mind dwells with peculiar delight upon these instances in which the sweet sympathies which one human being has with another, and which are of infinite importance in private life, prevail over the destructive passions, alternately the cause, and consequence
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of war. The pleasure, at the same time,BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. which we feel in conceiving the emotions produced in such a scene, lead the bulk of mankind to overvalue greatly the virtues which they imply. When you have glutted upon your victim the passions of ambition and revenge; when you have reduced him from greatness and power, to the weakness and dependance which mark the insect on which you tread, a few tears, and the restraint of the foot from the final stamp, are not a very arduous virtue. The grand misfortune is to be made an insect. When that is done, it is a slight, if any addition to the misfortune to be crushed at once. The virtue to which exalted praise would be due, and to which human nature is gradually ascending, would be, to restrain in time the selfish desires which hurry us on to the havoc we are vain of contemplating with a sort of pity after we have made it. Let not the mercy, however, be slighted, which is shown even to the victim we have made. It is so much gained for human nature. It is a gain which, however late, the progress and diffusion of philosophy at last have produced; they will in time produce other and greater results.

When the persons of the Princes were secured, Tippoo was to be searched for in every corner of the palace. A party of English troops were admitted, and those of Tippoo disarmed. After proceeding through several of the apartments, the Kelledar was entreated, if he valued his own life, or that of his master, to discover where he was concealed. That officer, laying his hand upon the hilt of Major Allan's sword, protested, in the most solemn manner, that the Sultan was not in the palace; that he had been wounded during the storm; and was lying in a gateway on the northern side of the fort. He offered to conduct the inquirers; and submit to any punishment if he
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.was found to have deceived. General Baird and the officers who accompanied him, proceeded to the spot; covered with a promiscuous and shocking heap of bodies wounded and dead. At first, the bodies were dragged out of the gateway to be examined, it being already too dark to distinguish them where they lay. As this mode of examination, however, threatened to be very tedious, a light was procured, and Major Allan and the Kelledar went forward to the place. After some search, the Sultan's palankeen was discovered, and under it a person wounded, but not dead. He was afterwards ascertained to be the Rajah Khan, one of Tippoo's most confidential servants, who had attended his master during the whole of the fatal day. This person being made acquainted with the object of the search, pointed out the spot where the Sultan had fallen. The body being brought out and sufficiently recognized, was conveyed in a palankeen to the palace. It was warm when first discovered; the eyes were open, the features not distorted, and Major Allan and Colonel Wellesley were for a few moments doubtful, whether it was not alive. It had four wounds, three in the trunk, and one in the temple, the ball of which, having entered a little above the right ear, had lodged in the cheek. His dress consisted of a jacket of fine white linen, loose drawers of flowered chintz, the usual girdle of the east, crimson-coloured, tied round his waist; and a handsome pouch, with a belt of silk, red and green, hung across his shoulder. He had an amulet on his arm; but his ornaments, if he wore any, were gone.29

The speedy fall of the place was an event of great importance to the British army; for though the General
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had received a casual supply of provisions fromBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. an officer whose foresight exceeded that of the men who provided for the army, this afforded a supply for not more than a small number of days. The want of draught cattle rendered the magazines in the Coorg country totally useless: and though the General counted upon being in absolute want by the 6th of May, General Floyd did not return before the 13th with the convoys from the south. Of the operations which during the above transactions had taken place under the officers with whom General Floyd now returned to Seringapatam, the following are the principal. The corps which was placed under the command of Colonel Read began by reducing the country north of Rayacottah. The plan of his operations embraced a great extent; but after a little progress he was apprised of the necessity of abandoning every thing to hasten with the grain which he had collected to Seringapatam. The troops under Colonel Brown began the campaign with the siege of Caroor, which surrendered to them without any serious resistance on the 5th of April. On the 8th they proceeded against Errode, and meant to prosecute the reduction of the remaining fortresses in Coimbetore, when they were summoned to join Colonel Read, for the purpose of advancing to Seringapatam.

Colonel Read arrived at Cauveryporam, on the 22d of April, which surrendered to him without resistance. Having there collected the Brinjarries, and other supplies, he left them under the protection of the fort, and with his detachment proceeded to clear the pass. This was an operation of considerable difficulty, which required all his exertions till the evening of the 27th; and the 6th of May arrived before the whole of the Brinjarries had ascended. General Floyd had by this time arrived at a place a few miles distant from
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.the pass; and on the same day he was re-inforced by junction of the southern corps of the army under Colonel Brown. On the 7th of May, the whole body, with their convoy, moved from Hannoor towards Seringapatam. As Tippoo's cavalry, under his best General, had closely followed General Floyd from Seringapatam, he expected to meet with considerable interruption to retard him on his return; and from this danger he was saved, only by the great event which had already arrived.

Such of the sons and officers of Tippoo, as were not taken in the fort, surrendered within a few days after the fate of the capital and its sovereign was known; and an adventurer of the name of Dhoondia was the only exception to the quiet submission of the whole country. This man, of Mahratta parentage, was born in the kingdom of Mysore, and served in the armies both of Hyder and Tippoo. He deserted during the war with Lord Cornwallis; and headed a predatory band in the region of the Toombudra. Tippoo induced him by fair professions to trust himself in his hand, and then immured him in a prison, where he had lain for several years, when he contrived to make his escape during the capture of Seringapatam; and soon collected around him a band of desperate adventurers; which rendered it necessary for General Harris to move the army to the northward to dislodge him. This, however, was not the last effort of Dhoondia, whose history it is proper to finish at once. He was followed by his band of adventurers to the south; and made such rapid strides toward the establishment even of a sort of empire, that after a little time the government thought it proper to employ against him the army left under Colonel Wellesley for the government of Mysore. Dhoondia displayed no ordinary talents in his defence;
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and by his activity and judgment protractedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. for several months the efforts employed for his destruction. He could not, however, permanently resist the great superiority of force which was brought against him; and fell in a charge of cavalry which was led by the Colonel in person.

The Sultan, when he lost his empire and his life, was about fifty years of age. He was rather above the middle size, and about five feet eight inches high; had a short neck and square shoulders, and now bordered on corpulency; but his limbs were slender, and his feet and hands remarkably small. His complexion was brown, his eyes large and full, his eyebrows small and arched, his nose aquiline; and in the expression of his countenance there was a dignity, which even the English, in spite of their antipathy and prejudices, felt and confessed.

Though French power was the grand resource upon which Tippoo relied, both for the gratification of his resentments, and for his protection against that reduction to the condition of a pensioned Nabob, the fate to which he believed that he was destined by the English, he made some efforts, but marked with his usual want of good sense, for obtaining support from other quarters. Beside his embassy to the Grand Signor at Constantinople, which excited, without much deserving, the attention of the English, he opened a communication in 1796 with Zeman Shah, the King of the Afghauns, and sent an embassy which pointed out to that brother of the faith a glorious career against the nonbelievers or misbelievers of India. The Shah might conquer Delhi, drive out the Mahrattas, and establish his dominion over all that region of India, in one year; in the next, assail the Mahrattas and Deccan from the north, while the Sultan co-operated with him
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.from the south; and after this it would cost them little trouble to extend their empire over every part of India. This invasion of the Afghauns, the English government for several years contemplated as an object of apprehension; and it was the ostensible cause, why the Commander-in-Chief was left in Bengal, and the conduct of the army committed to General Harris, in the last war against Tippoo.

The Sultan was too well apprized of the weakness of Nizam Ali, to expect from his alliance any material advantage; and, besides, he expected to induce the Mahrattas to yield him any useful assistance, chiefly by offering to join with them, in seizing the dominions of the Nizam. He maintained, from the time of the accession of Bâjee Row, a secret agent at Poona, whose endeavours were used to effect an intimate union. But Bâjee Row was held in thraldom by Scindia; and any combination of Bâjee Row and Tippoo, which could have a tendency to emancipate the Peshwa from his subjection, was opposed by the interests of Scindia; and though Scindia would have been well contented to join with the Sultan in any scheme of hostilities against the English, if it were not attended with danger, he was too much alarmed for his dominions in the north, which the English could easily invade, to be willing for the present to expose himself to the chance of so great an evil. From this state of affairs Tippoo seems to have despaired of getting the Mahrattas to act with any efficiency on his side; and for that reason not to have made any very strenuous exertions to induce them.

In these circumstances, beholding, as he must have done, the great inferiority of his power, his utter inability to maintain a contest against the English, and the probability that resistance would bring on
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his fall, it may well be regarded as surprising, thatBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. he did not endeavour, by prompt attention to their complaints, and early negotiation, to escape from the storm which he was unable to face. One of the most remarkable characteristics, however, of the Sultan's mind, was the want of judgment. For an eastern prince, he was full of knowledge. His mind was active, acute, and ingenious. But, in the value which he set upon objects, whether as means, or as ends, he was almost perpetually deceived. Besides, a conviction appears to have been rooted in his mind, that the English had now formed a resolution to deprive him of his kingdom, and that it was useless to negotiate, because no submission, to which he could reconcile his mind, would restrain them in the gratification of their ambitious designs. Nor was he deprived of grounds of hope, which over a mind like his were calculated to exert a fatal influence. He never could forget the manner in which his father had triumphed over a host of enemies by shutting himself up in his capital, and defending himself, till the season of the rains; nor had all his experience of the facility with which Europeans overcame the strongest defences in his power to rear, yielded him on this point any decisive instruction. The principal part of his preparations for war had consisted in adding to the works of Seringapatam, and storing it with provisions for a siege. With the attempt to disable the Bombay army, the idea of even obstructing the march of the invaders, if not altogether abandoned, was very feebly pursued. And, till the English were upon the ramparts, he could not persuade himself that the fort of Seringapatam would be taken. His grand military mistake is acknowledged to have been the neglect of his cavalry; a
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.proper use of which would have rendered the conquering of him a far more arduous task.

The original defects of his mind, arising from the vices of his education, appear to have increased as he advanced in years, and with peculiar rapidity since the loss of his dominions in 1792. The obedience which the will of princes, especially eastern princes, is habituated to receive, not only renders them wretched when it is opposed, but gluts and palls them with the gratification. Each recurring instance becomes by familiarity insipid, or rather disgusting, and leaves the mind restless and impatient for a new gratification. This serves to account for the fickle and capricious disposition which so commonly marks the character of princes; and in general prevails in them to a greater or less degree, in proportion to the natural vivacity and susceptibility of their minds. This disease infected the whole conduct of Tippoo Sultan, public and private, and latterly in a manner so extraordinary, that, when joined to a similar growth of his impatience at every disagreement between that which he willed and that which fell out, it produced in his subjects a persuasion that his mind was partially deranged. Like many other persons of active, but not powerful minds, he run violently upon the observance of minuteness in minute details, but with little capacity of taking a marshaling view of a great whole. He saw but few therefore of the relations and dependencies of things; and was, of course, unable to anticipate justly their distant consequences. The temptation to please, rather than to serve, excluded Tippoo, as it excludes other princes, from the benefit of counsels wiser than his own. Accustomed to hear, from those who approached him, that every sentiment which he uttered exceeded in
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wisdom that of every other man, any difference withBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. his opinions struck him at last in the character of a mere demonstration of folly. As a general, he possessed, as had been abundantly proved by the English in former wars, no other talents than the vulgar ones of great activity, courage, and that turn for stratagem, which the cunning of a rude age has a tendency to produce. As a domestic ruler, he sustains an advantageous comparison with the greatest princes of the East. He bestowed a keen attention upon the conduct of his government, from which he allowed himself to be diverted neither by pleasure nor by sloth. He made a methodical distribution of his time for business, in which he was laborious and exact; but in which his passion for detail made him frequently waste that attention upon minor, which ought to have been reserved to the greatest affairs. He had the discernment to perceive, what is so generally hid from the eyes of rulers in a more enlightened state of society, that it is the prosperity of those who labour with their hands which constitutes the principle and cause of the prosperity of states; he therefore made it his business to protect them against the intermediate orders of the community, by whom it is so difficult to prevent them from being oppressed. His country was, accordingly, at least during the first and better part of his reign, the best cultivated, and his population the most flourishing in India; while, under the English, and their dependants, the population of Carnatic and Oude, hastening to the state of deserts, was the most wretched upon the face of the earth; and even Bengal itself, under the operation of laws ill adapted to the circumstances of the case, was suffering almost all the evils which the worst of governments could inflict. That Tippoo was severe, harsh, and perhaps cruel, in superintending
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.the conduct of those who served him, may be so far easily believed, as his inordinate pride would make every offence which appeared to be committed against himself assume gigantic dimensions; and his habit of willing, and seeing his will realized, made him expect every event, willed by himself, as by a law of nature, which nothing but the misconduct of others could have disturbed. That the accounts, however, which we have received from our countrymen, who dreaded and feared him, are marked with exaggeration, is proved by this circumstance, that his servants adhered to him with a fidelity which those of few princes in any age or country have displayed. Of his cruelty we have heard the more, because our own countrymen were among the victims of it. But it is to be observed, that, unless in certain instances, the proof of which cannot be regarded as better than doubtful, their sufferings, however intense, were only the sufferings of a very rigorous imprisonment, of which, considering the manner in which it is lavished by their own laws, Englishmen ought not to be very forward to complain. At that very time, in the dungeons of Madras or Calcutta, it is probable that unhappy sufferers were enduring calamities for debts of 100l.; not less atrocious than those which Tippoo, a prince born and educated in a barbarous country and ruling over a barbarous people, inflicted upon imprisoned enemies; enemies belonging to a nation, who, by the evils they had brought upon him, exasperated him almost to frenzy, and whom he regarded as the enemies both of God and of man.30 Besides,
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there is among the papers relating to the intercourseBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. of Tippoo with the French, a remarkable proof of his humanity, which, when these papers are ransacked for matters to criminate him, ought not to be suppressed. In the draught which he transmitted to the isle of France, of the conditions on which he wished that a connexion between him and the French should be formed, the following are the very words of a distinct article: “I demand that male and female prisoners, as well English as Portuguese, who shall be taken by the republican troops, or by mine, shall be treated with humanity; and with regard to their persons, that they shall, (their property becoming the right of the allies,) be transported at our joint expense, out of India, to some place far distant from the territories of the allies.”

Another feature in the character of Tippoo was his religion, with a sense of which his mind was most deeply impressed. He spent a considerable part of every day in prayer. He gave to his kingdom, or state, a particular religious title, Cudadad, or God-given; and he lived under a peculiarly strong and operative conviction of the superintendance of a Divine Providence. His contidence in the protection of God was, indeed, one of his snares; for he relied upon it to the neglect of other means of safety. To one of his French advisers, who had urged him with peculiar fervour to use greater zeal in obtaining the support of the Mahrattas, he replied, “I rely solely on Providence, expecting that I shall be alone and unsupported; but God, and my courage, will accomplish
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.every thing.”31 It is true, that his zeal for God like the zeal of so many other people, was supported by the notion, and by the desire, of being the favourite of God; of being honoured with the chief-place in his affections, and obtaining the best share in the distribution of his favours. His religion resembled the religion of most of the persons anxious to distinguish themselves for pious zeal, in this respect also; that it contained in it a large infusion of the persecuting spirit. He imagined that he exceedingly pleased the Almighty, by cultivating within himself a hatred of all those whose notions of a God did not correspond with his own; and that he should take one of the most effectual modes of recommending himself to that powerful and good Being, if, in order to multiply the number of true believers, he applied evil to the bodies of those who were not of that blessed description.

It would not be reckoned pardonable by Englishmen, if an historian were to omit ambition, and the hatred of the English, among the ingredients in the character of Tippoo. But ambition is too vulgar a quality in the minds of princes to deserve particular commemoration; and as for his hatred of the English, it only resembled the hatred which the English bore to him, or to the French; and which proud individuals, and proud nations, are so prone to feel, to wards all those who excite their fears, or circumscribe their hopes. Besides, among the princes of India, who, except the drivellers, were less ambitious than he? Was it Scindia, or was it Holkar? Even in hatred of the English, is it understood, that these
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Mahrattas were exceeded by the sovereign of Mysore?BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.

When the papers of Tippoo, found in the palace of Seringapatam, were examined, the correspondence was discovered which had passed between him and the French. With this Lord Wellesley shows that he was singularly delighted; as if, without such means of persuasion, he had dreaded, that the grounds of the war, successfully terminated, would not have appeared satisfactory to all those whose approbation he was interested in obtaining. It is, therefore, necessary that the amount of its contents should be declared. Some time before the beginning of April, 1797, the Captain of a privateer from the Mauritius, Citizen Ripaud by name, whose ship, damaged in some engagement, had nearly foundered at sea, arrived in the country of Tippoo, and was conveyed to the capital; where several of his countrymen had long been high in the service of the Prince. This man, so illiterate that he could not spell his own language, and ready, as appears by his letters of the 23d of May, 1797, for the perpetration of any crime, even against his own countrymen, was eager by imposture to recommend himself to the favour of the Sultan. He represented that the French government were not only burning with a desire to invade the possessions of the English in India, but were almost ready for the execution of that great design, having made vast preparations, forwarded a large body of troops to the Isle of France, and chiefly waiting till they could learn how much assistance they might expect from their ancient friend, the Sultan of Mysore. Tippoo, as eager fully as Englishmen, to believe what he eagerly desired, thought he could not be too expeditious in sending men to ascertain the circumstances: and in endeavouring
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.to derive advantage from them should they appear to correspond with report. So completely was Tippoo deceived by the representation of Ripaud, that he thought it was only necessary to name the extent of the assistance which he wished to receive. He demanded an army of from 30,000 to 40,000 men, of whom he required that from 5000 to 10,000 should be veteran troops; and in addition to an army of this magnitude, he thought it proper to exact the assistance of a fleet. In contributing to the common enterprise, he proposed to take the whole expense of the army upon himself; and, as soon as it arrived, to join it with all his forces; when the expulsion of the English, he trusted, would not be a tardy result. As he believed, according to the statement of his informer, that nothing was wanting for the immediate departure of such a body of troops, but his assent to the conditions with which it was expected he should comply, he took the requisite measures for its being immediately bestowed. Four vakeels proceeded to the coast in April, 1797; but before they were ready to depart, the monsoon set in. During the delay which it occasioned, the vakeels are said to have fallen into disputes and dissensions. This, with other causes, induced the Sultan to annul their appointment; and the actual mission, which at last consisted of only two persons, did not depart till the October following. Extreme was the disappointment which these vakeels, whom in the whole of this intercourse, the Governor-General, to exalt the notion of its importance, dubs with the title of ambassadors, though the agent whom the meanest individual employs to transact for him a business of a few rupees, is his vakeel, experienced upon their arrival in the isle of France. They expected to have nothing further to do than to set their seal, in the name of
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their master, to the conditions which he had givenBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. them in writing. This was called, in the pompous language of citizen Ripaud, to contract an alliance offensive and defensive with the French Republic, one and indivisible, terms which the Sultan could not understand, as his language wanted words to correspond. And, when this simple operation was performed, they expected to return with a grand army to Mysore. They found that not only was there at the Isle of France no force whatsoever, which could be spared for the use of their master, but that no intimation had, by the government of France, been conveyed to the constituted authorities of the island, of any intention to send an army to India; and that those authorities were not vested with a power to form engagements with Tippoo of any description. Nothing did the rulers of the island find themselves competent to perform, except to forward the letters of the Sultan to the government of France, and offer aid to them in raising a few volunteers. Assistance, so contemptible in comparison of what they and their master expected, the vakeels at first refused to accept. And no small importunity appears to have been necessary to conquer their determination.

In the report of their proceedings, which they were required to give to their master upon their return, they say, “The four chiefs of Mauritius told us personally, that the European Ripaud had brought us here on a false representation to the Sultaun; and that at present they had no forces.” A member of the legislative body of the island, who, because he had served in a military capacity in India, and was known to the Sultan, sent him a letter along with the returning vakeels, declared; “Our grief was profound to learn that you had been deceived by Ripaud as to our forces on this island. The only reinforcement
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.which has been sent to us from France, since the commencement of the war, is one battalion, which we have sent to Batavia, to assist the Dutch in the preservation of that place. This we did, in return for the assistance which we had drawn from thence in money, provisions, and naval stores; for you must know, great Prince, that our own resources are insufficient for our support; and we have sworn to bury ourselves under the ruins of our island, rather than see our enemies its possessors.”32 The hopes which the French rulers held out that more efficient assistance might possibly be obtained, by application to the French government at Paris, obviously deserve attention merely as expedients to evade the chagrin of the vakeels. The number of Frenchmen in the service of the Sultan amounted not to more than 120 men.33

The confidence which Tippoo reposed in the strength of Seringapatam, especially when protected by God, and his own courage, had prevented him from making any provision against an event which he reckoned so very improbable as its fall. Not only his family, therefore, but the whole of his treasure, was deposited in the fort: and as the palace was obtained by a species of capitulation, without the irruption of the soldiers, there was no suspicion that any portion of the money or jewels which he had in store,
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was not publicly obtained, and fully brought to account.BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. It hence appeared, to the clearest satisfaction, how exaggerated and extravagant had been the conception of his enormous riches, and hence of his dangerous resources for war. The whole amount of the remaining specie, which Tippoo had treasured up, was about sixteen lacks of pagodas (640,000l.); and his jewels, of which in common with the Princes of the East he was fond, and with which they never part, except in their greatest extremity, were valued at about nine lacs (360,000l.) more. So far was such a sum from rendering its owner formidable to a power like that of the British in India, that the Governor-General in Council did not reckon it too much to be immediately distributed to the army, as a donative, in reward of the virtues which it had displayed during the campaign.

The English were now in possession of the kingdom of Mysore; and the only question which it remained for the Governor-General to decide, was the momentous one, how a kingdom was to be disposed of. He was not insensible to the difficulties which attended upon his decision; and the delicacy which was required, in balancing between the love of territory, on the one hand, and the suspicion and odium on the other, to which the destruction of another prince, and the annexation of any considerable part of his kingdom to an empire already of vast dimensions, would be exposed, both in Europe and in India. This part of his task he performed with the greatest address. The Nizam, though from the inferior part which he had taken in the war, he was not entitled to an equal share with the English in the benefits which resulted from it, was gratified by receiving an equal portion of territory. The necessity, however, was inculcated of moderation in the desires of both; and the principle
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.which was laid down was, that they should content themselves with such a portion of territory, as would indemnify them for the charges of the war, and yield security. The word security, brought in upon this occasion, was calculated to answer any purpose, to which they, who made use of it, had, or could have, any desire to apply it. Demands for security had no limit, but the pleasure and power of those by whom they were set up. When the subsequent inquirer asks, Security against whom? It is not easy to find an answer. Security against Tippoo? He was no more. Security to Nizam Ali, and the English, against one another? That was impossible; for they were both to be aggrandized, and in an equal degree. Was it security against the Mahrattas? No, for they also were to be offered a part of the divided territory, which was the way to make them more, not less dangerous neighbours than they were before. On the principle, then, of indemnification and security, it was decreed, that the English, on their part, should take to themselves the whole of the territory possessed by the Sultan on the Malabar coast, the district of Coimbetore and Daramporam, the whole of the country which intervened between the Company's territory on the western, and that on the eastern coast, yielding now an uninterrupted dominion from sea to sea; along with these possessions, the forts and posts forming the heads of the principal passes above the Ghauts on the table land;34 the district of Wynaad; and, lastly, the fortress, city, and island of Seringapatam, as a place which effectually secured the communication between the British territory
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on both coasts, and strengthened the lines ofBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. defence in every direction. A territory, affording an equal revenue with that which by the English was taken for themselves, was given to Nizam Ali, in the districts of Gooty, Gurrumcondah, and the tract of country which lies along the line of the great forts of Chittledroog, Sera, Nundidroog, and Colar, but without the forts, which it was supposed would render his frontier too strong. With regard to the third party in the alliance against Tippoo, they had entirely abstained from all participation in the war; and it would not, in the opinion of the Governor-General, have been good policy, to place on the same level, in the distribution of the spoil, those who did all, and those who did nothing, in the acquiring of it. This would be to encourage allies to be useless, when their services were required. So much territory as was taken by the English, and given to Nizam Ali, would, also, yield to the Mahrattas more than enough of strength. Still it was desirable to conciliate the good will of that people to the present proceedings; and to give them an interest in the arrangements which were made. A portion of territory, from one half to two thirds of the value of that which was taken by the English and given to Nizam Ali, would, it was concluded, answer all these ends. This portion was to include Harpoonelly, Soonda above the Ghauts, Annagoody, and some other districts; with part of the territory, not however including the fortresses, of Chittledroog and Bednore.

Of the portion which still remained of the territory gained from Tippoo, yielding thirteen lacs of pagodas, a revenue greater than that of the ancient Rajahship of Mysore, it was accounted politic to form a separate state. For sovereign, the choice lay between
Edition: current; Page: [140]
BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.the family of Tippoo, and that of the ancient Hindu Rajahs, who had been kept in confinement, but not extinguished, by Hyder Ali and his son. In the sons of Tippoo, the due degree of passive submission was reckoned much less probable than in those of a family, who, having lost all expectation of reigning, would take even liberty as a boon, much more sovereignty, though in its most shadowy form. The direct male descendant of the Mysore Rajahs was a child of a few years old; and to him it was decreed that the title of sovereign should belong. The conditions upon which he was to receive his dignity were as follows; That the whole of the military force maintained for the defence of the country should be English; That for the expense of it he should annually pay seven lacs of pagodas; That in case of war, or of preparation for war, the English might exact any larger sum, which they deemed proportional to the resources of the Rajah; And last of all, should they be dissatisfied with his government in any respect, they might interpose to any extent in the internal administration of the country, or even take the unlimited management of it to themselves. In this manner, it is evident, that the entire sovereignty of the country was assumed by the British, of whom the Rajah and his ministers could only be regarded as Vicegerents at will. It was, therefore, with some reason the Governor-General said, “I entertain a sanguine expectation, that the Rajah and his ministers, being fully apprised of the extensive powers reserved to the Company, will cheerfully adopt such regulations as shall render the actual exercise of these powers unnecessary;” for knowing themselves to hold a situation totally dependant upon the will of another, whatever emanated from that will, they were bound, without a choice, to obey. How long, with
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whatever dispositions to obedience, their performanceBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. of the services exacted of them will give satisfaction, depends upon circumstances of a sort which cannot be foreseen.

The Governor-General was perfectly aware of the share of the sovereignty which he had taken, and the share which he had left. “Under these arrangements,” he said, “I trust that I shall be enabled to command the whole resources of the Rajah's territory;” adding, what were very desirable results, that under these arrangements he also trusted to be enabled “to improve its cultivation, to extend its commerce, and to secure the welfare of its inhabitants.” For appropriating such “extensive powers,” (so they are called by himself) the reasons which he assigned pronounced a violent condemnation of the policy so long pursued; and of which such applauded rulers as Hastings and Cornwallis had made their boast; the policy of only sharing the powers of government, with the native princes of Oude, Carnatic, and Tanjore. “Recollecting the inconveniencies and embarrassments which have arisen to all parties concerned, under the double government, and conflicting authorities unfortunately established in Oude, the Carnatic, and Tanjore, I resolved to reserve to the Company the most extensive and indisputable powers.” This is to boast explicitly, that no double government, no conflicting authorities, were left in Mysore; that, by consequence, the powers of government were, without participation, engrossed by the English. What then, it may be asked, was the use, of setting up the shadow of a Rajah? The sources of evil were manifest. A considerable expense was rendered necessary for the splendour of his state: And it was utterly impossible to govern the country so well through the agency of him and his ministers, as it might have
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.been governed by the direct application of European intelligence and virtue. But this Rajah was a species of screen, put up to hide, at once from Indian and from European eyes, the extent of aggrandizement which the British territory had received, and it so far answered the purpose, that, though an obvious, it undoubtedly claims the praise of an adroit, and well-timed political expedient. It enabled the Governor-General to dismiss Nizam Ali with a much smaller share of the prey, than would have satisfied him, had the English taken without disguise the whole of what in this manner they actually appropriated.35 It precluded the Mahrattas from those attempts to excite a jealousy of the English, to which it was known they were abundantly disposed. And it imposed completely, as well upon those members of the British legislature, who would have been pleased with an opportunity to criticise; as upon the men whose critieisms are more extensively disseminated through the press; all of whom, or almost all, were too defective, it seems, in the requisite lights to see through the game that was played: For though none of the great acts of Marquis Wellesley's administration is more questionable than the attack upon Tippoo Sultan, that is a part which, till now, has been exempt from censure.

The territory, thus in name transferred to a Hindu Rajah, whose residence was to be the ancient city of Mysore, while the benefits of its sovereignty were all transferred to the English, was bounded on the north by a strong line of hill fortresses and posts, Chittledroog,
Edition: current; Page: [143]
Sera, Nundedroog, and Colar, forming a powerfulBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799. barrier towards the southern frontiers of Nizam Ali and the Mahrattas, from Panganoor on the line of the eastern, to Bednore on the line of the western Ghauts, the whole occupied and defended, for the benefit of the English, by English troops; and on the three other sides, east, west, and south, it was entirely surrounded by the territories of the Company, above and below the Ghauts.

To the family of Tippoo, if we make allowance for the loss of a throne, as well as to the principal men of his kingdom, the conduct of the Governor-General was considerate and generous. The fortress of Velore, in the Carnatic, was appropriated for the residence of the royal family, and fitted up commodiously for their reception, with an allowance for their support, more liberal than that which they had received from Tippoo himself. The principal men were all provided for by jaghires or pensions, conformable to their rank and influence, with a generosity which not only contented, but greatly astonished themselves. They were the more easily pleased, that Tippoo, centering all authority in his own person, rendered it impossible for his servants to acquire any influence beyond the immediate exercise of their official powers; and as the frugality of his administration was severe, their emoluments were uncommonly small. The same circumstances facilitated the settlement of the country; for, as no individual possessed any authority sufficient to make resistance, when Tippoo was gone, and as the character of the English was sufficiently known to inspire confidence, the chiefs made their submission without hesitation or delay. When one of Tippoo's confidential servants was sent to treat with the officer at the head of the cavalry, the celebrated Kummir ad dien Khan, he refused to stipulate for terms, and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1799.said he cast himself entirely upon the generosity of the English.

In the treaty which was signed by Nizam Ali and the English, entitled the partition Treaty of Mysore, for establishing the arrangements which have just been described, it was fixed, that, unless the Peshwa acceded to the said treaty within the space of one month, gave satisfaction relative to some disputes with Nizam Ali, and complied with certain conditions, not specified, in favour of the English, the territory, which it was meant to bestow upon him, should be shared between the remaining allies, in the proportion of two thirds to Nizam Ali, and one to the English.36

When the terrors which Tippoo suspended over the Mahrattas, and the dependence which they felt upon the English against the effects of his ambition and power, were destroyed, it was not expected that their hostile dispositions, which had already so ill disguised themselves, could long be restrained. The power of Nizam Ali was now the only barrier between the English possessions in Deccan, and the irruptions of that formidable nation; and how small the resistance which he was capable of yielding, the English had abundantly perceived. In one way, it appeared sufficiently easy to augment his capacity for war. He was acutely sensible of the dangers to which he was exposed at the hands of the Mahrattas,
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and of his incompetency to his own defence. HeBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1800. was therefore abundantly desirous of receiving such additions to the number of the British troops already in his pay, as would suffice to allay his apprehensions. But the payment of these troops suggested itself to the foresight of the English rulers, as creating difficulties and dangers which it was not easy to overlook. So fickle and capricious were the councils of the Subahdar, that he might suddenly adopt the resolution of dismissing the English troops from his service; while the impoverishment of his country by mal-administration, and the exhaustion of his resources by useless expenses, portended a moment not far distant, when he would be deprived of power to pay as many troops as would satisfy the ideas of security which the English rulers entertained. One expedient presented itself to the imagination of the Governor-General, as adapted to all the exigencies of the case; and he resolved not to omit so favourable an opportunity of realizing the supposed advantage. If Nizam Ali, instead of paying a monthly or annual subsidy for the maintenance of the troops whose service he was willing to receive, would alienate to the English in perpetuity a territory with revenue sufficient for the expense, a military force might then be established in his dominions, on the least precarious of all securities. The evils were, in the first place, a violation of the act of parliament, which forbid extension of territory; but that had always been violated with so little ceremony, and lately in so extraordinary a manner, that this constituted an objection of trivial importance: in the second place, the real difficulties of administering the ceded territory, so frugally and beneficently, as to render its produce equal to its expense; difficulties, it is probable, which were but little understood: and lastly, the grand general evil,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1800.that, in proportion as territory augments, and with it the amount and complexity of the business which its administration involves, it becomes more and more impossible for the superintending power to take securities, that the business of government shall not be negligently and corruptly performed; since, beside the inability of attention to extend itself minutely beyond a limited range of affairs, distance from the eye of government gradually weakens its powers, and at last annihilates a great portion of them. Over-balancing advantages appeared to flow, from the funds which would thus be secured for the maintenance of a considerable army, from the security which this army would afford against the Mahrattas, and from the sovereignty which it would transfer to the English over Nizam Ali and his dominions; though his dominions were governed so ill, that little advantage could be hoped from them. The documents relative to the negotiation have not been made public; and we know not in what manner that Prince at first received the proposition, nor what modes of inducement were employed to obtain his consent. However, on the 12th of October 1800, a treaty was signed; by which important contract, the English added two battalions of sepoys, and a regiment of native cavalry, to the force which they engaged to uphold in the service of the Subahdar, and also bound themselves to defend his dominions against every aggression; while, on his part, Nizam Ali ceded to the English, in perpetual sovereignty, all the acquisitions which he had made from the territory of Tippoo, either by the late treaty, or by that of Seringapatam, in 1792; and agreed neither to make war, nor so much as negotiate, by his own authority; but, referring all disputes between himself and other states to the English, to be governed by their decision, allowing
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the subsidiary troops in his service to be employedBOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1800. by the English in all their wars, joined by 6,000 of his own horse, and 9,000 of his infantry, only reserving two of the English battalions which should always be attached to his person. For the purpose of obtaining the Tumboodrah as a clear and distinct boundary, Kupoor, Gujunder, Gur, and some other districts, lately acquired from Tippoo, were exchanged for Adoni and a few places on the southern side of the river. With regard to the family and subjects of the Subahdar, it was stipulated that he was to remain absolute, and the English were on no pretext to dispute his authority. A revenue of about 1,758,000 pagodas arose from the territory ceded by this treaty to the English.37

Of this engagement, as it affected the interests of the English, the nature may be described in a single sentence. The English acquired a small territory, with the obligation of defending a large one. If it be said, that it was as easy to defend the Nizam's territory, in addition to their own, as it was to defend their own without that of the Nizam, and that the revenue of the new territory was all therefore clear gain, the declaration is unfounded. If the act of parliament, which was set up for a show, but in practice trampled upon habitually, and by those who made it, as shamelessly, as by those for whose coercion it was made, is worthy on such an occasion to be quoted, it may be recollected, that, according to the doctrine which, in that enactment, guided the legislature, all extension of territory was bad, because it cost more to defend it, than it could be made to produce; much more of course, when a
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BOOK VI. Chap. 8. 1800.small territory was acquired with the burthen of defending another, several times as large.

A clause was inserted, to say, that if the Peshwa or Dowlut Row Scindia, should desire to have a part in this treaty, they should be admitted to all its advantages; in other words, they should have a subsidiary force on the same terms as Nizam Ali. But so far were the Mahrattas from desiring an alliance of this description, that the Peshwa, under the dictation of Scindia, refused to accept the territory which was reserved to him out of the spoils of Tippoo; it was therefore divided by the English between themselves and the Subahdar.



Edition: current; Page: [149]

CHAP. IX.



Situation of Oude, as left by Lord Teignmouth, highly satisfactory to the home Authorities—Great Changes meditated by Lord Mornington—Extirpation of British Subjects, not in the Service of the Company—Apprehended Invasion of the Afghauns—Endeavour to obtain the Alliance of Scindia—The Idea abandoned—An Embassy to the King of Persia—Insurrection by Vizir Ali—Reform of his military Establishment pressed on the Nabob of Oude—His Reluctance—He proposes to abdicate in favour of his Son—The Governor-General presses him to abdicate in favour of the Company—He refuses—Indignation of the Governor-General—He resorts to coercion on the Reform, which meant, the Annihilation, of the Nabob's military Establishment—The business of the Annihilation judiciously performed—The Vizir alleges the want of Resources for the Maintenance of so great a British Army—From this, the Governor-General infers the Necessity of taking from him the Government of his Country—If the Nabob would not give up the whole of his Country willingly, such a Portion of it as would cover the Expense of the British Army to be taken by Force—This was more than one half—The Vizir to be allowed no independent Power even in the rest—The Vizir desires to go on a Pilgrimage—The Hon. H. Wellesley sent to get from him an appearance of
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Consent—The Cession of the Portion necessary for the Expense of the Army effected—A Commission for settling the Country with Mr. H. Wellesley at the head—Governor-General makes a Progress through the Country—Transactions between him and the Nabob of Oude—Proposition of the Bhow Begum—Objections of the Court of Directors to the Appointment of Mr. H. Wellesley—Overruled by the Board of Control—Government of Furruckabad assumed by the Company—Settlement of the ceded Districts—Full Approbation of the home Authorities.





BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.The arrangements formed by the late Governor-General, Sir John Shore, with respect to the kingdom of Oude, satisfied the capacious desires of the London authorities. Under date the 15th of May, 1799, a despatch, intended to convey their sentiments to the instruments of government in India, has the following passages:

“By the definitive treaty concluded at Lucknow, the Company's influence over the Vizir's country appears to be sufficiently preserved; without the insertion of any article, which, in its operation, might lead to an interference in the collections, on the part of the Company, that might be deemed offensive. And we have the further satisfaction to find, that, (exclusive of the immediate payment of twelve lacs of rupees by the Nabob Vizir),—his annual subsidy is increased upwards of twenty lacs of rupees; besides the acquisition of a fortress in the Oude dominions, of the greatest consequence in the scale of general defence: with other stipulations, which have a tendency to remedy former defects in our political connexion with that country, and to give the Company
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such an ascendancy as cannot fail to be productiveBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. of material benefit to both parties: and which, we trust, will lead to the establishment of a good system of government in Oude, which hitherto all our endeavors, for a series of years, have been unable to accomplish.

“The late Governor-General had given us reason to expect, that, for the first year, or perhaps longer, after Saadut Ali's accession, his revenues would probably fall considerably short of their estimated amount; and that he would find considerable difficulty in fulfilling his pecuniary engagements with the Company:—and very satisfactorily assigned the ground of that opinion. We are, therefore, not surprised to find by the last accounts, that an arrear had accumulated in the payment of the Company's tribute, to the amount of upwards of eighteen lacs of rupees. Lord Mornington having represented, however, that he believes the Nabob is sincerely disposed to make every possible effort for the liquidation of this arrear, as well as for introducing such a system of order and economy into the management of his finances as will enable him to be more punctual in his future payments, we entertain a well-grounded expectation that every cause of complaint upon this head will speedily terminate.”

“The affairs of Oude being thus settled in a manner which bids fair to be permanent; and it appearing by your political dispatch of the 17th April, 1798, that the most perfect tranquility continues to prevail in the Vizir's dominions; and as the resolutions of the late Governor-General, of the 9th and 30th October, 1797, for the augmentation of the army, were declared to be connected with the proposed arrangements for that country, we direct that you take into your immediate consideration the propriety
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.of disbanding those new levies, or the necessity of continuing them.”1

While the home authorities were thus congratulating themselves upon the state in which the affairs of Oude were left by the late Governor-General, and pleasing themselves with the belief of its permanence, the new Governor-General was meditating the most important changes. In the political letter from Bengal, as early as the 3d of October, 1798, the authorities at home were informed; “The Right Honorable the Governor-General has now under consideration the present state of affairs in Oude, and particularly the best means of securing the regular payment of the subsidy, and of reforming the Nabob's army.”2 And on the 23d of December of the same year, the Governor-General wrote, in a private letter to the resident at Oude; “The necessity of providing for the defence of the Carnatic, and for the early revival of our alliances in the Peninsula, as well as for the seasonable reduction of the growing influence of France in India, has not admitted either my visiting Oude, or of my turning my undivided attention to the reformof the Vizir's affairs. There are, however, two or three leading considerations, in the state of Oude, to which I wish to direct your particular notice; intending, at an early period, to enter fully into the arrangement in which they must terminate.—Whenever the death of Almas shall happen, an opportunity will offer of securing the benefits of Lord Teignmouth's treaty, by provisions, which seem necessary for the purpose of realizing the subsidy, under all contingencies. The Company ought to succeed to the power of Almas. And the management,
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if not the sovereignty, of that part of theBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. Doab, which he now rents, ought to be placed in our hands, a proportionate reduction being made from the subsidy; the strength of our north-western frontier would also be increased. On the other hand, in the event of Almas's death, we shall have to apprehend either the dangerous power of a successor equal to him in talents and activity, or the weakness of one inferior in both, or the division of the country among a variety of renters; in the first case we should risk internal commotion; in the two latter the frontier of Oude would be considerably weakened against the attacks either of the Abdalli or of any other invader. The only remedy for these evils will be the possession of the Doab fixed in the hand of our government. The state of the Vizir's troops is another most pressing evil. To you I need not enlarge on their inefficienoy and insubordination. My intention is to persuade his Excellency, at a proper season, to disband the whole of his own army, with the exception of such part of it as may be necessary for the purposes of state, or of collection of revenue. In the place of the armed rabble which now alarms the Vizir, and invites his enemies, I propose to substitute an increased number of the Company's regiments of infantry and cavalry, to be relieved from time to time, and to be paid by his Excellency. I have already increased our establishment to the extent of seventeen regiments of infantry, with the view of transferring three regiments to the service of his Excellency.— With respect to the Vizir's civil establishments, and to his abusive systems for the extortion of revenue, and for the violation of every principle of justice, little can be done before I can be enabled to visit Lucknow.”3
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.The hostility of the Governor-General to his fellow-subjects, pursuing, independently of the Company, their occupations in any part of India, is expressed, without a word to indicate reasons, in the same letter, thus; “The number of Europeans particularly of British subjects, established in Oude, is a mischief which requires no comment. My resolution is fixed, to dislodge every European, excepting the Company's servants. My wish is, to occasion as little private distress as possible, but the public service must take its course; and it is not to be expected that some cases of hardship will not be found in the extent of so great a measure.” These last words indicate extensive numbers. Why did not the Governor-General, before he dared to strike at the fortunes of great numbers of his countrymen, declare and prove, the evils which they produced? For what reason is it, let them declare, who know what is understood, under such a government as ours, by the responsibility of the ruling few, that he has never yet been effectually called upon to account for such a conduct? The good which they were calculated to produce is obvious to all. The question still remains unanswered, What were the evils?

The threats of Zemaun Shah, King of the Abdalees, or Afghauns, became a convenient source of pretexts for urging upon the Vizir the projected innovations. This prince had succeeded his father Timur Shah, the son of the celebrated Ahmed Shah, the founder of the dynasty, in the year 1792. His dominions extended from the mouths of the Indus to the parallel of Cashmere; and from the boundaries of the Seiks, at some distance eastward of the great river Attack, to the vicinity of the Persian Tershish; including the territories of Cabul, Candahar, Peishere, Ghizni, Gaur, Sigistan, Korasan, and Cashmere. In
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the year 1796, this prince advanced to Lahore; andBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. though his force was not understood to exceed 33,000 men, almost wholly cavalry, he struck terror into the Mahrattas; and excited alarm in the English government itself. The object of the Shah, as announced by rumour, was, to re-establish the House of Timur, to which he was nearly related, and restore the true faith in the empire of the Great Mogul. The Seiks, it appeared, gave no obstructions to his march: The Mahrattas, from their internal distractions, were ill prepared to resist him: And, though they assembled a considerable army, which might have enabled them to dispute the possession of Delhi, or molest him in his retreat, it was still possible for him, in the opinion of the person then at the head of the English government, to advance to Delhi, even with so inconsiderable an army as that which he led to Lahore; in which case, he would have formidably threatened the British interests. The Rohillas, it was imagined, would join him; induced, not only by the affinities of descent and religion, and the cruelties which they had sustained at the hands of the English and Vizir; but, the Governor-General added, by the love of war and plunder; yet the truth is, that they devoted themselves to agriculture, whenever oppression would permit them, with an ardour and success, of which India had no example; and their love of war and plunder meant only a greater degree of courage and vigour than distinguished the other races of the country. The approach of the Shah, it was therefore apprehended, would spread the greatest disorders in the dominions of the Vizir. “The troops under Almas,” who governed, as renter, and defended, that half of the dominions of the Vizir which was most exposed to the incursions both of the Mahrattas and Afghauns, “were,” says the Governor-General, “respectable.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.The other troops of the Vizir, with little exception, would rather have proved an incumbrance, than an assistance to the British forces; and nothing but the most urgent remonstrances would have ensured the exertions or supplies of the Vizir. His dominions would have been overrun with marauders; a total temporary stoppage of the collections would have ensued; and these disorders, if not speedily quelled, would have ended in general insurrection.” On the measures to be adopted, Sir John Shore found it difficult to decide. The Mahrattas, excited by their fears, made proposals to the English for a union of forces against the Afghaun. But the reduction of the power of the Mahrattas, Sir John would have welcomed as one of the most desirable events. On the other hand, Zemaun Shah, if crowned with success, would be still a greater object of dread. Again; if the Mahrattas, by their own exertions, prevailed over the Shah, they would gain a formidable increase of power. Or, if the French leader, who in the name of Scindia, now governed so great a portion of the provinces, at which the Afghauns were supposed to aim, should, in the midst of commotion, raise himself to the sovereignty of the territories in dispute, this to the mind of the Governor-General appeared the most alarming consequence of all. Before the English government thought itself called upon for any great exertions, a rebellious brother of the Shah excited disturbance in his dominions; and recalled him early in 1797, from Lahore. The troops at the cantonments of Cawnpore and Futty Ghur had, in the mean time, been ordered into camp; and two additional regiments of infantry had been raised. The Governor-General, indeed, imagined, that the march of the Shah to Lahore, with so limited a force, was rather an experiment than the commencement of
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an expedition; but the question was worthy of hisBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. attention whether it would have been easy for the King of the Afghauns to come with a greater force. It was, too, after all, the opinion of the English ruler, that, though motives were not wanting to prompt the Shah to the invasion of Hindustan, it was nevertheless an event very little probable; and such as there would be little prudence in taking any costly precautions to defeat.4

In 1798, a belief, but solely derived from rumour, of vast preparations making by the Afghaun, for the invasion of India, was excited anew. The apprehensions, however of the British government were allayed, by intelligence received toward the end of September, that the disturbances within the dominions of the Shah had compelled him to leave his capital and march to Candahar. But this was speedily followed by reports, that the 10th of October was fixed for commencing his march from Cabul towards Hindustan; and though the authenticity of these reports was held very doubtful, the English government deemed it, “their duty,” according to their own expressions, “to take every precaution against the possibility of an event, which, combined with the designs of Tippoo and the French, might become of the most serious importance.” Endeavours were used to prevail upon Doulut Row Scindia to return from the south, and put his dominions in the best posture of defence; and great hopes were expressed, that he would follow this advice. “The Governor-General also directed the Resident at the court of Scindia,” I use again the language of the Governor-General in council, “to enter into defensive engagements with
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.that chieftain, upon his return to Hindustan, under such limitations and conditions, as might secure the effectual co-operation of the Mahratta army, with the least possible diversion of the British force from the exclusive protection of the frontier of Oude. His Lordship further directed the resident with Scindia to endeavor to provide the earliest resistance to the progress of the Shah, at the greatest practicable distance from the frontier of Oude, by encouraging the chiefs of the Rajapoots and Seiks to oppose the first approach of the invading army.”5 In the month of October the Commander-in-Chief was directed to prepare for such a disposition of the troops in the upper provinces, and such military operations in general, as would most effectually secure that part of the British frontier against an attack from the Afghauns. The proposition of the Commander-in-Chief was approved, for adding to the army two regiments of native infantry, for the movement of five companies of native invalids to Chunar, and of five other companies to Allahabad; and for assembling a force to cover the city of Benares. The resident at Lucknow was desired “to urge to the Vizir,” these are the words of the official dispatch, “the necessity of collecting as large a body of artillery, infantry, and cavalry, as possible, to be placed, if necessary, under the directions of an European officer, and to be employed in the manner suggested by the Commander in-Chief:” Also, to take immediate measures for sending such a supply of grain to Allahabad as the commanding officer in the field might prescribe, and for obtaining the orders and assistance of the Vizir in dispatching, whenever it should be requisite, all the boats not required for the service of the army.

Edition: current; Page: [159]
Notwithstanding the hopes, however, which hadBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. been fondly entertained of a defensive alliance with Scindia, the authorities in India write to the authorities in England in the following terms; “From the letter to the resident with Dowlut Row Scindia, dated the 26th of October, you will observe, that Scindia's continuance at Poonah, the dissensions and disaffection which prevail among his commanders, and the unsettled and precarious state of his authority in Hindustan, have prevented our taking any further steps for carrying the intended arrangements into effect.” It was in the beginning of October that the authorities in India delivered it to the authorities in England, as their opinion, that the greatest advantages would arise from a connexion with Scindia: Before the end of the same month, they find the circumstances of Scindia to be such, that no further steps for carrying the intended arrangements into effect are accounted advisable.6 Again; the inability of Scindia, from the disaffection of his commanders, and the tottering state of his authority, was now made the foundation on which measures of policy were built: After an interval of not many months, the necessity was urged of draining the whole resources of the British state, to make war upon him. The fact appears to be, that Scindia knew the improbability of being invaded by the Shah; and though such invasion would bring on him greater evils than it would bring on the government of any other state, he chose to remain at Poonah, for the promotion of those objects of which he was there in eager pursuit.

“Under these circumstances,” say the authorities in India, “we have judged it expedient to determine, that in the event of Zemaun Shah's approach to the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.frontier of our ally the Vizir, our military operations shall be confined to a system of defence; and we have resolved that our arms shall, in no case, pass the limits of his Excellency's dominions, unless such a forward movement shall be deemed by the commanding officer necessary for the protection of the frontier, either of Oude, or of our own dominions.”7

After producing all this preparation and expense, the Shah, who, it seems, had again advanced as far as Lahore, began his retreat on the 4th of January: and Shah Aulum was informed by a letter from the Afghaun Vizir, that no intention remained of prosecuting the expedition into Hindustan that year, but the helpless Mogul might look forward to a more prosperous issue, at some future period. The cause of the retreat was reported, and believed, to be, the alarming progress making by the brother of the Shah at the head of a military force in the neighborhood of Herat.8

In the month of September, Mr. Duncan, the Governor of Bombay, had made the following communication to the Governor-General. A personage, of the name of Mehedi Ali Khan, had intimated, that, as he was about to make a journey into Persia, it might be in his power, and if properly authorized, he had confident hopes that it would be in his power, to excite the Persian rulers, by threatening or attacking the western part of Afghaunistan, to divert the Shah from his projected invasion of Hindustan. The fact was, that Baba Khan, then King of Persia, had espoused the cause of Mahmood, the brother of Zemaun, as the elder son, and hence the rightful heir of the late monarch: and had already threatened, if not attacked, the province of Khorassan. Mehedi Ali Khan was
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entrusted with a mission, the objects of which, asBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. they fell in with the existing politics of the Persian government were successfully attained. This, however, was not enough to satisfy a mind, which longed to do every thing in magnificent style; and the Governor-General prepared a splendid embassy to the court of Baba Khan. Captain Malcolm, who had lately been assistant to the resident at Hyderabad, was chosen, for his knowledge of the language, and other accomplishments, to conduct the negotiation. “The embassy,” to use the words of the negotiator, “was in a style of splendour corresponding to the character of the monarch, and the manners of the nation, to whom it was sent; and to the wealth and power of that state from whom it proceeded:” A language this, which may be commonly interpreted, lavishly, or, which is the same thing, criminally, expensive. The negotiator continues; “It was completely successful in all its objects. The King of Persia was not only induced by the British envoy to renew his attack upon Khorassan, which had the effect of withdrawing Zemaun Shah from his designs upon India; but entered into treaties of political and commercial alliance with the British government.”9 The embassy proceeded from Bombay on the 29th of December, 1799; and the terms of the treaties were fixed before the end of the succeeding year. It was stipulated, That the King of Persia should lay waste, with a great army, the country of the Afghauns, if ever they should proceed to the invasion of India, and conclude no peace without engagements binding them to abstain from all aggressions upon the English: That should any army, belonging to the French, attempt to form a settlement on any of the islands or
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.shores of Persia, a force should be employed by the two contracting states to co-operate for their extirpation; and that if even any individuals of the French nation should request permission to reside in Persia, it should not be granted. In the firmaun, annexed to this treaty, and addressed to the governors and officers in the Persian provinces, it was said; “Should ever any person of the French nation attempt to pass your ports or boundaries; or desire to establish themselves, either on the shores or frontiers, you are to take means to expel and extirpate them, and never to allow them to obtain a footing in any place; and you are at full liberty, and authorised, to disgrace and slay them.” Though the atrocious part of this order was, no doubt, the pure offspring of Persian ferocity; yet a Briton may justly feel shame, that the ruling men of his nation, a few years ago, (such was the moral corruption of the time!) could contemplate with pleasure so barbarous and inhuman a mandate, or endure to have thought themselves, except in a case of the very last necessity, its procuring cause. On their part, the English were bound, whenever the King of the Afghauns, or any person of the French nation, should make war upon the King of Persia, “to send as many cannon and warlike stores as possible, with necessary apparatus, attendants, and inspectors, and deliver them at one of the ports of Persia.”10 The evil of this condition was, that binding, not merely for a single emergency, it tended to involve the English in all the quarrels between the King of Persia, and a neighbouring people, with whom it was very unlikely that he would almost ever be at peace: and thus extended more
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widely than ever those fighting connexions, which theBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. legislature had not only prohibited, but stigmatized, as contrary at once to the interest and the honour of the nation. The commercial treaty was of slight importance, and aimed at little more than some security from the ill usage to which in barbarous countries merchants are exposed, and some improvements in the mode of recovering the debts, and securing the property of the English traders. On the attainment of these points, the envoy himself, as natural, sets the highest value. “These treaties,” he tells us, “while they completely excluded the French from Persia, gave the English every benefit which they could derive from this connexion.” He adds, “Nor can there be a doubt, that if this alliance had been cultivated with the same active spirit of foresight and penetration with which it was commenced, it would have secured the influence of the British government in that quarter from many of those attacks to which it has subsequently been exposed.”11 It would have been good, if the envoy had shown, in what advantage the British government could find a compensation, for the expense of upholding such a connexion at the court of Persia.

The result, in regard to the Afghauns, is necessary to be known. The year 1800 was spent, partly in war, partly in negotiation, between the King of Persia and Zemaun Shah. In the year 1801, Mahmood, the rebellious prince, collected such a force, as enabled him not only to defeat his brother, but to render him a captive.12

To grant a residence to Vizir Ali, the deposed Nabob or Nawaub of Oude, at a place so near his
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.former dominions as Benares, was not regarded as a measure of prudence, and he had been made acquainted with the resolution of removing him to Calcutta. He viewed the change with the utmost aversion; but all his remonstrances against it had proved in vain; and the time was now approaching, the preparations were even made, for carrying it into execution.

On the morning of the 14th of January, 1799, he paid a visit, by appointment, accompanied by his usual suite of attendants, to Mr. Cherry, the British resident, at his house, distant about three miles from Benares. After the usual compliments, he began to speak of the hardship of his coercive removal; and proceeded first to warmth, at last to intemperance of language. Mr. Cherry, whose attentions were understood to have gained his personal favour, is said to have gently attempted to repress his indiscretion, and to remind him that he at least was not the proper object of his resentment; when the impetuous youth, with sudden or premeditated frenzy, started from his seat, and made a blow at him with his sword. This, by the law of Eastern manners, was a signal to his attendants, with or without concert; and in an instant their swords were unsheathed. Mr. Cherry endeavoured to escape through a window, but one of the attendants, reaching him with his poignard, struck him lifeless on the floor. Two other gentlemen in the room being murdered, the assassins hurried to the houses of other Englishmen; but sacrificing only two other lives in their progress, they were so vigorously resisted by a gentleman who possessed himself of a narrow stair-case, and defended himself against their ascent, that time was given for the arrival of a party of horse; upon which they immediately
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betook themselves to flight. So little preparationBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. had Vizir Ali made for this explosion, that he was obliged to leave behind him whatever property he possessed, the furniture of his zenana, his elephants, and even a part of his horses. He retired to the woody country of Bhotwal, where he was joined by several disaffected Zemindars.

The news of this outrage excited considerable emotion at Lucknow, where it was regarded as the eruption of a conspiracy for the overthrow of the government; a conspiracy in which it was unknown to what extent the subjects of Saadut Ali might themselves be concerned. That ruler, in whose character timidity predominated, and who knew that he was hated, suspected every body, even his troops, and prayed that the English battalion might be sent from Cawnpore for the protection of his person. When called upon to join with his forces the British army, for the chastisement of the offender, he found an excuse, which his avarice, his timidity, his desire of ease, and hatred of exertion, all combined in leading him eagerly to adopt. He stated his suspicions of his troops, and represented them as too void, both of discipline and of fidelity, for any advantage to be expected from their aid. He afterwards paid dear for his ingenuousness, when this representation was brought forward as a reason, for thrusting upon him measures which his soul abhorred.

Notwithstanding the representations of the former Governor-General, Sir John Shore; that the people of Oude universally regarded Vizir Ali as destitute of all title to the crown, the grand alledged fact, upon which he grounded the important decision of deposing a sovereign, and naming his successor; the Marquis Wellesley, in a letter to the Resident, dated the 22d of January, 1801, expressly says, “Active, and general,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.support has been afforded, by the subjects of his Excellency, to the impostor who lately assumed the name of Vizir Ali.”13 It also appears that of the troops of the Vizir, which were required to assist in reducing the disturber, a part in reality joined his standard.

He found himself in a short time at the head of an army of several thousand men; descended with them into the plains of Goorakpoor, the eastern district of Oude; and threw the whole kingdom into trepidation and alarm. A British force was assembled to oppose him. Some partial rencounters, in which they suffered pretty severely, and the narrow limits for subsistence or plunder to which they were reduced, soon disheartened his followers; when they abandoned him in great numbers; and he himself took refuge with a Rajpoot Rajah. He remained with him till the month of December following; when the Rajpoot made his terms with the British government, and treacherously delivered up Vizir Ali, who was carried to Fort William, and there confined.

In the month of January, 1799, the Governor-General addressed letters to the Vizir, and to the resident at Lucknow, of which the object was to urge, what he was pleased to denominate a reform of the military establishment of the Vizir. The London authorities themselves, in the letter which they afterwards wrote on the 15th of May, 1799, expressing their great satisfaction with the arrangements in Oude which had been formed by Sir John Shore, and with the disposition shown by the Vizir, both to make the large pecuniary payments which were required at his hands, and to introduce the reforms into his
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financial system, which would alone enable him toBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. meet those demands, alluded to his military expenditure in the following terms: “The large, useless, and expensive military establishment, within the Oude dominions, appears to us to be one of the principal objects of economical reform, and we have much satisfaction in finding that the subject has already come under your consideration.”14 In his letter to the resident, the Governor-General says, “My object is, that the Vizir should disband, as speedily as possible, the whole of his military force:” The next part of the plan was to replace that force by an army exclusively British. This was what the Governor-General, with other Englishmen, called a reform of the military establishments of the Vizir: the total annihilation of his military power, and the resignation of himself and his country to the army of another state. The Vizir was indeed to retain as many, as might be necessary, of that kind of troops which were employed in collecting the taxes; and as many as might be necessary for the purposes of state: an establishment of the sort which his own aumils, or tax-gatherers, enjoyed.

The resident was instructed to avail himself of the alarm into which the timidity of the Vizir had been thrown by the rumours of the expedition of the King of the Afghauns, to urge upon him the necessity of a ready concurrence with the Governor-General's views. “You will,” says the letter, “remind his Excellency, that his military establishment was represented, by himself, to be not only inadequate to contribute any assistance towards the defence of his dominions; but that, at the moment when the services of the British army were most urgently demanded
Edition: current; Page: [168]
BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.on his frontier, he required the presence of a part of that force in his capital, for the express purpose of protecting his person and authority against the excesses of his own disaffected and disorderly troops. The inference to be drawn from these events is obviously, that the defence of his Excellency's dominions against foreign attack, as well as their internal tranquillity can only be secured, by a reduction of his own useless, if not dangerous troops, and by a proportionate augmentation of the British force in his pay. I am convinced this measure might be effected with a degree of advantage to his Excellency's finances, little inferior to that which it promises to his military establishments; and that his Excellency might obtain from the Company a force of real efficiency at an expense far below that which he now incurs in maintaining his own army in its present defective condition.”

The Vizir, says the Governor-General, “might obtain a force:” when the force was to be the Company's, and the Vizir to have no force. In the very same letter, “It is not my intention,” says the Governor-General, “that the British force to be furnished to his Excellency should become a part of his own army. The British force to be substituted in place of that part of his excellency's army which shall be reduced, will be in every respect the same as the remainder of the Company's troops, and will be relieved from time to time according to the orders of the Governor-General in council.”

The negotiations respecting this affair appeared to the Governor-General so important; that he was unwilling to entrust them to the qualifications of the resident, Mr. Lumsden. Colonel Scott had attracted his confidence and esteem; and he resolved that to him the trust should be consigned. “As I am
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aware,” said he, in the same letter, to the resident,BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. “that you will require the assistance of some able military officer in the execution of the arrangement proposed, I have requested Sir A. Clarke to dispense with the services of Lieutenant Colonel Scott, the Adjutant-General, who will be directed to proceed to Lucknow immediately, and to remain there for as long a period as may be necessary to the accomplishment of the objects which I have in view.”15 In consequence of this intimation Mr. Lumsden resigned; and Major Scott was appointed to the office of resident.

Major Scott proceeded to Lucknow in the month of June, bearing a letter from the Commander-in-Chief, executing at that time, in the absence of the Chief, executing at that time, in the absence of the Governor-General, the office of Vice-President of the Supreme Council. The Nawaub was desirous to postpone, rather than accelerate, all discussion upon a project, of which, although he was not yet acquainted with its particulars, the result, he was sufficiently aware, would be a large reduction of his power: And Colonel Scott appears to have been willing to employ some time in making himself acquainted with the situation of affairs, before he strongly pressed upon the Vizir the annihilation, called the reform, of his military establishment. To the usual causes of disorder and mis-rule, was at this time added another, in the suspension of the powers of the ministers, or principal organs of government, whom, having been appointed under English authority, the Vizir dared not remove, but from whom he withheld his confidence, and the management of his affairs. A circumstance, too, which peculiarly attracted the attention of the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.resident, was the hatred and contempt in which the Nabob himself was held by his subjects. “The information,” says he, “which your Lordship has received, of the unpopularity of his Excellency, is probably far short of the real state; as, confined to the court, the only persons who attend the Durbar, excepting the Nawaub's own sons, and occasionally Almas Ali Khan, are a few pensioners, of whom his Excellency, from their known character, entertains no suspicion of engaging in politics; and it has not been without some difficulty that I have prevailed on native gentlemen of respectable connexions to show themselves at the Durbar.—The present state of things, so degrading to the character of the Nawaub, so prejudicial to his own real interests, and to the welfare of his country; and, I may add—so discreditable to the English name, obviously calls for a radical reform.” Major Scott's ideas of “a radical reform,” however, were all summed up in these words, “An open, efficient, and respectable administration.” Even this, however, he despaired of being able to establish without the immediate interference of the head of the English government. “The evident design of the Nawaub,” he declared, “is to temporize and delay, that he may enjoy as long as possible the fruits of the present system of secret agency and intrigue.”16

On the 8th of September, the resident writes to the Governor-General, that, as soon after his arrival as practicable, he had presented to the Nawaub Vizir the letter from the Vice-President, on the subject of the military reform; that he had delivered to him a brief out-line of the intended plan, and requested
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to receive his answer as soon as it had received a dueBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. degree of his consideration; that after more than twenty days had elapsed, he had requested a communication from the Vizir, who named the third day preceding the date of the letter he was then writing, to converse with him on the subject.

According to the usual style of oriental politeness, which permits no direct contradiction or negative to be applied to any proposition from an exalted man, the Nawaub began by saying, “That the measure proposed was not impracticable, but such as he hoped might be accomplished:” he then observed, that he himself had, however, a proposition to offer, which he would either communicate to the Governor-General, when he should honour Lucknow with his presence, or to the resident if he should be entrusted with the execution of the scheme. He was pressed to disclose the nature of his proposition; but in vain. He said he would call in two days, and dictate to the resident a memorandum on the subject, to be transmitted to the Governor-General; but this, when it was given, indicated no more, than that “the proposition concerned himself personally, that it connected with his own ease the prosperity of his government, and in its operation could be prejudicial to no person.”17 The removal of the minister was the object at which, by the resident, he was supposed to aim.

On the 20th of the same month, the resident held it necessary to explain still further the discoveries which he was enabled to make of the disposition and views of the Vizir. “After attentively studying the character of his Excellency, and acquainting myself, as far as circumstances will allow, with the general
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.tenor of his proceedings, I am led to conclude that whilst he is determined to fulfil, with minute regularity, the peculiar engagements with the Company, his views are directed to the enjoyment of a full authority over his household affairs, hereditary dominions, and subjects, according to the most strict interpretation of the clause of the seventeenth article of the treaty executed at Lucknow.—I have no conception that he aspires, either now or in prospect, to political independence. What he aims at is the independent management of the interior concerns of his dominions, to the exclusion of all interference and inspection on the part of the English government, and to the gradual diminution of its influence over the internal administration of his country.” It was only on one account, the cruel and destructive mode in which the country was governed, that the resident thought the interference of the English government was to be desired, “since the exercise of it,” says he, “does not seem to have been intended by the late treaty, and is unequivocally disavowed by several declarations to his predecessor.” He had not thought it fitting, except in the way of allusion, to agitate again the subject of the military reforms.18

Notwithstanding the right which clearly belonged to the Nawaub, of exercising without control the interior government of his country, the Governor-General, by a letter, dated the 26th of September, says, “The present condition of his government appears to preclude you from the information necessary to your first steps in the proposed reforms.” This refers to the complaints of the resident, that the Vizir carried on his administration, by secret agents, not by the ostensible ministers; whence it happened
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that the resident found no person qualified to giveBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. him the information which he required. “I shall hope,” continues the Governor-General, “that my applications to the Vizir would remove every difficulty of this nature.—But, if I should be disappointed in this expectation, it will then become necessary for you, in my name, to insist, that the Vizir shall place his government in such a state, as shall afford you the requisite means of information, as well as of carrying the intended regulations into complete and speedy effect.” He adds, “The great and immediate object of my solicitude is, to accomplish the reform of his Excellency's military establishment:—and, accordingly, this point must be pressed upon him, with unremitted earnestness. His acquiescence in the measure must, however, be totally unqualified by any conditions not necessarily connected with it.”19

The Vizir procrastinating both the disclosure of his secret, and compliance with the proposition for the annihilation-reform of his military establishment, the Governor-General addressed him by letter on the 5th of November. “The general considerations which render it extremely necessary and desirable that the arrangement respecting your military establishment should be carried into execution without delay, have already been fully explained to your Excellency, and you have concurred with me in my view of the subject. One argument in favour of a speedy determination on this subject possibly may not have occurred to your mind, and I therefore take this occasion explicitly to state it to your Excellency.” This argument was; that the Company were bound by treaties to defend the dominions of his Excellency against all enemies; that his dominions were threatened
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.by Zemaum Shah, and perhaps by others; that “it might not be in the power of the British government, on a sudden emergency, to reinforce the troops in his Excellency's country with sufficient expedition; my firm opinion,” continues the Governor-General, “therefore is, that the Company can in no other manner fulfil effectually their engagement to defend your Excellency's dominions, against all enemies, than by maintaining constantly in those dominions such a force as shall at all times be adequate to your effectual protection, independently of any reinforcements which the exigency might otherwise require.”20 This was, in other words, an explicit declaration, that the military force for the protection of Oude ought to be, at all times, even in the bosom of the most profound peace, at the utmost extent of a war establishment; than which a more monstrous proposition never issued from human organs! As one of the most essential principles of good government consists in reducing the peace establishment of the military force to its lowest possible terms, and one of the most remarkable principles of bad government consists in upholding it beyond the limits of the most severe necessity; so, few countries can be placed in a situation which less demanded a great peace establishment, than the kingdom of Oude. On more than one half of all its frontiers, it was defended by the British dominions, or inaccessible mountains. On the other half, it was not supposed in any danger of being attacked, except, either by the King of the Afghauns, who was separated from it by the extent of several large kingdoms; or by the Mahrattas, who were too distracted and weak to be able to defend themselves. A peace establishment in Oude, at the perpetual extent
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of a war establishment, for defence against theBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. Afghauns, would be very little more than matched by a proposition for a perpetual war establishment in England, for fear of an invasion from the Turks.

Coercion was now to be employed; and the plan of it was this: Without any further regard to the consent of the sovereign, British troops, to the proposed amount, were to march into the country: the sums required for their maintenance were to be immediately demanded: and the want of ability otherwise to comply with the demand would compel him, it was supposed, to relieve himself from the expense of his own army, by putting an end to its existence.

On what ground of justice was this proceeding built? The Governor-General exhibited an argument: “The seventh article of the treaty, concluded with your Excellency, by Sir John Shore, provides for the occasional augmentation of the Company's troops in your Excellency's dominions, in terms which evidently render the Company's government competent to decide at all times on the requisite amount of such augmentation. The same article binds your Excellency to defray the expense of any force which shall be deemed necessary by the Company for your defence.”21 The same argumentation was, by his Lordship's military secretary, repeated, more at length, to the resident.

The treaty, concluded between the English government and the Nawaub, by Sir John Shore, clearly established two points, with regard to the military force to be maintained at the expense of the sovereign of Oude; that there should be a certain regular, permanent establishment; and also, a power of making occasional augmentations. Enough; said the Governor-General,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.and his instruments; let the occasional augmentations be made the permanent establishment. When this point was settled, all the benefit was attained of arbitrary will; for, as the amount of these augmentations was not specified, it remained with the Governor-General, upon the foundation of a treaty which exactly defined the permanent establishment, to make that permanent establishment any thing which he pleased. Such is the logic of the strong man towards the weak.

Before this letter, written on the 5th of November, could be received by the resident, and delivered to the Vizir, namely, on the 12th of the same month, the measure of which he had before announced the contemplation, and which he had hitherto preserved a mysterious secret, was disclosed. He had already, on several occasions, given vent to expressions of impatience, in regard to the difficulties of his government, and the inability under which he found himself placed of commanding the respect or obedience of his subjects. These expressions had been so pointed as sometimes to raise in the mind of the resident a conjecture, that he was meditating a plan of retreat from the burthens of government. But at the same time, regulations of state were projected, buildings were planned, household arrangements were formed, and other things went on, so much in unison with views of permanency, that the resident would not encourage the conjecture which sometimes presented itself to his mind. Having appointed the morning of the 12th, to meet with him on business of importance, the Vizir, says the resident, “began by observing that he had frequently declared to me the impossibility of his conducting the affairs of his country, under existing circumstances; that probably I had not comprehended the full drift of these expressions,
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or conceived they were uttered in a momentBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. of ill-humour; that the real meaning of them was an earnest desire to relinquish a government which he could not manage with satisfaction to himself, or advantage to his subjects.” He added, in the course of the conversation, “That his mind was not disposed to the cares and fatigues of government; that as one of his sons would be raised to the musnud, his name would remain; and that he was possessed of money sufficient for his support, and the gratification of all his desires in a private station.” In a second conversation, on the morning of the 14th, the Vizir entered into some further explanation of the motives which impelled him to the design of abdication, which “consisted,” says the resident, “in general accusations against the refractory and perverse disposition of the people at large; of complaints of the want of fidelity and zeal in the men immediately about his person; of the arrogance of some of the aumils, and of the open disobedience of others.

“Whatever pleasure,” says the resident, “this exposure of his intentions afforded to myself, and whatever eventual benefits I foresaw to the interests of the two states, from the execution of them, I thought it my duty to expostulate with his Excellency, on so extraordinary a resolution, by such arguments as occurred to me on the occasion. I replied, that the remedy to this aggregate of evils was easy, and within his own power; that a strong and just administration would ensure the obedience of the bulk of his subjects on the firm principle of attachment to his person and government; that a conciliatory and encouraging conduct on his part would secure fidelity and enliven zeal; that the reform of the military establishment was the specific measure that would curb the arrogance of the aumils; and in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.conclusion I pledged myself, if his Excellency would reject the advice of interested favourites, and be guided by the impartial and friendly counsel which your Lordship would convey to him through me, that the affairs of his government could be conducted with ease to himself, to the acquisition of a high reputation, and to the prosperity and happiness of his subjects.”

To a question in regard to the military reform, the Vizir replied, that, under his determination of resigning the government, all discussion of that subject was useless. In this opinion the resident acquiesced; and he deemed it, for the present, inexpedient to produce the Governor-General's letter of the 5th. With respect to the treasures and jewels left by the late Nawaub, he desired instruction; as from the expressions of the Vizir, and his character for avarice, he thought it was probably his intention to carry them along with him to the place of his retreat.22

The pleasure, which the resident expressed, at the prospect of the Nabob's abdication, was faint, compared with the eagerness of the Governor-General in grasping at the prey. “I am directed,” says the military secretary, under date of the 21st of the same month, “by the Right Honourable the Governor-General, to acknowledge the receipt of your letters of the 12th and 14th instant.

“His Lordship is preparing detailed instructions to you, for the regulation of your conduct under the delicate and important circumstances stated in those letters. In the mean time he has directed me to communicate to you his sentiments on such parts of your dispatch of the 12th instant, as appears to his Lordship to require immediate notice.
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“The proposition of the Vizir is pregnant withBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. such benefit, not only to the Company, but to the inhabitants of Oude, that his Lordship thinks it cannot be too much encouraged; and that there are no circumstances which shall be allowed to impede the accomplishment of the grand object which it leads to. This object his Lordship considers to be the acquisition by the Company of the exclusive authority, civil and military, over the dominions of Oude.

“His Lordship does not consider the formal abdication of the sovereignty by the Vizir to be necessary to this end. On the contrary, he apprehends, that step, by necessarily raising a question with regard to the succession, would involve us in some embarrassment. His Lordship is rather of opinion, therefore, that the mode of proceeding on the proposition of the Vizir, must be, by a secret treaty with his Excellency; which shall stipulate, on his part, that, from and after a period, to be appointed by this government, the complete authority, civil and military, of the dominions of Oude shall vest in, and be exercised by, and in the name of the Company.

“In this treaty his Lordship proposes, that the sons of the Vizir shall be no further mentioned than may be necessary for the purpose of securing to them a suitable provision.

“With respect to what you have stated, relative to the wealth of the state, if the arrangement in the contemplation of the Governor-General should be agreed to by the Vizir, his Lordship will feel but little difficulty in allowing his Excellency to appropriate it to his own use, stipulating only on behalf of the Company, that all arrears of subsidy, or of whatever description, due to the Company,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.shall be previously discharged in full by his Excellency.”23

In conformity with these ideas, the draught of a treaty was speedily prepared, and sent to the resident, accompanied by notes for a memorial explanatory of the grounds of the several articles. The ardour of the Governor-General embraced the object as accomplished, or sure of its accomplishment. In pursuance of orders, the Commander of the troops in Oude delivered in, what was entitled, a “Memoir of the precautionary movements, and distribution of the Company's troops, for the purpose of establishing the exclusive control and authority of the Company over the dominions of Oude.”24

In the transmission of intelligence, receipt of instructions, and other preparatives, time was spent till the 15th of December; on which day, the plan of the Governor-General, in relation to the measure of abdication, was communicated for the first time to the Vizir, in the matured form of the draught of a treaty. After remarking upon the calmness with which the Vizir perused the treaty, and his observations upon some inferior points, “His Excellency,” the resident says, “who had not thoroughly comprehended the extent of the first article, asked what meaning I annexed to it. Referring him to the article itself, I replied, that it vested the whole administration of the country in the hands of the English Company. He then asked, what portion of authority was to remain with his successor; to which I replied that the plan did not provide for a successor. His Excellency continued his inquiries, by asking, whether a family which had been established
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for a number of years, was to abandon the sovereigntyBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. of its hereditary dominions? I replied that your Lordship's justice and liberality had made an ample provision for the comfort and independence of that family; and briefly explained the consideration which had induced your Lordship to stipulate, that his Excellency should commit the sole and exclusive administration of Oude to the Company in perpetuity.” From this conversation, the resident adds, “I can hardly venture to draw any conclusion: And shall, therefore, only observe, that though his excellency is perfectly master of concealing his passions, yet, if he had entertained an immoveable repugnance to the basis of the treaty, he could scarcely have disguised it under smiles, and an unaltered countenance.”25

A paper drawn up at the request of the Vizir by the resident, and afterwards altered by the Vizir to a correspondence with his own feelings, was transmitted to the Governor-General, as the authentic enunciation of his design of abdication. In answer to this, a very long paper, dated, the 16th of December, was received from the Governor-General. The purpose of this document was to corroborate the ideas on which, in the mind of the Vizir, the plan of abdication was supposed to be founded; and to convince him of the impossibility of reconciling his design with the appointment of a successor, or any other scheme than that of transferring the undivided sovereignty of the country to the English.

On the 19th of December the resident again wrote: “After my departure from the Nawaub Vizir, on the 15th instant, his Excellency either really was, or pretended to be, so much affected by the conversation,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799.that he could not conceal the perturbation of his mind, which he betrayed, by forbidding the customary visits, and by refraining to transact any of the ordinary business. Although there is no reason to suspect that he has disclosed the cause of his uneasiness; yet this conduct so indiscreet, so unmanly, necessarily occasioned much talk and speculation amongst his own dependants, and the inhabitants of the city.

“His Excellency, on the 17th, informed me of his intention to breakfast with me on the following morning; but at ten o'clock sent a message, that having been in the sun, his eyes were so much affected by a disorder he is liable to, that he could not fulfil his engagement that day, but would call upon me this morning. He accordingly came, and when entered into a private apartment, opened the conversation by observing, that in the paper transmitted to your Lordship, he had adverted to certain circumstances and causes, under the existence of which he found it impossible to conduct the affairs of his government; and that he entertained the hope that your Lordship would have called upon him for an explanation of those circumstances and causes.

“His Excellency proceeded, that the proposition offered by your Lordship was so repugnant to his feelings; departed so widely, in a most essential point, from the principle on which he wished to relinquish the government; and would, were he to accept it, bring upon him such indelible disgrace and odium, that he could never voluntarily subscribe to it. The sovereignty, he added, of these dominions, had been in the family near an hundred years; and the transfer of it to the Company, under the stipulations proposed by your Lordship, would, in fact, be a sale of it for money and jewels; that every sentiment
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of respect for the name of his ancestors, andBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1799. every consideration for his posterity, combined to preclude him from assenting to so great a sacrifice, for the attainment of his personal ease and advantage. His Excellency concluded; that the power and strength of the Company placed every thing at your Lordship's disposal.

“Upon stating to his Excellency all the arguments suggested by your Lordship against the nomination of a successor, his Excellency replied; that under your Lordship's determination not to consent to that part of his proposition, he was ready to abandon his design of retirement, and to retain the charge of the government.”

If this resolution was adopted, the resident called to his recollection, the reform of his military establishment, the accomplishment of which would be immediately enforced. “I must here,” says the letter of the resident, “beg leave to call your Lordship's particular attention to his reply on this point; as tending to discover his real sentiments; and perhaps the true meaning of the words ‘certain causes,’ so repeatedly dwelt upon, and so industriously concealed. His excellency observed, that the reform of his military establishment upon the principles proposed by your Lordship, would annihilate his authority in his own dominions.”26

Intelligence of these declarations on the part of the Vizir appears to have disappointed and provoked the Governor-General in no ordinary degree. On the 27th of December the Secretary writes; “My dear Scott, I am directed by Lord Mornington to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 19th instant to his Lordship's address. His Lordship is extremely
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.disgusted at the duplicity and insincerity which mark the conduct of the Nabob Vizir on the present occasion; and cannot but strongly suspect, that his Excellency's principal, if not sole, view in the late transaction, has been to ward off the reform of his military establishment, until the advanced period of the season should render it impracticable, at least during the present year.”27 And in the letter of the Governor-General to the home authorities, dated the 25th of January, 1800, he says, “I am concerned to inform your honourable Committee that I have every reason to believe, that the proposition of the Nabob Vizir to abdicate the sovereignty of his dominions (a copy of which was transmitted with my separate letter of the 28th of November) was illusory from the commencement, and designed to defeat, by artificial delays, the proposed reform of his Excellency's military establishments.”28

The truth is, that the vivacity of the Governor-General in the pursuit of his object was far too great. Had the sincerity of the Vizir been ever so indisputable, it was one thing to abdicate in favour of his son; a very different thing to abdicate in favour of the East India Company; and from a proposition to this effect, presented nakedly and impetuously, as that was of the Governor-General, it ought to have been expected that he would revolt. At the same time, it might have been regarded as probable, that if the externals of royalty were left to his son, he would be induced to dispense with the substantials. The Governor-General should have gone to Lucknow himself, when the imposing presence of his authority would have forcibly wrought upon a mind so timid, and accustomed to shrink before superior power, as
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that of the Vizir. The Governor-General, too, hadBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800. so lately recognized the policy of setting up the shadow of a sovereign,29 that the eagerness is the more remarkable, with which in this case he strove to escape from it. When the substance had been held for a time, it would have been easy to deal with the shadow, as experience might direct.

Disappointed in his eager expectation, and piqued at the idea of having been duped, the Governor-General resolved to proceed in his plan for the military reform without a moment's delay. The reason for hurry was the greater, because the season approached, when additional inconvenience would attend the movement of the troops. “The resident,” says the Governor-General himself, in another letter to the home authorities,30 “was directed immediately, either from himself, or in concert with the commanding officer at Cawnpore, as the nature of the case might appear to him to require, to direct the several corps to move to such points of his Excellency's dominions, as might appear most adviseable; giving due notice to his Excellency of the entrance of the augmentation of the troops into his territories, and calling upon his Excellency to adopt the requisite measures for the regular payment of the additional force.”

On the 4th of January, 1800, “I informed,” says the resident, “his Excellency, that the first division of the troops, intended by your Lordship to augment the force in Oude, as stated in the paper which I had presented to him, was now in a situation immediately to enter his Excellency's dominions; and that I was anxious to advise with him on their destination. He entreated that no steps might be taken for their actual march into his dominions, until I had seen and reflected
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.upon the sentiments which he was then employed in committing to paper, and upon some propositions he had to offer. I assured him it was totally impossible to delay the march of the troops; but that, as it would require a day or two to arrange a place for their distribution, if his Excellency would, in that space, come forward, in an unreserved manner, with any specific propositions, I should be enabled to judge what weight to allow them, and how far they would authorize me to suspend the progress of the corps. His Excellency having observed that his assent had not yet been given to the augmentation of the troops, I explained to him the principle on which your Lordship's determination was founded. To which he replied, that, if the measure was to be carried into execution, whether with or without his approbation, there was no occasion for consulting him.” To this last observation the resident found it not convenient to make any answer, and immediately diverted the discourse to another point of the subject.31

On the 15th of January, the Nabob communicated to the resident a paper, in which he thus addressed him: “You, Sir, well know, that the proposed plan never, in any measure, met with my approbation or acceptance; and that, in the whole course of my correspondence with the Governor-General, on this subject, not one of my letters contains my acquiescence to the said plan.”

He says again, “It may fairly be concluded from Lord Mornington's letters, that arrangements for the additional troops were not to take effect, until funds should be provided for their support, by the dismission of my battalions. Nothing having as yet been agreed upon, respecting the disbanding of the latter, and the
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additional Company's troops being on their march,BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800. whence are the funds to be derived for their payment? Their sudden approach too, leaves no time to form arrangements for them.”

“Notwithstanding,” says he, “I am well assured that, in consequence of the measure, thousands of people will be deprived of their subsistence; and that, by the disbanding of my troops, serious commotions and alarms will take place in the capital (for which reason I give previous warning of its mischievous effects), yet, dreading his Lordship's displeasure, and with the sole view of pleasing him, I am compelled to grant my assent to the introduction of the plan.”

He then proceeds to enumerate certain things, which he still desired, as conditions under which the measure, if unavoidable, might take its effect. The first was, that the augmentation of the troops should not be carried beyond the extent of his means. Another was, that the additional force should be kept in one body, and permanently stationed in one place, which would render it more efficient against Zemaun Shah, and other enemies, defence against whom was its only pretext. A further condition was, that the English commander should not interfere with the collection of the revenue. After several other propositions of minor importance, he said, “From the kindness of the Sircar of the Company I am led to expect, that, having, in the present instance, in order to avoid the Governor-General's displeasure, given my consent to the introduction, as far as possible, of the plan, I shall not in future be troubled with fresh propositions.”32

On the 18th, a paper or memorial, the draught of which had been communicated to the resident on the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.11th, was dispatched by the Vizir to the Governor-General. He began by adverting to the length of time his ancestors had enjoyed the unlimited sovereignty of these provinces. He described the dangers which had threatened the government of his brother, as well from foreign foes, as the disaffection of his troops. “Notwithstanding,” said he, “these circumstances, it never once entered the imagination of the British rulers to introduce such innovations, and carry into effect such arrangements, as those now suggested by your Lordship.” He then described how completely he was the creature and dependant of the Company, and said, “it was in all ages and countries the practice of powerful and liberal sovereigns to spare neither expense nor trouble in assisting those whom they have once taken under their protection. Should the Company,” said he, “no longer putting confidence in the sincerity of my friendship, deprive me of the direction of my own army, and spread their troops over my dominions, my authority in these provinces would be annihilated; nor would my orders be attended to on any occasion, whether trifling or momentous. Making myself, however, sure,” he adds, “that it never can have been your Lordship's intention, or conformable to your wish, to distrust, degrade me, or lesson my authority in these dominions, I shall without ceremony disclose to your Lordship my unfeigned sentiments and wishes.” And he then proceeds to remonstrate against the measure by a train of reasoning, not unskilfully conceived. “By a reference,” said he, “to the second article of the treaty, it will be evident to your Lordship, that on my accession to the musnud, the force designed for the defence of these dominions was increased beyond what it had been in any former period; whilst on my part I agreed to defray the expense of the
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said augmentation. But in no part of the said articleBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800. is it written or hinted, that, after the lapse of a certain number of years, a further permanent augmentation should take place. And to deviate in any degree from the said treaty appears to be unnecessary.—From an inspection of the 7th article, we learn, that, after the conclusion of the treaty in question, no further augmentation is to be made, excepting in cases of necessity; and that the increase is to be proportioned to the emergency, and endure but as long as the necessity exists. An augmentation of the troops, without existing necessity, and making me answerable for the expense attending the increase, is inconsistent with treaty; and seems inexpedient.—Towards the latter end of the 17th article, it is stipulated, ‘that all transactions between the two states shall be carried on with the greatest cordiality and harmony, and that the Nawaub shall possess full authority over his household affairs, hereditary dominions, his troops, and his subjects.’ Should the management of the army be taken from under my direction, I ask where is my authority over my household affairs, hereditary dominions, over my troops, and over my subjects?—From the above considerations, and from the magnanimity of the Sircar of the English Company, I am induced to expect from your Lordship's kindness, that, putting the fullest trust and confidence in my friendship and attachment on every occasion, you will, in conformity to the treaty, leave me in possession of the full authority over my dominions, army, and subjects.—The fame of the Company will, by these means, be diffused over the face of the earth; and, my reputation increasing, I shall continue to offer up prayers for the prosperity of the Company.”33
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.This remonstrance, which it was impossible to answer, the Governor-General found, in the forms of ceremony, a pretext for treating as an insult; and for not answering it. The following communication, signed by the secretary, was forwarded by express to the resident. “Your letter of the 18th instant, with its several enclosures, has been received by the Right Honourable the Governor-General.—His Lordship, not thinking proper to receive, in its present form, the written communication made to you by the Nabob Vizir on the 11th instant, as an answer to his Lordship's letter of the 5th November last to his Excellency—directs, that you lose no time in returning the original of that communication to his Excellency, accompanying the delivery of it with the following observations, in the name of the Governor-General:—The mode adopted in the present instance by his Excellency of replying to a public letter from the Governor-General, attested by his Lordship's seal and signature, and written on a subject of the most momentary concern to the mutual interests of the Company and of his Excellency, besides indicating a levity totally unsuitable to the occasion, is highly deficient in the respect due from his Excellency to the first British authority in India:—His Lordship, therefore, declines making any remarks on the paper which you have transmitted, and desires that the Nabob Vizir may be called on to reply to his Lordship's letter of the 5th November, in the manner prescribed no less by reason than by established usage: if, in formally answering his Lordship's letter, his Excellency should think proper to impeach the honour and justice of the British government, in similar terms to those employed in the paper delivered to you on the 11th instant, the Governor-General will then consider, how such unfounded calumnies, and gross misrepresentations,
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both of facts and arguments, deserve to beBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800. noticed.” This was language to a legitimate hereditary sovereign. The course of procedure is worthy of notice. A party to a treaty fulfils all its conditions with a punctuality, which, in his place, was altogether unexampled: A gross infringement of that treaty or at least what appears to him a gross infringement, is about to be committed on the other side: He points out clearly, but in the most humble language savouring of abjectness, much more than disrespect, the inconsistency which appears to him to exist between the treaty and the conduct: This is represented by the other party as an impeachment of their honour and justice; and if no guilt existed before to form a ground for punishing the party who declines compliance with their will, a guilt is now contracted which hardly any punishment can expiate. This, it is evident, is a course, by which no infringement of a treaty can ever be destitute of a justification. If the party injured submits without a word; his consent is alleged. If he complains; he is treated as impeaching the honour and justice of his superior; a crime of so prodigious a magnitude, as to set the superior above all obligation to such a worthless connexion.

But this is not the whole of the message which the resident was commanded to deliver, in the name of the Governor-General, to the Vizir: “The Governor-General further directs, that you peremptorily insist on the Nabob Vizir furnishing a detailed answer to the paper transmitted by his Lordship on the 16th December last, for his Excellency's information and consideration; and that such answer be duly attested by his Excellency's signature, in the same manner as his Lordship's paper was formally attested by the signature of his Lordship: his Excellency's early
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.compliance with this demand is equally due to the dignity of this government, and to the candour of its proceedings; in consequence of his Excellency's own spontaneous proposal to abdicate the sovereignty of his dominions; if his Lordship's manner of receiving and answering that extraordinary proposition of the Vizir appears in any degree objectionable to his Excellency, it behoves his Excellency clearly to state his objections, in the most formal and authentic mode; otherwise the Governor-General must, and will conclude, that his Excellency's original proposition was purposely illusory; and it will become his Lordship's duty to treat it accordingly, as an unworthy attempt to deceive the British government:—In all the transactions of his Lordship's government, since his arrival in India, he has pursued a plain and direct course; and he is determined to adhere to the same invariable system of just and honourable policy, nor will he be diverted from the system, by any machination of artifice, duplicity, or treachery, which may be opposed to him: he has already found the advantage of this course in frustrating the projects of the enemies of Great Britain in India; and he is satisfied that it will prove equally efficacious in confirming the faith of his allies.” The earnestness with which the Governor-General desired that this message should be delivered with unimpaired vigour to the Nawaub, is visible in the immediately succeeding paragraph of the same letter: “A copy of the foregoing observations, in Persian, attested by the signature of the Governor-General himself, will be forwarded to you by the Persian translator: and his Lordship directs that you communicate the same to the Nabob Vizir, either in case you should have any reason to suppose that his Excellency is likely to entertain the smallest doubt of your being, not only authorized, but commanded
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by his Lordship, to convey to his ExcellencyBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800. the message contained in the preceding paragraphs, as nearly as possible in the terms in which they are expressed; or in the event of your thinking that the document, attested by his Lordship's signature, will be more impressive than the verbal mode of communication.”34

On the 20th and 28th of January, the resident complained to the Governor-General, that the Vizir, instead of giving his cordial assistance, in carrying into execution the measure of annihilating his army, was rather placing impediments in the way; by insisting that the English additional force should not be dispersed in small bodies over the country; by withholding the statement which had been required of the amount and distribution of his own battalions; and by delaying to issue the perwannahs, necessary to ensure provisions to the additional troops. With regard to the last article, the resident, however, issued his own orders; and such was the state of the government, that they were punctually obeyed.35

The resident deferred the message to the Vizir, till the Persian translation arrived. “Having received,” says he, “on the 28th, in the evening, the translation in Persian of your Lordship's message to the Nawaub Vizir, I waited upon his Excellency on the 29th, in the afternoon, and, in obedience to your Lordship's commands, returned to him, in the most formal manner, the original draught of his proposed letter to your Lordship, accompanied with the paper of observations. His Excellency discovered considerable agitation in the perusal of the paper; and he expressed very poignant regret, at having unintentionally, as he affirmed, drawn upon himself such
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1800.solemn animadversions from your Lordship.—It would, his Excellency observed, be the extreme of ingratitude and folly, wantonly to provoke the displeasure of that power, on which alone he relied, for the preservation of his honour, and the support of his authority. He attempted to apologize for the paper, by saying, that he meant it merely as a representation of arguments which might be produced, and not as a formal declaration of his own sentiments, and on that account had adopted the mode which your Lordship had viewed in so exceptionable a light.—In respect to the neglect in replying to the paper which had been submitted by your Lordship for his information and consideration, his Excellency assured me, that it arose from his inability to pursue, and reply, in detail, to the extensive train of reasoning which your Lordship had employed; and that he hoped your Lordship would have received the verbal communication, made through me, of the impossibility of his acceding to your Lordship's recommendation, as a full, and respectful answer.—His Excellency asked, for what purpose, or to what avail, could the attempt be, to deceive your Lordship by illusory propositions?”36

The intelligence from the resident, that opposition rather than assistance was given by the Vizir to the execution of a measure of which he so highly disapproved, produced a long letter of violent animadversions from the Governor-General, in which he told the harassed and trembling Vizir, “the means which your Excellency has employed to delay, and ultimately to frustrate, the execution of the above-mentioned plan, are calculated to degrade your character, to destroy all confidence between your Excellency and the British government, to produce confusion and
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disorder in your dominions, and to injure the mostBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. important interests of the Company, to such a degree, as may be deemed nearly equivalent to positive hostility on your part.”;—“The conduct of your Excellency, in this instance,” he afterwards adds, “is of a nature so unequivocally hostile, and may prove so injurious to every interest, both of your Excellency and of the Company, that your perseverance in so dangerous a course will leave me no other alternative, than that of considering all amicable engagements between the Company and your Excellency to be dissolved.”—This was most distinctly to declare, that if he did not immediately comply, the Governor-General would make war upon him. And since this was the motive depended upon, in truth, from the beginning, would not the direct and manly course have answered the main purpose equally well, and all other purposes a great deal better? We are the masters: such is our will: nothing short of strict and prompt obedience will be endured.

So ardent were the desires of the Governor-General, and so much was he accustomed to assume every thing on which his conclusions depended, that he maintained, in this letter, to the face of the Vizir, that of the plan for annihilating his army, the Vizir had, “after full deliberation, expressed his entire approbation.”37

Before the end of February, the Vizir felt convinced, that compliance could not be evaded. The money demanded on account of the additional forces was paid; and orders were issued for commencing the discharge of his own battalions. The business of dismissing the troops occupied a considerable time; and was retarded by the necessity of employing a
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.portion of them in collecting the taxes which then were due. It was a matter of considerable delicacy, to avoid commotion, and the demand for bloodshed, where so many armed men were about to be deprived of their accustomed means of subsistence. The business was conducted in a manner highly creditable to the ability as well as the feelings of the gentlemen upon whom it devolved. It was the disposition, and the principle of the Governor-General, to treat with generosity the individuals upon whom the measures of his government might heavily press. As considerable arrears were always due to native troops, and seldom fully paid, the complete discharge of arrears, on which the English government insisted, was a powerful instrument of conciliation. When dissatisfaction any where appeared, every effort was employed to correct misapprehension; patience was exercised; the means of coercion were rather exhibited, than used; pardon was liberally extended, even where resistance had been overcome; and before the end of the year, the measure was in great part carried into effect without bloodshed or commotion.38

In the month of November, 1800, when demand for a second body of new troops was presented to the Vizir, he complained, by letter, to the resident, in the following terms: “The state of the collections of the country is not unknown to you: You know with what difficulties and exertions they are realized, and hence I feel a great degree of solicitude and apprehension, lest, if I should fail at a season of exigency, my responsibility should be impeached: I therefore wrote to you, that, until I was secure of resources to answer the demands, I could not become responsible: Accordingly, Jye Sookh Roy has been directed to
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prepare a statement of the condition of the country,BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. with respect to its resources: You shall be informed when it is ready; and you can then come and inspect it; and, in concert, devise resources for the additional demands, according to the assets; and I will act accordingly.” In another part of the same letter, he said, “Formerly, in the plan proposed for the reform of the military, it was written, ‘That the resources for the expense of the new troops would be found in the reduction of those of his Excellency:’ Although the resources for the payment of the new British troops were not found in the reduction of those of the Sircar; now that you write, to have the charges of other new troops added to the debit of the state, when the reduction of the military has not yet supplied resources for the payment of the charges of the former new troops, how can I take upon myself to defray the charges of these new troops, without subjecting the Sircar to the imputation of a breach of faith.”39

Of these complaints the Governor-General rapidly availed himself to found on them pretensions of a new description. “If,” said he, in a letter to the resident, dated 22d of January, 1801, “the alarming crisis be now approaching, in which his Excellency can no longer fulfil his public engagements to the Company, this calamity must be imputed principally to his neglect of my repeated advice and earnest representations. The augmented charges might have been amply provided for, if his Excellency had vigorously and cordially co-operated with me, in the salutary and economical measure of disbanding his own undisciplined troops. It is now become the duty of the British government, to interpose effectually, for the protection of his interests, as
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.well as those of the Company, which are menaced with common and speedy destruction, by the rapid decline of the general resources of his Excellency's dominions.” It may be observed, as we go on, that if the prompt disbanding of the forces of the Vizir would disengage a revenue perfectly equal, and more than equal, as had all along been confidently affirmed, to the charge created by the additional force, the delay which the reluctance of the Vizir occasioned, and which was now overcome, could only occasion a temporary embarrassment; and that menace of common and speedy destruction, of which the Governor-General so tragically spoke, had no existence: Or, that, on the other hand, if the menace of destruction were real, the pretence of finding, in the discharge of the Vizir's battalions, an ample resource for the new impositions, was void of foundation. The letter goes on, “The Vizir is already apprized, that I have long lamented the various defects of the system by which the affairs of his Excellency's government are administered. Conscious of the same defects, his Excellency has repeatedly expressed a wish to correct them by the assistance of the British government. The continuance of the present system will exhaust the country to such a degree, as to preclude the possibility of realizing the subsidy. In place of inveterate and growing abuses must be substituted a wise and benevolent plan of government, calculated to inspire the people with confidence in the security of property and of life; to encourage industry; and establish order and submission to the just authority of the state, on the solid foundations of gratitude for benefits received, and expectation of continued security.” The Governor-General here establishes the goodness of government, “as the solid foundation of submission to its authority.” He would not add,
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what was equally true, that there ought to be noBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. submission without it.

The following passage of the letter deserves profound regard. “Having,” continues the Governor-General, “maturely considered these circumstances, with the attention and deliberation which the importance of the subject requires, I am satisfied that no effectual security can be provided, against the ruin of the province of Oude, until the exclusive management of the civil and military government of that Country shall be transferred to the Company, under suitable provisions for the maintenance of his Excellency and of his family. No other remedy can effect any considerable improvement in the resources of the state, or can ultimately secure its external safety, and internal peace.”

If this was the only plan which could avert from the state every species of calamity; absolute master, as he was, of the fate of the country, why did the Governor-General hesitate a moment to carry it into execution?

He resolved to offer this proposition to the Vizir in the form of a treaty: but added, “Should his Excellency unfortunately be persuaded, by the interested counsel of evil advisers, absolutely to reject the proposed treaty, you will then proceed to inform his Excellency, in firm, but respectful language, that the funds for the regular payment of the subsidy, to the full extent of the augmented force, must be placed, without a moment of delay, beyond the hazard of failure.—For this purpose, you will require his Excellency to make a cession to the Company, in perpetual sovereignty, of such a portion of his territories, as shall be fully adequate, in their present impoverished condition, to defray those indispensable charges.” In selecting the portions to be demanded, the object was,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.to insulate the Vizir, as well for the purpose of precluding him from foreign connexions, as of defending him from foreign dangers. To this end choice was made of the Doab, and Rohilcund, in the first instance, with the addition of Azim Ghur, and even Gurrukpoor, if the revenue of the former country should prove inadequate.40 A letter to the same purport, and nearly in the same words, was, at the same time, written by the Governor-General to the Vizir.41 It closes with the following terms: “I request your Excellency to be satisfied, that the whole course of events in Oude, since your accession, has rendered it my indispensable duty to adhere with firmness to the tenor of this letter, as containing principles from which the British government never can depart; nor can your Excellency receive with surprise, or concern, a resolution naturally resulting from your own reiterated representations of the confusion of your affairs, and of your inability either to reduce them to order, or to conciliate the alienated affections of your discontented people.” The corollary from these deductions most necessarily, and most obviously is, that any sovereign, who governs ill, and loses the affections of his people, ought to abdicate, or to be compelled to abdicate, the sovereignty of his dominions. We shall see how energetic and persevering an apostle of this doctrine the Governor-General became.

The subsidy which, according to the treaty of Lord Teignmouth, was already paid by the Vizir, amounted to 76,00,000: the annual expense of the additional force with which he was to be loaded, was 54,12,929: the whole would amount to 1,30,12,929 rupees. The Nawaub was required to make a cession of territory, in perpetual sovereignty to the English, the revenue
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of which, even in its present unproductive state, andBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. without any regard to the improvements of which it might be susceptible, should amount to such a sum, over and above the whole expense of collection. The revenue remaining to the Vizir after such a deduction would have been 1,00,00,000.42 The territory, then, of which he was to be deprived, amounted to more than one half, to not much less than two thirds, of his whole dominions.

The address of the Governor-General to the Vizir was presented to that prince on the 16th of February, and the first conversation on the subject between him and the resident was on the 26th. “His Excellency's conversation, on that day,” says the resident, “though it did not amount to a positive rejection of the first proposition, discovered an unreserved repugnance to the acceptance of it.” Before this letter, however, dated on the 6th of March, was closed, a letter addressed to the Governor-General was received from the Vizir. His complaints respecting the want of funds for payment of the enlarged subsidy, he explained as far from amounting to the alarming proposition into which they were framed by the Governor-General; but, as the fund which had been pointed to by the Governor-General as adequate, had not proved adequate; and as he had been repeatedly commanded by the Governor-General to make known to the resident his difficulties, and to make use of his advice, he had, for that reason, explained to him, and had done no more, the perplexities which weighed upon his mind. “In the course, however, of these conferences and communications, no impediment of affairs,” says he, “ever occurred; and no failure or deficiency whatever was experienced in the discharge of the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.expenses of the new troops, and in the payment of the kists of the fixed subsidy. On the contrary, those expenses and kists were punctually paid; accordingly the kist of the fixed subsidy, and the charges of the additional troops, have been completely paid to the end of January, 1801, and Colonel Scott has expressed his acknowledgements on the occasion.—It is equally a subject of astonishment and concern to me, that whereas, under the former government, the payment of the kists, though so much smaller in amount than the present, was constantly kept in arrear during three or four months, the jumma of the country was diminishing yearly, and yet no such propositions were brought forward,—they should be agitated under the government of a friend, who hopes for every thing from your Lordship's kindness; who is anxious to obey you, and to manifest the steadiness of his attachment; who punctually pays the full amount of his kists, notwithstanding their increased amount; and who has conformed to your Lordship.

“As my consent,” says he, to the first proposition is altogether impracticable, (accordingly I have already written an ample reply to that proposition); and, as it is impossible for me, with my own hands, to exclude myself from my patrimonial dominion (for what advantage should I derive from so doing?)—this, therefore, is a measure, which I will never adopt.

“With respect to what your Lordship writes, about providing a territorial resource for the payment of the British troops; since I have not, in any way, delayed or neglected to discharge the kists for the expenses of the troops, but have paid them with punctuality, where is the occasion for requiring any territorial resource?—I expect to derive the most substantial profits from bringing into a flourishing condition this country, which has so long been in a state of waste
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and ruin. By a separation of territory, my hopesBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. of these substantial profits would be entirely cut off, and a great loss would accrue. How then can I consent to any territorial cession?”43

This letter brought an answer of immense length from the Governor-General, under date the 5th of April. Having lamented the refusal which had been given to both his propositions, and given a description of the progressive decline of the country, from the mis-government of the Vizir, the Governor-General says, “I now declare to your Excellency, in the most explicit terms, that I consider it to be my positive duty, to resort to any extremity, rather than to suffer the further progress of that ruin, to which the interests of your Excellency and the honourable Company are exposed, by the continued operation of the evils and abuses, actually existing, in the civil and military administration of the province of Oude.” After noticing the source of embarrassment still existing in the portion of his troops the dismission of which the Vizir had till now contrived to evade, the Governor-General subjoined, “But I must recall to your Excellency's recollection the fact, which you have so emphatically acknowledged on former occasions, that the principal source of all your difficulties is to be found in the state of the country. I have repeatedly represented to your Excellency the effects of the ruinous expedient of anticipating the collections; the destructive practice of realizing them by force of arms; the annual diminution of the jumma of the country; the precarious tenure by which the aumils and farmers hold their possessions; the misery of the lower classes of the people, absolutely excluded from the protection of the government; and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.the utter insecurity of life and property, throughout the province of Oude. An immediate alteration in the system of management affords the only hope of providing either for the security of the Company's military funds, or for any other interest involved in the fate of Oude.—It would be vain and fruitless to attempt this arduous task, by partial interference, or by imperfect modifications of a system, of which every principle is founded in error and impolicy, and every instrument tainted with injustice and corruption.”—What is here remarkable is, the Governor-General's declared principle of reform; That, of a system of government, radically corrupt, extirpation is the only cure.

He proceeds to infer, that as the Vizir professed himself inadequate to the task of reform; and the undiminished prevalence of evil, since the commencement of his reign, proved the truth of his declaration; he ought to renounce the government, and give admission to others, by whom the great reform could be effectually performed.

He added, “But whatever may be your Excellency's sentiments with respect to this the first proposition; the right of the Company to demand a cession of territory, adequate to the security of the funds necessary for defraying the expense of our defensive engagements with your excellency is indisputable.” This right he proceeded to found on his fears with regard to the future; lest the progressive decline of the country, the fruit of mismanagement, should quickly render its revenue unequal to the payments required.44

On the 28th of April a letter to the same purport, nearly in the same words, under signature of the
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Governor-General, was sent to the resident. The determinationBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. was now adopted to seize the territory, if the consent of its reluctant sovereign was any longer withheld. “Any further reference to me from Oude is,” said his Lordship, “unnecessary. I, therefore, empower you to act under the instructions contained in this letter without waiting for additional orders.—If, therefore, his Excellency should persist in rejecting both propositions, you will inform him, that any further remonstrance to me upon this subject will be unavailing; that you are directed to insist upon the immediate cession of the territory proposed to be transferred to the Company; and that in the event of his Excellency's refusal to issue the necessary orders for that purpose, you are authorized to direct the British troops to march for the purpose of establishing the authority of the British government within those districts.”45

The Vizir having stipulated for certain conditions, of which one was, that he should be guaranteed, by a formal obligation, in the future independent exercise of an exclusive authority in the remaining parts of his dominions;” it is declared, in the instructions to the resident, under date the 27th of May; “His Lordship cannot permit the Vizir to maintain an independent power, with a considerable military force, within the territories remaining in his Excellency's possession.—It must never be forgotten that the Governor's original object was not merely to secure the subsidiary funds, but to extinguish the Vizier's military power.”46 This is a part of the design, not only not disclosed by the language held to the Vizir, but hardly consistent with it. In that, he was told, that the vices of his troops were the cause on account of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.which the English wished them destroyed. According to this new declaration, if the troops had been better, that is more formidable, the English would have liked them only so much the worse.47

In a letter of the 8th of June, the resident gives an account of a conversation the day before between him and the Vizir. “I stated to his Excellency that the general tenor and spirit of his articles of stipulations had excited the greatest concern and surprise in your Lordship's breast, and that I was commanded by your Lordship to communicate to his Excellency your Lordship's absolute rejection of the whole of them. His Excellency replied, that as his paper contained conditions, on which alone his consent to the territorial cession could be granted, your Lordship's rejection of them allowed him no other alternative, than that of passive obedience to whatever measures your Lordship might resolve on.”

“I next proceeded to state to his Excellency the terms upon which your Lordship is disposed to guarantee to his Excellency and to his posterity the dominion of his Excellency's remaining territory. They were enumerated in the following order and manner: 1st, The continuance of the Company's right to station the British troops in any part of his Excellency's dominions: 2dly, the restriction of his own military establishment to an extent absolutely necessary
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for the collection of the revenues, and forBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. the purposes of state: and thirdly, the introduction of such regulations of police, as should be calculated to secure the internal quiet of his Excellency's country, and the orderly and peaceful behaviour of his subjects of every description.

“His Excellency's reply to this,” says the resident, “was striking: That the power of stationing the Company's troops in any part of his dominions, together with the other conditions, formed a combination of circumstances, the objects of which would be open to the comprehension of a child; and that it was impossible for him to agree to a territorial cession on such terms.

“I entreated his Excellency to reject from his mind such unjustifiable suspicions, and to summon all the good sense which he possesses, and to reflect on the consequences of a refusal of the propositions which your Lordship had prepared with so much thought and deliberation. He said he by no means meant to impute precipitancy to your Lordship's resolution. But if your Lordship's reflection suggested measures to which he could not accede; the utmost which could be suspected from him was passive submission to those measures. And he added, that if your Lordship would give him his dismission, and allow him to go on a pilgrimage; or whether that was permitted or not, the whole of his territorial possessions, and of his treasures, were at the disposal of your Lordship's power: he neither had the inclination nor the strength to resist it; but he could not yield a voluntary consent to propositions so injurious to his reputation.”48

The Governor-General wished to avoid the appearance of force in seizing the greater part of the Vizir's dominions; and was exceedingly anxious to
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.extort by importunity some appearance of consent. Not only was the resident urged to use incessant endeavours for this purpose, but on the 30th of June, notice was sent of the resolution to which the Governor-General had proceeded, of sending his brother Henry Wellesley on a mission to the Vizir, in hopes that his near relation to the head of the government would strike with awe the mind of that Prince, and convince him more fully of the impossibility of eluding its declared determination.

Every mode of importunity was tried and exhausted. The scheme of abdication was, with every art of persuasion, and some even of compulsion (if severity in urging pecuniary demands which would have otherwise been relaxed are truly entitled to that designation) urged upon the Vizir, as the measure which, above all, would yield the greatest portion of advantage, with regard, in the first place, to his own tranquillity and happiness; in the second place, to the people of Oude; and in the third, to the British government. If, on the other hand, this measure should unfortunately not obtain his consent, he was desired to consider the territorial cession as a measure which force, if necessary, would be employed to accomplish; and the resident did, in the month of July, proceed so far as to give notice to some of the aumils, or great revenue managers of the territories intended to be seized, to hold themselves in readiness for transferring their payments and allegiance to the British government; a proceeding which the Vizir represented as giving him exquisite pain, and overwhelming him with disgrace.

To all the pressing remonstrances with which he was plied, he opposed only professions of passive, helpless, and reluctant obedience. He also pressed and endeavoured to stipulate for leave to retire, in
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performance of a pilgrimage: that his eyes might notBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. behold the performance of acts, which he could not contemplate without affliction; though he desired to retain the power of resuming the government of all that remained of his dominions, when his scheme of pilgrimage should be at an end.

On the 3d of September, Mr. Wellesley arrived at Lucknow; on the 5th presented to the Vizir a memorial explanatory of the principal objects of his mission, and had with him his first conversation on the 6th. The two propositions were again tendered; and, with every expression of submissiveness, the Vizir undertook to give them a renewed consideration. His answer was delayed till the 15th; when his consent to the first proposition, as what would bring “an everlasting stigma on his name by depriving a whole family of such a kingdom,” was again peremptorily refused. The answer which was made by the two negotiators, the resident and Mr. Wellesley in conjunction, is perhaps the most remarkable which occurs in the annals of diplomacy; “That his Excellency reasoned upon the first proposition as if the execution of it deprived him of the possession of the musnud; whereas the true extent and meaning of it, and indeed the primary object, was to establish himself and posterity more firmly and securely on the musnud, with all the state, dignity, and affluence, appertaining to his exalted situation.” A man may be so placed with regard to another, that it is not prudent for him to dispute the truth of what that other advances, should he even assert that black and white are the same colour. It was necessary to be in such a situation, before a proposition like this could be tendered to a man with any hope of escaping exposure. The Vizir was called upon to consign for ever the sovereignty of all his dominions to the Company, and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.to bind himself never to reside within them, yet this was not to deprive him of his throne! it was more firmly to establish him on it!49

On the subject of the territorial cession, the Nawab still deferred an explicit answer.1

On the 19th of September, instructions were written to the two negotiators, in which they were informed of the determination of the Governor-General, in case of the continued refusal on the part of the Vizir, to give his consent to one of the two propositions, to take from him not a part only, but the whole of his dominions. His Lordship, as usual, supports this resolution with a train of reasoning. The British interests were not secure, unless there was a good government in Oude: Unless the Nawaub Vizir gave his consent to one of the two propositions, a good government could not be established in Oude: Therefore, it would be not only proper, but an imperative duty, to strip that sovereign of all his dominions. “His Lordship has therefore no hesitation,” says the document, “in authorising you, in the event above stated, to declare to his Excellency, in explicit terms, the resolution of the British government to assume the entire civil and military administration in the province of Oude. Should the communication of the intended declaration fail to produce any change in his Excellency's disposition, his Lordship directs that you will immediately proceed to make the necessary disposition of the army, and every other arrangement for carrying that resolution into immediate and complete effect.”50

On the same day, however, on which these instructions were written, the Vizir communicated to the two negotiations a paper, in which he gave his
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consent to the second proposition, provided he wasBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. allowed to depart on his pilgrimages, and his son, as his representative, was, during his absence, placed on the throne. The reason assigned was in these words; “for I should consider it a disgrace, and it would be highly unpleasant to me, to show my face to my people here.” The negotiators felt embarrassment; resented the imputations which the condition and the manner of it cast upon the British government; but were unwilling, for considerations of slight importance, to lose the advantage of the Vizir's consent, even to the lowest of the two propositions, since they now despaired of it to the first. “Having,” say they, “deliberately reflected on every circumstance immediately connected with the negotiation, or which might eventually influence the result of it, we decidedly and unitedly agreed in the opinion, that the important objects of it could not be accomplished in a more preferable manner than by closing with his Excellency's proposition.” A paper, accordingly, declaring their acceptance of the proposition, and attested by their joint signatures and seals, was delivered to the Vizir on the 24th.51

On the 27th, his Excellency communicated a proposition, of which the purport was, to secure to him the exclusive administration of the reserved territory. On this topic he was informed that enough had already been said: that the right of the British government, in regard to Oude, extended, not only to the alienation of as much of the territory as it chose to say was necessary to defray the cost of defence; but, even with regard to the remainder, to the placing of it in the military possession of the British troops, and the maintaining of a good government
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.within it. What was this, but to declare, that of this part too, the government, civil and military, must rest in the English, the Vizir possessing the name, but none of the powers of a king? “It is evident,” said the Vizir, in a letter on the 29th, “that I can derive no advantage from alienating part of my country, whilst I shall not remain master of the remainder.”52 On this proposition, however, important as he deemed it, he from that time forbore to insist.

The negotiators complained of endeavours to protract the conclusion of the treaty; first, by demanding unnecessary explanations, though they related to matters of great importance, expressed in the treaty in terms excessively vague; and secondly, by delays in the delivery of the accounts, though exceedingly voluminous, and somewhat confused. Several discussions took place on the revenues of some of the districts: but on the 10th of November the treaty was mutually exchanged, and, on the 14th, was ratified by the Governor-General at Benares. By this treaty the Nawaub ceded a country, producing 1,35,23,474 rupees of revenue, including expense of collection; and the authority of the British government over the remainder was provided for by the following words; “And the Honourable the East India Company hereby guarantee to his Excellency the Vizir, and to his heirs and successors, the possession of the territories which will remain to his Excellency after the territorial cession, together with the exercise of his and their authority within the said dominions. His Excellency engages that he will establish in his reserved dominions such a system of administration (to be carried into effect by his own
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officers) as shall be conducive to the prosperity of hisBOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801. subjects, and be calculated to secure the lives and property of the inhabitants; and his Excellency will always advise with, and act in conformity to the counsel, of the officers of the said Honourable Company.”53 No dominion can be more complete, than that which provides for a perpetual conformity to one's counsel, that is, one's will.

On the same day on which the Governor-General ratified the treaty, he created a grand commission for the provisional administration and settlement of the ceded districts. Three of the civil servants of the Company were appointed a Board of Commissioners; and his brother Henry Wellesley was nominated to be Lieutenant-Governor of the new territory, and President of the Board.2

The Governor-General performed another duty on the same day, which was that of giving the home authorities, along with the intelligence of the conclusion of the treaty, an intimation of the several advantages which he wished them to believe it carried in its bosom. These were “the entire extinction of the military power of the Nawaub;” the maintenance of a great part of the Bengal army at the Nawaub's expense; deliverance of the subsidy from all the accidents with which it was liable to be affected “by the corruption, imbecility, and abuse, of that vicious and incorrigible system of vexation and misrule, which constituted the government of Oude;” the power acquired by the Company of becoming “the instrument of restoring to affluence and prosperity one of the most fertile regions of the globe, now reduced to the most afflicting misery and desolation, by the depraved administration of the native government;”
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.deliverance from the stain “on the reputation and honour of the British nation in India, upholding by the terror of their name, and the immediate force of their arms, a system so disgraceful in its principles, and ruinous in its effects.”1

On these supposed advantages a few reflections are required. The impatient desire to extinguish the military power of the Vizir exhibits the sort of relation in which the English government in India wishes to stand with its allies. It exhibits also the basis of hypocrisy, on which that government has so much endeavoured to build itself. The Nawaub was stripped of his dominions; yet things were placed in such a form, that it might still be affirmed he possessed them.

With regard to the alleged pecuniary advantages, the case was this. An obligation was contracted to defend and govern a country, for only part of its revenues. The question is, whether this can ever be advantageous. The Company's experience, at least, has been, that the countries of India can, under their administration, hardly ever yield so much as the cost of defence and government. That it is injustice and robbery to take from any people under the pretext of defending and governing them, more than the lowest possible sum for which these services can be performed, needs no demonstration.

The necessity, perpetually exposed to view, of defending Oude, as a barrier to the Company's frontier, is a fallacy. When the Company received the taxes paid by the people of Oude, and pledged themselves for their good defence and government, the people of Oude became British subjects to all intents and purposes; and the frontier of Oude became the Company's
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frontier. The question then is, whether it was best BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.to defend a distant, or a proximate frontier. For the same reason that the Company took Oude for a frontier, they ought to have taken Delhi beyond it; after Delhi, another province, and after that another without end. Had they defended the frontier of Bengal and Bahar, leaving the province of Oude, as they left the country beyond it, would not the nearer frontier have been easier to defend than the one more remote? If the greater difficulty of defending the more distant frontier of Oude consumed all the money which was obtained from Oude, was there in that case any advantage? If it consumed more than all the money which was obtained from it, was there not in that case a positive loss? The means are not afforded us of exhibiting the loss in figures; but the British legislature, which by a solemn enactment prohibited all extension of frontier, as contrary both to the interest and the honour of the British nation, had declared beforehand that money was only a part of the loss.

The Governor-General's pretensions, raised on the badness of the native government, seem to be overthrown by his acts. If this was incorrigible, while the country remained in the hands of the Nabob, why, having it completely in his power to deliver the people of Oude from a misery which he delights to describe as unparalleled, did the Governor-General leave a great part of the country with the people in it, to be desolated and tortured by this hateful system of misrule? If it was corrigible, as he contradicts himself immediately by saying it was, and by pledging himself in his letter to the home authorities “to afford every practicable degree of security for the lives and property of the Vizir's remaining subjects,” there was no occasion for wresting from the Vizir
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.the greater part of his dominions, under the plea, and that the single, solitary plea, that any improvement of the intolerable system of government, while the country remained in his hands, was altogether impossible.

The truth ought never to be forgotten, which the Governor-General here so eagerly brings forward; That the misery, produced by those native governments which the Company upholds, is misery produced by the Company; and sheds disgrace upon the British name.1

From his first arrival in India, the Governor-General had cherished the idea of paying an early visit to the interior and more distant parts of the provinces more immediately subject to his authority; but the circumstances which had required his presence at Calcutta or Madras, had till now postponed the execution of his design. Part of his object was to ascertain the real effects of the Company's government upon the prosperity of the country, upon the wealth, industry, morals, and happiness of the population; and to acquire a knowledge of the character of the people, and of their modes of thinking, all more perfectly than, without personal inspection, he regarded as possible. The design was laudable. But a short reflection might have convinced him, that, in a progress of a few months, a great part of which was spent on the river, all the observations which he, incapacitated from mixing with the natives, both by his station, and his language, was in a situation to make, were so very few and partial, that they
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could form a just foundation for few useful conclusions; BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1801.and only exposed him, if he was inclined to over-rate them, to be more easily duped by the men through whose eyes it behoved him to see, and on whom he was still compelled to rely for all his information. To learn the effects of a government upon a people, and to ascertain their temper and modes of thinking, by personal observation, requires long, and minute, and extensive intercourse. What, in the compass of a few weeks, or months, can a man collect, respecting these important circumstances, by looking, from his barge, or his palanquin, as he proceeds along, and at one or two of the principal places conversing in state with a small number of the leading men, eager not to salute his ears or his eyes with an opinion or a fact, but such as they expect will minister to his gratification? What a man, in these circumstances, is sure to do, is, to confirm himself in all the opinions, right or wrong, with which he sets out; and the more strongly, the higher the value which he attaches to the observing process he is then performing. What was to be expected, therefore, accurately happened; the Governor-General saw none but admirable effects of the Company's admirable effects of the Company's admirable government; and if those of an opposite sort had been ten times as many as they were, they would all have been equally invisible to his eyes. In surveying a country, it is not easy to form sound opinions, even when the means of observation are the most perfect and full: in India, the Company's servants, setting out with strong anticipations, and having means of observation the most scanty and defective, have commonly seen such things only, as it was their desire and expectation to see.

Other advantages, which the Governor-General expected to realize by his presence in the different
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.parts of the provinces, were; an increased attention to the discharge of their duties, in the various local ministers of government, civil and military, who would thus be more sensibly convinced of the vigilant inspection which was maintained over them; and, a new degree of confidence and satisfaction, with respect to their government, in the body of the people, thus made to see with their eyes the solicitude with which the conduct of those who commanded them was watched. But the circumstance which most strongly operated upon the mind of the Governor-General, at the time when he resolved to commence his journey, was, the effect which his departure, with the declared intention of visiting Oude, was expected to produce in accelerating the submission of the Vizir to the demands with which he was pressed. Preparations were made for the commencement of the voyage on the river early in July, 1801; but owing to the delay of the dispatches expected from Europe, and other causes, it was the 15th of August before he was enabled to embark. It was on the 18th, in a council held on board the yacht at Barrackpore, that Mr. Speke (the Commander-in-Chief having preceded the Governor-General in this excursion) was chosen, during the absence of the Head Ruler, Vice-President of the Council, and Deputy Governor of Fort William. On the 23th of September, the Governor-General was at Monghir. On the 14th of November, at the time of ratifying the treaty, he was on the Ganges, near Benares. And on the 19th of January, 1802, he was met at Cawnpore by the Nawaub Vizir, who had left his capital to do him honour by the ceremony of anticipation.1

The Governor-General resolved to sooth the mind
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of the Nabob, under the mortifying sacrifices to which BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.he had so lately been compelled to submit, by a studied display of personal respect; as well for the purpose of substituting pleasurable to painful feelings, as for that of moulding his inclination to the compliances which yet remained to be exacted of him. He abstained accordingly from soliciting his mind on those subjects, till he had made, as he conceived, a very favourable impression upon it. Soon after they had arrived at Lucknow, the Governor-General requested a private conference with his Excellency, and gave him intimation of the acts which he was expected to perform. These were, the immediate discharge of the arrear of the augmented subsidy, amounting to twenty-one lacs of rupees; the immediate reduction of his Excellency's military establishment to the scale described in the treaty; an exchange of one of the new districts for the purpose of removing an interruption in the line of the Company's frontier; the regular payment of the pensions to his relatives and dependants; the reform, on a plan to be given by the English, of the government within his reserved dominions; and the concentration of the British force, which was to be employed within those dominions, at a cantonment in the vicinity of Lucknow. For obedience, on most of these points, the Vizir was prepared, either by inclination, or his knowledge of the inability of resistance. For the payment of arrears he only requested time; and could not help expressing his opinion, that neither necessity nor utility required the concentration of the British force at Lucknow. The object of principal importance was, the introduction of a better government in his reduced dominions. On this subject the Nawaub professed that his opinions coincided with those of the British ruler; but complained that he was not
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.possessed of sufficient authority, within his dominions, to carry any of his own designs into effect. On this subject, he manifested great reluctance to explain what he meant. When explanation was obtained from him, it appeared, that he was galled by the interference of the resident, and made this last effort to obtain such an exemption from that restraint, as would have destroyed, says the Governor-General, “that degree of interference and control which is indispensably necessary for the support of the British influence in Oude; and would have rendered nugatory that stipulation of the treaty which provides for the security of the British influence over the measures of his Excellency's administration.” It also appeared, that he was desirous of a change of the resident, who was personally disagreeable to him. But on no one of these points did the determination of the Governor-General admit of any relaxation. In these circumstances, the Nawaub, whether disgusted with his situation, or in the spirit of stratagem, renewed his request for permission to absent himself on a pilgrimage, and to leave his government in the hands of his second son. Though the Governor-General stated his reasons for disapproving this design, he gave him assurance that he would not oppose it; and expressed the highest indignation when the Nawaub, as in distrust, betrayed afterwards an inclination to render the payment of arrears a condition dependant upon compliance with this request.1

As an introduction to the measures which he designed to propose for improving the government of the Nawaub's dominions, the Governor-General held up to his view, what he regarded as the causes of
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the existing evils. The abuses arising from the BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.employment of a licentious soldiery in executing the business of government among the people, were once more displayed, but chiefly with intent to declare, that for this evil a remedy, in the annihilation-reform, was already applied. Of all the evils which remained; evils, which the Governor-General had represented as so enormous that nothing less than the abdication of the sovereign, or the complete transfer of all his authority into the hands of the Company, could suffice for their cure, the causes, according to his enumeration, reduced themselves to two; First, “The want of a judicial administration for the protection of the lives and property of the subjects, for the detection and punishment of crimes, for the redress of grievances, and for the adjustment of disputed claims;” Secondly, “The abuses prevailing in the administration of the revenues—arising, principally, from the destructive practice of anticipating the revenues, of assigning the charge of the collections to persons who offer the highest terms, or the largest amount of nuzzerana; from the uncertain tenure by which the aumils hold the charge of their respective districts; the violation of the engagements contracted between the aumils, zemindars, underrenters, and ryots, the arbitrary and oppressive exactions which pervade the whole system of the revenue, through every gradation, from the aumil to the ryot; the defective and injudicious constitution of the whole system of revenue; and the injurious mode of making the collections.”1

By these, the very words, in conjunction with the acts, of the Governor-General, we are given to understand, that a bad judicial, and a bad taxing system
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.(excepting the army, the only causes of evil in Oude), are quite sufficient to render a government, the scourge and desolation of a country; and to make the subversion of such a government, both in name and in reality, but at any rate, in reality, if not also in name, a duty imperiously demanded at the hand of whoever has the power to bring it about.

When, however, the Governor-General manifested a sensibility of such uncommon strength (and on such a subject the sensibility of a man is naturally in proportion to the united strength of his moral and intellectual virtues) to the unbounded evils which spring from defective systems of law and taxation, it is remarkable that he did not turn his thoughts to the effects produced by the systems of law and taxation, of which he himself superintended the administration. It is declared, in the strongest and most explicit terms, by several of the Company's servants, best acquainted with Indian affairs, in their examination before the House of Commons, in 1806, that, not in respect to army, judicature, or taxation, was the situation of Oude, though viewed with such horror by the Governor-General, more unfavourable, than that of other native governments of India; with which it might truly be regarded as upon a level.1 The government of Bengal, before it passed into the hands of the English, had been distinguished among the governments of India for its vices rather than its virtues. Yet we have seen it declared, and put upon record, by the most experienced servants of the Company, in their solemn official reports, that in their opinion the new systems of judicature and taxation, so laboriously, and
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so disinterestedly introduced by the English government, BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.had not improved, but had rather deteriorated the condition of the great body of the people.1 It is not, however, correct to say, that the Governor-General turned not his attention to the effects of the systems of judicature and taxation, the administration of which it was his business to superinted. He thought of them quite sufficiently; but he was altogether deceived. It was perfectly impossible for him to see with his own eyes what was sufficient to convince a mind, impressed both by anticipation and interest with other notions, that the British systems were ill adapted to the ends they had in view; and he was daily assured by those whose anticipations and interests were similar to his own, and who paid their court by speaking opinions calculated to please, that the effects produced were all excellent; he, therefore, believed that they were all excellent; he, therefore, believed that they were all excellent, and assured the home authorities, that he had been enabled to ascertain, by actual observation on his journey, that they were all excellent, and that in the highest degree. He concluded, therefore, most conscientiously, that nothing happier could be done for the people of Oude, than to assimilate their situation as nearly as practicable to that of the people in the Company's provinces.

From the specimens of the loose, and defective, and tautological language of the Governor-General, exhibited in his statement of the sources of evil in the government of Oude, the intelligent reader will perceive in what obscurity, on the subjects of judicature and taxation, the mind of that ruler remained; and how crude and insufficient were the ideas which, upon these subjects, floated in his brain. He had nothing further to recommend than, First, on the subject of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.judicature, to establish district courts, and a general court of appeal and control, upon the plan of the district courts, and the courts of Sudder Dewanny, and Nizamut Adaulut, in the Company's dominions; And, secondly, on the subject of taxation, to give the districts in charge to persons of undoubted character and qualifications, to pay those persons by a salary, and make their further profits depend upon the augmentation of their collections; to continue them in their office while their behaviour yielded satisfaction; to compel them, through the courts of justice, to fulfil their engagements with the middlemen, and the middlemen to fulfil their engagements with one another, and with the ryots.

Along with the establishment of courts of justice, the Governor-General stated, also, the necessity of “an efficient system of police, calculated to secure the apprehension of offenders, for the purpose of bringing them to justice.” And he did not prescribe conformity with the practice of the Company in matters of detail, for which he referred the Nawaub to the advice of the resident, because matters of detail must, he said, be regulated by local circumstances, and adapted to the constitution of the government, and the actual condition of the people.1

How little security, for an improvement of the government, these changes afforded, it requires but a feeble insight into the springs of human affairs, sufficiently to discern. He would appoint new officers of justice and police; but where was any security that they would perform their duty, and not multiply, by the abuse of their powers, the evils they were intended to extinguish? It appears that the Governor-General was ignorant how completely the English systems of law and taxation were unprovided with
Edition: current; Page: [225]
securities for the protection of the people, notwithstanding BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.the superior intelligence and good intention of the English government itself. For preventing the gatherers and farmers of the taxes from their usual exactions and oppressions, the Governor-General trusted entirely to the courts of justice; but unless sufficient securities were created in the constitution of the courts, and code of law, the officers of justice would only become the sharers and protectors of every profitable crime.

Though it appears that the Governor-General had very little knowledge of what properties are required in systems of judicature, and of taxation, to prevent them from ensuring the misery of the people; yet of one security, he gives a just conception: “The rights of property, of all descriptions, of landholders, should be defined; and the definition of those rights should form the basis of adjudication.”1 When he mentions landlords, of course it is not exclusively. He means not that the rights of that class of men should have the protection of law; and the rights of other men be left the sport and prey of arbitrary will. He means that the rights of all men should be accurately defined. And he would allow, that not only their rights but their obligations should be defined, whence alone the violations of them can be effectually suppressed. These definitions, he would, in like manner, allow, ought, by all means, to be made known to every individual whom they concern, that is, the whole community; in other words, they should be formed into a book, and effectually disseminated and taught.2 But when the Governor-General expressed his conviction
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.of the great importance of embodying law in accurate definitions, that is, in a well-constructed code; in what degree was it unknown to him that this indispensable requisite to the good administration of justice was, over the greater part of the field of
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law, altogether wanting in the provinces which he BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.governed, and even in his native country itself?

Having accomplished all the measures to which his notions of reform for Oude were extended, the Governor-General quitted Lucknow at the end of February, and proceeded to Benares, on his way to Calcutta. He had appointed the agents of the Bhow Begum to meet him there, for the adjustment of certain claims, which she preferred, both against the Vizir, and the English government. But he was still obliged to defer the decision. A circumstance had occurred with regard to the Begum which is too intimately connected with other proceedings of the English government in Oude, not to require to be shortly adduced. While the negotiations were proceeding with the Vizir, the Begum had formerly tendered to the English government an offer to constitute the Company her heir. The object of the Begum in this determination was to secure herself completely, by the protection of the English government, against the exactions to which she was exposed at the hand of her grandson. Against this disposal of her property, however, the law of the country, and the law of nations, interposed; it being an established principle of Mahomedan jurisprudence, that the sovereign is legal heir to the property of all his subjects; and the Governor-General acknowledging “the justice and policy of preventing the transfer of individual property, by gift or testament to a foreign state.” He determined, however, to accept the legacy, and reasoned in favour of his determination in the following words: “The exalted rank of the Begum, and the superior relation in which she stands towards his Excellency the Vizir, are circumstances which distinguish her condition from that of a subject possessing no rights of property independent of the will of his
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.despotic sovereign: She derives her title to her present possessions from the same source from which his Excellency derives his title to the musnud; her right therefore to dispose of her personal property, in any manner she may deem expedient, except for purposes injurious to the interests of the state, must be admitted—and the peculiar nature of the connection subsisting between his Excellency the Vizir and the Honourable Company, renders the Begum's proposed transfer of her wealth to the latter, at the period of her decease, wholly unobjectionable with reference to the public interests of the state of Oude.” The remarkable contrast, between this doctrine relative to the property of the Begum, and the doctrine which was promulgated by Mr. Hastings, as the ground on which he bartered to the late Vizir the liberty of taking it away from her, the doctrine too on which that Governor was defended, aye, and acquitted, before the high court of parliament,1 will not escape the attentive student of Indian history, to the latest generation. The Governor-General adds; “The character of his Excellency the Vizir, and his inordinate passion for the accumulation of wealth, justify the Begum in seeking timely protection for herself, her family, and dependants, from the effects of his Excellency's known views, and sordid disposition.” Recollecting, it seems, the traffic, between a predecessor of the Governor-General, and a predecessor of his own, when certain benefits to the Company were exchanged for a permission to spoil the Begum, and other members of the royal family, the Vizir had looked to this quarter, as a source of indemnity for the cessions to which he was urged, and had signified his disposition to conclude a similar bargain. The indignation of the Governor-General is expressed in the following words: “The
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inclination manifested by his Excellency the Vizir, BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.in the form of a conditional assent to Lieutenant Colonel Scott's proposal for a territorial cession, to degrade and despoil the most distinguished characters of his family and his court—a design, though under some degree of disguise, particularly directed to the Begum—and his insidious and disgraceful attempt to obtain the sanction of the British name to such unwarrantable acts of proscription, have given additional weight, in his Lordship's mind, to the arguments above detailed, and have determined his Lordship not only to acquiesce in the Begum's proposal to its utmost extent, if it should be revived on her part; but to encourage her Highness to renew her proposition at the earliest period of time, and by every justifiable means.”1 Such is the language, in which Marquis Wellesley treats a conduct, which had been pursued by one of his most distinguished predecessors; defended, as meritorious, by some of the most powerful of the public men in England; snd solemnly declared to be innocent, by a judicial decision of the High Court of Parliament itself.

In the mean time, the substitution of the forms and agents of the Company's government to those of the government of the Vizir was carrying on in the ceded provinces. The Governor-General had stated to the home authorities, in the letter in which he announced the ratification of the treaty, that the reasons which induced him to vest his brother with extraordinary powers for the superintendance of this service, were the great difficulty of the task, the peculiarly appropriate qualifications which Mr. Wellesley had displayed in the negotiation with the Vizir, and the authority which he would derive from
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.his relationship with himself. And he expressed his “trust, that in the course of a year or possibly within a shorter period of time, the settlement of the ceded districts might be so far advanced, as to enable him to withdraw Mr. Wellesley, and to leave the administration of the country nearly in the same form as that of Benares.”1 When this letter reached the Court of Directors, that body of rulers, professing their inability, till they received the proper documents, to decide upon the means by which the treaty had been accomplished, declared the obligation, under which they felt themselves, to lose no time, in condemning the appointment of Mr. Wellesley, who was the private secretary of the Governor-General, and belonged not to the class of Company's servants, as “a virtual supercession of the just rights” of those servants, whom the Court of Directors were bound to protect; and a violation of the act of parliament which expressly confines the filling up of vacancies in the civil line of the Company's service in India to the civil servants of the Company. They directed accordingly, “that Mr. Wellesley be removed forthwith.” This letter, dated the 19th of August, 1802, transmitted, as was legally necessary, to the Board of Control, was returned, on the 20th of September, with a prohibition to express for the present any decision upon the appointment of Mr. Wellesley, for the following reasons; first, because the service to which Mr. Wellesley was appointed, being not in the fixed and ordinary line of the Company's service, and not permanent, but extraordinary and temporary, it did not appear that the rights of the covenanted servants, or the law which prescribed the mode of supplying vacancies, were infringed; secondly, because occasions
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might occur in which, for extraordinary duties, the BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.employment of persons, without the line of the Company's service, might be expedient; thirdly, because, if there existed any such cases, it was proper to wait for the reasons of the Governor-General, before a decision was pronounced; especially, as Mr. Wellesley, it was probable, would have resigned his office, before the order for his removal could be received, and as he had disinterestedly declined all emoluments beyond the amount of what would have belonged to him, as private secretary to the Governor-General.1

On the 13th of March, 1802, the Governor-General wrote to the Court of Directors in the following words: “I have the satisfaction to assure your Honourable Court, that the settlement of the ceded provinces has proceeded with a degree of facility and success, which has exceeded my most sanguine expectations.”

A business, relating to another territorial cession, in the mean time occupied the attention of the Lieutenant-Governor. In addition to the territorial cessions which had been extorted from the Nawaub Vizir, was the tribute paid to the government of Oude by the sovereign of Furruckabad. The ancestors of this Prince had long solicited, and enjoyed, the protection of the East India Company, against the wish to dispossess them, which they knew was cherished by the Nabobs of Oude. Their principality extended along the western banks of the Ganges, adjoining the north-western boundary of the principality of Oude, a space of about 150 miles in length, and a third of that extent in breadth; yielding a revenue of nearly ten and a half lacs of rupees. It was surrounded for the greater part by the territories belonging to Oude, which had been recently
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.transferred to the East India Company. For terminating the disputes, which had long subsisted between the princes of Furruckabad and Oude, a treaty, under the influence of the English government, was concluded in 1786; according to which it was agreed, that the Nawaub of Furruckabad should not retain any military force, beyond what was required for purposes of state; that the Nawaub of Oude should always maintain a battalion of Sepoys in Furruckabad for the protection of the territories and person of the Nawaub; and “on account,” says the treaty, “of the troops which the Nawaub Asoph ul Dowlah shall so maintain, the Nawaub Muzuffer Jung will pay him the sum of four lacs and fifty thousand rupees yearly, instead of all the sums which the said Asoph ul Dowlah, in capacity of Vizir, used formerly to take from him; and henceforth his people shall be at his own disposal.” The English government having, in its quality of protector, quartered a resident upon the Nawaub of Furruckabad, and a use having been made of his power, which the Marquis Cornwallis, in a dispatch to his masters, described as “having ever been highly offensive to the Vizir, as having in no degree promoted the interest or the satisfaction of the Nawaub, and as having—while it produced no sort of advantage to the Company—by no means contributed to the credit of the government of Hindustan,” that Supreme Governor, in 1787, determined, “That the English resident at Furruckabad should be recalled, and that no other should afterwards be appointed.”

The eldest son of the Nawaub Muzuffer Jung, being convicted of the murder of his father, was carried to Lucknow, and confined by orders of the Vizir, when the succession devolved upon the second son of the late Nawaub, at that time a minor. The appointment
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of a regent was regarded as a point of too BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.much importance to be left to the Vizir; the English government interfered, and made choice of an uncle of the young Nabob, who had formerly been minister. On the visit paid by the late Governor-General to Lucknow in 1797, he was waited upon by the young Nawaub, and the Regent, who had numerous complaints to prefer against one another. The regent was continued in his office, and terms were drawn up for better regulating the administration. The Marquis Wellesley, in his progress towards Oude, had required the presence of both the Nawaub and the Regent at Caunpore, and had carried them with him to Lucknow. His purpose was, both to receive their acknowledgments upon the late transfer of the Furruckabad tribute; and “to adjust,” as he himself expresses it, “the terms of a new and improved arrangement of the affairs of that principality—upon terms calculated to secure its prosperity, and beneficial to the interests of the Honourable Company.” The pressure, notwithstanding, of other affairs, prevented him from engaging in the business of the meditated changes; and he left the execution of them to the Lieutenant-Governor of the ceded country, to whom the Nawaub and Regent were desired to repair with all practicable expedition.1

The termination of the Nawaub's minority was now approaching, when he desired that the power and management of his principality should be put into his own hands. In writing his instructions to Mr. Wellesley, the Governor-General remarks, that the time was now come, when it became necessary, either to vest the Nawaub with the general government
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.of the country, or to demand the cession of it to the Honourable Company.

The advantages of the cession to the Company “both in a political and pecuniary point of view,” he said, “were obvious.” And to leave the principality to the rightful heir of its ancient masters, was extremely objectionable; inasmuch as the Regent, who had an interest in defaming him, had given him a very bad character. It is true, the Nawaub had also given the Regent a bad character; but the Regent, it seems, met with belief, the Nawaub not.

Two remarks are here unavoidable. The first is, that whatever were the springs of action in the mind of the Governor-General, he was forcibly drawn to believe, in conformity with his wishes; and few men, where the case is involved in any obscurity, are capable of believing in opposition to them. The next remark is, that we have here another instance of the doctrine, taught to the world, both by the reasonings, and still more remarkably by the practice of the Governor-General, that, whenever the character of a sovereign is bad, and his government either bad, or so much as likely to be so, he ought to be deposed, and his power transferred to hands, in which a better use may be expected to be made of it.

It is not to be supposed, that the Governor-General would wish to narrow his doctrine to the basis of his particular case; because that would reduce it to the atrocious Machiavelism, That it is always lawful for a strong prince to depose a weak one, at least if he has first kept him a while in the thraldom of dependance, whenever he chooses to suppose that he himself would govern better than the weak one.

The Regent arrived at Bareilly, which the Lieutenant-Governor of the ceded districts had made the seat of his administration, on the 30th of April, 1802,
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a few days earlier than the Nawaub. The Lieutenant-Governor BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.requested to know what plan of reform he would recommend, for the government of the Nabob's country. “He appeared at first,” says the Lieutenant-Governor, “very unwilling to disclose his sentiments, stating in general terms that he was unable to form any judgment of what was best for the country; but that he was willing to subscribe to any arrangement which the Governor-General might deem adviseable.” The Lieutenant-Governor proceeded to press him, declaring to him, that “without a free and unreserved communication on his part, no confidential intercourse could subsist between them.” The Regent stated his wish to decline the suggestion of any opinions, and entreated to hear what were the designs of the British government. “Being desirous,” says the Lieutenant-Governor, “that the proposal, of vesting the civil and military authority in the hands of the British government, should originate with the Regent, I continued to urge him to an unreserved disclosure of his sentiments with respect to the most eligible plan for the future government.” He then stated, that three modes occurred to his mind. One was, that the administration should still remain in his own hands. Another was, that the Nawaub, upon the expiration of his minority, should assume the reins of government. The third was, that the English should take the government to themselves. As to the first plan, the Lieutenant-Governor replied, that the aversion of the Nawaub would render it impracticable. From the second, if the character ascribed to the Nawaub, by the Regent himself, were true, the effects of good government could not be expected. Remained, as the only unobjectionable scheme, the transfer of all the powers of government to the Honourable Company. “Here,”
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.says Mr. Wellesley, in his account transmitted to the Governor-General, “I stated, that your Lordship had long been of opinion that this was the only arrangement which could ultimately afford satisfaction to all parties, and establish the welfare and prosperity of the province upon a secure and permanent foundation.” The Regent was assured that a liberal provision would be made for all the persons whom this arrangement affected, and that his interests in particular would not be neglected. The Regent “stated in reply, that he had the fullest reliance upon the British government; and that he was ready to promote the Governor-General's views, by all the means in his power.”

Upon the arrival of the Nawaub, a representation was made to him of the necessity of a radical reform in the government of his country, and of the plan which the Governor-General approved. Requesting to receive the proposition in writing, it was transmitted to him in the following words; “That the Nawaub should be continued on the musnud of his ancestors with all honour, consigning over the civil and military administration of the province of Furruckabad into the hands of the Company's government: That whatever balance should remain from the revenues collected, after paying the amount of the Company's tribute, the charges of government, and the expense of a battalion of Sepoys, in the room of an army now maintained by the Regent, should be paid without fail into the Nawaub's treasury.” What is here remarkable is the language; the Nawaub was to be continued on the throne of his ancestors, with all honour; at the same time that the government and dominion of the country were wholly and for ever to be taken from him, and he was to be reduced to the condition of a powerless individual, a
Edition: current; Page: [237]
mere pensioner of the state. A new degree of skill, BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.in the mode of stating things, had been acquired, since abdication was proposed to the Vizir. The Nawaub remonstrated, in moderate, but pathetic terms: “I have understood the proposition for delivering up the country of Furruckabad into the hands of the Company's government. I have no power to make any objections, to whatever you propose: but you know that the Governor-General, during my minority, delivered over the country to Kirrud Mund Khan, as deputy: Now that my minority has passed, when I was in hopes that I should be put in possession of the country and property, this proposition is made to me. I am totally at a loss what to do. If I deliver over the country to the English government, all my relations and my neighbours, and all the nobility of Hindustan, will say that I have been found so unfit by the English government, that they did not think proper to entrust me with the management of such a country: and I shall never escape, for many generations, from the sneers of the people. If, on the contrary, I say any thing in disobedience to your orders, it will be against all rules of submission and propriety.” He then proceeded to propose, that the English government should appoint one of its own servants, as superintendant of revenue; who should take cognizance of the collections; send even his own agents to the villages, to act in common with the Furruckabad collectors; and transmit the stated tribute to the Company. “In this way,” said he, “your wishes may be accomplished, and my honour and name preserved among the people.—As hitherto no person, throughout Hindustan, without a fault, has been deprived of the Company's friendship and generosity, if I should also gain my desires, it would not derogate from your friendship and generosity.”
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.The Lieutenant-Governor immediately replied, that his proposition was inadmissible; that, according to the conviction of the Governor-General, nothing but the transfer of the government could answer the ends proposed; and “he renewed that proposition with an earnest request that the Nabob would take it into his cool and dispassionate consideration.” The Nawaub, still venturing to declare it “extraordinary, that no other mode could be devised,” for the rectification of what was amiss, entreated to be furnished with a statement of the revenues, of the demands of the English, and of the balance which would remain for his subsistence, after deduction of them was made. By the account which was delivered to him, it appeared that he would receive 62,366 rupees, per annum. The Nawaub offered little further objection. Some moderate requests which he preferred were liberally granted. And a treaty was concluded on the 4th of June, 1802, by which the country was ceded in perpetuity to the English, but instead of the balance of the revenues, a fixed sum of one lac and 8,000 rupees per annum was settled on the Nawaub.

“It may be proper,” says the Lieutenant-Governor, in concluding his report, upon this transaction, to the Governor-General, “to observe, that Khirrud Mund Khan (the Regent) has afforded me no assistance towards obtaining the Nawaub's consent to the cession, although upon his arrival at Bareilly, he confessed himself to be aware of the necessity of it.—I have great reason to be satisfied with the conduct of the Nawaub; who, if he had been suffered to follow the dictates of his own judgment, would, I am persuaded, have acceded to your Lordship's proposals with very little hesitation. He has invariably expressed himself desirous of promoting your Lordship's
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views by all the means in his power.” The BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.ground, then, upon which the necessity of taking the country was founded; namely, the bad character of the Nabob; was discovered, and that before the conclusion of the business, to be false.1 “It is satisfactory,” says the Lieutenant-Governor in another dispatch, “to reflect that the transfer of the province of Furruckabad has not been less beneficial to the interests of the Nabob, than to those of the Company. Previously to my departure from the ceded provinces, I had an interview with the Nabob at Furruckabad, who expressed himself highly gratified by the arrangement which had taken place; and whose respectable appearance, surrounded by his family and dependants, formed a striking contrast with the state of degradation in which he appeared, when the affairs of Furruckabad were administered by his uncle, the Nabob Khirrund Mund Khan.”2 It is curious enough to observe the doctrine which is held forth by the Anglo-Indian government. Uniformly, as they desire to transfer the sovereignty of any prince—the Nabob of Furruckabad, the Nabob of Oude, the Nabob of Carnatic, the Rajah of Tanjore,—to themselves, they represent it as no injury to the Prince to be deprived of his sovereignty, but, on the other hand a benefit, and a great one, if they are allowed to live upon a handsome income, as private men. Do the East India Company, and the servants and masters of the East India Company, limit their doctrine to the case of East India Princes, or do they hold it as a general doctrine, applicable to Princes in every part of the globe?

In what was called the settlement of the country, for which the Lieutenant-Governor was specially
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.appointed, the principal duty which he prescribed to himself, the principal duty which was expected of him, was to put in play the English machinery for the collection of the revenue. The English collectors were distributed; and, after as much knowledge as they could, by inquiry and personal inspection, obtain respecting the ability of the contributors, an assessment at so much per village was laid on the land; and the terms of it settled for three years. In some of the districts, in which the present desolation seemed easy to be repaired, an increase of rent was to be levied each succeeding year.

The Sayer, including duties of transit, and some other taxes, the Lieutenant-Governor found here to be characterized by the same inconvenience, which had recommended the abolition of them in Bengal; namely, great expense of collection, great vexation to the people, and little revenue to the government. He, therefore, took them away; and established a regular custom house tax, in their place.

Salt, in the ceded districts, had heretofore only paid certain duties to the government; and was imported into the districts by dealers. These dealers are represented by the Lieutenant-Governor as few in number, able to support a kind of monopoly, and regulate the price at their will. The sale of salt was now erected into a monopoly in the hands of government. The Lieutenant-Governor calculated, that the profit to government, “without,” he says, “materially enhancing the price to consumers,” would be eleven lacs of rupees per annum.

The commercial resources of the country presented to the Lieutenant-Governor an object of particular care. There was no obstruction, but what might easily be removed, in the navigation of the Jumna, from its entrance into the country, to its junction with the
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Ganges. By removing the evils which had driven BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.commerce from this river, piracy, and vexatious duties, he expected to increase exceedingly the commercial transactions of the country, and to render Allahabad, which was a sacred city of great resort, a remarkable emporium between the eastern and western quarters of Hindustan.1

The Commissioners of the Board of Settlement, in addition to their administrative duties, as assistants of the Lieutenant-Governor, were appointed the judges of circuit and appeal; and six judges, with the title of registers, were destined to hold Zillah Courts, at the six principal places of the country.2

In the new country were several Zemindars, who, as usual, under the native governments, had enjoyed a sort of sovereignty, and of whom little more was exacted than an annual tribute, and sometimes the use of their troops in war. In the first year of the Company's possession, these Zemindars were only required to yield the same tribute which they had paid to the Vizir. To the alterations which were proposed in the second year, a Rajah, named Bugwunt Sing, who possessed the two forts of Sasnee and Bidgeghur, and maintained an army of 20,000 men, showed an aversion to submit. He was given to understand, that in the terms no alteration would be made, and that non-compliance must be followed by the surrender of his forts. It was deemed a matter of more than ordinary importance to dispossess Bugwunt Sing of these two forts, both as they rendered him too powerful for a compliant subject, and as his example afforded encouragement to other Zemindars.

On the 12th of December, 1802, Lieutenant-Colonel Blair, with a force consisting of four troops
Edition: current; Page: [242]
BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.of native cavalry, four battalions of native infantry, and a supply of ordnance, took a position about two miles distant from the fort of Sasnee. He was not ready to commence the operations of the siege till the 27th, when the approaches were begun, at the distance of 800 yards from the place. On the 28th the garrison began for the first time to fire. On the 30th, towards evening, a sally was made against the head of the trenches, and repulsed with a very trifling loss. On the 3d of January, 1803, about the same time of the day, another sally was made on the trenches, by a large body of infantry, under cover of a heavy fire from the fort; but though some of the enemy rushed impetuously into the trenches, they speedily retired. The breaching and enfilading batteries were completed on the night of the 4th. It was found necessary to increase the force, employed in the reduction of the Rajah. The 4th regiment of native cavalry, the 2d battalion of the 17th regiment, and five companies of his Majesty's 76th regiment were added; and the Honourable Major General St. John was sent to take the command. On the evening of the 14th, Lieutenant-Colonel Blair, judging the breach to be practicable, selected fifteen of the flank companies for the assault, and ordered them to storm a little before day-break, while a false attack was made on the opposite side of the fort. They descended into the ditch, and planted their ladders; but unhappily found that by the unexpected depth of the ditch, and the sinking of the ladders in the mud, they came short of the necessary length by several feet. After an ineffectual endeavour to mount, and after the sepoys had remained fifteen minutes upon the ladders, exposed to a heavy fire, the party was withdrawn, with the loss of ten men killed, and somewhat more than double the number wounded.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1802.The Commander-in-Chief repaired to Sasnee with the reinforcement of another regiment of cavalry; joined the besiegers on the 31st; ordered the approaches to be advanced 200 yards, and the place to be invested as closely as possible. On the 8th, the town adjoining the fort was taken. The enemy defended it feebly; but made a strong, though unsuccessful, attempt, to recover it the following night.

About eight o'clock on the evening of the 11th, the garrison evacuated the fort without being perceived. As soon as the event was known, a party of cavalry hastened, and with some success, to prevent them from getting into the fort of Bidgegur. The Rajah withdrew to a fort, which belonged to him, within the line of the Mahratta frontier.

The army proceeded on the 13th, and summoned Bidgegur, which the commander, without the consent of his master, declined giving up. Weather being adverse, the batteries were not ready till the morning of the 21st. On the evening of the 27th, the breach was made practicable, and at five o'clock in the morning, the assault was to begin; but during the night exceedingly dark and rainy, the garrison were discovered evacuating the fort. Though many were killed, the majority, and all the principal leaders escaped. The loss during the siege was trifling, but Lieutenant-Colonel James Gordon, an officer of merit, was killed by the explosion of a powder magazine in the fort, the morning after it was taken.1

In the month of March, the commission appointed for the provisional government of the ceded provinces was dissolved; Mr. Wellesley resigned his situation of Lieutenant-Governor; and immediately returned to Europe. In a dispatch, dated 19th of November
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.1803, the home authorities declare their entire approbation of the late transactions with the Vizir; “the stipulations of the treaty being calculated to improve and secure the interests of the Vizir, as well as those of the Company;” nay more, “to provide more effectually hereafter for the good government of Oude, and consequently for the happiness of its inhabitants.” “We cannot conclude,” they say, “without expressing our satisfaction, that the cessions in question have been transferred, and provisionally settled, with so little delay, as already to admit of their being brought under the general administration of the Bengal government. The special commission, at the head of which Mr. Henry Wellesley was placed, appears to us to have executed their trust, with zeal, diligence, and ability; and the settlement of the revenue, which they have concluded for a period of three years, holds out flattering prospects of future increase. The general report, delivered in by Mr. Wellesley, on the termination of his mission, has afforded us much satisfactory information with respect to the resources of the upper provinces; and we are happy to take this occasion of approving the conduct, and acknowledging the services of that gentleman.”1

As the temptation of administrators to exaggerate the success of their measures is almost irresistible; as the distance of Indian administrators affords them, in this respect, peculiar advantages; and as it is pleasing to be led by flattering representations, this is a deception against which the public, as yet, are by no means sufficiently on their guard. “It is with the highest degree of satisfaction,” says the Governor-General in Council, in a dispatch in the revenue department, to the home authorities, dated the 20th
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of October, 1803, “that his Excellency in Council BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.acquaints your Honourable Court, that the wisdom of those measures, adopted during the administration of Mr. Wellesley, for promoting the improvement and prosperity of the ceded provinces, appears to have been fully confirmed, by the tranquillity which has generally prevailed through the country, and by the punctuality and facility with which the revenue, on account of the first year of the triennial settlement has been realized.”1 From such a representation as this, every man would conclude, that great contentment and satisfaction prevailed. Hear Mr. Ryley, who was appointed judge and magistrate of the district of Etaawah, in February, 1803, and there remained till 1805. Being asked, as a witness before the House of Commons, on the 20th of June, 1806, “Were the Zemindars, and higher orders of the people attached to our government, during the whole period you were judge and magistrate of the Ettawah district?”—he answered; “Generally speaking, I believe the higher orders of people in our district were not at all well-inclined to the British government—Do
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.you not believe that they are ripe for a revolt if a favourable opportunity should offer?—They certainly showed that disposition once or twice during the time I held that office.—During your residence there, did the inhabitants become more or did they become less reconciled to the British government?—I conceive they were subsequently much less reconciled, certainly, than they were at first.—To what cause do you attribute that?—To their being dissatisfied with the rules and regulations introduced into the country for their government.—Did that prevail principally among the Zemindars, or the inhabitants in general?—The inhabitants, in general, are so influenced by the conduct and desires of the Zemindars, who are independent princes, that their desire is principally that of the head men. Do you consider that the Zemindars, while they were nominally under the Nabob, considered themselves as independent princes, and acted as such?—Certainly, they considered themselves as independent princes.”1 It by no means follows, that any blame was due to the government, on account of the disaffection of the Zemindars; because they were dissatisfied, from the loss of their power; and so long as they retained it, good government could not be introduced. Yet a desire existed, on the part of administration, to conceal the fact, to conceal it probably even from themselves.

After several manifestations of a refractory spirit, the Zemindar of Cutchoura agreed to deliver up his fort. On the 4th of March, 1803, an English captain, and two companies of sepoys, were admitted within the outer wall, when the army of intimidation, which had accompanied them, was withdrawn.
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After they had been delayed, under various pretences, BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.for several hours, a gun was run out from the upper fort to a position in which it could rake the passage in which the sepoys were drawn up, and the parapets of the walls on each side, were lined immediately with about eight hundred armed men; when a message was received from the Zemindar, that unless they retired, they would all be destroyed. As nothing could be gained by resistance, the commanding officer obeyed, and was not molested in his retreat. When the army had taken up its position before the place, the Zemindar wrote a letter, in which he affirmed, that he had been treated with indignity by the gentlemen who had arrived to demand surrender of the fort, that hostilities were begun by the English troops, and that so far from intentions of war, he was ready to yield implicit obedience. After what had happened, he was told, that nothing would suffice but the unconditional surrender of himself and all that appertained to him. The trenches were begun on the night of the 8th; the breaching battery opened on the morning of the 12th; and before night, had made such progress, that with two hours more of day-light, the breach would have been effected. Between seven and eight o'clock in the evening, the enemy rushed from the fort, with a resolution to force their way through the chain of posts which surrounded them. They were attacked, and pursued for several miles with considerable slaughter. The principal loss of the English was in Major Nairne, an officer of the highest promise, who was killed by a match-lock ball, as he was leading his corps to the charge.1

The evidence of disaffection in the ceded districts
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BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.broke out, in a manner somewhat alarming, at the commencement of the Mahratta war. On the 4th of September, 1803, a party of Mahrattas, led by a French officer, made an incursion in the neighbourhood of Shekoabad, in the district of Etaawah. Mr. Ryley is asked by the House of Commons, “Did the Zemindars and the other people not show an inclination to join him?” He answered, “They not only showed an inclination, but they actually did join him.”1

The Rajah Chutter Saul possessed the fort of Tetteeah, and had not only shown a refractory, but a predatory disposition; he was therefore considered in rebellion, and a reward offered for his person, either dead or alive. On the 30th of September, Lieutenant-Colonel Guthrie marched to Tetteeah; and, as it had been dismantled by a detachment of the British army a few months before, expected to take it by assault. After a severe contest of some hours, he was overpowered by the enemy, and sent a message to Captain Dalston to hasten to his relief. On the arrival of that officer, he found the force under Colonel Guthrie completely broken, and sheltering themselves in the ditch, immediately under the wall of the fort: while the people within, not able to take aim at them with their matchlocks, were throwing powder pots, which exploded among them in the ditch, and the people of the surrounding villages were assembling to attack them from without. Captain Dalston with his field pieces soon cleared the tops of the walls; and enabled Colonel Guthrie and his party to make their escape from the ditch. The loss was serious.
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Colonel Guthrie and three other English officers were BOOK VI. Chap. 9. 1803.wounded, the first mortally. Of the native officers nearly one third were either killed or wounded. They were unable to bring off either their gun or tumbril, of which the one was spiked, the other blown up. On the following night, the enemy evacuated the fort, and the Rajah fled to the other side of the Jumna.

Whatever belonged to the offenders was, in these cases, taken, as forfeited to the government; for their persons, all the more eminent among them found the means of escape.1
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CHAP. X.



The Nabob of Surat deposed—The Rajah of Tanjore deposed—The Nabob of Arcot deposed.





BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.The city of Surat, situated in the province of Gujrat, on the south side of the river Taptee, was by far the greatest place of maritime commerce in India, when the Europeans first discovered the passage by the Cape of Good Hope. Communicating easily with some of the richest provinces of the Mogul empire, it was conveniently situated not only for the traffic of the western coast of India, but, what was at that time of much greater importance, the trade of the Persian and Arabian gulfs. As it was the port from which a passage was most conveniently taken to the tomb of the prophet, it acquired a peculiar sacredness in the eyes of Musselmen, and was spoken of under the denomination of one of the gates of Mecca. It acquired great magnitude, as well as celebrity; for, even after it had confessedly declined, it was estimated in 1796 at 800,000 inhabitants; and though it is probable that this amount exceeds the reality, Surat may at this time be regarded as the largest city in India. When the votaries of the ancient religion of Persia, of which the Zend, and its commentary the Pazend, are the inspired and sacred books, were driven from Persia, and the tolerating policy of Akbar drew a portion of them to India; Surat, as the most celebrated landing-place
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from Persia, became the principal place of their BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.abode; and there, about 14,000 of their descendants still preserve their manners, and adhere to their worship.

The present fort or castle of Surat was erected about the year 1543, when Sultaun Mohammed Shah was King of Gujrat. As this kingdom soon after yielded to the Mogul arms, Surat became subject to the government of Delhi. It fell in with the Mogul policy, to separate the administration of the city, from the government of the castle. The Governor of the castle, and its garrison, were maintained by lands or jaghires, and tunkas or assignments on the revenue. The Governor of the town received the customs, or taxes on exports and imports; the taxes called mokaats, on almost all commodities; and the land revenue, subject to certain deductions for the Delhi treasury, of some surrounding districts.

For the maritime protection of the western side of India, the Mogul government established a fleet. Its expense, in whole or in part, was defrayed by assignments on the revenues of Surat. Some time after the command of this fleet had fallen into the hands of the chiefs called the Siddees of Rajahpoor, or about the year 1734, the Mahrattas, carrying their conquests over almost all the province, reduced the revenues of Surat to the taxes levied within the town, and the produce of a few remaining districts. The Nabob of Surat, thus straitened in his resources, began to fail in his payments to the fleet. Thereupon the Siddee blockaded the port; and compelled him to appropriate to those payments the revenue of the principal district from which any land revenue was now derived, as well as a considerable part of the duties collected within the town. In the year 1746, died the Nabob Teigh Beg Khan, and was succeeded
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.in the Nabobship by Sufder Khan, whose son, Vukar Khan, entered at the same time upon the government of the castle. But Mea Atchund, who had married into the family of the late Nawaub, and was supported by his widow, and some of the leading men, contrived to possess himself of the castle, to the expulsion of Vukar Khan. He also applied to the Mahratta, Damagee, the ancestor of the present Guyckwar princes; and promised him a portion of the revenues of Surat, if aided by him in expelling also the Nabob of the town. By this, commenced the Mahratta chout, which was afterwards shared with the Peshwa. An officer, as collector of chout, was established on the part of the Peshwa, and another on the part of the Gwyckwar princes, who, under the pretence of its affecting the revenues, and hence the Mahratta chout, interfered with every act of administration, and contributed to increase the misgovernment of the city. Even when the English, at a much later period, conceived the design of forcing upon the Nawaub a better administration of justice, they were restrained by fear of the Mahrattas, to whom the chout on law-suits (a fourth part of all litigated property was the fee for government) was no insignificant portion of the exacted tribute.

Mea Achund succeeded in expelling the Nabob of the city; was himself after a little time compelled to fly; but a second time recovered his authority, which he permanently retained. Amid these revolutions, however, the government of the castle had been acquired by the Siddee. But the use which he made of his power was so oppressive to the city, that several invitations were soon after made to the English to dispossess him; and take the command both of the castle and the fleet. Fear of embroiling themselves with the Mahrattas, and the danger of
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deficient funds, kept the English shy till 1758, when BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.an outrage was committed upon some Englishmen by the people of the Siddee, and all redress refused. The Nabob agreed to assist them in any enterprise against the Siddee, provided he himself was secured in the government of the town. A treaty to this effect, reserving to the English the power of appointing a naib or deputy to the Nawaub, was concluded on the 4th of March, 1759; and on the same day the Siddee agreed to give up the castle and the fleet. Sunnuds were granted from Delhi, vesting the Company with the command and emoluments of both; in consequence of which, the Mogul flag continued to fly on the castle, and at the mast-head of the Company's principal cruiser on the station. The annual sum, allotted by the sunnuds for the expense of the castle and fleet, was two lacs of rupees; but the sources from which it was to be derived were found to be far from equal to its production.

In 1763, the Nawaub Mea Achund died; and, under the influence of the Bombay government, was succeeded by his son. In 1777, the office of Naib was wholly abolished, by consent of the Company; and its funds transferred to the exchequer of the Nabob.

Another succession took place in 1790, when the father died, and the son, in right of inheritance, avowed by the English government, ascended the musnud. His right was exactly the same as that of the other governors, whose power became hereditary, and independent, upon the decline of the Mogul government; that of the Subahdars, for example, of Oude, of Bengal, and Deccan, or the Nawaub of Arcot, acknowledged and treated as sovereign, hereditary princes, both by the English government, and the English people.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.The expense which the English had incurred, by holding the castle of Surat, had regularly exceeded the sum, which, notwithstanding various arrangements with the Nabob, they had been able to draw from the sources of revenue. Towards the year 1797, the English authorities, both at home and at the spot, expressed impatience under this burthen, and the Nawaub was importuned for two things; the adoption of measures for the reform of government in the city; and an enlargement of the English receipts. The expedient in particular recommended, was, to disband a great proportion of his own undisciplined soldiery, and assign to the English funds sufficient for the maintenance of three local battalions. “The Nabob,” says Governor Duncan, “betrayed an immediate jealousy of, and repugnance to, any concession; as well on the alleged ground of the inadequacy of his funds; as of the principle of our interference with his administration; which he declared to be inconsistent with the treaty of 1759.” Notwithstanding this, he was induced, after a pressing negotiation, to consent to pay one lac of rupees annually, and to make other concessions to the annual amount of rather more than 30,000 rupees. But on the 8th of January, 1799, before the treaty was concluded, he died. He left only an infant son, who survived him but a few weeks: and his brother, as heir, laid claim to the government.

The power of the English was now so great, that without their consent it was vain to hope to be Governor of Surat; and it was resolved, on so favourable a conjuncture, to yield their consent, at the price alone of certain concessions. These were, the establishment of a judicature, and the payment of a sufficient quantity of money. The negotiation continued till the month of April, 1800. The chief difficulty
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regarded the amount of tribute. Importunity was BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.carried to the very utmost. The re-establishment of the naibship was the instrument of intimidation; for the right of the claimant was regarded by the Bombay government as too certain to be disputed. Governor Duncan, in his letter to the English chief at Surat, dated 18th April, 1799, describing a particular sum of money as no more than what the Nabob ought to give, to ensure his succession, and prevent the English from appointing a naib, adds, “which we have as clear a right to do, as he has to become Nabob; or to enjoy the fruits of our protection to his family and himself. Both points stand equally specified in the treaty.” With regard to the right, however, of re-establishing a naibship, after having sanctioned its abolition, the case was by no means clear. The Court of Directors, in their letter to the Bombay Presidency, dated the 17th of February, 1797, had declared, “Although it cannot be denied that the present Nabob, his father, and his grandfather, owed their elevation to the influence of the Company; we doubt our right to impose upon the Nabob an officer under this denomination; from the consideration that the first naib, nominated by the Company's representatives in 1759, was appointed under an express article of a written agreement with the then Nabob Mea Achund, and that upon the death of a second naib the office was consolidated with the office of Nabob, and was not renewed upon the succession of the present Nabob.” With regard to the right of inheritance in the present claimant, beside the declarations of Governor Duncan, of which that above quoted is not the only one, Mr. Seaton, the chief at Surat, in his letter to Mr. Duncan, of 26th of December, 1799, says, “The Supreme Government determined the musnud to be the hereditary right of his brother,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.and from that decision consequently now his established inheritance.”

The claimant consented to pay a lac of rupees annually, but perseveringly insisted that beyond that sum the revenues of the place would not enable him to go. After every mode of importunity was exhausted, and every species of inquiry was made, Mr. Seton became satisfied, that his statement was just, and on the 18th of August, 1799, wrote to the Governor of Bombay in the following words: “I have left nothing undone; and pressed him to the utmost. I am convinced he has not the means, or believe he really would pay more. Poor Mr. Farmer has been led into a false opinion of the resources of Surat; and I could almost venture to stake my life on it, that more than the lac is not to be got by any means short of military force. Take the Government from the family, and pension them (though such a measure would, in my humble opinion, be contrary to good faith), I scarce believe, after all endeavours, that the Company with these pensions, and the increased necessary establishments, would be more in pocket, than they will now with their present establishment and this donation. What were the views of the Company in possessing themselves of the castle? Whatever they were, they are not altered, and they were then satisfied with the castle, and tunka revenue, which is only diminished from a decrease of trade; and here a lac is unconditionally offered, which exceeds the amount of castle and tunka revenue by 25,000 rupees per annum; yet the present government are not satisfied therewith, and still want more; which cannot be raised, if the Nabob does not squeeze it out of the subjects.”

A dispatch from the Governor-General, dated 10th March, 1800, was in due course received, which
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ordered the Nawaub to be immediately displaced, BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.and the government and revenues to be wholly assumed by the English. This was the most unceremonious act of dethronement, which the English had yet performed; as the victim was the weakest and most obscure. Some of the explanations with which this command was accompanied are not much less remarkable than the principal fact. Not negotiation, but dethronement, would have been adopted from the first, except for one reason, namely, a little danger. “The exigencies of the public service,” says the Governor-General, “during the late war in Mysore, and the negotiations which succeeded the termination of it, would have rendered it impracticable for your government to furnish the military force, indispensably necessary for effecting a reform of the government of Surat, even if other considerations had not rendered it adviseable to defer that reform until the complete re-establishment of tranquillity throughout the British possessions in India.” It is here of importance, once more, to remark upon the phraseology of the Governor-General. To dethrone the sovereign, to alter completely the distribution of the powers of government, and to place them in a set of hands wholly different and new, though it constituted one of the most complete revolutions which it is possible to conceive, was spoken of as a “reform of the government.”

The reasoning, by force of which the Governor-General claims the right to make such a reform, ought to be heard. “On a reference,” says he, “to the treaty of 1759, concluded with Mayeneddien, we find that it was only a personal engagement with that Nabob, and that it did not extend to his heirs. Independent of the terms of the treaty, the discussion which passed in 1763, on the death of Mayeneddien,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.as well as the letter from your government, dated the 25th of March, 1790, when the office of Nabob again became vacant, prove it to have been the general sense, that the operation of the treaty of 1759 ceased on the demise of Mayeneddien. The power of the Mogul having also become extinct, it follows, that the Company not being restricted, with respect to the disposal of the office of Nabob, by any specific treaty, are at liberty to dispose of it as they may think proper.”

Here two things are assumed; first, that the English of that day were not bound by the treaty of 1759; the second, that, wheresoever not bound by specific treaties, the English were at liberty to dethrone any sovereign whom they pleased; or, in the language of the Governor-General, “to dispose of the office of Nabob, as they may think proper.” Upon no part of this reasoning is any comment required.

Attention is also due to the conduct of the Bombay rulers. Governor Duncan, and Mr. Seton had, both of them, previously declared their conviction of the clear right of the Nabob, not only to the Nabobship by inheritance, but to the support and alliance of the English, by a treaty which their acts had repeatedly confirmed. Yet, no sooner did they receive the command of the Governor-General to dethrone him, than they were ready to become the active instruments of that dethronement, and, as far as appears, without so much as a hint, that in their opinion the command was unjust.

The Governor-General next proceeds to say, that the sort of government which was performed by the Nabob was exceedingly bad. Neither was the defence of the city from external enemies in a tolerable state; nor was its internal government compatible
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with the happiness of the people, under the prevailing BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.“frauds, exactions, and mismanagement in the collection of the revenue, the avowed corruption in the administration of justice, and the entire inefficiency in the police. It is obvious,” he continues, “that these important objects,” namely, the security and good government of Surat, “can only be attained by the Company taking the entire civil and military government of the city into their own hands; and consequently,” he adds, “it is their duty, as well as their right, to have recourse to that measure.”

Here again we see the doctrine most clearly avowed, and most confidently laid down as a basis of action, that bad government under any sovereign constitutes a right, and even a duty, to dethrone him; either in favour of the East India Company alone, if they ought to have the monopoly of dethronement; or in favour of mankind at large, if the privilege ought to be as diffusive as the reason on which it is founded.

It being deemed, by the Governor of Bombay, that his own presence would be useful for effecting the revolution at Surat, he left the Presidency in the end of April, and arrived on the 2d of May. After endeavouring to secure the co-operation of the persons, whose influence was most considerable on the mind of the Nawaub, he opened the business to that ruler himself, on the 9th, and allowed him till the 12th to deliberate upon his answer. At the interview, on that day, the Nawaub declared; that he could not survive acquiescence in the demand; not only from the sense of personal degradation; but from the odium he must incur among all Mussulmans, if he consented to place the door of Mecca in the hands of a people who had another faith. The steps necessary
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.for accomplishing the revolution without regard to his consent, were now pursued; and preparations were made for removing his troops from the guard of the city, and taking possession of it, by the Company's soldiers, the following morning. In the mean time, the reflections of the Nawaub, and the remonstrances of his friends, convinced him that, opposition being fruitless, submission was the prudent choice; he therefore communicated to the Governor his willingness to comply, and the treaty was mutually signed on the following day. It had been transmitted by the Governor-General, ready drawn; and was executed without alteration. The Nabob resigned the government, civil and military, with all its emoluments, powers, and privileges, to the East India Company. And on their part, the Company agreed to pay to the Nabob and his heirs one lac of rupees annually, together with a fifth part of what should remain, as surplus of the revenues, after deduction of this allowance, of the Mahratta chout, and of the charges of collection.

When the powers of government were thus vested in English hands, establishments were formed for the administration of justice, for the superintendence of police, for the collection of the revenue, and for the provision of the Company's investment. For this purpose, the Governor-General had given two leading directions; the first was, that each of these departments should be committed to distinct persons; and the second, that the powers vested in the several officers should correspond as nearly as possible with those of the corresponding officers in Bengal. They have, therefore, no need of description.

Though stripped of all the powers of government, and a mere pensioner of state, it was still accounted
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proper for Meer Nasseer ad Dien to act the farce of BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.royalty. His succession to the musnud of his ancestors was now acknowledged by the English government, and he was placed on it with the same pomp and ceremony, as if he had been receiving all the powers of sovereignty, on the day after he had for ever resigned them.

The great difficulty was, to obtain deliverance from the misery of the Mahratta chout. The Guyckwar prince expressed the greatest readiness to compliment the Company, to whom he looked for protection, with the share which belonged to him. With the Peshwa, the business was not so easily arranged.1

In the dispatch of the Court of Directors, dated “Political Department, 18th October, 1797,” and addressed “to our President in Council at Fort St. George,” they say, “We have requested Lord Mornington to make a short stay at Madras, previous to his proceeding to take upon himself the Government-General of Bengal, for the purpose of endeavouring to prevail on the Nabob of Arcot to agree to a modification of the treaty with his highness in 1792.” Lord Hobart had just been recalled, because he differed with the Government-General of that day, in regard to some of the expedients which he adopted for the attainment of this modification.2 The Directors, notwithstanding, go on to say. “It were to be wished that the zealous endeavours of Lord Hobart, for that purpose, had proved successful; and as, in our opinion, nothing short of the modification proposed is likely to answer any beneficial purpose, Lord
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.Mornington will render a most essential service to the Company, should he be able to accomplish that object, or an arrangement similar thereto. But feeling, as we do, the necessity of maintaining our credit with the country powers, by an exact observance of treaties—a principle so honourably established under Lord Cornwallis's administration—we cannot authorize his Lordship to exert other powers than those of persuasion to induce the Nabob to form a new arrangement.”1 It is sufficiently remarkable to hear ministers and directors conjunctly declaring, that “the principle of an exact observance of treaties” still remained to “be honourably established,” at the time of Lord Cornwallis's administration. It was the desire of credit with the country powers, that now constituted the motive to its observance. But if the Company when weak could disregard such credit with the country powers, they had much less reason now to dread any inconvenience from the want of it. Besides, the question is, whether the country powers ever gave them, or gave any body, credit for a faith, of which they can so little form a conception, as that of regarding a treaty any longer than it is agreeable to his interest to do so.

In a letter in council, dated Fort William 4th July, 1798, the home authorities are told, that “immediately on his arrival at Fort St. George, the Governor-General lost no time in taking the necessary steps for opening a negotiation with the Nabob of Arcot, with a view to the accomplishment of your wishes, with regard to the modification of the treaty of 1792—The Governor-General, however, found his Highness so completely indisposed to that arrangement,
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as to preclude all hopes of obtaining his consent BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.to it at present.” The letter then promises, at a future day, a detailed account of the communications which had passed between the Governor-General and Nabob: but this was never sent.1

In 1799 the Governor-General, when he was again at Madras, and war with Mysore was begun, thought another favourable opportunity had arrived of urging the Nabob afresh on the subject of changes so ardently desired. The treaty of 1792 gave a right to assume the temporary government of the country on the occurrence of war in the Carnatic. To this measure the Nawaub and his father had always manifested the most intense aversion. It was hoped that the view of this extremity, and of the burthen of debt to the Company, with which he was loaded and galled, would operate forcibly upon his mind. The Governor-General accordingly proposed that he should cede to the Company, in undivided sovereignty, those territories which were already mortgaged for the payment of his subsidy, in which case he would be exempted from the operation of the clause which subjected him to the assumption of his country; while it was further proposed to make over to him, in liquidation of his debt to the Company, certain sums, in dispute between them, to the amount of 2,30,040 pagodas.

These conditions were proposed to the Nabob by letter, dated the 24th of April. The Nabob answered by the same medium, dated the 13th of May. The season for alarming him, by the assumption of his country, was elapsed, Seringapatam being taken, and the war at an end. The Nabob, therefore, stood upon the strength of his treaty, which he represented
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.as so wise, and so admirable, that no change could be made in it without the sacrifice of some mutual advantage; that, even if the assumption of his country were necessary, which, thanks to the Divine mercy, was at present far from the case; may, “were the personal inconvenience ten times greater,” the sacrifice would be cheerfully made, “rather than consent to the alteration of the treaty, even in a letter.” Besides, there were other engagements, by which the Nabob must ever hold himself inviolably bound. These were, respect for “the loved and revered personages” by whom the treaty was framed, and the dying commands of his honoured father, to which he had pledged a sacred regard. He also plied the Governor-General with an argument, which to his mind might be regarded as peculiarly persuasive—an argument drawn pure from parliamentary stores—experience against theory: “I cannot,” said he, “overlook a circumstance, which, in affairs of this sort, must naturally present itself to the mind of your Lordship; that the treaty, which is now suggested to be defective, has had a trial, my Lord, of more than seven years; and, without a single exception, has been found, for that period, not only sufficient for all common purposes, but has secured the fulfilment of every condition stipulated in it, with an harmony uninterrupted; and perhaps, I might add, almost unprecedented in any country or age.”1

The Court of Directors, in their political letter to Fort St. George, dated the 5th of June, 1799, say, “We have been advised, by the Earl of Mornington, that the Nabob continues to oppose a determined resolution to the modification of the treaty of 1792, which has been repeatedly proposed to him. At the
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same time, we observe, that his Highness has distinctly BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.acknowledged, that he is in the practice of raising money annually by assignments of the revenues of those districts, which form the security for the payment of the Company's subsidy.” They add, “As this practice is unquestionably contrary to the letter, and subversive of the spirit, of that treaty, we direct, that, immediately upon the receipt hereof, you adopt the necessary measures for taking possession, in the name of the Company, of the whole, or any part, of the said districts, the revenues of which shall appear to be so assigned; and that you continue to hold the same, and collect the rents thereof, in order that the Company may not in future be deprived of the only security which they possess, under the before-mentioned treaty, to answer any failure in the Nabob, in the discharging his subsidy. You will immediately communicate to the Nabob the determination we have come to, and the orders you have received relative to this point.”1

The affirmation, relative to the assignments on the districts in pledge, is contrasted with the following affirmation of the Nabob, in his letter of the 13th of May, just quoted, in which he answers the proposal and reasonings which the letter of the Governor-General had pressed upon his mind: “I do most unequivocally assure your Lordship, on the word and faith of a sovereign, that no one foot of the districts set apart by the treaty of 1792 have been, or are, in any manner or way, directly or indirectly, assigned by me, or with my knowledge, to any individual whatsoever; and, having made this solemn and unreserved declaration, I would hope, that I need not urge more.”2
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.With respect to the command of the home authorities, to take possession of the districts, and all the rest of their expedients, the Governor of Fort St. George, on the 11th of April, 1800, writes, “Your letter to the Governor-General, dated the 16th June 1799, is still under his Lordship's consideration. But it is material for me to repeat—and with impressive earnestness, that no security, sufficiently extensive and efficient, for the British interest in the Carnatic, can be derived from the treaty of 1792; and that no divided power, however modified, can possibly avert the utter ruin of that devoted country.”1

On the 13th of June, 1799, the home authorities wrote to the Governor-General, “In the event of a war with Tippoo Sultaun, the respective countries of the Nabob of Arcot, and the Rajah of Tanjore, will of course come under the Company's management: and we direct, that they be not relinquished, without special orders from us, for that purpose; in order to afford sufficient time for the formation of arrangements for relieving those respective princes from all incumbrances upon their revenues.” Upon this subject the Governor-General writes, on the 25th of January, 1800, “The short duration of the war rendered it inexpedient for me to assume the management of the respective countries, of the Nabob of the Carnatic, and of the Rajah of Tanjore, on behalf of the Company.—The immediate effect of such an assumption would have been, a considerable failure of actual resource, at a period of the utmost exigency. I shall hereafter communicate my sentiments at large, with respect to the state of Tanjore, and the Carnatic. The latter now occupies my particular attention; and I fear that the perverse counsels of the
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Nabob of Arcot will prove a serious obstacle to any BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.effectual improvement of your affairs in that quarter.”1

Tuljajee, the Rajah of Tanjore, died in 1786, and was succeeded by Ameer Sing, his son. The conduct of this prince gave so little satisfaction to the English, that, after the peace of Seringapatam, which Lord Cornwallis concluded with Tippoo in 1792, they deliberated concerning the propriety of trusting him any longer with the civil administration of the country. But the supreme government “were of opinion, that, under all the circumstances in which the question was involved, it would be more suitable to the national character, to hazard an error on the side of lenity, than to expose themselves to the imputation of having treated him with excessive rigour.” Accordingly, a treaty was concluded with him, dated 12th of July, 1793, and his country, which like Carnatic, had been taken under English management during the war, was restored to him, in as full possession as before.

In the year 1798, a convenient discovery was made; that Ameer Sing was not the legal heir to the musnud of Tanjore; but Serfojee, the adopted son of Tuljajee. The question of the rights of these two princes remains in obscurity. The documents have not yet been made accessible to the public; and we know not upon what grounds the decision was formed. This only we know, that it was determined to dethrone Ameer Sing, and to set up Serfojee in his stead. Serfogee was obviously in a situation to submit implicitly to any terms which the English might think proper to prescribe. After some months, therefore, of preparation, a treaty was concluded
Edition: current; Page: [268]
BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.with him, dated 25th October, 1799, by which he resigned for ever all the powers of government to the English, and received a pension of one lac of star pagodas, with a fifth of the net revenues.1

On the 7th of April, 1800, the Governor-General forwarded to the Governor of Fort St. George, certain letters and papers, found by the English in the palace of Seringapatam. These documents related to a correspondence of the two Nabobs of Arcot, the father and the son, with the Sultan of Mysore. The Governor-General directed Lord Clive to proceed without loss of time in conducting an inquiry into the circumstances of which the papers appeared to afford indication, and in particular transmitted a list of witnesses whose evidence was to be carefully and zealously collected. In the mean time, he himself had completely prejudged the question; and did what depended upon him to make Lord Clive prejudge it in a similar manner. “A deliberate consideration,” says he, in the very letter which directed inquiry, “of the evidence resulting from the whole of these documents has not only confirmed, in the most unquestionable manner, my suspicions of the existence of a secret correspondence between the personages already named, but satisfied my judgment, that its object, on the part of the Nabobs Wallajah and Omdut ul Omrah, and especially of the latter, was of the most hostile tendency to the British interests.—The proofs arising from the papers would certainly be sufficient to justify the British government, in depriving that faithless and ungrateful prince, of all means of rendering any part of the resources of the territories, which he holds under the
Edition: current; Page: [269]
protection of the Company, subservient to the further BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.violation of his engagements, and to the prosecution of his desperate purposes of treachery and ingratitude.”1

However, the Governor-General thought, it would, notwithstanding, be more consonant with “the dignity, and systematic moderation of the British government,” not to take the country from its prince, till some inquiry had first been made. But he says, “Although it is my wish to delay the actual assumption of his Highness's government until that inquiry shall be completed, I deem it necessary to authorize your Lordship to proceed immediately to make every arrangement preparatory to that measure, which now appears to have become inevitable.”2

Nothing surely ever was more fortunate than such a discovery at such a time. This the Governor-General has the frankness to declare. “While those orders, lately conveyed by the Honourable Court of Directors relative to the Company's connexion with the Nabob, were under my consideration, a combination of fortunate circumstances revealed this correspondence.”3 When the Governor-General, and all his superiors, and all his subordinates, in the government of India, were languishing and panting for the possession of the Carnatic, but afraid, without some more plausible reason than they yet possessed, to commence the seizure, here it was provided for them in extraordinary perfection. But the very circumstance which recommended it to the eager affections of the East India functionaries will recommend it to the rigid scrutiny of those whose minds are more happily situated for appreciating the facts.

The documents on which so extraordinary a value
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.was set by the Governor-General consisted almost entirely of certain things picked out from a mass of correspondence which purported to have passed between the “Presence” (the title which Tippoo bestowed upon himself), and the two vakeels, Goolam Ali Khan, and Ali Reza Khan, who accompanied, in 1792, the hostage sons of the Sultaun to Madras. Besides these, only two letters were produced; one from a subsequent vakeel of Tippoo at Madras; another, supposed to be from Omdut ul Omrah, but under a fictitious name.

It is proper to ascertain the value of one circumstance, on which those who are not partial to the British character will not fail to animadvert. As the British government was situated with respect to the papers of Tippoo, it was, it may be affirmed, the easiest thing in the world to procure evidence for any purpose which it pleased: And I wish we could say, that civilization and philosophy have made so great a progress in Europe, that European rulers would not fabricate a mass of evidence, even where a kingdom is the prize. The time is so very recent, when such expedients formed a main engine of government, and the progress in political morality appears to be so very slow, that it would be utterly unsafe to proceed upon the supposition that forgery is exploded as an instrument of government. Yet in the case of the British government, so much the greater number of those employed in carrying it on would probably refuse to share in the fabrication of a mass of evidence, that the small number of individuals who might have no insuperable objection to it would find it, in few cases, easy; in most, impossible, to accomplish their purpose. With regard to Lord Wellesley, even his faults bear so little affinity with this species of vice, and his most conspicuous virtues
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are so directly opposed to it, that we may safely BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.infer it to be as unlikely in his case, as in any which can well be supposed, that he would fabricate evidence to attain the objects of his desire, notwithstanding the violence with which he was apt to desire, and the faculty which he possessed of persuading himself, that every thing was righteous by which his desires were going to be fulfilled.

But an argument, more conclusive than any argument from character, either national or individual, can almost ever be, at any rate to strangers, and those whose partiality one has no reason to expect, is this: That the papers prove nothing; which most assuredly would not have been the case, had they been fabricated for the purpose of proving. On the other hand, if they had exhibited a proof which was very strong and specific, it would have been no easy task, after the very exceptionable manner in which they were examined to have proved that all suspicion of them was utterly groundless.

Among the objects recommended to the vakeels who accompanied the sons of Tippoo to Madras, one, very naturally, was, to communicate to him useful intelligence of every description. They had even a particular commission with regard to secret intelligence, in which a delineation of the defensive works of Fort St. George was particularly included; and they were furnished with a cipher for carrying it on.

With other articles of intelligence, which the vakeels availed themselves of their situation to transmit to their royal master, an account was given of the deportment of the Nabob of Arcot, towards the princes, and towards themselves; and of the conversations which took place between them. The letters relating to this subject were those which were regarded
Edition: current; Page: [272]
BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.as affording evidence against Wallajah, the deceased, and Omdut ul Omrah, the reigning, Nabob.

It is to be remarked, that Lord Cornwallis, after he had reduced Tippoo to a situation, in which he regarded him as too weak to be any longer formidable, adopted the liberal design of conciliating his mind, and gaining it, if possible, by a respectful, generous, and even flattering style of intercourse, to a state of good will toward the English nation. The same course he recommended to the Nabob Wallajah, who had suffered so deeply by the raising of Tippoo's house, and towards which he had often manifested so great a degree of contempt and aversion.

There were various circumstances which just at that time induced the Nabob to follow these injunctions of the Governor-General with great alacrity. The fame and authority of Tippoo were now sufficiently high to render his friendship an object of importance. The Nabob of Arcot, on the other hand, felt himself in a state of degradation, and reduced to a cipher among the princes of India. It soothed his vanity to hold some intercourse with as many of them as possible; and not least with one who now occupied so large a space in the eye of the world as the Sultaun of Mysore. It increased his dignity and consequence, when he induced other princes to use towards him the language of friendship, and to treat him as a prince upon a level with themselves. This rendered it more difficult for the English to accomplish their design of divesting him, as he dreaded, of all his sovereign powers, and reducing him and his family to the condition of mere pensioners of state. He seems, accordingly, to have been very eager, to add the forms of a confidential intercourse with Tippoo, to the other circumstances which held him forth to the world as a sovereign prince, and which
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he regarded with justice as the only barrier between BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.him and dethronement.

Attentions to the princes while at Madras, with assurances of his favourable sentiments towards the Sultaun, and of his ardent desire of a suitable return, were the expedients of which he made use. Oriental expressions of compliment are all extravagant, and hyperbolical; and we cannot, on such an occasion, suppose, that the Nabob would use the most feeble and cold. Another circumstance of great importance to be remembered was, that the letters contained not the expressions of the Nabob, but only the expressions of the vakeels reporting them; and that Indian agents reporting to their principals seldom pay any regard to realities, but, as far as they can go with advantage to themselves, heighten whatsoever they think will be agreeable to their master, extenuate whatsoever they think he will dislike. Now, when all the expressions which the vakeels of Tippoo report to have been used by the Nabob and his son are tortured to the utmost, nothing can be extracted from them but declarations of friendly sentiments, in an hyperbolical style. Even the Persian translator of the English government, who drew up a report upon the documents, highly praised by the Governor-General, and in which every effort is made to draw from them evidence of guilt, has the candour to say, “The accuracy of reports from agents, natives of India, to their principals, cannot, under any circumstances, be implicitly relied on; and, in one of the reports of the vakeels which contains the substance of a conference between themselves, the princes, and the Nabob, at which Colonel Doveton was present, a speech is ascribed to that gentleman which is evidently fabricated; a circumstance which tends to weaken the validity of all their reports;—and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.if the evidence of the Nabob's conduct rested solely upon them, the proofs might be considered as extremely defective and problematical.”1

Thus far, then, the ground is clear. But, beside the reports of the vakeels, what further proof is alleged? There are the letters of Tippoo, and the key to the cipher. The letters of Tippoo contain no more than a return to the civil expressions of the Nabob; vague declarations of good will, couched in a similar style. The key to the cipher shows that Wallajah was designated by the term Well-wisher of mankind, the English by that of New Comers, the Nizam by that of Nothingness, the Mahrattas that of Despicable; and so on. And this is the whole matter of evidence which the papers contained.

To establish still further the dark designs which the Governor-General firmly concluded that a few hyperbolical expressions had already proved, a list of nine witnesses was transmitted to Madras, of whom the two vakeels, Golam Ali Khan, and Ali Reza Khan, were the chief. A commission consisting of two of the most approved servants of the Company, Mr. Webbe, the secretary to the Madras government, and Colonel Close, were selected to conduct the investigation. Every precaution was taken, such as that of preventing communication between the witnesses, to get from them either the evidence pure, or the means of detecting its impurity.

It was resolved to begin with the two vakeels, who of course could best elucidate their own correspondence. To form a proper judgment of their testimony, several circumstances ought to be remarked. In the first place, they were Orientals; that is, men, accustomed, in the use of language toward those on
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whom their hopes and their fears depended, to regard BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.very little the connexion between their words and the corresponding matters of fact, but chiefly the connexion between those words, and the impression, favourable or unfavourable, which they were likely to make on the minds of the great persons, on whose power the interests of the speaker most remarkably depended. In the second place, it is impossible to conceive any dependance more abject, than was, at this time, the dependance of the Khans, Golam Ali, and Ali Reza, upon the English government. The government, under which they had found employment, was totally destroyed. Every source of independent subsistence was cut off; they lived upon a pension which they received from the English government, and which it was only necessary to withhold to plunge them into the deepest abyss of human misery. They had every motive which interest could yield to affirm what would be agreeable to the English government. They could have no interested motive to speak what would be agreeable to Tippoo, Wallajah, or Omdut ul Omrah. In these circumstances, if they had given a testimony in every respect conformable to the wishes of the English government, what depended upon their affirmation would have been regarded as of little or no value by any impartial judge. But in as far as they gave a testimony in opposition to those wishes, that is, in opposition, as they must have believed, to their own interests, their testimony has some of the strongest possible claims upon our belief.

Every thing was done to remove any obstructions which might exist in the minds of the witnesses to the production of such evidence as was expected. They were given to understand that no blame would be attached to them, who only acted under legitimate
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.orders, for their instrumentality in the designs of their master. And they were assured in the strongest language, that any appearance of a design to conceal the truth, and they well knew what eastern rulers were accustomed to call the truth, would be visited upon them with all the weight of English indignation.

Of the two vakeels, Ali Reza was residing at Velore, Golam Ali at Seringapatam. As least remote, Ali Reza was examined first. In him, the examining commissioners say, in their report to the Governor, “we think it necessary to apprize your Lordship that we discovered an earnest disposition to develop the truth.” Golam Ali they accused of base endeavours at concealment. The evidence of both, taken together, tends not to confirm one single suspicion, if any could have been justly derived from the papers, but to remove them, every one.

They both distinctly and constantly affirmed, that the expressions of good will towards Tippoo, made use of in their hearing by Wallajah or his son, were never understood by them in any other sense than that of vague compliments. Ali Reza gave testimony to another point, with regard to which the Persian translator, commenting on his evidence, thus declares: “In the report of the Persian translator,” namely, the report on the documents, “it has been observed, that the expressions of attachment and devotion, ascribed by the vakeels to the Nabob Wallajah, and Omdut ul Omrah, are probably much exaggerated; and that little dependance ought to be placed upon the existence of facts, inferred merely from such expressions; This conjecture is confirmed by Ali Reza Khan, who acknowledges they were much exaggerated, and that it was customary with the vakeels to heighten the expressions of regard, which fell from
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Lord Cornwallis, or the Nabob Wallajah, for the BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.purpose of gratifying the Sultaun; and observed very justly that the people of this country constantly exaggerate their expressions of regard to an extravagant degree.”1

The vakeels reported certain expressions of the Nabob, complimenting the Sultaun as a pillar of the faith, and admiring the union of mussulmen; certain articles of intelligence which he was described as conveying; and expedients of secrecy which he was described as having employed. All this, however, is only the report of the vakeels, which is acknowledged to be incapable of proving any thing, and which, as it forged a speech for Colonel Doveton, would just as probably forge for the Nabob and his son. But the circumstances, even if the statement of them is supposed to be just, afford no ground for an inference of guilt. To call Tippoo a pillar of the Moslem faith, one of the most flattering of all compliments to his bigoted mind, was not criminal; nor to speak with approbation of the union of Moslems, which might be an exhortation to the Sultaun to favour the Nabob, that is, the English, who always represented their interests as the same with his.

The articles of intelligence which he is said to have conveyed are exceedingly trifling; and have at any rate the appearance of having been conveyed for a good, not for an evil purpose; for the preservation of that harmony between Tippoo and the English, which at that time the English had very earnestly at heart. Having learned, that suspicions were caused, by some intercourse which appeared to take place between the Mysore and Mahratta Durbars, the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.Nabob sent him his advice, that it would be better he should desist, and suspend his negotiations, at least during the administration of Marquis Cornwallis. Again, having learned the existence of a French war, and that Pondicherry was about to be attacked, the Nabob sent his advice to the Sultaun to withdraw his vakeel from Pondicherry, and to intermit all correspondence with the French. This is the whole of the intelligence, the conveyance of which was construed into direct acts of hostility.

A few expressions of want of regard for the English, mixed in the reports of the vakeels, hardly deserve attention; both because nothing was more likely to be inserted by the vakeels, they knowing nothing much more likely to be agreeable to their master; and because, if the attachment of the Nabob to the English had been ever so entire, it was perfectly in character with oriental sincerity, to affect to despise and abhor them, in order to conciliate a mind by which it was known they were disliked.

As to the appearance of a concern about secrecy, it is well known to be a feature of the human mind in the state of civilization under which the Sultaun and Nabob were educated, and in India to a singular degree, to make a great affectation of secrecy on very trifling occasions; and, for the shew of importance, to cover every thing as much as possible with a veil of mystery. Under the designation of “the affair you know of,” something was mentioned in the letters of Tippoo and the vakeels; and under this mysterious appellation the deepest villainy was supposed to be couched. On this, after examining their witnesses, the commissioners report, “We have the honour to inform your Lordship, that the expression of ‘the affair known of,’ so frequently repeated in the correspondence, appears to
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refer to the subject of a proposed connection by marriage BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.between the families of Tippoo Sultaun and the Nabob Wallajah.”1

On two occasions, while the vakeels remained at Madras, the Nabob made appointments for meeting with them secretly. But both of them persisted in steadily affirming, as witnesses, that nothing passed beyond general professions of regard. The affectation of a wish to conceal from the English the warmth of the attachment he professed, might well be one of the artifices made use of by the Nabob for extracting those appearances of regard from the Sultaun, which it was at this moment his interest to obtain. In exact conformity with this idea, he made offer, upon the departure of the vakeels from Madras, to establish a cipher for the purpose of secret communication. But so little value did the Sultaun attach to any expected communication from the Nabob, that he treated this proposal with total neglect; than which a stronger proof can hardly be expected of the innocence of all the communications which from that quarter he had ever received.

The commissioners say, “We examined Gholam Ali Meer Suddoor, the Dewan Purniah, and the Moonshee Hubbeeb Olla,” that is, the men above all others acquainted with the secrets of Tippoo's government; “but as their testimony did not establish any fact, we thought it unnecessary to record their evidence.”2

Not only does this evidence afford no proof of a criminal correspondence with Tippoo, on the part of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1800.the Nabob; but the total inability of the English to produce further evidence, with all the records of the Mysore government in their hands, and all the living agents of it within their absolute power, is a proof of the contrary; since it is not credible that a criminal correspondence should have existed, and not have left more traces of itself.

It is just to bewail the unhappy situation, in which the minds of Englishmen in India are placed. Acted upon by circumstances which strongly excite them, their understandings are dragged, like those of other men, towards a conformity with their desires; and they are not guarded against the grossest illusions of self-deceit by those salutary influences which operate upon the human mind in a more favourable situation. The people of India among whom they live, and upon whom the miserable effects of their delusions descend, are not in a situation to expose the sophistry by which their rulers impose upon themselves. They neither dare to do it, nor does their education fit them for doing it, nor does their education fit them for doing it, nor do they enjoy a press, the instrument with which it can be done. Their rulers, therefore, have no motive to set a guard upon themselves; and to examine rigidly the arguments by which they justify to themselves an obedience to their own inclinations. The human mind, when thus set free from restraint, is easily satisfied with reasons for self-gratification; and the understanding waits, an humble servant, upon the affections. Not only are the English rulers in India deprived of the salutary dread of the scrutinizing minds, and free pens, of an enlightened public, in the regions in which they act; they well know, that distance and other circumstances so completely veil the truth from English eyes, that, if the case will but bear a varnish, and if they take care to stand
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well with the minister, they have in England every BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.thing to hope, and seldom any thing to dread, from the successful gratification of the passion of acquiring.

It is most remarkable, that of all the Englishmen in India, of whose sentiments upon the occasion we have any record, the Governor-General and his council, the Governor of Fort St. George and his council, the examining commissioners, and the Persian translator, the very foremost men in India, not one appears to have doubted, that the evidence we have examined established undeniably the facts which they so eagerly desired to infer.

The examination of the witnesses was closed, and the report of the commissioners drawn up, and signed at Seringapatam, on the 18th of May, 1800. It was not till the 28th of May, 1801, that any further instructions of the Governor-General were dispatched. In the memorable document of that date, addressed to Lord Clive, he states one reason of delay, as follows: “The critical situation of the negotiation depending with the Nizam appeared to me to render it adviseable to postpone the adoption of measures required for the security of the Carnatic. The successful issue of that negotiation appeared likely to facilitate the arrangements which became indispensably necessary in the Carnatic; while a premature prosecution of these arrangements might have impeded, and perhaps frustrated, the successful issue of the negotiation at Hyderabad.” Another reason was, that for some time he indulged the hope of being able to employ the weight of his own presence, in removing the obstacles which he expected to oppose the intended revolution in Carnatic. When that hope was relinquished, he desired that Mr. Webbe, the chief secretary to the government at Madras, might join him in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.Bengal, to communicate a more minute knowledge of circumstances than he could otherwise acquire.

“The delay,” says the Governor-General, “which has occurred, has enabled me to receive the sentiments of the President of the Board of Commissioners for the affairs of India, and of the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors, on the subject of the correspondence of the late and present Nabob of Arcot with Tippoo Sultaun: Those sentiments entirely accord with your Lordship's, and with mine, on the same subject.”

He proceeded to declare, that from the evidence which we have examined, he confidently inferred the existence of a criminal correspondence between the Nabob and Tippoo; and that the measure which, in consequence, he resolved to adopt, was the dethronement of the Nabob, and the transfer of his sovereignty to the Company.

An attempt, however, was still to be made, to obtain an appearance of the Nabob's consent to his own degradation. “I consider it,” says the Governor-General, “to be extremely desirable, that the Nabob should be induced to accede to the proposed arrangement, in the form of a treaty. In order to obtain his Highness's acquiescence in this mode of adjustment, it will be proper for your Lordship, after having fully apprized the Nabob of the nature of the proofs which we possess of his correspondence with Tippoo Sultaun, to offer the inducement of the largest provision to be made for his Highness's personal expenses, and in that event I authorize your Lordship to insert in the treaty the sum of three lacs of pagodas.”

The Governor-General had no very sanguine hopes, that the Nabob would smooth all difficulties by resigning the dignity to which he clung. He gave
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directions therefore on the contrary supposition, and BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.said, “If the Nabob, Omdut ul Omrah, by refusing to acquiesce in the proposed arrangements, should compel the British government, contrary to its wishes and intentions, to exercise its rights and its power to their full extent, I authorize and direct your Lordship to assume the civil and military government of the Carnatic.”

The Governor-General anticipated even another contingency. “It is possible,” says he, “that in the actual state of his Highness's councils and temper, the Nabob may be disposed to appeal to the authority of the Honourable the Court of Directors.” Well, and what was his Excellency's determination in that event? “Being already,” said he, “in possession of the sentiments of the Secret Committee, founded on the discovery of the Nabob's faithless conduct, I shall consider it to be injudicious and unnecessary to admit the appeal; and by that admission to enter upon a formal trial of his Highness's criminal conduct.”1

Now, finally, the case stood, therefore, as follows. In a dispute, in which the Company, or their representatives, the rulers in India, on the one hand, and the Nabob on the other, were parties, and in which a great kingdom was at issue, the first of the parties not only resolves upon deciding in its own cause, which in the case of disputes about kingdoms can seldom be avoided, but, upon a mass of evidence of its own providing, evidence altogether ex parte, evidence which it examined by itself and for itself, and upon which it put any construction which it pleased, did, without admitting the opposite party to a hearing, without admitting it to offer a single article of counter evidence, to sift the evidence brought to
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.condemn it, or so much as to make an observation upon that evidence, proceed to form a decision in its own favour, and to strip the opposite party of a kingdom. It is perfectly obvious, that, upon principles of judicature such as these, a decision in favour of the strongest will seldom be wanting.

Had the actions of the Nabob corresponded with the inference which the English rulers so eagerly drew, their conduct would still have implied a most extraordinary assumption. The principle of their conduct was, that, if an Indian prince did any injury, or but showed that he meditated injury, to the English, that moment the English were entitled to dethrone him, and take his kingdom to themselves. If the Nabob had actually contracted an alliance offensive and defensive with Tippoo, he was not a subject of the British government; he was a sovereign prince; and the utmost such an action implied was a violation of the treaty which subsisted between the English and him. But all that is necessarily done by the violation on one side of a treaty between sovereign states, is only to relieve the party on the other side from all the obligations which it imposed; to leave the two parties, in short, in the same situation, in which they would have been, if the treaty had not existed. It may happen, that, in such a case, it would be improper, in the obeying, so much as to make war upon the infringing party. That would entirely depend upon other questions, namely, the refusal of redress for injury, or of security against indubitable danger. But, even when war takes place, and two princes stand in the relation of active enemies, it is not the principle of just and polished nations to push the warfare to dethronement; nor can it ever be any thing but the height of injustice to carry hostilities beyond the line of redress for indubitable injury, and
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security against indubitable danger. How the assumption BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.of the English, in the case before us, can be reconciled with these established principles, it is not difficult to determine.

As if aware, after all, how little all other pleas were qualified to support the measure which he was eager to pursue, the Governor-General forgot not his standard reason for the dethronement of princes; namely, the badness of their government. He affirmed, that no other expedient, but the dethronement of the Nabob of Arcot, and the total transfer to the English of the government of Carnatic, afforded any chance for that reform which the impoverishment of the country, and the misery of the people, so forcibly required. Here, at last, he obtained a ground, on which, if the end for which government was instituted, and for which it ought to be upheld, is worthy of being regarded, he might stand with perfect assurance. Though we may suspect the servants of the Company of some exaggeration, when they describe the horrible effects of the Nabob's administration, there is no doubt that they were deplorable: It is equally certain, that no considerable improvement could be introduced, while the powers of civil administration remained at the disposal of the Nabob: And, though what the Company had attempted for improving the condition of their subjects, where they possessed the undivided powers, had hitherto displayed but little either of skill or success, some efforts had been nobly intended, and will doubtless be followed by more judicious expedients. Even under the bad system of taxation, and the bad system of judicature which the English would employ, the people would immediately suffer less than under the still more defective systems of the Nabob; and they would reap the benefit of all the improvements which
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.a more enlightened people may be expected to introduce. On this ground, we should have deemed the Company justified, in proportion as the feelings of millions are of more value than the feelings of an individual, in seizing the government of the Carnatic long before; and, on the same principle, we should rejoice, that every inch of ground within the limits of India were subject to their sway. In matters of detail, I have more frequently had occasion to blame the Company's government than to praise it; and, till the business of government is much better understood, whoever writes history with a view solely to the good of mankind, will have the same thankless task to perform; yet I believe it will be found that the Company, during the period of their sovereignty, have done more in behalf of their subjects, have shown more of good-will towards them, have shown less of a selfish attachment to mischievous powers lodged in their own hands, have displayed a more generous welcome to schemes of improvement, and are now more willing to adopt improvements, not only than any other sovereign existing in the same period, but than all other sovereigns taken together upon the surface of the globe.

When the instructions for assuming the government of Carnatic arrived at Madras, the Nabob Omdut ul Omrah was labouring under an illness which he was not expected to survive. In these circumstances, the Governor forbore to agitate his mind with the communication of intelligence, which he was expected to receive with agony. On an occasion, when the whole family would naturally wish to be assembled, the younger son of the Nabob arrived from Trichinopoly with his attendants, who are not described as being either more numerous, or better armed, than those who usually escorted a person
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of similar condition. Upon a report to the BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.Governor, that some of these attendants had been, or had been proposed to be, admitted into the palace of the dying Nabob, the Governor immediately concluded, that this was for some evil purpose unknown, and resolved to anticipate the effects, by taking possession of the palace immediately with an English force. Communication was made to the Nabob, with all the delicacy of which the circumstances admitted, prevention of confusion at his death being the motive assigned; and the troops took a position commanding all the entrances into the palace without resistance or commotion. The commanding officer was directed “to exert his vigilance in a particular manner, to prevent the removal of treasure from the palace, sufficient grounds of belief existing that a considerable treasure, a large sum of money, had been accumulated by their Highnesses, the late and present Nabob.”1 The English, even yet, were but ill cured of their old delusion, that every Indian prince was enormously rich. Of this supposed treasure we perceive not another trace.

On the 15th of July, 1801, the Nabob Omdut ul Omrah died. Immediately a commission was given to the two gentlemen, Webbe and Close, to state to the family the crimes which were charged upon the two Nabobs deceased, and to demand, with information that a due provision would be made for their support, that their consent should be given to the destined transfer of the Carnatic government.

The business was urgent, and without permitting the lapse of even the day on which the sovereign had expired, the gentlemen repaired to the palace. They
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.were met by some of the principal persons in the service of the late Nabob. They first requested to know, if any particular arrangement had been traced by Omdut ul Omrah. Having been informed, that a will existed, they desired that it might be produced. Being informed that, without the violation of all decorum, the son and heir of the deceased could not be called upon to attend to ordinary business, before the ceremonies due to his royal father were performed, they replied that on ordinary occasions it was the principle of the English to respect the feelings of individuals, but, where this respect interfered with the business of a great government, the less must, in propriety, yield to the greater interest. The personages, who received their commands, retired to deliberate; and had not long returned with a declaration of submission, when the young Nabob was introduced, bearing the will of his father in his hand. The will directed, that Ali Hoosun, his eldest son, should succeed to all his rights, all his possessions, and “the sovereignty of the Carnatic:” and that the Khans, Mohammed Nejeed, Salar Jung, and Tuckia Alia, the individuals now present, should rbe regents, to assist the young Nawaub in the affairs of government, till his arrival at competent maturity of years.

The Nabob retired, and the commissioners desired, that the rest of the conversation should be private, between the regents and themselves. The pretended discoveries were described. The following passage, in the report of the commissioners, is memorable: “Nejeeb Khan expressed the greatest degree of surprise at this communication; professed his entire ignorance of the subject; and protested that it was impossible for the Nabob Omdut ul Omrah to cherish the intentions imputed to his Highness.
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Some of the principal documents having been BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.produced, Nejeeb Khan asserted, that they contained none but expressions of civility and compliment; that the Marquis Cornwallis had repeatedly enjoined the Nabobs, Mahomed Ali, and Omdut ul Omrah, to cultivate a friendly intercourse with Tippoo Sultan; that the whole tendency of the correspondence produced was directed to that object, in conformity to the injunctions of Lord Cornwallis; and that the Nabob Omdut ul Omrah had recently addressed himself to Lord Cornwallis on the subject of these communications. The particular warmth of the expressions used by Omdut ul Omrah, in his letter addressed to Gholam Ali Khan on the 14th Mohurum, 1209, having been pointed out to Nejeeb Khan—he observed that it was nothing more than an expression of civility, which might have been used on any ordinary occasion.” On the cipher, of which a proposal appeared to have been made to the Sultan, and which proposal he entirely disregarded, the Khan observed, “that the moonshee of the Nabob was present, and could be examined with respect to the authenticity of the hand-writing, that the cipher might have been conveyed into the archives of Tippoo Sultaun by the enemies of Omdut ul Omrah;” and concluded by a most important request, that the family should be furnished with the evidence, stated to exist, of the supposed criminal intercourse; have an opportunity of offering such explanations as they might be able to give, and of presenting such counter-proofs as they might have to furnish; when, said he, “the proofs being compared, the Company might form a complete judgment.”

A more moderate proposition, on such an occasion, was certainly never advanced. He did not so much as appeal from the judgment of an opposite party;
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.he only requested that party to look first at both sides of the question. If the object had been to explore the truth of the accusation, it would have been easy to secure the papers of the late Nabob, in which, if no marks of a criminal correspondence existed, it would not be very probable that it had ever taken place.

“This discourse,” say the commissioners, “being apparently intended to confound the object of our deputation”—yes, that object, to be sure, was a very different thing—“we stated to the two Khans, that the British government, being satisfied of the sufficiency of its proofs, had no intention of constituting itself a judge of the conduct of its ally.” There is here one of the most astonishing instances, which the annals of the human mind can exhibit, of that blindness, which the selfish affections have a tendency to produce, when, unhappily, power is possessed, and all prospect both of shame and of punishment is removed. The British government had taken evidence upon the conduct of its ally, had pronounced a sentence of condemnation, and was proceeding, with impetuosity, to carry its decision into execution, yet it would not “constitute itself a judge of the conduct of its ally!” As if one was not a judge, so long as one abstained from hearing both sides of the question; as if, to all intents and purposes, saving only those of justice, it was not easy to be a judge upon very different terms!

The whole of the conference of this day, it appears, was spent, on the part of the Khans, in “asserting their disbelief of the hostile intercourse with Tippoo; and insisting on the reasonableness of their entering into the defence of Omdut ul Omrah's conduct in regard to the several points in which he was accused.” When the day was far advanced, they
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were permitted, on their earnest request, to retire BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.for the purpose of making the necessary preparations for the funeral of the deceased Nabob, and a second interview was appointed for the evening of the following day.

At this meeting, the evils of a divided government, the abuses which prevailed, and all the other arguments, which had been so often urged to prevail upon the Nabobs to resign their authority, were stated to the regents; they were assured that no remedy would suffice, except the revolution proposed; and they were asked, whether they were prepared to enter into an amicable negotiation for that purpose. They remarked, that, “if the entire government of the Carnatic should be transferred to the hands of the Company, the station of Nabob of the Carnatic would be annihilated.” The answer of the commissioners is memorable. It seems to prove, that the English in India have so long, and successfully, made use of fiction, that they take their own fictions for realities. The commissioners had the confidence to tell the regents, “that the rank and dignity of the Nabob of Carnatic could not be injured,” by actual dethronement. Nay, what is more, they state, in their report, that the argument, which they made use of to prove it, for they did not leave it without an argument, “was admitted by the Khans to be conclusive.” The Khans, notwithstanding, declined giving any answer, on a proposition of so much importance, till they got the benefit of consultation with the different heads of the family; and they were allowed till the next day to prepare for a final declaration.

On this occasion, they began by representing, that the whole family, and the ministers of the late Nabob, having been assembled to deliberate, had come
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.to certain conclusions. All these persons were convinced, that the British government would not insist upon the utmost severity of the terms which had been recently announced; and they had ventured to propose a different plan, by which, in their opinion, the security, which was the professed aim of the Company, would be completely attained. Their proposition was, to give up the reserved sovereignty over the Polygars, and the right of collecting the revenues in the assigned districts, and along with this to make some better regulations in regard to the debts. The commissioners repeated that “the proposition for vesting exclusively in the hands of the Company the entire administration of the civil and military government of the Carnatic contained the basis on which alone the proposed arrangement could be founded.” After strong expostulation, on both sides, the Khans declared, “that they were prepared to give a decided answer; and that the propositions which they had offered, and of which they delivered a written statement, contained finally, and unequivocally, the only terms on which they could accede to an arrangement of the affairs of the Carnatic by negotiation.”

The commissioners resolved to accept of an ultimate refusal from no lips but those of the Nabob himself. Upon their request, that he should be introduced, the Khans manifested considerable surprise; and expostulated against the proposition, on the ground both of decorum, from the regency of his father's death, and the immaturity of his judgment, at eighteen years of age. “It was not,” say the commissioners, “without a very long and tedious conversation, that we obtained from the Khans the appointment of a time for our receiving, from the
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reputed son of Omdut ul Omrah, his own determination BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.on the proposition communicated to the two Khans.”

On the second day, which was the 19th of July, the projected interview took place. The proposition was re-stated, to which the acquiescence of the young prince was required; and the consequences held up to his view; the title of Nabob, with the dignity and emoluments of the head of the family, if he complied; the loss of all these advantages, if he refused. “He replied, the Khans, being present, that he considered them to have been appointed by his father for the purpose of assisting him; and that the object of his own counsels was not separate from that of the Khans.” He was then given to understand that Lord Clive, the Governor, required an interview with him. To this proposition also the Khans manifested reluctance, but they were immediately informed that it was altogether useless. During a short absence of the Khans, for the purpose of preparing the equipage of the prince, “the young man,” say the commissioners, “with much apparent anxiety in his manner, whispered in a low tone of voice, that he had been deceived by the two Khans. Ali Hussain, accordingly, proceeded, without further communication with the two Khans, to the tent of the officer commanding the troops at Chepauk, at which place we had the honour of a personal interview with your Lordship.” The attendants of the Prince, including even the regents, were ordered to withdraw. At this meeting, it appears that the prince was even forward to declare his disapprobation of the refusal given by the Khans to the proposition of his Lordship; and “proposed that a treaty should be prepared, upon the basis of vesting the entire civil and military government of the Carnatic in the hands of the Company; and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.stated, that he would be ready to execute the instrument, with, or without, the consent of the Khans, at another separate conference, which was appointed, for the next day, within the lines of the British troops.”

At that interview, however, Ali Hussain withdrew his acquiescence of the former day, which he described as the sudden and inconsiderate suggestion of the moment. He was again conveyed to a tent, to meet with Lord Clive, apart from his attendants and advisers. Being informed, that his sentiments of yesterday were understood to be still his real sentiments; that his altered declaration might be the offspring of fear; that he was at present, however, within the British lines; and, if it was necessary, should receive the effectual protection of the British power; he said that he acted under no constraint, and that the determination he had now expressed was that of his own deliberate, clear, and unalterable judgment. “It was then explained to him,” say the commissioners, “that no pains had been omitted, which could warn him of the consequences he was about to incur; that the duties of humanity towards him, and the duties of attention to the national character of the British government, had been satisfied; that he had himself determined the situation in which he would hereafter be placed; and that your Lordship, with concern for himself individually, now apprized him that his future situation would be that of a private person, hostile to the British interests, and dependant on the bounty of the Company.—This declaration Ali Hussain received with a degree of composure and confidence, which denoted that he acted from no impression of fear; and a smile of complacency which appeared on his countenance, throughout this discussion, denoted an internal satisfaction at
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the line of conduct he was pursuing. Being asked BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.if he wished to make any further observation, he said that he did not; and being also asked whether he had any objection to the introduction of the Khans into the tent, he said that he had none; which being accordingly done, he was directed by your Lordship to leave the tent.”

The British rulers had all along reserved to themselves an expedient against Ali Hussain, to wit, chicanery about his birth, and had regularly denominated him the reputed son of Omdut ul Omrah; though all that is stated is, that his mother, which, according to the muscleman law, is a matter of indifference, was not the principal among the women in the zenana; and though, at last, too, they precluded themselves from this pretence, by choosing him as the man with whom, in preference to all the rest of his family, they wished to negotiate, and at whose hands to accept the grant of the sovereignty.

Negotiation being in this manner closed, on the part of Ali Hussain, the son of Omdut ul Omrah; the English rulers directed their attention to Azeem ul Dowlah, a son of Ameer ul Omrah, who since the death of his father, had been kept in a state of great seclusion and indigence. To make known the intention of dealing with him as successor to the Nabob might shorten his days. But the English soon found an occasion of delivering themselves from this difficulty. The family resolved to place the son of Omdut ul Omrah on the musnud, to which they held him equally entitled by his birth, and by the will of his deceased father. The English held it necessary to prevent that ceremony; for which purpose the troops, already commanding the entrance, took possession of the palace; and placed a guard of honour about Azeem ul Dowlah. He was not long kept ignorant
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.of what was to be done with him. The forfeiture of the government by Omdut ul Omrah; and “that satisfaction and security,” as they expressed it, which the English rulers “deemed to be necessary to the preservation of their interests in the Carnatic,” were explained to him; and he was asked whether, if acknowledged as head and representative of the family, these were terms to which he would submit. He made as little difficulty in expressing his compliance, as the circumstances in which he was placed gave reason to expect.1 A reflection, however, suggests itself, which, at the time, the English rulers were probably too full of their object to make. If Azeem ul Dowlah had to the inheritance of the family any title whatsoever, beside the arbitrary will of the English rulers, his title stood exempt from that plea of forfeiture on which the measure of dethronement was set up. It was not so much as pretended that his father, Ameer ul Omrah, had any share in the pretended criminal correspondence of the late and preceding Nabob; and to punish a man for the sins of his grandfather, however it may be reconcileable with some systems of law, will not be denied, it is presumed, to be utterly irreconcileable with the essential principles of justice. Besides, though in a certain sense of the word, a prince may forfeit his crown to his subjects, it was not in the relation of subject and prince, that the British Company and the Nabob of Arcot stood; and in what sense it can be said that one prince forfeits his crown to another, it would not be easy to explain.

A treaty was immediately drawn up and signed, according to which all the powers of government were
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delivered over in perpetuity to the English, and totally BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.and for ever renounced by the Nabob. Yet such is the memorable harmony, between the language which the English rulers desired to employ, and the actions they performed, that the first article of the treaty stands in the following words; “The Nabob Azeem ul Dowlah Behauder is hereby formally established in the state and rank, with the dignities dependant thereon, of his ancestors, heretofore Nabobs of the Carnatic; and the possession thereof is hereby guaranteed by the Honourable East India Company to his said Highness Azeem ul Dowlah Behauder, who has accordingly succeeded to the subahdarry of the territories of Arcot.”

As a provision for the new Nabob, including the maintenance of the female establishment, or Mhal, of his father, one fifth part of the net revenues of the Carnatic were pledged. The Company engaged to make a suitable maintenance for the rest of the family, and took upon itself the whole of the debts of the preceding Nabobs.1

Against this revolution there was transmitted to the home authorities a remonstrance in the name of the regents. A letter, as from the rejected Nabob, setting forth, in vehement and pathetic language, the proceedings which had taken place, and the cruel effects as regarded himself, with which they were attended, was transmitted to two gentlemen in England, of the names of Hall and Johnstone, who acted there as agents of the deceased Nabob. The rest of the family continued to vent their indignation, in acts of disrespect to the new Nabob, and in such other demonstrations as they dared to risk. The displays of their dissatisfaction were sufficiently active and manifest to
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.give not only displeasure, but some degree of disturbance to the government. In due time, the approbation of the Honourable the Court of Directors, a favour as often as acquisitions were made, not often denied, arrived in proper form. “We have been induced,” said the Secret Committee, “to postpone expressing our opinion on the late important transactions in the Carnatic, from a desire to be previously furnished with every information which could bear in any material degree upon the question; and we have accordingly waited with impatience for a review of the circumstances which led to the late arrangement in the Carnatic, which the Governor-General, in his letter of the 28th of September, 1801, to the Secret Committee, acquainted us he was then preparing, and which he proposed to forward by the Mornington packet.” The Mornington packet arrived, and the promised review was not received. It never was sent. The Directors accordingly were compelled to approve without it. “We do not,” they say, “feel ourselves called upon to enter into a detail of the circumstances connected with this case; or to state at length the reasoning upon those circumstances which had led to the conclusion we have come to, after the fullest and most deliberate consideration. It is enough to state to you, that we are fully prepared upon the facts, as at present before us, to approve and confirm the treaty in question; and we are of opinion, that, acting under the instructions of the Governor-General, you stand fully justified, upon the evidence, written as well as oral, on which you proceeded, in deeming the rights of the family of Mahomed Ali, as existing under former treaties, to have been wholly forfeited by the systematic perfidy and treachery of the late Nabobs of the Carnatic, Wallajah, and Omdut ul Omrah, in breach of their solemn treaties with
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the Company. The claims of the family having been BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.thus forfeited, and right having accrued to the Company of making provision, at their discretion, for the future safety of the Carnatic, we are further of opinion that the nature of the security which has been provided by the treaty, for the defence and preservation of our interests in that quarter, is of a satisfactory description.”1

One expression alone, in this quotation, appears, on the present occasion, to require any comment. The Directors say, that the Nabob Mahomed Ali forfeited the rights which he enjoyed “under treaties with the Company.” But surely his right to the throne of the Carnatic was not created by any treaty with the Company. It had, for a long series of years, been acknowledged, and proclaimed by the English, as resting on a very different foundation. At the commencement of their political and military operations in the Carnatic, the right of Mahomed Ali by inheritance, to the musnud of his ancestors, was the grand plea which they made use of against the French; and a zeal for the rights of the lawful Prince, was one of the colours with which they were most anxious to adorn their conduct. If, by the violation of a treaty, an hereditary sovereign incurs the forfeiture of his sovereignty, how would the case stand, not to speak of other sovereigns, with the East India Company itself? At a previous epoch, the Directors themselves had vehemently declared, that the treaty was violated; namely, by the assignments which the Nabob had granted on the districts set apart for securing the subsidy. All the rights, therefore, which a violation
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BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1802.of the treaty could forfeit, were of course forfeited, on that occasion. Yet the Directors by no means pretended that they had a right to dethrone the Nabob on that occasion.1

In the letter of Ali Hussain to the agents of the family in England, “Being informed,” he says, “on the 29th, that a public notification had been made through the different streets of Madras, that the Ameer's son would be placed on the musnud on the 31st instant, under the influence of government, I immediately addressed the Governor with the advice of the regents, on the suggested measure, and proposed to accept the terms which had been at first offered; a measure which my mind revolted at, but which seemed to be demanded by the trying exigencies of the moment: and I felt confidence within myself, that, if my offer had been accepted, the liberality of the British nation would have never held me bound by conditions which had been so compulsorily imposed on me; or would have ameliorated a situation, that had been produced by means, which neither honour, nor justice could bear to contemplate. My address was wholly and totally disregarded.”2

Of this offer no mention whatsoever appears in the correspondence of the Company's servants with their employers.

On the 6th of April, 1802, the deposed Nawaub died. He was residing in the apartments of the Sultana Nissa Begum, his paternal aunt, when the malady, supposed a dysentery, began; and, in display of the resentments of the family, his situation was concealed from the English government, and the medical assistance of the English refused, till the case
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was desperate. Nearly at the same time, died Ameer BOOK VI. Chap. 10. 1801.Sing, the deposed Rajah of Tanjore.1

Pondicherry having been restored to the French, agreeably to the treaty of Amiens, Bonaparte alarmed the English by sending out a great list of military officers; seven generals, and a proportional number in the inferior ranks, with 1,400 regular troops, and 100,000l. in specie. The speedy renewal of the war gave them relief from their fears. Possession of Pondicherry was resumed by the English in 1803; but the French Admiral, Linois, had intelligence sufficiently prompt, to enable him to escape with the fleet.2
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CHAP. XI.



Two sets of Princes, connected with the English; one, whom they made resign both the military, and the civil powers of their government; another, whom they made resign only the military powers—Endeavour to make the Peshwa resign the military part of his government—Negotiations for that purpose from 1798 to 1802—Negotiations with Dowlut Row Scindia for a similar purpose—The dependance of all the Mahratta states expected as the effect of the resignation to the English of the military power of any one of them—Negotiation with Scindia ineffectual—War between Scindia and Holkar—The Peshwa driven from Poona—For the sake of being restored by English arms, the Peshwa consents to the resignation of his military power—A treaty for that purpose signed at Bassein—The Governor-General expects, that the other Mahratta states will not dare to quarrel with the English on account of the treaty of Bassein—Scindia assembles his troops, and marches to the vicinity of Boorhanpore—Persevering attempts to make Scindia execute a treaty similar to that of Bassein—The Peshwa restored—Probability of a war with the Mahratta Princes on account of the treaty of Bassein—Junction of the armies of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar—Scindia and the Rajah required by the English to quit their present menacing position, and replace their armies
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at their usual stations—Scindia and the Rajah evading compliance, the English regard them as enemies—Arguments by which the Governor-General endeavored to prove that the line of policy which led to this crisis was good—Investigation of those arguments.





The relations, which the British government endeavoured BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.to establish with the Princes of India, were different in different circumstances. They with whom their connection was the most intimate, the Nabob of Carnatic, the Rajah of Tanjore, the Nabob of Oude, formed one class. Another was formed by those who stood in the circumstances of the Nizam, of the Peshwa, and other Mahratta powers.

From the Princes of the first class, it had lately been the object of the British government to take away not only the military, but likewise the civil power, in the countries to which their titles respectively extended: and, leaving them the name of sovereign, to make them simply pensioners of state. With the rest, this object had been completely attained: With the Nabob of Oude, it was found expedient to make something of a compromise. A sort of delegated administration, which, however, he bound himself to carry on according to the pleasure of the delegator, was left to him in civil affairs, in a portion, not much more than a third, of his former dominions.

To this point the pretensions of the British government had advanced by degrees. At first they were neither very high, nor very definite. The English, for their own security, found it necessary to aid the Princes in defending themselves; and the Princes agreed to re-imbrues the English for the expenses which they incurred.

The powers of government, that is, in India, the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.powers of the sovereign, may be looked upon as divided (in India they are very conspicuously divided) into two portions; the one, the military power; the other, the civil power; the one consisting in authority over the military force; the other in the administration of what is called the civil or non-military affairs of the state, the collection of the revenue, judicature, and police.

The English arrived at the first remarkable stage, when they made the Princes, with whom they were most nearly connected, strip themselves of their military power, to place it in the hands of the English. At this stage affairs remained during a considerable number of years. The sovereigns, placed in these circumstances, held their civil power in a state of absolute dependence. When the civil power, also, was taken away from them, nothing of sovereign remained, but the name. They were in the situation of the Rajah of Sattarah, only in the hands of a people, to whom it was agreeable to treat them with more indulgence.

With the Princes of the second class, the object at which the British government had begun to aim, was, to make each of them resign the military part of his power to the English. In respect to the Nizam, the business had been effectually accomplished by the treaty of 1800; when he agreed to receive the subsidiary force of the English, and alienated a great proportion of his dominions to defray its expense. The eagerness with which Lord Wellesley endeavored to establish the same relations with the principal Mahratta states, he himself informs us, was extreme.

It had suited the English, in their transactions with the Mahratta people, to suppose in the chieftain, called the Peshwa, a species of sovereign authority;
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over the rest of the Mahratta potentates; an BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.authority, which it was abundantly evident that he did not exercise, and to which it was equally evident that the rest of the Princes paid no respect. In the spirit of this policy, it was the wish of Lord Wellesley to induce the Peshwa, in preference to all the rest of the Mahratta chiefs, to consign the defence of his government and dominions to a British force, and to alienate a part of those dominions for the maintenance of that force; an arrangement which that Governor denominates, “an intimate alliance, founded upon principles which should render the British influence and military force the main support of that power.”1

In 1798, when the Nizam consented to transfer the military powers of government within his dominions to the English, a similar proposal of “general defensive alliance, and mutual guarantee,”2 as it is called by Lord Wellesley, was strongly pressed upon the Peshwa. The moment was conceived to be favourable. “The authority of Baajy Rao,” say the Governor-General, “was then reduced to a state of extreme weakness by the imbecility of his counsels, by the instability and treachery of his disposition, and by the prevalence of internal discord; and in that crisis, his government was menaced with destruction, by the overbearing power of Scindia. It was evident that the Peshwa could not expect to be relieved from the oppressive control of Scindia, and to be restored to a due degree of authority within his own dominions, by any other means than by the
Edition: current; Page: [306]
BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.aid of the British power.”1 The Governor-General informs us, that Bajee Rao did even apply to him for assistance. But when he was made to understand, that it would be granted only on the condition of permanently confiding his defence to a British force; that is, of transferring his military power to the hands of the English, “he deliberately,” says the Governor-General, “preferred a situation of degradation and danger, with nominal independence, to a more intimate connection with the British power; which,” adds the Governor-General, sufficiently disclosing his views, “could not be formed on principles calculated to secure to the Peshwa the constant protection of our arms, without, at the same time, establishing our ascendancy in the Mahratta empire.”2 The length of time, during which the Peshwa amused the Governor-General, is thus commented upon by that disappointed ruler: “Subsequent events justify a conclusion, that the long and systematic course of deceitful policy, pursued by the Peshwa on this occasion, was not less the result of a determined spirit of hostility, than of his characteristic jealousy and irresolution.”3

The prospect of the war between the British power and Tippoo Sultaun inspired not the Peshwa, we are assured by the Governor-General, with any of the sentiments of a generous ally; but turned his attention solely to the advantages which the crisis presented “to the faithless and sordid policy of that Prince;” who not only, “by a course of studied and systematic deceit, avoided all active interference in
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the contest, but actually maintained an amicable BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.intercourse with the enemy.”1

The Governor-General even makes profession of having been duped by the Peshwa. “His Excellency,” says he, speaking of himself in the third person, a novelty which this Governor-General introduced, and of which, in the end, the Directors complained, “in a letter addressed to the Honourable the Court of Directors, under date the 20th of March, 1799, expressed his conviction, that the disposition of the Court of Poonah continued perfectly favourable to the British interests; and that want of power would be the sole cause of its inaction, in the event of a war with Tippoo Sultaun.” The course of the war, however, he says, suggested doubts; and at the termination of it they were confirmed, “by the correspondence between Tippoo Sultaun and his agents at Poonah, and by letters from Nana Furnavese, and other Mahratta chieftains, to Tippoo Sultaun, which were discovered among the records of Seringapatam. The combined evidence of those documents, and of the Peshwa's conduct during the war, affords unequivocal proofs of the hostility of his disposition towards the British power; and justifies a conclusion, that, if fortune had appeared to favour the enemy, the Peshwa would openly have espoused his cause.”2

Here was the conduct most exactly, which had been ascribed to the Nabob of Arcot, and by which that prince was declared to have forfeited his throne. The Nabob of Arcot, and the Peshwa were both princes, connected, by treaty, in alliance with the British power. Both were accused of violating the obligations of that treaty, by corresponding with Tippoo
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.Sultaun. We have seen the treatment bestowed upon the one; it remains to contrast with it, that which was bestowed upon the other, of the two offenders.

“Although,” says the Governor-General, “the faithless conduct of the Peshwa not only deprived him of all title to participate in the advantages of the war, but exposed him to the just resentment of the allies, the Governor-General determined to refrain from any measures of a vindictive nature: and to adopt the more liberal policy—of conciliating the Peshwa's interests—and of providing for the security of the allies, and for the general tranquillity of India—by repeating his invitation to the Peshwa to accede to the proposal of general defensive alliance and mutual guarantee; which his Excellency had before unsuccessfully offered to the Peshwa's acceptance.”1

Such was the difference of treatment intended for the Peshwa. The following was the result. “At the close of the war in 1799,” says the Governor-General, “the propositions for the conclusion of defensive and subsidiary engagements with the Peshwa were renewed; under circumstances of peculiar advantage to the latter; who, by acceding to those propositions, would not only have been emancipated from the oppressive control of Scindia, and have been reinstated in the due exercise of his authority—but would have been admitted to a participation in the conquered territory of Mysore.

“But, after a vexatious and illusory discussion of the propositions, during a period of several months, the negotiation was closed, by the Peshwa's rejection of the conditions of defensive alliance, under any admissible modification of them.

“The circumstances of that negotiation afford the
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strongest reason to believe, that the Peshwa never BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.seriously intended to enter into any engagements, on the basis of those propositions; and that he had no other intention, from the commencement of the negociation, than, to avoid the consequences of an unqualified refusal to treat; to deceive the public, and the Governor-General, by the appearances of a disposition to concur in the views of the British government for the tranquillity of India; and to deter Scindia from the prosecution of his ambitious designs, by persuading that chieftain, that the Peshwa had it in his power, and in his contemplation, to avail himself of the protection of the British arms.”1

Nor were these the only occasions on which the Peshwa had been importuned on the same subject. “The negotiations,” continues the same high reporter, “which followed the renewal of the Governor-General's propositions, in the month of April, 1800, were conducted, on the part of the Peshwa, in the same spirit of temporizing policy, and studied evasion, which characterized his conduct in every previous discussion. His long and degrading subjection to the power of Scindia; his repeated experience of the perfidy and violence of that unprincipled chieftain; the internal distraction which prevailed in his government; and the consciousness of his inability to relieve himself from the pressure of his accumulated difficulties, and to secure the efficient exercise of his authority; were insufficient to subdue the emotions of his jealous fears, and to induce him to rely, with confidence on the protection of that state, which alone possessed the power and the will to extricate him from his embarrassments, and to place him in a situation of comparative dignity and security. Those
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.negotiations were closed in the month of September, 1800, when various unprecedented acts of violence and extortion, on the part of Scindia, had aggravated the pressure of the Peshwa, and virtually annihilated his authority—by the Peshwa's absolute rejection of the principal articles of the Governor-General's proposition.

“And he may be considered to have rejected those propositions again, by his refusal to become a party in the treaty of general defensive alliance, concluded with the Nizam in October, 1800, which was tendered to his acceptance.”1

But the complaints of the Governor-General are not confined to the arts by which the Peshwa endeavoured to preserve the advantage of appearing to enjoy the friendship of the British government, and at the same time to avoid the transference and loss of his military power. “While these several negotiations were depending,” says the same great informant, “the Peshwa was at different times employed in carrying on intrigues at the court of Hyderabad, to effect the dissolution of the alliance between the Company and the Nizam, and to engage his Highness to unite with the Mahrattas, at any future favourable opportunity, for the subversion of the British power.”2

Towards the end of the year 1801, the Peshwa came forward with a proposal “for subsidizing a body of British troops.” To this, according to the Governor-General, he was “influenced, either by views and intentions similar to those which regulated his conduct during the negotiations of 1799 and 1800; or, if sincere in his proposal, by the hope of obtaining the aid of the British for the re-establishment
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and security of his authority, without hazarding BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.the introduction of that degree of control and ascendancy, which,” says the Governor-General, “it must be our interest to establish in the Mahratta state, and which it is his object to avoid.”1

“The Peshwa,” continues the Governor-General, “is aware, that the permanent establishment of a British force, in the vicinity of Poonah, would immediately place him, in some degree, in a state of dependance upon the British power. And, therefore, he has stipulated, that the subsidiary force shall be retained within the Company's dominions at all times, except when he shall require its actual services.”2 For the charges of the troops, the Peshwa proposed to assign a territory, in a part of the Peshwa proposed to assign a territory, in a part of the Mahratta country, over which he had only a nominal authority, and “the cession of which,” says the Governor-General, “would not in any degree contribute to render the Peshwa dependant on the support of the British power.”3 Because this arrangement would be extremely advantageous to the Peshwa, without yielding correspondent advantages to the British government, it was the opinion of the Governor-General, that it ought to be rejected. But he was of opinion, that rather than not get a British force subsidized, as he termed it, by the Peshwa; that is, placed in the service, and at the expense of that prince, it was adviseable to consent to his proposition with regard to the station of the troops, provided he would make an acceptable provision in land, or even in money, for their maintenance. The Governor-General reasoned thus: “The measure of subsidizing a British force, even under the limitations which the Peshwa has annexed to that proposal, must immediately
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.place him, in some degree, in a state of dependance upon the British power; provided that measure be uncombined with any other arrangement, calculated to defeat its operation. The dependance of a state, in any degree, upon the power of another, naturally tends to promote a sense of security, derived from the support of a foreign power; produces a relaxation of vigilance and caution; and the operation of natural causes, in augmenting the dependance of the Peshwa on the British power, under the operation of the proposed engagements, would be accelerated by the effect which those engagements would produce, of detaching the state of Poonah from the other members of the Mahratta empire.”1

When “the Governor-General,” these are his own words, “notwithstanding his frequent disappointments in the accomplishment of his salutary views, determined, in June, 1802, to renew his negotiations for the conclusion of an improved system of alliance with the court of Poonah; the increased distraction in the Mahratta state, the rebellion of Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and his successes against the combined forces of the Peshwa and Scindia, appeared to constitute a crisis of affairs, favourable to the success of the proposed negotiation at Poonah. In the course of the discussions which ensued, the Peshwa manifested a desire to contract defensive engagements with the Honourable Company, under circumstances of more apparent solicitude, than had marked his conduct at any former occasion. The Peshwa, however, continued to withhold his consent to any admissible modifications of the Governor-General's propositions, until Jeswunt Rao Holkar, at the head of a formidable army, actually arrived in the vicinity of Poonah.”2
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The crisis to which the Mahratta affairs were then BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.approaching, was preceded and produced by the following circumstances.

Mulhar Rao Holkar, one of the leaders in the army of the first Peshwa, was instrumental in pushing the conquests of the Mahrattas towards the north; and, according to the usual policy of the Mahratta government, received a portion of territory, in the province of Malwa, for the support of his troops. This happened about the year 1736; and laid the foundation of the sovereignty of the Holkar family; for, as the power of the primary government declined, that of the principal viceroys, according to custom, became independent; and, although the memory of their primitive connexion with the Peshwa was not yet obliterated, they not only acted as his equals, but frequently as his masters; and on no occasion, except when it suited their interest, allowed their will to be governed by his. Mulhar Rao Holkar died in the year 1766. He was succeeded by his nephew Tuckajee Holkar. This Prince reigned till the year 1797. He left four sons, Cashee Rao, Mulhar Rao, Eithojee Holkar, and Jeswunt Rao Holkar; the two former alone by the wife, or principal female in his haram. Cashee Rao succeeded Tuckajee, as the eldest son by his wife. A dispute, however, soon arose between Cashee Rao and his brother Mulhar Rao, who claimed an equal share of the inheritance; and they both repaired to Poonah, for the purpose of settling their disputes by the intervention of the Peshwa.

Dowlut Rao Scindia exercised at that time a despotic authority over the Peshwa; and regarded the occasion as highly favourable for adding the possessions of the Holkar family to his own. Having made his terms with Cashee Rao, who is said to have renounced a claim of sixty, and paid a sum of six lacs of rupees, he surprised and slaughtered Mulhar Rao
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.with all his attendants, at Poonah, in the month of September, 1797. The wife of Mulhar Rao, left in a state of pregnancy, produced a son, who was named Khundeh Rao. Scindia possessed himself of the person of the infant; retained Cashee Rao, in a state of dependance; and proposed to govern the Holkar dominions in his name. The two brothers Eithojee and Juswunt Rao had attached themselves to the cause of Mulhar Rao, and were both at Poonah at the time of his murder. Eithojee fled to Kolapoor, where he was taken, in the commission of hostilities; sent to Poonah; and deprived of his life. Jeswunt Rao made his escape to Nagpoor; and was protected for some time; but the instigations of Scindia at last prevailed, and the Rajah placed him in confinement. He contrived to effect his escape, and fled to Mehysser, on the Nerbuddah. Scindia, at that time deeply engaged in his schemes for securing the ascendancy at Poonah, had not leisure to pursue the fugitive with vigour and expedition, and probably thought his resources too contemptible to excite any apprehension. This remissness enabled Jeswunt Rao to avail himself of the means which so plentifully exist in India, of collecting an army of adventurers, by the prospect of plunder. It was not till the year 1801, that Scindia really became alarmed at the progress of Jeswunt Rao. He then began to collect an army on the Nerbuddah, and ordered the chiefs in his dependance to join him with the smallest possible delay. On the 14th of October, 1801, a general engagement took place between the armies of the two chieftains, in the neighbourhood of Indore, the capital of the Holkar family. Holkar was completely vanquished, and fled with the loss of his artillery and baggage.1
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In this situation of affairs, a favourable opportunity BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.appeared to the Governor-General to present itself, of extending his favourite plan for engrossing the military power of the princes in India, or (as he himself chose rather to name it) “the system of general defensive alliance and guarantee.” Colonel Collins, who had acted for some time as resident at Futty Ghur, was, in the month of December, 1801, directed to repair to the camp of Dowlut Rao Scindia. And in the instructions of the Governor-General to that officer, dated the 15th of January 1802, are the following words: “The events which have lately occurred in Hindostan, and the actual situation of the affairs of Dowlut Rao Scindia, appear to his Excellency to afford a more favourable opportunity, than any which has hitherto offered, of persuading that chieftain to become a party, in the proposed system of defensive alliance and reciprocal guarantee, under the provisions of the treaty concluded with his Highness the Nizam, on the 12th of October, 1800.”

The next paragraph of this official paper is important, as exhibiting the views of the Governor-General, with regard to the effect which this defensive alliance, with any one of the Mahratta powers, would have upon all the rest. According to him it would produce one of two effects. Either it would compel them to give up their military power, in imitation of the state which had submitted to that stipulation; or, it would place them “in a dependent and subordinate condition,”—a condition in which “all their ambitious views, and aggressive designs, would be controlled.” “It may reasonably,” says the Governor-General, “be expected, that the success of a negotiation, for that purpose, with Dowlut Rao Scindia, will materially promote the complete accomplishment of his Excellency's views, by inducing the other Mahratta
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.powers to concur in the proposed arrangement, with a view to avoid the dependant and subordinate condition to which they must be reduced, by their exclusion from an alliance, of which the operation, with respect to them, must be, to control all ambitious views and aggressive designs on their part, without affording to those powers the benefits of the general guarantee.” The doctrine of the Governor-General, therefore, was, that, in this manner, every one of the Mahratta states would become dependent upon the English government; those who accepted the alliance, by the alliance; those who did not accept it, by being deprived of it; the same happy effect, in two opposite cases, by the same ingenious combination of means.

In regard to the terms of the proposed alliance, the document in question says, “The general conditions to which, in conformity to the proposed arrangement, it is desirable that Scindia should accede, are, 1st. To subsidize a considerable British force, to be stationed within his dominions: 2dly. To cede in perpetual sovereignty to the Company, an extent of territory, the net produce of which shall be adequate to the charges of that force: 3dly. To admit the arbitration of the British government, in all disputes and differences, between Scindia and his Highness the Nizam, and, eventually, between Scindia, and the other states of Hindostan: and 4thly. To dismiss all the subjects of France now in his service, and to pledge himself never to entertain in his service persons of that description.”

It was declared to be “extremely desirable that Scindia should subsidize the same number of British troops, as is subsidized by his Highness the Nizam.” If Scindia, however, as was suspected, would not, unless in a case of extreme necessity, agree to that
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proposal, the Governor-General was inclined to come BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.down in his terms. He would consent to such a number of troops as even that of two battalions. The obligation of submitting Scindia's relations with other states, to the will of the English, it was not, in the opinion of the Governor-General, very material to exact; for this reason, that, if the other conditions were accepted, this would follow, as a necessary consequence, whether agreeable to Scindia or not. “His Excellency,” says the paper of instructions, “considers Scindia's positive consent to the third condition, to be an object of inferior importance to the rest: as, without any specific stipulation, the arbitration of the British government will necessarily be admitted, to an extent proportioned to the ascendancy, which that government will obtain, over Scindia, under the proposed engagements—and to the power which it will possess of controling his designs.”1

Though Scindia had not only been disposed to receive, but forward to invite the British resident to his camp, he would offer no specific proposition when Colonel Collins arrived. It was the wish of the British negotiator, who joined the camp of Scindia on the 20th of February, 1802, to draw from that chieftain a declaration of a desire for British assistance; and afterwards to present the scheme of the Governor-General as the condition on which that advantage might be obtained. Scindia, however, would not admit that he had any other motive for desiring the presence of a British resident, than to cement the friendship which already subsisted between him and the British government; and to possess a more immediate channel of communication: especially, “as he was guarantee to the treaty between the English government and the Peshwa;” in this expression,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.exhibiting, even at this early period, his jealousy with respect to the negotiation, which was now carrying on at Poonah, for superseding the existing treaty with the Peshwa, by a treaty upon the Governor-General's favourite system, called “the system of defensive alliance, and mutual guarantee.”

After time for ascertaining the state of Scindia's counsels, the resident informed the Governor-General, that “Scindia was anxiously desirous to preserve the relations of friendship at that time subsisting between him and the English government. At the same time,” said he, “I consider it my indispensable duty to apprize your Excellency, that I am firmly persuaded he feels no inclination whatever to improve those relations.” In other words, he was not yet brought so low, as willingly to descend into that situation, in which a participation in the “system of defensive alliance and mutual guarantee” would of necessity place him.

It is important, at the same time, to observe the opinion of this select servant of the Company, with regard to the influence which the treaty so eagerly pursued with the Peshwa would have upon the interests of Scindia; an influence sufficient to make him court as a favour what he now rejected as equivalent to the renunciation of his independence and power. “Indeed,” says the resident, “were the Peshwa to accept the aid of a subsidiary force from our government, I should, in this event, entertain strong hopes, that Scindia, apprehensive lest the authority of the head of the Mahratta empire might be exerted against himself, would solicit as a favour to be admitted to the benefit of the treaty of general defensive alliance.” The resident, in this instance, declared his belief, that the same effect would result from this treaty with regard to Scindia, as the Governor-General had stated to him would be the effect
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of such a treaty, with any one of the Mahratta powers, BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.upon every one of the rest.1

As the resident was convinced, that, in the present circumstances, it was vain to hope for the submission of Scindia to the system of the Governor-General, he thought the dignity of the British government would best be consulted, by forbearing to present the proposition.2

Holkar repaired so quickly the disaster sustained near Indore, that early in 1802 he resolved to change the scene of his operations from Malwa to Poona. Cashee Rao, who had been allowed to repair to Candeish, had for some time shown a disposition to aid in carrying on a joint war against Scindia, for the preservation of the Holkar dominions; but as the resources both of his mind and of his fortune were small, so he had latterly professed his determination to adhere to a system of neutrality in the dispute between Scindia and Jeswunt Rao. The release of the infant Khundeh Rao had been always demanded by Jeswunt Rao, as a condition without which he would listen to no terms of accommodation. Representing Cashee Rao as incapacitated by mental imbecility for the exercise of the powers of government, he proclaimed
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.the infant, head of the Holkar family; demanded, as uncle, the custody of his person, and the administration of his dominions; and gave out his design of marching to Poona, for the purpose of receiving justice at the hand of the Peshwa; that is, of putting down the authority of Scindia, with respect to whom the Peshwa had long been placed in a state of prostrate subjection.

Before the middle of the year 1802, Holkar had prepared a large, and as compared with that of his opponents a well disciplined army; and began his march to the south. Scindia, alive to the danger which threatened his interests at Poona, detached a large portion of his army under one of his principal generals, Suddasheo Bhow. This force arrived in the vicinity of Poona, at the close of the month of September; and afterwards effected a junction with the troops of the Peshwa. On the 25th of October the two armies engaged. After a warm cannonade of about three hours, the cavalry of Holkar made a general charge. The cavalry of Scindia gave way, when that of Holkar cutting in upon the line of infantry, put them to flight and obtained a decisive victory.1
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Colonel Barry Close had been sent in the capacity BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.of resident to Poona, in the month of December of the preceding year, with much reliance upon his approved ability and diligence for leading the Peshwa to a conformity with the earnest wishes of the English government, on the subject of the defensive alliance.

A few days before the arrival of Colonel Close, the Peshwa had communicated to Colonel Palmer, his predecessor, his consent “to subsidize a permanent force of the Company's infantry, to the extent of six battalions, with the corresponding artillery, as the Governor-General had proposed; and to assign territory in Hindustan, producing twenty-five lacs of rupees annual revenue; but that the troops should be retained within the Company's dominions at all times, except when the Peshwa should formally require their actual services.” There was still a great distance between the compliance of the Peshwa, and the Governor-General's demands. “I am to have my last private audience of the Peshwa,” says Colonel Palmer, “this evening: when I will make a final effort to convince his Highness of the lasting security, power, and prosperity,” (such was the language which the Governor-General and his agents held even to one another upon their scheme for reducing to dependance the Princes of Hindustan,) “which he will derive from embracing your Lordship's proposals; though I apprehend, that nothing short of imminent and certain destruction will induce him to make concessions, which militate with his deep-rooted jealousy and prejudices,” (so the aversion to a final renunciation of all independent power was coolly denominated;) “of which he thinks,” continues the dispatch, “that he has already made extraordinary sacrifices.”1
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.The negotiation languished for six months, because the Governor-General, who, during a considerable part of that time, was earnestly endeavouring to accomplish a similar treaty with Dowlut Rao Scindia, did not transmit to the resident his instructions upon the subject of this proposal, till the month of June.

During this interval, the new resident had time to make his observations upon the character and views of the Peshwa, of which he delivered a most unfavourable report. “Every day's experience,” said he, “tends to strengthen the impression, that from the first, your Lordship's amicable and liberal views, in relation to this state, have not only been discordant with the natural disposition of the Peshwa; but totally adverse to that selfish and wicked policy, which, in a certain degree, he seems to have realised: A slight recurrence to the history of his machinations is sufficient to demonstrate, that, in the midst of personal peril, and the lowest debasement, he viewed the admission of permanent support from your Lordship with aversion.”

With regard to the Peshwa's government,” he says, “it seems, if possible, to become less respectable every day. The great families of the state, with whom he is at variance, prevail over him at every contest.”1

When the instructions of the Governor-General arrived, he remarked, upon the stipulation of the Peshwa respecting the station of the subsidized battalions, that “if the Peshwa should ever conclude subsidiary engagements on these terms, he would never apply for the aid of the stipulated force, except in cases of the utmost emergency: and his expectation, probably, is, that the knowledge of his ability to command so powerful a body of troops would alone be
Edition: current; Page: [323]
sufficient to give due weight to his authority, and to BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.preclude any attempt which might otherwise be made for the subversion of it.”

On the next great point, “as the Peshwa,” he said, “probably derives no revenue from the territory which he proposes to assign for the charges of the subsidiary force; and his authority in it is merely nominal, his power and resources would not in any degree be reduced by the cession; and the situation of the districts would be too distant and distinct from those territories in which the Peshwa's authority is established and acknowledged, to excite in his mind any apprehension of being overawed or controlled by the proximity of the Company's territorial power and resources. In his Excellency's judgment, therefore, the cession of the proposed territory in Hindustan would not in any degree contribute to render the Peshwa dependent on the support of the British power.”

The expense, also, both of taking and of retaining possession of these territories, surrounded as they were by the territories of other Mahratta chiefs, and subject to their claims, was stated by the Governor-General as a ground of objection.

Upon the whole, he observes, “By this arrangement, the Peshwa would derive the benefit of our support, without becoming subject to our control.” He, therefore, concludes; “Under all these circumstances his Excellency is decidedly of opinion that an unqualified concurrence in the Peshwa's propositions would produce more injury than benefit to the British interests in India.” At the same time, “From the view,” he declares, “which has thus been taken of the disposition and conduct of the Peshwa towards the British power; and from a consideration of the actual condition of his government, with reference
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.both to its internal weakness, and to the state of its external relations, it is to be inferred, that in the actual situation of affairs, no expectation can reasonably be entertained of the Peshwa's acquiescence in any arrangement founded on the basis of the Governor-General's original propositions.”

What then was to be done? Was the pursuit of the subsidizing arrangement to be resigned? The desires of the Governor-General were too ardent for that conclusion. He resolved, on the other hand, to accede to the wishes of the Peshwa, in regard to the station of the troops, provided he would either assign a less exceptionable territory, or even engage to pay a competent annual sum from his treasury.1

Of the discussions on this new proposition, the detailed reports have not been communicated to parliament, and hence the particulars are unknown. Though Baajee Row manifested, as the Governor-General informed his honourable masters, a solicitude apparently more sincere than formerly, to contract defensive engagements with the British government, he would assent to no admissible modification of the proffered plan, till Jeswunt Rao Holkar was in the vicinity of Poona.

To whomsoever of the two antagonists the impending contest should yield the ascendancy, the Peshwa perfectly foreknew that the result would be equally fatal to his authority. On the 11th of October, he transmitted through his principal minister a set of proposed to the British resident. In these, it was proposed to agree, that the troops should be permanently stationed within his dominions, and that a district should be assigned for their maintenance in
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his territories bordering on the Toombudra.1 We BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.are informed by the Governor-General, that “during the discussions which ensued on the basis of these propositions, the evasive conduct of the Peshwa excited considerable doubts of his sincerity, even at that stage of the negotiation: and that on the 24th of October, when the army of Jeswunt Rao Holkar had arrived within a few miles of Poona, the Peshwa dispatched a deputation to that chieftain, with distinct proposals for an accommodation, which Jeswunt Rao Holkar rejected.”2

On the day of the action, the Peshwa, surrounded by a small body of troops, waited for the result, and then fled; leaving in the hands of his minister, for the British resident, a preliminary engagement to subsidize six battalions, with their proportion of artillery, and to cede a country, either in Guzerat or Carnatic, yielding twenty-five lacs of rupees.

The wishes of the Governor-General were accomplished, beyond his expectation. And he ratified the engagement on the day on which it was received.3

Two grand objects now solicited the attention of the British government. The first was the restoration of the Peshwa; and his elevation to that height of power, which, nominally his, actually that of the British government, might suffice to control the rest of the Mahratta states. The next was, to improve this event for imposing a similar treaty upon others of the more powerful Mahratta princes; or, at any rate, to prevent, by all possible means, their alarm from giving birth to an immediate war, which (especially in the existing state of the finances) might expose
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.the present arrangement to both unpopularity and trouble.

The following occurrences were meanwhile taking place. The Peshwa, having repaired in the first instance to a fortress, not far distant from Poona, afterward pursued his flight to the fortress of Mhar, on the river Bancoote, in the Concan, a maritime country on the western side of the Ghauts. Holkar, whose object it probably was to obtain possession of the person of the Peshwa, and to make the same use of his authority which had been made by Scindia, attempted, but not with sufficient rapidity, to intercept his flight.

Disappointed in this prospect, Holkar turned his views to Emrut Rao, the adopted son of the Peshwa's father, the late Ragoba; and detaching a body of troops to the place of his residence, brought him to Poona. The Peshwa's flight from his capital was treated as an abdication, or akin to an abdication, of the government; and affairs were administered in the name of Emrut Rao.

To the British resident, who remained at Poona, when it fell into the hands of Holkar, that chieftain, as well as Emrut Rao, diligently represented their views as friendly toward the British state, or even submissive; and they employed their earnest endeavours to prevail upon him to remain at Poona. As this, however, might appear to afford the sanction of his government to the new authority, he thought it his duty to withdraw, and having, not without difficulty, obtained that permission, departed on the 28th of November.

“At the conferences,” says the Governor-General, “holden, by the resident, with Emrut Rao and Jeswunt Rao Holkar, on the eve of the resident's departure
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from Poona, both those chieftains expressed their BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.solicitude for the preservation of the friendship of the British government; and directly and earnestly, appealed to the resident for his advice in the present situation of affairs. Jeswunt Rao Holkar expressly intimated a wish for the mediation of the resident, for the express purpose of effecting an accommodation with the Peshwa.”1

The Peshwa seemed unable to believe himself in safety, in any place accessible to Jeswunt Rao Holkar; and requested that a British ship might be sent to Bancoote, to convey him when he should account it necessary to Bombay. This determination the resident at Poona thought it would not be adviseable to encourage. But, “under the determination,” says the Governor-General, “which I had adopted, of employing every effort, for the restoration of the Peshwa's authority, and in the actual situation of the Peshwa's affairs, it appeared to me, to be extremely desirable, that the Peshwa should immediately place himself under the protection of the British power, by retiring to Bombay.”2

The resident from Poonah arrived at Bombay on the 3d of December. The Peshwa, notwithstanding the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.permission to place himself under the protection of the British government at Bombay, had yet remained in the Concan, with a declared desire, however, of repairing to his own city of Bassein, where he would enjoy the protection of a British force. His minister arrived at Bombay on the 8th of December. At a conference, the next day, with Colonel Close, he expressed the earnest desire of his master to conclude the proposed engagements with the British government; to the end that, all its demands being complied with, and all obstacles removed, he might as speedily as possible be restored to his authority by the British troops. On the 16th, the Peshwa arrived at Bassein; and was presented with a draught of the proposed treaty. The 18th was appointed for the day on which the arrangement should be completed. After a long discussion, the whole of the draught was accepted, with some alterations in one or two of the articles. And the treaty, called, from the place of transaction, the treaty of Bassein, was signed on the 31st.

The great and leading articles were those to which the Peshwa engaged himself, by the paper left behind him, when he fled from Poona; the permanent establishment within his dominions of the force hired from the Company; and the assignment of a portion of territory, convenient for the English, as the equivalent in exchange. Of the remaining articles, the most important was that, by which the Peshwa bound himself never to make war upon any state, but to submit all his differences with other powers to the English; and, in short, not to hold any intercourse with other states, except in concert with the English government.

A local affair of considerable importance was commodiously regulated through this treaty. The pecuniary claims of the Peshwa upon Surat, and the territory
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lately ceded by the Guyckwar in Guzerat were BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.commuted for a territory yielding a revenue of the same annual amount.

In one respect this Mahratta ally was left in a situation different from the situation of those other allies, the Nabobs of Oude and Carnatic. In their case the English rulers insisted upon a power of ordering, agreeably to their wisdom, the internal administration of the country; or rather of taking it wholly into their hands; alleging, as cause, the bad government of those rulers, which it was neither consistent with the interest, nor the humanity, nor the honour of the English government, to render itself the means of preserving in existence. With regard to the one of these powers, the design was partially, with regard to the other, it was completely, executed. With the Peshwa, for the present, the same demand for good government produced not the same effects. In the 17th article of the treaty, “The Honourable Company's Government,” it is said, “hereby declare, that they have no manner of concern with any of his Highness's children, relations, subjects, or servants; with respect to whom his Highness is absolute.” Nay more, “the subsidiary force is to be at all times ready for such services, as, the due correction of his Highness's subjects and dependants, and the overawing and chastising of rebels, or exciters of disturbance.” In other words, to what degree, soever, of misery, the vices of the Peshwa's government may reduce his subjects, the English have “no manner of concern” with that: But if these unhappy subjects make any effort to relieve themselves, the English troops shall be employed in exterminating them. When combinations of rulers take place, and the control of subjects is sufficiently removed, the treatment which is carved out for subjects is pretty much the same, whether the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.soil be Asiatic or European; the subjects, Mahrattas, or French.

The turn, which the counsels of Scindia might take, or might take, or might receive, in consequence of the present transactions with the Peshwa, was the object which next solicited, and that in a high degree, the attention of the British government. By a letter, dated the 16th of November, 1802, the resident at Poona is apprized, “that it is the Governor-General's intention to avail himself immediately of the state of affairs at Poona, and of the defeat of Scindia's troops by Holkar, to renew overtures to Scindia, for the purpose of inducing that chieftain to enter into the terms of the general defensive alliance.” And along with the notification of the engagements concluded with the Peshwa, Scindia received, an invitation to co-operate with the British government in the restoration of that chief to his throne, and also proposals for a treaty to be concluded with himself, on terms similar to those which had been accepted by the Peshwa.1

In another letter, on the 22d of the same month, the Governor-General still further unfolded his policy. “In fulfilling the obligation now imposed on us, of re-instating the Peshwa in his government, and restoring his authority, his Excellency is anxious; first, to avoid all contest with either Scindia or Holkar; and secondly, to refrain from checking the progress of the present warfare between these chieftains.” As the immediate march of the British troops for the restoration of the Peshwa would be likely to begin a war between Holkar and the Company, and to terminate that between him and Scindia; as the intermediate period, at the same time, “presented the most favourable crisis for the accomplishment of his
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Excellency's views of defensive alliance with Scindia;” BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1802.and, as “a delay in the advance of the troops might afford the further advantage of improving the terms of the defensive alliance with the Peshwa, by obtaining his consent to those conditions which he theretofore rejected,” the resident was informed that there was no occasion to be in a hurry, in commencing operations for the re-instatement of the Peshwa.1

Though the Governor-General expressed his conviction, that “nothing but necessity would induce Scindia to co-operate in the success of the present arrangement;” he yet entertained the hope, that he would perceive his inability to prevent that success; and, as the engagement with the Peshwa would place him under the power of the English, whether he consented to the plan of hired troops, or did not consent to it, that he would account dependance, with the benefit of their alliance, less objectionable, than dependance, without it.2 The home authorities, accordingly, who are always presented with the fair face of things, were told by his Excellency, under date the 24th of December, 1802, “I entertain a confident expectation of the complete accomplishment of all our views, and of the restoration of tranquillity, within the Mahratta dominions, by the means of amicable negotiation. It appears probable, that Scindia will cordially co-operate with the British government, in the restoration of the Peshwa's authority; and will consent, in the actual state of his own affairs, to become a party in the proposed system of defensive arrangements.”3

Yet the resident at Poona is told, in a letter dated the 30th of the same month: “Notwithstanding the Peshwa's recent recognition of his engagements with
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.you, his Excellency the Governor-General is induced to apprehend, from the general tenor of the information contained in your dispatches, and from the character and disposition of the Peshwa, that his Highness is more disposed to rely on the exertions of Scindia, than on those of the British government, for his restoration to the musnud of Poona.” Under such views, “his Highness,” he added, “may possibly evade the conclusion of a definitive treaty, on the basis of the preliminary engagement. This result will be rendered still more probable by an accommodation between Scindia and Holkar. The intelligence contained in a dispatch from the resident with Dowlut Rao Scindia, under date the 19th instant, strongly indicates the probability of that event. And it is apparent, that the principal inducement, both of Scindia and Holkar, to enter into such accomodation, is the apprehension which they entertain of the interference of the British power, for the restoration and establishment of the Peshwa's authority. It may be expected, therefore, that an accommodation between these chieftains will be accompanied by proposals to the Peshwa, under the mediation and guarantee of Scindia, of a nature which his Highness may be disposed to accept, rather than be indebted for the restoration of his authority to the interposition of the British government.”1 It was the 10th of February, 1803, before the Governor-General disclosed to the home authorities his opinion that, “the knowledge,” as he expresses it, “of our arrangement with the Peshwa, may induce Dowlut Rao Scindia, and Holkar, to compromise their differences; and to offer to the Peshwa proposals for restoring his Highness to the musnud of Poona, which his Highness may be disposed
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to accept, notwithstanding the actual conclusion BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of engagements for that purpose with the British government.”1

With regard to the policy which the state of things created by this conduct would suggest, he says: “In such an event, it is not my intention to attempt to compel the Peshwa to adhere to the faith of his engagements, at the hazard of involving the Company in a war with the combined Mahratta states.”2

This is an admission, that the probable evil of a war with the combined Mahratta states was more than a counterbalance for the probable good to be derived from placing them all in dependance; the effect, which the treaty with the Peshwa, he said, would produce, whether they entered, or refused to enter, into the scheme for hiring the British troops.

Notwithstanding this opinion of the preponderant evil of a war with the combined Mahratta states, the Governor-General declares, that, if the Peshwa adhered to his engagements, and had the concurrence of his principal subjects, he should not allow the chance of any other opposition to deter him. Yet from that preponderant evil, the power of the Peshwa would still be the only defalcation; and how little the account which could be justly made of the power of the Peshwa, the Governor-General was amply informed.

To one view, taken by the Marquis Wellesley, of the question of restoring the Mahratta sovereign, philosophy will not withhold unqualified praise. “The stipulations of treaty” (says he, in his instructions, dated 2d of February, 1803, to the Governor of Fort St. George), “on which I founded my intention to facilitate the restoration of the Peshwa's authority,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.originated in a supposition that the majority of the Mahratta jaghiredars, and the body of the Peshwa's subjects, entertain a desire of co-operating in that measure. Justice and wisdom would forbid any attempt to impose, upon the Mahrattas, a ruler, whose restoration to authority was adverse to every class of his subjects. The recent engagements with the Peshwa involve no obligation of such an extent. Whatever might be the success of our arms, the ultimate objects of these engagements could not be attained, by a course of policy so violent and extreme. If, therefore, it should appear, that a decided opposition to the restoration of the Peshwa is to be expected, from the majority of the Mahratta jaghiredars, and from the body of the Peshwa's subjects, I shall instantly relinquish every attempt to restore the Peshwa to the musnud of Poona.”1

This virtuous example, till such a time as the majority of the people in every civilized country have become sufficiently enlightened to see the depravity of the case in its own essence, will help to stamp with infamy the most flagitious perhaps of all the crimes which can be committed against human nature, the imposing upon a nation, by force of foreign armies, and for the pleasure or interest of foreign rulers, a government, composed of men, and involving principles, which the people for whom it is destined have either rejected from experience of their badness, or repel from the experience or expectation of better. Even where the disparity of civilization and knowledge were very great; and where it were beyond dispute, that a civilized country was about to bestow upon a barbarous one the greatest of all possible benefits, a good and beneficent government;
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even there, it would require the strongest circumstances BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.to justify the employment of violence or force. But, where nations, upon a level only with another, in point of civilization, or perhaps below it, proceed with bayonets to force upon it a government, confessedly bad, and prodigiously below the knowledge and civilization of the age, under the pretence of fears that such a nation will choose a worse government for itself, these nations, or their rulers, if the people have no voice in the matter, are guided by views of benefit to themselves, and despise the shame of trampling upon the first principles of humanity and justice.

In paying the homage which he counted due to the will of a nation of Mahrattas, the Marquis Wellesley was not making a sacrifice of interests, which he held in low esteem. In his address to the home authorities, dated the 24th of December, 1802, he declared his conviction, that “those defensive engagements” which he was desirous of “concluding with the Mahratta states, were essential to the complete consolidation of the British empire in India, and to the future tranquillity of Hindustan.”1 Yet the complete consolidation of the British empire in India, and the future tranquillity of Hindustan, which could never exist till a sufficient bridle was put in the mouth of the Mahratta power, he thought it his duty to sacrifice, or to leave to the care of unforeseen events, rather than violate the freedom of will, in this important concern, of the people of one of the Mahratta states.

When the Governor-General resolved on restoring the Peshwa, upon the supposition that he and his subjects were consenting to the plan, a very low estimate
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of the opposition to be expected from other quarters was presented by the Governor-General to his superiors, in his language of the 10th of February, 1803. “No reason,” said he, “exists, to justify an apprehension, that in the event supposed, Scindia would proceed to such an extremity, as to make opposition, either singly, or united with Holkar. Nor is any such desperate course of proceeding to be apprehended from the Rajah of Berar. Uncombined with the power of Scindia, Holkar will not probably venture to resist the Peshwa. Holkar also has anxiously solicited the arbitration of the British government with respect to his claims. He has transmitted distinct propositions with that view to Lieutenant-Colonel Close.”1

The substance of these propositions was, that the Peshwa should give to him a crore of rupees for the payment of his troops; that he should also give to him a fortress, as he had given Ahmednugger to Scindia; that he should effect the release of Kundee Rao; and grant him investiture, as the heir and representative of the Holkar family. Both the Governor-General and the Peshwa held these demands inadmissible. So far from yielding money to Holkar, the Peshwa thought he ought much rather to get money from him, on account of the depredations committed on his dominions. The gift of a fortress to one person was no reason, he said, why he should be called upon to give one to another: and as to the proposition for disinheriting Cashee Rao, it was forbidden by justice, and by the investiture which had been bestowed upon him during the life of his father; at the same time there was an expedient for reconciling the interests of both, as Cashee Rao had no
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children, and might secure the succession to Khundee BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.Rao by adoption. The Governor-General held, that the rights of Cashee Rao, founded on descent, should on no account be allowed to be disputed. But he was of opinion, that the Peshwa ought willingly to grant a considerable sum of money, to obtain the departure of Holkar; and was even ready to guarantee a loan raised for that purpose: And, if the grant of a fort and jaghire would suffice to avert a rupture, it would not, he conceived, be good policy to withhold it.1

“On the receipt of these instructions,” says the Governor-General, “Colonel Close endeavoured to persuade his Highness the Peshwa, to offer to Holkar such concessions as might induce Holkar to compromise the subsisting differences, and to admit his Highness's peaceable return to his capital. His Highness, however, manifested an insuperable aversion to offer any concession to Holkar, whom he considered to be a rebel against the legitimate authority of the sovereign power of the Mahratta empire.” It then remained for Colonel Close to communicate by letter to Holkar, the sentiments of the Governor-General on the subject of his demands; the assurance, that the British government would use its influence to adjust his claims upon Scindia; an offer, to guarantee any adjustment which he might accomplish with the Peshwa; and, lastly, the expression of a hope that he would not oppose the execution of the recent engagements between the British and Poonah states.2

The expectations of the Governor-General that he might be able, through the operation of the new treaty with the Peshwa, to intimidate Scindia into
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.an acceptance of the chains which he had forged for him, he did not easily relinquish. That chieftain, after such operations as he had in his power for the increase and equipment of his army, proceeded towards the south; crossed the Nerbuddah on the 4th of February; and on the 23d arrived in the vicinity of Boorhanpore. Colonel Collins, who had left the camp of Scindia early in the preceding May, but had received in the month of December commands to return for the purpose of proposing to him a treaty, on similar terms with that of Bassein, arrived at his camp on the 27th of February, “The advices,” says the Governor-General in his address to the home authorities of the 19th of April, 1802, “which I received from that officer, and from other quarters, induced me to entertain suspicions that Dowlut Rao Scindia meditated an accommodation with Jeswunt Rao Holkar; and a confederacy with that chieftain, and with the Rajah of Berar, for the purpose of frustrating the success of the arrangements concluded between the British government and the Peshwa: without, however, intending to proceed to the desperate extremity of provoking a contest with the British arms.

“This suspicion,” he adds, “was corroborated, by the artifices practised, at the camp of Scindia, upon the arrival of Colonel Collins, with a view of eluding the communication of the propositions with which Colonel Collins was charged, under my authority. And the appearance of Scindia's intentions became still more unsatisfactory, from the evasive, and indirect, or vexatious replies, which Colonel Collins received to my propositions, after he had, at length, obtained access to Dowlut Rao Scindia.”

At an interview, which the resident at last obtained with Scindia on the 24th of March, that chief informed
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him that a messenger was on his way to his camp BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.from the Peshwa, for the purpose of explaining to him the nature and extent of the engagements recently concluded between the Peshwa and the British government, and that till the communications of this agent were received, he could not give a decided answer to the proposition about concluding with the English a treaty similar to that of Bassein. He gave, at the same time, the strongest assurance, that he had no intention to obstruct the execution of the agreement between the Peshwa and the British government; on the other hand, that he desired to improve the friendship at present happily existing between that government and the Peshwa, as well as himself.

In this declaration, the Governor-General professed his belief that Scindia was perfectly sincere. “Nor is that sincerity,” said he, “inconsistent with a desire to delay his assent to the treaty of Bassein, and to the propositions immediately affecting his separate interests, until he shall have received a direct communication from the Peshwa;—or incompatible with the project for a confederacy between Scindia, Holkar, and the Rajah of Berar, for purposes of a defensive nature—which I consider to be the extreme object of Scindia, in negotiating such a confederacy, without any views whatever of hostility towards the British power.”

Berar was the next, in power and consequence, among the Mahratta states. “The intelligence which I have received from the court of the Rajah of Berar,” says the Governor-General, “indicates that chieftain's dissatisfaction at the conclusion of defensive engagements between the British government and his Highness the Peshwa.—Whatever may be the aversion of the Rajah of Berar to the interposition of the British
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.government, in the affairs of the Mahratta empire, any attempt, on the part of that chieftain, to obstruct the execution of the treaty of Bassein, would be inconsistent with the systematic caution of his character; and imprudent, in the actual state of his military power, and in the exposed situation of his territories.”1

At so late a date, therefore, as the 19th of April, 1803, the home authorities were assured by their Indian substitute, that no prospect of a war, the offspring and consequence of the treaty of Bassein, presented itself in any quarter. The same language was employed even so late as the 20th of June. “Every circumstance,” he assured them, “connected with the restoration of the Peshwa, justifies a confident expectation of the complete and pacific accomplishment of the beneficial objects of the late alliance.—Although the information,” he added, “contained in Lieutenant-Colonel Close's address to your Honourable Committee, and the tenor of my latest advices from the courts of Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, tend to countenance the rumours of a projected confederacy, between these chieftains, and Jeswunt Rao Holkar, the existence of any such confederacy is still a subject of considerable doubt.—If any such combination has been formed, its object is probably restricted to purposes of a defensive nature, without involving any views of hostility towards the British power.—The local situation, and comparative power and resources, of Scindia and Ragojee Bhonslah, preclude the apprehension of any attempt of these chiefs to subvert the Peshwa's government, or the treaty of Bassein, at the desperate hazard of a war
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with the British power. The situation of Holkar's BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.power is entirely precarious and accidental. The instability of the resources of that adventurer reduces the continuance of his power to the utmost degree of uncertainty; and absolutely deprives him of the means of opposing any systematic or formidable resistance to the operation of an alliance with the Poonah state.—My instructions to Colonel Collins of the 5th May, and to Lieutenant-Colonel Close, of the 7th May, together with my letter of the 15th May to the Rajah of Berar, have probably already produced an arrangement of a pacific nature, with all the chiefs of the Mahratta empire, whose formal accession to the treaty of Bassein has not yet been signified to me.”1

The Peshwa received not the treaty, ratified by the Governor-General in council, earlier than the 18th of March, 1803. The Governor-General informs the Court of Directors, that “he received it with demonstrations of the highest satisfaction.”2

As early, however, as the month of November preceding, the Governor of Fort St. George, under intimations from both the Governor-General and the resident at Poona, was induced to assemble a considerable army at Hurryhur, on the Mysore frontier; which, under the character of an army of observation, might be ready to be employed as events should determine. The Governor of Bombay, received, in like manner, instructions to hold in readiness for immediate service the disposable force of that presidency. And a considerable detachment of the subsidiary force at Hyderabad was, through the resident, directed to be placed in a similar state of preparation.3
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.At the end of February the whole of the subsidiary or hired force in the service of the Nizam, under the command of Colonel Stevenson, together with 6,000 infantry, and 9,000 of that Prince's native cavalry marched from the capital towards the western frontier of the Hyderabad dominions, and reached Paraindah, distant 116 miles from Poona, on the 25th of March.

From the army assembled at Hurryhur under the immediate command of General Stuart, the General-in-Chief of the forces under the presidency of Madras, a detachment, consisting of one regiment of European, and three of native cavalry, two regiments of European, and six battalions of native infantry, with a due proportion of artillery, amounting, in the whole, to 1,709 cavalry, and 7,890 infantry, exclusive of 2,500 horse belonging to the Rajah of Mysore, began to advance towards Poonah, on the 8th of March. For the command of this detachment; a service, requiring, as he affirmed, considerable skill, both military and diplomatic; the Governor of Fort St. George recommended the brother of the Governor-General, Major-General the Honourable Arthur Wellesley, as a man who, not only possessed, in a high degree, the other requisite gifts, but who, by his command at Seringapatam, had been accustomed to transactions with the jaghiredars of the Poona state, and successful in gaining their confidence and respect. A man so related, and so recommended, was not likely to see the merits of any competitor set in preference to his own.

On the 12th of April, the force under General Wellesley crossed the Toombudra. On the 15th, the distance was not great between him and Colonel Stevenson, who arrived at Aklooss. Jeswunt Rao Holkar, who had some time quitted Poona, arrived at Chandore, 300 miles from Poona, on the same
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day on which Colonel Stevenson arrived at Aklooss; BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.and nothing remained to oppose the British army. It was unnecessary, therefore, to carry the whole of the troops to Poona, where the country was too recently, and severely ravaged, to yield any supplies. Colonel Stevenson was directed to place the troops of the Nizam at Gardoree, within the Nizam's frontier, and to take post with the subsidiary troops, augmented by the King's Scotch Brigade, further up the Beema, near its junction with the Mota Mola.

Emrut Rao was left at Poona, with a guard of about 1,500 men, alone, and helpless, when Holkar marched. It was, nevertheless, reported, that this defenceless individual, who from first to last is represented, by the English themselves, as utterly averse to the part which he was constrained by Holkar to act, had it in contemplation to burn the city of Poona; that is, to render his peace impracticable with the people into whose hands he saw that he must inevitably fall. Intimation of this report, and it would seem of some belief in the danger which it announced, was transmitted (repeatedly we are told) by Colonel Close to General Wellesley. The Peshwa, by whom it is not wonderful that it was believed, transmitted an urgent request that General Wellesley would detach some of the Poona officers with their troops to provide for the safety of his family. Counting the Poona officers, with their troops, a security ill-proportioned to the danger, General Wellesley resolved to attempt an unexpected arrival. Intelligence was received on the 19th, that Emrut Rao was still at Poona on the 18th, and had removed the family of the Peshwa to Servagur; which was concluded to be a step preparatory to the burning of the town. General Wellesley, therefore, taking with him only
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.the cavalry, and making a night march through a difficult pass, and a rugged country, arrived at Poona on the 20th, having accomplished, from the evening of the 19th a march of forty, and from the morning of that day, that is, in a period of about thirty-two hours, a march of sixty miles. Emrut Rao heard of the march of the British cavalry, on the morning of the 20th, and quitted Poona, but without any act implying that he had ever entertained a thought of setting fire to the place.

In conducting the Peshwa to Poona, it only now remained to provide a sufficient quantity of pomp. The description shall be given in the words of the Governor-General himself. “During these transactions, arrangements were made by the Governor of Bombay, and by Lieutenant-Colonel Close, for the march of the Peshwa towards Poona. A detachment, consisting of his Majesty's 78th regiment (which left Bengal on the 7th of February, and arrived at Bombay on the 5th of April, 1803), five companies of his Majesty's 84th regiment, a proportion of artillery, and 1,035 sepoys—in all 2,205 men, was formed, and placed under the command of Colonel Murray, of his Majesty's 84th regiment, as an escort to his Highness, who left Bassein, attended by Colonel Close, on the 27th of April.

“On the 7th of May, the Peshwa passed General Wellesley's camp, at Panowallah, near Poona. On the 13th, his Highness, attended by his brother Chimnajee Appa, and by a numerous train of the principal chiefs of the Mahratta empire, proceeded towards the city of Poonah; and, having entered his palace, resumed his seat upon the musnud, and received presents from his principal servants.

“During the procession, the British resident, accompanied by his suite, paid his compliments to his
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Highness, when a salute was fired by the British BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.troops, encamped in the vicinity of Poona, under the command of General Wellesley. This salute was immediately answered from the fortress of Seonghur.

“While the procession passed the bridge into the city, a second salute was fired from the British camp; and as the Peshwa approached the palace, salutes were fired from the several posts of the Mahratta troops. At sunset salutes were fired from all the hill forts in the vicinity of Poona.”1

Notwithstanding the confident expectation which the Governor-General had expressed to the home authorities, not only on the 19th of April, but as late as the 20th of June, that no war would rise out of the treaty of Bassein;2 yet before that time, as he himself informs us, “he had great cause to doubt the sincerity of Scindia's professions; while the increasing rumours of an hostile confederacy, against the British government, between that chieftain and the Rajah of Berar, rendered it indispensably necessary to ascertain, with the least practicable delay, whether the British government were likely to be exposed to a contest with the confederated chieftains. These considerations determined the Governor-General to lose no time in furnishing Colonel Collins with detailed instructions for the guidance of his conduct, in this important and delicate crisis of affairs. With a view to expedition, the Governor-General's instructions were, in the first instance, transmitted in the form of notes, under date the 5th of May, 1803, and were afterwards formed into a detailed dispatch, which was forwarded to Colonel Collins on the 3d of June.”3

Nay, when the time arrived, at which it was desirable
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.to make it appear, that the hostile mind of Scindia, and not provocation by the British Government, had produced the calamity of war, the Governor-General actually enters into an argument to prove, that from an early date, he had evidence which rendered in no respect doubtful, the existence of hostile projects in the mind of Scindia. After a display of the motives, in their own ambition, which Scindia and the Rajah of Berar had for aversion to the treaty of Bassein, “The belief,” he says, “that those chieftains entertained designs hostile to the British government, at the earliest stages of the negotiation between the resident and Dowlut Rao Scindia, is supported by the information which the Governor-General has from time to time received of the proceedings of that chieftain.” Of this information he specifies three instances; one contained in a letter of Colonel Collins, dated the 9th of March; a second received on the 17th of June; and the third alone, not more conclusive than the former, sent by Colonel Collins on the 14th, not received till after the date of his pacific declaration to the home authorities. “These facts,” he then subjoins, “reciprocally confirm each point of the evidence of Scindia's hostile projects; and, combined with information, at various times communicated, by the resident with Dowlut Rao Scindia, of the proceedings of that chieftain; with the repeated rumours of the formation of an hostile confederacy between Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, and Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and with the tenor and result of the resident negotiations, must be considered to amount to full proof of the alleged design of subverting the alliance formed between the British government and the Peshwa.”1
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The resident with Dowlut Rao Scindia, having BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.received the Governor-General's instructions, obtained an audience of that chief on the 28th of May. He was encamped at a place called Chickley, not far from Boorhampore, where his own dominions border on those of the Rajah of Berar. The conference was opened, on the part of the resident, by communicating to Scindia the treaty of Bassein, of which a copy was presented and read. “When the whole of the treaty had been distinctly explained to the Maharajah, I then asked him,” says the resident, “whether he thought it contained any thing injurious to his just rights; since I had reason to think some doubts had arisen in his mind on this head?”—It was one of his ministers who thought proper to reply; “acknowledging,” says the resident, “that the treaty did not contain any stipulation prejudicial to the rights of the Maharajah; to which the latter assented.”

“I proceeded,” says Colonel Collins, “to state—that negotiations had of late been carried on between Dowlut Rao Scindia and the Berar Rajah—that these chiefs were, I understood, to have an interview shortly, somewhere in the vicinity of this place—that the Maharajah had concluded a peace with Jeswunt Rao Holkar, in whose camp a vakeel also now resided on the part of Ragojee Bhonslah—that Scindia had likewise avowed an intention of proceeding with his army to Poona, accompanied by the Berar Rajah—and that, on combining these circumstances, I could not but suspect that this court meditated designs adverse to the interests of the British government;—for, since his Highness the Peshwa was restored to the musnud of Poona, the presence of the Maharajah at that capital could not now be of any use, but, on
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.the contrary, might be productive of evil consequences—nor could the longer continuance of the Maharajah in the Deccan be necessary to his security, since he had come to an accommodation with the only enemy from whom he had any thing to apprehend, south of the Nerbuddah; That, therefore, I felt it my duty to require an unreserved explanation from this court, as well respecting the intent of the proposed interview between the Maharajah and the Berar Rajah, as regarding the nature of the engagements entered into by those chiefs with Jeswunt Rao Holkar—as their recent union, and present proceedings, induced some suspicion, that they were confederated, either for the purpose of invading the territories of our allies, his Highness the Peshwa, and Nabob Nizam; or of subverting the arrangements lately concluded between the British government and Baajee Rao.”1

The resident repeated the assurance of the peaceable and even amicable views of the British government; and stated the arguments of himself and of the Governor-General to prove to Scindia, not only that the British government and the Peshwa had a perfect right to contract the engagements into which they had entered, but that the interests of Scindia, by that means, were in no respect affected.

On the part of Scindia, it was in like manner, affirmed, that he had no intention whatever to invade either the territory of his Highness the Peshwa, or of the Nabob Nizam. But, in regard to the negotiations with the Berar Rajah and Holkar, the resident was informed, that Scindia could afford him
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no explanations till the conference between him and BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.Ragojee Bhonslah had taken place. No mode of address, conciliatory or menacing, was left untried by the resident to extort a declaration, whether opposition to the treaty of Bassein was or was not in contemplation. Scindia was informed, that if he maintained his present suspicious attitude, the British government would be called upon to make preparations upon his frontier, which would be attacked in every part the moment that intelligence was received of his accession to any hostile confederacy. After various expostulations, both with the ministers and with Scindia himself, the resident says, that he turned at last to Scindia, and “conjured him, in language both urgent and conciliatory, to remove all his doubts and suspicions, by an immediate and candid avowal of his intentions.”

“Dowlut Rao,” he continues, “in reply to these instances on my part, said, that he could not, at present, afford me the satisfaction I demanded, without a violation of the faith which he had pledged to the Rajah of Berar. He then observed, that the Bhonslah was distant no more than forty coss from hence, and would probably arrive here in the course of a few days: that immediately after his interview with the Rajah, I should be informed whether it would be peace or war.”

It is proper to state, that the resident, in answer to his remonstrance against the march of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar to Poona, received a solemn assurance, which he appears not to have disbelieved, that the Peshwa, after his return to his capital, had repeatedly written to the Maharajah and the Berar Rajah, inviting them both to Poona. It is also proper to give the following circumstance, in the words of the resident; “Neither Scindia,” says he, “nor his
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.ministers, made any remarks on the treaty of Bassein, nor did they request a copy of it.”1

It will hardly be pretended that the words of Scindia, “after my interview with the Rajah, you shall be informed whether it will be peace or war,” yielded any information which was not conveyed by the more evasive expressions of his ministers; “till after the Maharajah's interview with the Rajah, it is impossible for him to afford you satisfaction with regard to the declaration which you require.” That the words were intended by Scindia to convey a menace or insult, there is not a single circumstance to countenance the slightest suspicion. And it is visible from the words of the resident, that they were not by him understood in that sense. “These words he delivered,” says he, “with much seeming composure. I then asked, whether I must consider this declaration as final, on his part; which question was answered in the affirmative by the ministers of Dowlut Rao Scindia. Here the conference, which had lasted three hours, ended; and I soon after took a respectful leave of the Maharajah.”

The Governor-General describes as very great, the effect which was produced upon his mind, by the phrase of the Maharajah. “This unprovoked menace of hostility,” says he, “and the insult offered to the British government, by reference of the question of peace or war to the result of a conference with the Rajah of Berar, who, at the head of a considerable army, had reached the vicinity of Dowlut Rao Scindia's camp, together with the indication which it afforded of a disposition on the part of those chieftains to prosecute the supposed objects of their confederacy, rendered it the duty of the British
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government to adopt, without delay, the most effectual BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.measures for the vindication of its dignity, and for the security of its rights and interests, and those of its allies, against any attempt on the part of the confederates, to injure or invade them.”1

In consequence of a movement of Holkar towards the frontier of the Nizam, and some depredations committed in the vicinity of Aurungabad, General Wellesley, at the end of April, had directed Colonel Stevenson, with the British force under his command, and the united troops of the Nizam, to move northwards to that city. Towards the end of May, General Stuart, with the army under his command, amounting to three companies of European artillery, one regiment of European, and two regiments of native cavalry, three corps of European infantry, and five battalions of sepoys, with a large train of artillery, crossed the Toombudra, and proceeded forward to Mudgul, a position where, without abandoning the defence of the English frontier, he was sufficiently near the scene of action, to support the advanced detachment, and overawe those who might be found refractory among the Mahratta chiefs. On the 4th of June, Major General Wellesley marched from Poona with the main body of the forces under his command, and on the 15th, encamped at Augah, near Scindia's fortress of Ahmednugger, at the distance of about 80 miles from Poona. “The total number of British troops,” says the Governor-General, “prepared on the 4th of June, 1803, on the western side of India (exclusive of Guzerat), to support the arrangements with the Peshwa, amounted to 28,244 men; of this number 16,823 were under the immediate
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.command of General Wellesley, and destined for active operations against the confederated chieftains, in the event of its being necessary to proceed to hostilities against those chiefs.”1

The expense of bringing such an army as this into the field was no trifling price to pay for those “arrangements with the Peshwa,” which this great force was “prepared on the 4th of June, 1803, to support.” Yet this was not enough; for, immediately on the intelligence of Scindia's phrase about “peace or war,” the Governor-General issued private instructions to the Commander-in-Chief of the Company's forces in India, to assemble the Bengal army on the Company's western frontier, and to prepare for an eventual war.

It deserves to be noticed, that the letter of the Governor-General to the home authorities, assuring them confidently that no war would rise out of the recent alliance contracted with the Peshwa, was dated on the 20th of June. The instructions to the Commander-in-chief, which directed the assembling of the army, and laid down a plan of the war, were dated on the 28th of the same month.

In the demand for prompt decision which might arise in the present eventual position of the British government with the Mahratta states, the Governor-General considered that his own distance from the scene of action would require a dangerous suspension of operations, if the power of adapting measures to the exigencies as they arose were not consigned to some individual upon the spot. So much would of necessity depend upon the person at the head of the military force, that a peculiar advantage would arise from combining in his hands, if adapted to the trust, the
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political powers which it was thought adviseable to BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.convey. In General Wellesley the Governor-General imagined he saw the requisite qualifications very happily combined. That officer was accordingly vested with the general control of all affairs in Hindustan and the Deccan, relative either to negotiation or war with the Mahratta states. The instructions with which he was furnished for guidance in the use of those extraordinary powers are dated on the 26th of June. The new authority was to pass to General Stuart, as Commander-in-chief at the Madras presidency, if circumstances (an exigency very unlikely to arise) should render it necessary for that officer to unite the whole force of the army in the field, and to assume in person the general command. And the plenipotentiary commission of General Wellesley remained subject of course to the commands of the authority from which it was derived.1

On the 13th of May, the Governor-General addressed a letter to Scindia, and another to the Rajah of Berar. These letters, while they paid to these chieftains the compliment of conveying immediately from the head of the English government, intimation of the treaty of Bassein, and affirmed that no injury was done to the rights of either of them by that engagement, which it was within the undoubted competence of the Peshwa to contract, offered to each the benefit of a similar engagement, if they were sufficiently wise to see how deeply their interests were concerned in it; asserted the pacific views of the British government, even if they should reject this generous offer; informed them, however, of the suspicions, which several parts of their recent conduct had a tendency to raise, of their intention to form a hostile confederacy
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.against the late arrangements; directed them, if they wished that their pacific declarations should be deemed sincere, to abstain from occupying with their armies an alarming position on the frontier of the Nizam, the British ally; desired Scindia, in particular, to carry back his army to the northern side of the Nerbudda; and declared to them, that, if they persisted in maintaining a warlike attitude, the British government must place itself in a similar situation, and the moment they rendered their hostile designs indubitable, would in its own defence be constrained to attack them.1

The Rajah of Berar, having arrived within one march of Scindia's camp on the 3d of June, was met by that Prince on the following morning. “The secretary of the British resident, who was dispatched to him with a complimentary message on the 5th, he received with distinguished attention: And he expressed, with apparent sincerity,” says the Governor-General, “his solicitude to maintain the relations of friendship which had so long subsisted between the British government and the state of Berar.” A conference between the chieftains took place on the 8th. On the 9th, the British resident sent to importune Scindia for the answer which he promised after his interview with the Rajah of Berar. Having received an evasive reply, the resident addressed, on the 12th, a memorial to Scindia, informing him, that if he should now refuse to give an explicit account of his intentions, and should continue with his army on the south side of the Nerbudda, “such refusal or delay would be regarded as an avowal of hostile designs against the British government.” The resident requested either the satisfaction which he was commissioned
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to demand, or an escort to convey him from BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.Scindia's camp.1

Having received a verbal message, which he regarded as an evasion, stating that the required explanation should be afforded in two or three days, the resident informed the Maharajah, that he received this communication as a final answer, refusing the satisfaction which the British government required; and that he purposed leaving his camp without further delay. The two Mahratta chiefs invented expedients for preventing the departure of the resident, and at the same time evaded his endeavours to obtain a declaration of their designs. At length, on the 4th of July, he obtained an audience of both together in the tent of the Rajah of Berar. He entertained them with the old story—That “the treaty of Bassein” (I quote the words of the Governor-General, as combining his authority with that of his agent) “contained no stipulation injurious to the rights of any of the feudatory Mahratta chieftains; but, on the contrary, expressly provided for their security and independence—That the Governor-General regarded the Rajah of Berar, and Scindia, as the ancient friends of the British power; and was willing to improve the existing connection between their states and the British government—That the British government only required a confirmation of the assurance made by Scindia that he had no intention whatever to obstruct the completion of the engagements lately concluded at Bassein, together with a similar assurance on the part of the Rajah of Berar—And that it was the earnest desire of the Governor-General to promote the prosperity of the respective governments of Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar; so long as
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.they refrained from committing acts of aggression against the English and their allies.”

The Mahratta chiefs did not think proper to make any remarks upon the assertions and argumentation of the British resident. They contented themselves with declaring, through the mouth of the Berar minister, by whom on their part the discourse was principally held, that it was the duty of the Peshwa to have consulted with them as chiefs of the Mahratta state, before he concluded a treaty which so deeply affected the interests of that state; and, moreover, that they had a variety of observations to make upon the stipulations themselves of the treaty of Bassein. The British minister insisted, as he had done so frequently before, on the right of the Peshwa to make a treaty for himself; but, with regard to the observations proposed to be made upon the several articles of the treaty of Bassein, he requested they might be committed to writing, and submitted to the consideration of the Governor-General.

Notwithstanding these allegations of grounds of complaint, the Mahrattas re-affirmed their sincere disposition to cultivate the friendship of the British government; declared that they had no design whatever to oppose any engagements with it into which the Peshwa might have entered; and promised that their armies should neither advance to Poona, nor ascend the Adjuntee Ghaut, across the mountainous ridge which separated their present position from the frontier of the Nizam. Remarking, however, that the British troops had crossed the Godavery river, and were approaching the Adjuntee Ghaut; they requested that Colonel Collins would use his endeavours to prevent their advance. The Colonel replied that it was incumbent upon Scindia to lead his army across the Nerbudda, and the Rajah of Berar to
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return to Nagpoor, if they wished their actions to BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.appear in conformity with their pacific declarations; and in that case, the British army, he doubted not, would also be withdrawn.1

On the 14th of July, General Wellesley addressed a letter, couched in respectful terms, to Dowlut Rao Scindia, setting before him the reasons which the British government had to consider his present menacing position an indication of designs, which would render it necessary to act against him as an enemy, unless he withdrew his army across the Nerbudda; but making at the same time the correspondent offer, that, as soon as the Mahratta chiefs should lead back their armies to their usual stations, he would also withdraw from its advanced position the British army under his command.

A conference on the subject of this letter took place between the chieftains on the 21st of July. To a note, the next day addressed by the resident to Dowlut Rao Scindia, requesting an answer to the letter of General Wellesley, no reply was returned. The resident received the General's instructions to urge them once more on the separation of their armies; and received an appointment for a conference with Scindia on the 25th. On this occasion he was told, “that the forces of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar were encamped on their own territories; that those chieftains had solemnly promised not to ascend the Adjuntee pass, nor to march to Poona; that they had already given to the Governor-General assurances in writing, that they never would attempt to subvert the treaty of Bassein, which assurances were unequivocal proofs of their amicable intentions; lastly, that the treaty at that time under negotiation between
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.Scindia and Holkar was not completely settled; and that until it should be finally concluded, Dowlut Rao Scindia could not return to Hindustan.” The resident remarked, that, as the actual position of the Mahratta armies could afford no advantage to their respective sovereigns, unless in the event of a war with the British power, the British government could not conclude that the determination of these sovereigns to keep their armies in such a position was for any other than a hostile purpose; and that, for the negotiation with Holkar, Boorhanpore was a much more convenient situation than the frontier, so much more distant, of the British ally. After much discussion, the 28th was named, as the day on which the resident should receive a decisive reply. The 28th was afterwards shifted to the 29th; the resident threatening to depart, and making vehement remonstance against so many delays. The interview on the 29th was not more availing than those which preceded. The resident sent forward his tents on the 30th, intending to begin his march on the 31st, and refused to attend a conference to which he was invited with Scindia and the Rajah of Berar. As he was prevented, however, from setting out on the 31st, by the heaviness of the rain, he complied with a request from both chieftains to meet them on the evening of that day at the tents of the Rajah of Berar.

After the usual topics were once more gone over, the Mahratta chieftains offered the following proposition: that the forces of the Rajah and of Scindia should, in conjunction, retire to Boorhanpore; while the British General should withdraw his troops to their usual stations. As these respective movements would leave to the Mahratta chieftains nearly all their present power of injuring the British state, while they would deprive the British government of the security
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afforded by the present position of its troops, the resident BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.asured them that a proposition to this effect could not be received.

The Princes made a second proposal: That the resident should fix a day, on which both the Mahratta and the British armies should begin to withdraw to their respective stations. Beside that the resident had no power to engage for the movements of the British army, he plainly gave the Princes to understand, that their promise about withdrawing their armies was not sufficient security for the performance.

The lastly offered to refer it to General Wellesley, to name a day on which the British troops, and theirs, should begin their march; to name also the time at which he thought the British troops might reach their usual stations, when they too would so regulate their marches as to arrive at their usual stations at the same precise period of time. If this proposition were rejected, they said they could not retire without an injury to the honour and dignity of their respective governments.

The resident consented to postpone his departure, till time was given for referring the last proposition to General Wellesley; but required as a condition that the letters to that effect should be with him for transmission before noon of the following day. The letters, came; submitting for decision, however, not the last, but the first, of the three propositions which had been previously discussed. Observing this coarse attempt at more evasion and delay, that officer made immediate arrangements for quitting the camp of Dowlut Rao Scindia, and commenced his march towards Aurungabad on the 3d of August.1
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.Aware of the great unpopularity in England to which wars in India, except wars against Tippoo Saheb, were exposed; aware also of the vast load of debt which his administration had heaped upon the government of India, a load which a new and extensive war must greatly augment, the Governor-General has, in various documents, presented a laboured argument to prove, that the appeal to arms now made by the British government was forced, and altogether unavoidable.1 It may be requisite, as far as it can be done with the due restriction in point of space, to show how far his arguments are supported by the facts.

When Dowlut Rao Scindia and the Rajah of Berar united their armies, under circumstances so warlike, and in a position so threatening, as those of the union which took place on the borders of Nizam Ali's dominions in 1803; and when the English, should they begin to act in the rainy season, would enjoy important advantages, of which, if they left the enemy to begin operations in the dry season, they would be deprived, it will hardly be denied that the English had good reasons for commencing hostilities, if no other expedient could be devised to procure the dispersion of those armies, the position of which created that danger, which it was the professed object of the war to avert.

Still, however, two questions will remain, both of which must be clearly and decisively answered in the negative, to make good the Governor-General's defence. In the first place, allowing the necessity of war in August, 1803, to have been ever so imperative, was it, or was it not, a necessity of that Governor's own creating, a necessity of whose existence he alone was the author, and for which it is just that
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he should be held responsible? In the next place, BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.were the objects, on account of which this necessity was created, equal in value to the cost of a war? In the last place, was it true, that the alleged necessity existed, and that no expedient but that of war could avert the danger which the new position of the two Mahratta chieftains appeared to involve.

The answer to the first of these questions will not require many words. The necessity, whatever it was, which existed for war at the time when hostilities commenced, was undoubtedly created by the Governor-General himself. The proof is so obvious, that hardly does it require to be stated in words. That necessity was created by the treaty of Bassein; and the treaty of Bassein was the work of the Governor-General. The Governor-General had no apprehension of war, either on the part of Scindia, or of the Rajah of Berar, previous to the treaty of Bassein, as is proved by all his words and all his actions. If we are to believe his solemn declarations, he had little apprehension of it, even after the treaty of Bassein, may till six weeks before the declaration of war.

For believing that, but for the treaty of Bassein, war, either on the part of Scindia, or of the Rajah of Berar, was in no degree to be apprehended by the British government, the current of the history, the circumstances and character of those Princes, and even the succeeding results, prove that he had sufficient and superabundant reasons. Undoubtedly those reasons must have been strong, when they sufficed to convince the Governor-General, even after these Princes had received all the alarm and provocation which the treaty of Bassein was calculated to produce, that they would yet be deterred from any resistance to the operation of that treaty, by the awful
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.chances of a conflict with the British power. The weakness of which these Princes were conscious, as compared with the British state, was the first solid ground of the Governor-General's confidence. The extremely indolent and pacific character of the Rajah of Berar was another. Unless in confederacy with the Rajah of Berar, it was not to be apprehended that Scindia would venture upon a war with the British government; and scarcely any thing less rousing to his feelings than the treaty of Bassein would have induced that unwarlike Prince to form a confederacy with Scindia, in defiance of the British power. As for Holkar, it was the weakness of Scindia which made him any thing; and the united force of both, if, without the treaty of Bassein, it would have been possible to unite them, would have constituted a feeble source of danger to the British state.

The treaty of Bassein, therefore, as it was the cause assigned, by these Princes themselves, for their union, and the warlike attitude they had assumed, so it will hardly admit of dispute that it was the real cause. The Governor-General himself, when he came at last to the endeavour of making out as strong a case as possible for the necessity of drawing the sword, exhibits reasons which operated both on Scindia and the Rajah of Berar, for going to war on account of the treaty of Bassein, reasons which, to men of their minds, he seems to represent as little less than irresistible. “The conduct,” says he, “of Dowlut Rao Scindia towards the Peshwa, during a long course of time antecedent to the Peshwa's degradation from the musnud of Poona, and the views which that chieftain, and the Rajah of Berar are known to have entertained with respect to the supreme authority of the Mahratta state, afford the means of forming a correct judgment of the motives
Edition: current; Page: [363]
which may have rendered those chieftains desirous of BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.subverting the treaty of Bassein.” Of these views he then exhibits the following sketch. “The whole course,” says he, “of Dowlut Rao Scindia's proceedings, since his accession to the dominions of Madajee Scindia, has manifested a systematic design of establishing an ascendancy in the Mahratta state upon the ruins of the Peshwa's authority.” After adducing a number of facts in proof of this proposition, he draws the following conclusion: “The actual reestablishment of the Peshwa, in the government of Poona, under the exclusive protection of the British power, and the conclusion of engagements calculated to secure to his Highness the due exercise of his authority on a permanent foundation, deprived Dowlut Rao Scindia of every hope of accomplishing the objects of his ambition, so long as that alliance should be successfully maintained. This statement of facts sufficiently explains the anxiety of Dowlut Rao Scindia to effect the subversion of the treaty of Bassein, and his prosecution of hostile designs against the British government.”1 “The motives which must be supposed to have influenced the Rajah of Berar, in combining his power with that of Dowlut Rao Scindia for the subversion of the alliance concluded between the British government and the Peshwa, were manifestly similar to those which actuated the conduct of Dowlut Rao Scindia. The Rajah of Berar has always maintained pretensions to the supreme ministerial authority in the Mahratta empire,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.founded on his affinity to the reigning Rajah of Sattarah. Convinced that the permanency of the defensive alliance, concluded between the British government and the Peshwa, would preclude all future opportunity of accomplishing the object of his ambition, the Rajah of Berar appears to have been equally concerned with Dowlut Rao Scindia in the subversion of that alliance.”

The Governor-General subjoins a reflection, actually founded upon the improbability there was of a union between those Princes, till the treaty of Bassein gave them so extraordinary a motive. “Although the views ascribed to those chieftains,” says he, “were manifestly incompatible with the accomplishment of their respective designs; the removal of an obstacle which would effectually preclude the success of either chieftain, in obtaining an ascendancy at Poona, constituted an object of common interest to both.”

The Governor-General then states his conjecture of the mode in which the treaty of Bassein induced them to reconcile their conflicting interests. “It appears,” he says, “to be chiefly probable, that those chieftains, sensible that the combination of their power afforded the only prospect of subverting the alliance concluded between the British government and the Peshwa, agreed to compromise their respective and contradictory projects, by an arrangement for the partition of the whole power and dominion of the Mahratta state.”1

The circumstances on which these conclusions are founded were all as much known to the Governor-General before as after he concluded the treaty of Bassein. He was, therefore, exceedingly to blame
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if he formed that agreement, without an expectation, BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.approaching to a full assurance, that a war with the power of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar, if not also (as might have been expected) with that of Holkar combined, would be a part of the price which the British state would have to pay for the advantages, real or supposed, of the treaty of Bassein. The question, then, or at least one of the questions, to which he should have applied the full force of a sound reflection, equally free from oversight or prepossession, was, whether the benefits, which could reasonably be expected from the treaty of Bassein, were a full compensation for the evils ready to spring from the wars to which it was likely to give birth: On the contrary, if he allowed his mind to repel from itself, as far as possible, all expectation of the expensive and bloody consequences likely to issue from the treaty; and, fixing his attention almost exclusively upon the advantages painted in his imagination, decided, upon what may be regarded as a hearing of only one side, that the treaty ought, if possible, to be made, he pursued a course which, in the management of public affairs, is indeed most lamentably common, but which on that account only deserves so much the more to be pointed out to the disapprobation of mankind.

The discussion of a question like this requires the use of so many words, because it imports a reference to so many particulars, that it would produce an interruption incompatible with the due continuity of a narrative discourse. It may, notwithstanding, have its use to point out merely the paths of inquiry.

To them, on whom, in this instance, peace or war depended, it belonged to ask themselves, whether the act of grasping at a new set of advantages, in relation to other states, which act it is pretty certain that those states, or some of them, will hostilely resent
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.does not constitute the war a war of aggression, on the part of the state which wilfully performs the act out of which it foresees that war will arise. A war, which is truly and indisputably defensive, is a war undertaken in defence, that is, to prevent the loss, of existing advantages. And though a state may justly assert its right to aim at new advantages, yet if it aims at advantages, which it cannot attain without producing a loss of existing advantages to some other state, a loss which that state endeavours to prevent with a war, the war on the part of the latter state is truly a defensive, on the part of the latter state is truly a defensive, on the part of the other is truly an aggressive, and, in almost all cases, an unjust, war.

The Governor-General is so far from denying that the treaty of Bassein did import the loss of advantages to Scindia, that we have just heard him enumerating the advantages of which it deprived that Mahratta chief; advantages on which it was natural for him to place the highest possible value; the power, as he imagined, of establishing his controling influence over the Peshwa, and, through him, over the whole or the greater part of the Mahratta states.

Many times is the answer of the Governor-General repeated in the documents which he had liberally supplied. These advantages, he cries, on the part of Scindia, existed only for purposes of injustice; his complaints are, therefore, to be treated with indignation.

The man who carefully visits the sources of Indian history is often called to observe, and to observe with astonishment, what power the human mind has in deluding itself; and what sort of things a man can pass upon himself for conclusive reasoning, when those against whom his reasoning operates are sure not to be heard, and when he is equally sure that
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those to whom his discourse is addressed, and whom BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.he is concerned to satisfy, have all the requisites for embracing delusion; to wit, ignorance, negligence, and, in regard to the particulars in question, a supposition, at the least, of concurring, not diverging interests.

It is truly surprising, that the object, which is marked by the Governor-General as the most profligate ambition, and the most odious injustice, cruelty, and oppression, in Dowlut Rao Scindia, to aim at, is the same object, exactly, at which he himself was aiming, with so uncommon a degree of ardour and perseverance, and at the expense of so many sacrifices. The object, incontestably, at which both were aiming, was, an all-controling influence over the Peshwa, and through him, as far as possible, over the other Mahratta governments. As far then as concerned the object of pursuit, the coincidence is complete, manifest, and indubitable, between the ambition of Scindia, and the ambition of the Governor-General. Wherein, then, did the ambition of these two leaders differ, so as to entitle the Governor-General to cover the ambition of Scindia with the epithets most expressive of the disapprobation and abhorrence of mankind, his own with epithets the most expressive of their approbation and favour? One mighty difference there was; that the one was the Governor-General's own ambition, the other that of another man; and a man the gratification of whose ambition in this instance was incompatible with the gratification of his. Another difference, which would be felt where it was desirable for the Governor-General that it should be felt, was, that the benefits, which were said to be great, arising from the accomplishment of this object of the Governor-General's ambition, were to be English benefits. From the accomplishment
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of the same object of Scindia's ambition would arise nothing but the prevention of these English benefits. Under this mode of viewing the question, however, it cannot be disguised, that Scindia would have the same grounds exactly for applying epithets of applause to his own ambition, and of abuse to that of the Governor-General.

But differences, such as these, are more frequently the grounds of action in human affairs, than acknowledged, or even known, to be so; since nothing is more easy for the greater part of men, than to be ignorant of the motives by which they are actuated, and, while absorbed in the pursuits of the most vulgar and selfish ambition, to be giving themselves credit for the highest virtue, before the tribunal of their own consciences. What then will be said? That of this controling power, at which Scindia and the English both of them aimed, Scindia would make a bad use, the English a good one? If one ruler has a title to make at his pleasure this assumption in his own favour, so has every other ruler; and a justification is afforded to the strong, who are always in the right, for extending, as far as they please, their oppressions over the weak.

If we should allow, that the English government would make a better use of new power than a native one, as it would be disgraceful to think it would not, the reason will go further than the Governor-General would wish; for upon this reason not one native government should be left existing in India.

But beside this; what is it that we are precisely to understand by a better use? Is it a use better for the English? Or a use better for the English and Mahrattas both? This latter assertion is the only one which it would answer any purpose to make; meaning, in both cases, the people at large, not the handful
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of individuals composing the government, whose BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.interests are worth no more than those of any other equally minute portion of the common mass.

That the use of it, on the part of the English, would be good even for themselves, was so far from being a decided point, that all connections of the same description stood condemned, and forbidden, by a memorable clause of that very act of parliament, on which the government of the East India Company rested, and of which, by consequence, the treaty of Bassein was a flagrant violation. By how many of the Court of Directors, not to speak of other classes of men, it was condemned as injurious to British interests, we shall afterwards have occasion to observe.

But, whatever the effects in regard to the English, unless it appear that the control over the Peshwa and the Mahratta states, which was equally the object of ambition to Scindia and the Governor-General, would have been attended with worse consequences to the Mahrattas, if in the hands of Scindia, than if in the hands of the English, it will be difficult to show in what respect the ambition of Scindia was selfish and wicked; that of the English full of magnanimity and virtue. In what respects then were the people of the Mahratta states to be the better for the control of the English? Not as regarded oppression at the hands of their several and respective governments; for, in regard to the treatment which those governments might yield to their subjects, the English were ready to bind themselves not to interfere; and we have seen, in the case of the Nabobs of Carnatic and Oude, that the motives to misrule in the native governments, upheld by British power, were not diminished; but increased an hundred fold.

The grand benefit held out by the Governor-General is, that the Mahrattas would be withheld from war.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.But this, if foreign war is meant, the Mahrattas had always regarded, and except in a few instances, had always found, a source of benefit, rather than harm. If internal wars are meant, these, it is plain, would be as effectually prevented, if the control of Scindia, as if that of the English, became complete over all the Mahratta states: And Scindia, had he been as skilful a rhetorician as the English rulers, would, as gairishly as they, have described the prevention of internal war, and the union and tranquillity of the Mahratta powers, as the grand, the patriotic, and virtuous aim of all his thoughts, and all his actions.

But this is not all. Not only did Scindia lose advantages, in respect to a favourite object of ambition, which was exactly the same object, by the gaining of which the English had deprived him of those advantages; but, if he had been the greatest lover of peace and of justice of all the princes upon the face of the earth, he would still have had the greatest reason to resent the formation of the treaty of Bassein, and to resist to the utmost its execution. What is that, on the strength of which we have already seen the Governor-General boasting of the prodigious value of the treaty of Bassein? Not the circumstance of its having made a dependant of the feeble and degraded Peshwa. This in itself was a matter of little importance. The treaty, for receiving the British troops, concluded with one of the chief Mahratta states, was declared to be valuable, because it afforded a controlling power over all the other governments of the Mahratta nation.1
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And what is meant by a controling power? The BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.power, undoubtedly, of preventing them from doing whatever the English government should dislike. But the state, which is prevented from doing whatever another state dislikes, is in reality dependant upon that state; and can regard itself in no other light than that of a vassal. If the loss of independence, therefore, is a loss sufficient to summon the most pacific prince in the world to arms, Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, had that motive for offering resistance to the treaty of Bassein.

It will not weaken the argument, to say, that the Governor-General was deceived in ascribing these wonderful powers to the treaty of Bassein; because it was not surely unnatural in the Mahratta princes to apprehend that which the Governor-General hoped, and to do what lay in their power to prevent it.

It was idle, too, in the Governor-General, unless for the sake of immediate effect upon the minds of his ministerial and directorial masters, to which it was
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.not ill-adapted, to declare so often, and with so much emphasis, that Scindia himself was unable to show wherein he was injured by the treaty of Bassein, and could not deny that his rights continued unimpaired. What then? Because Scindia and his ministers were far less skilful than the Governor-General in the use of language; had objections to the treaty of Bassein which they did not think it politic to acknowledge; knew not how to separate the objections they might wish, from those they did not wish, to avow; and, agreeably to the rules of Eastern etiquette, which never in general terms condemns, but always approves of, every thing proceeding from the will of a superior, did, in general courtesy, when urged and importuned upon the subject, apply a vague negation of injustice to the treaty of Bassein; does that hinder it from being now clearly seen that the treaty of Bassein had an operation injurious to that prince, an operation which the Governor-General regarded as the great source of all the good which it was expected to produce?

One thing, indeed, is to be considered, that in a great part of all that is said by the Governor-General, it is pretty distinctly implied, that to render the Indian princes dependant upon the British government was not an injury to them, but a benefit. If this were allowed to be true; and if it were possible, in other indulgences, to make up to a prince for the loss of his independence; yet, in such cases, the consent of the prince in question would seem a requisite, even were his subject people, as they usually are, counted for nothing; because, if any ruler, who has the power, may proceed to impose by force this kind of benefit upon any other ruler at his pleasure, this allegation would prove to be neither more nor less
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than another of the pretexts, under which the weak BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.are always exposed to become the prey of the strong.

In the only objections, which Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, explicitly produced to the treaty of Bassein, it must be owned they were not very happy. Scindia observed, that he was guarantee of the treaty which was in force between the British and Poona governments at the period when the treaty of Bassein was depending. And both princes affirmed, that the Peshwa, as a member of the Mahratta confederacy, ought not to have concluded a treaty but with consent of the leading chiefs of whom the confederacy was composed.

With regard to the first of these pleas, the answer of the Governor-General was conclusive. When a compact is formed between two parties, the office and duty of a guarantee is, to hinder one of the parties from neglecting, while the other fulfils, the obligations which it imposes. He is not vested with a right to hinder them from mutually annulling the obligations, if both of them please. It was not by the dissolution of the treaty of Salbye, nor in his capacity of its guarantee, it was by the formation of the treaty of Bassein, and in his capacity of a sovereign prince, that Scindia was injured, if injured at all.

In the answer of the British ruler to the second of those pleas, there is something which will require rather more of development. That the Peshwa had a right to conclude the treaty of Bassein, without consulting any of the Mahratta princes, makes a great figure among the arguments of the Governor-General. The idea of a confederacy does not imply that a member shall make no separate engagement, only no separate engagement, which in any respect
Edition: current; Page: [374]
BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.affects the confederacy. The Governor-General truly affirmed, that there was nothing in the treaty of Bassein, which affected the Mahratta confederacy, that is, directly; though it was no less true, that, indirectly, it dissolved it. The Governor-General calls the other Mahratta princes, as distinct from the Peshwa, “the feudatory chieftains of the empire,” though feudality is a sort of bondage which never had existence in any part of the world, but in Europe in the barbarous ages. And under this fiction, he proceeds so far as to say, “it may be a question, whether the Peshwa, acting in the name, and under the ostensible sanction of the nominal head of the empire;” (that is, by the right of a gross and violent usurpation, and in the name of a man whom he kept a degraded, wretched, and hopeless prisoner;) “might not conclude treaties which should be obligatory upon the subordinate chiefs and feudatories, without their concurrence.”

The Governor-General proceeds to speak a more rational language, in the words which immediately follows. “But,” says he, “it would be absurd to regulate any political question, by the standard of a constitution, which time and events have entirely altered or dissolved. The late Maharajah Scindia and Dowlut Rao Scindia, have uniformly exercised the powers of independent dominion—by making war on the neighbouring states, by concluding engagements with them, and by regulating the whole system of their internal administration—without the participation, or previous consent of the Peshwa, whose supremacy, however, both Maharajah Scindia, and Dowlut Rao Scindia, have uniformly acknowledged; Dowlut Rao Scindia, therefore, could not—even on the supposed principles of the original constitution—deny the right of the Peshwa to conclude his late engagements
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with the British government, without impeaching BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.the validity of his own proceedings, and those of his predecessor. Nor could he—according to the more admissible rules, derived from practice and prescription—justly refuse to admit the exercise of these independent rights of dominion, on the part of the Peshwa, which both Scindia and his predecessor assumed, in a state of acknowledged subordination to his Highness's paramount authority.”1

The observation is emphatically just. It is the weakness of pedantry, or the villainy of imposture, to affect to “regulate any political question by the standard of a constitution;” when, however the name may remain as it was, the thing is wholly or materially altered. And the inference is conclusive, that, if Scindia and his predecessor had a right to adopt, without reference to the other states, what measures they chose in regard to foreign policy, so had the Peshwa; if it was now unlawful in the Peshwa, it had in them been heretofore unlawful. In his anxiety however to uphold the fiction of a feudal superiority in the Peshwa, the Governor-General uses a language almost contradictory, when he says, both that Scindia and his predecessor had “uniformly exercised the powers of independent dominion,” and that they had “uniformly acknowledged the supremacy of the Peshwa:” the uniform exercise of the powers of independent dominion is the negation of all external supremacy. Besides, the word supremacy is a great deal too strong to express the sort of relation which the Peshwa ever bore to the rest of the Mahratta rulers. It imports, as borrowed from European affairs, a combination of ideas, which represents not any thing
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.which ever existed in India; and, if employed as an accurate representation of any thing which ever existed in India, is only calculated to mislead.

It is curious to observe with what assurance the Governor-General makes, and repeats, again and again, the assertion, that “the treaty of Bassein not only offers no injury to the independence of the feudatory Mahratta chiefs; but expressly provides additional security for it.”1 The treaty was so worded, as not, in its terms, to contradict such an assertion. But what sort of a conduct is this? Does it justify the attempt to pass upon the belief of other men a proposition, if it is true only in sound, how great soever the difference between the sound and the substance?

The only article of the treaty of Bassein, which referred directly to the other states, was the 12th; according to which the Peshwa bound himself to make no war upon other states, and to submit all his differences with them to the English government. And to this it is that the Governor-General in his said declarations refers. But what was this except transferring the power of attempting to subvert the independence of the “feudatory Mahratta chiefs” from the Peshwa whom they did not fear, to the English whom they excessively feared? In this manner, it was, that the treaty of Bassein afforded additional security for their independence!

But let us pass from the question, whether the Mahratta chiefs had or had not just reason for resenting the treaty of Bassein: and let us consider the question of English interests naked, and by itself. What benefits to that people was it calculated to
Edition: current; Page: [377]
yield? And those benefits, were they an equivalent BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.for the evils which, as it did produce them, so it ought to have been expected to produce?

The Governor-General's own opinion of the good things likely to flow from the treaty of Bassein is adumbrated in a great variety of general phrases, though they are exhibited no where in very distinct enumeration. We shall adduce a specimen of the more remarkable of his forms of expression, and endeavor, with as much precision as possible, to ascertain the particulars at which they point.

“The stipulations of the treaty of Bassein have been framed exclusively with a view to maintain the general tranquility of India, by preventing the destruction of the Peshwa's power, and by securing his just rights from violence and usurpation.”1

“The object of Lord Wellesley's policy is to establish a permanent foundation of general tranquility in India, by securing to every state the free enjoyment of its just rights and independence, and by frustrating every project, calculated to disturb the possessions, or to violate the rights of the established powers of Hindustan, or of the Deccan.”2

“Every principle of true policy demands, that no effort should be omitted by the British government to establish a permanent foundation of general tranquillity in India, by securing to every state the free enjoyment of its just rights and independence, and by frustrating every project, calculated to disturb the possessions, or to violate the rights, of the established powers of Hindustan, and of the Deccan.”3

“The conclusion of the treaty of Bassein promises to establish the British interests in the Mahratta empire,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.on the most solid and durable foundations; to afford additional security for the permanent tranquillity and prosperity of the British dominions in India, and to effectually exclude the interests and influence of France from the Mahratta empire.”1

The object of the Governor-General, as he himself is fond of describing it, was, “A system of general defensive alliance between the British power, and the several states of Hindustan.”2 This was indeed a great and operas scheme of policy. Equally great, however, were the effects which the Governor-General expected from it; permanent tranquillity, as he thus declares, and justice, over the whole of India.

When the Governor-General, however, after ascribing these grand effects to the consummation of his proposed alliance, not with one, but with all, or most of the leading states of India, proceeds, in the warmth of his mind, to ascribe them all to the single treaty with the Peshwa, we find him practising a very ordinary fallacy, that is, predicating of a part, what ought to have been predicated only of the whole; as if, because the head, limbs, and trunk, constitute a man, it should be affirmed that the human foot is a rational animal.

It cannot bear to be affirmed, in a distinct proposition, that the mere addition of the inconsiderable power of the Peshwa gave the British government such a commanding and absolute power all over India as every where to secure justice and tranquillity; that is, to compel undeviating obedience to its commands
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on the part of every government on that continent.BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.

Besides, if it were allowed, for the sake of argument, that such a proposition were capable of being maintained, it followed, that no general system of alliance was required; that an alliance with the Peshwa alone, exclusive of the rest of the Indian princes, accomplished simply all that was proposed to be accomplished, by the immense, and troublesome, and complicated machinery of alliances with all the princes in India. Why, then, did the Governor-General aim at any more?

It is reasonable, however, to suppose, that the Governor-General means, what he so often tells us that he means, namely, that the alliance with the Peshwa was to be considered as about to fulfil the hopes which he held forth, only in so far as it had a tendency to produce other alliances, from the union of which, all taken together, those great effects might be expected to proceed.

But what tendency, then, had the alliance with the Peshwa to produce other alliances of the same description? We have seen, already, in what manner the Governor-General and his agents supposed, that it would produce them. They supposed that it would place the British power in a situation to coerce completely the other Mahratta sovereigns; that is, to restrain them from every course of action of which the British government should disapprove; and that the Mahratta sovereigns, seeing the coercion unavoidable, would choose coercion with the benefit of having the British government bound to defend them, rather than coercion detached from that benefit.

Experience, in a very short time, demonstrated the fallacy of these expectations. The treaty with the Peshwa did not produce an alliance with any other
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of the Mahratta states whatsoever. It did not produce the tranquillity of all India. It produced one of the most widely extended wars which India had ever seen. If this war reduced the Mahratta princes to the necessity of submitting to the will of the conqueror, it was not the alliance with the Peshwa, but the war, by which that submission was produced; an effect which the same cause might have equally secured, if the treaty of Bassein had never existed. If it be said, that the treaty of Bassein produced the effects which the Governor-General applauds, by producing at any rate the war out of which they flowed; what is this, but to say, that the treaty of Bassein was good, only as creating a pretext for war; and that it was fit and proper to be made, for the mere purpose of creating it? But to perform a public act, with an intention to produce a war, is purposely to be the author of the war, only with a machination contrived to impose a contrary, that is, a wrong belief, upon the world.

The good things derived from the treaty of Bassein, must, then, be regarded as all summed up in these two effects; first, the war with the Mahratta chiefs; and secondly, the means which it contributed to the success of the war. As to the war, if that was a good thing, it might have been easily produced without the treaty of Bassein. Therefore the treaty of Bassein deserves but little admiration or applause upon that account. As to the other question; namely, in what proportion it contributed to the success of the war, the Governor-General presents an answer on which he appears to lay the greatest stress. The treaty of Bassein was a contrivance to prevent the union of the Mahratta states. It is necessary, therefore, to inquire, how far the truth of this allegation extends
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The treaty of Bassein was calculated to withhold BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.the Peshwa from any confederacy hostile to the English. It was so far from calculated to prevent, that it was calculated to produce, a confederacy, hostile to the English, of all the rest of the Mahratta states.

A very limited question thus remains to be answered; namely, how much the chance of the accession of the Peshwa would add to the dangers arising from the chance of a confederacy, hostile to the English among the other Mahratta states; and how much would those dangers be lessened, by the certainty of his absence? The item in the account, it is evident, is the power of the Peshwa; and, that being remarkably small, as the danger of a confederacy could not be greatly augmented by its presence, so it could not be greatly diminished by the reverse.

There is, however, a view of the danger, which is drawn by the Governor-General, in very frightful colours. He says, that either Scindia or Holkar must have prevailed in the contest subsisting between them at the time when the treaty of Bassein was framed; that the successful prince, whoever it was, would have engrossed the power of the Peshwa; would thence have become too powerful to be resisted by any of the other Mahratta princes; would of course have subdued them all; and, uniting under his sceptre the whole power of the Mahratta nation, would have become a dangerous neighbour to the British state. From this danger it was delivered by the treaty of Bassein.

To make of this an argument in favour of the treaty of Bassein, two things must be allowed: it must be allowed that the danger held forth was such as it is represented; and it must be allowed that there was no better method of averting that danger. Both may be disputed. First, it is by no means
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.certain, that the Mahratta state would have assumed a shape more formidable to the English, had the contending princes been left to themselves. It is not even probable. The probability is, that Scindia and Holkar, neither being able to succeed to the extent of his wishes, would have been obliged to compromise their differences; and the Peshwa might have acquired rather more of power and independence, than he had previously enjoyed. But if Scindia prevailed; as the greater power of that chieftain rendered it probable, if any of them prevailed, that he would be the successful contender; in what respect would his power be greater, than it was before Holkar appeared? At that time, he was master of the Peshwa; and yet so little had he increased his strength, that a mere adventurer was able in a few years to raise an army, an army against which he found it difficult to contend. Scindia possessed not talents to bind together the parts of an extensive dominion, as discordant as those of a Mahratta empire; and had he united the Holkar possessions, and even those of the Peshwa, to his own, he would have diminished, rather than increased, his efficient power. Experience showed that by the attention he was obliged to bestow in holding in obedience the Peshwa's dominions in the south, his authority became little more than nominal, over his own in the north.

It would be tedious to run over all the possible shapes into which, if left to themselves, the Mahratta states might then have fallen; but it may safely be affirmed that no shape which they had any chance to assume would have been so formidable to the English, as that into which they were thrown by the treaty of Bassein.

But if the reality of the danger, which the Governor-General thought he foresaw, were as well proved
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as it appears to stand unsupported by proof, it would BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.still remain to inquire whether it might not have been averted by other and better means, than the treaty of Bassein. Had the mind of the Governor-General not been imperiously guided by his passion for “the system of general defensive alliance between the British power, and the several states of Hindustan,” he might have interposed, with so much effect, in the character of an arbitrator, as to establish a balance in the Mahratta empire; and a balance, which it would have been easy for the British government to keep perpetually trimmed. He might have so terminated the subsisting disputes, as to make the power of Scindia, of the Peshwa, Holkar, and the Rajah of Berar, nearly equal. In the contests which would of course prevail among them, the British government, by always showing itself disposed to succour the weakest party, might have possessed a pretty complete security for maintaining the Mahratta empire, if there was any use in such a care, in the shape which it had thus been intentionally made to assume. Not only did the power of the British state enable it to interpose with a weight which none of the parties would have been easily induced to resist; but such was in fact the state and disposition of the parties, that they all appealed eagerly to the British government, and most earnestly solicited its interference. The Governor-General, by rushing, with eyes fixed on nothing but the beauties of his “defensive system,” to the conclusion of a treaty which gave to the British the government in fact of one member of the Mahratta state, and threatened in a most alarming manner the independence of all the rest, sacrificed the high advantage of acting as a mediator among the Mahratta princes, and created
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.a confederacy which hardly any other combination of circumstances could have produced.

The Governor-General ascribes to the treaty of Bassein only one other advantage, of the importance of which it seems desirable that an estimate should be made; namely, the destruction of the French influence in the Mahratta state. In the first place, it was not the treaty of Bassein by which that destruction was produced; it was the war with Scindia; and a war with Scindia if it had been worth a war, would have produced it without the treaty of Bassein. But, though what the treaty of Bassein did not produce was the destruction of the French influence, what the treaty of Bassein did produce was the union of Scindia with the Rajah of Berar, and the necessity, in order to accomplish that destruction, of vanquishing both of those princes together, instead of one.

The Governor-General, as suited his argument, and probably at that time his state of mind, represents the danger from French influence as prodigiously great. Not only does he affirm the power possessed by the French officers in the service of Scindia, to have been highly alarming to the British government; but he holds it out as probable, that some of the contending parties in the Mahratta state would have solicited the aid of the French government, have received a French army from Europe, have prevailed over all its opponents, and so have established a great Mahratta empire, supported and governed by the French. Upon this theory of evil, it will probably not be expected that I should bestow many words.

The influence of the French with Scindia was at this time so far from great, that it was completely undermined, and tottering to its fall. So well aware
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of this was Perron, the officer at the head of the BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.French party, that he had already intimated to the English an intention, which he soon after fulfilled, of withdrawing himself from the Mahratta service. Not only Scindia, but all his chiefs, had become jealous of the French to the highest degree. It was known to the English, that he meditated, and had already begun, a reduction of their power;1 the English found, at the end of the war, that, instead of objecting to the condition which they proposed to him, of excluding the French from his service, he was eager to close with it; and there seems little room for doubt, that if the treaty of Bassein had not been concluded, the Governor-General might, if he chose, have made an arrangement with Scindia for discharging the French, without the lamentable expense of war.2

But if the condition and influence of the French officers had much more nearly corresponded with the apprehensions of the Governor-General, it is high time that a more sober estimate of the danger, than hitherto they have been accustomed to make, should be suggested to him, and to his countrymen. If the assertion were made, that it would not be in the power of French officers to render Scindia, or any native power, much more formidable than it would be without them, it would not be easy to refute that opinion. What renders the native sovereigns weak, is less the badness of their military officers, than the badness of their governments; and, under such governments, no officers can be very instrumental in the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.creation of strength. If the commanding officer has not land assigned for the maintenance of his troops, he is always without resources: If he has land, he becomes a civil ruler; and the multiplicity and extreme difficulty of his civil functions leave little of his time for military cares. Besides, he has then an interest in peace; both because his country yields most when he is most attentive to it, and because his troops are more easily maintained at home than in the field. In the next place, to form a right judgment on this important subject, it is necessary duly to consider how many powerful causes must all be united, all operate in conjunction, to produce an efficient and formidable army. Of these, some of the most important are incapable of existing in the armies officered by Europeans in the service of the native princes of India. Allowing, what never would happen, that the physical requisites of an army were all provided, and bearing in mind that all the efficiency of these requisites depends upon the sort of machine which the officers, considered as an organized body, compose, the reader will easily perceive, that of the causes necessary to render that machine a good one, some of the most important cannot, in the circumstances we are contemplating, ever be found. To give to a body of men, that most peculiar, that highly artificial, and, when contemplated by itself, most extraordinary turn of mind, which is necessary to convert them into an organ of life, of unity, of order, of action, and energy to the animate and inanimate materials of an army, requires the utmost force of the legal and popular sanctions combined. But neither the legal nor the popular sanction can be made to operate with any considerable force upon Frenchmen, in such a situation as that of officers in the army of an Indian Prince. What is there, in such a situation,
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to restrain the operation of private views, arising BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.from the love of money, or the love of power, from pique, from jealousy, from envy, from sloth, and the many thousand causes, which are always producing opposition among men when they are not under the operation of the strongest motives to resist them? Under an European government, it is not the power of the general, which produces that unity of will, by which an army is animated. In general, his power would be far from adequate to so extraordinary an effect. The whole power of government, operating with unlimited command over the means both of reward and punishment; the whole force of the popular sanction, holding forth the hatred and contempt, or the love and admiration, of those among whom he is to spend his days, as the portion of every man who conforms, or does not conform, to what is expected of men in his situation, are not only added to the authority of the General, but, so difficult is the effect accounted, that, even when all these forces, operating together, produce it to any considerable degree, the world thinks that it never can express sufficient admiration, never bestow a sufficient portion of applause. Which of these great, and indispensable powers, had any existence in the case of Perron, or any other officer, in a similar case? Upon his officers, it is plain, the popular or moral sanction had no means of operation. What cared they, what should be thought of them, by the people of Scindia's court or kingdom, as soon as it was more agreeable for them to be gone than to remain? What cared they for his punishments, when they had it in their power to make their escape from his dominions? A body of officers, in such a situation, is a rope of sand. The General who leads them is their slave; because he can retain their service only by pleasing them: He can seldom please
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.one set of them, without displeasing another: And he dares not restrain their excesses; which produce two deplorable effects, the unavoidable loss of discipline, and the hatred, wherever he advances, of the people whom he is unable to protect. The chances, therefore, are innumerable, against the event, that any army, officered as that of Scindia by Frenchmen, should ever become formidable to one officered as that of the British in India.

Of this truth the Governor-General himself appears to have been not altogether unapprized. The evidence is exhibited in the instructions which he issued to the Commander-in-chief, at the commencement of the war, for holding out to the French officers inducements to abandon the service of Scindia; and in the hopes which he entertained that those invitations would produce their effect.1 It is exhibited also in the declarations which he makes of the acquiescence with which, in several states of circumstances, he would have beheld the continuance of the French officers in the service of Scindia. Thus, the Governor-General, when he conceived suspicions that the Peshwa, even subsequent to his flight from Poona, would refuse to execute his engagements for receiving the English mercenary force, declared that he would not attempt compulsion, nor risk a war with a combination of the Mahratta powers, even for the mighty benefits of the treaty of Bassein.2 Again, when he despaired of inducing Scindia to accede to the terms of his defensive alliance, he assured him, that the English government would still gladly preserve with him the relations of amity and peace, provided he did not resist the treaty of Bassein, or infringe the rights
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of any British ally.1 In other words; had the Peshwa BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.not agreed to put his military power into the hands of the English, the Governor-General would have quietly beheld the whole of the Mahratta states, Scindia's Frenchmen and all, existing in their usual independence and turbulence, rather than incur the evils of a war for the sake of producing a change; And had Scindia not assumed an attitude which implied a determination to resist the treaty of Bassein, the Governor-General would not have made war upon him, in order to effect the destruction of his European force; a war, which, nevertheless, had that destruction been essential to the security of the state which he ruled, it would have been incumbent upon him to make.2

As to the chance of the arrival of a French army from Europe, a chance which the Governor-General represents as most formidable, how that was diminished by the treaty of Bassein, it is not easy to perceive. If any thing was likely to induce Scindia and the Rajah of Berar to seek assistance from an army
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of Frenchmen, of whom they were jealous only somewhat less than they were of the English, it was the treaty of Bassein. If it be said, that the reduction which was effected of the power of Scindia would have deprived a French army of the assistance to which it might otherwise have looked, it was the war, by which this effect was produced, not the treaty of Bassein. This is another argument which proves that the treaty of Bassein was good, only as furnishing a pretext for the war with Scindia and Berar.

Had Englishmen been capable of forming a sober estimate of the circumstances of France, at that time in a situation very little calculated for sending an army to India, the value attached to this contingency would not have been great. Neither would it be easy to show, that her chances of success, had France conducted an army to India, would not have been fully as great, at the close of the Mahratta war, as before. A prospect of deliverance from the English would probably have roused the whole Mahratta nation, then peculiarly exasperated, to have joined the invaders. As for the loss of Scindia's French officers, it would have been easy to supply their place, and to incorporate with the European battalions as many native troops as their funds could maintain. In regard to pecuniary supply, Scindia could not be less capable of aiding them after the war, than before. He was totally incapable at both times.

The Governor-General not only made a very high estimate of the advantages arising from the treaty of Bassein: He had a contrivance for making a very low estimate of the expense which it produced. It produced indeed a war, which laid upon the East India Company a frightful load of debt. But the contending armies of Scindia and Holkar could not, the Governor-General informs us, have been kept in
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the field, without ravaging the territories of the English BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.and the Nizam; and to stand protected against this danger, armies must have been placed on the frontiers, which would have cost nearly as much as the war. This is one of those vague assertions, which, without much regard to their foundation, are so often hazarded, when they are required, to serve a particular purpose, but which answer that purpose only so long as they are looked at with a distant and a careless eye. In the present case, it may safely be affirmed, that all the expense which a plan of defence required would have been the merest trifle in comparison with the enormous expenditure of the war. That much would have been required for defence, is fully contradicted by the Governor-General himself; who confidently affirmed his belief, that the treaty of Bassein, however alarming and odious to Scindia and Holkar, would yet be unable to move them to hostilities, because they knew their own weakness, and the dreadful consequences of a war with the British power. If for the mighty interests, placed at stake by the treaty of Bassein, it was yet improbable they would dare to provoke the British anger, it was next to a certainty, that they would be careful not to provoke it for the sake of a little plunder.

To have placed the subsidiary force with the Nizam upon his frontier, and to have increased to the necessary extent the troops stationed in Mysore, presented but little demand for expenditure, beyond what the maintenance of that portion of the army would have required in any other station. If some little expense must have attended these movements, it would be absurd to speak of it coolly as fit to be compared with the huge expenditure of the Mahratta war.

We are now then prepared to exhibit, in a few words, the statement of profit and loss by the treaty
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BOOK VI. Chap. 11. 1803.of Bassein. What was gained by it was, the dependance of the Peshwa, and nothing more: What was lost by it was, all that was lost by the Mahratta war. The loss by the Mahratta war is the excess of what it produced in evil above what it produced in good. Of the good and the evil which was produced by the Mahratta war, nothing can be spoken with precision till it is known what they are. An account, therefore, of the events, and of the results of the war, will usefully precede the portion which remains of the inquiry into the nature and effects of the treaty of Bassein.
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CHAP. XII.



Objects to which the Operations of the Army in the North were to be directed—Objects to which the Operations of the Army in the South were to be directed—Minor Objects of the War—General Lake takes the Field—History of the French Force in the Service of Scindia, and of his Possessions in the Dooab—History of the Emperor Shah Aulum continued—Battle of Allyghur, and Capture of the Fort—Battle of Delhi, and Surrender of the Emperor to the English—Agra taken—Battle of Laswaree—French Force in the Service of Scindia destroyed, and his Dominions in the Dooab transferred to the English—Operations of the Army under General Wellesley in the South—Ahmednuggur taken—Battle of Assye—Boorhanpore and Asseerghur taken—Scindia makes an Overture toward Peace—Battle of Argaum—Siege and Capture of the Fort of Gawilghur—Operations in Bundelcund—In Cuttack—in Guzerat—Negotiation with the Rajah of Berar—Treaty concluded—Negotiation with Scindia—Treaty concluded—Engagements with the minor Princes near the Jumna—Scindia enters into the defensive Alliance—Governor-General's Account of the Benefit derived from the defensive Alliances, and the Mahratta War—Investigation of that Account.





For the war, as soon as it should begin, the Governor-General BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.had prepared a most extensive scheme of operations. To General Lake, the Commander-in-chief,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.at that time present with the army on the upper frontiers, instructions had been sent on the 28th of June; pointing out, not only the necessity of placing the army under his command, with the utmost expedition, in a state of preparation for the field, but also, though briefly, and in the form of notes, the objects to the attainment of which the operations of that army would immediately be directed. On the subsequent exertions of the Commander-in-chief, to make ready for action, the Governor-General bestows unqualified praise. “By the indefatigable activity,” says he, “zeal, ability, and energy of General Lake (whose personal exertions have surpassed all former example, and have been the main source of the success of the war in that quarter) the army of Bengal, on the north-west frontier of Oude, was placed, towards the close of the month of July, in a state of preparation and equipment favourable to the immediate attack of M. Perron's force, as soon as authentic advices should be received of the commencement of hostilities in the Deccan.”1

In this part of the extensive field, which the plan of the Governor-General embraced, he gave notice of two military objects was to conquer the whole of that portion of Scindia's dominions which lay between the Ganges and the Jumna; destroying completely the French force by which that district was protected; extending the Company's frontier to the Jumna; and including the cities of Delhi and Agra, with a chain of posts, sufficient for protecting the navigation of the river, on the right bank of the Jumna. The second of the military objects was of minor importance; the annexation of Bundelcund to the British dominions.
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The political objects were also two. The first, to BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.use the language of the Governor-General, was, “the possession of the nominal authority of the Mogul;” that is to say, the possession of his person, and thereafter the use of his name, to any purpose to which the use of that name might be found advantageous. Together with the city of Delhi, the person of the Mogul had for a series of years been subject to Scindia; more immediately, at that particular moment, to Perron, as the vicegerent of Scindia in that part of his kingdom. The acquisition of the country would, of course, place the Mogul, too, in British hands. The second of the Governor-General's political objects was, an extension of his general scheme of alliance. He desired that the whole of the petty states to the southward and westward of the Jumna, from Jyneghur to Bundelcund, should be united in “an efficient system of alliance” with the British government.1

Such were the ends to be pursued in the north; for the accomplishment of which the Commander-in-chief was vested with the same sort of powers, which had already been conveyed to General Wellesley, for the more secure attainment of those which were aimed at in the south. General Wellesley was expected, with the force under his command, to defeat the confederate army of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar; to protect from all danger, in that direction, the dominions of the Company and their allies; and to establish, in their subsidizing form, the governments of the Nizam, the Peshwa, and Guyckwar.

The province of Cuttack separated the Company's dominions in Bengal, from the northern circars. By
Edition: current; Page: [396]
BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.the conquest of this district, the territory of the English nation in the northern part of India would be united, on the eastern coast, with that in the south, and would extend in one unbroken line from the mountains on the frontier of Tibet to Cape Comorin; the Mahrattas on that side of India would be deprived of all connection with the sea, and hence with the transmarine enemies of the Anglo-Indian government; a communication not liable to the interruption of the monsoons would be formed between Calcutta and Madras; and an additional portion of the Bengal frontier would be delivered from the chance of Mahratta incursions. The province of Cuttack belonged to the Rajah of Berar. Preparations were made for invading it about the time at which the operations of the principal armies should commence.

Scindia possessed the port of Baroach, and a contiguous district on the coast of Guzerat. The government of Bombay was made ready to seize them, as soon as the war should be declared.

General Lake took the field with an army of 10,500 men, consisting of about 200 European artillery, three regiments of European, and five of native cavalry, one regiment of European, and eleven battalions of native infantry. Beside this force, about 3,500 men were assembled near Allahabad for the invasion of Bundelcund; and about 2000 were collected at Mirzapoor, to cover Benares, and guard the passes of the adjoining mountains.

The army of Scindia, to which General Lake was to be opposed, was under the command of a Frenchman, named Perron, and stated by the Governor-General, on grounds of course a little uncertain, to have consisted of 16,000 or 17,000 infantry, formed and disciplined on the European plan; with a large
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body of irregular infantry, from fifteen to twenty BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.thousand horse, and a train of artillery, which the Governor-General describes, as both numerous and well appointed.1

To understand the nature of the power of Scindia, in this quarter of India, a short history is required, not only of the peculiar composition of his army, but also of the territorial acquisitions which he there retained. Deboigne, though not the first Frenchman who was admitted into the army of Scindia, was the first who obtained any considerable degree of power. Born a Savoyard, of parents respectable, though poor, after having served some time in the army of his own prince, he entered the more splendid service of France, in quality of an ensign in the Irish brigades.2 In the vicissitudes of his early life, we must content ourselves with effects; the causes very frequently remain unknown. We find him, next, an ensign in a Russian army, serving against the Turks. He was here taken prisoner; carried to Constantinople; and sold as a slave. After the war, being redeemed by his
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.parents, he repaired to St. Petersburg, found means to recommend himself, and was made a lieutenant. He was detached to some Russian post on the Turkish frontier, and had the fortune to command the escort which attended Lord Percy in a progress among the Grecian islands. In consequence of the impression which he must have made upon that nobleman, and the views which he must have disclosed, Lord Percy furnished him with two letters of recommendation, one to Mr. Hastings, Governor of Bengal, and another to Lord Macartney, Governor of Madras, to whose acquaintance, it is said, he had already been admitted, during the residence of that nobleman as British ambassador at St. Petersburg. It is surmised, that he obtained the consent of the Empress to make a voyage to India, from which he was to return by way of Cashmere, Tartary, and the borders of the Caspian Sea. Be that as it may, he arrived at Madras in the year 1780, and engaged as an ensign in the service of the Nabob of Arcot. In 1782 he repaired to Calcutta, where the letter of Lord Percy procured him a favourable reception from Mr. Hastings. Without disclosing his connection with the Russian government, he described to that Governor the journey by Cashmere, and the shores of the Caspian, as the object which he now had in view; and was furnished by him with a recommendation to the Nawaub of Oude, and the British resident at Lucknow. It is said; that he was accommodated by the Nawaub of Oude, and the British resident at Lucknow. It is said; that he was accommodated by the Nawaub with a bill of exchange on Cashmere for 6,000 rupees, with which, instead of prosecuting his journey, he purchased arms and horses, and entered into the service of the Rajah of Jeypoor; that upon intelligence of this proceeding he was ordered down to Lucknow by Mr. Hastings, whom he thought it his interest to obey; that he found the means of exculpating
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himself in the mind of that ruler, and was BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.permitted to return to Lucknow; that he now engaged in trade, which he prosecuted with success; that he came to Agra, in 1784, at which time the Rana of Gohud was closely besieged by Madajee Scindia; that he suggested to the Rana a plan for raising the siege, but Scindia intercepted his correspondence, and, impressed with the proof of military talents which it displayed, consulted Mr. Anderson, the British resident, on the propriety of taking him into his service; that Mr. Anderson, to whom he had letters of recommendation, sent for him, introduced him to Scindia, and procured him the command of two battalions, to be disciplined in the European style. The terror which Scindia found to march before the grape and bayonets of Deboigne's battalions, and the effects which they produced in the battles of Lallsort, Chacksana, and Agra, from 1784 to 1789, made him eager to increase their number to eight, then to sixteen, and afterwards, it is said, to twenty battalions, at which amount they remained. A battalion complete, consisted of 500 muskets, and 200 gunners, with four field pieces and one howitzer. The military talents of Deboigne, and the efficiency of his troops, were the grand instrument which facilitated, or rather produced, the victories, and enlarged the dominions of Scindia, in the region of the Jumna. In 1792, with eight battalions, he fought the desperate battle of Mairta against a great army of Rattores, a warlike tribe of Rajpoots. In the same year, and with the same force, he defeated, after an obstinate conflict at Patun, the formidable army of Ishmael Beg. In 1792, he defeated the army of Tuckojee Holkar, containing four battalions disciplined and commanded by a Frenchman; and at last made Scindia, without dispute, the most powerful of the native
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.princes in India. Deboigne was a man above six feet high, with giant bones, large features, and piercing eyes; he was active, and laborious to an astonishing degree; understood profoundly the art of bending to his purposes the minds of men; and was popular (because men felt the benefit of his equitable and vigilant administration), though stained with three unpopular vices, jealousy, avarice, and envy.1

Perron came into India as a petty officer of a ship, either with Suffrein, or about the time of Suffrein's arrival. Having travelled into the upper provinces, he first received employment in the army of the Rana of Gohud, where he served under the immediate command of an Englishman. After the destruction of the Rana, he joined, in quality of quarter-master-serjeant, a corps commanded by a Frenchman in the service of Scindia. Though he soon raised himself to a higher command, his corps was reduced, upon the return of the army into cantonments; and he was even unsuccessful in an application for employment in the army of the Begum Sumroo. When the brigade of Deboigne began to be formed, the prospects of Perron revived. He received the command of the Boorhanpore battalion; and had an opportunity of distinguishing himself in the battle of Patun. He commanded the detachment of Deboigne's army which besieged. Ishmael Beg in Canoor; and it was to him that Ishmael Beg surrendered. To the honour of their European education, Deboigne and Perron resolutely protected their prisoner from the death which Scindia, who had suffered from his prowess, thirsted to inflict upon him; and he remained in the
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fort of Agra, with a considerable allowance for his BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.subsistence. When the corps of Deboigne became sufficiently numerous to be divided into two brigades, he gave the command of the first to M. Frimont, and that of the second to M. Perron, who, accordingly, upon the death of Frimont, became second in command. When the ambition of Scindia to establish a control over the Peshwa carried him to Poona, it was the brigade of Perron which attended him thither, and formed the principal part of his force. Perron, thus about the person of Dowlut Rao from the moment of his accession, and one of the main instruments of his power, easily succeeded to the whole authority of Deboigne, when, in 1798, that commander withdrew with his fortune to Europe.1

M. Deboigne had received a large track of country, in the region of the Jumna, in assignment for the maintenance of his troops. Not only the territory as well as the army which had devolved upon Perron required his presence upon the departure of Deboigne; but the presumption of the Governors, both of Delhi and of Agra, had so much increased by the long absence of Scindia in the South, that it seemed to be high time to reduce them to obedience. In the month of October, 1798, Perron sent two battalions, commanded by Colonel Sutherland, one of the Englishmen who helped to officer Scindia's regular brigades, with an expectation that the Kelledar would deliver up the fort; but disappointed in that hope he sent three battalions more, and the place was invested. Though, from a humane regard to the aged Mogul and his family, who were kept as a sort of prisoners in the fort, much caution was used in firing at the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.place, it was ready for assault in nineteen days, when the Kelledar capitulated and surrendered.1

This was the occasion, on which, for the first time, the custody of the emperor was placed in the hands of a Frenchman. He had now, during ten years, been subject to the power of Scindia, under which he had fallen, by the following means.

In 1782, when Mr. Hastings so eagerly made peace with the Mahratta powers, their dominions were bounded, on the north, by that great chain of mountains, which extends in a direction nearly east and west, from Cuttack in the Bay of Bengal to Ajmere, and forms a great boundary between the southern and the northern portions of the Indian continent. This physical barrier, against the dangers to which the English dominions in the north of India were exposed from the vicinity of the Mahrattas, was not all. On the western half of this chain of mountains, on its northern side, and immediately bordering upon the Company's frontier, or that of their dependant, the Nabob of Oude, were placed, forming another line of defence, a number of small independent states, all jealous of the Mahrattas, and all dreading any extension of their power. The whole of that wide expanse of country, which extends from near Allahabad on the east to the river Sutledge on the west; bounded on the south by the mountainous ridge just mentioned; on the north, as far as Shekoab, by the Jumna; thence by a line passing near Secundra to the Ganges, and by the Ganges to Hurdwar; was, by the policy of Mr. Hastings, left open to the ambition of the Mahrattas. This country contained, among other principalities, the territory of
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Bundelcund and Narwar; that of Gohud, including BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.Gualior and Bind; and the great provinces of Agra and Delhi, including the Jaat country, and nearly one half of the Dooab, subject chiefly to the Emperor Shah Aulum, and a few other Mahomedan chiefs. Scindia was the Mahratta prince, who, from the vicinity of his territories, and from his power, was best situated for availing himself of the offered advantage; and he did not allow the opportunity to escape. Another Mahratta chieftain, indeed, found means to get a partial possession of Bundelcund, while Scindia was engrossed with the business of other acquisitions; but all the rest of that extensive country was wholly appropriated by the latter chieftain.1

Scindia had already made great progress in subduing this region, when, with Ismael Beg, he approached Delhi in 1788. Gholam Khadur, a son of Zabita Khan; who, having from some cause of displeasure been banished from the presence of his father, had received an asylum from Shah Aulum, and growing into his favour, had been created by him Ameer ul Omrah; enjoyed at that time the principal power at Delhi. The Emperor appears to have been desirous
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.of emancipating himself from the dominion of Gholam Khadur, a man of a haughty, and ferocious character; and informed him that, having no money to carry on the contest, he regarded resistance as vain. Gholam Khadur himself undertook for resources; only insisting, that, as “the presence of the monarch was half the battle,” the Emperor should head the army in the field; and to this the Emperor assenting commissioned Gholam Khadur to make the requisite preparations for war. Next day, it is said, a letter from the Emperor to Scindia was intercepted, in which the Emperor exhorted Scindia to use the greatest possible dispatch, for the purpose of destroying Gholam Khadur; “for Gholam Khadur,” said he, “desires me to act contrary to my wishes, and oppose you.” Upon this discovery Gholam Khadur, burning for revenge, ordered an attack upon the fort, in which Shah Aulum resided; carried it in a few days; flew to the apartment of the monarch, whom he treated with every species of indignity; and then put out his eyes. After plundering the Emperor and his family, and sparing no expedient, however degrading, to strip the females of all their valuable ornaments, he fled upon the approach of Scindia; who thus became master of the legitimate sovereign of India, and of all the territories which yet owned his sway.1

Edition: current; Page: [405]
Though the Emperor was allowed by Scindia to BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.remain in the fort of Delhi, with the nominal authority over the city, and a small district around, he was held in a state of poverty, in which not only the decencies, but almost the necessaries of life were denied to him and his family. A Kelledar or Governor was placed in the fort, by whom he was guarded as a prisoner. And Scindia at times had made him set forth his claim, not only to the tribute which the English had covenanted to pay to him for Bengal, which they had so early found a pretext for not paying, and which now with its interest amounted to a great sum; but to the wide extended sovereignty which had ceased to be his, only by successful usurpation and rebellion.

As there is no reason to believe that Perron behaved not to Shah Aulum with all the humanity and delicacy, practicable in the circumstances of Perron; so there is reason to believe that the condition of the unhappy monarch was ameliorated after he became subject to that European officer M. Perron is represented, by all those from whom we receive any accounts of him, except the English rulers, as not only a man of talents, but a man of humanity and moderation.1
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.By the distance at which Scindia, while engaged in establishing his authority in the south, was kept from his dominions in the north, the administration of the government of his new acquisitions, in the region of the Jumna, fell almost entirely into the hands of Perron, who was present with an army, and had a large portion of it in assignment for the maintenance of his troops. We have the testimony of a most unexceptionable witness, Colonel Collins, both that he made a wise and excellent use of his power; and that the success of his administration had created incurable jealousy and hatred in the breast both of Scindia's nobles, and of Scindia himself. “I have it,” says that resident, in his letter dated 30th of March, 1802, “from good authority, that the Sirdars of this court have frequently remonstrated with the Maharaja, on the subject of the extensive authority vested in General Perron; and I have also been told in confidence, that, whenever the disturbances in this quarter are composed, so far as to admit of Scindia's repairing to
Edition: current; Page: [407]
Agra, it is the intention of the Maharaja to deprive BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.the General of the command of those fortresses which he now possesses in Hindustan. Nor do I doubt the truth of this information; when I reflect on the general disposition of the Mahrattas; they being, as your Lordship well knows, at all times inclined to suspicion and jealousy; of which I saw strong symptoms, at my audience with the Maharaja on the 27th ultimo. The ministers, who were present at this interview, having put various questions to me respecting the state of Scindia's possessions in the Dooab, I purposely spoke of them, as being in the most flourishing condition, ascribing the same to the able management of General Perron, to whom, as your Lordship recollects, they are assigned in jeydad. I also noticed the unwearied attention of the General, to improve and strengthen the works of the different fortresses garrisoned by his troops; and mentioned likewise the high estimation in which he was held by all the Rajpoot and Seik Sirdars, who were chiefly guided by his councils and directions.”1 Though we may easily enough suppose in this language a degree of exaggeration, to which the occasion may be supposed to have presented temptation, yet we cannot suppose a gentleman, of an English education, and of a high character, to have made a deliberate statement for which he knew there was no foundation in fact. In his next letter Colonel Collins says, “Such Mahratta Sirdars, as are envious or jealous of the power of M. Perron, do not scruple to affirm, that he by no means wishes the total ruin of Holkar; since, in this event, the Maharaja would be enabled to repair to Hindostan, and to take upon himself the chief direction of affairs in that quarter. Whether or not Scindia has been
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.influenced by these suggestions, I shall not presume to determine; but I believe it to be an undoubted fact, that General Perron has been given to understand he must relinquish the collections of all the districts which he now possesses in Hindostan, excepting those appertaining to his jeydad, the annual revenues of which are estimated at forty lacs of rupees; at present the General collects nearly eighty lacs.”1 From Futty Ghur, to which, for the purpose for avoiding the unhealthy season, he had returned from Scindia's camp, having by the way paid a visit to Perron at his head quarters at Cowle, Colonel Collins, on the 24th of June, 1802, wrote again, as follows: “General Perron has been peremptorily directed by Scindia to give up all the Mehals in his possession, not appertaining to his own jeydad. And I understand, from good authority, that the General is highly displeased with the conduct of Scindia's ministers on this occasion; insomuch that he entertains serious intentions of relinquishing his present command in the service of the Maharaja. Indeed, when I was at Cowle, he assured me, that ere long I might probably see him at Futty Ghur.”2

The first object to which General Lake was commanded to direct the operations of the war, was the destruction of the force of General Perron. This force the Governor-General, though he very seriously, not to say violently, dreaded it, yet at the same time with a very possible inconsistence, so much despised, that he confidently expected the complete annihilation of it, before the end of the rains. “I desire,” says he, “that your Excellency will compose the main army,
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and regulate the strength and operations of the BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.several detachments, in the manner which shall appear to your judgment to afford the most absolute security for the complete destruction of M. Perron's force previously to the conclusion of the rains.”1

Not arms alone; other expedients were to be employed. “It would be highly desirable,” says the Governor-General, “to detach M. Perron from Scindia's service, by pacific negotiation. M. Perron's inclination certainly, is, to dispose of his power to a French purchaser; I should not be surprised if he were to be found ready to enter into terms with your Excellency; provided he could obtain sufficient security for his personal interests.—I empower your Excellency to conclude any agreement for the security of M. Perron's personal interests and property, accompanied by any reasonable renumeration from the British government, which shall induce him to deliver up the whole of his military resources and power, together with his territorial possession, and the person of the Mogul, and of the heir apparent, into your Excellency's hands. The same principle applies generally to M. Perron's European officers. And the proclamations, with which I have furnished your Excellency, will enable you to avail yourself of the first opportunity of offering propositions to those officers, or to the several corps under M. Perron's command.”2

On the 7th of August, the General marched from Cawnpore. On the 28th he reached the frontier: and early on the morning of the 29th moved into the Mahratta territories, with a view of attacking a part of M. Perron's army assembled near the fortress of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.Allighur. The British army reached the enemy's camp about seven o'clock in the morning; and found the whole of his cavalry drawn up on the plain, close to the fort of Allighur. Appearing to be strongly posted, with their right extending to the fort of Allighur, and their front protected by a deep morass, the General resolved to make his attack on their left flank, which had no protection except from two detached villages. The British cavalry were formed into two lines, supported by the line of infantry and guns; but the enemy retired as they advanced, and quitted the field without an engagement. They were estimated at 15,000 strong. As if to show the extreme want of all cohesion, and hence of stability, in the materials of Perron's power, the Commander-in-Chief informs the Governor-General, and the Governor-General with exultation informs his employers; that upon so very trifling an occasion as this, “many of the confederates of M. Perron left him;” and “I learn,” says the General, “from all quarters, that most of the enemy's cavalry who opposed us yesterday, have returned to their homes, declaring their inability to oppose the English.”1

The town of Coel immediately surrendered to the English; but the garrison of Allighur resisted all the motives with which Lake endeavoured to persuade them. After consideration, he deemed it practicable to carry the fort by assault; and this he preferred to the slow operations of a siege. The place was strong, with a broad and deep ditch, a fine glacis, the country levelled for a mile round, and exposed in every direction to the fire of the fort. Lieutenant-Colonel Monson was chosen to lead the attack: and the preparations were completed before the 4th of September.
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At three o'clock, on the morning of that day, the BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.troops moved down to a distance of 600 yards from the sortie. After waiting till half after four, the hour of assault, the storming party advanced, under cover of a heavy fire from the British batteries erected for the purpose, and arrived within 100 yards of the fort before they were perceived. There was only one passage across the ditch into the fort, by a narrow causeway, where the enemy, having commenced a mine, but omitted a draw-bridge, the British troops were enabled to pass, and assault the body of the place. As soon as Colonel Monson perceived that the garrison had received the alarm, he pushed on with two flank companies of Europeans, hoping to enter the gate along with the external guard. The gate was found shut; and the ladders were applied. Major Macleod of the 76th regiment, and two grenadiers, began to mount; but so formidable an array of pikemen appeared to receive them, that it would have been vain and foolish to persist. A gun was now required to blow open the gate. Being situated near the angle of a bastion, it was difficult to place a gun in a situation to act upon it. Four or five rounds were fired, before it was blown open; the troops were stopped about twenty minutes; during which they were raked by a destructive fire of grape, wall-pieces, and matchlocks; Colonel Monson was wounded; six officers were killed; and the principal loss in the assault was sustained. A narrow and intricate passage of considerable length, all the way exposed to a heavy cross fire in every direction, led from the first gate to that which openned immediately into the body of the place. To this it was a work of great difficulty to bring up the gun; and when it was brought up, the gate was found too strong to be forced. In this extremity Major Macleod pushed through the wicket with the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.grenadiers, and ascended the ramparts. After this but little opposition was made. The garrison endeavoured to escape in every direction. Many jumped into the ditch, of whom some were drowned. About 2,000 perished. Some surrendered, and were permitted to quit the fort, by the Commander-in-Chief, who was close to the scene of action, to witness an attack which nothing but the persevering bravery of the men permitted to succeed. The English loss was fifty-nine killed, including six; and 212 wounded, including eleven European officers.1

This fort was esteemed an acquisition of great importance; as being the ordinary residence of M. Perron, and the principal place of deposit for his military stores; of which the quantity, found by the English, probably because it was inconsiderable, is not specified, in any of the printed documents in which the value of the acquisition is presented to view.

The same day on which Allighur was taken, the Commander found it necessary to send a considerable detachment, to join the officer left at Futty Ghur, charged with a convoy for the army. Five companies of sepoys, with one gun, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Coningham, left at Shekoabad, had been attacked on the 2d of September, by a body of cavalry, commanded by a Frenchman of the name of Fleury. Though much superior in force, the assailants were repulsed, but returned to the attack on the 4th, when the English capitulated, their ammunition being nearly spent. Before the reinforcements sent by the General arrived, the enemy crossed the Jumna, and disappeared.

On the 5th of September, M. Perron addressed a
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letter to General Lake, which was received on the BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.7th. In that letter Perron informed the British Commander, that he had resigned the service of Dowlut Rao Scindia, and requested permission to pass with his family, his effects, and the officers of his suite, through the Company's dominions to Lucknow. The instructions of the Governor-General, to purchase, if possible, the surrender of the military resources of Perron, have already been mentioned. We are informed by the Governor-General, that “on the 20th of August the Commander-in-Chief received a letter from General Perron, indicating a desire, on the part of that officer, to effect an arrangement, which might preclude the necessity of an actual contest between the British forces, and those under the command of General Perron.” We learn, on the same occasion, from the same high authority, that some time previously Perron had applied for leave to pass through the Company's territories, as being about to resign the service of Scindia; and had, at the request of the Commander-in-Chief, sent to the English camp a confidential agent, with whom a discussion took place on the 29th of August. All that we further know is, that the agent departed, without effecting any arrangement. The Governor-General tells us, that “he evaded the propositions of the Commander-in-Chief, for the surrender of M. Perron.”1 Perron might have received a large sum of money, had he bargained for his own retirement, and transferred to the English any considerable portion of the military resources with which he was entrusted. Perron retired, without bargaining at all: and, although he had the greatest cause of resentment against his employer, without transferring to his enemies the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.smallest portion of the resources with which he was entrusted.

The Governor-General informs us, that M. Perron stated two facts, which remarkably confirm what I have already suggested, with regard to the miserable foundation and feeble texture, of all such power as his. “M. Perron stated, that his reason for retiring proceeded from his having received intelligence, that his successor had been appointed; and was actually on his way to take possession of his new charge. M. Perron also observed, that the treachery and ingratitude of his European officers convinced him that further resistance to the British arms was useless.”1

General Lake, who estimated, and knew that the Governor-General estimated, high the value of removing M. Perron, granted him, in a prompt and handsome manner, the indulgences which he requested; and that General proceeded in consequence to Lucknow.

On the same day on which General Lake received the letter of Perron, measures being completed for the possession of Allighur, he began his march for Delhi. On the 9th of September, he reached Secundra; and during the next two days advanced about eighteen miles beyond Soorajepoor, when intelligence was received, that the army which had belonged to Perron, now commanded by another Frenchman, of the name of Louis Berquien, had crossed the Jumna from Delhi during the night, with a view to meet and repel the British army.

The troops, fatigued with eighteen miles of march, and the heat of the day, reached their ground of encampment (six miles from Delhi) about eleven o'clock, and had scarcely pitched their tents, when
Edition: current; Page: [415]
the outposts were attacked. The General, having BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.reconnoitred, and found the enemy drawn up in order of battle, immediately ordered out the whole line. The position of the enemy was on a rising ground, with swamps on either flank; their front, where alone they could be attacked, was defended by a numerous artillery and a line of entrenchments. The number of the British troops amounted to about four thousand five hundred men. That of the enemy is stated at nineteen thousand. The British infantry were ordered to advance from the right of battalions in open columns of companies; and during this operation, the cavalry were commanded to precede. Advancing two miles in front, they were exposed for one hour to a severe cannonade, before they were joined by the infantry; the Commander-in-Chief had his horse shot under him; and a considerable loss was sustained. As the infantry approached, the General ordered the cavalry to fall back, with a view both to cover the advance of the infantry, and if possible to draw the enemy forward from their entrenchments upon the plain. The enemy fell into the snare, believed the movement a retreat, and advanced, shouting, with the whole of their guns. The British cavalry retired, with the utmost steadiness and order, till joined by the infantry, when they opened from the centre, and allowed the infantry to pass to the front. The whole were instantly formed, the infantry in one line, the cavalry in a second, about forty yards in the rear of the right wing. The enemy had halted, on perceiving the British infantry, and began a tremendous fire of round, grape, and chain shot. The General having placed himself on the right of the line, the men advanced with steadiness, and without taking their muskets from their shoulders, till within a hundred paces of the enemy, who began
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.to pour upon them a shower of grape from the whole of their guns. Orders were given to charge with bayonets. The line fired a volley, and rushed on with their gallant commander at their head, when the enemy gave way, and fled in every direction. As soon as the troops halted after the charge, the General ordered the line to break into columns of companies, which permitted the cavalry to pass through the intervals with their galloper guns, and complete the victory. The enemy were pursued with slaughter to the banks of the Jumna. This battle, though small in scale, and not very trying from the resistance of the enemy, affords a high specimen both of the talents of the General, and the discipline and bravery of the men.

The enemy left the whole of their artillery, sixty-eight pieces of ordnance, with a great quantity of ammunition, and two tumbrils containing treasure, on the field. In men, their loss was estimated at three thousand: that of the English, in killed, wounded, and missing, was four hundred and eighty-five. After being seventeen hours under arms, the British army took up fresh ground towards the river, and next morning encamped, opposite to the city of Delhi. As the enemy had evacuated both the city and fort, Shah Aulum sent a message to express his desire of placing himself under the protection of the victors. An intrigue had been opened with him before, and means had been found to convey to him a letter from the Governor-General, promising to him, in case he should find the means, during the present crisis, “of placing himself under the protection of the British government, that every demonstration of respect and attention would be paid towards his Majesty on the part of that government, and that an adequate provision would be made for the support
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of his Majesty, and of his family and household.” BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.To this secret communication a secret answer was received by the Commander-in-Chief on the 29th of August, “expressing,” says the Governor-General, “the anxious wish of his Majesty to avail himself of the protection of the British government.”1 On the 14th, the British army began to cross the river. And on the same day, the General Bourquien, who commanded in the late action, and four other French officers, surrendered themselves prisoners to General Lake. On the 16th, he paid his visit to Shah Aulum. The language of the Governor-General, on this occasion, is something more than pompous. “His Excellency, the Commander-in-Chief, had the honour to pay his first visit to his Majesty Shah Aulum on the 16th of September; and to congratulate his Majesty on his emancipation from the control of a French faction who had so long oppressed and degraded him. His Majesty was graciously pleased to direct his eldest son, and heir apparent, the Prince Mirza Akbar Shah, to conduct the Commander-in-Chief to his royal presence. The Prince was to have arrived at the Commander-in-Chief's tent at twelve o'clock: but did not reach the British camp until half past three o'clock, p. m. By the time his Royal Highness had been received; remounted on his elephant; and the whole cavalcade formed, it was half past four o'clock. The distance being five miles, the Commander-in-Chief did not reach the palace at Delhi until sunset. The crowd in the city was extraordinary; and it
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.was with some difficulty that the cavalcade could make its way to the palace. The courts of the palace were full of people; anxious to witness the deliverance of their sovereign from a state of degradation and bondage. At length the Commander-in-Chief was ushered into the royal presence: and found the unfortunate and venerable Emperor; oppressed by the accumulated calamities of old age, degraded authority, extreme poverty, and loss of sight; seated under a small tattered canopy, the remnant of his royal state, with every external appearance of the misery of his condition.”1

In another passage the Governor-General speaks of this event, as “delivering the unfortunate and aged Emperor Shah Aulum, and the royal house of Timour, from misery, degradation, and bondage; and rescuing his Imperial Majesty, the Mogul, from the hands of a desperate band of French adventurers.”2

With regard to the French officers, this is a language in the highest degree illiberal, if not unjust, and moreover, indecent. It was not they who degraded, if that was a crime, the house of Timour; it is in evidence that they improved the condition of its surviving members; it is not in evidence that they did not improve it as far as that improvement depended upon them. It is manifest, that certain forms of respect, and a less penurious supply of money, was all that could depend upon them. Of these there is no indication that the first were withheld. Of the second, the French had little to bestow. The revenues of Perron's government must with great difficulty have met its charges, and he departed at last with no more than the fortune of a private individual. Whatever he afforded to Shah Aulum beyond
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the allowance prescribed by Scindia, he must BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.have paid out of his own fortune. And had Shah Aulum been supported out of the pocket of any English gentleman, of the Governor-General himself, though doubtless he would have dealt by him kindly, and even generously; yet I may venture to affirm, that his “royal state” would not have exhibited great magnificence.

Besides, who would not imagine, upon hearing this language of the English ruler, that he was about to restore his “Imperial Majesty, Shah Aulum, (whom his subjects were so anxious to see delivered from a state of degradation and bondage,”) to his lost authority? to those territories, from which he had been extruded, only by successful usurpation and rebellion, territories of which the provinces held by the Company formed a material part? or, if he was not to give him any of the usurped territories which had fallen to the lot of the English, not even that tribute which they had stipulated to pay him, and which they had long withheld; that at any rate he was to bestow upon him those territories, of which Scindia had deprived him, and which the English had just retaken, or were about to retake? Not an atom of this. The English were to restore no territory. Even that which they were now taking from Scindia, and of which by Scindia the Emperor had but lately been robbed, the English were to keep to themselves. The English, therefore, were to hold his “Imperial Majesty” still degraded from all sovereign power; still in bondage; as much as ever. The very words of the Governor-General are, that only so much “regard should be paid to the comfort and convenience of his Majesty and the royal family as was consistent with the due security of their persons,” in other words, their imprisonment. Wherein then
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.consisted the difference of his treatment? In this alone, that he would enjoy more of the comforts which in a state of imprisonment money can bestow, and was secure from personal violence.

The lofty description afforded us by the British ruler goes on in the following words; “It is impossible to describe the impression which General Lake's conduct on this interesting occasion has made on the minds on the inhabitants of Delhi, and of all the Mussulmans who have had an opportunity of being made acquainted with the occurrences of the 16th of September, 1803. In the metaphorical language of Asia, the native news writers who describe this extraordinary scene, have declared that his Majesty Shah Aulum recovered his sight from excess of joy.1 In addition to many other marks of royal favour and condescension, the Emperor was graciously pleased to confer on General Lake the second title in the Empire, Sumsam u dowlah ashgar ul mulk, Khan dowran Khan, General Gerard Lake bahadur, futteh jung: The sword of the state, the hero of the land, the lord of the age, and the victorious in war.”2

Though mention is made of the surrender of no more than one other French officer, named Doderneque; the letter to the Secret Committee, dated the 31st of October says, “The Governor-General in Council has the satisfaction to inform your Honourable Committee, that no French officers of any consideration
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now remain in the service of the confederated BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.Mahratta chieftains.”1 This, then, was a danger, of which, whatever else may justly be said of it, there was little difficulty in getting rid.

Appointing Lieutenant-Colonel Ochterlony to hold the chief command at Delhi, and leaving a garrison of one battalion and four companies of native infantry, with a corps of Mewatties, newly raised under the command of Englishmen who had quitted the service of Scindia at the beginning of the war, the Commander-in-Chief began his march to Agra on the 24th of September, and arrived at Muttra on the 2d of October, where he was joined by the troops from Futtygur. On the 4th he arrived at Agra; and immediately summoned the garrison, but no answer was returned. He received information, that considerable confusion prevailed within the fort, where all the European officers were placed under confinement.

Finding that approaches could not be made, unless seven battalions were dislodged of the enemy's regular infantry, who, with several guns, were encamped without the fort, and occupied the town of Agra, together with the principal mosque, and some adjacent ravines, General Lake gave directions for attacking the town and the ravines on the 10th, both at the same time, the one with a brigade, the other with three battalions of sepoys. The attack succeeded in both places, though not without a severe conflict; and the troops engaged in the ravines, being carried by their ardour to quit them, and gain the glacis, for the purpose of seizing the enemy's guns, were exposed to a heavy fire of grape and matchlocks from the fort, and suffered proportionally both in officers and men. Another occurrence was, that the defeated battalions
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.agreed afterwards to transfer their services to the British commander, and marched into his camp, to the number of 2,500 men, on the 13th of October.

On that day the garrison desired a parley; but while a British officer, sent into the fort, was endeavouring to remove their objections to the terms of capitulation, they recommenced firing, and would admit of no further intercourse. The breaching batteries, however, having opened on the morning of the 17th, and threatening a speedy catastrophe, they capitulated in the evening, on terms of safety to their persons and private property.1

A force, composed of fifteen regular battalions, sent north by Scindia at the commencement of the campaign, and of two battalions which had joined them from Delhi, after the battle of the 11th of September, still remained. They had occupied a position about thirty miles in the rear of the British army, during the siege of Agra, but without attempting interruption. And they were understood to have in view a march upon Delhi, with the hope of recovering that important post. In quest of this enemy, the British army moved from Agra on the 27th of October. Retarded by the heaviness of the rain, they left the heavy guns and baggage at Futtypore, and on the 30th and 31st, marching twenty miles each day, they encamped on the 31st, a short distance from the ground which the enemy had quitted in the morning. The General conceived the design of overtaking them with the cavalry, and giving them, by a slight engagement, interruption till the arrival of the infantry. Marching from 12 o'clock on the night of the 31st, till seven the next morning, a distance of twenty-five miles, he came up with the enemy, retreating,
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as he imagined, and in confusion. Eager BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.not to permit their retreat to the hills, and to secure their guns, he resolved, as he himself expresses it, “to try the effect of an attack upon them with the cavalry alone.”

The advance of the cavalry was slow, the road having been rendered difficult by the water of a reservoir, the embankment of which the enemy had cut. The British General, having commanded the advanced guard and first brigade, led by Colonel Vandeleur, to march upon the point, where the enemy, who had for some time been covered by the clouds of dust, had last been observed in motion, directed the remainder of the cavalry to attack in succession as soon as they could form and come up. When they advanced sufficiently near to perceive the enemy, they found them occupying an advantageous position, with their right upon a rivulet which the British had immediately passed, their left on the village of Laswaree, and their whole front amply provided with artillery. The point, to which the advanced guard and first brigade were directed, was found to be the left of the enemy's new position, which without hesitation they attacked. They forced the line, and penetrated into the village, Colonel Vandeleur having fallen in the charge; but they were exposed to so galling a fire of cannon and musquetry, that it was impossible to form the squadrons for a second attack, and the General was obliged to draw them off. They left, for want of draught cattle, the guns of the enemy which had fallen into their hands; and the other brigades retired from the fire to which they found themselves exposed, without being able to discover the enemy, though they fell in with and carried away a few of their guns. The British infantry, which had left their former ground at three in the morning, arrived on the banks of the rivulet
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.about eleven. After so long a march, some time for refreshment was indispensably required. During this interval a proposal was received from the enemy, offering on certain conditions to surrender their guns. The General, eager to stop the effusion of blood, offered immediately to comply with their terms, and allowed them an hour to come to a final determination. In the mean time, the disposition was made for battle. The whole of the infantry was formed on the left, with a view to attack the right flank of the enemy, which since the morning had been thrown back to some distance, leaving an interval to the rivulet. The British infantry was formed in two columns, the first destined to turn the right flank of the enemy, and assault the village of Mohaulpoor, the second, to support the first. The cavalry was formed into three brigades, of which one was to support the infantry in the attack of the enemy's right, another was detached to the right of the British army, to watch the enemy's left, avail itself of any confusion, and attack them in their retreat; the third composed the reserve, and was formed in the space between the preceding two. The enemy were drawn up in two lines, which had the village of Mohaulpoor between them on the left, and extended beyond it on the right.

The time for parley being expired, the British infantry moved along the bank of the rivulet, through high grass and broken ground, which afforded cover. The enemy, as soon as the movements of the British columns to turn their flank became visible, threw back their right, forming an acute angle in front with their former position, and rendering it impossible to turn their flanks. As soon as the British columns became exposed to the enemy's cannon, the field pieces which they had been able to bring up, and the galloper guns attached to the cavalry, formed into
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four batteries, began also to fire. The cannonade on BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.both sides was very spirited and severe. The King's 76th regiment, which headed the attack, and had often signalized its discipline and courage in India, had arrived, together with a battalion and five companies of native troops, within one hundred paces of the enemy, while the remainder of the column, impeded in its advance, was still at some distance behind. This advanced party were exposed to the enemy's fire; and the men were falling very fast. Thus situated, the General thought it better to advance with them to the attack, than wait till the remainder of the column should be able to form. As soon as they arrived within reach of the enemy's cannister shot, a tremendous fire was opened upon them; and their loss was exceedingly severe. The regularity of their advance being disturbed by the severity of the cannonade, the enemy's cavalry were encouraged to charge. The steadiness, however, of “this handful of heroes,” as they are justly denominated by their grateful commander, enabled them to repulse the assailants with their fire. They rallied, however, at a little distance, and resumed a menacing posture; when the General ordered an attack by the British cavalry. It was performed, with great gallantry and success, by the 29th regiment of dragoons, whose commander, Major Griffiths, was killed by a cannon shot immediately before the charge. The infantry, at the same time, advanced upon the enemy's line, which they broke and routed. The remainder of the first column of British infantry arrived just in time to join in the attack of the enemy's second line, of which the right had been thrown back in the same proportion as that of the first. Major General Ware, who commanded the right wing of the British army, fell about the same
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.time by a cannon shot. After a good resistance, and losing all their guns, the enemy were driven back towards a small mosque in the rear of the village, when the three brigades of British cavalry, advancing upon them from their different positions, charged them with great execution. A column of the enemy on the left attempted to go off in good order with a part of the baggage: but were turned by the brigade of horse which had been detached to the right of the British army, and shared the same fate with the rest of their companions. About two thousand of the enemy seeing it impossible to escape, threw down their arms, and surrendered themselves prisoners, with the baggage and every thing belonging to their camp.

This battle appears to have been gained principally by the admirable discipline and bravery of the 76th regiment. Of the Commander, the gallantry was probably more remarkable than the generalship. He was frustrated in two of his plans; in his attack with the cavalry in the morning, and in turning the flank of the enemy in the afternoon; and the victory was gained at last by mere dint of hard fighting, to which the general himself set a conspicuous example. He led the charge of the cavalry in the morning; and at the head of the 76th regiment (which he allowed to come up too soon) conducted in person every operation of the day. Two horses were shot under him; and his son, acting as his aid-de-camp, was wounded by his side, in circumstances resembling those of poetic distress. The son had but just persuaded the father to mount his horse, after one of his own had fallen under him, pierced by several shot, when he himself was struck with a ball; and at that instant the father was obliged to lead on the troops, leaving his wounded son upon the field.
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With seventeen battalions of infantry, the enemyBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.are supposed to have brought into the action more than four thousand horse. Their guns, in number seventy-two, being all taken, were more precisely known. The English loss amounted to 172 men killed, 652 wounded. Three months only had elapsed since General Lake crossed the Mahratta frontier; and not only the whole of that army which the Governor-General had treated as an object of so much apprehension was destroyed, but the whole of that extensive territory in the region of the Jumna, which the predecessor of Dowlut Rao had so laboriously added to his dominions, was placed in the hands of the English.1

During the time of these exploits, the great division of the English army in the south had been employed in the following manner. The strong fortress of Ahmednuggur, held by Scindia, with its adjoining territory, was the object of the first operations of General Wellesley. He moved from his camp at Walkee on the 8th of August, and, arriving at Ahmednuggur, took the pettah by escalade, on the same day. The English had thirty-three men killed, and eleven wounded. They opened a battery against the fort on the 10th; and on the 11th the Kelledar or Governor offered to negotiate; and on the 12th evacuated the fort, on condition of safety to the persons and private property of the garrison. This acquisition was of some importance; one of the strongest fortresses in India, in good repair, on the frontier of the Nizam, covering Poona, and a point of support to the future operations in advance.2

In taking possession of the districts, of 6,34,000 rupees estimated revenue, dependant on Ahmednuggur,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.and making arrangements for the security of the fort, the General was occupied for several days, and crossed the Godavery only on the 24th. On the same day Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, having ascended the Adjuntee Ghaut, entered the territory of the Nizam with a large body of horse. On the 29th General Wellesley arrived at Aurungabad, between which place, and the corps under Colonel Stephenson, who had moved to the eastward toward the Badowly Ghaut, the enemy had passed, and had reached Julnapoor, about forty miles east from Aurungabad. The enemy continued their march in a south-east direction, with a view, as was reported, to cross the Godavery, and march upon Hyderabad. To intercept them in this intention, General Wellesley regained the river, and moved eastward along its northern bank. The enemy, however, soon altered their course, and proceeded to the north of Julnapoor. Colonel Stephenson returned from the eastward on the 1st of September, and on the 2d attacked and carried the fort of Julnapoor. After this, he made several attempts to bring the enemy to action, and actually surprised their camp on the night of the 9th of September. They continued their northern movement toward the Adjuntee pass, near which they were joined by a detachment, it is said, of sixteen battalions of Scindia's regular infantry, commanded by two Frenchmen. On the 21st the divisions of the British army were so near, that the two commanders had a conference, and concerted a plan for attacking the enemy jointly on the morning of the 24th. Colonel Stephenson marched by a western route, General Wellesley by the eastern, round the hills between Budnapore and Jalna. On the 23d General Wellesley received intelligence that Scindia and the Rajah had moved off with their cavalry in the morning;
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but that the infantry, about to follow, were stillBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. in camp at the distance of about six miles.

This intelligence, from which the General inferred the intention of the enemy to escape, made him resolve to attack them, without waiting till the following morning for Colonel Stephenson. He found the whole combined army near the village of Assye, encamped on the bank of the Kaitna river. His road brought him first in front of their right; but as it was composed almost entirely of cavalry, and the defeat of the infantry was most likely to be effectual, he resolved to attack the left. Marching round, he crossed the river Kaitna, at a ford beyond the enemy's left flank; and formed the infantry in two lines, and the British cavalry as a reserve in a third; leaving the Mahratta and Mysore cavalry on the other side of the Kaitna, to hold in check a large body of the enemy's cavalry, which had followed the British army from the right of their own position. As soon as the enemy perceived the intention of the British general to attack their left, they changed the position of their infantry and guns. Another stream, called the Juah, of nearly the same size with the Kaitna, flowed in a parallel direction: at a small distance beyond it, the enemy formed a line, having its right on the Kaitna, and its left on the Juah. This line and that of the British army faced one another; but the enemy formed a second line on the left of their position, nearly at right angles to their first, extending to the rear along the banks of the Juah. The fire of the enemy's guns performed dreadful execution, as the British army advanced. The British artillery had opened upon the enemy at the distance of 400 yards; but the number of men and bullocks that were disabled soon rendered it impossible to bring on the guns; and as they were found to produce
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.little effect, the General resolved to advance without them. The right of the British line was so thinned by the cannon of the enemy's left, that a body of their cavalry was encouraged to charge it. A body of the British cavalry, however, were prepared to intercept them, and they were repelled with slaughter. The steady advance of the British troops at last overawed the enemy, and they gave way in every direction. The cavalry then broke in, and charged them with the greatest effect. The enemy fled, but the force of the English was too small to render the victory decisive. Some of the enemy's corps went off in good order; and Lieutenant-Colonel Maxwell was killed, in charging with the British cavalry a body of infantry, who had again formed, but soon resumed their retreat. Many also of the enemy's guns, which had been left in the rear by the British line as they advanced, were, by a practice common in the native armies of India, turned upon the British by individuals who had thrown themselves as dead upon the ground. The General thought it necessary to take a regiment of European infantry, and one of native cavalry, and proceed in person to stop this fire, which for some time was very severe. His horse in this operation was shot under him. The enemy's cavalry, which had been hovering about during the action, continued for some time near the British line. But at last, the whole of the enemy went off, leaving ninety-eight pieces of cannon, and seven standards, in the hands of the English, with 1,200 men, it is said, dead on the field.

It required no ordinary exertion of discipline and courage in the men to advance with so much steadiness under the carnage of such a fire. The personal courage, too, was abundantly displayed, of the General who led them on And unless in as far as
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the wisdom may be questioned, first of sacrificing soBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. great a number of men for the only object which could be attained by it; next, of not waiting for the arrival of Stephenson, when the victory would have been attended with much greater, perhaps with decisive effects, the conduct of the action, it is probable, possessed all the merit of which the nature of the case allowed. Of the British army, 428 were killed, 1138 were wounded. As the whole are said to have consisted of only 4,500 men, between one third and one half of the whole army were either killed or wounded. This was paying very dear for so indecisive an affair.1

Colonel Stephenson, though his march had been retarded by some unexpected impediment, arrived on the 24th; and was immediately sent after the enemy, whom the state of the troops under General Wellesley rendered him unable to pursue. The enemy had been so little broken or dispersed by their defeat, that they had little to dread, from the pursuit of Colonel Stephenson; and proceeded westward, along the bank of the Taptee, as if they meditated a descent upon Poorna by a march to the southward through the Caserbary Ghaut. General Wellesley imagined that this was a demonstration to prevent a northern movement of the British troops against the city of Boorhanpore, the fortress of Asseerghur, and the rest of Scindia's places in Candesh. But that General deemed himself sufficiently strong, both to proceed against the places in question, and to watch the movements of the enemy towards the south. Remaining with his own army to the southward, he sent his commands to Stephenson, who had descended the Adjuntee Ghaut, in pursuit of the enemy, to continue
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.his march to the northward, and attack Boorhanpore and Asseerghur. As soon as the plan of the British General came to the knowledge of the enemy, the Rajah of Berar and Scindia separated their armies, the former marching towards Chandore, the latter making a movement to the northward, for the purpose of yielding protection to his threatened possessions. General Wellesley followed to the north, and descended the Adjuntee Ghaut on the 19th of October; Scindia, upon this, instead of continuing his movement to the north, gave it an easterly direction through the valley formed by the Taptee and Poona rivers; while the Rajah of Berar passed through the hills which formed the boundary of Candesh, and moved towards the Godavery. This seemed to require again the presence of General Wellesley in the south, who accordingly ascended the Adjuntee Ghaut on the 25th of October, and, continuing his march to the southward, passed Aurungabad on the 29th.

In the mean time Colonel Stephenson had easily accomplished the service upon which he had been detached. The city of Boorhanpore was evacuated on his approach; and was entered by the British troops on the 15th of October. On the 17th he marched upon Asseerghur, the importance of which, in the estimation of the people of India, may be conjectured from a name by which it was distinguished, the Key of Deccan. On the 18th Colonel Stephenson attacked the pettah, and of course with success. On the 20th the batteries were opened against the fort, and within an hour the garrison offered to accept the conditions which the British commander had proposed on summoning the place. In this manner the fortress was placed in the hands of the English on the 21st, and with it the whole of
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Scindia's dominions in Deccan. The operations ofBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. the army were now turned against Berar. Colonel Stephenson began an easterly movement towards Scindia; and received the commands of the General to prosecute his march as far as Gawilghur, and lay siege to that, the principal fortress belonging to the Rajah of Berar.1

In the first week of November, Jeswunt Rao Gorparah, and another person of inferior rank, arrived in the British camp, commissioned, they said, by Scindia, to treat with General Wellesley, on the subject of peace. As soon after the battle of Assye as the 8th of October, the British General had received a letter from one of Scindia's ministers, requesting that he would send to the enemy's camp, one of the British, and one of the Nizam's, officers, to settle the terms of a peace. With this request the General deemed it, on two accounts, inexpedient to comply; first, because the letter bore no stamp of the authority of Scindia, who might afterwards disavow it; next, because a British officer in the camp of the enemy, and the appearance, on the part of the British of being petitioners for peace, would reanimate the dejected minds of the enemy's troops. But he expressed his readiness honourably to receive any person whom the confederate chiefs might for that purpose depute to the British camp. Several subsequent proposals had been transmitted to him, but all, through channels, which the principal might have disavowed. Even Gorparah, and his companion, when requested, at their first conference with General Wellesley, to exhibit their credentials, had none to produce. Though liable to be dismissed
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.with disgrace, they were told by the British General, that they might remain in the camp, till they had time to receive from their master those powers which were necessary to enable them to treat, and those documents to substantiate their powers without which they ought not to have been sent. In the mean time a letter arrived from Scindia, declaring his intention to send another commissioner, and disavowing Gorparah and his companion. General Wellesley, who believed, in this case, that the master was the impostor, not the servants, sent for the unhappy men, and made them acquainted with the dangerous situation in which they were placed. They convinced him that on their part there was no fiction, and gratefully received his assurance that he would not render them the victims of the duplicity of their master. In the mean time, Gorparah's application for powers, and his account of his reception by the British General, had been received by Scindia, and determined that unsteady chief to send him the requisite powers. They arrived in the British camp a few hours after the conference on the disavowal had taken place, but were still defective in one essential point; for amendment in respect to which, the General advised Gorparah and his colleague again to apply. In the mean time, he solicited an armistice, and that for both confederates. This, as no ambassador, or expression of a desire for peace, had yet arrived from the Rajah of Berar, and as it was impolitic to allow the hostile Princes to negotiate in common, Wellesley positively refused, in regard to the other chieftain; but granted to Scindia for the troops in the Deccan. It was dated on the 23d of November; requiring, that Scindia should take up a position agreed upon, and not approach the British camp nearer than a distance of twenty coss. Calculating
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upon the division of the confederates; finding thatBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. the Rajah of Berar was proceeding towards his own territories, that the number of troops he had with him was small, and diminishing every day; ceasing, in consequence, to have any apprehension for the territories of the Nizam, Wellesley descended the Ghaut by Rajoora, with a view to support, and cover the operations of Stephenson against the fort of Gawilghur. The principal part of the army of the Rajah of Berar was encamped under the command of his brother, Munno Bappoo, not far from Elichpoor. And the cavalry of Scindia, who had not yet ratified the armistice, was encamped at about four miles distance. Colonel Stephenson had advanced as far as Hattee Anderah, on the 28th of November; when, being apprised of the situation of the enemy, and the approach of General Wellesley, he prudently halted to enable both armies to co-operate in the attack. They joined, on the 29th, at a place within sight of the enemy's camp. Upon the approach of the British, the enemy retired; and as the troops had performed a very long march on a very hot day, the General had no intention of pursuit. Bodies of horse were in a little time observed in front. And on pushing forward the picquets for taking up the ground of encampment, the enemy were distinctly perceived, drawn up regularly on the plains of Argaum. Late as was the period of the day, the General resolved to attack. The distance was about six miles. The British army advanced in a direction nearly parallel to that of the enemy's line, in one column, led by the British cavalry, and covered on the left and rear by the cavalry of Hyderabad and Mysore. The enemy's line extended above five miles. Scindia's part of the force, consisting of one very heavy body of cavalry, was on the right, having some Pindarees and other
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.light troops, on their outward flank. The village of Argaum, with its extensive enclosures and gardens, was in the rear of the enemy's line; in its front was a plain, cut by a number of water courses. The British army was formed in two lines; the infantry in the first; the cavalry in the second, the British, to support the right, the Mogul and Mysore, the left. The British line was not formed exactly parallel to that of the enemy, but with the right a little advanced to press upon the enemy's left. Some time was spent in forming the order of battle, because part of the infantry which led the column got into some confusion. As soon as the line was formed, the whole advanced in the greatest order. Two regiments on the right were attacked by a large body of Persians, as was supposed, whom they destroyed; a battalion also on the left received and repulsed a charge of Scindia's cavalry. As the British line advanced, the enemy retired in disorder, leaving thirty-eight pieces of cannon, with their ammunition, in the hands of the assailants. The cavalry continued their pursuit by moonlight; but night rendered it impossible to derive many advantages from the victory. The British loss, in this battle, if battle it may be called, was trifling; total in killed, wounded, and missing, 346.1

After the battle of Argaum, the General resolved to lose no time in commencing the siege of Gawilghur. He arrived at Elichpoor on the 5th of December, where he endeavoured to collect information for the attack. Gawilghur stands upon a lofty point of a ridge of mountains between the sources of the rivers Poona and Taptee. It consisted of two forts; the inner, fronting to the south where the rock is most
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precipitous; and the outer, covering the former,BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. toward the north-west and north. Upon deliberation it appeared adviseable to make the principal attack upon the northern side. To this service the corps of Colonel Stephenson was destined, having been equipped for that purpose at Asseerghur. On the 7th, both divisions of the army marched from Elichpoor; that under Colonel Stephenson, by a road of about thirty miles in length, through the mountains, the road which led most directly to the point of attack; that under General Wellesley, with all the cavalry, in a different direction, with a view to cover, and if possible assist them, by other attacks on the south and the west. The march of Colonel Stephenson, through the mountains, was attended with almost insuperable difficulties. The heavy ordnance, and stores, were dragged by hand, over mountains, and through ravines, for nearly the whole distance, by roads which it had been previously necessary for the troops to make. On the 12th, Colonel Stephenson reached his ground, and at night erected two batteries in front of the north face of the fort. On the same night the troops of General Wellesley constructed a battery on the mountain under the southern gate; but as it was impossible to get up the heavy guns, it proved of little advantage. On the evening of the 14th, the breaches in the walls of the outer fort were practicable. Preparations were made during the day; and the assault was to be given on the following morning. Beside the party destined for the storm, two detachments were led, one toward the southern, another toward the north-west gate, for the purpose merely of drawing the attention of the enemy, as neither of them could get into the fort till the storming party should open the gates. The troops advanced about ten o'clock; and the outer fort was
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.soon in possession of the assailants. The wall of the inner fort was then to be carried. It had not been breached, and attempts were made in vain upon the gate. A place, however, was found, at which the wall might be escaladed, when Captain Campbell mounted with the light infantry of the 94th regiment, and opened the gate. After this the garrison made no resistance. “Vast numbers of them,” says the General, “were killed, particularly at different gates.”

While the two great divisions of the British army were thus engaged, the minor objects of the war had been no less successfully pursued.

The detachment of British troops which had been assembled at Allahabad, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Powell, for the occupation of Bundelcund, crossed the Jumna, and entered that province, on the 6th of September. The situation of the province at that period was briefly as follows.

Chuttersaul, having succeeded a long line of Hindu ancestors, in the Rajahship of Bundelcund, of whom a considerable number had existed in the state of vassals to the Mogul throne, availed himself of the decline of that monarchy, not only to re-establish his independence, but enlarge his dominions. Alarmed, however, at the prospect of what was likely to follow from the power and disposition of his Mahratta neighbours, he sought for protection to his house, by securing the favour of the most powerful of the Mahratta leaders. For this purpose, though the father of a numerous offspring, he adopted Bajee Rao, the first Peshwa, as his son; and left him a third part of his dominions. The rest he divided equally between two of his sons. Further subdivisions took place in succeeding generations. Jealousies arose among the different branches of the family; and wars ensued. The country, as was the habitual state of Hindu
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countries, was perpetually ravaged by hostile contentions;BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. and at last so much enfeebled, that it offered an easy prey to any invader.

When Scindia made his conclusive attempt, in 1786, upon the expiring sovereignty of Delhi, the Peshwa joined in the expedition, with a view of joining also in the plunder. His object was to obtain the Dooab, or district between the Jumna and Ganges; and he placed Ali Bahaudur, the grandson, by an illegitimate father, of Bajee Rao, the first Peshwa, whom he destined to govern it in his name, at the head of the troops whom he sent to join in the expedition. In the course of the enterprise, a breach ensued between Scindia and Ali Bahaudur, who was joined by another chief, named Rajah Himmut Bahaudur. Frustrated in their views upon the Dooab, which Scindia destined, probably from the beginning, for himself, these two chieftains directed their arms against Bundelcund. From the distracted state of the country, it was speedily over-run, and apparently subdued; but in a mountainous region, where every village was a fortress, the authority of the Mahratta government was not easily, indeed never completely, established. Ali Bahaudur agreed to yield obedience and tribute to the Peshwa, the latter of which was never in his power. He died in 1802, having spent fourteen years without completing the reduction of Bundelcund, one of the fortresses of which, the celebrated Callinger, he was fruitlessly besieging at the time of his death. His son, Shumshere Bahaudur, eighteen years of age, was then resident at Poona; and the Rajah Himmut Bahaudur, who had always retained a great share of power, and who now found the government at his disposal, appointed a distant relation of the family, regent, during the absence of the prince. In this situation were the affairs of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.Bundelcund, when the Peshwa was driven from Poona, and the war broke out between the British government and the Mahratta chiefs.

In the month of August, 1803, certain alterations were agreed upon between the British government and the Peshwa, in the terms of the treaty of Bassein. Of these the principal were, that the English, in lieu of some of the ceded districts, and as a compensation for an additional number of subsidized troops, should accept of territory in Bundelcund, which it remained for them to subdue, yielding, by estimate, a revenue of 36,16,000 rupees.1 As Himmut Bahaudur, in the probable success of the English, anticipated the loss of his own power, he ingeniously resolved to assist them in their project, on condition of obtaining an advantageous indemnity to himself. He was accordingly ready, with a force of about 13,000, or 14,000 men, as soon as the detachment of the British army entered the territory of Bundelcund. He joined the detachment on the 15th of September; on the 23d they arrived, in conjunction, on the bank of the river Cane; and found the troops of Shumshere Bahaudur, a considerable force, encamped on the opposite side. After reducing several forts, and establishing the British authority in the adjacent district, they crossed the Cane on the 10th of October; and on the 12th gave battle to Shumshere Bahaudur; who retreated with loss, and shortly after, despairing of his ability to maintain the contest, crossed the river Betwah, and retired from the province.

For seizing the province of Cuttack, a part of the northern division of the Madras army, doing duty in the northern Circars, was destined to march from Ganjam, and to be reinforced by a detachment of
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6,216 men from Bengal. Of this detachment, a bodyBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. of 854 were collected at Jallasore, to be ready to penetrate into Cuttack, as soon as the movements of the principal force should render it necessary; 521 were to take possession of Ballasore; and 1,300 were to occupy a post at Midnapore, with a view to support the detachments at Jallasore and Ballasore, and afford protection to the Company's frontier against any sudden incursion of the Rajah's horse. Lieutenant-Colonel Campbell, the officer chosen to conduct this expedition, having been seized with an illness, which threatened his life, Lieutenant-Colonel Harcourt was appointed to act in his stead.

The troops marched from Ganjam on the 8th of September, and on the 14th took possession of Manickpatam, whence the Mahrattas fled upon their approach. Application was made to the Brahmens of Juggernaut to place the Pagoda under British protection: and with this they complied. The next object was Cuttack; but the inundations produced by the rains allowed not the march to begin before the 24th of September, and even then rendered it so laborious and slow, being also, in some degree, harassed by parties of the enemy's horse, that it was not completed before the 10th of October. The town yielded without resistance, and operations were begun for the reduction of the fort. Of the other detachments, that appointed to take possession of Ballasore had there landed on the 21st of September, and soon overcame all the resistance by which it was opposed. The detachment formed at Jallasore left that place on the 23d of September, and on the 4th of October arrived without opposition at Ballasore. On the 10th of that month, a force of 816 men marched from Ballasore, by order of the Governor-General, to aid Lieutenant-Colonel Harcourt in the reduction of Cuttack.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.Barabutty, the fort of Cuttack, was a place of considerable strength, and had only one entrance, by a bridge, over a wet ditch of enormous dimensions. A battery, which opened on the morning of the 14th, in a few hours took off nearly all the defences, and silenced the guns on one side, when it was resolved immediately to try the assault. In passing the bridge, the storming party, headed by Lieutenant-Colonel Clayton, were exposed to a heavy, but ill-directed fire of musquetry from the fort; and forty minutes elapsed before they succeeded in blowing open the wicket, at which the men entered singly. Two other gates were forced after some resistance; when the enemy hastened to abandon the fort. The fall of this place delivered the whole of the province of Cuttack into the hands of the English.1

The conquest of Scindia's territories in Guzerat was made by a force from Bombay, consisting of one European regiment, with a proportion of artillery and sepoys, commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Woodington. They marched from Baroda on the 21st of August, and encamped within two miles of Baroach on the 23d. Though the next day, when the English advanced upon the place, the enemy were seen posted, as for resistance, in front of the pettah, they were soon compelled to retreat within the fort. Next morning Colonel Woodington took possession of the pettah; and on the 29th the breach in the fort was reported practicable. The storming party were led by Captain Richardson, and displayed the virtues seldom wanting in British troops on such an occasion. The enemy resisted with considerable spirit, for a little time; but then fled, with slight loss to the assailants. After the capture of Baroach, and its dependencies,
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yielding a revenue of eleven lacs of rupees,BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. Colonel Woodington proceeded against Champaneer, the only district which Scindia now possessed in the province of Guzerat. It was defended by a fort, on Powanghur, one of the detached hills, which form so many places of great natural strength in India. Champaneer, the pettah, was carried by assault with inconsiderable loss. At first the Kelledar of the fort refused to surrender; but, on the 17th of September, when preparations were made for the assault, he capitulated, and the fort was occupied by the British troops.1

The Mahratta chieftains were now eager to escape by negotiation the ruin which their arms were unable to avert. On the evening of the 30th of November, the day after the battle of Argaum, a vakeel arrived, bearing a letter from the Rajah of Berar, and requesting a conference with the British General. First, a discussion arose about the origin of the war; the vakeel maintaining, that the British government; General Wellesley maintaining, that the Rajah was the aggressor. The vakeel alleged, that the war commenced, because the Rajah did not obey the orders of Colonel Collins, in withdrawing with his troops: Wellesley affirmed that the war commenced, because the Rajah, along with Scindia, had assumed a position which threatened the British allies. The vakeel contended, that the troops of the Rajah were on his own territory; that his presence there was necessary, both because the contest between Scindia and Holkar was destructive to Hindustan, and because the peshwa had made a treaty with the English, contrary to the custom of the Mahratta states: Wellesley replied, that for mediation between Scindia and Holkar, the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.position taken by the Rajah was unnecessary, and that with the treaty of the Peshwa the English would give him no leave to interfere. The vakeel, as the representative of the weakest party, at last declared, that, however the war began, his master was very desirous of bringing it to an end. He was then questioned about his powers, but said he had only a commission to learn the wishes of the British General, and to express the desire of the Rajah to comply. Compensation, for the injuries of aggression, and for the expenses of the war, was declared to be the only basis on which the English would treat. The vakeel applied for a suspension of arms, which was absolutely rejected; and leave to remain in camp, till he should receive powers sufficient to treat, which was also refused; and he was advised to take up his intermediate residence in some of the neighbouring towns.

A second conference took place on the 9th of November, when the vakeel produced letters from the Rajah, expressing assent to the conditions which the British General had presented for the basis of negotiation. The cessions, demanded by the English to effect the stipulated compensation, were then described: For the Company the whole of the province of Cuttack, including the port of Ballasore: For their ally the Nizam, the country lying between his own frontier and the river Wurda to the eastward, and between his own frontier and the hills in which are situated the forts of Gawilghur and Nernulla, to the northward; together with renunciation of all the claims which the Rajah might have ever advanced on any part of his dominions: And for their other allies, any of the Zemindars and Rajahs, the tributaries or subjects of the Rajah, with whom the English had formed connections during the war, the confirmation of all their engagements. The vakeel exclaimed
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against the exorbitance of these demands, which wereBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. sufficient, he said, not only to reduce, but entirely to destroy the state of his master.

“Major General Wellesley replied, that the Rajah was a great politician; and ought to have calculated rather better his chances of success, before he commenced the war; but that having commenced it, it was proper that he should suffer, before he should get out of the scrape.”1

After several discussions, in which General Wellesley relaxed only so far as to reserve to the Rajah the forts of Gawilghur and Nernulla, with contiguous districts yielding four lacs of annual revenue, the terms of the treaty were arranged on the 16th, and signed by the British General and the Mahratta vakeel, on the 17th of December, 1803. The forts were left to the Rajah, as not being calculated to be of much advantage to the Nizam, while they were necessary to the Rajah, for coercing the predatory people on the hills; and the contiguous districts were granted, in order to leave him an interest in restraining the depredators, to whose incursions these districts, together with the rest of the adjoining country, were continually exposed. Of the country, to which the Rajah was thus obliged to resign his pretensions, he had possessed but a sort of divided sovereignty, in conjunction with the Nizam. It was originally a part of the Subah of Deccan; but the Mahrattas had established over it a claim, at first to one-fifth, afterwards by degrees to one half, at last to four-fifths, and in some parts to the whole, of the revenues. Though an extensive and fertile country,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.it was not, however, computed that the Rajah had annually realized from it more than thirty lacs of rupees.

To some other articles; as, the exclusion from his service of Europeans and Americans, the mutual appointment of resident ambassadors, and the renunciation of the confederacy; scarcely any objection was experienced on the part of the Rajah.1

If he had not prevented further hostilities by compliance, the British General was prepared to pursue him to Nagpoor, the capital of his dominions, while the troops in Sumbulpore and Cuttack were ready to co-operate, and General Lake, having subdued all opposition in Hindustan, was at liberty to detach a force into Berar.2

At the very time of negotiation, the Governor-General prepared a copious delineation of his views respecting the objects to be obtained by concluding treaties of peace with the belligerent chiefs, and sent it, bearing date the 11th of December, under the title of Instructions, to General Wellesley. Even now the formation of what is called a defensive alliance with Scindia, that is, the substitution in the service of Scindia of the Company's troops to Scindia's own troops, was an object of solicitude with the British ruler: And he prepared two plans of concession; one on the supposition of his accepting; another on the supposition of his rejecting, the proposition of a subsidiary force. The singular part of the offer was; to maintain the subsidiary force, if equal to that which was placed at Hyderabad, without any expense to Scindia, and wholly at the Company's expense; for it was distinctly proposed, that for the expense of
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that force, no assignment of territory beyond that ofBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. which the cession would at all events be exacted of him, nor any other funds whatsoever, should be required.1

By the ratification of the treaty with the Rajah of Berar, the whole of the forces under General Wellesley were free to act against Scindia: The troops which had been employed in reducing the possessions of that chief in Guzerat, having accomplished that service, were now ready to penetrate into Malwa to his capital, Ougein, for which purpose they had actually marched to the frontier of Guzerat: And the detachment which had been prepared by General Lake to co-operate in the subjugation of Berar, might now commence operations on the unsubdued dominions of Scindia.2

It was not till the 8th of December that the various artifices of that chieftain, to procrastinate, and to evade the proposition of admitting compensation as the basis of negotiation, were terminated. His vakeels insisted that, as his losses were still greater than those of the English, if compensation were the question, it was to him that the greater compensation would be due. It was answered, that he was the aggressor. But this was the point in debate; this was what Scindia denied. He was given, however, to understand, that he was the unsuccessful party, and of this he had a bitter and certain experience. A long discussion ensued on the cessions to which, under the title of compensation, the English laid claim. A further conference took place on the 11th. Other conferences followed, on the 24th, the 26th, and the 28th; when compliance was expressed with the terms, from which it was found that the English would not
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.recede. On the following day, the treaty was signed. The Maharajah ceded all his rights of sovereignty, in the country between the Jumna and the Ganges, and to the northward of the territories belonging to the Rajahs of Jeypoor, Jodepoor, and Gohud; he ceded the fort and territory of Baroach; the fort and territory of Ahmednugger; all the possessions which he had held on the south side of the Adjuntee hills to the Godavery river; all claims upon his Majesty Shah Aulum, or to interfere in his affairs; and all claims of every description upon the British government, or any of its allies, the Subahdar of the Deccan, the Peshwa, and Anund Rao Guyckwar. Provision was made for the independence of all those minor states, in the region of the Jumna, which had formerly borne the yoke of Scindia, but had made engagements with the English during the recent war. The fort of Asseerghur, the city of Boorhanpore, the forts of Powanghur, and Gohud, with the territories depending upon them, were restored. Scindia was also allowed to retain certain lands in the vicinity of Ahmednugger; and within the cessions which he had made in the north, his claims were allowed to certain lands which he represented as the private estates of his family, and to the possession of which none of the rights of sovereignty were to be annexed. Certain jaghires and pensions, which Scindia or his predecessor had granted to individuals, either of their family, or among their principal servants, in the ceded countries, or upon their revenues, were confirmed, to the amount of seventeen lacs of rupees per annum. Scindia most readily engaged not to receive into his service any Frenchman, or the subject of any European or American power, that might be at war with the British government. Lastly, an article was inserted, leaving the way open to form afterwards an additional treaty for a subsidiary alliance;
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which, in this case, was not to be subsidiary;BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. for the English government stipulated to afford the troops their pay and subsistence, without compensation either in money or land.

Of these cessions it was agreed, between the British government and its allies, that the territory, situated to the westward of the river Wurdah and the southward of the hills on which were the forts of Gawilghur and Nernulla, together with the territory between the Adjuntee hills and the river Godavery, should belong to the Nizam; that Ahmednuggur and its territory should belong to the Peshwa, to whose capital it so nearly approached; and that all the rest should belong to the English. The minor princes, in the region of the Jumna, who formerly bore the yoke of Scindia, and whom it was the policy of the Governor-General now to render dependent upon the British government, and to form of them a sort of barrier on the British frontier against any aggression of the Mahratta powers, were the Rajahs of Bhurtpore, Jodepore, Jyepoor, Macherry, and Boondee, the Ranah of Gohud, and Ambagee Rao Englah.

With the first five of these minor princes, who were already in possession of acknowledged sovereignties, treaties of alliance were formed, on condition that the English should take no tribute from them, nor interfere in the affairs of their government; that, in case of the invasion of the Company's territory, they should assist in repelling the enemy; and that the Company should guarantee their dominions against all aggression, they defraying the expense of the aid which they might receive. The case of the remaining two chieftains required some further arrangements. The Ranah of Gohud had been dispossessed of his territories by Scindia; and all of them,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.together with the neighbouring districts, had been consigned to Ambajee, one of Scindia's leading commanders, as renter. Ambajee had deserted Scindia during the war; and it was now determined to make a partition, in sovereignty, of the territories which he rented, between him and the Ranah of Gohud, reserving the fort and city of Gualior to the Company. The same condition was contracted, as in the case of the other three princes, respecting mutual defence; but it was appointed that three battalions of the Company's sepoys should be stationed with the Ranah, and paid for by him, at the rate of 75,000 rupees a month.1

The condition to which Scindia was reduced, by the war, and by the sacrifices which he had made for the attainment of peace, excited in his breast the liveliest apprehensions with regard to the power and designs of Holkar; and he now applied himself in earnest to interpose, if possible, the shield of the Company between himself and this formidable antagonist. By one expedient alone, was he permitted to hope, that this important object could be attained; by entering into the system of general alliance, and subsidiary defence. It was agreed, accordingly, that Major Malcolm should repair to the camp of Scindia, to settle the terms of a treaty of this description. The business was accomplished, and the treaty signed at Boorhampore on the 27th of February, 1804. There were two remarkable circumstances. One was, the
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price which the Governor-General consented to payBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. for the supposed advantage of placing a body of British troops at the disposal of Scindia, and pledging the English government for his defence. The amount of the force defined by the treaty was 6000 infantry, and the usual proportion of artillery. These troops were to be maintained entirely at the expense of the English government, with the proceeds of the newly-acquired dominions; and that they might not establish an influence in Scindia's government, they were not even to be stationed within his territory, but at some convenient place near his frontier within the Company's dominions. The other remarkable circumstance was, not the condition by which the English government made itself responsible for the defence of the dominions of Scindia, but that, by which it engaged to make itself the instrument of his despotism; to become the executioner of every possible atrocity towards his own subjects, of which he might think proper to be guilty. It bound itself, by an express stipulation, not to interfere between him and his subjects, how dreadful soever his conduct in regard to his subjects might be. But the moment his subjects should take measures to resist him, whatsoever the enormities against which they might seek protection, the English government engaged, without scruple, and without condition, to act immediately for their suppression and chastisement. Where was now the doctrine of the Governor-General for the deposition of princes whose government was bad? Where was the regard to that disgrace which, as he told the princes whom he deposed, redounded to the British name, whenever they supported a government that was bad?

In forming his connexions with other states, either for war or peace, the Maharajah bound himself to
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.the slight condition of only consulting with the Company's government, but by no means of being governed by its decisions; and in any war to be carried on by their mutual exertions it was agreed, without any mention made of the proportion of troops, that in the partition of conquests the shares should be equal. The stipulation with regard to Frenchmen and other Europeans, or Americans, was made still more agreeable to the taste of the times; for it was promised by Scindia that he would allow no such person to remain in his dominions without the consent of the Company's government.1

The Governor-General seemed now to have accomplished the whole of his objects; and lofty was the conception which he formed of the benefits attained. The famous official document, which has been already quoted, “Notes, relative to the peace concluded between the British government and the confederate Mahratta chieftains,” concludes with “a general recapitulation of the benefits which the British government in India has derived from the success of the war, and from the combined arrangements of the pacification, including the treaties of peace, of partition, and of defensive alliance and subsidy.” It exhibits them under no less than nineteen several heads: 1. The reduction of the power and resources of Scindia and the Rajah of Berar; 2. The destruction of the French power; 3. The security against its revival; 4. The annexation to the British dominions of the territory occupied by Perron; 5. The annexation of other territories in the Dooab, and the command of the Jumna; 6. The deliverance of the Emperor Shah Aulum from the control of the French; 7. The security and influence derived from the system
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of alliance with the petty states along the JumnaBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. against the Mahrattas; 8. The security and influence derived from the possession of Gualior, and the subsidiary force established in Gohud; 9. The means of defence derived from these same fountains against any other enemy on the north-western frontier; 10. The advantages both in security and wealth derived from Cuttack; 11. The advantages derived from the possession of Baroach, which left Scindia no direct communication with the sea, or with the transmarine enemies of the British government; 12. The security derived from Baroach against the intrigues of the French with any native state; 13. The additional security bestowed upon the British interests in Guzerat, by the possession of Baroach, and the abolition of Scindia's claims on the Guyckwar; 14. The revenue and commerce derived from Baroach: 15. The benefits bestowed upon the Peshwa and Nizam; 16. The increased renown of the British nation, both for power and virtue; 17. The “defensive and subsidiary1 alliance” with Dowlut Rao Scindia; 18. The power of controlling the causes of dissension and contest among the Mahratta states; the power of keeping them weak; the power of preventing their combination with one another, or with the enemies of the British state; 19. The security afforded to the Company and its allies from the turbulence of the Mahratta character and state.2

This is exhibited as an instructive specimen of a good mode of making up an account.

After this enumeration, the document breaks out into the following triumphant declaration: “The general arrangements of the pacification; combined with the treaties of partition, with the defensive and
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.subsidiary alliance now concluded with Dowlut Rao Scindia, with the condition of our external relations and with the internal prosperity of the British empire: have finally placed the British power in India, in that commanding position with regard to other states, which affords the only possible security for the permanent tranquillity and prosperity of these valuable and important possessions.”

It is material here to mark, what is thus solemnly declared, by one of the most eminent of all our Indian rulers; that without that artificial system, which he created, of subsidiary troops, and dependance, under the name of alliance, there is no such thing as security for “the British empire in the East.”1

The document goes on to boast, that the troops, thus bestowed upon the Peshwa, the Nizam, Scindia, the Guyckwar, and Ranah of Gohud, would exceed 24,000 men; that all these would be maintained at the expense of those allies, which was incorrect, as Scindia paid nothing for the 6000 alloted to him; that this amount of troops would always be maintained in a state of perfect equipment, and might be directed against any of the principal states of India, without affecting the tranquillity of the Company's possessions, or adding materially to its expenses.

It then declares: “The position, extent, and equipment of this military force, combined with the privilege which the British government possesses of arbitrating differences and dissensions between the several states with which it is connected by the obligations of alliance, enable the British power to control the causes of that internal war which, during so long a term of years, has desolated many of the most fertile provinces of India; has occasioned a constant
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and hazardous fluctuation of power among the nativeBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. states; has encouraged a predatory spirit among the inhabitants; and formed an inexhaustible source for the supply of military adventurers, prepared to join the standard of any turbulent chieftain for the purpose of ambition, plunder, or rebellion. No danger can result from the operation of our defensive alliances, of involving the British government in war; excepting in cases of manifest justice, and irresistible necessity. The power of arbitration, reserved in all cases by the British government, not only secures the Company from the contingency of war, in the prosecution of the unjust views of any of our allies, but affords a considerable advantage in authorizing and empowering the British government to check, by amicable negotiation, the primary and remote sources of hostilities in every part of India.”1

When extracted from these sounding words, the meaning is, that the British government in India had obtained two advantages; 1. an enlargement of revenue; 2. increased security against the recurrence of war, or the evils of an unsuccessful one.


	1. Additional revenue is only useful, when it is not balanced by an equal increase of expense. The Governor-General talks loudly of the additional revenue; but not a word of the additional expense. If we had no more evidence but this, it would be a legitimate inference, that the expense was omitted because it would not have been favourable to his argument to speak of it. We have abundant general evidence that the expense of governing enlarged territory, in almost all places, though more especially in India, equals, or more frequently surpasses, all the revenue which it is possible to draw from it. We
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.shall presently see in what degree the facts of the present case conform to the general rule. If it turns out that the expense of governing the new territory is equal to its revenue, it follows that the enormous expense of the war, generated by the treaty of Bassein, and by the passion of the Governor-General for subsidiary alliances, remained altogether without compensation on the score of money.

	2. Let us inquire, if there is more solidity in the alleged advantage, in which, single and solitary, the whole compensation for the war remains to be sought, viz. security against the evils of war.



Now at first view it would appear that an obligation to defend a great number of Indian states, an obligation of taking part in all their miserable and never-ending quarrels, was of all receipts the most effectual, for being involved almost incessantly in the evils of war.

This increased exposure to the evils of war was far outweighed, according to the Governor-General, by the power of preventing war through the influence of the subsidiary troops.

Unfortunately the question which hence arises admits not of that degree of limitation and precision which enables it to receive a conclusive answer. The probabilities, though sufficiently great, must be weighed, and without any fixed and definite standard.

One thing, in the mean time, is abundantly certain, that if the East India company was able to keep any Indian state from going to war, this must have been, because it was the master of that state, because that state was dependant upon the East India Company, and bound in all its concerns to obey the Company's will. But if this were the case, and if the native governments were thus deprived of all independent power, infinitely better would it have
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been, to have removed them entirely. Two prodigiousBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. advantages would thus have been gained; the great expense of keeping them would have been saved; and the people in the countries under them would have been delivered from the unspeakable miseries of their administration; miseries always increased to excess by the union of a native, with the British, government. But, to place this question on the broadest basis: The policy of taking the whole of the Mahratta country immediately under the British government would either have been good, or it would have been bad. If it would have been good, why was it not followed; when the power was not wanting, and when the right of conquest would have applied with just as much propriety to the part that was not done, as the part that was? If it would not have been good policy to take the whole of the Mahratta country under the British government; in other words, to have had the responsibility of defending it with the whole of its resources; it was surely much worse policy to take the responsibility of defending it, with only a part of those resources.

Another question, however, may be, not whether something better than the defensive alliances might not have been done, but whether something might not have been done that was worse; whether, if the government of the Mahratta princes was not entirely dissolved, it was not better to bind them by defensive alliances, than to leave them unbound; whether, according to the Governor-General, the British state was not more exempt from the danger of war, with the alliances, than without them.

To answer this question, it must be maturely considered, under what danger of war the British government would have been placed, without the alliances. It is not the way to arrive at a just conclusion,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.to set out with allowing that this danger was just any thing which any body pleases. It may be pretty confidently affirmed, that with good government within their own territories, under the known greatness of their power, the English were almost wholly exempt from the danger of war; because, in this case, war could reach them through but one medium, that of invasion; and from invasion, surely, they had little to dread.

Allowing then, that the subsidiary alliances were a scheme calculated to prevent the danger of war; as far as regards the British government, there was little or nothing of that sort to prevent; the subsidiary alliances were a great and complicated apparatus, for which, when got up, there was nothing to do; a huge cause prepared when there was no effect to be produced.1

This is decisive in regard to the practical question. In speculation, another question may still be raised; namely, whether, if the British state had been exposed to the danger of wars, the scheme of the subsidiary alliances was a good instrument for preventing them. In India, as in all countries in corresponding circumstances, one thing saves from aggression, and one thing alone, namely, power; the prospect which the aggressor has before him, of suffering by his aggression, rather than of gaining by it. The question, then, is shortly this; did the subsidiary alliances
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make the English stronger, in relation to the princesBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. of India, than they would have been without those alliances?

The subsidiary alliances yielded two things: they yielded a portion of territory: and they yielded a certain position of a certain portion of British troops. In regard to the territory, it may, at any rate, be assumed, as doubtful, whether, in the circumstances of the British state, at the time of the treaty of Bassein, it could be rendered intrinsically stronger by any accession of territory; since, by act of parliament, the question stands decided the opposite way: much more, then, is it doubtful, whether it could be rendered stronger by an accession of territory, which imported the obligation and expense not merely of defending itself, but of defending the whole kingdom to which it was annexed. It will not, then, be assumed, that the mere territory gotten by the English was the circumstance looked to for preventing the evils of war. If it was that, the territory might have been taken without the alliances.

The only remaining circumstance is, the position of the troops. For as to the other conditions, about not holding intercourse with other states, except in conjunction with the English, these were merely verbal; and would be regarded by the Indian governments, just as long, as they would have been regarded without the alliance; namely, as long as the English could punish them, whenever they should do what the English would dislike.

Now, surely, it is not a proposition which it will be easy to maintain, that a country is stronger with regard to its neighbours, if it has its army dispersed in several countries; a considerable body of it in one country, and a considerable body in another, than if it has the whole concentrated within itself; and skilfully
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BOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803.placed in the situation best calculated to overawe any neighbour from whom danger may be apprehended. There are many combinations of circumstances in which this would be a source of weakness, much more than of strength.

If it is said, that the position of the English subsidiary troops, with a native prince, imported the annihilation, or a great reduction, of his own force; this, in the circumstances of India, cannot be regarded as a matter of almost any importance. In a country swarming with military adventurers, and which fights with undisciplined troops, an army can always be got together with great rapidity, as soon as a leader can hold out a reasonable prospect that something will be gained by joining his standards. The whole history of India is a proof, that a man who is without an army to-day, may, if he has the due advantages, tomorrow (if we may use an eastern hyperbole) be surrounded by a great one. Of this we have had a great and very recent example, in the army with which Holkar, a mere adventurer, was enabled to meet, and to conquer Scindia, the most powerful native prince in India.

It was, in a short time, as we shall see, found by the British government itself, that it could regard the presence of subsidiary troops as a very weak bridle in the mouth of a native prince, when he began to forget his own weakness. The weakness, in fact, was the bridle. If he remained weak, that was enough, without the subsidiary troops. If he grew strong, the subsidiary troops, it was seen, would not long restrain him.

I cannot aim at the production of all those circumstances, on both sides of this question, which would be necessary to be produced, and to be weighed, to demonstrate accurately the probabilities of good or
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of evil, attached to such a scheme of policy, as that ofBOOK VI. Chap. 12. 1803. the subsidiary alliances of Governor-General Wellesley. I have endeavoured to conduct the reader into the paths of inquiry; and leave the question undecided.

In summing up the account of the treaty of Bassein, we can only, therefore, approach to a determinate conclusion. On the one side, there is the certain and the enormous evil, of the expenditure of the Mahratta war. Whether the subsidiary alliances, which were looked to for compensation, were calculated to yield any compensation, and did not rather add to the evils, is seen to be at the least exceedingly doubtful. The policy of the treaty of Bassein cannot, therefore, be misunderstood.
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CHAP. XIII.



Necessity inferred of curbing Holkar—Intercourse between Holkar and Scindia renewed—Governor-General resolves to take the Holkar Dominions, but to give them away to the Peshwa, Scindia, and the Nizam—Holkar retreats before the Commander-in-Chief, toward the South—The Commander-in-Chief withdraws the Army into Cantonments, leaving Colonel Monson with a Detachment in advance—Holkar turns upon Monson—Monson makes a disastrous Retreat to Agra—The British Army from Guzerat subdues Holkar's Dominions in Malwa—Holkar by a Stratagem attacks Delhi—Brave Defence of Delhi—The Holkar Dominions in Deccan subdued—Defeat of Holkar's Infantry at Deeg—Rout of his cavalry at Furruckabad—The Rajah of Bhurtpore, one of the allied Chieftains, joins with Holkar—Unsuccessful Attack upon the Fortress of Bhurtpore—Accommodation with the Rajah of Bhurtpore—Disputes with Scindia—Prospect of a War with Scindia—Holkar joins the Camp of Scindia—The British Resident ordered by the Commander-in-Chief to quit the Camp of Scindia—Scindia endeavours to prevent the Departure of the Resident—Marquis Wellesley succeeded by Marquis Cornwallis—Cornwallis's View of the State of the Government—Of Wellesley's System of subsidiary and defensive Alliance—Cornwallis resolves to avoid a War with Scindia, by yielding every Point in Dispute—To make Peace with Holkar by restoring
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all the Territories he had lost—To dissolve the Connexion of the British Government with the minor Princes on the Mahratta Frontier—Negotiations between Scindia and the Commander-in-Chief—Death of Lord Cornwallis—Sir G. Barlow adheres to the Plans of Lord Cornwallis—Holkar advances into the Country of the Seiks—Pursued by Lord Lake—A fresh Treaty concluded with Scindia—Treaty with Holkar—Financial Results.





When the English were freed from the burthenBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. and the dangers of the war with Scindia and the Rajah of Berar, they began to think of placing a curb on the power of Jeswunt Rao Holkar. Though Holkar had engaged, and upon very advantageous terms, to join with the other chieftains, he had abstained from co-operation in the war against the English; and though he had committed some ravages on a part of the Nizam's territory, toward the beginning of the war; the Governor-General had not held it expedient to treat this offence as a reason for hostilities: Holkar, on the other hand, had been uniformly assured that the English were desirous of preserving with him the relations of peace.

In the month of December, 1803, Holkar, having marched towards the territory of the Rajah of Jyenagur, took up a position which threatened the security of this ally of the British state. At the same time, he addressed letters to the British Commander-in-Chief, containing assurances of his disposition to cultivate the friendship of the British government. But a letter of his to the Rajah of Macherry, suggesting to him inducements to withdraw from the British alliance, was communicated by that Rajah to the Commander-in-Chief; further correspondence of a hostile
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.nature was discovered; and intelligence was received of his having murdered three British subjects in his service, on a false charge that one of them had corresponded with the Commander-in-Chief. It appeared imprudent to remove the army of the Commander-in-Chief from the field, till security was obtained against the projects of Holkar.

The determination which hitherto had guided the conduct of the Governor-General, that he would abstain from the dispute in the Holkar family respecting the successor of Tuckojee, still operated in his mind. And he authorized the Commander-in-Chief to conclude an arrangement with Jeswunt Rao, engaging, on the part of the British government, to leave him in the unmolested exercise of his authority, provided he would engage to abstain from all aggression upon the British or their allies.

The Commander-in-Chief addressed a letter to Holkar, dated the 29th of January, 1804, in conformity with the instructions which he had received; inviting him to send vakeels to the British camp for the purpose of effecting the amicable agreement which both parties professed to have in view; but requiring him, as a proof of his friendly intentions, to withdraw his army from its menacing position, and abstain from exactions upon the British allies. At the same time the British army advanced to Hindown, a position which at once commanded the principal roads into the Company's territory, and afforded an easy movement in any direction which the forces of Holkar might be found to pursue. On the 27th of February an answer from that chieftain arrived. It repeated the assurance of his desire to cultivate the friendship of the British government, and expressed his intention to withdraw from his present position, and send a vakeel to the British camp. In the mean time, however,
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letters were intercepted, addressed by Holkar toBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. subjects and allies of the British government, exciting them to revolt, and stating his design of sending troops to ravage the British territories. The Commander-in-Chief made an amicable reply to his letter; but warned him, at the same time, against the practices in which he had begun to indulge. And on the 16th of March two vakeels from Holkar arrived in the British camp.

They were commissioned to demand; 1. leave to collect the choute according to the custom of his ancestors; 2. certain possessions formerly enjoyed by his family, namely, Etawah, twelve pergunnahs in the Doab, one in Bundelcund, and the country of Hurriana; 3. the guarantee of the country which he there possessed; 4. a treaty similar in terms to that which had been concluded with Scindia. These demands were treated as altogether extravagant; and the vakeels, after receiving a remonstrance on the continuance of their master in his present threatening position, departed from the camp, bearing to him another letter from the Commander-in-Chief. In this, Holkar was invited to send again a confidential agent, with powers to conclude an arrangement on terms in which the British government would be able to concur. In the mean time, he had addressed a letter to General Wellesley; containing a demand of certain territories, which he said belonged to his family in Deccan; and intimating that, notwithstanding the greatness of the British power, a war with him would not be without its evils; for “although unable to oppose their artillery in the field, countries of many coss should be over-run, and plundered, and burnt; that they should not have leisure to breathe for a moment, and that calamities would fall on lacs of human beings in continued war by the attacks of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.his army, which overwhelms like the waves of the sea.” An answer, however, to the letter of the Commander-in-Chief was received in the British camp on the 4th of April; still evading either acceptance or rejection of the simple proposition of the British Commander, and urging his pretensions to something like the terms he himself had proposed. That letter drew another from the Commander-in-Chief, applauding the forbearance of the British government, and assuring Holkar that he would best consult his own interest by complying with its demands.1

Holkar, though fully aware of the hatred towards him in the bosom of Scindia, was not deterred from the endeavour of opening a negotiation, or at any rate of giving himself the benefit of an apparent intrigue, with that chieftain. A vakeel of his arrived in the camp of Scindia, on the 5th of February, 1804. The account, which Scindia and his ministers thought proper to render of this event to the British resident in his camp, was liable to suspicion, on the one hand from the extreme duplicity of Mahratta councils, on the other from the extraordinary desire which appeared on the part of Scindia to produce a war between that rival and the British government. They said, that the vakeel had endeavoured to prevail upon Scindia to accommodate his dispute with Holkar, and form a union for the reduction of the British power, the continual augmentation of which could be attended with nothing less than the final destruction of the Mahratta state; but that the answer of Scindia was a positive refusal, on the professed grounds, of the treachery with which Holkar had violated his pledge to the late confederacy, the
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impossibility of confiding in any engagement intoBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. which he might enter, and the resolution of Scindia to adhere to his connexion with the British state. Notwithstanding this supposed reply, a vakeel from Scindia proceeded to the camp of Holkar, on the alleged motive that, unable as he was to resist the arms of that chieftain, it was desirable both to effect an accommodation with him, and to sound his inclinations. According to the representation made to the British resident, the vakeel was authorized to propose a continuance of the relations of amity and peace, but to threaten hostilities if depredations were committed on any part of the territory either of Scindia or his dependants.1

Scindia's vakeel arrived in Holkar's camp on the 3d of March. Previous to this time, Holkar had moved, with the main body of his troops, into Ajmere, a country belonging to Scindia. His pretence was devotion; but he levied contributions on the people, and made an attempt, though unsuccessful, to obtain possession of the fort. Notwithstanding a declaration to the British Commander-in-Chief, that he intended to proceed homewards from Ajmere, a portion of his army still remained on the frontier of the Rajah of Jyenagur, and no longer abstained from depredations on his country. The ministers of Scindia made report to the British resident, respecting the vakeel who had been sent to the camp of Holkar, that he had been received with distinguished ceremony and respect; that he was invited to a private conference; that Holkar, on this occasion, openly professed his design of making a predatory war upon the British possessions; that, when the vakeel expostulated
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.with him on his proceedings in Ajmere, he apologized, by stating his intention to leave his family with the Rajah of Jodepore when he commenced his operations against the English; the refusal of that Rajah to join with him, till he put him in possession of the province and fort of Ajmere; and thence his hope, that Scindia would excuse an irregularity, which not inclination, but necessity, in the prosecution of a war involving the independence of them both, had induced him to commit. Of this report, so much alone was fit for belief, as had confirmation from other sources of evidence.

The only matters of fact, which seem to have been distinctly ascertained, were, first, certain trifling depredations at Jyenagur, less material than those at Aurungabad which had been formerly excused, on the score of a necessity created by troops whom he was unable to maintain; secondly, a disposition to haggle for better terms, in forming a treaty, than the British government were willing to grant; and thirdly, the existence and character of him and his army, to whom predatory warfare was a matter, it was supposed, both of choice and necessity, as the plunder of the Company's territory was the only source of subsistence. On these facts and suppositions, with a strong disposition to believe reports, and to magnify grounds of suspicion, the Governor-General, on the 16th of April, issued orders to the Commander-in-Chief, and Major-General Wellesley, to commence hostile operations against Holkar, both in the north and in the south.1

In his despatch to the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors, dated 15th of June, 1804, the
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Governor-General says: “Jeswunt Rao Holkar beingBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. justly considered as an adventurer, and as the usurper of the rights of his brother Cashee Rao Holkar—consistently with the principles of justice no arrangement could be proposed between the British government and Jeswunt Rao Holkar, involving the formal sanction of the British government to that chieftain's usurpation, and to the exclusion of Cashee Rao Holkar from his hereditary dominions.”1 Yet these very dominions, thus declared to belong to Cashee Rao, the Governor-General had already resolved, without a shadow of complaint against Cashee Rao, to take, and give away to other persons. In his instructions to the British resident in the camp of Scindia, dated the 16th of April, 1804, he says; “His Excellency thinks it may be useful to you to be apprized, that it is not his intention, in the event of the reduction of Holkar's power, to take any share of the possessions of the Holkar family for the Company. Chandore, and its dependencies and vicinity, will probably be given to the Peshwa; and the other possessions of Holkar, situated to the southward of the Godavery, to the Subhadar of the Deccan: all the remainder of the possessions of Holkar will accrue to Scindia, provided he shall exert himself in the reduction of Jeswunt Rao Holkar.” In lieu of “his hereditary dominions,” which it was not pretended that he had done any thing to forfeit to the British government, “it will be necessary,” says the Governor-General in a subsequent paragraph, “to make some provision for Cashee Rao, and for such of the legitimate branches of the family as may not be concerned in the violation of the public peace, or in the crimes of Jeswunt Rao Holkar.”2

The motive which led the Governor-General to
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.decline a portion of the territory of Holkar for the Company, immediately after having taken for it so great a portion from Scindia; and to add so largely to the dominions of Scindia, immediately after having so greatly reduced them, is somewhat mysterious, if viewed through the single medium of national good; but is sufficiently intelligible, if we either suppose, that he already condemned the policy of his former measures, and thought an opposite conduct very likely to pass without observation; or, that, still approving the former policy, he yet regarded escape from the imputation of making war from the love of conquest, as a greater good, in the present instance, than the territory declined.

Scindia, we are told, was highly delighted, as well he might be, with the announcement of the intention of the Governor-General, both to commence hostilities upon Holkar, and to make such a division of the territory of the family. He promised to promote the war with his utmost exertions.

When Major-General Wellesley received instructions to begin hostilities, the Deccan was labouring under a scarcity approaching to famine. The principal possessions held for the benefit of Holkar in that quarter of India were; the fort and territory of Chandore, about 130 miles north of Poona; the fort and territory of Dhoorb, about twenty miles west by north from Chandore, on the same range of hills; Galna, a hill fort thirty-five miles north-north east of Chandore, and eighty-five miles from Aurungabad; some territory in Candeish; and a few districts intermixed with those of the Nizam. With the capture of the fortresses of Chandore and Galna, these territories would be wholly subdued. But to conduct the operations of an army, in a country totally destitute of forage and provisions, appeared to General Wellesley so hazardous, that he represented it as almost impossible
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for him to advance against Chandore till theBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. commencement of the rains. In the mean time, he augmented the force in Guzerat by three battalions of native infantry, and instructed Colonel Murray, the commanding officer, to march towards the territories of Holkar in Malwa, and, either by meeting and engaging his army, or acting against his country, to accelerate, as much as possible, his destruction.1

During the negotiation with Holkar, the Commander-in-Chief had advanced slowly toward the territory of the Rajah of Jyenagur. A detachment of considerable strength, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Ball, had occupied a position near Canore, about ninety miles south-west of Delhi, to guard in that direction the Company's frontier. To protect and encourage the Rajah of Jyenagur, whose territory Holkar, now returned from Ajmere, began to ravage, occupying a position which even threatened his capital, General Lake sent forward a detachment of three battalions of native infantry, under the command of the Honourable Lieutenant-Colonel Monson, on the 18th of April. This detachment arrived in the vicinity of Jyenagur on the 21st. On the morning of the 23d, Holkar decamped from his position, and began his march to the southward with great precipitation. Some parties of Hindustanee horse, under European officers, which the General had detached for the purpose of observing the motions of Holkar, and harassing his march, followed him in his retreat. A halt of two days, on the part of Holkar, induced the British commander, suspecting a feint, to advance with the army; while Monson, with his detachment,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.was directed to precede the main body, as rapidly as possible. On the approach of the British forces, Holkar resumed his retreat, which he continued with great precipitation, till he arrived in the vicinity of Kolah. Here he had so far preceded the British troops, that he could halt without fear of an immediate attack. The Hindustanee horse, who had hung upon his rear, described his army as being in the greatest distress, the country remaining nearly desolate from its former ravages. A letter without date was received by the Commander-in-Chief, from Holkar, on the 8th of May, offering to send, according to his desire, a person duly authorized “to settle every thing amicably.” The Commander-in-Chief replied, “When I wrote you, formerly, that vakeels might be sent to confirm a friendship, conditions were specified, which you have not any way fulfilled; but have acted directly contrary to them. This had forced the British government to concert, with its allies, the necessary measures for subverting a power, equally inimical to all. This has been resolved upon. You will perceive that I cannot now enter into any bonds of amity with you, without consulting the allies of the British government.” The fort of Rampoora, which the British army were now approaching, was the grand protection of the northern possessions of Holkar. For the attack of this place, a detachment was formed, under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Don. Having encamped before the place, this officer adopted the plan of entering the fort by blowing open the gates. He advanced to the assault, a little before day-break, on the morning of the 16th of May; and as a well-concerted plan was well executed, all resistance was speedily overcome, and the place was taken with inconsiderable loss.

The distance which Holkar had gained by his rapid
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flight, the improbability of forcing him to action, orBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. of his returning to the upper provinces, presented to the mind of the Commander-in-Chief the inexpediency of retaining the advanced position, which he now occupied, with the main body of his army. Only the British troops in Guzerat, in concert with those of Scindia, appeared capable, during the present season, of acting with advantage upon the territories of Holkar. He accordingly withdrew the army into cantonments within the British dominions, leaving Colonel Monson with injunctions to make such a disposition of his force as would preclude, in that direction, any sort of danger from Holkar's return.1

On the 21st of May, a body of predatory horse, estimated at five thousand, made an incursion into the province of Bundelcund, where seven companies of sepoys, a troop of native cavalry, and the park of artillery, detached, under the command of Captain Smith, from the main body of the troops in that province, were employed in the reduction of a fort, about five miles distant from Kooch. On the morning of the 22d this body of horse succeeded in cutting off a part of the British detachment which was posted in the pettah of the fort, and compelled the whole to retreat, with the loss of two howitzers, two twelve-pounders, one six-pounder, and all the tumbrils belonging to the park. The same party made an attempt afterwards upon the town of Calpee, and aimed at crossing the Jumna, but were repulsed with loss; and having afterwards sustained a defeat near Kooch, evacuated the province. The refractory Bundela chiefs still afforded considerable employment to the British army.2
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After the departure of General Lake, Monson, now Brigadier-General, continued to make some movements in advance, and on the 1st of July, in the height of the rains, was encamped at Soonara; within twenty coss of the camp of Holkar, containing the whole of his cavalry, brigades, and guns. On the evening of that day, a party marched from the British detachment, towards the fort of Hinglais-Ghur, and halted within a mile of the fort, at half-past ten on the following morning. The troops, having rested three hours, arrived at the destined points of attack, at half an hour after two. As soon as they were discovered, a heavy cannonade began from the fort; but it was completely silenced, by the great expertness of the British artillery, in the space of an hour; when the men escaladed the walls, and took possession, without difficulty. It was a fortress of great natural strength, and the gallantry and skill with which it was attacked, form one of the brilliant incidents of the war. The Commander-in-Chief set a high value on this acquisition; which, he thought, would secure the supplies of Monson if he advanced to the support of the army from Guzerat, and afford protection to the people of the surrounding districts, who appeared to be well inclined to the British cause.1

On the 7th of July, Monson received intelligence, that Holkar, who, since his retreat before the Commander-in-Chief, had occupied a position in Malwa, having the Chumbul river between himself and the British detachment, had crossed that river with the whole of his army and guns. The force under Monson consisted of five battalions of sepoys, with artillery in proportion; and two bodies of irregular horse, about
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three thousand strong, the one British, under LieutenantBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. Lucan, the other a detachment sent by Scindia, commanded by a leader named Bappoojee Scindia. Monson was now advanced about fifty miles beyond the Mokundra pass, where he had expected to procure supplies, and to communicate with Colonel Murray, who was advancing from Guzerat towards Ougein. He made his first movement toward the spot where Holkar crossed the river, in the hope of being able to attack him, with advantage, before his troops recovered from the confusion which the passage of the river would be sure to produce. Afterwards, however, reflecting, that he had only two days grain in his camp, that part of his corps was detached to bring up grain, that one battalion of it was on the march to join him from Hinglais-Ghur, and that the enemy's cavalry was very numerous; expecting, also, to be joined by an escort, with treasure, for the use of his detachment; and having received accounts from Colonel Murray of his intention to fall back on the Myhie river, he determined to retire to the Mokundra pass. The whole of the baggage and stores was sent off to Soonarah, at four in the morning of the 8th. Monson remained on the ground of encampment till half-past nine, with his detachment formed in order of battle. No enemy having appeared, he now commenced his march; leaving the irregular cavalry, with orders to follow in half an hour, and afford the earliest information of the enemy's motions. The detachment had marched about six coss, when intelligence was received that the irregular cavalry, thus remaining behind, had been attacked and defeated by Holkar's horse; and that Lieutenant Lucan, and several other officers, were prisoners. The detachment continued its march, and, next day about noon, reached, unmolested, the Mokundra pass. On the morning of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.the 10th, a large body of the enemy's cavalry appeared, and continually increased in numbers till noon the following day; when Holkar summoned the detachment to surrender their arms. A refusal being returned, he divided his force into three bodies, and made a vigorons attack on the front and flanks of the British corps. The position and steadiness of the troops enabled them to sustain reiterated onsets, persevered in till night, when Holkar drew off to a distance of two coss; and being joined by his infantry and guns, was expected to renew his attacks on the following morning. Monson, not regarding his position as tenable, and fearing lest the enemy should get in his rear, adopted the resolution of retiring to Kotah. Arrived at this place, on the morning of the 12th, after two marches, rendered excessively harassing by the rain, which fell in torrents, and the enemy who pursued them; the Rajah refused to admit them, and professed his inability to furnish any supplies. As the troops were suffering by want of provisions, the decision of Monson was, to advance to the ghaut or ford, of the Gaumus Nudde, only seven miles off. But the rain had fallen with great violence, since the 10th, and the soil was soft. The troops were unable, therefore, to reach the rivulet till the morning of the 13th, when it was found impassable. They halted on the 14th, to procure a supply of grain from a neighbouring village; and attempted, on the 15th, to continue the march; but it was found impossible to proceed with the guns. In hopes of an abatement of the rain, they made another halt. It rained during the whole of the night of the 15th; and, next morning, the guns had sunk so deep in the mud, as not to be extricable. The camp was without provisions; and all the neighbouring villages were exhausted. The detachment was under an absolute necessity to
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proceed Monson was therefore obliged to spike andBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. leave the guns, sending injunctions to the Rajah of Boondee to extricate, and remove them to a place of security. The country was so completely overflowed, that the troops could hardly march. The Chumbulee rivulet, which they reached on the 17th, was not fordable; on the 18th, the European artillerymen were crossed over on elephants, and sent on to Rampoora; on the 19th, the rivulet continued to swell; corn, with great difficulty, and some danger, was procured for two days; on the evening of the 21st, the camp of a body of the enemy's horse was successfully beaten up; on the 23d and 24th, a few rafts having been procured, three battalions of the detachment were moved across; the remainder, about seven hundred men, were attacked by a party of the enemy's horse, but able to repel them. On the morning of the 25th, after the whole of the detachment had been got over, not without loss, they moved in different corps, assailed as they passed, by the hill people and banditti, towards Rampoora, at which some of them arrived on the 27th, others not till the 29th.

At Rampoora, Monson was joined by two battalions of sepoys, a body of irregular horse, four six pounders, two howitzers, and a supply of grain, sent to his relief from Agra, by the Commander-in-Chief, as soon as he received intelligence of the disasters of the detachment. As the country, however, was destitute of provisions, as Holkar was advancing in considerable force, as Monson expected to be joined at Khoosul-Ghur by six battalions and twenty-one guns, under Sudasheo Bhow Bukshee, in the service of Scindia, and then to obtain provisions which would enable him to keep the field, he resolved to continue his march to that place, leaving a sufficient garrison for the protection of Rampoora.
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He reached the river Bannas about daybreak on the 22d of August. It was not fordable. Three boats were found, with which one of the battalions was transported, for the purpose of conducting the treasure to Khoosul-Ghur. The next morning the cavalry of the enemy pitched their camp about four miles distant from the British detachment. On the morning of the 24th, the river having fallen, Monson began to transport his baggage. The greater part of the baggage, and four battalions, had crossed, and General Monson, with the remaining battalion and the picquets of the rest, was preparing to follow, as soon as the remainder of the baggage and the people of the camp had effected their passage, when the enemy, a great number of whose cavalry had already passed to the right and the left of the British position, brought up their infantry and guns, and opened a heavy cannonade on the small body of the English that still remained on that side of the river. Monson led them directly to the charge, and they succeeded in taking some guns; but were soon overpowered by excess of numbers, and with great difficulty effected their retreat, covered by the fire of one of the battalions on the opposite side, which advanced to the bank of the river to protect them. The enemy prosecuted their advantage, and Monson was obliged to abandon his baggage, and fly to Khooshul-Ghur, which he reached on the night of the 25th of August. On the morning of the 26th, the enemy's cavalry encamped around him in separate bodies. At the same time a correspondence was detected between some of the native officers and the enemy; and though decisive measures to check the mischief were immediately adopted, two companies of infantry, and a large proportion of the irregular cavalry, made their escape. On the same day Monson quitted the
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fort, having spiked the last remaining howitzer; and,BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. with the men in an oblong square, began to proceed. During the night, and the following day, the enemy's cavalry, supported by guns, attempted several times, but without success, to penetrate the detachment; who, on the night of the 27th, took possession of the ruined fort of Hindown, and next day, at noon, continued their retreat towards Agra. They had no sooner cleared the ravines near Hindown, than a desperate charge, in three separate bodies, was made upon them by the enemy's horse. The sepoys had sufficient discipline to reserve their fire till the enemy had almost come up to the bayonet. It was then given with effect; and the enemy immediately turned, and fled in all directions. Having reached the Biana pass, about sunset on the 28th, when the troops were almost exhausted with hunger and fatigue, Monson halted, with a view to pass the night at the entrance. But the enemy's guns approached, and began a galling fire. He was therefore obliged to prosecute his retreat. The night was dark, the camp followers and baggage mixed with the line, the troops were thrown into confusion, order could no more be restored, and the different corps concluded their retreat in great disorder, the last of them reaching Agra on the 31st of August. The enemy followed in straggling parties, for purposes of plunder, as far as Futtypoor, but made no united attack after that on the night of the 25th.1

During the retreat of this detachment, Colonel Murray, with the division of the British army from Guzerat, advanced into the heart of the Holkar dominions; and on the 24th of August took possession of the capital, Indore. The commander of
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.the troops which had been left for its protection retired without opposition.1

Upon the escape of Monson to Agra, Holkar advanced with the whole of his army to Muttra, situated on the right bank of the Jumna, about thirty miles from Agra; and took possession of the place. The Commander-in-Chief marched from Cawnpore on the 3d, arrived at Agra on the 22d of September, and proceeded immediately to Secundra, where he assembled the whole of the army under his personal command. On the 1st of October, he marched towards Muttra, from which as he advanced, Holkar retired, and planned an important stratagem. Leaving his cavalry to engage the attention of the British Commander, which they effectually did, he secretly dispatched his infantry and guns, for the execution of his destined exploit. On the night of the 6th, he encamped with his cavalry about four miles in front of the British position. Before daylight next morning General Lake moved out to surprise him. The General formed his army into three divisions; leaving the park, and an adequate force, for the protection of the camp; but Holkar was apprized of his approach, and retired too promptly to permit an attack. Early on the morning of the 8th, the infantry of that chieftain appeared before Delhi, and immediately opened a heavy cannonade. The garrison was small, consisting entirely of sepoys, and a small corps of irregular infantry; the place was extremely extensive; and the fortifications were in a ruinous state. Every thing promised a successful enterprise.

From the first notice of the enemy's approach, in that direction, the most judicious precautions had been taken, under the direction of Lieutenant-Colonels
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Ochterlony and Burn, the first acting as residentBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. in the city, the second commandant of the troops, to place the city in the best state of defence, which circumstances would permit. During the 8th, the distance from which the enemy fired prevented much execution. On the 9th, however, having erected a battery, within breaching distance, they demolished a part of the wall, and would have quickly effected a breach; when a sally was planned to check their progress. Two hundred sepoys, and 150 of the irregular corps, under the command of Lieutenant Rose, performed the exploit with great gallantry; took possession of the enemy's battery; spiked their guns; and threw them into so much confusion, that they fired upon their own people, who, flying from the assailing party, were mistaken for British troops. The principal operations from this time were carried on under cover of extensive gardens and adjoining ruins on the southern face of the fort; and they soon made a breach in the curtain between two of the gates. Measures, which were completed by the evening of the 12th, to preclude communication between the breach and the town, prevented their profiting by that advantage. But, on the 13th, appearances indicated the intention of a very serious attack. At daybreak on the 14th, the guns of the enemy opened in every direction. A large body of infantry advanced under cover of this cannonade, preceded by ladders, to the Lahore gate. They were received, however, with so much steadiness and gallantry, that they were driven back, leaving their ladders, with considerable confusion, and considerable loss. Inactive to a great degree, during the rest of the day, they made a show towards evening of drawing some guns to another of the gates; but took advantage of the night; and in the morning
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.their rear guard of cavalry at a distance was all that could be seen. As the number of the men, by whom Delhi was defended, was too small to admit of re-regular reliefs, or to make it safe for them to undress; provisions and sweetmeats were served out to them daily at the expense of government, “which,” according to the information of Colonel Ochterlony, “had the best effect upon their spirits.” That officer concludes his report with the following merited eulogium: “The fatigue suffered by both officers and men could be exceeded by nothing but the cheerfulness and patience with which it was endured; and it cannot but reflect the greatest honour on the discipline, courage, and fortitude of British troops, in the eyes of all Hindustan, to observe, that, with a small force, they sustained a siege of nine days, repelled an assault, and defended a city, ten miles in circumference, and which had ever, heretofore, been given up at the first appearance of an enemy at its gates.”1

About this period it was, that the Governor-General made his final arrangement respecting the maintenance and condition of Shah Aulum and his family. Over the city of Delhi, and a small portion of surrounding territory, a sort of nominal sovereignty was reserved to the Emperor. The whole was, indeed, to remain under the charge of the British resident; but the revenues would be collected, and justice administered, in the name of the Mogul. Beside the produce of this territory, of which the Emperor would appoint a duan, and other officers, to inspect the collection and ensure the application to his use, a sum of 90,000 rupees would be issued from the treasury of the resident at Delhi, for the expenses of
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himself and his family. But “in extending,” saysBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. the Governor-General, “to the royal family the benefits of the British protection, no obligation was imposed upon us, to consider the rights and claims of his Majesty Shah Aulum as Emperor of Hindustan; and the Governor-General has deemed it equally unnecessary and inexpedient, to combine with the intended provision for his Majesty and his household, the consideration of any question connected with the future exercise of the Imperial prerogative and authority.”1

Towards the end of June, the state of the country at that time rendering military operations impracticable in Deccan, Major-General Wellesley was called to Calcutta, to assist in the deliberation on certain military and economical plans; and surrendered the general powers, military and civil, with which he was invested. Before his departure, a portion of the troops in the field were made to return to Fort St. George and Bombay; leaving disposeable, in Deccan, two regiments of European infantry, four regiments of native cavalry, and thirteen battalions of sepoys. The principal part of this force, four regiments of native cavalry, two regiments of European infantry, six battalions of sepoys, with a battering train, and the common proportion of artillery and pioneers, were directed to assemble for active operations at Aurungabad, under the general command of Lieutenant-Colonel Wallace. Of the remaining seven battalions of sepoys, six were ordered to remain as a reserve; four at Poona and two at Hyderabad; and one was required as a garrison at Ahmednugger.2

Having completed his arrangements for action, Colonel Wallace marched from Foorkabad on the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.29th of September; and reached Chandore on the 8th of October. On the same day he detached a battalion with two 12 pounders, against a small fort, called Laussoolgaum, garrisoned by Holkar, and distant about tzwelve miles. The battalion met with a desperate resistance and lost its commander. A reinforcement was sent during the night, and the place was stormed the following morning. Wallace took possession, without resistance, of the pettah of Chandore on the evening of the 8th; on the 10th he had carried his approaches within three or four hundred yards of the gate of the fort, when the Kelledar, or governor, sent overtures of capitulation. The terms, permitting the garrison to depart with their private effects, were agreed upon, on the night of the 11th, and at ten on the morning of the 12th, the British troops were placed in possession of the fort. It was a place of great strength, being quite inaccessible at every part but the gate-way; and of considerable importance, as commanding one of the best passes in the range of hills where it stands. The fort of Dhoorb surrendered to a detachment on the 14th; the forts of Anchella, Jeewunta, and some minor posts, on the same range of hills, were evacuated; and Colonel Wallace, leaving a garrison in Chandore, began his march to Galna on the 17th. He arrived on the 21st; took possession of the pettah on the following morning; on the 25th two practicable breaches were made in the walls; and the storming parties were on the point of advancing, when the garrison offered to surrender. The reduction of Galna yielded possession of all the territories of Holkar in Deccan. Of those in Malwa the conquest was already completed, by Colonel Murray's detachment.1

Edition: current; Page: [485]
BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.
The Commander-in-Chief, as soon as he had completed his supplies at Muttra, marched towards Delhi, where he arrived on the 17th of October, two days after the enemy's retreat. Lieutenant-Colonel Burn, who had been recalled from Sehaurunpore to the defence of Delhi, crossed the Jumna, on his return to his former station, with one battalion of sepoys and some nujeebs, on the 26th of October. On the 29th, Holkar crossed with his cavalry, between Panniput and Delhi, and advanced upon this detachment, which he overtook at Saumlee, on the following day. Colonel Burn encamped his small party in a square, which towards evening was completely surrounded. At four the next morning he began to move. The enemy, having posted themselves on the road to Sehaurunpore, expecting the detachment to proceed in that direction, enabled Colonel Burn to reach, without molestation, a small Gurrie, bordering on the city. Finding the minds of the men admirably disposed, he resolved to defend himself in the Gurrie till re-inforcement should arrive, or even to fight back his way to Delhi. All attempts having failed for the collection of grain, and the troops having suffered great privations, he had come to the resolution, on the 1st of November, of fighting his way to Bhaugput, on the following night; but at this time he received intelligence of the march of the Commander-in-Chief, and was induced to wait for his approach.

On the 31st of October, that General, taking the reserve, his three regiments of dragoons, three regiments of native cavalry, and the mounted artillery, crossed the Jumna to pursue the cavalry of Holkar. At the same time Major-General Frazer, with the main body of the infantry, two regiments of native cavalry, and the park of artillery, was directed to move upon the infantry and artillery of Holkar, which had reached
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.the neighbourhood of Deeg, on the right bank of the Jumna. The object of this double movement was, to force both the cavalry and the infantry of Holkar to risk an action with the British troops, or to make him fly from Hindustan, under circumstances of so much ignominy and distress, as would have a disastrous effect upon the reputation of his cause.

General Lake arrived at Bhaugput on the 1st of November. On the second he performed a march of more than twenty-eight miles, and reached Kondellah. On the 3d he arrived at Saumlee, from which the enemy had decamped early in the morning.

Major-General Frazer marched from Delhi on the 5th of November, and arrived at Goburdun on the 12th, a place within three coss of the fort of Deeg. His force consisted of two regiments of native cavalry, his Majesty's 76th regiment, the Company's European regiments, six battalions of sepoys, and the park of artillery, in all about six thousand men. The force of the enemy was understood to amount to twenty-four battalions of infantry, a large body of horse, and 160 pieces of ordnance; strongly encamped, with their left upon Deeg, and a large jeel of water covering the whole of their front.

As the hour was late, and the General had little information of the enemy's position, he delayed the attack till morning. Having made his arrangements for the security of the camp, he marched with the army in two brigades at three o'clock in the morning; making a circuit round the water to the left, to enable him to come upon the right flank of the enemy. A little after day-break, the army was formed, in two lines; and attacked, and carried a large village on the enemy's flank. It then descended the hill, and charged the enemy's advanced party, under a heavy
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discharge of round, grape, and chain from their guns,BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. which they abandoned as the British army came up. General Frazer, whose gallantry animated every man in the field, was wounded, and obliged to be carried from the battle, when the command devolved upon General Monson. The enemy retired to fresh batteries as the British advanced. The whole of the batteries were carried for upwards of two miles, till the enemy were driven close to the walls of the fort. One body of them, drawn up to the eastward of the lower end of the lake, still retained a position, whence they had annoyed the British with a very destructive fire. Seeing the British troops, under cover of a fire from several pieces of cannon, moving round to their left, they made a precipitate retreat into the lake, where many of them were lost.

The British took eighty-seven pieces of ordnance in this battle, and lost in killed and wounded about 350 men. The enemy's loss, which was great, could only be conjectured. The remains of the army took shelter in the fortress of Deeg.

After the flight of Holkar with his cavalry from Saumlee, on the morning of the 3d, the Commander-in-Chief went after him with such expedition, as might allow him no time to ravage the country without risking an engagement with the British cavalry. On the 9th of November, that General arrived at Happer, which the enemy had left the preceding night, moving in the direction of Coorjah, with design, as was supposed, to re-cross the Jumna, in the neighbourhood of Muttra. General Lake arrived at Khass Gunge, on the 14th of November, when Holkar appeared to have taken the direct road to Futty Ghur. On the 16th, Lake arrived at Alygunge, distant about thirty-two miles from Futty Ghur. He halted only to refresh his men and horses, and, marching
Edition: current; Page: [488]
BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.with the cavalry early in the night, came up with the enemy before day-break. They were encamped close under the walls of Furruckabad, and taken by surprise. The execution done upon them was therefore prodigious; and their resistance inconsiderable. Several discharges of grape being given to them from the horse artillery, the cavalry advanced, and put them to the sword. Many of the horses were still at their picquets, when the British cavalry penetrated into their camp. From the 31st of October, when they departed from Delhi, the British troops had daily marched a distance of twenty-three or twenty-four miles; during the day and night preceding the attack, they marched fifty-eight miles; and from the distance to which they pursued the enemy, must have passed over a space of more than seventy miles before they took up their ground.

After allowing the troops to halt for two days, the British General again marched in pursuit of Holkar, who fled to the Jumna in great distress, and re-crossed it near Mohabun on the 23d, hastening to join the remainder of his army at Deeg. The Commander-in-Chief arrived at Muttra on the 28th; and joined the army at Deeg on the 1st of December On his march he received the melancholy intelligence, that the wound of General Frazer had proved mortal. The loss of that officer was felt as a national, and almost an individual, calamity, by every Briton in India.

Of the enemy's force, a considerable portion having thrown themselves into the town and fort of Deeg, and the remainder occupying a position under its walls, arrangements were taken for the reduction of the place. The battering train and necessary stores arrived from Agra, on the 10th; and ground was broken on the 13th. The possession of an eminence
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which commanded the town, and in some degree theBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. fortress itself, appeared of importance for the further operations of the siege. It was defended by a small fortification; the enemy had strongly entrenched themselves in its front; had erected batteries in the most commanding situations; and were favoured by the nature of the ground. The breach in the wall was practicable on the 23d; and arrangements were made to storm it, together with the entrenchments and batteries, during the night. The force destined for the attack was divided into three columns, and moved off in such a manner as to reach the different points of attack a little before twelve at night. The right column, under Captain Kelly, was ordered to force the enemy's batteries and trenches, on the high ground to the left of the town. The left column, under Major Radcliffe, was destined to carry the batteries and trenches on the enemy's right. The centre column formed the storming party, and was led by Lieutenant-Colonel Macrae. The whole service was performed with equal gallantry and success. “By means of the darkness of the night,” says the Commander-in-Chief, “the enemy was taken by surprise, and prevented from availing themselves of the advantages they possessed, or of making a very formidable resistance.” The loss of the British was not trifling, and that of the enemy very great. Overawed by this example of the audacity and success of the British troops, the enemy evacuated the town of Deeg on the following day; the fort, on the succeeding night; and fled in the direction of Bhurtpore, leaving nearly the whole of their cannon behind.1

The fort of Deeg belonged to Runjeet Sing, the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.Rajah of Bhurtpore. When the British, in the battle fought on the 13th, pursued the troops of Holkar under the walls of the fort, a destructive fire of cannon and musquetry was opened upon them by the garrison. The Rajah of Bhurtpore was one of the first of the chiefs in that part of India, who at the time when General Lake advanced against Scindia beyond the Jumna, made overtures for a combination with the British state. As he was one of the most considerable of the minor sovereigns in that part of India; and possessed great influence among the Rajahs of the Jaats; his accession to the British cause was treated as a fortunate event; and he was indulged with very advantageous terms. A treaty was concluded with him, by which the British government bound itself to protect his dominions; bound itself not to interfere in the smallest degree with the administration of his country; freed him entirely from the heavy tribute which he annually paid to the Mahratta powers; and of the surrounding districts, conquered from Scindia, annexed so much to the territories of the Rajah, as equalled in extent and value one third of his former dominions.

Notwithstanding these great advantages, and the Governor-General's system of defensive alliance, no sooner had Holkar assumed an attitude of defiance to the British Power, than Runjeet Sing manifested an inclination to join him. On the 1st of August, 1804, a secret agent of the Rajah, with letters to Holkar, was apprehended at Muttra, and discovery made of a treacherous correspondence. The Rajah, very soon after concluding his treaty with the British government, had exhorted Holkar to despise the British power, and offered to join him, on condition of receiving certain accessions of territory. During the same month in which this discovery was made, several
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complaints were addressed to him by the Commander-BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.in-Chief, on account of the little assistance received from him in providing for the war. In the intercepted correspondence, offence appeared to have been taken, by the Rajah, at the violent manner, in which the British resident at Muttra had decided some disputes respecting the traffic in salt; and some alarm was conveyed to his mind by a report that the English government was to introduce the English courts of justice into his dominions.

Upon reference of all these circumstances to the Governor-General, though he regarded them as ample proof of traitorous designs, he was yet disposed, on the present occasion, when his defensive system was upon its trial, to exercise an uncommon degree of lenity and forbearance. He imputed the offences of the Rajah and his son, to the corrupt intrigues of mischievous advisers; and said, that “the just principles of policy, as well as the characteristic lenity and mercy of the British government, required that a due indulgence should be manifested towards the imbecility, ignorance, and indolence of the native chiefs, who have been drawn into these acts of treachery and hostility, by the depravity and artifices of their servants and adherents.”1 And he instructed the Commander-in-Chief to warn the Rajah of his danger; to assure him that no design of interfering with his government was entertained by the British rulers; and to require him to break off immediately all communication with the enemies of the British state. Towards the end of October, the Commander-in-Chief complained to the Governor-General, that the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.Rajah had evaded his application for the troops, with which, according to the treaty, he was bound to assist the British government; while he had afforded to Holkar positive and material assistance. In reply, the Governor-General left the question of peace or war to be decided by the opinion of expediency which the Commander-in-Chief, with his more intimate knowledge of the circumstances, might be induced to form; still, however, remarking, that “if considerations of security should not require the punishment of Bhurtpore, those of policy suggested the expediency of forbearance, notwithstanding the provocation which would render such punishment an act of retributive justice.” The behaviour however of the garrison of Deeg, at the time of the battle fought under its walls, produced orders from the seat of government for the entire reduction of the Rajah, and the annexation of all his forts and territories to the British dominions. As Bappoojee Scindia, the officer who at the beginning of the war with Holkar commanded that detachment from the army of Scindia which co-operated with General Monson at the commencement of his retreat, and was one of the chieftains included in the list of those who under the operation of the late treaty, were to receive jaghires and pensions from the British government, had afterwards openly joined Holkar with the troops under his command; and Suddasheo Bhow, another of Scindia's officers, who had been sent to co-operate with Monson, had also joined the enemy, the Governor-General at the same time directed the Commander-in-Chief to proceed against them as rebels; try them by a court martial; and carry the sentence into immediate execution.1

The loss of Deeg was a tremendous blow to Holkar
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and the Rajah. The surrounding country immediatelyBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. submitted to the authority of the British government; and General Lake, having taken the requisite steps for securing the fort, and administering the country, moved from Deeg on the 29th of December. The army of Guzerat, under the command of Colonel Murray, had been ordered to advance from the southward, in the direction of Kotah, to intercept, if made by that route, the flight of Holkar into Malwa. This officer had reached the neighbourhood of Kotah by the end of December; and General Lake believed, if he could have made the Mahratta chieftain retreat in that direction, that he might have been effectually destroyed. But Holkar, though pursued from place to place, could not be driven from the Bhurtpore territories, so long as his infantry could find protection in the city of Bhurtpore, his cavalry, by its rapid movements, could elude all attacks, and supplies were derived from the resources of the Rajah. The reduction of Bhurtpore presented itself, therefore, to the Commander-in-Chief as, of necessity, the first of his future operations.

After being joined at Muttra by the King's 75th regiment, which he had summoned from Cawnpore, he arrived before the capital of the Rajah, on the 3d of January, 1805. The town of Bhurtpore, eight miles in extent, was every where surrounded by a mud wall of great thickness and height, and a very wide and deep ditch filled with water. The fort was situated at the eastern extremity of the town; and the walls were flanked with bastions, at short distances, mounted with a numerous artillery. The whole force of Runjeet Sing, and as many of the surrounding inhabitants as were deemed conducive to its defence, were thrown into the place; while the broken battalions of Holkar had entrenched themselves
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.under its walls. The British army, after driving the battalions from this position, with great slaughter, and the loss of all the artillery which they had been enabled to carry from Deeg, took up a position south-west of the town. The batteries were opened on the 7th of January. On the 9th a breach was reported practicable; and the General resolved to assault in the evening, as the enemy had hitherto stockaded at night the damage sustained by the wall in the course of the day. When the storming party arrived at the ditch, they found the water exceedingly deep. Over this difficulty they prevailed; and gained the foot of the breach. Here they made several gallant and persevering exertions; but all ineffectual: they were repulsed with a heavy loss, including Lieutenant-Colonel Maitland, the officer who bravely commanded in the assault.

The operations of the besiegers were immediately renewed, and a second breach was prepared on the 21st. It was deemed advisable to give the assault by day-light. The storming party moved out of the trenches, where they had been lodged for the purpose, a little before three o'clock in the afternoon. They were unable to pass the ditch; and, after being exposed for a considerable time to a fire which did great execution, were obliged to retire.

The want of military stores and provisions delayed the commencement of renewed operations, till the beginning of February, when the batteries were opened upon the wall, at some distance from the part which was formerly breached. On the 20th of the same month, the breach being as complete as it was supposed to be capable of being made, one column, composed of 200 Europeans, and a battalion of sepoys, was ordered to attack the enemy's trenches and guns outside the town: a second column, composed of 300
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Europeans, and two battalions of sepoys, to attackBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. one of the gates; while a third, headed by Lieutenant-Colonel Don, and formed of the greatest part of the European force belonging to the Bengal army, and three battalions of sepoys, was to ascend the breach. The signal to be observed by the storming party was, the commencement of the attack by the first column on the enemy's trenches, a little before four o'clock in the afternoon. This column was successful, and got immediate possession of the enemy's guns. The second column was delayed by a party of the enemy's horse; and was exposed, by a mistake, it is said, of their guide, to a destructive fire from the town, which destroyed their ladders, and rendered ineffectual the attempt on the gate. The storming party was also delayed, according to the statement of the Commander-in-Chief, by circumstances, which he does not mention; and found the ditch so deep, that it was impossible to arrive at the breach. The troops, having attempted to ascend by the bastion, were repulsed with great slaughter, though the colours of one of the native regiments were planted within a short distance of the top.

As the Commander-in-Chief ascribed the failure to accidental obstructions and delays; as the storming party had nearly gained the summit of the bastion; and as he was informed, he says, that a few hours more battering would make the ascent there perfectly easy, he determined to make another attempt on the following day. The whole European part of the Bengal army, and the greater part of two King's regiments, with upwards of four battalions of native infantry, moved on to the attack, under Brigadier-General Monson, about three o'clock in the afternoon. “Discharges of grape, logs of wood, and pots filled with combustible materials, immediately,” says the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.report of the Commander-in-Chief, “knocked down those who were ascending; and the whole party, after being engaged in an obstinate contest for two hours, and suffering very severe loss, were obliged to relinquish the attempt and retire to our trenches.” The steepness of the ascent, and the inability of the assailants to mount, except by small parties at a time, were, it was said, the enemy's advantages.1

The guns of the British army had, in consequence of incessant firing, become for the most part unserviceable; the whole of the artillery stores were expended; provisions were exhausted; and the sick and wounded were numerous. It was therefore necessary to intermit the siege of Bhurtpore. One of the most remarkable, perhaps, of all the events in the history of the British nation in India, is the difficulty, found by this victorious army, of subduing the capital of a petty Rajah of Hindustan. The circumstances have not been sufficiently disclosed; for, on the subject of these unsuccessful attacks, the reports of the Commander-in-Chief are laconic. As general causes, he chiefly alleges the extent of the place, the number of its defenders, the strength of its works, and lastly the incapacity of his engineers; as if a Commander-in-Chief were fit for his office, who is not himself an engineer.

The Bombay army, from Guzerat, which had been directed to move towards Kotah, was afterwards commanded to join the Commander-in-Chief at Bhurtpore; where it arrived, on the 12th of February, and under Major General Jones, who had succeeded Colonel Murray, bore a full share in the succeeding operations.

During the detention of the army before the capital
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of Runjeet Sing, the cavalry under General SmithBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. had been employed in expelling Ameer Khan, an adventurer of Afghaun descent, who had found the means of collecting a predatory army, and made an incursion into the Company's territory. Before the preparations were completed for resuming the siege of Bhurtpore, this force returned, and might, it appeared to the Commander-in-Chief, be now advantageously employed in dislodging Holkar from the neighbourhood of Bhurtpore; and, if possible, expelling him from that quarter of India. At two o'clock in the morning of the 29th of March, he left his camp, with the whole of the cavalry and the reserve, intending to surprise the enemy about day-break. Colonel Don, with the reserve, moved directly upon their left, while the General himself made a circuit to their right, in the line in which it was expected they would fly from the attack on their left. They were so much however upon their guard, as to be secured by a timely flight from any considerable injury. In two days, it was heard, that they were again encamped within twenty miles of Bhurtpore. On the 1st of April, the Commander-in-Chief proceeded with the same force at midnight, for another chance of reaching them before they could take to flight. Though now passing the night in so much vigilance that they kept their horses saddled, they had not begun to march before the British force were within two hundred yards from them, and, having horses superior both in speed and strength, were able to perform upon them considerable execution, before they had time to disperse. So little did the enemy think of defending themselves, that of the British, in either of those onsets, not a man was lost.

In addition to other causes, which tended to reduce the power of Holkar, the most respectable of the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.chiefs who belonged to his army now came over with their followers to the English camp. The Rajah of Bhurtpore also, discovering the fallacy of the hopes which he had built upon Holkar, and dreading the effects of a renewed attack, began, soon after the suspension of operations, to testify his desire for reconciliation. Though an example to counteract the impressions made upon the minds of the people of Hindustan, by the successful resistance of the Rajah of Bhurtpore, might have appeared, at this time, exceedingly useful; yet some strong circumstances recommended a course rather of forbearance than of revenge. The season was very far advanced, and Bhurtpore might still make a tedious defence: The severity of the hot winds would destroy the health of the Europeans in the trenches, and affect even that of the natives: Great inconvenience was sustained from the continuance of Holkar in that quarter of India, from which it would be difficult to expel him, with Bhurtpore for a place of refuge and support: And, above all, it was necessary to have the army in a state of readiness to act against Scindia, who appeared on the point of renewing the war. The proposals of the Rajah, therefore, met the British rulers in a very complaint temper; and the terms of a new treaty were settled on the 10th of April, when the preparations for the renewal of the siege were completed, and the army had actually taken up its position at the place. As compensation for the expense which the Rajah, by his disobedience, had inflicted on the British government, he agreed to pay, by instalments, a sum of twenty lacs of Furruckabad rupees; and the additional territory, with which he had been aggrandized by the Company, was resumed. In other respects he was allowed to remain in the same situation in which he had been placed by the preceding treaty.
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The fort of Deeg was not indeed to be restored tillBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. after experience, for some time had, of his fidelity and friendship; but if that were obtained, a part of the compensation money would not be required.1

The conclusion of a treaty with Scindia, even his entering into the system of subsidiary defence, created no sense of tranquillity, no expectation of peace between him and the British government. Before the signature of the treaty of subsidiary alliance, a dispute had arisen about the fort of Gualior, and the territory of Gohud. The British government included these possessions in the construction of that article of the treaty which bound Scindia to all the engagements formed by the British government during the war, with any of the chiefs who had previously paid to him tribute or obedience. Scindia contended that they could not be included in that article by any just and reasonable construction; and also represented them as so important to himself that he could by no means retain his state and condition without them.

The behaviour of Ambajee Englah, or Ingliah, had produced even hostile operations, between the time of signing the treaty of peace, and signing the treaty of defensive alliance. After having separated his interests from those of Scindia, under whom he rented and governed the possessions in question, and after having formed engagements with the British government, on the terms which it held out, during the war, to every chief whom it found possessed of power; that versatile leader, as soon as he understood that peace was likely to be concluded with Scindia, renounced his engagements with the English, and endeavoured to prevent them from obtaining possession of the fort
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.and districts which he had agreed to give up. The Commander-in-Chief sent troops, and seized them.

The disputes on the subject of Gualior and Gohud began on the 17th of February, 1804; and were pressed, with infinite eagerness, by the ministers of Scindia. They did not prevent the signature of the defensive treaty, because the Mahratta ministers declared, that, how much soever convinced of his right, and how deeply soever his interests would be affected by the alienation of that right, their master would not allow it to disturb the relations of peace so happily established; but would throw himself on the honour and generosity of the British chiefs. They argued and contended, that the article of the treaty which bound him to the engagements, formed with his dependants and tributaries by the British government, could only refer to such chiefs as the Rajahs of Jodepoor and Jyepoor, or, at any rate, to Zemindars and Jaghiredars; that Gohud was the immediate property of the Maha Rajah; that it was absurd to talk of a Rana of Gohud; as no such person was known; as all the pretensions of that family were extinct, and the province had been in the immediate and absolute possession of Scindia and his predecessor for thirty years; that no right could be justly founded on the revival of an antiquated claim, in favour of some forgotten individual of an ancient family; and that it was not for the interest of the British government, any more than of Scindia, to call in question the foundations of actual possession, since a great part of all that belonged to both was held by neither a more ancient, nor a more valid title, than that which Scindia possessed to the territory of Gohud. As for the fort of Gualior, it was not so much, they affirmed, as a part of Gohud; it was a fortress of the Mogul, granted to Scindia, of which the Rana of Gohud, even when such a personage
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existed, could be regarded as no more than theBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. Governor, nominated by Scindia, and employed during his pleasure. The English affirmed, that as the operation of the treaty extended, by the very terms, to all the territories of Scindia, excepting those “situated to the southward of the territories of the Rajahs of Jyepoor, Jodepoor, and the Rana of Gohud,” it was evident, that it was meant to apply to those of the Rana of Gohud; that if the possession in question had not passed to the English, by treaty with the parties to whom they were now consigned, they would have passed to them by conquest; as the army, after the battle of Lasswaree, was actually moving towards Gohud and Gualior, when Ambajee Ingliah, against whom the heir of the family of the Rana of Gohud had been acting, in aid of the British government, with a considerable body of troops, concluded a treaty, by which they were surrendered.

It would appear, that General Wellesley believed there was weight in the arguments of Scindia. In the answer which he returned to Major Malcolm, when that officer made communication to him of the conclusion of the treaty of defensive alliance, which he negotiated with Scindia: “It appears,” he remarked, “that Scindia's ministers have given that Prince reason to expect that he would retain Gualior; and, I think it possible, that, considering all the circumstances of the case, his Excellency the Governor-General may be induced to attend to Scindia's wishes upon this occasion. At all events, your dispatches contain fresh matter, upon which it would be desirable to receive his Excellency's orders, before you proceed to make any communication to Scindia's Durbar, on the subject of Gualior.”

The Governor-General continued steadfastly to consider the arrangement which he had made respecting
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.Gualior and Gohud, as necessary to complete his intended plan of defence, by a chain of allied princes and strong positions between the British and Mahratta frontiers. Scindia, after a fruitless contest, was obliged to submit; and on the 21st of May, 1804, he received in public Durbar, the list of treaties to which he was required to conform.

The apparent termination of this dispute by no means introduced the sentiments of friendship between the two governments. In a letter, dated the 18th of October, 1804, which was addressed, in the name of Scindia, to the Governor-General, various complaints were urged, “tending,” says the British ruler, “to implicate the justice and good faith of the British ruler, to implicate the justice and good faith of the British government, in its conduct towards that chieftain.”

First of all, the British government had used him ill in regard to money; for, whereas the losses to which he had recently been exposed had deprived him of the pecuniary means necessary to bring his forces into the field, the English had disregarded his earnest applications for the sums necessary to enable him to co-operate in the subjugation of Holkar; the consequence of which was, that when he sent two chiefs, Bappojee Scindia, and Suddasheo Bhow, to join the army under General Lake, as that General would afford them no money, they were soon obliged to separate from him, in order to find a subsistence, and even to effect a temporary and feigned conjunction with the enemy, to avoid destruction, either by his arms, or by the want of subsistence.

Secondly, the British government had used him ill, in respect to Gualior and Gohud; which had long formed part of his immediate dominions, and were not included in the list, delivered to General Wellesley, of the places which he ceded by the treaty of peace.
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Thirdly, his tributary, the Rajah of Jodepore, was included in the list of princes protected by engagements with the English; while that Rajah himself disclaimed all such engagements; had received into his protection the family of Holkar; and had written frequently to Scindia, declaring, that he remained in the same relation to him as before.

Fourthly, the lands which were to be restored, as the private property of Scindia, had not yet been given up; and the pensions, and other sums, which were agreed for, had not been regularly paid.

Fifthly, the British government had not afforded to his dominions that protection which, by treaty, they owed; for even when Colonel Murray was at Oujein, Holkar had besieged the fort of Mundsoor, and laid waste the surrounding country; while Meer Khan, the Afghaun, who was a partisan of Holkar, had captured Bheloa, and plundered the adjoining districts.

At the time of the date of this letter, Scindia had moved from Boorhanpore, and reached the Nerbudda, which his army was already beginning to cross. In compliance with the urgent remonstrances of the British government, he professed the intention of repairing to the capital of his dominions, and undertaking the regulation of his affairs. In reality, he took the direction of Bhapaul: and, with or without his consent, two signal enormities took place. Some of his troops plundered Sangur, a city and district pertaining to the Peshwa; and a party of his irregular troops attacked and plundered the camp of the British resident. At the time when this outrage was committed, the British force in Bundelcund had been summoned, by the Commander-in-Chief, to reinforce the main army at Bhurtpore, which had suffered a material reduction in the late unsuccessful attempts.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.The army from Bundelcund was on its march, and had arrived at Gualior, when, late in the evening, hircarrahs came in with intelligence of the violation of the British residency, in Scindia's camp. The greatest alarm was excited. The route through Bundelcund into Allahabad, from Allahabad to Benares, and from Benares to Calcutta, was denuded of all its troops; and there was nothing to oppose the progress of Scindia, through the heart of the British dominions, to Calcutta itself. It immediately suggested itself to the minds of the British officers, that Scindia had resolved to avail himself of the fortunate moment, when the British troops were all withdrawn to the disastrous siege of Bhurtpore, to perform this brilliant exploit; and that the violation of the residency was the first act of the war. Under this impression, it was resolved to march back the army of Bundelcund to Jansee, which lay on the road by which it was necessary for Scindia to pass. Scindia proceeded rather in a contrary direction, towards Narwa. The probability is, that Serjee Rao Gautka, his minister, and father-in-law, committed the outrage upon the British residency, in hopes to embroil him beyond remedy with the British government, and thus to ensure the war to which he found it so difficult to draw the feeble and irresolute mind of his Prince; while the promptitude with which the British force was again opposed to his march into the British dominions maintained, in his mind, the ascendancy of those fears which the minister found it so hard to subdue. A spirited prince might have made a very different use of his opportunity.

The letter which contained the complaints of Scindia was conveyed in so tedious a mode, that four months elapsed before it was delivered at Calcutta; nor was the answer penned till the 14th of April,
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First, after remaining at Boorhanpore, till towards the end of the year 1804, Scindia, instead of proceeding to his capital, in conformity with the pressing instances of the resident, and his own repeated promises, for the purpose of co-operating with the British government, directed his march toward the territory of Bhapaul, where he was not only remote from the scene of utility, but positively injurious, by alarming and robbing one of the British allies.

Secondly, notwithstanding the repeated remonstrances of the resident, a vakeel of Holkar was allowed to remain in Scindia's camp; and Scindia's minister maintained with him a constant clandestine intercourse.

Thirdly, Scindia's officers, at Oujein, instead of yielding any assistance to the operations of Colonel Murray, had obstructed them.

Fourthly, two of Scindia's commanders had deserted from the British army, and had served with the enemy during almost the whole of the war.

Fifthly, Scindia, notwithstanding his complaint of the want of resources, had augmented his army as the powers of the enemy declined, thereby exciting a suspicion of treacherous designs.

Sixthly, the heinous outrage had been committed of attacking and plundering the camp of the British resident, without the adoption of a single step towards
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The remaining articles in the list were either of minor importance, or so nearly, in their import, coincident with some of the articles mentioned above, that it appears unnecessary to repeat them.

The Governor-General declared; “By all these acts, your Highness has manifestly violated, not only the obligations of the treaty of defensive alliance, but also of the treaty of peace.” According to this declaration, it was the forbearance alone of the British government, which prevented the immediate renewal of war.

The next step, which was taken by Scindia, produced expectation that hostilities were near. On the 22d of March, 1805, he announced, officially, to the British resident, his resolution of marching to Bhurtpore, with the intention of interposing his mediation, for the restoration of peace, between the British government and its enemies. “To proceed,” says the Governor-General, “at the head of an army to the seat of hostilities, for the purpose of interposing his unsolicited mediation, was an act not only inconsistent with the nature of his engagements, but insulting to the honour, and highly dangerous to the interests, of the British government.” In the instructions, however, which the Governor-General issued upon this emergency, he was extremely anxious to avoid the extremity of war, unless in the case of actual aggression. But he deemed it necessary, to make immediate arrangements for seizing the possessions of Scindia, if that chieftain should proceed to extremities. Colonel Close was vested with the same powers which had formerly been confided to General Wellesley; and orders were issued to the officers commanding the subsidiary force at Poona,
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and at Hyderabad, to occupy, with their troops, theBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. positions most favourable for invading the southern dominions of Scindia. The force in Guzerat, which had been weakened by the detachment sent to co-operate in the war against Holkar, was reinforced, with a view as well to defence, as to seize whatever belonged to Scindia in Guzerat, and its vicinity. Upon some further disclosure of the hostile, or, at least, the unfriendly councils of Scindia, the Commander-in-Chief was instructed to oppose the march to Bhurtpore, as what, “under all the circumstances of the case, constituted not only a declaration of war, but a violent act of hostility.”

The Governor-General, in the event of a war, now resolved to reduce the power of Scindia to what he calls “the lowest scale.” He observes, that the principle of compensation, which had regulated the terms of the former treaty, “had proved inadequate to the purposes of British security, and that the restraints imposed by the provisions of the treaty of peace upon Dowlut Rao Scindia's means of mischief were insufficient—that another principle of pacification must therefore be assumed; that Scindia must not be permitted to retain the rights and privileges of an independent state; nor any privileges to an extent that might at a future time enable him to injure the British or their allies; and that the British government must secure the arrangement by establishing a direct control over the acts of his government—experience having sufficiently manifested, that it was in vain to place any reliance on the faith, justice, sincerity, gratitude, or honour of that chieftain”—he might have added, or any chieftain of his nation, or country.

No declaration can be more positive and strong of the total inefficacy of the system of defensive alliance.
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Scindia continued his march to the northward, and on the 29th of March had advanced with all his cavalry and Pindarees to Subbulghur, on the river Chumbul, leaving his battalions and guns in the rear. His force at this time was understood by the British government to consist of eight or nine thousand cavalry, 20,000 Pindarees, and nominally eighteen battalions of infantry with 140 guns, all in a very defective state of discipline and equipment. On the 31st of March he had advanced about eighteen miles in a north-easterly direction from Subbulghur. Here he was joined by Ambajee; and the British resident in his camp, understanding that it was his intention to cross the Chumbul with his cavalry and Pindarees, leaving the bazars and heavy baggage of the army under the protection of Ambajee, requested an audience. His object was to represent to Scindia the impropriety of crossing the Chumbul, and the propriety of waiting for Colonel Close, who was expected soon to arrive on an important mission from the capital of the Rajah of Berar. The propositions of the British agent were received with the most amicable professions
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on the part of Scindia and his ministers; whoBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. represented, that the embarrassment of his finances was so great as to prevent him from returning to effect the settlement of his country; that his march towards Bhurtpore was intended solely to accelerate the arrival of peace; but that, if the British government would make any arrangement for the relief of his urgent necessities, he would regulate his proceedings agreeably to its desires. A copy of a letter to the Governor-General was also read, in which reparation was promised for the outrage on the resident's camp.

This conference, when reported to the Governor-General, appeared to him to indicate a more submissive turn in the councils of Scindia: the resident was accordingly instructed, to inform the chieftain, that the atonement offered for the outrage was accepted; that the distresses of his government would be relieved by pecuniary aid, if he would act in co-operation with the British government; and that he could do this, only by returning to the southward, and employing himself in the seizure of the remaining possessions of Holkar in Malwa.

On the 2d of April Scindia marched about eight miles in a retrograde direction towards Subbulghur; leaving the whole of his baggage and bazars under the charge of Ambajee. On the 3d, the resident was visited by Scindia's vakeel, whose commission was, to importune him on the subject of pecuniary relief. A discussion ensued on the two points, of receiving money, and deferring the declared intention of crossing the Chumbul and proceeding to Kerowly, till the arrival of Colonel Close. The result was, an agreement on the part of Scindia, to return and wait at Subbulghur, and on that of the British resident to afford a certain portion of pecuniary aid.
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On the 7th of April Ameer Khan departed from Bhurtpore, with the avowed intention of joining the army of Scindia. On the same day the minister of Scindia marched towards Bhurtpore, with a large body of Scindia's pindarees, and a considerable part of his cavalry. Information was sent to the resident, that the proposed mediation was the object of the march.

On the 11th, General Lake received a letter from the said minister, who had arrived at Weir, a town situated about fifteen miles S.W. of Bhurtpore, stating that, as the British resident in the camp of Scindia had expressed a desire for the mediation of his master, he had commanded him to proceed for that purpose to Bhurtpore. The British General replied, that, peace having been concluded with the Rajah of Bhurtpore, the advance of the minister of Scindia was unnecessary, and might subvert the relations of amity between the British government and his master, to whom it was highly expedient that he should return. Notwithstanding this, he advanced on the 12th, with a small party of horse, within a few miles of Bhurtpore, whence he transmitted a message to the Rajah, soliciting a personal conference, which the Rajah declined. The minister then returned to Weir. Holkar, who had been obliged, on the submission of the Rajah, to leave Bhurtpore, joined him, at this place, with three or four thousand exhausted cavalry, nearly the whole of his remaining force; and both proceeded towards the camp of Scindia at Subbulghur.

The advance of the minister, immediately after the master had agreed to halt, the Governor-General regarded as an evasion and a fraud. The conduct of Scindia, and some intercepted letters, taken from an agent of Scindia dispatched to Holkar toward
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.the close of the month of March, convinced the Governor-General of a coincidence in the views of these two chiefs. And, whether they united their forces for the sake of obtaining better terms of peace, or for the purpose of increasing their abilities for war; as it would be of great importance for them, in either case, to prevent an accommodation between the British government and Runjeet Sing, it was not doubted, that the design of Scindia to proceed to Bhurtpore had that prevention for its end. On the 11th, the 14th, and the 15th of April, Bappojee Scindia, Ameer Khan, and Holkar, respectively, joined the camp of Scindia, who offered to the British resident a frivolous pretext for affording a cordial reception to each. He affirmed that Holkar, who had determined, he said, to renew his invasion of the British territories, had, in compliance with his persuasions, abandoned that design, and consented to accept his mediation for the attainment of peace.

On the 21st of April, the Commander-in-Chief, with the whole of his army, moved from Bhurtpore, toward the position of the united chiefs; and signified his desire to the British resident, that he would take the earliest opportunity of quitting Scindia's camp. The necessity of this measure appeared to him the stronger from a recent event. Holkar had seized the person of Ambajee, for the purpose of extorting from him a sum of money; an audacity to which he would not have proceeded, in the very camp of Scindia, without the consent of that chieftain, and a perfect concurrence in their views.

On the 27th, in consequence of instructions from the Commander-in-Chief, the British resident solicited an interview with Scindia; and he thought proper to give notice that the object of it was, to require the return of Scindia from the position which he then
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occupied, and his separation from Holkar. TheBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. evening of the same day was appointed; but, when it arrived, the attendance of the resident was not demanded. All that day, and the succeeding night, great alarm and confusion prevailed in Scindia's camp; for it was reported that the British army was near. On the morning of the 28th, Scindia and Holkar, with their respective forces, began to retreat with great precipitation; and pursued a difficult march, for several days, during which heat and want of water destroyed a great number of men, to Sheopore, a town in the direct route to Kotah, and distant from that place about fifty miles.

The resolution, which this retreat suggested to the Governor-General, was, “To adopt the necessary measures for cantoning the army at its several fixed stations. In his judgment,” he says, “this measure, properly arranged, might be expected to afford sufficient protection to the British possessions even in the event of war; and the best security for the preservation of peace would be” (not the system of defensive alliance, but) “such a distribution of the British armies as should enable them to act against the enemy with vigour and celerity, if Scindia should commence hostilities, or Holkar again attempt to disturb the tranquillity of the British territories. At the same time this arrangement would afford the means of effecting a material reduction of the heavy charges incident to a state of war.” Yet he had argued, in defence of the former war, that to keep the British army in a state of vigilance would be nearly as expensive as a state of war.

On the 10th of May, Scindia and Holkar re-commenced their retreat to Kotah; while the demand was still evaded of the English resident for leave to depart from Scindia's camp. The opinion, entertained
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by the Governor-General of the state of Scindia'sBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. councils, at the time when he arranged the cantonment of the British troops, is thus expressed, in his own words: “The weakness and the indolence of Scindia's personal character, combined with his habits of levity and debauchery, have gradually subjected him to the uncontrolled influence of his minister, Serjee Rao Ghautka, a person of the most profligate principles, and whose cruelty, violence, and abandoned conduct, have rendered him odious to whatever remains of respectable among the chiefs attached to Scindia. Ghautka's personal views, and irregular and disorderly disposition, are adverse to the establishment of Scindia's government upon any settled basis of peace and order. Ghautka is therefore an enemy to the treaty of alliance subsisting between Dowlut Rao Scindia and the Honourable Company. Under the guidance of such perverse councils the interests of Dowlut Rao Scindia have actually been sacrificed by Ghautka to those of Jeswunt Rao Holkar; and it appears by the report of the acting resident, contained in his despatch of the 9th of May, that in the absence of Serjee Rao Ghautka, the functions of the administration are actually discharged by Jeswunt Rao Holkar.”

With respect to Holkar, the Governor-General was of opinion, that his turbulent disposition and predatory habits would never allow him to submit to restraint, “excepting only in the last extremity of ruined fortune:” And that, as no terms of accommodation, such as he would accept, could be offered to him, without the appearance of concession, no arrangement with him ought to be thought of, except on terms previously solicited by himself, and such as would deprive him of the means of disturbing the possessions of the British government and its allies.
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He predicted, and there was abundant reason for the anticipation, that the confederacy between Holkar and Scindia would be of short duration. In that case, provided Scindia abstained from actual aggression upon the British state or its allies, the existing treaty of peace might still, he thought, be preserved.1

About the beginning of June, the confederate chieftains proceeded in a westerly direction towards Ajmere. For the countenance or aid they had received, or might be expected to receive, in that quarter, from the petty princes who had entered into the Governor-General's system of alliance, that Governor provided the following legitimate apology. “The conduct of the petty chiefs of Hindostan, and of the Rajpoot states, must necessarily be regulated by the progress of events. None of those chiefs possesses singly the power of resisting the forces of the confederates, and any effectual combination among those chiefs is rendered impracticable by the nature of their tenures, by their respective views and prejudices, and by the insuperable operation of immemorial usages and customs. They are therefore compelled to submit to exactions enforced by the vicinity of a superior force, and their preservation and their interests are concerned in supporting the cause of that power, which, engaged in a contest with another state, appears to be successful, and in abstaining from any opposition to either of the belligerent powers which possesses the means of punishing their resistance.2 In contracting alliances with the petty states of Hindostan
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the British government has never entertainedBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. the vain expectation of deriving from them the benefits of an active opposition to the power of the Mahratta chieftains, or even of an absolute neutrality, excepting under circumstances which should enable us to protect them against the power of the enemy. At the same time the actual or expected superiority and success of the confederates can alone induce those states to unite their exertions with those of the enemy in active operations against the British power.” It is not easy to see, what utility could exist in alliances, of which these were to be the only results.

In the early part of June, intelligence was transmitted to the Governor-General by the resident in Scindia's camp, whom Scindia, in spite of reiterated applications, had still detained, of the probability of an important change in the councils of that chieftain, by the dismission of Serjee Rao Ghautka, the minister, and the appointment of Ambajee in his stead. Though it appeared that the ascendancy of Holkar in the councils of Scindia was the cause of the expected change, the Governor-General was disposed to believe that it increased all the probabilities of a speedy dissolution of the confederacy; as Ambajee, it was likely, would favour the projects of Holkar no longer than necessity required.

On the 17th of June, the acting resident delivered to Scindia a letter from the Commander-in-Chief, declaring, that if he were not permitted to quit the camp in ten days, the relations subsisting between the two states would be regarded as no longer binding on the British government. In some supposed inconsistency in the letters of the Governor-General and the Commander-in-Chief Scindia found a pretext for delay, requiring time to apply for elucidation to the Commander-in-Chief.
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All pretext on this ground being removed, the Governor-General concluded, that, if Scindia any longer persisted in his refusal to dismiss the resident, it was a sufficient proof of the necessity of war; and if war had become necessary, that it should not be delayed. Instructions, were, therefore, addressed to the Commander-in-Chief, by which he was directed to be prepared for active operations against the confederate forces of Scindia and Holkar, as soon as the season should admit.

On the 27th of June, the last of the days allowed to precede the departure of the resident agreeably to the demand of the Commander-in-Chief, he was visited by one of the principal servants of Scindia. The object of the conference was, to prevail upon the resident to wave his demand of dismission. On this occasion, the strongest professions of amicable intentions with respect to the British government were made on the part of Scindia; and his extreme reluctance to part with the resident was ascribed to the appearance which would thence arise of enmity between the states; while he would by no means allow, that detention could be considered as a sufficient motive for war.1

Thus stood the relations between the British state and the Mahratta chiefs, when the Marquis Cornwallis arrived in India. In the month of December, 1803, the Marquis Wellesley had notified to the Court of Directors his intention of resigning the government of India, and of returning to Europe, as soon as the negotiations with Dowlut Rao Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, should be conducted to a conclusion. The hostilities, in which the Company
Edition: current; Page: [517]
became involved with Holkar, induced him to deferBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. the execution of his intentions; and, even in the month of March, 1805, though he expressed his increasing solicitude, in the declining state of his health, to be relieved from the cares and toils of government, and to return to a more genial climate, he declared his resolution not to abandon his post, till the tranquillity and order of the British empire in India should rest on a secure and permanent basis.1 Before this time, however, measures had been contemplated in England for a change in the administration of India. The Directors, and the Ministry themselves, began to be alarmed at the accumulation of the Indian debt, and the pecuniary difficulties which pressed upon the Company. Lord Wellesley was regarded as a very expensive and ambitious ruler; the greater part of his administration had been a scene of war and conquest; war and conquest in India had been successfully held forth to the British nation, as at once hostile to the British interests, and cruel to the people of India; with a ruler, possessing the dispositions of Lord Wellesley, it was supposed, that the chances of war would always outnumber the chances for peace; the popular voice, which often governs the cabinets of princes, ascribed a character of moderation and sageness to the Marquis Cornwallis; and to those who longed for peace and an overflowing exchequer in India it appeared, that the return of this nobleman would afford a remedy for every disorder. Though bending under years and infirmities, his own judgment, and that of the parties on whom the choice depended, succeeded in sending him, in the prospect, to a probable, in the event, to an actual, grave.
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He arrived at Calcutta on the 30th of July, 1805 and on the same day took the oaths in Council, and assumed the government. On the 1st of August he announced this event to the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors, in an overland despatch; in which he added, “Finding, to my great concern, that we are still at war with Holkar, and that we can hardly be said to be at peace with Scindia, I have determined to proceed immediately to the upper provinces, that I may be at hand to avail myself of the inverval which the present rainy season must occasion in our military operations, to endeavour, if it can be done without a sacrifice of our honour, to terminate, by negotiation, a contest, in which the most brilliant success can afford us no solid benefit, and which, if it should continue, must involve us in pecuniary difficulties which we shall hardly be able to surmount.”

The extent of the condemnation, thus speedily pronounced on the policy of his predecessor, was somewhat equivocal. The meaning might be, either that so much success had already been gained in the contest, that no further success would be of any advantage; or, that it was a contest, in which from the beginning “the most brilliant success could afford no solid benefit.”

Lord Cornwallis lost no time in commencing his journey to the upper provinces. In a letter of his, dated on the river, August 9th, 1805, he informed the Court of Directors, that “one of the first objects to which his attention had been directed, was, an inquiry into the state of their finances. The result,” he says, “of this inquiry affords the most discouraging prospects; and has convinced me, that unless some very speedy measures are taken to reduce our expenses, it will be impossible to meet with effect the contingency of a renewed war with Scindia and those
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Among the measures of Lord Wellesley, already described, for reducing the power of the Mahratta princes at the commencement of the war, was that of encouraging, by offers of engagement in the British service, the officers employed by those princes, to desert with their troops. The number of those who came over to the British service became at last very considerable; and the expense exceedingly severe. Measures had been taken to lessen the burthen, before the close of the late administration; and the expense had been reduced from the sum of 5,83,669 rupees per month, to that of 3,90,455. The expense appeared, and with justice, in so very serious a light to Lord Cornwallis, that the troops in question he declared, “would certainly be less formidable if opposed to the British government in the field, than while they remained so distressing a drain upon its resources.” A formidable impediment however opposed the dismission even of those to whom the faith of the government was in no degree pledged; because their pay was several months in arrear, as well as that of the rest of the army, and there was no money in the treasury for its discharge. In this exigency the Governor-General resolved to retain the treasure which the Directors had sent for China; and apprised them of this intention by his letter, dated on the 9th of August. In another letter, dated on the 28th of the same month, he says, “I have already represented to your Honourable Committee, the extreme pecuniary embarrassments in which I have found this government involved: every part of the army, and every branch of the public departments attacked to it, even in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.their present stationary positions are suffering severe distress from an accumulation of arrears; and if, unfortunately, it should become indispensably necessary to put the troops again in motion, I hardly know how the difficulties of providing funds for such an event are to be surmounted.”1

The next part of the late system of government, in which the Governor-General thought it necessary to interfere, was the scheme of alliances. On that subject his sentiments differed widely from those of the ruler who had gone before him.

In a letter dated the 20th of July, 1805, Colonel Close, resident at Poona, had stated to the Governor-General, that he had obtained an interview with one of the principal officers of the Peshwa's government, “with whom,” says he, “I conversed largely on the present distracted conduct of the Poona government; pointing out to him, that, owing to the want of capacity and good intention on the part of the Dewan, the Peshwa, instead of enjoying that case of mind and honourable comfort, which his alliance with the British government was calculated to bestow upon him, was kept in a constant state of anxiety, either by remonstrances necessarily made to his Dewan by the British resident, or by the disobedience and wicked conduct of the persons placed by the Dewan in the civil and military charge of his Highness's territories, which, instead of yielding a revenue for his Highness's treasury, went only to maintain a set of abandoned men, whose first object is obtaining authority to assemble hands of freebooters, and who then, acting for themselves, hold his Highness's government at defiance.”
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A despatch from the Marquis Cornwallis to Colonel Close, signed by the secretary to Government, and dated on the river near Plassey, the 18th of August, 1805, says, “The information which the Governor-General has obtained since his Lordship's arrival at Fort William, respecting the state of affairs at the court of Poona, and especially the communications contained in your despatches above acknowledged, have enabled his Lordship to form a correct judgement of the condition of his Highness the Peshwa's government. His Lordship observes, with deep concern, the utter inefficiency of the Peshwa's authority, to maintain the allegiance and subordination of his officers and subjects; to secure the resources of his country; or to command the services of his troops. His Highness is compelled to solicit the interference of the British government, to repress civil commotion among the public officers of his government, and to provide the means of paying the troops which, by treaty, he is pledged to furnish for the service of the war. His Highness himself, solicitous only of personal case and security, seems disposed to leave to the British government the internal regulation of his dominions, and the suppression of that anarchy and confusion which is the necessary result of a weak and inefficient government.—We are thus reduced to the alternative, either of mixing in all the disorder and contentions, incident to the lose and inefficient condition of the Peshwa's administration; or of suffering the government and dominion of his Highness to be completely overthrown by the unrestrained effects of general anarchy and rebellion.—Under such circumstances the alliance with the Peshwa, far from being productive of any advantage to the Company, must involve us in inextricable difficulty, and become an intolerable burthen upon us.”

The Governor-General alludes to certain circumstances:
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.but the question is, whether these very circumstances are not the natural result of such an alliance, not with the Peshwa exclusively, but any one of the native states; and whether there is any rational medium between abstinence from all connexion with these states, and the avowed conquest of them; the complete substitution, at once, of the British government to their own wretched system of mis-rule.

The Governor-General recurs to his former opinions respecting the impolicy of all connexion with the Mahratta states; opinions of which the reason was not confined to the Mahratta states; and he says, “It must be in your recollection, that, during Marquis Cornwallis's former administration, his Lordship foreseeing the evils of mixing in the labyrinth of Mahratta politics, and Mahratta contentions, sedulously avoided that sort of connexion with the Peshwa's government, which was calculated to involve the Company in the difficulties and embarrassments of our actual situation. The evils, however, which his Lordship then anticipated from such an alliance, appear to his Lordship to have been exceeded by those which have actually occurred under the operation of the treaty of Bassein.”

The views of Lord Cornwallis were less clear and decided with regard to the Nizam, although his observations, addressed to the resident at Hyderabad, under date the 21st of August, 1805, announced the existence of the same evils, resulting from the alliance with the Nizam, as resulted from that with the Peshwa; that is, a total dissolution of the energies of government, in the hands of the native prince, and the necessity, on the part of the British, of exercising all the functions of government under infinite disadvantages. “The Governor-General,” says that address, “observes, with great regret, the degree of
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interference exercised by the British government,BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. through the channels of its representative, in the internal administration of the government of Hyderabad. It appears to his Lordship to have entirely changed the nature of the relations originally established between the British government and the state of Hyderabad. His Lordship is aware, that this undesirable degree of interference and ascendency in the counsels of the state of Hyderabad, is to be ascribed to the gradual decay of the energies of government; to the defect of efficient instruments of authority; to the circumstances which attended the nomination of the present ministers; and to the personal character of his Highness Secunder Jah.—But the evils, which appear to his Lordship to be the necessary result of such a system of interference and paramount ascendency in the government of Hyderabad, greatly exceed those which the maintenance of that system is calculated to prevent.—The former are of a nature more extensive and more durable; and affect the general interests and character of the British government, throughout the whole peninsula of India. The evils of an opposite system are comparatively local and temporary; although rendered more dangerous at the present moment, by the probable effects of a belief which, however unjust, appears to be too generally entertained, of a systematic design on the part of the British government to establish its control and authority over every state in India.—It is the primary object of his Lordship's policy to remove this unfavourable and dangerous impression, by abstaining in the utmost degree practicable, consistently with the general security of the Company's dominions, from all interference in the internal concerns of other states. His Lordship considers even the preservation of our actual alliances to be an
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.object of inferior importance to that of regaining the confidence, and removing the jealousies and suspicions of surrounding states.”

In terms exactly correspondent, the Governor-General wrote to the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors. In a letter enclosing the above despatches, dated on the river near Rage Mahl, on the 28th of August, he says; “One of the most important, and, in my opinion, not the least unfortunate consequences of the subsisting state of our alliances, has been the gradual, increasing ascendency of the British influence and authority, exercised through the medium of our residents, at the courts of Poona and Hyderabad. The weak and wretched state of the Peshwa's internal government cannot be more forcibly described than in the enclosed despatch, recently received from Colonel Close. And I have reason to believe, that the authority of the Soubah of the Deccan over his dominions is approaching fast to the same state of inefficiency and weakness. The evils likely to ensue from the above statement are sufficiently obvious; but the remedy to be applied to them is unhappily not so apparent.—In the hope, that by degrees, we may be able to withdraw ourselves from the disgraceful participation in which we should be involved, by mixing ourselves in all the intrigues, oppression, and chicanery of the active management of distracted and dislocated provinces, I have ordered those letters to be addressed to the residents at the courts of Hyderabad and Poona, of which copies are herewith enclosed.”1

The conduct which Lord Cornwallis determined to pursue in regard to the relations between the British
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state and the belligerent or contumacious chiefs,BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. Holkar and Scindia, was lastly disclosed. His sentiments on that subject, were addressed in a despatch to General, then Lord Lake, on the 18th of September.

In this he declared that “the first, and most important object of his attention was, a satisfactory adjustment of all differences between the British government and Dowlut Row Scindia.” To the accomplishment of this primary object of his desire he conceived that two things only operated in the character of material obstructions: the detention by Scindia of the British resident; and the retention, by the British government, of the fortress of Gualior, and the province of Gohud.

The British Governor had made up his mind with regard to both causes of dissension. With regard to the first, he says, “I deem it proper to apprize your Lordship, that as a mere point of honour, I am disposed to compromise, or even to abandon, the demand which has been so repeatedly, and so urgently made, for the release of the British residency, if it should ultimately prove to be the only obstacle to a satisfactory adjustment of affairs with Dowlut Row Scindia.” With regard to the second, he says, “It is, in my decided opinion, desirable to abandon our possession of Gualior, and our connexion with Gohud, independently of any reference to a settlement of differences with Dowlut Row Scindia: I have, therefore, no hesitation in resolving to transfer to Dowlut Row Scindia the possession of that fortress and territory.”

This accordingly formed the basis of the scheme of pacification planned by the Governor-General. On his part, Scindia was to be required to resign his claim to the jaghires and pensions, stipulation for which had been made in the preceding treaty; to make a provision for the Rana of Gohud to the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.extent of two and a half, or three lacs of rupees per annum; and to make compensation for the loss sustained by the plunder of the residency: On the other hand, the Jynegur tribute, amounting to the annual sum of three lacs of rupees, might be restored to Scindia; and leave might be given him, to station a force in Dholapoor, Baree, and Rajah Kerree, the districts reserved to him in the Dooab, as the private estates of his family.

With regard to Jeswunt Row Holkar, Cornwallis declared it to be his intention to restore to that chieftain the whole of the territories and possessions which had been conquered from him by the British arms.

Two important subjects of regulation yet remained: those minor princes in the region of the Jumna, with whom the British government had formed connections: and the territory to the westward and southward of Delhi, of which that government had not yet disposed. The plan of the Governor-General was, to give up both. He purposed to divide the territory among the princes with whom the British government had formed connections; and to reconcile those princes to the renunciation of the engagements which the British government had contracted with them, by the allurement of the territory which they were about to receive. His plan was to assign jaghires, in proportion to their claims, to those of least consideration; and to divide the remainder between the Rajahs of Macherry and Bhurtpore. He meant that the British government should remain wholly exempt from any obligation to ensure or defend the possession of the territories which it thus conferred. He expressed a hope, that those princes, by means of a union among themselves, might, in the reduced condition of Scindia, have sufficient power for their own defence.
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“But even the probability,” he adds, “of Scindia'sBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. ultimate success would not, in my opinion, constitute a sufficient objection to the proposed arrangement; being satisfied of the expediency even of admitting into the territories in question the power of Dowlut Rao Scindia, rather than that we should preserve any control over, or connection with them.” Any attempt of Scindia, in any circumstances, against the British possessions in the Dooab, he pronounced to be altogether improbable. And “Scindia's endeavours,” he said, “to wrest their territories from the hands of the Rajahs of Macherry and Bhurtpore may be expected to lay the foundation of interminable contests, which will afford ample and permanent employment to Scindia.”

In the spirit of these instructions, a letter to Scindia had been penned on the preceding day; intended to inform him that, as soon as he should release the British residency, Lord Lake was authorized to open with him a negotiation, for the conclusion of an arrangement, by which Gualior and Gohud might revert to his dominion.1

Before these letters were received by the Commander-in-Chief, the dismission of Sirjee Row Gautka from the office of minister to Scindia, and the appointment of Ambajee, had for some time taken place. This event the British rulers ascribed to the disappointment of Scindia, in the hopes with which they supposed that Sirjee Row Gautka had nourished him, of finding in the union with Holkar a force with which the English might be opposed. Upon the dismission of Sirjee Row Gautka from the service of Scindia, he repaired to the camp of Holkar, which for some time had been separated from that of Scindia. It was the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.interest, however, of Holkar, to preserve a connection with Scindia, which the latter was now very desirous to dissolve. Holkar offered to give no asylum to the discarded minister, who in a short time left his camp, and repaired to Deccan. Scindia played the double part, so agreeable to eastern politics; and temporized with Holkar till he felt assured of a favourable adjustment of the subjects of difference between him and the British state.

Moonshee Kavel Nyne was one of the confidential servants of Scindia, who had been opposed to Sirjee Row Gautka, and of course leaned to the British interests. During the ascendancy of Sirjee Row Gautka, Moonshee Kavel Nyne, from real or apprehended dread of violence, had fled from the dominions of Scindia; and had taken shelter under the British government at Delhi. Upon the first intimation, from the new Governor-General to the Commander-in-Chief, of the altered tone of politics which was about to be introduced, Moonshee Kavel Nyne was invited to the camp of the Commander-in-Chief; where it was concerted, that one of his relations should speak to Scindia, and explain to him the facility with which, through the medium of Moonshee Kavel Nyne, be might open a negotiation, calculated to save him from the dangers with which he was encompassed. Scindia was eager to embrace the expedient; and immediately sent proposals through the medium of Kavel Nyne. By this contrivance, the British commander stood upon the vantage ground; and stated, that he could attend to no proposition, while the British residency was detained. Upon this communication, the residency was dismissed; and was upon its march to the British territories, while the Commander-in-Chief had forwarded to Scindia a plan of settlement, fashioned a little according to the views of the Governor-General,
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before the Governor-General's instructions ofBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. the 19th of September, and his letter to Scindia, arrived in the British camp.

Impressed by dread of the effects, which the manifestation of so eager a desire for peace, and the appearance of indecision in the British counsels, if, one proposal being sent, another should immediately follow, might produce upon Mahratta minds; while at the same time he was strongly persuaded of the impolicy of the measures which the Governor-General had enjoined; the Commander-in-Chief took upon himself to detain the letter addressed to Scindia, and to represent to the Governor-General the views which operated upon his mind.

Apologizing, for the interposition of any delay in carrying the commands of the Governor-General into effect, by the alternation which had taken place in the state of affairs; and announcing the actual transmission of a plan of settlement which it was probable that Scindia would accept, the Commander-in-Chief proceeded to represent; first, that it would be inconsistent with the interests of the British state to let the Mahrattas regain a footing in the upper provinces of India; secondly, that it would be inconsistent with the justice and honour of the British state to relinquish the engagements which it had formed with the minor princes on the Mahratta frontier.


	1. If the Mahrattas were thrown back from the Company's frontier, to the distance originally planned, a strong barrier would be interposed against them in every direction. To the north-west, the countries of Hurrianah, Bicaneer, Jodepore, and the northern parts of Jeypore, and the Shekaotee, dry, sandy, mountainous, and inhabited by a warlike race, could not be crossed by a hostile army without the greatest difficulty and loss. The roads farther south, by Mewat
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.or Bhurtpore, somewhat less impassable, but more than 150 miles in length to the Jumna, through a country with many difficult passes, strong towns, and a warlike and predatory population, would, under a union with the chiefs in that direction, and a well-established line of defence on the part of the British government, be impracticable to a Mahratta army. Though, from the southern part of the territories of Bhurtpore to the junction of the Chumbul with the Jumna, the approach from Malwa presented little difficulty, this line was short; the number of fords so far down the Jumna was much less than higher up; and a British corps, well posted, would afford, in this direction, all the security which could be desired.



If the princes in this region were for a while protected by the British government, they would recover from that state of disunion, poverty, and weakness, into which they had been thrown, partly by the policy, partly by the vices of the Mahratta governments. If abandoned to themselves, they would soon be all subdued, either by Scindia, or some other conquering hero; and a state of things would be introduced, in the highest degree unfavourable to the interests of the British government. “These petty states would first quarrel with each other; would then call in the different native powers in their vicinity, to their respective aid; and large armies of irregulars would be contending upon the frontier of our most fertile provinces; against whose eventual excesses there would be no well-grounded security but a military force in a state of constant preparation.” The military habits of the people would thus be nourished, instead of those habits of peaceful industry, which it was found by experience they were so ready to acquire. The Jumna, which it was the intention of the Governor-General to make the boundary of the British
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dominions, was not, as had been supposed, a barrierBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. of any importance; as above its junction with the Chumbul, except during a few weeks in the year, it is fordable in a variety of places, and would afford little security from the incursions of a predatory army, to the provinces in the Dooab, to Rohilcund, or the countries of the Vizir.


	2. The personages on the further side of the Jumna; Rajahs, Zemindars, Jaghiredars, and others; to whom the British faith had been formally pledged, were numerous. From that pledge the British faith could not be released, unless the opposite party either infringed the conditions of the engagement, or freely allowed it to be dissolved. “I am fully satisfied,” says the Commander-in-Chief, “that no inducement whatever would make the lesser Rajahs in this quarter renounce the benefit of the protection of the British government. Even such a proposition would excite in their minds the utmost alarm. They would, I fear, consider it as a prelude to their being sacrificed to the object of obtaining a peace with the Mahrattas.”



With regard to the Rana of Gohud, he expressed himself convinced of the utter incapacity of that feeble-minded person for the business of government; and, with respect to him, objected not to the arrangement which the Governor-General proposed.

Before the Governor-General received this remonstrance, he was incapable of discharging the functions of government. His health was impaired when he left England; and from the commencement of his journey from Calcutta had rapidly declined. On the 29th of September, he had become too ill to proceed, and was removed from his boats to a house in Gazeepore, a town in the district of Benares, at which he had arrived. Accounts were dispatched to the Presidency,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.with intelligence that he could not survive many days. The evil consequences, to which the state was exposed, by the absurdity of those, who, at an eventful period, sent a man to govern India, just stepping into the grave, without the smallest provision for an event so probable as his death, began now to be seen. Two members alone of the Supreme Council, Sir George Barlow and Mr. Udney, remained at Calcutta. “Under the embarrassing circumstances,” says Sir George, “attendant on this heavy calamity, it has been judged to be for the good of the public service, that I should proceed immediately, by relays, to Benares, to join his Lordship, for the purpose of assisting in the conduct of the negotiations for peace commenced by his Lordship, if his indisposition should continue; or of prosecuting the negotiations to a conclusion, in the ever to be deplored event of his Lordship's death. The public service necessarily requires the presence of Lord Lake with the army in the field; and, as no provision has been made by the legislature for the very distressing and embarrassing situation in which we are unhappily placed by the indisposition of Lord Cornwallis, at a crisis when the public interests demand the presence of a competent authority near the scene of the depending negotiations, I have been compelled, by my sense of public duty, to leave the charge of that branch of the administration, which must be conducted at Fort William, in the hands of one member of the government. My justification for the adoption of this measure will, I trust, be found in the unprecedented nature of the case, and in the pressing exigency which calls me from the Presidency.”

It so happened, that affairs at that time were easy to be arranged; and fell into hands of considerable skill. It was very possible, they might have been of
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difficult arrangement; and highly probable, whenBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. left to chance, that they would have fallen into hands incapable of the task. Of sending a dying man to govern India, without foreseeing the chance of his death, how many evils, in that case, might have been the direful consequence?1

Lord Cornwallis lingered to the 5th of October, and then expired. During the last month he remained, for the greatest part of the morning, in a state of weakness approaching to insensibility. Till near the last, he revived a little towards the evening; was dressed, heard the dispatches, and gave instructions for the letters which were to be written. By the persons who attended him, it was stated, that even in this condition his mind displayed a considerable portion of its original force.2 Without reminding ourselves of the partiality of these reporters, and going so far as to admit the possibility of the force which is spoken of, we cannot help seeing that it could exert itself on those subjects only with which the mind was already familiar. Where was the strength to perform the process of fresh inquiry; to collect, and to fix in the mind the knowledge necessary to lay the basis of action in a state of things to a great degree new?

The duties and rank of Supreme Ruler devolved, of course, on Sir George Barlow, a civil servant of the Company, who had ascended with reputation through the several gradations of office, to the dignity of senior member of the Supreme Council, when Lord Cornwallis expired. The new Governor-General lost no time in making reply to the representation which the Commander-in-Chief had addressed to Lord Cornwallis,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.immediately before his death. He stated his resolution to adhere to the plan of his predecessor, in “abandoning all connection with the petty states, and, generally, with the territories to the westward of the Jumna.” “This resolution,” he added, “is founded, not only upon my knowledge of the entire conformity of those general principles to the provisions of the legislature, and to the orders of the Hononurable the Court of Directors; but also upon my conviction of their expediency, with a view to the permanent establishment of the British interests in India.”


	1. With respect to the security, which, in the opinion of the Commander-in-Chief, would be sacrificed to this policy, Sir George observed, that it was the declared resolution even of Marquis Wellesley, “to render, generally, the Jumna the boundary of the British possessions north of Bundelcund, retaining such posts, and such an extent of country on the right bank of that river, as might appear to be necessary for the purposes of effectual defence.” The security of the British empire, must, he said, be derived from one or other of two sources; either, first, from establishing a controlling power over all the states of India; or, secondly, from the contentions and wars, sure to prevail among those states, if left to themselves, combined with efficient measures of defence on the part of the British government itself. With regard to the first of these sources, “such a system of control,” he observed, “must, in its nature, be progressive, and must ultimately tend to a system of universal dominion.” After this important observation, bearing so directly on Lord Wellesley's favourite scheme of subsidiary alliance, he added, “It must be obvious to your Lordship, that the prosecution of this system is inconsistent, not only with the provisions of the legislature, but with the general principles
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of policy which this government has uniformly professedBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. to maintain.” The line of the Jumna, he thought, might be rendered an effectual barrier against predatory incursions, or serious attack, by forming a chain of military posts on the banks of that river, from Calpee to the northern extremity of the British frontier, and retaining, for that purpose, upon the right bank of the Jumna, through the whole of that extent, a track of land, not exceeding, generally, eight or ten miles in breadth, subject to the operation of the British laws.

	2. To show that the faith was not binding which the British had pledged for the protection of various chiefs, the Governor-General employed the following argument: That the British government was not bound to keep in its own possession the territory in which these chiefs were situated, or on which they were dependent: And if it surrendered the territory, it dissolved the engagement which it had formed to protect them. Those particular persons, to whom pecuniary or territorial assignments had been promised, might be provided for by jaghires, in the territory held on the right bank of the Jumna.1



Early in the month of September, Holkar, with the main body of his army, moved from Ajmere, in a north-westerly direction, toward the country of the Seiks. He entered the Shekaotee, with about twelve thousand horse, a small body of ill-equipped infantry, and about thirty guns, of various calibres, most of them unfit for service. Skirting the country of the Rajah of Macherry, and the province of Rewarree, he proceeded to Dadree; where he left his infantry, guns, and about a thousand horse, under one of his chiefs. This chief, in conjunction with the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.Rajah of Neemrana, one of the districts to the south-west of Delhi, ceded to the British government by the treaty of peace with Scindia, proceeded to ravage the British territories. Holkar himself, with the main body of his cavalry, proceeded towards Patila, giving out his expectation of being joined by the chiefs of the Seiks, and even by the King of Caubul. The Commander-in-Chief took measures, with his usual promptitude, for not only defeating the schemes of the enemy, but rendering the desperate enterprise in which he had now engaged, the means of his speedy destruction. A force, consisting of three battalions and eight companies of native infantry, eight six-pounders, and two corps, exceeding two thousand, of irregular horse, with four galloper guns, was appointed to take up a position at Nernoul. Another force, consisting of three battalions of regular, and three of irregular, native infantry, with two thousand of the best irregular horse, was sent to Rewarree, where, aided by the troops of the Rajah of Macherry, it would maintain tranquillity, cut off the communication of the enemy with Ajmere and Malwa, and prevent him from retreating in the route by which he advanced. Major-General Jones, with the army under his command, received orders to advance towards the Shekaotee, with a view to secure the defeat of the enemy's infantry, and the capture of his guns; a loss which would not only sink his reputation, but deprive him of the means of subsisting his cavalry during the period of the rains. And the Commander-in-Chief, with the cavalry of the army, and a small reserve of infantry, proceeded from Muttra, about the middle of October to give chase to Holkar himself, in whatever direction he might proceed.1
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In the mean time, the negotiation between theBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. British government and Scindia was conducted, under the auspices of Lord Lake, on the part of Scindia, by Moonshee Kavel Nyne, on the part of the British government, by Lieutenant-Colonel Malcolm, the political agent of the Governor-General in the British camp. On the 23d of November, the treaty was concluded and signed. Of defensive, or any other, alliance, the name was not introduced. Of the treaty of peace, concluded through General Wellesley at Surjee Anjengaum, every part was to remain in force, except so much as should be altered by the present agreement. Gualior, and the greatest part of Gohud, were ceded; not, however, as due by the preceding treaty, but from considerations of friendship. The river Chumbul, as affording a distinct line of demarcation, was declared to be the boundary between the two states. Scindia renounced the jaghires and pensions, as well as the districts held as private property, for which provision in his favour was made in the preceding treaty. The British government agreed to allow to himself, personally, an annual pension of four lacs of rupees; and to assign jaghires to his wife and daughter, the first of two lacs, the second of one lac of rupees, per annum, in the British territories in Hindostan. It also engaged to enter into no treaties with the Rajahs of Oudepore, Jodepore, Kotah, and other chiefs, the tributaries of Scindia, in Malwa, Mewar or Merwar; and to interfere in no respect with the conquests made by Scindia from the Holkar family, between the rivers Taptee and Chumbul. The British government, high and mighty, held it fitting to insert an article in the treaty of peace, binding the Maharaja never to admit Sirjee Rao Gautka into his service or councils. “This article,”
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.says Colonel Malcolm, “was a complete vindication of our insulted honour.” Truckling to the master, you struck a blow at the servant, who, in no possible shape, was responsible to you; and this you were pleased to consider as a vindication of honour!

As this treaty appeared to the Governor-General to impose upon the British government the obligation of protecting the states and chieftains, north of the Chumbul, from Kotah to the Jumna, he insisted that two declaratory articles should be annexed, by which that inconvenience might be wholly avoided.

During the negotiations, which preceded the signature of this treaty, Lord Lake was marching in pursuit of Holkar. That chieftain, from the day on which the British General took the field, continued merely to fly before him. Totally disappointed in his hopes of assistance from the Seik chiefs, and reduced at last to the extremity of distress, he sent agents, with an application for peace, to the British camp. As the British commander had instructions to grant terms far more favourable than the enemy had any reason to expect, the negotiation was speedily terminated; and on the 24th of December, 1805, a treaty was signed at Raipoor Ghaut, on the banks of the river Beah, the ancient Hyphasis, to which Holkar had carried his flight. By this treaty, Holkar renounced all his rights to every place on the northern side of the Chumbul; all his claims on Koonah and Bundelcund, and upon the British government, or its allies; and agreed not to entertain Europeans in his service, without the consent of the British government. On these conditions, he was allowed to return to his own dominions; but by a route prescribed, and without injuring the territory of the British government, or its allies. The British government, on
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the other hand, agreed, not to interfere with any ofBOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. the possessions or dependancies of Holkar, south of the Chumbul; and to restore the forts and territories captured by the British forces on the southern side of the rivers Taptee and Godavery. An article was inserted, by which Holkar was bound never to admit Sirjee Rao Gautka into his council or service. This article, however, as well as the correspondent article in the treaty with Scindia, were, after a few months, annulled, in consequence of a report that Sirjee Rao Gautka was about to join Holkar. In such a case, those articles might have created an embarrassment; “which, agreeably,” says Sir John Malcolm, “to the policy of that day, it was deemed prudent to avoid.”

Sir George Barlow made an alteration in this treaty, as he did in that with Scindia, which was sent to him for confirmation. The territories of Holkar, north of the Chumbul, would involve the British government in expense and trouble, either to guarantee or to keep them: He, therefore, annexed a clause, for leaving them to Holkar.

Acting upon his determination to break loose from the engagements, formed with the minor states and chieftains, between the Mahratta frontier and the Dooab, the Governor-General disregarded the remonstrances which were made by the Commander-in-Chief, in favour, more especially, of the Rajah of Boondee, and the Rajah of Jyepore. Lord Lake represented, that the district of Boondee, though not material in point of extent, was highly important, as commanding a principal pass into the northern provinces of the British empire; that the Rajah, steady in his friendship, and eminent for his services to the British government, had excited the utmost rage of Holkar, to whom he was tributary, by the great aid which he had rendered to Colonel Monson, during
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.his retreat; and that neither justice, nor honour, allowed him to be delivered over to the vengeance of his barbarous foe. The resolution of the Governor-General remained unchangeable, and by the article which he annexed to the treaty with Holkar, that chief was set free to do what he would with the Rajah of Boondee.

The Rajah of Jyepore had entered into the system of defensive alliance with the British state, at an early period of the war with Scindia; but, for a time, showed himself little disposed to be of any advantage; and Cornwallis, by a letter to the Commander-in-Chief of the 3d of August, had directed the alliance to be treated as dissolved. At that time, however, the united armies of Scindia and Holkar were on the frontiers of Jyepore, and the Bombay army, which had marched to a place not far from the capital, was drawing most of its supplies from the territories of the Rajah. In these circumstances, Lord Lake, before the receipt of the letter of Lord Cornwallis, had encouraged the Rajah to found a claim for British protection on the services which it was now in his power to render. He had also prevailed upon Lord Cornwallis to suspend the dissolution of the alliance. When Holkar, during the month of October, passed to the north in the direction of Jyepore, Lord Lake had exhorted the Rajah to discharge the duties of a faithful-ally, under assurances of British protection; the Rajah, on his part, had joined the Bombay army under General Jones, and, by his aid, and the supplies derived from his country, had enabled that General to maintain a position of the greatest importance to the operations of the war; and if, according to expectation, Holkar had retreated in that direction, no doubt was entertained that effective assistance would have been received
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from the troops of the Rajah. In the opinion,BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. therefore, of the Commander-in-Chief, the Rajah of Jyepore, who was exposed to a speedy attack from both Scindia and Holkar, the moment that British protection was withdrawn, could not be left exposed to their rapacity and vengeance, without a stain upon the British name. These expostulations altered not the resolutions of Sir George Barlow, who considered the obligations of the British government as dissolved by the early appearances of disaffection on the part of the Rajah, and not restored by his subsequent deserts. He would not even listen to the Commander-in-Chief, requesting that he would defer the renunciation of the alliance till the time when Holkar, who was pledged by the treaty to return immediately to his dominions, should have passed the territories of the Rajah. On the contrary, he directed that the renunciation should be immediately declared, lest Holkar, in passing, should commit excesses, which, otherwise, it would be necessary for the British government to resent. Lord Lake was afterwards compelled to receive the bitter reproaches of the Rajah, through the mouth of one of his agents, at Delhi.

Regarding the treaties wich the Rajahs of Macherry and Bhurtpore, as still imposing obligations upon the British government, the Governor-General directed the Commander-in-Chief to enter into a negotiation with them; and to offer them considerable accessions of territory as a return for their consent to the dissolution of the alliance. But Lake, apprehending that even the rumour of any such intention on the part of the British government would again set loose the powers of uproar and destruction in that part of India, represented his apprehensions in such alarming colours, that Sir George, though he
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.declared his resolution unchanged, disclaimed any desire for precipitation; and the Rajahs of Bhurtpore and Macherry, with the chiefs in their vicinity, were not at that time, deprived of the protection of the British power.1

It remains, that the finanical results of the operations of government from the close of the first administration of the Marquis Cornwallis, till the present remarkable era, should now be adduced. As regards the British nation, it is in these results that the good or evil of its operations in India is wholly to be found. If India affords a surplus revenue which can be sent to England, thus far is India is wholly to be found. If India affords a surplus revenue which can be sent to England, thus far is India beneficial to England. If the revenue of India is not equal to the expense of governing India, then is India a burthen and a drain to England. This is only an application of the principle, according to which the advantage or disadvantage of new territory, in general, is to be estimated. If the new territory increases the revenue more than the charges, it is advantageous; if it increases the charges in proportion to the revenue, it is hurtful. It is also to be observed, that the interest and redemption of the money expended in making the acquisition must be taken into the account. If it has been made by a war, for example; the whole expense of the war must be taken into the account. And the new territory must increase the revenue beyond the charges in a degree adequate to the interest and redemption of the whole sum expended in the war, otherwise the acquisition is a positive loss. If the
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.surplus of the revenue were the same after the acquisition as before, the whole expense of the war would be lost; the nation would not be the richer for the acquisition, but the poorer; it would have been its wisdom to have abstained from the war, and to rest contented with the territory which it possessed. If the revenue, after the acquisition, is lessened in proportion to the charge; if the surplus of the revenue is diminished, or the deficit enlarged; in that case, the loss is not confined to that of the whole expense of the war; it is all that, and more; it is the expense of the war, added to the sum by which the balance of the annual receipt and expenditure is deteriorated.

With this principle in view, the following statements will require but little explanation.

In the year 1793-4, the revenues in India amounted to 8,276,770l.; the whole of the charges, including supplies to the outlying settlements, and the interest of debts, amounted to 6,633,951l. There was consequently a surplus of revenue to the amount of 1,642,819l.

But this favourable appearance was the result of merely temporary causes; for in the course of four years, though years of peace, and with an economical ruler, it gradually vanished; and in the year 1797-8, when the administration of Marquis Wellesley commenced, there was a deficit of revenue, or a surplus of charge. The revenues amounted to 8,059,880l.; the charges and interest to 8,178,626l.; surpassing the revenues by 118,746l.

The evil was prodigiously increased by the administration of Marquis Wellesley; after all the subsidies which he obtained, and all the territory which he added to the British dominions. In the year 1805-6, in which he closed his administration, the revenues amounted to 15,403,409l.; charges and interest
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Such, at the three different periods under comparison, was the state of the government of India, in respect to income and expenditure. Let us consider what was the condition of the Company at the same three periods in respect to debts both at home and in India. In 1793, the debts, both at interest and floating, as they appear upon the face of the Company's accounts, were, in England, 7,991,078l.;2 in India 7,971,665l.; total 15,962,743l. In 1797, the debts in England were 7,916,459l.; in India 9,142,733l.; total 17,059,192l. In 1805, they were 6,012,196l. in England, and 25,626,631l. in India, in all 31,638,827l.

In estimating the finanical condition of a great government, the annual receipt, as compared with the annual expenditure, and the debt, where debt is incurred, are the only circumstances, usually, which are taken into reckoning, and make up the account. The goods and effects in hand, which are necessary for the immediate movements of the machine, and in the course of immediate consumption, justly go for nothing; since if any part of them is taken away it must be immediately replaced, and cannot form a
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Departing from this appropriate rule, the East India Company has availed itself of its mercantile capacity, to bring forward regularly a statement of assets, as a compensation for its debts. This, however, is objectionable, on a second account; because, according to the mode in which this statement is framed, it may exhibit at pleasure, either a great or a small amount. Some of the principal articles have hardly any marketable value; could produce little, if the Company were left to dispose of them to the best advantage; yet the rulers of the Company assign to them any value which seems best calculated to answer their designs. Houses, for example, warehouses, forts, and other buildings, with their furniture, constitute a large article; set down at several times the value probably at which they would sell. Debts due to the Company, and arrears of tribute, form another material ingredient; of which a great proportion is past recovery. A specimen of the made, in which the account of assets is made up, may be seen in the following fact: that 1,733,328l., as due by the public for the expedition to Egypt, was continued in the Bengal accounts as an asset, after the expense had been liquidated in England; and upwards of 2,000,000l. due to the Company by the Nabob of Arcot, and Rajah of Tanjore, is continued in the Madras accounts as an asset, though virtually remitted and extinguished upon assuming the territory of the Carnatic.1

The account of assets, therefore, exhibited by the East India Company, deserves very little regard, in
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.forming an estimate of the financial situation of the government of India. Being, however, uniformly adduced, as an article of importance in the Company's accounts, its presence is thus rendered necessary here. As the Committee of the House of Commons, formed in 1810, instituted a comparison between the account of assets and debts, for the period of 1793, and the latest period to which their inquiries could extend, there will be an advantage in taking the same periods for the subject of that view of the assets which is here required. That Committee entered into a slight examination of the statement exhibited by the East India Company of assets in India, and by making certain large, though far from sufficient deductions, reduced the amount of it nearly one half. Unhappily they did not carry even the same degree of scrutiny into the statement of assets at home, and took it pretty nearly as made up by the Company. According to their adjustments the balance is exhibited thus:









	Debts, 1792-3.	Assets, 1792-3.




	1 The difference between this and the debt for that year, as stated in the accounts, arises from the sum of 2,992,440l. East India Annuities transferred to the Bank, excluded by the Committee from the Company's accounts.




	Home....£7,991,0781
	Home....£9,740,832

	India.... 7,992,548	India.... 3,800,838

	Total debts 15,983,626	Total assets 13,541,670

	13,541,670	

	£2,441,956,	the amount by which at the first period the debts exceeded the supposed assets.












	Debts, 1809-10.	Assets, 1809-10.




	1 






	Goods and Stores in India in 1810, bought in England, not included in the account of assets....	£2,249,060

	Balance in favour of the Company at China, in 1810....	1,306,606

	Ditto at St. Helena....	147,628

	Ditto Prince of Wales Island....	215,786

	Ditto Cape of Good Hope....	14,085

	To be added to amount of assets	£3,933,165








	2 For the above statements, see Third Report, ut supra, p. 368; Fourth Report, ut supra, p. 450.




	Home....	10,357,088	Home....	14,504,944

	India....	28,897,742	India....	12,222,010

		39,254,830		26,726,954

		30,660,119	Add sundries as per note1	3,933,265

		£8,594,711	

	the amount by which at the second period the debts exceeded the supposed assets.2		£30,660,119
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To this sum is to be added 2,027,295l., not derived from any intrinsic source either at home or abroad, but subscribed in England in 1793, and 1794, for the addition of one million which the Company was empowered to make to its capital by the new charter of 1793.

The whole of the moneys which have passed into the Company's treasury for capital stock, amounts to the sum of 7,780,000l. This remains to be added to the debtor side of its account. The total, then, of the sums on the debtor side of the account at the period in question, viz. the year 1809-10, was 47,034,830l., surpassing the whole of its assets by the sum of 16,374,711l.
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. Upon the statements by which was exhibited the financial condition of the Company at the close of the administration of Marquis Wellesley, it may be justly remarked, that the expenditure at that time was an expenditure of war, and that the ratio between the ordinary revenues, and a war expenditure, affords not a just view of the financial effects which his administration produced.

Let us take the statements for 1808-9, the last of the years for which we have the aid of the Committee of 1810, in unravelling the confusion, and removing the obscurity, of the Company's accounts. The government of India had at this time enjoyed three years of uninterrupted peace; when the financial effects of the administration which closed in 1805 may be supposed to be sufficiently ascertained. In that year the revenues amounted to 15,525,055l.; the charges, including supplies to out lying settlements, and the interest of debts, amounted to 15,551,097l.; constituting a surplus of charge to the amount of 26,042l. This was a great reduction from 2,268,608l., the excess of charge in 1805; it was even somewhat less than 118,746l., the excess of charge in 1798; but far was this from being a state of receipt adequate to pay the interest and redeem the capital of that enormous sum expended by the wars to which the administration of Marquis Wellesley had given birth. The debts, as they appear upon the face of the accounts were, in England 10,357,088l. in 1810; in India 30,876,788l. in 1809, which was the last year of which the Committee had received the accounts. The sum of debts was therefore 41,233,876l.; being an addition to the sum of the debts existing in 1805, of little less than 10,000,000l.1
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Among the accounts from the East India Company which are annually presented to Parliament, is an account entitled stock by computation. This consists of the debts of the Company, including every acknowledged claim, on the one side; of the whole of their disposable effects, on the other. On the credit side of this account is placed all the property which has been already spoken of under the name of assets, excepting the greater part of what stands under the name of dead stock, and has little real, though set down by the Company at a great imaginary value, fixed at the pleasure of those who determine the shape of the accounts. The Committee of 1810 have given the results which this document presents.

On the 1st of March, 1793, the debts were less than the effects; in other words, there was a balance in favour of the concern, to the amount of 1,956,866l. On the 1st of March, 1810, the debts were greater than the effects; in other words, there was a balance against the concern, to the amount of 6,025,505l. This constitutes a deterioration during the intermediate period, amounting to 7,982,371l. To this the same Committee of 1810 add the money raised for capital stock in 1793 and 1794; and after some other adjustments exhibit the deterioration in those seventeen years at 11,062,591l.1

To the balance of 6,025,505l. against the Company in 1810 are to be added the sums received for capital stock, amounting as above to 7,780,000l.; exhibiting on the debit side of the Company's account, a balance of 13,805,505l.; in other words, an amount to that extent, of legitimate claims, which there is nothing whatsoever in the shape of property to meet.

As the operations of the Company are two-fold,
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805.those of government and those of commerce, it is a question whether the unfavourable result which appears on the comparison of the accounts of stock in the year 1793, and 1810, was produced by the government, or the commerce. This question the Committee in 1810 make an attempt to answer. Beside the charges which clearly belong to the government, and those which clearly belong to the commerce, there are some, of which it is doubtful whether they belong to the government or the commerce. The charges which the Committee represent as clearly belonging to the government exceed the receipts by 6,364,931l. Besides this amount there is a sum of 6,875,350l., which they represent as doubtful, whether it belongs to the government or the commerce. This constitutes an unfavourable balance, to the amount of 13,240,281l. Exclusive of these doubtful charges, there is a profit upon the goods purchased and sold, or, the commercial transactions of the period, to the amount of 14,676,817l. Out of this was paid the dividends upon stock, and the interest upon debt in England, amounting to 12,515,284l.; after which remained a surplus, in aid of government, to the amount of 2,164,533l.; reducing the unfavourable balance of 13,240,281l. as above, to 110,758, the net deterioration of the period.1

The Committee exhibited an account which was intended to show how much England gained or lost by India (not including China), during the period of seventeen years from 1793 to 1810. During that period the value of property sent by England to India is stated at 43,808,341l.; the value received by England from India is stated at 42,178,640l. England therefore lost 1,629,701l.2
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We have a statement by the Court of Directors, which supplies the omission of China. In the year 1808, the financial distresses of the Company compelled the Directors to apply to parliament for relief. To lay a ground for the application they submitted an exposition of the state of the Company's finances at home and abroad. In this exposition is contained a statement of the sums disbursed in England on account of India and China, and of all the property received from them in return, beginning with the year 1797-8, and ending with the year 1806-7. During that interval, England sent to India and China, value more than it received from them, to the amount of 5,691,619l.1

The peace which terminated the war with the Mahrattas, a few months after the period of Lord
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BOOK VI. Chap. 13. 1805. Wellesley's administration, is the last great epoch, in the series of British transactions in India. With regard to subsequent events, the official papers, and other sources of information, are not sufficiently at command. Here, therefore, it is necessary that, for the present, this History should close.


THE END
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[For Indian Terms and Titles not to be foudn in this Index, consult the GLOSSARY prefixed to Vol. I.]


	Abbas, Persian Shah, conquers Candahar, Vol. II. 321.

	Abbas, the Second, declares hostilities against Aurungzebe, for omitting a title in addressing him, 855. Dies, before his projects are carried into effect, 357.

	Abdalla, Usbeck, his rovolt, II. 301.

	Abdallees. See Ahmed Abdalla, their founder.

	Abdoolla, Cojah, appointed to the govenment of Carnatic, but poisoned before he takes possession, III. 88.

	Abdoolla Kahn, Seud, Governor of Allahabad. See Hussun.

	Abercromby, General, Governor of Bombay, takes the field and subdues Cannanore, V. 296. Ascends the on Seringapatam, 352. Joins Lord Cornwallis there, 375.

	Abington, major, his defence of Tellicherry, III. 204.

	Ablution, nature of, as performed by the Brahmens, I. 434.

	Aboabs, species of revenue impost, abolished, III. 465.

	Abstract ideas, personification and worship of, I. 336. Formed at a very early period of society, II. 70.

	Abu Becker, killed after a reign of eighteen months, II, 268.

	Abyssinian horse, two thousand constantly attendant on the person of Hyder Ali, IV. 152.

	Accounts, East India Committe o, its functioins, III. 6.

	Accusations, said, by Mr. Law, if not proved, to be calumnies, V. 134.

	Acosta, on the tenure of land in India, vol. VI. quoted, I. 259, note. On the immense stones in the buildings of the Incas, II. s, note. On the Indian mode of watering land, 27, note. On the skill of the natives of Mexico and Peru in the use of their rude tools, 29. On the care of the Mexicans in the instruction of their youth, 106, note.

	Adad, title of the chief of the Assyrian delties, held by ten kings in succession, I. 336, note.

	Addison, story by, of a German doctor mistaking a quarry for a subterranean palace, II. 5, note.

	Adulation, proneness of the the Hindus to, I. 401. Amusing instances of, ibid. note.

	Adultery, held by the Hindu lawgivers as the greatest of cirmes, I. 232.

	Afghauns, their temperte modes of liveing and great bodily strength, I. 412, note., Their subtleness in metalphysics, II. 70. Originally mountaineers of Gaur, 227. Their dynasties, 230, 249. Proclaim one of their tribe king of India from his personal resemblance to Sultan Suja, 368. their chiefs treacherously murdered at an entertainment given by the Governor of Peshawir, ibid. Invade Persia, and are driven out oof it again, 399. Nearly extirmineated by nadir, 400. Join the Rohillas and take Rohilcund, 410. Their character as soldiers of fortune, III. 97. Their teritories, VI. 154. Rumour of anivasion of India by the king of, ibid.

	Africans. See Park, Mungo.
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Agatharchides, his account of the immense riches of the Sabians, II. 183, note.

	Agra, subdueed by Scindia, V. 15.

	Agriculture, progress of the Hindus in, II, 22. Skill of the Peruvians in, 26, note. Duties of, made by Zoroaster a part of his religion, ibid. note. Chinese agriculture, 193.

	Agnew, Colonel, one of a diplomatic committee, empowered to act in the war with Tippoo Saib, VI. 102.

	Ahmed Abdallee, Afghaun chief, and founder of the Abdallees, account of, II. 407. After other exploits, takes Lahore and plunders Sirhind, 408. His career stopped by the explosion of a magazine of rockets and ammunitiion, 409. Avenges the cause of the mother of Meer Munnoo, and takes Delhi, 416. Opposed by the Seiks and Maharattas, loses his provinces of Lahore and Multan, 419. Defeats in two battles, and nearly destroys, in Mahratta army, 420. Places aAlee Gohur on the throne of Delhi and retries to Cabul, 422. Further mention of, III. 159, 161, 590.

	Ahmed, Deccan soverign, reign of, II. 307.

	Ahmed Khaqn Bungush, chief of Furruckabad, joins the party of gazee ad Dien, II. 417.

	Ahmed, Hodgee, account of, III. 139.

	Ahmed Shah, succeds his father, Mahomed Shah, II. 409. His reign chiefly occupied by the incursions of the Rohillas and Abdallee Afghauns, 410. His person seized by his Vizir, and a son of Jehander set up in his stead, 414.

	Ahmendabad, taken by Goddard, IV. 47, 48.

	Ahmedabad Beder, kingdom in Deccan, founded by Ameer Bereed, II. 310.

	Ahmednugger, formed into a province of the Mogul empire, II. 311. Division of its sovercignty between Mallek Umber and Rajoo Minnaup, 327. Fort of, taken by General Wellesley, VI. 427.

	Ajeet Sing, forms an alliance with JEysing, and slackens in obdeience to Shah Aulum, II. 377. Being invited to court to act against the Seyd broghers, joins their party, 391.

	Akbar, the first who coined gold and siliver for circulatioin in India, II. 183. Account of his early years, 294. His generous treatment of a captive Vizir, 297. Instances of his generous counduct after ascenmding the throne, 299. Rebellions with which he had to conted, 301. Berar ceded to him, 310. Adds Ahmednugger to his empire, 311. His death, 312.

	Akbar, youngest son of Aurungzbe, intentions of his father to make him his successor, II. 350. Revolts, 369. Departs from the Mabratta country for Persia, 371.

	Alee Gobur, for an asylum against Gazee ad Dien, betakes himself to the English in Bengal, II. 417.

	Alexander, his expeditiion not known to the Hindus, I. 145. His conquests in India, II. 208.

	Algebra, Hindu knowledge of, derived from the Greeks, II. 125, 126, note. Sanscreet Algebra. See Colebrooke.

	Algebraic signs, question of their origin examined, II. 100.

	Ali Jah, son of nizam Ali, his revolt, VI. 31.

	Ali Mahomed Khan, fouunder of the power of the Rohillas, account of, II. 405. Districts under his authority, 407. Dies, 409.

	Ali Mirza Mahomed, account of, III. 139.

	Aliverdi Khan, his early exploits in Bahar and Bengal, III. 140. His intrepid attack of the Mahrattas, and glorious retreat, 142. Drives the Mahrattas several times from his dominons, ibid. Dies at an advanced age, 145. Policy of his conduct in quelling rebellion, 338.

	Alla, nephew of Feroze, his first invasion of Deccan, II. 251. Murders or imprisons nearly the whole family of his uncle, 252. His farther invasions of Deccan, 254. Dies, 256.

	Alla, Hussan, account of, previous to his ascending the throne, II. 266. The founder of the Bhamenee dynasty, 266. Character of his reign, 267.

	Alla, son Mahomed, resigus the Throne of Delhi, and accepts the government of Budaoon, II. 279.

	Alla, son of ahmed, sovereign in Deccan, reign of, II. 308.
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Allahabad, fortress of, taken by the English, III. 360. Ceded to the Emperor, 363. Sold by the English to the Nabob of Oude, 502.

	Allah, Major, sent to Tippoo Saib and his family, to urge the policy of their surrender, Vi. 117.

	Alliance, defensive, Marquis Wellesley's account of the benefits arising from, VI. 452. His account investigated, 455. Opinion of Lord Cornwallis concerning the system of such alliances, 520.

	Allighur, batttle of, VI> 410. Fort of, taken by the English, ibid.

	Alorus, Chaldean King, extent of his reign, I. 142.

	Alphabet of the Hindus, letters of, hiroglyphics, II. 100, note.

	Amantas, sciences taught by, in the Peruvian schools, II. 106, note.

	Amar Sinka, Prince of Odepore, his contests with the army of Jehangire, II. 315.

	Amboyna, claim of the Dutch to, by priority of occupancy, I. 39. Trial and execution of Captain Towerson and other Englishmen at, 46. Torture practised by the Dutch at, on occasion of those trials, 48. Emotions excited in England, in consequence of the Dutch cruelties, 50. Commissioners appointed to adjust the claims of the two nations and prescribe satisfaction for the massacres, 71. Amount of the award to the heirs of the sufferers, 72. Dutch settlements at, taken by the English, VI. 60.

	Amer Sing, Rajah of Tanjore, dethroned by teh English, VI. 267. Dies, 300.

	Amonians, considered the cow as sacred and oracular, I. 267.

	Amusements, nature of those of the Hindus, I. 414.

	Amyat, Mr. chief of the English factory at Patna, III. 255. Dissatisfied with the appointment of Vansittart to the Presidency of Bengal, 274. Sent on a mission to Meer Causim, 301. On his return, refusing to be stopped, is killed in the struggle, 304.

	Ananapore, English accused of cruelty in the reduction, IV. 231.

	Anatomy, practice of, carefully avoided by the Hindus, II. 102, note.

	Andercron, Colonel, charged with setting fire unnecessarily to the town of Wandewash, III. 179.

	Anderson, Dr. on the subject of a fre trade to India, quoted, I. 78, note.

	Anderson, Mr. David, examined on the trial of Mr. Hastings, V. 159.

	Anglo-Saxons, punishments observed by, I. 218, note, 222. rudeness and indelicacy practised by, 398 note. Language of, said to be taht spoken by Adam and Eve in Paradise, II. 83.

	Angria, Mahratta pirate, account of, III. 152.

	Animals, superstitious estimation in which they were held by the Hindus and other nations, I. 367, 403.

	Anstruther, Mr. sums up the first charge on the trial of MR. Hastings, V. 96, 100. Proceeds on the charge relating to presents, 141.

	Anunderauz, Rajah, expedition against the Cirears undertaken at his instigatiion, III. 249.

	Anwar and Dien, Nabob of Carnatic, marches against Madras and is defeated by the French, III. 65. abandons the English and makes peace with the French, 69. Suspected as the murderer of Seid Mahomed, 88. Slain in battle at the advanced age of 107 years, 01.

	Appeal, courts of. See Courts.

	Appendix to Mr. Hastings trial, V. 231. Comments on the Report of the Committee of the House of COmmons contained in it, 248.

	Approximate signs, Hindus acquainted wiht, but ignorant of the principles of the operation, II. 98.

	Aqueducts, skill of the Indians in, II. 25, note.

	Arabians, progress of, in science, II. 68. Their algebraic signs, 100.

	Arabs, opinions of several authors respecting, II. 140.

	Arachne, clebrated by the Greeks and Romans as the place where weaving was invented, II. 18.

	Araucaninas, names given to the Supreme Being by, 1, 291, note.

	Aravarcourchy, reduced by the English, IV. 240.

	Arbitration, greater part of Hindu lawsuits determined by, I, 246, note. 202
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Archangel, consequences of its first discovery by Chancellour, I. 6.

	Arches, Hindus ignorant of, till they learned the construction from their Moslem conquerors, II. 13.

	Architecture of the Hindus, II. 10. Of other rude nations, 12.

	Arcot, taken by the English under Clive, III. 108. Taken by the French under Lally, 204. Retaken by teh English, 226. Taken by Hyder Ali, IV. 176. Attempts of the English to recover it, 185. For Noibobs of, see Doost Ali, Anwar ad Dien, Mahomed Ali, and Omdut ul Omrah.

	Argaum, battle of, VI. 435

	Ariancopang, English wholly ignorant of it, when attacking Pindicherry, III. 72.

	Arikera, battle of, V. 323.

	Aristotle, quoted on the divison of nations into classes, I. 174, note. On the subject of legislaton, VI. 226, note.

	Arithmetical character, inquiry by whom invented, II. 99.

	Armegum, factory established at, by the east India Company, I. 53.

	Armenians, as agents, preferred by the east India Company, to their own servants, I. 109.

	Army, East Indian, mutiny in, at Bombay, I. 97, 102. Mutiny in, at patna, III. 309. Stations of, on the conclusion of the war with Suja Dowla, 372. Discontent of the officers of, in consequence of the reduction of military allowance, 393. Consipiracy, the result of this measure, defeated, 377.

	Arnee, atttempt of the English to reduce it, unsuccesful, IV. 216.

	Arracan, Rajah of, betrays Suja, who had sought refuge in his kingdom, II. 348.

	Arsacides, dynasty of, changed, II. 211.

	Arts, man, in a state of nature, governed in is invention of, by his wants, II. 2. The hindus clebrated only for three, architecture, weaving, and jewellery, 3, 458. State of the fine arts with the Hindus, 33. In the arts of architecture and weaving, the Hindus inferior to the Mahomedans, 458.

	Asaph, Governor of Corah, his revolt against Akbar, II. 301.

	Asiph Jah, brother to the Sultana, Noor Mahl, made Vizir by Jehangire, II. 325. His attempt to recover Jehangire when taken by Mohâbet, 332. Enters into the plans of Mohâbet against Jehangire, 324. Appointed Vizir to Shah Jehan, ibid.

	Assada merchants, what, I. 68. Petition against joint-stock mangaement, 72.

	Assall, ground-rents in India so denominated, II. 465.

	Assam, account of the country and its inhabitants, II. 200.

	Assye, battle of, VI. 429.

	Astrology, attachement of the Hindus to, I. 421. From whom their astrology was borrowed, II. 126, and note.

	Astronomie Indienne, by M. Bailly, character of the work, II. 86. Further examination of it, 110–125.

	Astronomy, knowledge of the Hindus in, disputed, II. 86. Hindu book of, a proof of their want of skill in the science, 89. Astronomy the first science cultivated by a rude people, ibid. note, 90. In what respect the astronomy of the Hindus resembles that of other nations, 94, 96, note Arguments for the antiquity of the Hindu astronomy examined, 110. Studied by the Hindus for astrological purpose, 126.

	Atkinson, Mr. Richard, Alderman, agent to Benfield, V. 24. Courted by the minister, ibid. Manages a general election, 25.

	Avarice, vice of the Hindus, I. 416.

	Accounted for, 417, note.

	Avatars, or incarnations of Vishnu, account of, I. 299.

	Aulum, Shah, son of Aurungzebe, See Mauzin.

	Aulum the Second, last of the Mogul emperors, ends his days a pensioner of English merchants, Ii. 422. See further Shazada.

	Aulumgeer the Second, raised to the throne by Gazee and Dien, Ii. 415. His capital taken by the chief of the Abdallees, 416. taken again by his revolted Vizir, to whom he owed his throne, 417. Assassinated by an agent of the Vizir, 419, III. 260.

	Aulum gir, title assumed by Aurungzebe, meaning of II. 344.
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Aum or Om, meaning of, in the religion of the Hindus, I, 433.

	Aungier, Indian President, power given to, by the Company, I. 98.

	Auriol, Mr. examined on the trial of Mr. Hastings, V. 198.

	Aurung, manufacturing towns in India so denominated, II. 13.

	Aurungzebe, nearly effects the expulsion of the English from the western side of India, I. 107. commands an army successfully against the Rajah of Bundelcund, at the early age of thirteen years, II. 330. Appointed to the command of the army in Deccan, 332. Subdues the Usbecks, 334. besieges Golconda, and marries his son to the king's beautiful daughter, 335. Defeats the King of Beejapore, 337. Expedients employed by him for obtaining the succession during his father's illness, 339. Defeats his brothers, Dara and Suja, 341. On the recovery of his father, intrigues against and makes him his prisoner, 348. Seizes his brother Morâd, whom he had intoxicated for the purpose, and sends him in custody to Agra, ibid. Ascends the throne and assumes the title of Aulum gîr, or conqueror of the world, 344. Defeats Suja, 345. His further proceeding against Dara, who is taken bu him and murdered, 346. Imprisons Suja and Solimân, his son, 348. His prudent economy during a famine, 349. Court intrigues during his illness,, 350. Acts the part of an enchanter, 353. Saying of his respecting religion in princes and people, 354. Endangers his throne by omitting a title in an address to the Shah of Persia, 355. His conduct to Savagee, the origin of the Mahratta war, 363. His war with the Patans of Afghauns, 368. Projects the forcible conversion of the Hindus, 369. Provokes a war with the rajpoots of Ajmere and and Malwa, ibid. Resolves on the final reduction of the Mahomedan kingdomds of Deccan, Golconda, and Bejapore, 370. His death, 373. Situation of his several søns, 374.

	Azeem ul Dowla, heir to the throne of Arcot, the right taken from him by the English, VI. 295. Inconsitency of the words of the traty by which its is effected, 397. Dies, 300

	Azim Ooshaun, son of Shah Aulum, on the death of Aurungzebe, gets posession of Agra,, II. 374. Assumes the sceptre on the death of his fatehr, 380. conquered by his brothers and drowned with his elephant, 382. Further mention of, II. 138.

	Azim Sahah, in a contest for the sucession is slain, as well as his two cldest sons, II. 375. Further mention of, III. 139.



	Baber, account of his expoits previously to his ascending the throne of Delhii, II, 284 Begins the Mogul dynasty, 286. Having conquered Bahar, dies, 287.

	Baboo, Siccaram, charged with being chief of the party in the assassination of Madhoo Row, Mahratta Peshwa, III. 531. Applies for the assistance of the English in behalf of Ragoba, IV. 30. His party in Poonah overpowered by that of Nana Furnavese, 34.

	Babylon, its antiquity, I, 134. Its Buildings, II, 10, and note. Its tissues, 17, and note.

	Bactria, account of, II. 209, 210, note, 212.

	Bahar, added to the Mahomedan dominions, II. 234. Taken by Baber, 287.

	Bahram-gîr, claim of the Hindus to him and his descendapts, II. 152.

	Bajeeraow, General of Sahogee, joins the Mahrattas against the Imperial army, II. 396.

	Baille, Colonel, recalled from Guntoor, IV. 154. Defeats Tippoo Saib, in a desperate conflict near Perambsucum, 161. Is defeated in turn, 162. His gallant stand with a small force against the whole host of Hyder's army, 165. Obliged to surrender, 167.

	Bailment, Transactions included under, in English law, I, 201. Hindu law of, ibid.

	Baird, Major-General, leads the storming party at seringapatam, VI. 112.
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Instance of his generous conduct to the captive sons of Tippoo, by whom he bad been cruelly trated, 120.

	Bâker Ali, Governor of Velore, II. 85.

	Balagee, Kiswanath, Mahratta Peshwa, account of, III. 526.

	Balin, sovereign of Delhi, account of II. 241. Character of his reign, ibid His court the most polite and mangnificent in the wordl, 242. Subdues a dangerous Rebellion in Bengal, 244. His death hastened by grief for the loss of a favourite son, 245.

	Ballot, voting by, where useful und where injurious, III. 451.

	Bancoote, taken by the English, III. 153.

	Banda, isles of, claimed exclusively by the Dutch. I. 51. Taken by the English, VI. 60.

	Banda, prophet of the Seiks, account of, II. 379, 388.

	Bangelore, siege and capture of, by the English, V. 317–320.

	Bangor, Monastery of, its astoushing extent, II. 187, note.

	Bank of England, prevalence of oligarchy in its constituion, III. 6, note.

	Bankipore, contonments of, burned down, during a conspiracy of some Englsih officers, III. 375.

	Bantqam, first settlement of the English at, I. 37. English establishment at 56. Raised to the rank of a presidency, 59. English expelled from, 101.

	Banyan, nature of his office, III. 13. Law violated in favour of the Banyan of Mr. Hastings, 568, 569.

	Bargains, evidence to prove corruption in making, why excluded on Mr. Hastings trial, V. 154.

	Barker, Sir Robert, instrumental in negotiating a treaty between the Rohillas and Nabob of Oude, III. 493. Sento assist the Subahdar of Oude Against the Mahrattas, 498.

	Barlow, Sir George, succeeds marquis Cornwallis, as Governor-General, VI. 533. Adheres to the resolutions of his predecessor with regard to the minor princes of the Mahratta frontier, 534.

	Barnet, Commodore, Commander of the English fleet in India, died at Fort St. David, III, 57.

	Baroach, Nabaob of, English expedition against, III. 534. Traty with, 535. Ruin of, ibid. The place given up to Scindia by the english, IV. 37.

	Barrow, Mr. on the tenure of land, quoted, I. 260, note, 277, note. On the payment of taxes in kind in ful stone quarries neqar Canton, II. 5, On the game of Chess, 41, note, On the panegyrical accounts of the Chinese by popish missionaries, 137, note. On the Chinese agriculture and roads, 193. On the architecture of the Chinese, 195. On the Chinese inns, 198, note.

	Bartolomeo, on the abject state of Indian wives, quoted, I. 388, note.

	Barwell, Mr. appointed by parliament one of the members of the first Supreme Council in India, III. 457, 518. Sides with Mr. Hastings in the question of NUndcomar, 561. With draws his name from the prosection of Nundcomar, 562. Departs for Europe, IV. 54.

	Bassalut Jung, made Governor of Adoni, III. 188. Joins the French, 219. Having been appointed Subahdar of Deccan, is dethroned by his brother, 399. Guntoor assigned as a jahire to him, 403. Confers the nabobship of Sera on Hyder Ali, 415. Transactions of the English respecting his jahire, IV. 132. Compelled by the threats of his brother and Hyder Ali to break off all correspondence with the English, 149. His death, V. 259.

	Bassein, seized by the English, III. 537. Ceded by Ragoba to the English, 538. By the treaty of Poonah, relinquised, 369. Taken by Goddard, IV. 260. Treaty of, between the English and the Peshwa of the Mahrattas, VI. 328. Objections of Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar to the treaty, 373. Benefits flowing to the english from the treaty examined, 377. Investigation of the treaty as to other points, 379, et seq. Statement of profit and loss by the treaty, 392.

	Batavia, founded by the dutch, I. 53.

	Becher, Mr. states the sums received by the English for the dethronement of Suraja Dowla, III. 165.

	Beder, enlarged and beautified by Ahmed,
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II. 308. Kingdom of, destroyed, 310.

	Bednore, taken by Hyder, Ali, III. 416. Taken by the English, IV. 230. Retaken by Tippoo Saib, 233. r

	Beecher, Mr. Member of the Select Committee at Calcutta, III. 165.

	Beejapore, kingdom in Deccan, by whom founded, II. 310. second king of, defeated by Aurungzebe, 337. His general treacherously stabbed by Sevagee, 360. Loses several districts, and is compelled to pay tribute to the Mahrattas, 364. Town of, taken by Aurungzebe and the King delivered up to him, 371.

	Begun, Bhow, curious circumstance relating to her, VI. 227.

	Begums of Oude, account of, IV. 375. Agreement between the Nabob and Mr. Hastings to plunder them, ibid Pretext for this measure, 376. Condemned and punished before trial, 3381. Their treasure seized, 393. Their Eunuchs tortured, 395. Further trnasactions relative to the Begums, 418. Decision of the court of Directors, 420. Their jaghires restored to them, 440. Conduct of Mr. Hastings towards them, one of the articles in his impeachment, V. 62.

	Bellccombe, M. his gallant defence of Pondicherry, IV. 142.

	Beloli, account of, previous to his ascending the throne, II. 279. Taken from his mother's womb after her death, 280. His character 281.

	Beloil, Mahomed, great grandfather of Hyder Ali, account of, III. 405.

	Belus, sepulchre, of, II. 10.

	Benares, Cheyte Sing, Rajah of, his connexion with the English East India Company, IV. 315. Demands made on him by Mr. Hastings, 327. ustice of Mr. Hastings's in consequence of his arrest, 340. Escapes from his guards, 342. Proceedings against him, 343. His conduct after his essape, 345. Is deposed, 348 His wife, mother, and princesses of his house shamefully treated and plundered, 353. Sentiments of the Court of Directors respecting his treatment, 554. Protected by Scindia and appointed to a command in his army, V. 15.

	Benares, meeting at, of Mr. Hastings and the Nabob of Oude, III. 488. New government framed for, IV. 346. Deplorable state of, as expressed by Mr. Hastings in a subsequent visit, 439. Deputy of dismissed, and his predecessor imprisoned by Mr. Hastings, ibid.

	Benfield, Paul, his situation at Madras, as one of the servants of the East India Company, and money agent, IV. III. With a salary only of a few hundreds a year, pretends to have advanced 234,000l. to the Nabob of Tanjore and other, 112. His claim rejected by the government of Madras, 113. Further discussion of hid claim, ibid. His character, 447. claim, ibid. His character, 447. His intrigues with the Nabob of Arcot to impede the collection of the revenue, ibid. Sends eight memebers to parliament, V. 24. Sums gained by him, 26. Lord Macartney's opinion of his conduct in India, 32, note.

	Bengal, first important privileges obtained by the English in, I. 70. Agency by the East India company first established in, 98. First war of the English with the native powers in, 105. The inhabitants of, characterized as perfect in timidity, 407. Added to the Mahomedan dominions, II. 234. Invaded by an army of Mogul Tartars, 238. rebellion in, by Tughril, subdued by Balin, 244. Government of, usurped by Shere the Afghaun, 288. Proceedings of Akbar against, 303. Invaded from the kingdom of Assam, 332. Ivaded by the Rajah of Arracan, 354. proceedings in under Shah Aulum, Jaffier Khan, and Feroksere, III. 26. State of, under Suraja Dowla, 138. Englsih government of, remodelled, 244. English expedition from, to drive the French out of the Northern Curcars, 218, 248. Invaded by the Nabobs of Oude and Allahabead, 253. Large reinforcements sent to the Dutch settlements in, defeated by the English, 257. Political state of, in 1760, 269. Clive resigns the government of. See Clive. Afflicted by a famine, which destroys more than a third of its inhabitants, 431. State and temper of the government of, on the appointment
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of Mr. Hastings, 460, 475. Situation of, with respect to the neighbouring powers, 483. financial condition of, 514. Force sent from, across India to Bombay, IV. 31, 38. Statements of its revenues, 433, 434, note. Its views and those of Madras respecting the designs of Tippoo Saib, V. 284. State of its police, as given by Mr. Dowdeswell, 467.

	Benn, Mr. examined on Mr. Hastings's trial, V. 95.

	Bentham, Rm. his Treatise on Scotch Reform, referred to, V. 44, note.

	Bentley, his opinions of the Hindu astronomy controverted by Mr. Playfair, II. 88. Credit due to his opinions, 113.

	Berar, kingdom in Deccan, by whom founded, II. 310. Ceded to Akbar, 311. Revolts and is subdued by Shah Jehan, 332. Desire of the English to form a connexion with the government of, IV. 33. Situtation of the Regent of, between the English, and the united power of Hyder Ali and Nizam Ali, 172. Rajah of, joins in hostilities with Scnindia, VI. 354. Negotiations of the British government with, 443. Treaty with, concluded, 445.

	Bernier, M. on the Hindu epochs, quoted, I. 135, note. On the tenure of land, 262, note. On the absurdities of the Hindu religion, 339, note. On the Fakeers, 355. On the ignorance of the Pudits, II. 102, note. On the malady of Shah Jehan, 337, note On the date of Aurunzebe's illness, 350. On the mode of death by the pousta, 354, note. On the buccanier, character of the Portuguese in India, 355, note.

	Bhagvat-Geeta, chapter from, on the display of the divine nature in the form of the universe, I. 330, note.

	Bhamence aynasty, founder of, II. 266.

	Bhaow, nephew of Ballagee, killed in the battle of the Doorancees with the Mahrattas, II. 422.

	Bhascara, Hindu mathematician, an tiquity of his treatises of astronomy questioned, II. 129.

	Bhow, amount of his force, acting with Lord Cornwallis, V. 329. Operations of, against Tippoo Saib, 348.

	Bhurtpore, Rajah of, one of the allied chieftains, joins Holkar, VI. 490. Fortress of, unsuccessfully attacked, 493. Accoummodation with the rajah of, 498. Bickerton, Sir Richard, arrives with a reinforcement at Madaras, IV. 223.

	Bidgegur, capitulates to the English, IV. 349.

	Birmans, or Burmans, mode practised by, of communicating their ideas on the remotenss of their antiquity, I. 134, note. A robust and active people, 412, note. Account of the religion and laws of, II. 199. Resemblance of to the Hindus, 200, note.

	Birmingham, rapid increase of its manufactures in the early part of the eighteenth century, III. 21.

	Birth, ceremonies observed by teh HIndus previous and subsequently to, I. 444. Second birth, waht so denominated by them, ibid.

	Black Hole at Calcutta, used as a prison, by the Englsih, previously to the un fourtunate catastrophe for which it is clelebrated, III. 149, and note. Crime of that catastrophe extenuated, 150, note.

	Blackstone, quoted on euqality of punishments, I. 224, note.

	Blair, Lieutenant-Colonel, sent against the refractory Zemindars of Oude, VI. 241.

	Bokhara, clelebrated university of, II. 425.

	BOmbay, cession of, by thge Portuguese to Charles the Second, and by him to East India Company, I. 83. Revolts at, 98, 102. Elevated to the dignity of a regency, 104. Presidency of, at variance with teh Supreme Council. See Supreme Council.

	Bonsla, Janojee, league with, recommended to the English by Hyder Ali, IV. 68.

	Bonsla, Mudagee, Regent of Berar, English Embassy to, IV. 34. Teh English desirous of treating with him, 41.

	Bonsla, Ragogee, Mahratta Chief, III. 129. Sends an army to invade Bengal, 141. His general assassinated, 143.

	Bookds, introduction of good ones in India, one of the best means of reform, V. 542.
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Bootan, account of, and its Rajah, II. 196.

	Boscawen, armament with which he was sent to Intdia, III. 71.

	Botany, Hindus very superficially acquainted with, I. 86.

	Bourbon, Isle of, by whom discovered, III. 48.

	Bourquein, General, Surrenders himself to General Lake, VI. 417.

	Bowides, their dynasty and conquests, II. 216. Their power extinguished, 224.

	Brahma, his ten avatars or incarnations, I. 299. Fable of his origin, 310.

	Brahme, or Brahm, meaning of, in the Hindu theology, I. 320, 333.

	Brahmegupta, Hindu mathematician, I. 129. Antiquity of his astronomical treatise questioned, 132.

	Brahmens, or priests, one of the orders of castes of the Hindus, I. 157. Their power greater thatn that of any other power greater thatn that of any other priesthood that has existed, 159. Are exclusively interpreters of the laws, 188. In the absence of the king, discharge the office of judge, ibid. Daily ceremonies obsrved by them, 341, 432. Their manner of proceeding in making astronomical calculations, II. 92. Six, mistaken for spies, put to death by Lally, III. 199.

	Brathwaite, Colonel, marches against Hyder Ali, IV. 158. Charged with want of alacrity, 194. Defeated by Tippoo Saib after the most gallant defence, 213.

	Brereton, Major, arrival of, in India, III. 205.

	Bridges, Hindus ignorant of the art of constructing them, II. 14.

	Brinjarries, dealers in grain and cattle, V. 333.

	Bristow, Mr. succeeds Mr. Middleton, as resident with the Nabob of Oude, III. 524. Removed, IV. 17, 372. Re-appointed, 403. Animadeversions of the Directors on his removal, 406. Instructions given him on his reappointment, 423, 424. Denial of these instructions by Mr. Hastings, 428. In the opinion of the majority of the council refutes the charges brought against him by Mr. Hastings, 431. Letters, written in the name of the Nabob complaining of his conduct, suborned by Mr. hstings, 434.

	Bristish dominons, extent of, in India, geographically described, I. 1.

	Brooke, Mr. member of the Madras Council, votes for a reconsideration of the claims of Mr. Benfield, IV. 113.

	Brow-beating, of a witness, observation of Mr. Law on the practide of, by Mr. Sheridan, V. 102.

	Brown, Colone, has an active command in the last war against Tippoo, VI. 98. Takes Caroor, 123.

	Brown, Mr. Quarles, recommends to the East India Company a plan on opening a trade with japan, I. 91.

	Bruce, Mr. on the embarrassed state of the concerns of the East India Company quoted, I. 81. On the instrictions given to their servants respecting the Mogul and other Indian princes, 98. On the subject of priracy in the Indian seas, 117.

	Bryant, Mr. on other religons havings borrowed from the Christian, quoted, I. 327. On the temples of the Cyclopes, II. 12.

	Buchanan, Dr. on the cleim of the Burmans to antiquity, quoted, I. 134, note. Cites a shocking instance of trial by ordeal, 242, note. Quoted on teh manner in which the produce of land is divided in India, 264,. On the interest of ryots in land, 277, note On the amours of Krishna carved on his chariot, 309, note. On the religious controversies of the Hindus, 315, note. On the Hindu worship of one Supreme Being, 321. On the Hindu treatment of the labouring cattle, 368, note, On the treatment of women in India, 388, note, Ridicules the expression of simple, given by Sir William Jones to the Pundits, 402, note. quoted on the inhospitable character of the Hindus, 405. Characterizes pestilence and beasts of prey, as gentle, compared with Hindu robbers, 407, note Quoted on the state of apathy of the lower classes of the people in India, 413, note. On the avarice of the Hindus, 417, note. On the filthiness of the Hindus in washing their clothes, bodies, and cattle in the tanks, from which they take their drink, 420, note. Describes an Hindu temple, II. 11. Describes a bridge at Seringapatam, 13. Quoted on the
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ignorance of the Bengalese in every art but weaving, 15. On the agriculture of the Hindus, 25, note. On the sculpture of the Hindu temples, 34. mentions a sliver bason, on which the Birmans had embossed the twelve signs of the Zodiac, 96, note. Quoted on the short period that Hindu manuscripts can be preserrved, and the delusions practised by copyists, 97, note. On the deceptions practised by the Brahmens in their accounts both of their religion and history, 107, note. On the deference exacted by Hindus from their inferiors, 169, note. On the Indian roads, 181.

	Buckingham, Lord High Admiral, claims a share of prize money, I. 45.

	Buddha, one of the incarnations of Vishnu, worshipped over the greater part of the East, I. 309. Question, whether his religion was derived from Brahma, or that of brahman from him, difficult of solution, 310, note.

	Bugwunt Sing, Oude Zemindary, Company's war with, VI. 241.

	Bujeeraow, Mharatta chief, suddenly attacks Delhi, but obliged to decamp, II. 398.

	Buildings of the Hindus, I. 418. II. 1. See further, Pagodas, Biuildings of the Mexicans, 6. Of the Peruvians, ibid. Of the Goths, 9. Of Nineveh and Babylon, ibid. Of the Egyptian, ibid. of the Cyclopes, 12. Of Ecbatana, ibid. note. Of the Ceylonese, ibid.

	Bulwant Raow, killed in the battle of the Mahrattas with the Dooranees, II. 422.

	Bulwant Sing, Rajah of Benares, protected by the English against suja Dowla, III. 362. Further mention of, IV. 316.

	Bundelcund, history of the operations in, VI. 438. Predatory incursions into, 473.

	Bruke, Edmund, member of the Select Committee of the House of Commons, in 1781, to inquire into affairs of the East Indies, IV. 461. His in sinuations respecting Mr. Hstings's designs against the Mogual and Scindia, confirmed by Mr. Pitt, V. 14, note. Substance of his celebrated speech on the nabob of Arcot's debts, 23. His character of paul Benfield and Richard Atkinson, 23, 24. His idea of collusion between the Nabob of Arcot's creditors and ministry, 29. Moves for papers to inculpate Mr. Hastings, 40. Mode of proceeding recommended by him against Mr. hastings, 41. Complains of the difficulties of the prosecution in regard to evidence, 63. His opening speech at the trial of Mr. Hastings, 83. Petitioned against by Mr. Hastings for his severe accusations respecting Nuncomar, 103. His conduct in the House of Commons on the occasion, 105. Complains, of the rulses adopted by the Lords for excluding evidence, 127. His remarks on the right of the Commons not to be held to technical niceties, 153. His charge of oppression against Mr. Hastings challenged by Mr. Law, 162, note. His opinion of the efficiency of impeachments, 166. Attacked by the Archbishop of York, 198. proposes to prosecute the publisher of the Archbishop's speech, 200. His concluding speech on the trial of Mr. Hastings, 217. Attacked by Mr. Law, brother of the counsel of the that name, 220. His political character, 231. Speech by, on the question of criminality in animadverting on the proceedings of judges and other constituted authorities, 254, note.

	Burmans. See Birmans.

	Burn, Lietenant-Colonel, prudent precautions taken by him against an attack on Delhi, VI. 481. Perilous situation of a detachment commanded by him near samlee, 485.

	Burren Sunker, or impure brood, how introduced among the Hindus, I. 172.

	Burrows, Mr. Advocate-General, his peech on a meeting of the British jubabitants of Calcutta, for contributions in support of the war against the French, VI. 79.

	Bussy, M. his transactions in Carnatice, III. 101, 127. In Mysore, 134. further exploits of, 186, 191. Recaled by lally, 197. Joins Lally, 205. Compliment paid to his merit by six French officers, who request he migh supersede them, 207. His conduct in the attack on Madras blamed, 209. Restrains the impetuosity of his officers in their repulse
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of the English before Cuddnlore, and the English army thereby saved, IV. 236.

	Butter, a great luxury with the Hindus, I. 410.

	Buxar, battle of, III. 213. Importance of its result to the English, 314.

	Buying, East India Company's committee of, its duties, III. 8.

	Buying and sellings, mode of, practised by the Hindus, I. 418.

	Byram the First, his reign, II. 227.

	Byram the Second, 236.



	Cabot, Sebastean, voyage awnd discoveries of, I. 5.

	Cabul, invaded by the Afghauns, II. 315, 317. detached from the dominions of the Mogul and added to those of Nadir Shah, 404. Taken by Ahmed Abdallee, 408.

	Cèsar, quoted respecting the Druids among the Gauls, I. 292.

	Cafoor, Mogul general, ravages Deccan, II. 255. His cruelties and death, 256.

	Calcutta, granted to teh East India Company, by the Moguls, I. 125. Attacked by Suraja Dowla, III. 147. Taken, and its defenders shut up in the Black Hole, 149. Retaken by Clive. 156. Fortified, 158. Discord in the council at, 274. Meetings of the British inhabitants of, for contributions in support of the war against the French, VI. 79.

	Calliaud, Captain, defeats the Mysoreans near Madura, III. 182. Appointed to the command of the army in Bengal, 259. Defeats the Mogul near patna, 263. Defeats the Naib of Poorania, 268.

	Calmuck servants, esteemed through Russia for intelligence and fidelity, II. 188, note. Calmuck Artist, ibid.

	Campbell, Captain, opens the gate of the fort in the capture of Gawilgur, VI, 438. Taken ill, 441.

	Campbell, Sir Archibald, a fried of Mr. hastings, uominated Governor of madras, in opposition to the appointment of Mr. Holland, by the Directors, V. 31. Grants an aid of English troops to the Rajah of Travencore, 271. His regulations for the Carnatic revenues, 297. His partial view of his own arrangement respecting the debts of the Nabob of Arcot, 298. His character of the Nabob, 300. His arrangement objected to by the Nabob, 301; and the Madras government, 303.

	Canal, grand, of China, II. 193.

	Canara, ancient name of Carnatic, language of, within what extent spoken, III. 83, note.

	Candahar, wrested from the Moguls, by Abbas, the Persian, II. 321. Recovered by teh treachery of its governor, 332. Retaken by Shah Abbas the Second, 334. Besieged twice by Aurungzebe and Dara, unseuccessfully, ibid. Taken by Ahmed Abdallee, Afghaun chief, 408.

	Candesh, taken by Shah Jehan, and the government conferred on Mohabet, II. 328, 330.

	Cape of Good Hope, voyages to India by, attempted, Ir. 8. Taken from the Dutch by the English, VI. 60.

	Carangoly, forrt, surrenders, to the French, III. 204. Taken by Sir Eyre Coote, 221.

	Caravansaries of Syria, II. 198, note.

	Cardan, mathematicaian, a rule publihed by, in 1545, still bears his name, II, 134.

	Carical, engagement near, between the French and English fleets, III. 203. taken by the English, 228.

	Carli (Lettres Americanines), on the fondness of the Peruvians for comic dramas, quoted, II. 154. note.

	Carlisel, Earl, on the costly attire of the Russian court, quoted, II. 183, note.

	Carnac, Major, defeats the Mogtul Emperor, III. 276. Visits and negotiates a treaty with him, 277. Superseded by colonel Coote, 281. Opposes the designs of Meer Causim against Ramnarain, 282. Recalled from patna, ibid. Resumes the command and defeats Suja Dowla, 283. Member of the Select Committe at Calcutta, 349. His conduct as to signing covnants not to receive presents, 356. After again defeaning Suja Dowla, makes peace with him, 361. Accompanies ord Clive to Moorshedabad on business of revenue, 374. Appointed ont the committee for settling the government of Poonah, IV. 35.

	Carnatic, Population of, why supposed
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to be small, II. 306. To whom its belonged before and after the reduction of Beejanuggur by the Mahomedan powers of Deccan, 371, note. Proceedings of An'war ad Dien, Nabob of, III. 65, 69, 88. Geographical description of, 83. Political state of, 84. War among the natives of, 87. Wars of the english and Fench in, 113, Objects of those warws, 121. Negotiations between the two powers respecting this point, ibid. Negotiations respecting, between the French and English governments in Europe, 122. Commissioners appointed, and the question settled in favour of the English, 124. WAr with the french in, renewed, 176. french, after various changes of fortune, driven out of Carnatic, 234. Political state of, after the overthrow of the french, 334. War with Hyder Ali, who in vades it, 391, 419 423. Irruption of Nizam Ali into, 400. Terms on which the war in, with Hyder, terminated, serverely condemned by teh East India Company, 425. Invaded by tippoo Saib, V. 295. Regulations for the revenues of, by Governor Cambpbell and the Nabob, 297. For Nabobs of, see An'war ad Dien, Doost Ali, and Mahomed Ali.

	Caroor, reduced by Colonel Fullerton, IV. 239. Taken by the army under Lord Cornwallis, V. 288.

	Cartier, Mr. appointed Member of the Select Committe at Calcutta, III. 382. Succeeds Mr. Verelst, as Governor of Bengal, 398, 431.

	Cashmere, overrun by the eleventh century, II. 218. Conquered by Akbar, 304.

	Casres or clases, division into, of the Hindus, I. 157. Of the Anglo-Saxons and other, ibid. note. Medes said to be divided into, 158, note. Distribution of a people into four only, productive of innumerable inconveniences as their wants multiplied, 170. Existed in the ancient Assyrian empire, 173, note. Instances of such divison, in otehr ancient nations, ibid.

	Catwall, minsters of justice so called, their functions, II. 175, note.

	Cave of Elephanta, II. 4. Of Salsette and Pussa, ibid. note.

	Cavendish, Thomas, his voyage and discouries, I. 12. Charged with want of respect for human life, by firing on the savages of Guam, 13, note.

	Cavendish, Thomas, his voygae and discoveries, I. 12. Charges with want of respect for human life, by fireing on teh savages of Guam, 13, note.

	Cavery, Mound of, contentius respecting, between the Nabob of Carnatic and the Rajah of Tanjore, III. 346.

	CAusim, meer, Nabob of Bengal, powers of administration placed in his hands by the English, III. 272. His activity and success in raising money,275. Reduces the provinces of Birboom and Burdwan, which had taken up arms, to obedience, 278. His extortionary proceedings towardsramnarian, 280. Disputes between, and the Company's servants, on the subject of private trade, 291. IIis expedition against Nepaul, 29. Abolishes all duties on internal trade, 300. Seizes ome English arms, in their way to Patna, 302. The English take the field against, and defeat him, 305, 307. Puts Ramnarain and other chiefs to death, ibid. On the loss of Mongheer, his capital, masscres in his rage his english prisoners, 308. Flies for protection to the Nabob of Oude, 309. Being demanded by the English, escapes with his family into the Rohilla country, 315. Sums received from him, by the servants of the Company, 327. Nabob of Oude pledges himself to the English never to harbour or employ him, 362. Regulations made with him as to private trade, deemed too severe by the Company, 365. r

	Cauzee, Mahomedan judge, criminality attached to the Sultan in notn selecting the properest person for the Office, II. 452. His office to expound the Moslem law, III. 467.

	Celestial Bride, spelendid mosque built by Mahmood, II. 220. r

	Celestial Bride, spelendid mosuqe built by Mahmood, II. 220.

	Celtic manners in the Highlands of Scotland, resemblance between, and those of the Hindus, I. 268, note.

	Celuc ihabitants of Britain had a domestic ommunity of women, 397, note.

	Ceylon, first possessed by the Dutch about the middle of the seventeenth century, I. 78. Engagements off, between the French and English fleets, III. 215, IV. 215. Their settlements
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at, taken by the English, VI. 60.

	Chaje Aiass, vizir of Jehangire, history of, previous to his promotio, II. 313. Efffect of his death on the Sultana, his daughter, 318.

	Chlamers, Lieutenant, repels an attempt upon Coimbetore, V. 358. Obliged to capitulate, and is detained a prisoner, 355. Sent by Tippoo Saib to make an overture of peace to Lord Cornwallis, 375.

	Chambers, Mr. W. on the deficiency of the Hindus in historical composition, quoted, II. 61, note.

	Champion, Colone, defeats the Rohillas, III. 507. Generous manner in which he describes the conduct of Hafez and his army in the battle, 508. Charges the Vizir, his ally, with pusillanimity, ibid. Cites intstances of his creulty, 509, note.

	Chancellour, his ship the first that visited Archangel, I, 6. benefits resulting from it to the English, ibid.

	Chandernagor, taken by the English, III. 161.

	Chapman, Mr. on the state of Cochin China, quoted, II. 197.

	Chardin, on the elegant construction of the Persian bridges, quoted, II. 14. On the art of Painting among the Persians, 36, note. On the ignorance of the Persians in geography and history, 64, note. On the Persian Schools, 105, note.

	Charges against Mr. Hastings. See Hastings.

	Charters to teh East India Company, the first granted in the year 1600, I. 21. Renewed 1609, and the Company constituted a corporate body for ever, 25. New charter granted by Charles the Second, in 1661, 25. Further charters by King William, in 1693, 118. Renewed in 1712, III. 23. Petitioned against in 1780, 34. Renewed 1732, 42. Again in 1780, IV. 457. Again in 1793, VI. 2.

	Cahstity, female, value set of Gazee ad Dien, favourably received at the Court of Shah Aulum, II. 376. Appointed to teh Regency of Deccan by Feroksere, and decorated with the title of Nizam al Mulk, 3385. Recalled 389. Invited to court to act against the Seyd brothers, joins their party, 891. Appointed to the government of Malwa, ibid. Made Vizir by mahomed Shah, is disgusted with his dissoluteness, and revlots, 397. Defeats his on Nazir Jung, and takes him prisoner, 405. Reduces nearly all the provinces of Carnatic to obedience, ibid. His death at the advanced age of a hundred and four, 409. Further account of him, III. 86, 88.

	Cherry, Mr. British resident in the house of Vizir Ali, assassinated, VI. 164.

	Chess, invention of, claimed by the Hindus, II. 40. Known to the Araucanians, 41. Claimed by the Persians, ibid, note. Scandinavians skilled in it, ibid. Chess of the Chinese totally different from that of the Hindus and Persians, ibid.

	Cherika, Rajah of, assigns part of his territory to the Company to liquidate a long standing debt, V. 267.

	Cheyte Syng, Rajah of Benares, See Benares.

	Child, Sir Joh, his proceedings in India, Characterised as rash and presumptuous, I. 107.

	Child, Sir Joshua, his exaggerated statement of the benefits of the trade3 with India, I. 95.

	Chili, perfect nature of the grammar of, II. 82.

	Chillambrum, pagoda of, described, II. 11. Taken by the English, III. 228. Restored to the French, 342. Favourable result to the English of General Coote's defeat at, IV. 131.

	Chilligi, tribe of Afghauns, accounts of, II. 248.

	Chinese, pretended duration of their monarchy, I. 184. Nature of their tenure of land, 77, note. Characterised as nsensible to the feelings of others, 404, note. Their dramatic performances, II. 53. Exaggerated accounts of them, by the Jesuit missionaries, 130. Their skill in the arts examined, 193. Instandces of their resemblance to the Hindus, ibid.

	Chingliput, taken by Clive, III. 115. English in danger of losing it, 205.

	Chitta, geography of, difficult to ascertain, II. 238, note.
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Chittapet, taken by the French, III. 182. Taken by teh English, 226.

	Chizer, Mahomedan sovereign, account of, II. 276.

	Chosroes, reign of, II. 212.

	Choultries, or Caravanseras, first established by a Mahomedan sovereign, II. 181.

	Chout, meaning of, II. 177, 389. III. 471. Chout to the judges abolished, ibid. V. 426. Impost established by the company in its stead, abolished, III. ibid.

	Chrishna. See Crishna.

	Chronology, Hindus have no regular work on, II. 65. Chronological table of Hindu kings, 150, note.

	Chunda Saheb, imprisons the qeen of Trichinopoy, and succeds to the government, III. 86. Forms an alliance with the French, 91. Flies from teh army of nazir Jug, 97. Arcot, his capital, taken by teh English, 106. Places himself under the protection of the king of Tanmjore, and is cruelly murdered, 111.

	Chunar, meeting at, of Mr. Hastings and the Nabob of Oude, IV. 373.

	Church, Visigoths and Burgundians allowed to make donations to, I. 215.

	Churning, Hindu description of Vishnu's churning the ocean, I. 304.

	Churrum, son of Jehangire, defeats the prince of Odepore, II. 316. Title of Shah Jehan, or king of the world, bestowed on his by his father, 317. Defeats and concludes a second peace with the prince of odepore, 318. His rebellion against his fatehr, 320. Proclaimed emperor, 324. Number of his family, and accomplishments of his daughters, 325. His war against Lodi, 327. His conductlo the Hindus, who betook themselves to penances and other religious rites during a famine, 329. Orders the expulsion of the Portuguese from his dominions, 330. Proceeds to the subjugation of Deccan, 331. Takes an hundred and fifteen towns and fortresses in the course of a year, ibid. Conduct of his sons in his illness, 338. On his recovery, intrigued against by his son Aurungzebe, who makes him his prisoner, 343. His treatment in prison, 350. Refuses the daughter of Dara to Akbar, youngest son of Aurungzebe, 350. Dies, it has been suspected, by the pousta, 354.

	Chusero, his mean origin, II. 257. Kills mUbarick and usurps the throne, ibid. His curelities and death, 258.

	Chursero, son of Selim, his revolts gainst his father, II. 312, 313.

	Chutter Saul, refractory Zemindar, siege of his fort of Tetteeah by the English, VI. 248.

	Chutttanuttee, granted, in 1669, to the East India company, I. 125. r

	Circars, Northern, confirmed to the native princes, III. 126. English expedition to drive the French from 218, 248. Freed from their dependance on the Subahdar of Deccan, and bestowed on the English, 401. English enter on the possession of, 402. See next article.

	Circuit, appointment and proceedings of the Committee of, respecting the Northern Circars, IV. 108, 123. Suspended by Governor Rumbold, 125. Courts of, V. 429.

	City, what places obtained that name with the Hindus, II. 184, note.

	Civilization, improtance of the inquiry into the state of, among the Hinus, II. 135. Mistake respecting the civilization of the Hindus, whence derived, 136, 142. Inaccuracy of the ideas of European scholars on the subject of civilization, 141, note. Hindus have expreienced no calamity from which a preceding state of high civilization cfan be inferred, 146. A people may be united under an extensive monarchy in a low state of civilization, 157. Good servants found among a people, a fallacious proof of civilization, 188, note. Existence of despotism a proof of low civilization, 205.

	Clavering, General, one of the members of the supreme council in India, III. 457. 518. Holds the station of Governor-General protempore, IV. 16. Dies in India 20.

	Clavigero, quoted on the resemblance of the Mexican gaes to those of the Hindus, I. 135, note. On their knowledge of the creation of the world, the deluge, and confusion of toungues, 150, note. On the Worship of a Supreme Being, by the Mexicans,
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297. On the knowledge of the Mexicans in constructing vaults, II. 14. On the manufactres of the Mexicans, 16. On their skill in jewellery, 28. On their skill in sculpture and casting metals, 35, and note. On the Mexican dramas, 54. On the Mexican language, 82.

	Clayton, Lieutenant-Colonel, his exploits in Cuttack, VI. 442.

	Clive, account of, previous to his being appointed a writer in the service of the East India company, III. 104. His intrepid conduct on entering the military service as an ensign, 105. Obtains possession of Arcot, 106. Successful in other enterprizes, 107. Baffles the attempt of the French upon Trichinopoly, 110. Having reduced the forts of Covelong and Chingliput, eturns to Europe for his health, 115. Lands at Bombay, having been poromated in England to rank of liutenant-colone, 153. Conducts a successful expedition against the pirate Angira, ibid. Having repaaired to his government at Fort St. David, is summoned to Madras, to assist in the deliberations for recovering Calcutta, 154. Sentagainst Calcutta, at the head of the Madras troops, and effects the object of his mission, 155. His treacherous designs against the French, in wishing to attack their settlement at Chandernagor, 158. Takes Chandernagor, 161. Violates the orders he had received to return to Madras, 162. Plans the dethronement of Suraja Dowla, 163. particulars of the conspiracy for that purpose, ibid. Calls a council of war, and takes the field in direct opposition to its decision, 166. Defeats the army of the Nabob at Plassy, 167. Takes Moorshedabad, 169. His treacherous attempts against Omichund, in th division of the spoil, 170, note. His further proceedings in Bengal, 242. Appointed sole President, 244. Humorous anecdote to show the extent of his influence, ibid, note. In opposition to the wishes of the council, engages in an expedition against the French, 248. His conduct on occasion of the confederacy of the Nabobs of Oude and Allahabad against Bengal, 253. Obtains, the jaghire round Calcutta, 257. DEfeats the Dutch, 258. Sails from Calcutta to return home. 259. Previous to his return, writes in contumelious language to the Court of Directors, 284. After refusing to pay the proceeds of his jaghire, for which he sues the Company, is appointed by them, with high nowers, Governor of Bengal, 322. Sums received by him from native princes, 327, 329. Returns to India with the title of Lord, 331. Proposes to the Company to become sovereigns of the country, 332. From an expected rise in the Company's stock, orders all his property to be invested in it, 333. His account of the state of the Company's affairs on entering on his second administration, 353. His progress up the country for the purpose of a new arrangement for the government of the provinces, and making peace with Suja Dowla, 358. Terms on which he settled with the Company the question of his jaghire, 363. Enters largely into the private trade of bengal, 366. promotes the measure of superseding servants in Bengal, by other sfrom Madras, 371. His conduct on the discovery of discontents among the officers of the army, 375. His interview with eht emperor and Suja Dowla, 378. violates the orders of the Company in their proturns to England, 382. Is favourably received by the Company, and the produce of his jaghire confirmed to him for an additional number of years, 385. Reason assigned by him for receiving a present of five lacs ofrupees from Jueem and Dowla, ibid. Account of his celebrated exculpatory speech in the House of Commons, 437. Succeeds Lord Hobart at madras, VI. 61.

	Close, Colone, one of a political and diplomatic commission. in the war with Tippoo Saih, VI. 102. Deputed with Mr. Webbe, to propose to the relations of the Nabob of Arcot, the transfer of the Carnatic government, 0287, 321, 341. Vested with extraordinary powers, in the preparations for war against Scindia, 506. Resident at Poonah, 520.
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Cochin, taken from the Dutch by the English, VI. 60.

	Cochin, Rajah, of, his trnsactions with Tippoo Saib, V. 269.

	Cochin China, account of, II. 197, 198, note.

	Coel, surrendered to the English, under General Lake. VI. 410.

	Combetore, taken by the English, IV. 242. Angain by the army under Lord Cronwallis, V. 289. Attack upon, repulsed by Lieutenant Chalmers, 352. Capitulates to a detachment of Tippoo's army, 354.

	Coin, gold and silver, first struck in India by Akbar, II. 183. Copper coin struck by Mahomet the Third, 262.

	Colbert, French East India Company, projected by, I. 90.

	Colebrooke, Henry thomas, on the religious sects of the Hindus, quoted, 1. 314. On the Hindu goddess Vach 321, note. Brahmen dialogue cited by, on the question of the universal soul, ibid. Acknowledges the insufficiency of the distinction in the Hindu religion between the creature and the Creator, 335. Asscribes to the hindus a fondness for Scholastic disputation, II. 79, note. Examination of his work on Sanscrit Algebra, 125.

	Collings, Colonel, resident at Futty Ghur, sent to nogotiate with Dowlut Rao Scinida, VI. 315. His negotiation unsuccessful, 319. Second mission, 338. 341, 345, 347.

	Colonization of Iudia with Englishmen, benefits that would have resulted from, V. 503.

	Comera, servent of mr. Benfield, concern of, with his master, in money lending trnasactions, IV. 99, note.

	Commaul ad Dien Khan, imposition proactised by, in the affair of Nuncomar, III. 563.

	Commerce, active state of, in Englang, under Queen Elizabeth, I. 4. Of the English with the Moluccas, begun by Sir Francis Drake, 10. eXport and import articles of, in Oude, II, 28, note. Rapid advance of, in England, in the early part of the eighteenth century, III. 21. Further advance of, in the middle of that century, 76.

	Commissioners, board of, appointed for the settlement of the dominions, requrired by the English of the Nabob of Oude, VI. 213.

	Committees of Direetors of the East India Company enumerated, and their respective duties dxescribed, III. 6, et seq. Select committe at Calcutta, of whom and why formed, 350. its proceedings private trade, 364; respecting the supply of vacanicies in the council, 870; rspecting military allowances, 372; respecting the inland trade society, 379. Committee of Circuit. See Circuit. Committee of revenue in Bengal, V. 150.

	Commons, House oif, proceedings in, on the war in the Carnatic, and conduct of the supreme judicature, IV. 461. Instance of its being indadequate 476. proceedings in, relating to the debts of the Nabob of Areot, 21–31. View of parties in, 39. Mutual aspersions between ministers and opposition in, relative to Mr. hastings, 42. Discussion in, on the mode of prodcedure respecting evidence against Mr. Hastings, 49. best mode of procedure respecting Mr. Hasstings rejected by the House, k 53. Votes the Rohilla war not impeachable, 56. Passes bills to amend the East India Act, 57. Object of those bills, 58–61. articles of impeachment of Mr. Hastings brought up from the Commiette of the House, 65. Impeachment voted, and carried to the Lords, 66. Proceedings of, relative to the impeachment of Sir Elijah Impey, 67. Debates in, on the declaratory bill, 71. Further proceedings of, on Mr. Burke's charging Mr. Hastings with the murder of Nuncomar, 103. reprimands Major Scott for reviling the mangaers of mr. Hastings's impeachment, through the press, 169. Debates in, on the question, whether the dissolution of parliament abated the impeachment, 170. acts of, said not to be acts of the people, 175. Committe formed in, to disprove the charge of protraction of the trial, 200. Proceedings of, on intemperate language by the Archbishop of York,
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198. Dispute in, about further time required by the managers of the trial to prepare their reply, ibid. Manages appointed a committe by, to ascertain the causes of delay in the trial, 210. Votes the thanks of the House to the mangagers o the trial, 219. Report of the committe of, appointed to inspect the Lords’ Journals, relative to their proceedings on the trial, 231. Comments on that report, 248. Debates in, on the war with Tippoo Saib, 333. Debates in, on renewal of the East India Company's Charter, VI. 3, 6, 8.

	Commutation act and tax, IV. 485.

	Company, for trading to the East Indies, a new one projected, I. 111. Offer a loan of two millions to government for leave to trade, 117. Obtain an act of two millions to government for leave to trade, 117. Obtain an act of incorporation, 121. Chartered as a regulated company, 122. Its feebleness, 124. Union of the two companies recommended by the King, 126. The union effected, 128.

	Concan, army sent into, by Aurungzebe, II. 370, 372.

	Condamine, M. de la, on the precious stones of South America, quoted, II. 28, note.

	Condillae, on the manner in which the infant mind generalizes ideas, quoted, II. 70, note.

	Conflans, M. succeds Bussy in the command of the French troops in Carnatic, and is defeated by the English, III. 249.

	Congeveram, burned by the French, in revenge for a similar outrage committed by the English at Wandewash, III. 179. Surprised and taken by the French, 222. Battle of, IV. 165.

	Consciousness, ascribed. by the Hinus, 10 vegetables as well as animals, II. 86. Created, according to the Hindus, before the mind, 261.

	Control, Board of, how constituted, IV. 487. Effects of, upon the East India Company, 489. Effects of, on the government of India, ibid. et seq. Efficacy of, as an instrument of government, compared with that of the Court of directors, 493. Convineed of the eveil respecting the Nabob of Arcot's debts, V. 17. Orders them to be discharged withour inquiry, 19. Remonstrace of the Directors against the proceeding, 20. Appoints a governor of Madras, in opposition to the Directors, So. Instead of Controlling, originates measures, 31. Orders the Carnatie revenues to be restored, ibid. Further contest of, with the Directors, respecting Lieutenant. Colonel Ross, 69. Power of, declared, 72. Salaries given to the members of, VI. 7.

	Coollee Khan. See Cooli.

	Coolies, race of men living in the most inaccessible parts of Guzerat, nearly extirpated by jehrangire. II. 317.

	Coorgs, accounts of the, V. 383.

	Coote, Sir Eyre, takes Wandewash, III. 221. REduces Chittapet and Arcot. 226. Further operations and success of the army under him, 227. Superseded by Major Monson, 230. Good sense and temper displayed by him on this occasion, ibid. Resumes the command, 231. Takes pondicherry, 233. Recalled from patna, 283. Appointed Commander-in-Chief, and Member of the Supreme Council, IV. 49. Opposes the traty with the ranna of Gohud, proposed by the Governor-General, 50. Sent by the Supreme Council to take the command of the Madras army, 171. Takes the field against Hyder, 179. Attacks, unsuccessfully, the fortified pagoda of Chillambrum, 181. Defeats Hyder, though labouring under many disadvantages, 184. In another battle with Hyder, his army, after much suffering, is obliged to fall back, 187. Retains his army so long in the field, as to endanger its return by the impediments of the Monsoon, 189. Shows a discontented and quaqrrelsome spirit, 201. Kindness of Lord Macartney's treatment of him, while in this humour, 202, note. After several months in cantonments, his army again take the field, and attempt the reduction of Arnee, 215. a regiment of cavalry, which he called his grand guard, drawn into ambuscade, and killed or taken prisoners, 216. Enters into negotiation with Tippon, and is duped, 217. Unequal to the toils of command, sails for Bengal, 223. Resumes the command
Edition: current; Page: [570]
and returns to Madras, 254. Dies of apoplexy, three days after his landing, ibid. Money given him by Mr. Hastings, V. 183.

	Corah, province of, sold by the English to the Nabob of Oude, III. 502.

	Coromandel engagement between the English and French fleets, on the coast of, III, 57.

	Cornish, Admiral, arrives with a fleet on the coast of Pondicherry, III. 228.

	Cornwallis, appointed Governor-General of India. V. 38. Examined in defence of Mr. Hassings, 210. Commencement of his administration, 257. His transactions with the Nabob of Oude, 258. Treaty with the Nizam, 259. Accused, by this treaty, of breaking faith with Tippoo Saib, 265. His opinion of the probability of a war with Tippoo, 274. Decides for a vigorous war against him, 277. Endeavours to form an alliance with the Nizam and the Mahrattas, 278. which he effects, 280. His object in this war, 281. Blames the tardiness of the Madras, government, who condemn the war, ibid. Goes to madras, 296. Transactions between him and the Nabob of Arcot, 297. Contemplates the necessity of assumping the territories of the Nabob of Arcot, and taking possession of the revenues, 304. Takes the command of the army against Tippoo, 315. Takes Bangalore, 318. Prepares to attack Seringapatam, 320. Gains the battle of Arikera, 323. Obliged to retreat on account of the distress of his army, 315. Joined by the Mahrottas, 326. Marches back to Bangalore, 331. Expedient by, for the supply of draught cattle, 333. Consents to receive a vakeel from Tippoo, 337. After other operations of his army, merches in person upon Seringapatam, 357. Operations of the different columns of his army before Seringapatam, 362, et seq. Besieges Seringapatam, 374. Makes peace with Tippoo, 385. Resigns his share of prize-money to the army, 387. His capture of the French settlements, 397. His conduct as to financial and judicial instructions, received from authorities at home, 399. His plan of revenue, 402. Guided by a theory inapplicable to the circumstances of the case, 413. His reforms in judicature, 420. His scheme for judicature in the field of civil law, 421. Forms prescribed by it full of technical ceremonies, 425. Judges’ fees prohibited by it, 426. His opinion of the state of law and government in India, 427. By his plan of penal judicature, courts of circuit erected, 428. Observations on the subject of his judicatory system, 432. His new scheme of police, 436. Result of his financial and judicial reforms, 438; as to Zemindars, ibid.; as to the Ryots, 442; in civil causes, 452; in penal cases, 465. Returns to England, 544. His expostulatory letters to the Nabob of Oude, VI. 36, 38. Financial results of his administration, ibid. Again nominated Governor-General and Commander-in-chief, 63. Resigns the appointments, ibid. Appointed Governor-General a third time, 516. Plans a journey for the accleration of peace with Holkar, 518. His representation of the dreadful state of the finances, ibid. Commences a reduction of the forces, 519. His opinion of defensive alliances, 520. Determined on keeping peace with Scindia, by yielding every point in dispute, 525: and to make peace with Holkar, by restoring all the dominions which had been taken from him, 526. His negotiations with Scindia, 527. Remonstrance of the Commander-in-Chief against his measure for dissolving the connexion of the British government with the minor princes, 529. His death, 533. Financial results of his administration, 542.

	Correspondence, East India Company's Committee of, its functions, III. 6.

	Cosby, Colonel, account of his expedition against Hyder Ali, IV. 153.

	Cosmogony, Hindu, I. 425.

	Cossijura, Rajah of, account of the suit against him in the Supreme Court, IV. 294.

	Cossimbazar, taken by Suraja Dowla from the English, III. 147.

	Covelong fort, taken by Clive, III. 115.

	Council of defence, appointed for the execution of a treaty between the
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Dutch and English Companies, I. 41.

	Courten, Sir William, association formed by, for trading to India, I. 61. Its union with the East India Company effected, 68.

	Courts, civil and penal, appointed instead of the native Courts in India, account of, III. 469. Nature of the Supreme Courts of appeal established at the seat of Government, 470. Supreme Court of judicature in India appointed by parliament. See Supreme Court. Four Courts of appeal established by Lord Cornwallis, V. 423. Courts of circuit erected by him, 428.

	Courtis of princes, one campaign in, better than two in the field, I. 342, note.

	Couteur, on the inhuman character of the Hindus, quoted, I. 104.

	Cow, held sacred by the Amonians, I. 367; and Africans, 369, note.

	Cozco, fortress, wonderful construction of, II. 7.

	Cranganore and Jacotah, purchased of the Dutch, by the Rajah of Travancore, V. 273. Lawfulness of the purchase questioned, ibid. Cranganore taken by Tippoo saib, 287.

	Creation, Hindu account of, I. 285, 425.

	Crete, labyrinth of, II. 12, note.

	Crimes, indecent, of the Hindus, I. 230, and note. Increase of crimes in India, the consequence of English regulations, V. 465; of English despotism, 474; of defects of the law, ibid.; of the practice of the Courts, 476, 540, of defects of the police, 480; of the disposition of Government to suppose all its institutions perfect, 486; of the disposition of the servants of Government to give none but flattering accounts, 487; of the supposition that England is the standard of excellence, 490. By the state of crimes in India, the business of government exceedingly difficult, 491. Remedies for the prevalence of crimes in India, 495. Education supposed the only true remedy, 509. Indigence of a people the grand source of crime, 534. Remedy for this evil, 538.

	Crishna, one of the incarnations of Vishnu, fable of, I. 306. Exploits ascribed to him, II. 162, note.

	Cromwell, his war with the Dutch injurious to English commerce, I. 71. terms on which it was concluded, 72.

	Cruelty, instances of, illustrating the character of the Hindus, I. 406, and note.

	Cshatriyas, military class of Hindus, rank of, I. 165.

	Cuddalore, taken by the English, III. 228. Taken by Tippoo Saib and the French, IV. 213. Proceedings of the English for the recovery of, 220. English defeated in an attack upon, 235.

	Cullin Sin, evidence concerning, V. 155.

	Culluca, commentator on the Institutes of menu, charged with interpolations, I. 429, 393, note.

	Cumming, Sir John, ordered to march, to enforce the plunder of the Begums, IV. 401.

	Cuppage, Major, defeats the army of Tippoo Saib in its attack of Comibetore, V. 352. Has an active command in the siege of Seringapatam, 379.

	Cutchery, native court in India, III. 470.

	Cutchoura, fort, taken by the English, VI 246.

	Cuttack, history of the operations in, VI. 440.

	Cuttub, account of his early years, II. 232. From his first achievements in war, declared by Mahomed his adopted son, 233. On the death of Mahomed, claims the sovereignty, 234. During his government, adds Bahar and Bengal to the Mahomedan dominions, ibid.

	Cutwals, officers of police, abolished, V. 436.

	Cyclopes, temples of, and other buildings, II. 12.

	Cyrus, no account found of him in the Persian annals, II. 63.



	Daber, taken from the Seiks by Shah Aulum, II. 379.

	Dacca, litigious disposition of the inhabitants of, I. 408, note. Account of the treatment of the Phousdar, of, by the Supreme Court, IV. 289.
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D'Aché, French Admiral, lands supplies, and quits the coast of Pondicherry, III. 217.

	Dahdajee Punt, takes poison, from the fear of being made responsible for the enormities of his pupil, Sevagee, II. 358.

	Dallâas, Indian brokers, III. 13.

	Dallas, Mr. one of Mr. Hastings's counsel, V. 87. In conjunction with Mr. Law opposes any answer to the first charge singly, 88. His defence of Mr. Hastings, 193.

	Dalrymple, Major, commands a regiment in the night attack on Tippoo Saib, V. 336; and at the second siege of Seringapatam, VI. 112.

	Dalton, Captain, his advanced post at Trichinopoly attacked by the Mysoreans and destroyed to a man, III. 116.

	Dalston, Captain, goes to the relief of Colonel Guthrie at the assault of Tettecah, VI. 248.

	Daood, murderer, of Mujahed, loses his own life by assassination, II. 306.

	Daood Khan Punnee, Afghaun, appointed Deputy-Regent of Deccan, II. 376. Being employed by Feroksere to cut off Hussun the Seyd, is killed by a ball in making the attempt, 388. His conduct during his deputy government, 389.

	Dara, son of Shah Jehan, his character, II. 337. Seizes the government on the illness of his father, 338. Restores it on his father's recovery, 340. Defeated by his brother Aurungzebe, and flies to Agra, 341. Betrayed into the hands of Aurungzebe and murdered, 346.

	Daraporam taken by colonel Fullarton, IV. 239. Taken again by the army under Lord Cornwallis, V. 288.

	Darius Hystaspes, part of India included in his empire, II. 208.

	Darogah, or police officer, V. 480.

	Darwar, taken by the Mahrattas, when allies of the English, V. 327.

	D'Auteuil, destroys a thousand of nazir Jung's army, with the loss of only two or three men, III. 98. Taken prisoner, 111.

	Davis, John, in attempting the northwest passage, discovered the Straits known by his name, I. 7.

	Davis, Mr. on the Hindu astronomy, quoted, II. 94.

	Deboigne, commands part of Scindia's army, VI. 397. Account of, ibid. Returns to Europe with his fortune, 401.

	Debrett, pamphlet published by, reprehended by Lord Thurlow, V. 250.

	Deccan, meaning of the name, and extent of country it comprises, II. 251. First Mahomedan invasion of, ibid. Conquests in, by the third Mahomed, 261. Kingdom founded in, 265. Account of, to the invasion of Akabar, 305. Divided, during Mahomood's sovereignty, into five different kingdoms, 310. Invaded by Akbar, 311. Revolt of the Princess of, against Jehangire, 319. Account of, from the close of the reign of Akbar, 327. Visited by a famine, 329. Proceedings against, by shah jehan, ibid. Proceedings against, by Aurangzebe, 370. State of, when Hussun was appointed to the regency, 388. Conditions on which it is freed from the depredations of the Mahrattas, ibid. Project to dispossess the Rajah of, V. 4. Military operations in, impeded by a famine, VI. 470.

	Declaratory bill, debates in parliament on, V. 72.

	Decoits, robbers in gangs, increase of, in India, to what attributable, V. 465.

	Deeg, town and fort of, taken by the English, VI. 488.

	Defence, council of. See Council

	Delambre, M. on the antiquity of the Indian astronomy, quoted, II. 94, note.

	Deleyrit, M. governor of Pondicherry, resists the attempt of the English to subjugate Mortiz Ali, Governor of Velore, III. 135.

	Delhi, taken by the Mahomedans, II. 219. Court removed from, to Dowlatabad, 262. Taken by Timur, 274. Entered by Nuserit, 275. Taken by nadir Shah, 402. By the Abdallees, 416. By Gazee ad Dien, 417. By the Mahrattas, 421. Entered in state by the Mogul Emperor, III. 485. Taken again by the Mahrattas, 495. Battle of, VI. 414. Taken by the English, who possess themselves of the person and family of the Emperor, 416. Gallant defence of, against Holkar, 480.

	Demosthenes, on taxation in kind by
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the King of Bosphorus, quoted, I. 281, note. on legislation, VI. 225, note.

	Deogur, name of, changed to Dowlatabad. See Dowlatabad.

	Deoraj, and his brother Nunjeraj, account of, III. 405.

	Despotism, more adverse to the progress of the mind than anarchy, II. 205.

	D'Estain, Count, III. 307.

	Devi-Cotah, English dethrone the King of Tanjore from the sole desire of possessing it, III. 80. After a repulse, taken by the English with much difficulty, 82. Taken by the French, 196. Again by the English, 227.

	Devi, or Deby Sing, agent of Mr. Hastings, picture of his cruelties, V. 84, 165, note. Discussion on the subject of, between Mr. Burke and mr. Hastings's counsel, 161, note.

	Devotion, merit attached to, in the Institutes of Menu, I. 451.

	De witt, on the subject of the Dutch fisheries, quoted, I. 96.

	Dherna, sitting in, meaning of the practice of, in the Hindu administration of justice, I. 208, 209, note.

	Dhoondia, Mahratta adventurer, account of, VI. 124.

	Diaphantus, his algebraic writings known to the Hindus, II. 125. Extent of his knowledge in algebra, 128. Books, written by him on the subject, lost ibid. The first writer on indeterminate problems, whence the name of Diophantine problems, 133.

	Dictionaries, those of the Hindus written in verse, II. 45.

	Digest of Hindu law on contracts and successions, I. 193, note, 194, note, 196, note. Extract from, on the tenure of land, 262, note.

	Digits, of the Hindus, real hieroglyphics, II. 100, note.

	Dilleer Khan, sent against Sevagee, II. 361, 365.

	Dindigul, defence of, committed to Hyder Ali, when an inferior officer, III. 407. Reduced by Colonel Fullarton, IV. 239. Taken by the army under Lord Cornwallis, V. 289.

	Dirom, major, has an active command in the siege of Seringapatam, V. 379.

	Discoveries, modern, taken from hints in the ancient classics, II. 106.

	Dividends, how made by the east India Company when there are noprofits, IV. 486.

	Divorce, power of, by the Hindu, laws, given to the husband, I. 389.

	Doab, geographical situation of, II. 251.

	D'Obsonville, on the religious controversies of the Hindus, quoted, I. 314, note.

	Dominions, British, in India, extent of, geographically described, I. 1.

	Don, Lieutenant-colonel, commands a column in the attack on the fortress of Bhurtpore, VI. 495.

	Dooloob ram, ungrateful conduct of Meer Jaffier to, III. 339. His destruction resolved on, 245. Is assassinated, 247.

	Doondee Khan, joins the army of Dooranees against the mahrattas, II. 420.

	Dooranee, name whence derived, II. 408, 409, note.

	Doost Ali, Nabob of Carnatic, III. 85, Loses his life in resisting an invasion of the mahrattas, 87.

	Dowdeswell, Mr. his account of the police of Bengal, V. 468.

	Dowla, Aliteram al, petitions for the office of Neabut Nizamut, III. 476.

	Dowla, Intizam, vizir to Ahmed Shah, II. 414.

	Dowla, Mubarek al, succeeds to the Naboship of Bengal, III. 432. Company dissatisfied with the allowance afforded him, ibid. Care of his household to whom entrusted, 479. Complains of the severity with which he is treated by Mahomed Reza Khan, IV. 21. See Mahomed Reza Khan, and Munny Begum.

	Dowla, Nujeeb ad, Rohilla chief, appointed to the office of Ameer al Omrah, II. 417. On the taking of Delhi by Gazee, escapes to Rohilcund, ibid. Joins the Dooranee army against the Mahrattas, 420. Confirmed in the office of Omrah by Shah Aulum, III. 260. His death, 484. His excellent character, 488, note.

	Dowla, Nujeem ad, made subahdar of Bengal on the death of Suraja Dowla, III. 319. Degraded state to which he is reduced by his treaty with the East India Company, 320. Sums
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paid by his to the servants of the Company on his accession, 228. Presents a letter to Clive on the restraints imposed on him, 356. New terms imposed on him equally humiliating, 358. His death and character, 378. Presents made by him to Clive, 385.

	Dowla, Sujah ad. See oude.

	Dowla, Suraja, Subahadar of Bengal, his character and first acts of his government, III. 145. Offended with the English, 146. Attacks and takes Calcutta, 147. Shuts up its defenders in the Black Hole, 149. Loses Calcutta and Hoogly, 156. Concludes a treaty with the English, 158. His new dispute with the English, 162. Plan formed for his dethronement, 163. Defeated at Plassy, 167. Assassinated, 169.

	Dowla, Syeff ul, succeeds his brother Nujeem, as Suahdar of Bengal III. 378. Dies of the small pox, 432.

	Drake, Captain Francis, his early disposition for naval enterprize, I. 8. Account of his several voyages, ibid. 9. Knighted by Queen Elizabeth, 10. Takes a Portuguese East Indiaman, 16.

	Drake, Mr. Governor of Calcutta, accused of quitting it improperly, III. 148.

	Drapier, Colonel, arrived of, in India, III. 205.

	Droits, of prize money, demanded of the East India Company, by King james, and Lord High Admiral Buckingham, I. 45.

	Druids, resemblance of their doctrines to those of the Brahmens, Magi, Chaldeans, and Egyptians, I. 162, note, 292. Their philosophical attainments, II. 68.

	Duan, functions of, assumed by the East India Company, III. 462. Ruinous consequences of this measure to the Indians, little known to the Directors, 463. Mode adopted for performing those functions in the collection of the revenue, ibid.; in the administration of justice, 467.

	Duannee, in Bengal Bahar, and Orissa, granted by the Emperor, to the English, III. 363.

	Dubboy, fortress of, taken by Goddard, IV. 47.

	Dubois, Abbé, on the practice of the Hindus of settling law-suits by arbitration, quoted, I. 246, note. On the defeat of judicial administration in India, ibid. On the tenure of land in India, 265, note. On the little merit due to the Vedas, 370, note. On the extensive prevalence of the doctrine of the metempsychosis, 371. On the treatment of women in India, 388, note. On marriages by purchase in india, 392, note. On community of wives in Madura, 396, note. On the state of painting and music of the Hindus, quoted, II. 39, note. Extract from, exhibiting a correct delineation of the rude features of Hindu poetry, 56, note. On the poetry of the Scalds, quoted, ibid. On the passion of the Hindus for the wonderful, 61, note. on the Hindu fortifications, 184, note.

	Duncan, Governor, his opinion of the claims of the Nabob of Surat, VI. 255, 258.

	Dunda Rajapore, taken by Sevagee, II. 366.

	Dundas, Henry, presiding member of a Committee of the House of Commons to inquire into the causes of the war in the Carnatic, IV. 462. His speech against Indian delinquency, 463. Urges the legislature to specific propositions against Mr. Hastings, 465. His bill for the regulation of the affairs of India, 468. Trivial nature of his services as President of the Board of Control, 491. Nature of his bill to discharge the debts of the Nabob of Arcot, V. 18. Defends the measure in the House of Commons, 22. His idea of security unfounded, 28. his sentiments on the proposed appointment of Lord Macartney, as Governor-General of India, 38. His speech on Mr. Burke's motion for papers, 42. Objects to the production of papers relative to Oude, 48. Defends Mr. Hastings, 55. His conduct on the Declaration Bill, 77. His conduct on the bills for renewing the company's charter, VI. 6.

	Duperron, Anquetil, on the interest of the ryots in the land quoted, I. 277, note. On the obscenities of Crishna, 309, note. On the hospital for animals at
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Surat, 369, note. On the ancient intercourse between the Asiatic, Indian, and European nations, II. 97, note. On the absurd mode of teaching in the Hindu schools, 104, note. On the disposition of the Brahmens to accommodate their sacred records to European ideas, 107, note. On the origin of the exaggerated accounts of travellers, in their narratives, and of scholars, as to any languages they have learned with difficulty, 144, note. On the perfidious character of Indian princes, 173, note.

	Dupleix, Joseph Francis, his early history, III. 57. Resemblance of his character to that of Buonaparte and Frederic the Great, 58, note. Deemed, by his talents, the fittest person to superintend the business of the French Company at Chandernagor, 58. His activity when raised to the station of Governor of Pondicherry, ibid. His opposition to the plans of Labourdounais, 59. Vehemently resists the restoration of Madras to the English, 61. First deludes the Nabob, and then defeats him in battle, 65. Basely breaks faith with the English, 66. His enterprise against Fort St. David, 67. Defeated in his attack upon Cuddalore, 71. His vain boasting on the failure of the English attack on Pondicherry, 73. His policy in supporting the pretensions of Chunda Saheb to the government of the Carnatic, 89. Gifted with the sovereignty of eighty-one villages, 92. Secretly intrigues against Chnda Saheb, from whom he had received these villages, 93. Dexterity with which he extricates himself from difficulties, 97. Appointed Governor of the Mogul dominions on the coast of Coromandel, 100. Characterized as an audacious contemner of truth, 104, note. Falsely charges Major Lawrence with the murder of Chunda Saheb, III. further trait of his perseverance, and the resources of his mind in difficulties, 113. His attempt to engage Mortez Ali, Governor of Velore, in the interest of the French, 116. Attempts a negotiation with the English, 121. General prejudice entertained against him both in France and England, 124. Is supperscded, 125. Returns to Europe, 130. Ill treated by his nation, 131, which, Voltaire says, hastened his death, 132, note.

	Dupuis, on the worship of the planets by ancient nations, quoted, I. 335, note.

	Dustucks, meaning of, III. 32.

	Dutch, commencement of their East India Company, I. 19. Expel the Portuguese from the Moluccas, 36. Take two English Indiamen, 38. Present a memorial against the proceedings of the English Company to King James, 39. Compromise between them and the English, 40. Destroy Polaroon, 46. Execute Captain Towerson and nine Englishmen, having first applied the torture, ibid. Claim an exclusive right to the Moluccas, Bandas, and Amboyna, 51. Entitle the seat of their government in India, Batavia, 53. Their treaty with the Portuguese, 67. Capture four English East Indiamen, 71. Alarmed at an open trade by the English, 77. Ceylon possessed by them, 78. Their subterfuges to evade the cession of Polaroon, 86. Polaroon and Damm ceded to them, ibid. Their fisheries, 96. Cerne, island of, taken and denominated by them the Mauritius, III. 48. Send a large reinforcement of troops to their settleincent in Bengal, 257. The whole of these troops made prisoners or killed, and six Dutch East Indiamen taken by the English, 258. Purchase Nagore of the Rajah of Tanjore, IV. 101. Involved on this account in a war with the English, 102. Negapatnam and Trincomalee taken from them, 193. Five Indiamen taken from them in Saldanha Bay, 208. Sell the forts of Cranganore and Jaycottah to the Rajah of Travancore, V. 273. Their settlements in india and at the Cape of Good Hope taken by the English, VI. 60.

	Dutens, Mr. published a work to prove that the modern discoveries in the arts and sciences may be found in the writings of the ancients, II. 107, note.

	Dutta Scindia, Mahratta chief, defeated by Sujah ad Dowla, II. 420.

	Duvelaer, M. envoy on the part of the
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French in the negotiation of a peace with the English, III. 123.

	Dyeing, art of, among the Hindus, II. 19. Among the Persians and Colchians, ibid. 20. Scarlet dyed by the Chinese more exquisitely than by any other nation, 21, note.



	East India Company, Dutch. See Dutch.

	East India Company, English, its origin, I. 10. Its first character, 21. Its first voyage, 22. Account of its eight succeeding voyages, 24. Its charter renewed, 25. Its first establishment on the continent of India, 26. made a joint stock company, 27. Profit of eight voyages made by it, and of four others, subsequently made, 28. Sir Thomas Roe's advice to the Company, 29. Opens a trade with Persia, 35. Rivalship which the Company experiences from other European nationa, ibid. Establishes settlements at Polaroon and Rosengin, 38. Two of its ships carried away by the Dutch, ibid. Its reply to the Complaints made by the Dutch to King James, 39. Forms a treaty with the Dutch, 40; which the Dutch evade, 42. Its contest with the Portuguese, 44. Its success in further voyages, 45. Demands upon it by King James, and the Duke of Buckingham, ibid. Entrusted with the exercise of martial law, 52. Ill success of its trade with Persia, ibid. Seeks reparation for the injury at Amboyna, 53. See Amboyna. Establishes factories at Masulipatam and Pullicat, which are afterwards relinquished, ibid. Account of further voyages, 55. Its charter renewed, 56. Its third joint-stock, 58. Its connexions along the Eastern coast of Hindustan extended, ibid. Forms a treaty with the Portuguese, 59. Alarmed for its privileges, 60. Its charter violated by King Charles, who grants a trading licence to Sir William Courten, 61. Question, to whom the property of the Company belonged, agitated, 64. Its fourth joint-stock, 65. Its magazines seized by the King, ibid. Its first settlement at madras, 66. Its trade languishes for want of funds, Ibid. Unites with Courten's association, and is denominated the United Joint-stock, 68. Disputes among the owners of its different stocks, 73, 76. Obtains a new charter from Charles the Second, 82. State of its capital and trade, ibid. obtains the cession of Bombay from the Portuguese, 84. Refractory conduct of its servants in India, 87. Altercation between the two houses of parliament on a transaction of the Company, 88. Projects a trade with japan, 91. Increases its funds, 93. St. Helena granted to it by royal charter, 94. Value of its adventures from the year 1674 to 1682, 97. Establishes an agency in Bengal, ibid. Commences a trade with China, 98. Establishes new regulations for its servents, 99. Threatened with a rival company, 100. Greatly in debt, 101. Obtains the powers of admiralty jurisdiction, 102. Occasions a revolt, by an attempt to lessen the expences of its government, 103. Goes to war with the native powers in India, 104. Is bent on acquiring territory, 108. Employs Armenian brokers in preference to its own servants, 109. Again threatened with a rival company, 111. Severity of its proceedings against private traders, ibid. Obtains a new charter from King William, 113. Amount of sums expended by it to bribe men in power, 115. Successful attempts of a new association against it, 119. Estates of the Company made liable for its debgts, 121. Union, effected between it, and the new Company, 128, 130. Constitution of the United Company minutely described, III. 2, et seq. Amount of its trade, export, and import, 9, 10. Its mode of transacting business, 11. Plan of its government in India, 14. New charter granted it by George the First for improving the administration of justice, 17. Further account of its exports and imports, 22. Obtains a seven years’ extension of its charter, 23. Obtains a proclamation against interlopers, ibid. Empowered to seize, as guilty of a high misdemeanour, all British subjects found in India, and not in its service, and to send them home for punishment, 25. Authorized by parliament to borrow
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money, but for the purposes of trade only, 26. Sends an embassy to the court of Feroksere, the Mogul, 27. Account of the disputes arising from the private trade of its servants, 32. Parliament petitioned against its monnopoly, 34. Efforts of the Company in support of the monopoly, 38. Arguments employed by the Company examined, 39. The advocates of the Company successful in parliament, 42. State of its trade from the year 1730 to 1744, 43. State of its dividends, 44. Attempts and accemplishes a further prolongation of its exclusive privileges, 45. Further account of the state of its trade, 75. Begins to act as a warlike power in India, 77. Obtains Pondicherry, 233. Its pecuniary distress, 270, note. Discord in its council in Bengal, 274. Its resentment of the contumely of Clive and other of its servents, 286. Nature of the private trade of its servants, 290; and the disorders produced by it, 292. Shameful instance of the injustice of its servants, respecting duties on the internal trade, 300. Takes the military power of the Subadaree of Bengal into its own hands, and forms an arrangement for the civil government, 319. Condemns the private trade of its servants, 323. Prohibits its servants from receiving presents, 325. Statement of sums received as presents by its servants from native princes, 326. Obtains a jaghire from the Nabob of Deccan, 343. State of the corruption and rapacity of its servants on the second administration of Clive, 353. its orders for abolishing the inland trade and prohibiting the receipt of presents disregarded, 355, 365. Condemns Clive for extending its dominions, 359. Acquires the duannee in Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa, 363. Committee of its Supreme Council in Bengal convert private trade into a monopoly for the exclusive benefit of the superior servants of the Company, 266. Recommends a reduction of military allowances, 271. Consequences of this measure, 373. Further prohibitory orders by the Company respecting private trade, and further disobedience in its servants, 379. Parliament assumes the control of its rate of dividend, 384. The territories of the Company not held by it in sovereignty, ibid. State of its affairs on the departure of Clive from India, 385. Increase of its financial difficulties during a period of profound tranquillity accounted for, 389. Its expedition against the Rajah of Ghurka unsuccessful, 390. Distress of the finances on the breaking out of the war with Hyder Ali, 391. New arrangements for paying the higher order of its servants, 392. Orders the operations of its troops to be confined within its own territories, 393. Further account of its financial distresses, ibid. Bills drawn by its servants in india upon the Company at home, effects of this proceeding, 394. Its troops take possession of the Northern Circars, and conclude a treaty with Nizam Ali, 402. The Company involved by this treaty in a war with Hyder Ali, 403. See Hyder Ali. New arrangements of its claim to the soveeignty of the Indian territory, 427. From the grievous failure of its annual treasures a board of supervisors devised for the remedy of evils, ibid. Allowed by ministers to send out a king's commissioner to India, 429. The vessel in which the supervisors take their passage lost, and no intelligence of her or her passengers ever received, 431. Further increase of the Company's pecuniary difficulties, 433. Committee of the House of Commons appointed to investigate its affairs, 437. Terms on which it petitions for relief, 439. Change in its consstitution by parliament, 441. Effects of the change, 444. Financial and commercial state of the Company, 454. Vices of its administration by its servants in India, when Mr. Hastings was appointed Governor-General, 458. The Company openly assumes the functions of the duan, 462; ignorant at the same time of its consequences, 463. Boasted improvement of the Company's finances in Bengal, by Mr. Hastings, refuted, 514. Commencement of the new government framed by parliament for the Company's affairs, 518. Pretended disapproval of the Company to the obtaining Salsette
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by force, 541. Approves of the treaty with Ragoba, 549. Plans of taxation, proposed by Mr. Hastings and Mr. Francis, rejected by the Company, IV. 12. Directs the restorotion to office of Mr. Bristow and Mr. Fowke, who had been removed by Mr. Hastings, 19. The Governor and Council decide by vote that the directions of the Company in this business shall not be complied with, 19. The removal of Mahomed Reza Khan and the establishing Munny Begum, disapproved by the Company, and ordered to be reversed, 25. Expresses its approvalof attacking the Poonah states, 37. Its indignation at the unsuccessful result of this attack, 38. Sir John Lindsay vested by the Company to take command of its vessels of war in the Indian seas, and treat and settle matters in the Persian Gulf, while secretly appointed by the Crown as minister plenipotentiary, 60. Dangerous consequences of these jarring powers in the same person, ibid. Government of India in the hands of the Company more likely to have a favourable result, than in the hands of the ministers of the Crown, 74. Conduct of the Directors of the Company in England on the dethronement of the Rajah of Tanjore, 103. The Commany appoints Lord Pigot Governor of Madras, 105. Orders a Committee of Circuit to be formed for ascertaining the state of the country subject to the Madras Presidency, 108. Orders Lord Pigot, who had been imprisoned by the council of Madras, to be restored to office, 121. See Pigot. Appoints Sir Thomas Rumbold Governor on the recall of Lord Pigot, 122. See Rumbold. Expresses its disapprobation of the treaty of Vizerm Raz, 128. Appoints Lord Macartney on the removal of Rumbold, 191. Represents to ministers the evils resulting from the Supreme Court of Judicature appointed by parliament, 278. New board for the regulation of its revenues, 312. Expresses its disapprobation of the treatment of the Rajah of Benares by Mr. Hastings, 354. Its animadversions on Mr. Hasting's removal of Mr. Bristow and Mr. Fowke, 406. Its decision respecting the treatment of the Begums, 420. Legislative proceedings relative to its loans and dividends, 456. Discussions relative to the renewal of its charter, 487. Regulations introduced on the renewal of its charter by Lord North, 460. Bill for restraining the Supreme Court of Judicature, 462. Petitions parliament for peconiary relief, 467, 485. How its dividends are made when there are no profits, 486. Bills introduced into parliament for the better government of its affairs, 495, 470, 486. See further, Dundas, Fox, Pitt. Effects of the Board of Control on the Company, 489. State of its government in India on the departure of Mr. Hastings, V. 9. Remonstrances against payment of the Nabob of Arcot's debts, as ordered by the Board of Control, 20. Appoints Mr. Holland Governor of Madras, but opposed in it by the Board of Control, 30. New bills in parliament for the better management of its affairs, object of the first, 58; object of the second and third, 60, 61. Allowed to raise money and increase its stock, 62. Attempts to recover its power, 69; but subdued by Mr. Pitt's declaratory bill, 72. Votes an annuity of 5,000/. and other sums to Mr. Hastings, 230. Territory of Rhandaterrah assigned to it, to liquidate a long standing debt, 267. Though pleased with Sir A. Campbell's arrangements, yet considers injustice to have been done to the Rajah of Tanjore, 300. Makes an addition to the sums required of the Nabob of Arcot, ibid. Approves the measure of taking possession of his revenues, 309. Sends out recruits of men and money on the war with Tippoo, 345. Its finances in 1793, 544. Renewal of its charter opposed by the English merchants and manufacturers, VI. 2. Adds 2,000,000/. to its stock, by subscription, 5. Debates in parliament on renewal of its charter, 6. Imposes additional burdens on the nabob of Oude, 41. furruckabad ceded to it, 238. Its desire for good government in India, 286. Its in structions to Lord Mornington respecting the Nabob of Arcot, 261.
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Takes upon itself the debts of the Nabob, 297. Government of the Carnatic seized by it, ibid. Approves of the proceedings against the Nabob before it knew what the proceedings were, 298. State of its revenues from 1793 to 1805, 543, et seq. See further Control, board of.

	East India Company, French. See French.

	Ecbal, account of, II. 274.

	Ecbatana, city of, and its palace, II. 11, note.

	Education, low state of, among the Hindus, II. 104. Attention paid to it by the Turks and Persians, 106. Considered by the Americans of Mexico and Peru, as a principal duty of the government ibid, and note. Insufficient as a remedy for Indian crimes, V. 510, 541.

	Edwards, captain, gives evidence of Clonel Hannay being the occasion of the insurrections of Goruckpore, IV. 387.

	Egerton, Colonel, one of the committee sent to settle the government of Poonah, IV. 35.

	Egypt, intelligence of the French expedition to, VI. 86. The fleet destroyed by Admiral Nelson, 88.

	Egyptians, chronology of, I. 134. Worshippers of the sun, 335, note. Worshippers of the ox and other animals, 367. Their method of counting, 93, note. Their degree of civilization estimated, 202, note.

	Ekojee or Angogee, half-brother of Sevagee, he and his posterity left Rajahs of Tanjore, II. 359.

	Elements, origin of the worship of, I. 339.

	Elephanta, cave of, II. 4.

	Ellavanasore, taken by the French, III. 176.

	Elliott, Sir Gilbert, articles of impeachment by, against Sir Elijah Impey, in the House of Commons, V. 67.

	Ellis, Mr. one of the Bengal Council, characterized as of a violent temper, III. 275. Appointed chief of the factory at Patna, 286. Instances of his arbitrary conduct to the Nabob of Bengal, ibid. Threatens and afterwards invades Patna, 303.

	Elphinstone, Mr. ascribes to the Afghauns a love of the subileties of metaphysics, II. 69. His account of the tenets of the sects called Soffees, 76, note.

	Embassy, sent to the Mogul by Queen Elizabeth, I. 19. Of Sir Thomas Roe, to the Mogul court, 29. Result of the measure, 58. By the East India Company, to the court of Feroksere, III. 27. By the Supreme Council, to the Rajah of Berar, IV. 34. By Lord Mornington, to the King of Persia, VI. 160.

	Emir Jumla, account of, II. 335. Made Vizir to Shah Jehan, 336. His exploits, in concert with Aurungzebe, in Deccan, ibid. Aids Aurungzebe in the defeat of his brother Suja, 345. From the jealousy of Aurungzebe sent to make war against the King of Assam, 351. Returning from the expedition is attacked with a dysentery and dies, 352.

	Emir Jumla, favourite of Feroksere, his plots against the two Seyds, hussun and Abdoola, II. 385.

	Emrut Rao, affairs of Poonah administered in his name, VI. 327. Intention ascribed to him of burning that city, 343. Flies from it, on the arrival of General Wellesley, 344.

	English commercial and nautical spirit of, under Queen Elizabeth, I. 5. Instances of the use of tortue by, 48. Increasing prosperity of, from the accession of James the First, 92. Pretended descent of, 133, note. Accused of blind opposition to innovation, II. 23, note. Defeats of their code of laws, 443. Their laws charged with being more cruel than the Mahomedan law of mutilation, 447. English notions of law irrational, V. 433. English despotism a cause of Indian crimes, 474. For military transactions of the English, see the names of the respective places which were the scenes of them, and the names of the officers by whom they were performed.

	Erroad, taken by the army under Lord Cornwallis, V. 289.

	Ethics, statc of, with the Hindus, II. 76.

	Evidence, Hindu laws relating to, I. 232. Remarks on the English law of, V. 52. Some of the rules of,
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examined, 96. Self-convicting evidence examined, 132. In evidence alone consists the trial of a cause, 245. Circumstantial evidence, 248.

	Excavations, Indian, II. 4, note. Their wonderful appearance partly ascribable to nature, ibid.

	Expedition, grand instrument of success in war, II. 344.



	Factories, establishment of, injurious to the profits of the East India Company, I. 91.

	Factorships, not to be held by Members of the Supreme Council in Bengal, III. 369.

	Ffairfax, Major, reason assigned by him, why a share of the plunder at Bidjagur was refused to Mr. Hastings, IV. 553.

	Fakeers, mortifications and torments which they inflict on themselves, I. 352. Indecency of those who travel in pilgrimage, 398, note. Curious history of a tribe of, who gave alarm to Aurungzebe, II. 352.

	Falsehood and dissimulation, height to which they are carried by the Hindus, I. 402. Supposed to have been the cause of the trial by ordeal, ibid, note.

	Famine, through India, II. 329. In Deccan, 349. Destructive ravages by, among the inhabitants of Bengal, III. 432. Sufferings by, at Madras, IV. 222.

	Ferdosi, poet, entertained at the court of mahmood. II. 223.

	Ferguson, Dr. on works of magnificence executed by rude nations, quoted, II. 11, note. On the historical construction to be put on the legends of ancient heroes, 62, note. On the qualities and habits of civilization apparent in the naked savage, 141, note.

	Feroksere, son of Azim Ooshaun, proceeding by which he attained to the throne, II. 382. Murders with which he begins his reign, 384. Plots against the life of the two seyds, who had helped him to advancement, 386. His wars with the Seiks, 388. Trhows himself on the mercy of the Seyds and is dethroned, 391. Cured of a disreputable disease by an English surgeon, III. 28. Benefit derived from this circumstance to the East India Company, ibid.

	Feroze, son of Daood, Mahomedan sovereign in Deccan, II. 307.

	Feroze, son of Mahomed the Third, agricultural and other improvements made by him, during his sovereignty, II. 627.

	Feroze, son of Mallek, an adventurer, his reign, II. 249.

	Feudal system, idea of, never had existence in India, IV. 102.

	Finances of the East India Company. See East India Company.

	Fine arts, state of, with the Hindus, II. 32, 195.

	Fire oblations to, one of the Hindu sacraments, account of, I. 436.

	Firebrace, Sir Basil, his intrigues with the two East India Companies, I. 129, note.

	Fisheries, state of the Dutch, in the reign of James the First, I. 96.

	Flattery. See Adulation and Panegyric.

	Fleas and other vermin, treated with a preserving care by the Hindus, I. 368, note.

	Fletcher, Colonel, killed in the celebrated battle of Colonel Baillie with Hyder Ali, IV> 167.

	Fletcher, Sir Robert, takes Allahabad, III. 360. His concern in the restoration of the Rajah of Tanjore, IV. 110. Put underar rest by Lord Pigot, 118.

	Flint, Captain, defeats the operations of Tippoo Saib, at Tiagar, V. 295.

	Floyd, Colonel, surprises and takes Sattimungul without bloodshed, V. 290. Retreats and is obliged to quit it, 291. Wounded in a skirmish with the troops of Tippoo Saib near Bangalore, 317. His operations at the siege of Seringapatam, VI. 123.

	Floyer, Governor, extracts of letters by, to Pretaupa Sing, King of Tan jore, III. 80, note.

	Fo, instances of the incarnation, II. 192.

	Foot of a King, why, according to Zoraster, placed in Heaven, and the rest of his body in the lower regions, I. 369, note.

	Forbes, Mr. on the Indian excavations, II. 4, note.

	Forde, Colonel, his operations in Carnatic, III. 249. Takes Masulipatam, 252. Defeats the Dutch near Chinsura, 258.
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Forster, Mr. cites an instance of the extravagant pious ejaculations of a Persian in distress, I, 293. Says Hindu women are debarred the use of letters, 388, note. On exclusion of the Hindu women from society, quoted, 393, note. On the deportment of the Russians, 400, note. On the bodily strength of the Afghauns, who abstain from animal food, 412, note. On the filthiness of the Hindus, 419. On the expertness of rude nations in the use of tools, II. 30, 31. Says the Hindus have a slender knowledge of the rules of proportion, and none of perspective, 33. On the similarity of customs in the various nations of Asia, quoted, 190.

	Fort St. George, first building of, I. 66.

	Fort William, built and constituted a presidency, I. 125.

	Fortifications, value attached to them by the Hindus, I. 181. Nature of Hindu fortifications, II. 184, note.

	Fowke, Joseph and Francis, indicted for a conspiracy. III. 563.

	Fowke, mr. Francis, deprived of the office of Resident of Benares, by Mr. Hastings, IV. 18. Office restored to him by the Directors, 407.

	Fox, Charles James, Provisions of his two India bills stated, IV. 470. Ferment excited by them in the nation, 475. Interference of the King on the Subject of them, 476. Justice of the outcry against them examined, 477. Character of the bills, 480. Character of the arguments opposed to them, 484. His attack upon Lord Macartney repelled by mr. Pitt, V. 37. His reply to Mr. Dundas on a charge of having overloaded the patronage of India, 46. Urges the appreciation of evidence in the charges against Mr. Hastings while fresh in the memory, 87. His speech as accuser on the trial of Mr. Hastings, 95. Charges ministers, after having voted for the impeachment, with attempting to defeat its end, 109. Rebukes the improper language of Mr. Law on the trial, 136. Abstract of his speech imputing cruelty to Mr. Hastings, 164, note. Severity of his strictures on the professors of the law, 472. Sums up the charge on presents, 217. His speech on the bill for renewing the Company's charter, VI. 14.

	Foxcroft, sent to superseds Sir Edwards Winter at Fort St. george, is imprisoned by him, I. 87.

	France, Isle of, account of its first possession by the French, III. 47.

	Francis, Mr. appointed a memeber of the first Supreme Council in India, III. 457. His arrival at Calcutta, 518. His plan for levying taxes, IV. 7. Objects to Mr. Hastings's plan on the subject of taxation, 10. Opposes him on other points, 13, 21. Duel between him and Mr. Hastings, 55. Departs for Europe, ibid. Appointed one of the Select Committee of the House of Commons on the inquiry into the proceedings of the Supreme Court of Judicature, 461. Major Scott's philippic against him, V. 61, note. When called to give evidence on the trial of Mr. Hastings, why not permitted, 128, 206. His plan of Indian finance blindly and enthusiastically adopted, 409, note.

	Frazer, General, defeats part of Holkar's army at Deeg, VI. 486.

	Frederick, colonel, his illness and death, V. 327, 328.

	French, their East India Company projected by Colbert, I. 90. Send twelve ships to Surat, 94. Form an establishment at Pondicherry, 108. Take Madras, III. 47. Further account of their settlements in India, and nature of their government, ibid. Appoint Labourdonnais Governor of their islands in India, 49. Send a fleet to India with hostile designs against the English, 52. engagement between theirs and the English fleet, 57. Improvement of their colony in Bengal byh Dupleix, Governor of Pondicherry, 59. Attack Fort St. David without success, 69. Support the pretensions of Chunda Saheb to the government of the Caarnatic, 89. Their attempt upon Trichinopoly baffled, 110. Defeat the English, and are defeated in their turn at Gingee, 114. Obtain the assistance or hte Mysoreans and Mahrattas, 115. Amount of their forces, 118. Besiege Trichinopoly, 119. negotiation between the French and English entered into, but broken off, 121. Negotiation
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between the French and English governments of Europe, 122. Treaty signed between the contending parties at Pondicherry, 126. French join Salabut Jung, and march against Mysore, 134. Restrained from active opposition by their difficulties in the country of Salabut Jung, 136. Commencement of hostilities between the French and English in Europe, 156. Unjust designs of Clive against the French, 158. Gallantry with which they defend themselves at Chandernagor, 160. Take Ellavanasore, 176. Reduce eight forts in the neighbourhood of Chittapet and Trinomalee, and establish colectors in the districts, 182. Receive a strongreinforcement commanded by Lally, 183. Engage the English fleet, 136. Their forces superior to those of the English, ibid. Take Fort St. David, 195. Undertake an expedition against Tanjore, 198. Proceedings of the French and English fleets, 201. French take Arcot, 204. Bombard Madras, 208. Obliged to relinquish the siege, 212. Naval engagement between the French and English 215. French repel with great gallantry an attack by the English on Wandewash, 216. Driven from the Nothern Circars, 218. Surprise and take Conjeveram, 223. Defeated in the battle of Wandewash, 224. Lose Chittapet and Arcot, 226. Lose Timery, Devi-cotah, Trinomalee, alamparva, and Carical, 227. Lose Valdore, Chillambrum, and Cuddalore, 228. Endeavour to obtain assistance from Mysore, ibid. Lose Pondicherry, Thiagar, Gingee, and Mahé, their last remaining settlement, 233, 234. Possessions restored to the French by the treaty of Paris, 432. Aim at the establishment of a factory at Poonah, and the acquisition of a sea-port on the coast of Malabar, by an agtent of the name of St. Lubin, IV. 29. On a renewal of the war, their Indian posessions again taken by the English, 140. Humanity of their officers, in the service of Hyder Ali, to the English prisoners, 167. Send a large reinforcement from Europe, 205. Their fleet under Suffrein beaten by the English fleet in Praya Bay, 207. Land 2000 troops at Porto Novo, 212. Their fleet again engaged with the English, 214; again, 217. Take Trincomalee, 219. Another engagement of their fleet with the English, 220. French repulse the English in an attack upon their works at Cuddaore, 325. The fleets have a further battle, 326. Cessation of arms between the French and Egnlish, 327. Possessions restored to the French on the conclusion of a treaty of peace. 469. Their settlements in India again captured by the English, V. 397. French force in the army of the Nizam, VI. 29. Their invasion of Egypt. 16. The fleet accompanying this invasion destroyed by Admiral Nelson, 88.

	Frezier, quoted, on the skill of the Indians in conveying water ot their dwellings, II. 26, note.

	Frobisher, Martin, attempts the North West Passage, I. 7.

	Fryer, in his Travels, ascribes to the Gentoos inhumanity both to their cattle and to their sick, I. 369, note. Quoted on the Hindu mode of settling quarrels, 409, note. On the mean and filthy state of the houses of their mercahnts, 420, note. On the skill of their artisans, considering their rude tools, II. 31.

	Fullerton, Colonel, his arrival in India, IV. 209. His expedition into Coimbetore, 239. Establishes a system of intelligence, in which the English has been deficient during the whole war, 241.

	Fullerton, Mr. on the massacre of the English prisoners by Meer Causim, his the only life saved, III. 308.

	Funeral ceremonies of the hindus, I. 448.

	Furruckabad, government of, ceded to the Company, VI. 238. Remarks on the circumstance, 234. Mode in which it is executed, 235. Settlement of the ceded districts, 239. The Zeminders of the new districts refractory, 241. The measure approved of by the Directors, 244.

	Futtee Mahomed, father of Hyder Ali, account of, III. 406.

	Fyzoolla Khan, chief of the Rohilla nation, defeated by the English and the Nabob of Oude, III. 509. Agreement
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of the Nabob with, 512. Treaty to depoil him, IV. 374, 408, 414. His death, VI. 40.



	Gaming, Hindus strongly infected with the vice of, I. 414. Propensity to, of the Chinese and Malays, ibid. note. The vice of all rude nations, II. 40.

	Ganges, sacrifices to, of the Hindus, by drowning themselves in it, I. 358.

	Garcilasso de la Vega, quoted on the method of goverment observed by the Incas, I. 177, note. On the theological notions of the Incas, 296, note. On the wise sayings of an Inca, on religius worship, 329, note. Cites a list of the moral sayings of a celebrated Inca, 363, note. His account of the stately edifices of the Incas, II. 7. On Peruvian agriculture quoted, 26, note. On the skill of the Peruvians in casting and moulding figures, 35, note. On the skill, in imitation, of the Peruvian Indians, 39. On the dramtic works of the Peruvian Amautas, 54. On the establishment of schools in Cozco, by Inca Roca, 106, note.

	Gardener, Colonel, VI. 112.

	Gaurian dynasty, commencement of the first, II. 230. Its termination, 248. Commencement of the second, 249.

	Gawilghur, siege and capture of the fort of, VI. 436.

	Gaznevides, orgin of, II. 216. Provinces belonging to, 224. Their fall, 228.

	Genealogy of the Hindu kings, I. 137

	Gentoo Sepoys, 400 embarked in boats by the English, and left to perish, III. 150, note.

	Gentoos, charged with inhumanity to their cattle and sick, I. 369. Characterized as a treacherous and deceiteful people, 402, note.

	Getes, their ideas of God, I. 292.

	Ghauts, heights in the country of the Mabrattas, IV. 261.

	Ghazeee ad dien Khan Bahadur, appointed by Shah Aulum Subahdar of Guzerat, II. 376. Nominated to the office of Ameer al Omrah, 405. Being appointed to the vice-royalty of Deccan, dies in his way to it, at Aurungabad, 412. His death ascribed to poison, III. 129.

	Ghazee ad dien, son of the preceding, receives all his gather's titles, II. 412. Seizes the person of Ahmed Shah, and sets up a son of Jhander in his stead, 414. Changes his name to Umad ul Mulk, 415. Revots and takes Delhi, 416. Contrives the murder of Aulumgeer, whom he had raised to the throne, 419. Having set Mohee al Sunnut on the throne, shut himself up in one of the strongest forts in the country of Suraje Mul joins the Mahratta army against the Duranees, 421. Further mention of, III. 253, 360.

	Gheause, soverign in deccan, lost his throne and his eyes, after reigning a month, II. 307.

	Gheriah, taken by Clive, III. 153.

	Ghoflar, Seyd, after beginning his career in the English service, acts against them under Tippoo Saib, VI. 113, 114.

	Gholam Khadur, his traiterous and curel conduct towards the Emperor Shah Aulum, VI. 409, 404.

	Gholaum Mahomed, kills his eldest brother, and usurps the Rohilla government, VI. 40. Conduct of the English on that occasion, ibid.

	Ghurka, English expedition aganist the Rajah of, III. 390.

	Gibbon, on the pretension of rude nations to high antiquity, quoted, I. 133, note, 136, note. Charges the laws of the twelve tables with having been written in blood, 217. Characterizes retaliation as an ihuman and unequal preinciple, 219, note. Denominates Blackstone the orthodox judge, 224, note. Quoted on the allegoricxal terms of Pagan mythology, 325. Of all religions, pronounces the Egyptian to be the most contemptible and abject, 326. Asserts supineness and carelessness of futurity to be the invariable cahracter of savage nations, 413, note. Quoted on the carpets and linen garments of the Goths, II. 17, note. On the inferences to be derived from the Heruli and Lombards in their native wilds cultivating flax, 27, note. His cahracter of the Khoran, 59, note. Says that the art and genius of history have ever been unknown to the Asiaticsm,
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64, note. Makes the mordern Persians totally ignoaut of the victory of Sapor, ibid. Quoted on the investigation of metaphysical questions by the Mahomedans, 69. On the copiousness of the Arabian language, 80, note. Supposes all the Scythian and much of the Indian science to have been derived from the Greeks, 97, note. Characterizes pastoral manners as adapted to the fierce and cruel habits of a military life, 141, note. Quoted on the little skill of the persians in the military art, 190. ZOn exaggerated accounts of the Egyptians 204, note. His first object in writing to inspire admiration, to impart knowledge only his second, 212.

	Gifts, to the priests, in the Hindu religion, form an essential part of expiation and sacrifice, I. 163.

	Gilchrist, Mr. supposes the digits and the letters of the alphabet of the Hindus to have been hieroglyphics, II. 100, note.

	Gillies, Dr. his account of the sumptuous tissues and houses of the Babylonians, II. 17, note.

	Gingee, taken by the French, III. 99. Attacked by the English unsuccessfully, 114. Taken by the English, 234.

	Gingens, Captain, defeated by Chunda Saheb and the French near Volconda, III. 102.

	Gingis Khan, chief of a Tartar tribe called Moguls, formidable combination of Tartar tribes formed by him, II. 236. Takes Pekin and adds the northern provinces of China to his empire, ibid. Other places reduced to his sovereignty, 237. Date of his death, ibid. Possessions of his descendants, 270.

	Glass-making, art of, known to the Hindus, but not sufficiently to he turned to any useful purpose, II. 42. First discovered by the Jews, ibid. note.

	Goa, the great Mart between the Portuguese and Indians, I. 17. Portuguese masters of, 35. Blockaded by the Dutch, 78. Taken by Mahomed, son of Nizam, II. 309.

	Goddard, General, succeeds to the command of the troops on march from Bengal to Bombay, IV. 41. Entrusted with powers to negotiate with the rulers of Berar, ibid. Situation in which he is placed by imperfect and congraditory intelligence, 42. Marches across India to Surat, 45. On the failure of the negotiation, takes the field and storms Ahmedabad, the capital of Guzerat, 48. Surprises the camp of Scindia and puts his army to flight, 49. Takes Bassein, 260. Farther operations of his army, ibid.

	Godheu, M. sent to negotiate a peace with the English, and supersede Dupleix, as governor of Pondicherry, III. 125. Having effected the object of his mission departs for Europe, 132.

	Godolphin, Lord, appointed arbitrator between the old and new East India Company, on their union, I. 130. The Company how constituted at that period, III. 2.

	Gods, multiplicity of, acknowledged by the Hindus, I. 285. Lofty description of their attributes in the Hindu books, 289. Meaning of these expressions in the mouths of rude people illustrated, 290. How described by several nations, 291. Excessive growth of flattery to the gods exemplified in the Hindus, 313. Ideas of the gods rude, 329. Titles given to gods given also to kings and great men, 336, note.

	Goguet, M. quoted on the claim of nations to high antiquity, I. 133, note. On the things most worthy of observation in the Egyptian history, 148, note. On the recent origin of human society, 152, note. On the division of a people into tribes and professions, 173, note. On the treatment of Athenian women in the barbarous times of Greece, 3879, note. On the entire ingnorance of the Peruvians and mexicans in building vaults, II. 14, note. On the tissues of the Eastern nations, 17, note. On the engraving on fine stones, as evidence of the progress of the arts, 28, note. On the use of poetry, before the art of writing was known, 45, note. On the mode of calculation by the negoreson the coast of Juida,
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93, note. On the antiquity of the invention of numerical characters, 99. On the attainments of the Egyptians, 203.

	Gohud, Ranna, of, alliance of the English with, IV. 49. Invasion of his territory, defended by Captain Popham, 51. His territory passes to the English, VI. 500. Resigned by Lord Cornwallis to Scindia, 527.

	Golconda, privileges granted by the King of, to the English East India Company, I. 58. Kingdom of, founded by Koottub al Mulk, II. 310. Besieged by Aurungzebe, whose son marries the king's beautiful daughter, 335. Besieged a second time by Aurungzebe, and carried by treachery, 371.

	Gombroon, principal station of the East India Company in the Persian Gulf, I. 44.

	Gomastah, office of, as broker, III. 13. Villainous practices of, in carrying on business, 317, note, 386.

	Gooroo Govind, prophet of the Seiks, account of, II. 379.

	Goring, Mr. sent to investigate the accounts of Munny Begum, III. 558.

	Goruckpore, causes assigned for the insurrection in, IV. 386.

	Goths, skill of, in manufacturing carpets and linen garments, II. 16.

	Government, origin, of, universally derived from pretended divine authority, I. 154. Instances cited, ibid, note. Hindu from of, 175. Misery and disorder in human life, the cause of its origian, 217. Good government in India more likley to be effected by the Company, than by the ministers of the Crown, IV. 74. Fine opportunity lost, of compensating the peooke of India for the miseries of ill government, V. 416. Government in India rendered difficult by the state or morals, 490. English government often places itself in a state of opposition to the people, 504, note. No regular and effective restraint on bad government, VI. 52. Bad judicial system, and a bad taxing systgem, render the subversion of any government desirable, 221, 222. Lord Mornington's ideas of the properties desireable in a system of government, 223. Anglo-Indian government different, according to the different classes of Indian princes, 303.

	Governor-General of Indian, consent of the King to the appointment, taken away, and tghe power of recal given instead, V. 61.

	Govindpore, granted to the East India Company, I. 125.

	Govind Sing Gunga, question of his character, on the trail of Mr. Hastigs, V. 151.

	Gourdass, Rajeah, proposed as Dewan to the household of the young Nabob of Bengal, III. 480. The office conferred on him, 558. Taken from him, 570.

	Gowdies, Major, takes Rayacottah, V. 336. Instance of his humanity in the assault, by his troops, of nundydroog, 338.

	Graham, Mr. Thomas, appointed to reside at Benares, IV. 19.

	Grain, manner in which the trade of, is carried on in India, V. 332. Indian practices to enhance the price of, VI. 50, 51, and note. Lord Cornwallis's army distressed for, 109.

	Grammar of the Hindus, account of, II. 68, 78.

	Grant, Charles, made accountant to the Provincial Council of Moorshedabad, III. 558. Bribes offerd him by the head eunuch of Munny Begum, ibid.

	Gray, Mr. his account of the villainous practices of the Gomastahs in business, III. 317. note.

	Greenland, coast of, character of the savages found there by the Danes, I. 422, note.

	Grey, Mr. his speech on the first charge against Mr. Hastings, V. 95. Moves an adjournment of the trail, and afterwards to proceed daily to judgement. 202. Sums up the evidence on the first charge, 217.

	Griffin, Admiral, arrives with a reinforcement, in India, III. 70. His letter to Nizam al Mulk, 94.

	Griffiths, Major, killed in the battle of Laswarree, VI. 425.

	Gualior, fort of, taken by Captain Popham, IV. 52. Considered as ceded to the English, VI. 499. Restored by Lord Cornwallis to Scindia, 527.

	Guests, receiving them with honour,
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one of the sacraments of the Hindus, II, 439.

	Guntoor, jaghire of, bestowed on Bassault Jung, III. 403. Leased to the Madras Presidency by Bassault Jung, and by the Presidency to the Nabob of Arcot, IV. 137. Madras Presidency ordered by the Supreme Council to restore it, 171. Circar of, demanded by Lord Cornwallis of Nizam Ali, V. 259.

	Guthire, Colonel, wounded moratally in the assault of the fort of Tatteeah, VI. 249.

	Guzerat, reduced by the Mahomedans in the eleventh century, II, 222. Rebellion in, the reign of Akbar, 305. Invaded by the Coolies, 317. Reduced under the Mahratta dominion, 397. History of the English Operations in, VI. 442.



	Hackery, Hidn vehicle, described, II. 22.

	Hafiz Rhamut Khan, joins the army of the Dooranees against the Mahrattas, II. 520. His character, III. 489. His gallant defence against the English and Nabob of Oude, 508. Killed in the battle, ibid.

	Haris on the human body, pretended amount of, I. 359.

	Hakim, brother of Akbar, his revolt, II. 300.

	Halhed, Mr. quoted on the Gentoo epochs, I. 135, note. On the Hindu chronology, 140, note, 141, note. On an impure brood introduced among the Hindus by one of their kings, 171. On the interest of loans among the Hundus, 205. On community of goods enjoyed by the same family among the ancient Jews, 211, and note. On the ignorance of the Hindus as to the law of testamentary bequest, 215, note. On the subject of indecent crimes amont the Hindus, 230, note. On the folly of allegorizing the Hundu mythology, 238, note.

	Halt, military term, striking instance of effect in the use of it, III. 216.

	Hamilton, Captain, accuses the East India Company of the practice of torture, I. 49, note.

	Hamilton, surgeon, instance of his disinterestedness in favour of the East India Company, II. 287, note, III, 28.

	Hanging, Hundu mode of, I. 218.

	Hannay, Colonel, insurrection in goruckpore ascribed to his oppressions, IV. 386. Reports against the Begums proceed from him and his officers, 389.

	Hannibal, French ship, heroism displayed by it, in an engagement with the English in Praya Bay, IV. 207.

	Harcourt, Leutenant-colonel, operations of his troops in Cuttack, VI. 441.

	Harem, of the Rajah of Beejanuggur, women admitted into it never permitted again to see even their nearest relations, I. 394, note.

	Harland, Sir Robert, appointed King's commissioner in India, IV. 71. His sentiments favourable to the Mahrattas, 72.

	Harper, Captain, sent to the camp of the Rohillas to negotiate a treaty, III. 493. His account of the manner in which benares and Gazepoor werecultivated, 341.

	Harris, on the interest of the ryots in land, quoted, I. 276, note. On the religion of the Tartars, 324, note.

	Harris, general, with the army of Velore, invades the territory of Tippo saib, VI. 46, 47. Arrives with his army before Seringapatam, 106. Takes the place by strom, 112. Detail of the assault, 115.

	Harrow of the Hindus, II. 22.

	Hartley, Colonel, commands the army in malabar, and defeats a portion of Tippoo Saib's forces, V. 296. In active service in the second war against Tippoo, VI. 99.

	Herri Sing, defeated and massacred by Hyder Ali, III. 409.

	Hastings, Warren, routine of offices through which he passed in India, previous to his nomination to that of governor-General, III, 457. East India Company's sentiments of his qualifications, 459. Directors recommend, as one of the first measures of his new office, ot seize mahomed Reza Khan, naib duan of Bengal, 472; which he executes, 473. Arrests Rajah shitabory also, who held the same office at Patna, 476. His reasons for consiogning the young Nabob of bengal, during his minority, to the care of Munny Begum, 479, and note. His reasons for appointing Rajah Goordass to the office
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of dewan to the Nabb's household, 480. His reasons for delay in bringing Mahomed Reza Khan and Shitabroy to trial, 482. Shitabory, after being tried and acquitted, having died of a broken heart, Mr. Hastings appoints his son chief agent of finance in the province of Bahar, 483. Stimulates the Nabob Vizir of Oude to conquer the Rhoillas, 499. Sels the provinces of Corah and Allahabad to the vizir, 502. Conceals the project of destroying the Rohillas from the Council and Court of Directors, 504, 505. Places a private agent with the Vizir, ibid. Performes his promise of assistance to the Vizir, and the Rohillas are conquered, 507. Refuses to lay official papers before the new Council, 520. Accused of receiving presents, 554. Charges the party in the Supreme Council who are gainst him, with a design to supersede him, in his authority, ibid. Accused of receiving annually a large sum from the Phousdar of Hoogly, 555. Accused of receiving a present from Nunny Begum, 558. Accused by Rajah Nuncomar of receiving presents and bribes, 560. Opposes all inquiry, ibid. Ordered by the Supreme Council to refund what he had thus illegally received, 561. Prosecutes Nuncomar, ibid. Corrupt motives alleged against him for this proceeding, 564. Allws the law to be grossly violated in favour of his Banyan, 568. Accusations brought against the mode adopted by him of collecting the revenues, IV. 2. Plan proposed by him for levying taxes, 4. His plan for the improvement of the civil judicature, 7. His conduct censured by the Directors, 14. Tenders his resignation to the Court of Directors by a private agent, 15. On his resignation being accepted, disavows his agent, and refuses to resign, 16. Removes Mr. Bristow from Oude, 17. Recalls mr. Fowke from Benares, 18. Disobeys the Directors, who order these persons to be restored, 19. Re-establishes Munny Begum and the Naib Subahdar, 25. Recommends a connexion with the government of Berar, 33. Fights a duel with mr. Francis, 55. His journey to Benares, 314. On his arrival, puts the Rajah under arrest, 328. See Benares. His conduct respecting the plumder at bidgegur, 349, 354. his treatment of the Rajah of Benares condemned by the Directors, 355. His defence of his conduct in the proceeding, ibid. On his arrival at Oude, removes Mr. Bristow from the office of resident, 272. Agrees with the Nabob of Oude to plunder the Begums, 373. his conduct in this proceeding animadverted upon and reprobated, 380. Receives a present of 100,000/. from the Nabob, 399. Gives the Nabob permission by treaty to despoil Fyzoolla Khan, 414. Sets aside an inquiry into his conduct respecting the Begums, ordered by the Directors, 621. His designs against Mr. Bristow, 423. his plan for the removal of the residency from Oude, 431. Charged with the practice of suborning letters, 434. Repeats his visit to Oude, 438. Witnesses at Benares the miserable effects of his own measures, ibid. Resigns and embarks for England, 441. Financial results of his administration, ibid. His intrigues against Lord Macartney, governor of Madras, 448. Things to be considered in reviewing his conduct and character as governor-General, 453. Animadversions on his conduct respecting Scindia and Shah Aulum, V. 11. His reply to a charge of connivance with Scindia, 15. Impeachment of, contemplated, 39. Mode of proceeding against him, recommended by Mr. Burke, 41. Articles of charge against him enumerated, 54. Charge against him as to the Rohilla war, voted by H. of Commons, unimpeachable, 56. Change in the sentiments of ministry on this charge ascribed to some unknown cause, ibid. Commencement of proceedings on his impeachment, 62. Difficulties respecting his impeachment, as to evidence, 63. Articles of impeachment voted by parliament, 65. Commencement of his trial, 82. managers of the trial propose to decide on each article separately, which is opposed by his counsel, 87. the court sides in the
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question with the lawyers, 89. proceedings on the first charge, relating to CheyteSyng, 95. His counsel argue against putting questions tending to lessen the credit of witness, 96. The court agrees with the counsel, 100. The majority of witnesses favourable both to Mr. Hastings and his crimes, 101. Proceedings on the second charge, relating to the Begums of Oude, ibid. Charge relating to presents, 103. Petitions the House of Commons against Mr. Burke's accysation of his having murdered Nuncomar by the hands of Sir Elijah Impey, ibid. Debate on the subject, 106. Copy of his letter to the India House Excluded as evidence, 117. Minutes, containing the examination of Nuncomar respecting presents, objects to by the Counsel, 118, and rejected by the Lords, 121. Eveidence of minutes of a consulation signed by Mr. Hastings, objected to and excluded 122. Instances of the exclusion of other evidence against him, 127-138. His speech complaining of the length of his trial, 140. Strange ideas of government disclosed by Mr. hastings and his masters, 144. Other evidence produced against him, excepted to, 151, 157. The Commons agree to shorten the trial, 169. Proceedings on the fourth charge, of his wasting public money on dependants, 176. HIs address to the Lords on the length of his trial, 177. Odium gradually attaching itself to the trial, investigated, 180. Causes to which the length of the trial is ascribadle, 182. Close of the trial on the part of the prosecution, 188. His defence, 189. Counsel, heard in his defence, 191. Complains again of delay, and petitions the Lords on the subjects, 194. 212, 217. His remittances to England, 196. Proceedings on the part of the defence closed, 198. Proceedings in reply, 204. Accuses Mr. Burke of falsehood, 209. Summing up of evidence in reply, 217. Judgement of the Lords, 224. Sums voted to him by the East India Company, 230. The real causes of the length of his trial, 232. Cause of his principal errors and misfortunes, 275.

	Havamaal, Scandinavian poem, charneter of, and extract from, II. 77.

	Heath, Captain, hasty proceedings of, on the first hostilities in Bengal, I, 106.

	Henry, Dr. on the rude and indecent manners of the Anglo-Saxons, quoted, I 398. Account by, of the Bards of the North, II. 55, mote.

	Herinacheren, one of the incarnations of Vishnu, fable of, I. 305.

	Helvetius, on the cause of avarice in Eastern nations, quoted, I. 147. On the character of the Kamschatkans, II. 30, note.

	Herodotus, quoted on the antiquity of nations, I. 134, note. On the division of political associations into classes, 159, note. On the division of land, by Sesostris, among the people, I. 259, note. On the respect of the Egypttian priests for every thing that has life, 368, note. On the mode of counting by the Egyptians and Greeks, II. 93, note. On the character of the Indians, whose mode of life resembled the Bactrians, 210, note.

	Heroes, worship of, how occasioned, I. 336. Supposed not to have been an early practice with the Hindus, ibid.

	Hetopadesa, moral and popular book of the Hindus, has parts too indecent to be translated, I. 398. Story in, of a man cutting off his wife's nose because she would not speak to him, 406. Sayings from, respecting princes, II. 168.

	Hill, Mr. Member of the Madras Council, dismissed from the Company's service, IV. 138.

	Himu, Vizir, account of, Ii. 295.

	Hindus, their division of the present age of the world, I. 134. Account of their pretended primitive sire, 136. Character which they assign to the several yugs or divisions of the world, 141. Resemblance of their yugs to the four ages of the world by the Greeks, 142, note. Their legends not reconcilable with any order of real events, ibid. Destitute of historical records, 144. Have no record of so recent, 144. Have no record of so recent an event as that of Alexander's Expedition, 145. Their customs and manners the same now as in the early period of their history, 146. The institution of their theo-cracy
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particularly referred to the divinity, 155. Their division into castes proves the remoteness of their institutions, 157. Account of the first caste, the Brahmens, or priests, 159. The second caste, the Cashatriyas, or military class, 165. Third caste, the Vaishyas, or husbandmen, 167. Singular degradation of the fourth class, Sundras, or servants, ibid. Hindu form of governments, 175. Prerogatives and duties of their kings, military, 180; judicia, 182. Their mode of administering justice, 184, 185. Analysis of their constitution, 187. Analysis of their constitution, 187. Their code of laws, 191. Division and arrangement of their laws, 193. Their civil laws, 198. Laws of purchase and sale, ibid. Of bailment, 201. Of letting and hiring, 202. Of loans, 203. Of succession, 210. Hindus not acquinted with the power of disposing of property by testaments, 214. Their penal laws, 216. Cruelty of their laws, 217. Their law of relation, 219. Inequality in their pubnishments, 222. Want of proportion in their punishments, 226. Their classes of offences, 227. Their laws of judicature, 232. Their laws relating to evidence, ibid. Their different modes of trial by the law of ordeal, 240. Their law in what respect deficient in exactness, 242. Their practice of determining lawsuits by arbitration, 246. note. Outline of their ancient system of taxation, 247. Their tax on the produce of the soil, 252. On Moveables, 254. On purchases and sales, ibid. Poll tax, 255. Property in land, by the ancient laws and institutions of the king, 260. Their present practice in this respect corrsponds with ancient law, 263. General picture of the Hindu mode of occupying the land and sharing its produce, 266. Advantages and disadvantages of the Hindu mode of raising the public revenue from the land, 277. Scarcely any other mode known to the ancient Hindus but that of receiving taxes in kind, 280. Influence of religion on the condition of the Hindus, 282. Their accounts of the creation, 285. Lofty descriptions of the divine attributes in their books, 289. Their ideas of providence, 297. Account of the avatars in their mythology, 299. Their three divinities on trinity, 311. Persecution and controversies occasioned by this distinction of their gods, 314, and note. Their mythology not easily allegorized, 325. Worshippers of the sun, 333, 431. Their worship of heroes, 336; of abstract ideas, ibid.; of the elements, 339. Their religious ceremonies, 340, 432. What held impurities by them, 344. Their penances, 346. Their Fakeers, 352. Aisterities practised by their Yogees, or penitents, 353. Their practice of human sacrifices, 356. Pure language of their morality, 369. Their obscene worship, 365. Their worship of anmals and plants, 367. Their doctrine of the metempsychosis, 371. Their idea of future rewards and punishments, 374. Their manners, 376. Their students, 377. Their marriage ceremonies and observances, 382, 446. Condition of their women, 383. Practive polygamy, 395. Their grossness of language, 397. Their gentleness, 399. Their proneness to adulation, 401. Their practice of falsehood and perjury, 402. Their insensibility to the feelings of others, 403. Their inhospitality, cruelty, and ferocity, 405, 406. Their timidity, 407. Their Litigiousness, ibid. Their proneness to foul language, 408. Their physical form 409. Acuteness of their organs of sense, 411. Their love of repose accounted for, 412. Their amusements, 414. Their avarice, 416. Their mode of transacting bargainsm, 418. Simplicity observed by them in the furniture of their houses, ibid. Their physical uncleanliness, 419. Importance which they attch to the forms and ceremonies of behavious, 421. Their attachment to astrology, and belief in witcharaft and sorcery, 422. Their funeral cremonies, 448. Their ats, those only which are cultivated by barbarians, II. 8. State of their architecture, II. 8. State of their architecture, ibid. Their skill in weaving, 14. Celebrated for their dyeing, 19. Their progress in agriculture,
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22. Their contrivance for irrigation, by tanks, 25. Their skill in jewellery, 27. Their dextrerity in the use of rude tools, 29. Practice of their tradesmen to do the works of each customer in his own house, 32. State of the fine arts with them, ibid. Have made little or no progress in statuary and sculpture, 33; and in painting, 35. Their music devoid of all excellence, 37. Their talent for imitation in mannual and some of the fine arts, 39. Claim the invention of the game of chess, ibid. Their acquintance with the art of making glass, 42. In the mechanical arts inferior to the Chiness, 43. Their literature has never exceeded the first stage, 45. Their poetry, 46. Their dramatic entertainments, 52. Have no historical compositions, 60, 145. Have no regular work on geography, or chronology, 65. Their ethical precepts, 76. Their books on grammar, 78. Copiousness of their language, 80. Their knowledge of physicis, 84. Are superficial botanists, 86. Praises bestowed on their astronomy, examined, ibid. Praises betowed on their astornomy, examined, ibid. Their knowlege of mathematics, 97. Their arithemtic, 99. Their claim to leraning, 101. Their institutions of education, 104. Antiquity of their astronomy examined, 110. Inquiry into their ancient state of civilization, see Civilization. Their propersity to appropirate every thingof antiquity to themselves, 152.

	Their ancient state, a scence of cruel wars and conquests, 159. Their country anciently divided into a number of petty states, 162. Degraded state to which they are reduced by despotism and priestcraft, 166. Their despotism cruel and ferocious, 168. Their sanguinary punishments for complaints against the magistrates, 170. Most of their sovereigns described as mischievous, 171. Frequency of their seasons of calamity, 180. Their roads and bridges no proof of civilization, ibid. Exaggerated accounts of their riches, 181. Rude state of their riches, 181. Rude state of their military art, 184. Their little knowledge of medicine and surgery, 185. Comparison of them in civilization with the europeans in the middle ages, 186. With the Chaldeans, assyrians, Babylonians, and Persians, 189. With the chinese, 192. Their state of civilization compared with that of the Mahomedans, 424. Question examined, whether they were benefited or injured by the Mahomedan conquest, 428. Inferior to the dmahomedans, in the classification of the people, 429; in the form of their government, 430. Their metaphysical knowledge, 462.

	Hindustan, stinted form of its poor inhabitants ascribale to the extrem oppression under which they have laboured, I. 410, and note. Extent of, II. 158, note. Ancient state of, 159. Divided into numerous states, 162. Invaded by the mOguls, under musnood, 237; under Timur, 248; under Feroze, 251. Invaded by Nadir Shad, 401.

	Hinglais-Ghur, fort of taken by the english, VI. 474.

	Hircarahs, meaning of III. 13.

	History little skill of the Hindus in, I. 144, II. 60. Defect of the persians in, 63.

	Hobart, Lord, placed at the head of the Madras Presidency, VI. 49. Wishes to transfer to the Company the entire management of the districts of Carnatic ceded to them. 55. His disputes with the Supreme Board, 58. Nominated governor-General, 62.

	Hodges, Mr. on the sculpture and carving of the Hindus, quoted, II. 34, note.

	Holderness, Lord, appointed on the part of the East India Company, to negotiate a peace with the French, III. 123.

	Holkar, Jeswunt Rao, escapes from Scindia, and is defeated by him in an engagement near Indore, VI. 314. Gains a victory over Scindia, and gets possession of poonah, 319. Effect of thhis victory upon the affairs of the Peshwa, 322. Peace with him sought by the English, 463. His designs suspected, ibid. Negotiations with him, 464. His demands deemed extravagant, 465. Leagues, with Scindia,
Edition: current; Page: [591]
406. Hostilities resolved on aganisnt him, 468. Retreats before General Wellesley, 471. Advances againnst Colonel Monson, who retreats, 474. Executes a stratagem to recover Delhi, 480. The whole of his possessions taken, 484. His cavalry defeated by General Frazer, 486. Another part of his cavary defeated by General Lake, 487. Joined by the rajah of Bhurtpore, 490. Joins Scindia, 511. Advances into the country of the seiks, 535. Disposition of General Wellesley to destroy him 536. Reduced to extremity, makes peace, 538.

	Holkar, Mulhar Rao, surprises the camp of ahmed Shad at Seconda, II., 414. Joins Gazee ad Dien with a large army against the French and Salabut Jung, III. 129. Account of his posterity, VI. 313.

	Holland, Mr. sent by the Madras presidency as resident at Hyderabad, IV. 134. Proposes to the Nizam to remit a debt of five lacs of rupees due from the Company, 136. This proposal condemned by the governor General and Council ibid. Recalled by the madras presidency, and appointed to the same office by the Supreme Council, 170. Nominated to the madras presidency by the Directors, but the nomination overruled by the Board of Control, V. 30. Advanced to the Presidency, 272. Blamed by the Governor-General for not commencing war on Tippoo Saib, 281. Objects to the war, 282. Returns to England, 285.

	Holt, Mr. questioned on the cause of the insurrection in goruckpore, IV. 387.

	Holwell, Mr. quoted on the tenure of land in India, I. 263. Invested with the command at Calcutta, when deserted by its governor, III. 148. Appointed to the government of Bengal, pro tempore, 271. Ordered by the Court of Directors to be dismissed from the Company's service, for contumelious language, 286.

	Hoogly, in bengal, portuguese, after establishing themselves, driven out of it, II. 330. Taken by the English under Clive, III. f156. Mr. Hastings accused of receiving bribes from the Phouzdar of, 555.

	Hoolydroog, surrenders to Colonel Maxwell, V. 357.

	Hooly Honore, reduced by Captain Little, V. 348.

	Horn by, Mr. President of the Council at Bombay, implicated by the House of Commons, with Mr. Hastings, IV. 465; V. 40.

	Hospital for dogs and cats, but none for the sick poor in India, before the establishment of the British, I. 368, note.

	Hospitality, Hindus deficient in I. 405.

	Householder, one of the periods into with life is divided by the Hindus, I. 381.

	Hughes, Admiral, his engagements with the French fleet off Ceylon, IV. 241, 217. Agains near trinocmalee, which is characterized as one of the best fought battles on record, 220.

	Humaioon, son of baber, defeats Mahmood, son of the Emperor Secunder, II. 287. Defeat bahadar, king of guzerat, ibid. Loses his army by the perfidy of Shere, and seeks an asylu8m in persia, 288. Returnes and recovers his sovereignty, 202. Killed by a fall from the stairs of his palace, 294.

	Humaioon, grandson of ahmed, his short reign, II. 308.

	Human nature, state of, in a large country occupied by a small number of men, I. 148. First stage in its progreess of improvement, 151. Second stage, 153.

	Human sacrifices, practised by the Hindus, I. 356. Late instance of, attempted at Benares, 357, note. Practice of the wife sacrificing herself on the funeral pile of the husband, 358.

	Humberstone, colonel lands at calicut, and takes several forts in the territories of Hyder Ali, IV. 209. His distressful retreat from Palacatcheryr, 225. Mortally wounded, 232. His character, ibid.

	Humboldt, on the paintings and sculpture of the Mexicans quoted, II. 37. note.

	Hume, David, on the practice of torture in England, I. 48, note.
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On the little attention due to early traditions, 136, note. On the caprice and cruelty of the revolutions of barbarians, 147. On the devotedness of the sex to superstitionj and priests, 166, note. On the pleasure and pain we derive from the pain and pleasure of other, 347, note. On the pleasure derived from surprise and admiration, II. 137, note.

	Hume, Joseph, his opinioon of Mr. Dundas's conduct concerning the Nabob of arcot's debts, V. 22, note. Applies to the Directors for information relative to the money paid by direction of the board of control, 26, note. His observations on the debt, 28, note.

	Huns invade Persia, II. 213.

	Hunter, captain, commands a division of the army in the night attack on the camp of tippoo Saib, V. 364.

	Hunting, Hindus strenuous in the sport of I. 416. All kings fond of it, ibid. note.

	Hurryhur, English army assembled at, VI. 342.

	Hurry Punt, amount of his army acting with Lord Cornwallis, V. 329.

	Hurry Punt Furkea, commands the Mahratta force in Deccan, III. 261.

	Hussun, Cuddum, his government of Poorania, III. 241.

	Hussun Khan seyd, in conjuction with his borther abdoolla, raises Feroksere to the throne, II. 283. Appointed to the office of paymaster to the forces, with the title of Ameer ul Omrah, and his brothher to that of Vizir, 384. Obtains the regency of Deccan, 386. His life plotted against by the Emperor and his favourite, 387. Measures of his government in Deccan, 388. Further plots against the life both of him and his brother, 390. Succeeds with his brother in dethroning Feroksere, 392. Hussun assassinated, and bdoolah taken prisoner, ibid.

	Hyde, justice, countenances the proceedings of the attorney against the Phousdar of Dacca, IV. 291.

	Hyder Ali, extent of his army and resources. III. 228. Decives the French in his promised aid of troops and provisions, ibid. Commencement of his war in Carnatic with the English, 299. Account of him previous to that period, 404. Origin of his first war with the English, 4419. Defeats colonel smith near changamal, ibid. Attacked by the english, with some advantage near Trinomalee, 420. Offier of peace made by him, trated with haughtiness by the presidency, 423. Takes mulwaggle, and gains advantages over Colonel Wood, ibid. Surprises the Presidency by a sudden appearance at Madras, amd compels them to a hasty peace, 424. Harassed by the Mahrattas, courts the assistance of the English, IV. 68. Makes peace with the Mahrattas, at a great expence, both of money and territory, 73. War with the mahrattas being renewed, he ag again seeks an alliance with the English, 145. Offended with the english for their attack of Mahé, 146. Forms a treaty with the Mahrattas and Nizam ali, for a system of combined operations against the English, 150. Plunders porto NOvo and Congeveranm 152. Amount of his army, and dismay occasioned by the ruin which it spread round madras, 135. from the oppressive measures of the English, is well received in carnatic, notwithstanding his devastations, 156. After several conquests, lays siege to arcot, 158. Defeats Colonel Baillie, 163. Defeats Baillie in a second engagement, and obiges him to surrender, 167. Harasses the english in their retreat to Madras, 169. Takes arcot and other forts, 176. Reduces the fortress of Thiagar, and overruns, tanjore, 181. Repulses General Coote, at the fortified Pagoda of chillambrum, ibid. Ventures a battle and is defeated, 184. Ventures another battle, which is ill managed by the English, 135. Suffers in a slight skirmish before Velore, 188. Promptitude with which he obtains intelligence, ibid. His spirited answer to an offer of peace, 192. His death, 224.

	Hyder Jung, Duan of bussy, account of III. 191. Assassinated, 192.

	Hyder Khan, employed to assassinate Hussan, which he executes, II. 395.

	Hyder Beg Khann, Minister of the Nabob
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of Oude, Mr. Bristow's instructions how to treat him, IV. 424. Accusing letter of Mr. hastings to, 426. Pretended letter from, accusing Mr. hasting's conduct respecting both the Nabob and minister, 432. His death, VI. 35. Succeeded by Raja Tickait Ray, 36.



	Jaats or Jits, Eastern tribe, II. 222. Expedition undertaken for thheir entire reduction, 414. War of Nujeef kahn with, III. 551.

	Jaffier Kahn Subahdar of Bengal, account of III. 27m 138.

	Jeffier Kahn Nabob of Bengal, his concern in deposing Suraja Dowla, III. 169, 168. His character, 237. His designs against Dooloob Ram, 246. Desperate nature of his own situation from his cruelties, 271. Dethroned, 272. terms on which he is restored, 305. Demands made on him by the Council, 316. His death, 318. Sums paid by him to thye servants of the company on revolutions in his favour, 326, 328. Sums restored to him, 329.

	Jaghire tenure, nature of IV. 57.

	Jagneth taken by sevagee, II. 360. Retaken by Sheista Khan, 361.

	James, Commodore takes Severndroog and Bancoote, III. 153.

	James the First droits demanded from The East India Company by, I. 45.

	James the Second, his reason against persons under the king's commission acting in Indian, I. 104, note.

	Janogee, Mahratta chief, invades Orissa, III. 144.

	Jaowlle, Rajah of, treacherously put to death by Sevagee, II. 360.

	Japan, discovered by the portuguese, I. 3. Trade to, projected by the English East India Company, 91. Form of the Japanese government, 177, note. Skill of the japanese in all handicraft arts, II. 42. note.

	Java, East India Company's agents retire from, and go to lagundy, I. 53.

	Ibrahim, sultan, reign of II. 226.

	Ibrahim, son of Secunder, his reign an uninterrupted struggle with rebellion, II. 282.

	Iceland, first chiefs in, built none but large houses, II. 10, note.

	Ideas, abstract. See Abstract Ideas. Religious, origin of I. 283. Second stage in the progress of, 284. Have a less tendency to improve than language, 291. Ideas of religious purity and impurityy, how occasioned, 343.

	Jehanâara, renders important service to her brohter Aurungzebe in a critical situation, II. 356.

	Jehandar Shah. See Moiz ad Dien.

	Jangire. SeeMahomed Jehangire.

	Jenkinson, crosses the caspian Sea, and opens a commercial intercourse with Persia, I. 16.

	Jesswunt Sing, deserts the cause of Dara, Throught the artifice of Aurungzebe, II. 339. Is invested with the government of Guzerat, aned sent against Sevagee, whom he defeats, 361. On his death, his children refusing to become Mahomedans occasion a war with the Rajpoots, 369.

	Jewan Bucht, son of Aleegobur, proclaimed Emperor by the Mahrattas, II. 421.

	Jewellery, little skill of the Hindus in, II. 27. State of, among the Hebrws and ohter nations, 28, and note.

	Jey Sing, Rajah of Abuir, sent against Sevagee, II. 361. Suspected and superseded, 364. His death and character, ibid. note.

	Jeysing of Ambere, called to court by Feroksere with designs against the Seyd brohters, II. 390. Recommends violent measures, 391.

	Impeachment, no excellence in the british consitution without the efficiency of V. 166, 172, 175. Impeachment not abated by dissolution of parliament, 170, 174. see the next article, and hastings.

	Impey, Sir elijah, Chief Justice of Bengal, nature of his defence on the charge respecting Nuncomar, III. 565. His mis-statement of facts relative to the patna cause, IV. 300, note. Appointed judge of the Suddr Duannee adulur, 306. See sudder Duannee Adaulut. Recalled to answer to charges against him, 309. Proceedings respecting his impeachment, V. 67. Charged as the agent of Mr. Hastings in the murder of Nuncomar, 103.

	Impurity, Causes of, according to the Institutes of Menu, and the means of purification,
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I. 344. See further Ideas.

	Incarnations of Vishnu, enumerated and described, I. 299, et seq.

	Incas, their theological notions, I. 296. Wise sayings of an inca on religious worship, 329, note. MOral saying, 363, note. Manner in which they wre educated, II. 106.

	India, extent of the British dominions in, I. i. Voyages to, by the cape of Good Hope, attempted, 6, 7. North-West provinces of, early subject to a foreign yoke, II. 207. Invaded twelve times by mahmood, 216,218, et seq. Invaded three times by Musaood, successor of Mahmood, 224. Invaded by iBrahim, 226. Expeditions of Mahomed, the Gaurian, 230, 232. Sovereignty of, Claimed by Cuttub, 234. Invaded by Timur, 244. Deplorable state of the morals of the natives of, V. 465, 473. rumour of an invasion of, by the King of the afghauns, VI. 154.

	India bills. See the names of the respective persons by whom they were introduced.

	Indictment, bill of, remarks on, V. 52.

	Indigence of a people, the grand source of delinquency, V. 534. Remedy for this evil, 538.

	Indore, Holkar's capital, taken by Colonel Murray, VI. 479.

	Influence, on of the articles in the impeachment of Mr. Hastings, V. 176. Instances of his having created it for corrupt purposes, 183.

	Influence, parliamentary, the baneful source of all our misgovernment, V. 23.

	Inglish, Ambajee, seized by the English, VI. 501.

	Ingulph, his palace, II. 10.

	Inheritance. see succession.

	Inland or private trade in India, severity of the East India Company's proceedings against, I. III. thrown open, III. 433. See further, East India Company.

	Innovation aversion of the Hinddus to, II. 23, note. Opposition to, in the English, condemned, ibid.

	Inquity into the sources of revenue, office, of proposed and established by Mr. Hastings, IV. 9, 12. Severe strictures of the Court of Directors upon this office, 14.

	Insurrection, a check on the abuse of sovereign power, II. 432.

	Interlopers, proclamation obtained by the East India Company against, III. 23.

	Investiture of children entering their class, Hindu ceremony of, I. 444, note.

	Johnson, Dr. Samuel, on the Celitic manners of the Highlands of Scotland, quoted, I. 268. note.

	Johnson, Mr. deprived of his seat in the Madras Council, IV. 138.

	Johnson, Mr. assistant resident to Fyzoolla Khan, misrepresentations of that Prince, IV. 418.

	Johnstone, Commodore, his engagement, with suffrein, in Praya Bay, IV. 207.

	Jones, Sir William, quoted on the Hinhdu pedigrees and fables, I. 137, note, 138, note. On the Mahomedan law of succession, 213, note. On the mutilations practised by the Hindus, 218. Uses inaccurately the word paramount, I. 260, note. Quoted on the tenure of land in India, 262. On the theology of the Hindus, 298, note. On the ninth Avatar of the Hindus, 310, note. On the acknowledgment, by the learned Indians of only one Supreme Being, 320, note. On the prevalence among nations of pure theism, 324, note. On the similarity of the pagan deities, and their similar derivation, 332, note. On the morality of the Hindus, 362. On the Sanscrit being vernacular in Hindustan, 370, note. On the habitual perjury of the Hindus, 402. Ascribes salsely three inventions to the Hindus, II. 40, and note. On the state of the mechanical arts with the Chinese, 43. Mistaken in his ideas of the Hindu poet Valmic, and his poem entitled Ramayan, 47, note. Hyperbolizes the merit, in representation, of the Sacontal, drama of the Hindus, 53. Exaggerated merit attributed by him to the Hindu poem, entitled Shah Namu, 57. His account of the Vedanit Doctrine, 71. Accused of not understanding the doctrines of Berkeley and hume, 72. Charged with being ignorant of the intercourse which subsisted between the Hindus
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and the people of the West, 97, note. His credulity respecting the Hindus, 103. Says of the Pundits, that they deal out the law as they please, and make it where it is not ready made, ibid. note. Entertains extravagant notions of Hindu civilization, 138. Mistaken in supposing the Hindus never went abroad, ibid. note. His extravagant panegyrics of the wandering Arabs, 140. Charged with being blind in his theories, to every thing but what is in his own favour, 164, note. Supposes the Indian king Rama, to be the raamaah of Scripture, the son of Cush, 165, note. Characterizes the Hindu code as a system of despotism and priestcraft, artfully conspiring for the support of each other, 167. quoted on the medicinal use, by the wandering Tartars, of herbs and minerals, 185, note. Supposed to have erroneously used the word immaterial, in his translation of the institutes of Menu, 461.

	Jones, Major-general, succeeds colonel Murray in the command of the Bombay army, VI. 496.

	Ishmael, his conquests, II. 283.

	Isis, inscription on the statue of, I. 292.

	Ispahan, taken by an afghaun Chief, II. 399. Retaken by thamas Koolee Khan, 400.

	Issoof, Mahomed, III. 214. His contest with the Nabob of carnatic and the English, 345. Defeats Hyder ali at the pass of Natam, 408. Admirable character of his government, IV. 240.

	Judges, in India, tempatation to misconduct taken from, by taking away their fees, IV. 268, V. 426. Regulations respecting judges of criminal proceedings, 429. Periodical reports required of judges, 430. How appointed in india, 526.

	Judicature, Hindu, I. 185, 232. qualities desirable in a judicatory, 245. New judicature in india, in 1726, account of, III. 17. New judicature in India, instruments by which the powerfuul appress the weak, 468. Plan for the improvement of the civil judicature, IV. 7. Plans of judicature instituted by lord cornwallis, V. 420, 422, 428. Lord Mornington's ideas of the properties desirable in a judicial and financial system of government, VI. 223. See further, Supreme Court, and justice.

	Jugglers, Hindus, and other, I. 415.

	Judia, mode of calculation by the negroes of, II. 93.

	Jumla, Emir, deserts the cause of Dara, throught the stratagem of Aurungzebe, II. 339.

	Jumna, engagement with the petty princes near, VI. 449.

	Jumnajee Anna, adds Salsette and Bassein to the conquests of the mahrattas, III. 527.

	Junkojee, mahratta chief, defeated by Sujah ad Dowla, II. 418,

	Jura, double meaning of the word with the Romans, and absurdity of the English lawyers in adopting it, I. 195, note.

	Jurisprudence, Hindu, nature of I. 182.

	Justice, fine imposed in India on every applicant for, V. 453. Deplorable state of the administration of, in India, 460. giving a good adminisstration of, to india, not impossible, 512. How to be effected, ibid. 521. Remedies for those vices, ibid. 528. Character of the courts of justice in India, one cause of the delinquency of the people, 540.



	Kallean, plundered by Sevagee, II. 360.

	Kam Buksh, mortally wounded in a contest for the succession, II. 376.

	Kanoge, taken by Mahmood, II. 291.

	Keating, dr. his accout of the early genealogy of the irish, I. 133.

	Keigwin, Catpain, revolt of, at Bombay, against the East India Company, I. 103.

	Kei Kobad, his love of pleasure, II. 245. Particulars of his father's interview with, to reclaim him, 246, Dies of a palsy, 247.

	Kelleram, evidence of his unfitness as a renter, not admitted on Mr. hasting's trial, V. 151.

	Kelly, Colonel, dies in defending the passes to carnatic from Mysore, V. 293.

	Kelly, Captain, commands a column at the taking of Deeg, VI. 489.
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Kennaway, Captain, sent to the Court of Nizam Ali to negotiate the surrender of the Guntoor Circar, V. 262.

	Kennaway, Sis John, recommends engagements with the Nizam, which would render the English masters of his country for ever, VI. 21.

	Khalsa, principal office of revenue, reformed, III. 166.

	Khuláasetul tuwarie, histroical Hindubook, II. 151.

	Khundeh Rao, his birth, VI. 314. Proclaimed head of the holkar family, 319, 320.

	Kings, Hindu ideas of, I. 175. Mode in which Hindu kings consult with their ministers, 179, and note. Militaryy duteis of Hindu kings, 180. Judicial duties, 182. Kings and great men receive all the general titles of the deity, 336, note. Foot of a king placed in heaven, why, 369. All kings fond of hunting, 416. Table of Hundu kings, II. 150.

	Kirrunt, book written by Nannuk, gives rise to a sect, II. 378.

	Kistnaghery, daring but unsuccessful attempt of colonel Maxwell upon, V. 341.

	Kiveloor, ransacked for treasures by Lally, III. 199.

	Knox, Captain, his marchh to Patna, III. 266. His gallant defeat of the Naib of Poorania, 267. Commands a column in a night attack on the camp of tippo Saib, V. 364, 369.

	Knox, traveller, describes the chinese as if born solely for hewing rocks, II. 12, note.

	Koempfer, on the form of the Hindu government, quoted, I. 177, note. On the superior skill of the Japanese in all handicrafts, II. 42, note.

	Kokun, or concan, whole region of, taken by Sevagee, II. 360.

	Kooli Khan, Mahummud, subahdar of Allahabad, one of the confederacy against Bengal, III. 253. Taken prisoner and put to death, 256, 486.

	Koran, superior in composition to any work of the Hindus, II. 405, note.

	Kummer ad Dien Khan, appointed vizir by Mahomed Shah, II. 405. Killed in his tent by a cannon ball, in the war with abmed abdallee, 408.



	Labourdonnais, governor of the French Indian islands, takes Madras, III. 46. Account of, 49. His engagement with the english fleet off Fort St. David, 57. Dissensions between him and Dupleix, 60. Honourable treatment he receives when made a prisoner by the English, 63. His unhappy fate in France, 64.

	Lagundy, settlement at, by the English East India Company, I. 53.

	Lahore, pillaged by the Mahomedans under Mahmmod, II. 221. Taken by ahmed abdalee, 408. Taken by the seiks and Mahrattas, 419.

	Lake, General commendations bestowed on him by the governor-General, VI. 394. Takes the field, 396. the destruction of General Perron his main object, 408. Marches towards Delhi, 414. Title bestowed on him by the Emperor, 420. His march to agra, 421. takes possession of Agra, 422. His gallantry in the battle of laswaree, 426. Defeats part of Holkar's cavalry, 487. Authorized to open a negotiation with Scindia, 527, 53. His proceedings with Holkar, 538: towards the Rajah of Jyepore, 540: towards the Rajahs of Bhurtpore and Macherry, 541.

	Lalande, II. 111.

	Lal Dang, treaty of, between Fyzoolla Khan and the Nabob of Oude, III. 512, IV. 409.

	Lall Koor, concubine of Jehandar Shah, II. 382.

	Lally, Count de, his arrival at Fort St. David with a strong reinforcement from Frnace, III. 183. His character,192. Outrages the feelings of the Hindus, 193. Excites the animosity of his countrymen in India, ibid. State of his forces, ibid. His operations cramped by the want of supplies, 196. His expeditioon against tanjore, 198. Takes arcot, 204. Is joined by Bussy, 205. His operations against Madras, 207. Compelled to abandon the siege, 212. His mortification at the departure of d’ aché, from Pondicherry, 218. Disagrees with bussy as to operations against Wandewash, 222. Is defeated, 225. Endeavours to obtain assistance from Mysore for the protection of Pondicherry, 228. Judicious plan
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formed by him, for attacking the English, discoucerted, 230. compelled, for want of stores, to surrender Pondicherry, 233. Atrocious cruelty with which he was treated by his countrymen on his retuurn to France, 234. His execution denominated a “murder committed with the sword of justice” 236. His son a Member of the Constituent Assembly, on the reduction of the french monsarchy, ibid.

	Land nature of the tenure of, with the Hindus, I. 256, 276, note. The sovereign generally the proprietor of, with rude nations, 258, 262, note. Royal grant of land engraved on copper found among the ruins of Monguir, 261, note. Picture of the general mode of occupying land, and sharing its produce, in India, 266 Tenure of land in Europe, after the conquest of the Gothic nations, 278.

	Language, copioussness ascribed to the Sanscrit language, II. 80. Redundancy in language as great a defect as deficiency, 81. Qulaities forming the perfection of language, ibid. note. Language of the Chilians, Malays, and Mexicans, 82. Language of the Auglo-Saxons, 88.

	Larkins, Mr. his evidence on Mr. hastings's trial, V. 210.

	Laswaree, battle of, VI. 423.

	Laurence, Major, commissioned to command the whole of the Company's forces in India, III. 70. Taken prisoner in the trenches of Pondicherry, 72. Takes Devi-Cotah, 82. Joins Nazir Jung with a reinforcement of 600 Europeanns, 96. Returns to England, at a critical period for his army, 102. Returns from England, and joins the army with a reinforcement at arcot, 109. Accused by Dupleix of having commanded the murder of Chunda Saheb, 111. Defeats the French near Bahoor, 115. Character of him and his army, 117. Summoned to the defence of Trichinipoli, 119. Heads the troops in the defence of madras against the French, 208.

	Law, M. blamed for not having intercepted a reinforcement sent under Major Lawrence to arcot, III. 109, note. His retreat to Seringham, condemned by Dupleix, deemed prudent by the english, 110, note, reveals to suraja Dowla the disaffection of his principal officers, 162. With the Mahrattas, invades Patna, 242. repulsed in an attack upon Patna, and compelled to abandon the siege, 265. Distinction with which he is treated by the english on being taken prisoner, 276, and note.

	Law, Mr. one of the council of Mr. Hasting, V. 87. Appeals against the strong animadversions of Mr. Burke, and opposes the mode of proceeding, 88. His censure of brow-beating witness, 102. dictum by him, that aĉcusation without proof is slander, investigated, 134. Rebuked for intemperate language, 136. Admonished by the lord Chancellor, 137. His spirited remonstrance against the managers, 162, note. His defence of Mr. Hastings, 191.

	Law, Mr. brother of the preceding, his speech on a motion of thanks to the managers of Mr. Hastings's trial, V. 221.

	Law, Mr. member of the provincial council at patna, prosecuted by the Supreme Court in India, IV. 288.

	Law, martial, East India company entrusted with the exercise of, 1. 52. Instance of its exercising it, 97.

	Laws, Hindu code of. See Hindus. when two laws command opposite things, both held valid by the Hindeus, I. 212. Minuteness of detail in laws no proof of refinement, 213, note. Cruelty and the principle of retaliation, features of the laws of a rude people, 217. qualities desirable in a body of laws, 242. No nation has so great a portion of unwritten laws as the English, 244. Taxes on law proceedings, a mine of immorality, 251. Resemblance of the laws of the Mahomedans to those of the Romans, English, and other nations, II. 441. Benefit, as to laws, conferred on the French by Napoleon, 443. Defects of the English code of laws, ibid. English laws charged with beiung more cruel than the Mahomedan law of mutilation, 447. Mischief of illworded and indefinite laws, IV. 198. Interpretation of law by courts of law and by parliament, how different, V. 73. Wherevr the law is uncertain,
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or unknown, servitude esists, 243. Impost on commencemnet of suits of law in India, abolished by Lord Cornwalis, 426. the object of a body of laws, to define and secure rights, 432. Irrational notions of englishmen on the subject of law, 433. Suits of law few, where the administration of justice is good, 463. Number of suits of law, a test of the administration of justice, Ibid. Defects of the law in India, one of the causes of the depravity of the people, 474.

	Law-suits, committee of, at the India House, its functions, III. 7.

	Lawyers, wish to establish a belief, that it is criminal to express blame of them V. 250. Publicity and censure the grand remedy for their misconduct, ibid.

	Leeds, Duke of, impeached for receiving a bribe, I. 115.

	Legislation, curious definition of, VI. 226, note.

	Leslie, Colonel, commands a force, destined to marchh across India, from Bengal to Bombay, Iv. 31. Received instructions not to proceed beyond berar, 33. In the course of his progress engages in negotiations and transactions with the local chiefs, 38. Accused of delay, and recalled, but dies before the order reaches him, 40.

	Leslie, john, Scotch professor of Mathematics, on the mathematicla science of the Hindus, quoted, II. 98.

	Letting and hiring, law of, with the Hindus, I. 202. Language of English law defective on this branch of contract, idid. note.

	Levant Company. See Turkey.

	Life, periods into which it is divided by the Hindus, I. 376.

	Lindsay, Sir John, appointed king's commissioner in india, IV. 60. alarm of the Company's servants, on learing the powers with which he is invested, 62. Consequences arising from his investure, ibid. Assumes authority over the President and Council of Madras, 63. Widens the difference between the Nabob and Presidency in Carnatic, 66. Is recalled, 71.

	Lingam, Hindu worship of, I. 366. and note.

	Literature, state of, in a country, the best test of civilization, II. 44. State of Hindu literature, 45. Literature of the Mahomedans superior to that of the Hindus, 459.

	Litigiousness, origin of, in the Hindu character, I. 407.

	Little, Captain, in the army under Lord Cornwallis, reduces the fort of holly Honore, V. 348. Defeats a detachment of tippoo saib's army in a strong position on the river toom, 349.

	Liverpool, rapid increase of the town of, in the begining of the eighteenth century, III. 21.

	Livy, on the attention due to the historical fables of early society, quoted, I. 136, note.

	Loans, difference between, in the early and improved state of society, I. 203. Hindu laws respecting, 205.

	Lodi, commander of an army in Decan, revolts against Shah Jehan, but speedily repents, II. 325. His treatment when called to court, and its consequences, 326. Proceedings of the Emperor against him, 328. His brave defence, till he fell, against the whole army of jehan, 329.

	Lombe, Sir Thomas, excellence of his patent invention for throwing silk, III. 21.

	Looms of the Hindus, wretched state of, II. 19.

	Lords, House of protest by, on the mode of prceeding in Mr. Hastings's trial, V. 92. Decidedly against admitting uncertain evdence, 122. report the authority of the judges on the subject, 124, who coincide with them. 125. the decision complained of from not being accompanied with the reasons on which it was founded, ibid. Determine in a committee, that the trial, according to precedent, was regular, 138. Proceedings of, previous to judgment, on the trial, 222. Their final judgment, 224.

	Lotteries, condemned, I. 251.

	Loughborough, Lord, confirms the doctrine of the efficiency of impeachment, V. 175.

	Lubin, St. adventurer to India from France, account of, IV. 28.
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Lucan, Lieutenant, taken prisoner by Holkar, VI. 475.

	Lucknow, taken by the English, III. 360. Visited by Mr. Hastings, IV. 440.

	Lumsden, resident at Oude, resigns, VI. 169.



	Macartney, Lord, on the character of the Russians, quoted, I. 400, note. Accounts for the excellence of the Chinese in dyeing scarlet, II. 21, note. Mathematical instruments discovered by him at Pekin, prove the science of the Chinese to have been borrowed, 97, note. Charged with inconsiderateness in his account of chinese husbandry, 193. quoted on the chinese knowledge of mathematies and astronomy, 194, note. Appointed governor of Madras, IV. 191. takes Sadras and Pulicat, ibid. Offers peace to Hyder and the Mahrattas, 192. Attacks Negapatnam against the opinionn of the commander-in-chief, 193, and takes it, 194. Urbanity of his conduct to Sir Eyre Coote, who shows a discontented and aangry spirit, 202, not444e. His contest with general Stuart, who fails in seconding his desingsn upon Hyder's army, on the death of its chief, 227. Puts the General under arrest, and sends him to England, 238. His, the first instance of a servant of the King being placed in a high station in India, 248. Treatedtreacherously by Mr. Hastings, when attempting to secure harmony and co-operation, 252. Refuses to obey the order of the supreme council to send a scond treaty of peace to Tippoo saib, in which the Nabob of Carnatic should be included, 257. Accused by the Nabob and his instruments, of incapacity, disorders, and cruelty, 449. Hesitation of the accusing parties to confirm the truth of their accusations by oath, ibid. refuses to obey the orders of the Governor-General to restore to the Nabob his revenues, 452. Appointed govewrnor-General V. 34. Does not accept the office, 35. reforms proposed by him in the government ofIndia, on his return to England, 36. Claims a peerage, 38.

	Macauley, Captain, one of a diplomatic commitee, empowered to act in the war with tippoo Saib, VI. 102.

	Mackdonald, Major, gives evidence against the Begums, IV. 385.

	Mackenize, Humberstone. See Humberstone.

	Mackintosh, Sir James, on the rude figures on men and monsters exhibited at Ellora, quoted, II. 11, note. Conversation of, on theological metaphysics, with a young Brahamen, 72.

	Macfleane, Mr. confidential agent of Mr. Hastings, announces to the Court of Directors his resignation, IV. 16.

	Macleod, Colonel, appointed to the command of the Bengal army, IV. 232. Wounded on board the ship Ranger, engaged with the Mahratta fleet, ibid.

	Macleod, Lord, appointed to the command of the Madras army, IV. 152, 155.

	Macpherson, Mr. succeeds Mr. hastings as governor-General, Va. 1. History of his progress in the service of the company, 2. Distressed state of the Government on his taking the chari, 9. the first objects of his administation, the affairs of the Nabob of Oude, and the proceedings of Scindia, 10.

	Macrae, Lieutenant-Colonel, commands a column at the taking of Deeg, VI. 489.

	Madhoo row, Peshwa, divisions among the Mahratta chiefs occasioned by his death, VI. 33. Succeeded by Bâjee Row. See Mahrattas.

	Madras, first settlement of the East India Company at. I. 66. Settlement not approved of by the directors, ibid. Erected into the presidency of fort st. george, 70. Attacked by the French, III. 46. State of, ibid. Capitulates, 47. Restored, 74. Again attacked, 207. relieved, 211. Surprised and nearly taken by Hyder Ali, 420. Lands around, obtained by the compan, IV. 57. Disputes of its Presidnecy with Sir John Lindsayy, King's commissioner 64. Violent contentions among the members of the Council, 116. Several members of the council suspended, 118. Lord Pigot, the Governor, imprisoned,
Edition: current; Page: [600]
119. Transactions with the Zemindars, 126. Accused by the Directors of underselling the lands, 130. Its transactions with the Nizam, 132.

	Condemned by the Governor-General and four members of its governor, and four members of its Council, dismissed from the company's service, 138. Recommends to the Supreme Council peace with the Mahrattas, 149. Operation of its Council and select Committee against the Mahrattas, 153. Alarmed at the approach of Hyder Ali, 157. Proceedings of the Suprem council for assisting it, 170. Conduct of its Counicl on the treaty of the Nabob of Carnatic with the Supreme Council, 248. President of, appointed by the Board of controul in oppositio to the Directors, V. 30. tardiness of its government blamed by the governor-General, 281. Its President condemns the war with Tippoo saib, 282. Madras government recommends that the revenues of the Nabob of Arcotshoudl be taken out of his hands, 302. Criticizes severely the arrangements respecting the Nabob made by Governor Campbell, 303. Authorised by the Supreme Council to execute the plan it recmmended, 304. Thrown into alarm by the sudden appearance of a party of horse in the neighbourhood, 355. Differnce of opinion between the governor and Council, on the treatment of the new Nabob of Arcot, VI. 58. Differnce between the Madras Presidency and the governor-General, relative to warlike preparations, for invading Mysore, 80.

	Madura, account of, III. 132. War in, ibid. Plan to reduce it to more profitable obedience, 174. Taken by the English, 181. Plundered by Hyder Ali, 423. Corrupt and oppressive government of, by the Company's servants, IV. 240.

	Madury, taken by Sevagee, II. 360.

	Mahadeva, on eof the gods of the Hindus, story of, I. 312. Mahé, taken by the English, III. 234. Again, IV. 144.

	Mahmood, invades India. II. 216, 217. Takes tannasar and Delhi, 218. founds a University, 220. His expedition against Sumnaut, 221. Treasures discovred by him in the belly of one of its idols, 222. His last exploit, death, and character, 223.

	Mahmood the Second, his reign, II. 238. Subjects his wife to household drudgery, 240. Humanely erases a word criticised by an Omrah, ibid.

	Mahmood the third, distractions of the emprie under his reign, II. 269.

	Mahmood, son of Mahomed, sovereign in Deccan, II. 309.

	Mahomed, prophet, Hindu story of, II. 155, note.

	Mahomed ali, Nabob of carnatic, or arcot, joins the army of Nazer Jung, III. 96. Defeated by the french, flies to Arcot, 99. Offers to resign his pretensions to the nabohship of Carnatic, 100. Supported in his claims by the English, 102. Driven out of Carnatic, and obliged to take shelter beyond the cavery, 103. Obtains assistance from Mysore, 108. Dispute between the english and french whether he shold be acknowledged Nabob of Carnatic, 121. Silently acknowledged such by both parties, 126. Vested withh the ensigns of his dignity at arcot, 184. Pays the chout to the Mahrattas, 180. Account of his two refractory brothers, 213. Terms on which he enjoys the diginityy of Nabob, 335. His proceedings against Velore, Tanjore, and the two Marawars, 338. Jaghire demanded of him by the servants of the company. 343. His contention with the Rajah of Tanjore respecting the mound of the cavery, 346. Carnatic bestowed on him by the Emperor, with the titles of Wallau Jau, and Ummir ul Hind, 402. Appointed by the madras presidency phousdar of Mysore, and accused for accepting it, 422. Commanded to return from the army acting against Hyder, 423.
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Relations between him and the English, IV. 57. His situation in consequence of ceding the military defence of the country to the English, 58. Manner in which he is preyed upon by the English around him, 61. Difference between the Presidency and him widened by Sir John Lindsay, 66. Forms an alliance with the Mahrattas, 70. Urges the English to make war upon the Rajah of Tanjore, 80. Sends his two sons to negotiate with the Rajah, 83. Terms of the treaty, 85. Urges the Company's forces to reduce the two Marawar Polygars, 87. Effects the ruin of these Chiefs, 90. Asks of the English another war against the Rajah of Tanjore, 92. Motives on which the Presidency gratify his desires, 93. His contest with the Dutch, 101. Urged for pecuniary aid by the Presidency of Madras, concludes a traty with the Presidency in Bengal, 196. Canduct of the Madras Council upon this treaty, 198. Assignnment of his nevenue, 200. Omitted in the English traty of peace with Tippoo Saib, 256. Made to assign the revenues of Carnatic, 445. Intrigues at his court, 446. Endeavours to defeat the effects of his assignment, 447. His intrigues against Lord Macartney, 449. Succeeds thereby in obtaining from the Supreme Council an order for the surrender of the assignment of his revenues, 450; which Lord Macartney refuses to obey, 452. Intrigues of Mr. Macpherson respecting, V. 2. Payment of his debts ordered by the Board of Control, 17. Remonstrance of the Directors on the occasion, 20. Amount paid of his debts, 26, note. Of his new debts, only one million out of twenty allowed to be good, 28. Further arrangement respecting his debts, 297. Requested to surrender his territory and revenues to the English, 305. His attempts to defeat the purposes of the assignment, 310. Cause of the difficulties in which the English were involved from their connection with him, 312. New arrangements with him, 3952. Dies at the advanced age of seventy-eight years, VI. 49. Effects of the regulations made with him by Lord Cornwallis in 1792, 50. Succeeded by his son, Omdut ul Omrah, which see.

	Mahomed Ameen Khan, Tooraneh Omrah, plans the assassination of Hussun, II. 395.

	Mahomed, eldest son of Aurungzebe, marries the beautiful daughter of the king of Golconda, II. 335. Revolts in favour of Suja, at the instigation of his daughter, 347. Having been imprisoned in Gualior, dies shortly after his release, 348.

	Mahomed, grandson of Mubarick, his reign, II. 278.

	Mahomed Jehangire, story of his marriage, II. 313. Insurrections during his reign in Bengal, Bahar, and Odipore, 315. His journey to Mando, accompanied by the English Ambassador, 318. Proceeds to Guzert, Agra, and Sewalic, ibid. Quells the rebellion of his son Churrum, 320. His ill treatment of his General, at the instigation of the Sultana, 321. Conspiracy formed against him superseded by his death, 324.

	Mahomed Miraza, Tartar adventurer, account of, III. 139.

	Mahomed Reza Khan, appointed Naib Duan of Bengal, III. 320. Presents given by him for his elevation, 256. Severe orders of the Directors to Mr. Hastings respecting him, 472. Is arrested, 473. Nature of the office held by hi, 474. Acquitted, after a confinement of two years, 483. Restored to his situation and power, 569. Complained against by the young Nabob of Oude, IV. 21. Displaced from the care of the Nabob, 24. Ordered by the Company to be restored, 27.

	Mahomed Shah, title assumed by the son of Shah Aulum, when he ascended the throne, II. 393. Sanctions the assassination of Hussan, 395. Disorders in the empire from the weakness of his administration, 396. Revolt of his Vizir, occasioned by his dissoluteness, 397. Purchases peace of the Mahrattas by paying the chout, 399. Invaded, and his capital taken by Nadir, 402. Loses Cabul, Tatta, and part of Multan from his dominions, 404. Called into the field by Ali Mahomed Khan,
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a refractory chief, 405. His territories diminished by Ahmed Adbalee, 407. His death, 409.

	Mahomed, Seid, son of Subder Ali, murdered by a party of Patan soldiers, III. 88.

	Mahomed, son of Ahmed, Governor of Telingana, II. 308.

	Mahomed, son of Mahmood, his eyes put out by his brother, II. 223. Dethroned, 225.

	Mahomed, son of Nizam, sovereign in Deccan, died of remorse for having executed his minister, II. 309.

	Mahomed, styled the accomplished and philosophical, son of Balin, account of, II. 243.

	Mahomed, the Gaurian, after taking Ghizni, pentrates into India and advances to Lahore, II. 225. Defeated near Tannasar, returns and commits immense carnage in another battle, 230, 231. Further exploits of, 232. Murdered in his tent by two Gickers, 234.

	Mahomed the Third, his character and oppressive reign, II. 261.

	Mahomed the Fourth, reign of, II. 268.

	Mahomedans, reduce the Hindus under their subjection, II. 207. Conquer Persia, 212. Invade India, 216, 217. Take Delhi, 219. Overrun Cashmere and invade Lahore, 220. Take Sumnaut and reduce Guzerat, 222. Make Lahore the seat of government, 226. Take Delhi a second time, 231. Add Bahar and Bengal to their possessions, 234. Invade Deccan, 251. History of their kingdoms in Deccan, 305. Their state of civilization compared with that of the Hindus, 424. Their classification and distribution of the people, 430. Their from of government, ibid.

	Mahrattas, power of, by whom founded, I. 86. Instance of the first application of the name to any tribe, II. 254, note. Further account of the origin of the name, and extent of country through which their language is spoken, 357, and note. Account of their contests with Aurungzebe, 372. Receive the chout or fourth part of the revenues of Deccan, to cease from their predatory incursions, 389. The provinces of Guzerat and Galwa reduced under their dominion, 397. their mode of conducting their predatory warfare, 398. Defeated by Sadut Khan, ibid. Obtain the payment of the chout for a peace with Ahmed Shah, 399. Two of their chiefs defeated in their plan for the entire subjugation of Hindustan, 418. Take the provinces of Lahore and Multan from the Abdalee prince, 419. Defeated by the Abdalee prince, and their whole army nearly destroyed, 420. Operations of their chiefs against Bussy, and Salabut Jung, III. 129. Conduct of, in Bengal, 141. Baramahal ceded to them by Hyder Ali, 412. Defeated at Paniput, 414. Further proceedings of against Hyder, 417. Three of their chiefs after a treaty with the Mogul emperor, escort him to Delhi, 485. Attack Zabita Khan, a Rohilla chief, and defeat him in battle, 487. With an army of 30,000 men ravage the country beyond the Ganges, and subdue the territory of Zabita, 492. Negotiations with, by the Subahdar of Oude, broken off, ibid. Restore Zabita Khan and march against Delhi, which opens its gates to them, 495. Unsuccessful in attempting to gain over the Rohillas, 496. English take a part against them, 498. Their council of eight, 525. Leaders of the English army obliged to sign a treaty under their dictation, IV. 36, which is disavowed by the Supreme Council in Bengal, 46. War with, renewed, ibid. Lose Ahmedabad, the capital of Guzerat, 48. Their army under Scindia defeated, 49. Defeated by Captain Popham, 50, and lose the fortness of Gualior, 52. Invade Mysore, and distress Hyder Ali, 68. Seek the aid of the English, which is refused, 70. Negotiate with mahomed Ali, ibid. Extent of their conquests, 72. With the English, 216. At war again with the English, 263. Their transactions in the Ghauts, 264. Termination of the war, 266. Negotation with the Mahrattas of Poonah, 357. Territories yielded up by them, by treaty, 360. Injustice of the war with, tendered as evidence on Mr. Hastings's trial, but excluded, V. 214. Campaign of, with the English, against
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Tippoo, 326. Jealous of the growing power of the English, and impatient to reap the spoil of the Nizam, VI. 20. At war with the Nizam, 28. Death of Madhoo Row, Peshwa of, 39. Clause relative to, in the English partition treaty with the Nizam, 144. Endeavour of the English to make the new Peshwa resign the military part of his government, 305. Negotiations for that purpose, 308, 309, 310. Peculiar crisis in Habratta affairs, 313. Effect of Holkar's victory over Scindia, upon the views of the Peshwa, 321. The peshwa driven from Poonah, repairs to Bassein, 326. Treaty for the resignation of his military power signed at Bassein, 328. Is restored, 344. New war with the Mahrattas, 362, 393. Objects of this war, 394. Benefits derived from it examined, 452, 455. For the operations of this war, see Holkar and Scindia.

	Mail-cotay, Hindu temple, account of, II. 10.

	Maitland, Lieutenant-Colonel, killed in the assault of Bhurtpore, VI, 494.

	Malabar, coast of, marriage contract never introduced there, I. 395. Sexual intercourse there, how restricted, ibid. Operations of the English in Malabar, V. 297. Its territory completely subdued by the English, ibid.

	Malacca, Dutch settlement of, taken by the English, VI. 60.

	Malcolm, Captain, sent on an embassy to Persia, VI. 161. Terms of the alliance formed by him, ibid.

	Malcolm, Sir John, on the state of civilization int he time of Sapor quoted, II. 192, note, Accuses Lord Cornwallis of breaking faith with Tippoo Saib, V. 265. Commends him for his contempt, in the war with Tippoo Saib, of the restricting act, 392, note. Applauds Sir John Kennaway's recommendation of engagements with Nizam Ali, for the porpose of becoming masters of his country, VI. 21, note. Hhis idea of the obligation created by assistance in war, 27. Cited, on the negoualions at Poonah, 84.

	Mallett, on the savages of Greenland, quoted, I. 423. Says the Scandinavians counted the unities to twelve, II. 40, note.

	Malvilly, battle of, VI. 105.

	Malwa, annexed to the mogul dominious, II. 300. Reduced under the dominion of the mahrattas, 397.

	Man, reason for supposing him a recent creation, I. 152, note.

	Manby, captain, his invention for throwing ropes on board vessels threatened with shipwreck, known before to the french, III. 55, and note.

	Manchester, rapid increase of, in the early part of the eighteenth century, III. 21.

	Madelsloe, on indian paintings, quoted, II. 36, note.

	Mandville, on the origin of the admiration bestowedd on the profession of arms, quoted, I. 166, note.

	Manes, one of the Hindu sacraments, account of, I. 435.

	Mangalore, taken by the English, IV. 231. Invested by Tippoo Saib, 233. Diversion in its favour, 239. Defence of, 242. Deplorable state to which it was reduced previous to its surrender, 246.

	Manners, definition of, I. 376. State of, with the Hindus, ibid. A check on the abuse of sovereign power, II. 433. Where manners are good they make up for many defects in the law, V. 479.

	Manuscripts, Bengal, require from the badness of the paper to be transcribed every ten years, II. 97.

	Maphuz Khan, war in madura and Tinevelly prolonged by him, III. 136. Further account of him, 183. Instrumental in occasioning an alliance between Nizam Ali and Hyder Ali, 419.

	Marawars, account of the war with, IV. 87. Their ruin effected, 90.

	Marchand, betrays Mahomed Issoof into the hands of his enemies, III. 346.

	Marlborough, Earl of, sent with a fleet to take possession of Bombay, I. 84.

	Marriage, ceremonies of, among the Hindus, I. 382,445. Not known on the coast of malabar, 895. First instituted among the Greeks by Cecrops, and among the Egyptians by Menes, 396, note. Note observed by the Nassamones in Africa, nor by the ancient Indians of peru, ibid.
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Martial Law. See Law.

	Maskelyne, Mr. III. 366.

	Masnlipatam, factory of the East India Company established at, II. 53. Taken by the French, III. 98. After a severe struggle surrendered to the English, 252.

	Mathematics, Hindu knowledge of, II. 97.

	Matthews, General, invades Mysore, IV. 230. Takes Bednore and other places, ibid. Refuses to divide any portion of the spoil, 231. Superseded, 232. Surprised in Bednore and taken prisoner, 233.

	Manrice, Mr. acknowledges the monstrosity of the Hindu notions of the mundane system, I. 329, note. On the historic poetry of the Hindus, quoted, II. 47. On the ancient kings of India, 165, note.

	Mauritius, island, origin of the name, III. 48.

	Mauzim, second son of Aurungzebe, from his father's fears of him, recalled from the government of Guzerat, II. 349. Declared heir to the throne, and his name changed to Shah Aulum, ibid. His efforts in his father's illness to secure the succession, 350. Sent against Sevagee, 363. Characterized as celebrated for his astronomical learning, ibid, note. Recalled from the army, 365. Sent into Concan to reduce the Mahratta fortresses on the sea coast, 370. Imprisoned, with his sons, for remonstrating against the treachery aimed at the King of Golconda, 371. His contest with his brother Kam Buksh, who is mortally wounded, ibid. His expedition against the seiks, 877. His death, 380, Further mention of, III. 139.

	Maxwell, Colonel, invades Baramahl, V. 293. Effects a junction with General Medows at Caveripatam, 294. Commands a detachment in a night attack on the camp of Tippoo Saib, 362. Killed in the battle of Assye, VI, 430.

	Mean motion, astronomy of the Hindus accurate respecting, II. 91.

	Medical art, state of with the Hindus, II, 185.

	Medows, appointed to the command of a land force in a secret expedition, IV. 206. Arrives with his troops in India, 209. Appointed Governor of Madras, V. 284. His proceedings with the army in Mysore, 288. Returns to Madras, 296. Happy turn of thought by, on the army being apprehensive of a mine, 339, note. Commands a column in the night attack on Tippoo 362, 371. Instance of the harmony subsiting between him and Lord Cornwallis, 367, note. His gallant conduct in the seige of Seringapatam, 378. Rresigns his share of prize money, 387.

	Meeran, son of Meer Jaffier, his atrocities when left by his father Governor of Chandernagor, III. 241. Commotions occasioned by his fear at Moorshedabad, 245. His designs against Dooloob Ram, 246. Characterized as cruel and brutal, 254. Sows the seeds of a new war, 259. His conduct in a battle with her English against the Emperor, 263. Killed by lightning, 269. Question of making his son Nabob of Bengal, 319.

	Merchants, Hindu, singular method of numeration practised by, in purchases and sales, I. 418. note. Ceremonies enjoined them, 444, 445.

	Messengers, Hindu, rate at which they will travel, I. 411.

	Metaphysical speculatios, belong to a rude as well as a cultivated state of societyy, II. 67. Instances in proof, 68. Metaphysical ideas of the Hindus, 462.

	Metempsychosis, Hindu notion of, I. 135, note, 371,

	Mexicans, their chronology, I. 134. Their worship of a Supreme Being, and names by which they buildings, II. 7. Excel in sculpture and casting of metals, 34, note. Their painting, 37, note. Character of their poetry, 37, note. Excellence of their language, 82, and note. Care ascribed
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to them in the education of their youth, 106, note. Mistaken notions of the Spaniards respecting their civilization, 143, note.

	Mickelbourne, Sir Edward, his licence to trade to the East Indies, I. 25.

	Middleton, Dr. on the fundamental principles of modern philosophy derived from the ancients, quoted, II. 107.

	Middleton, Mr. Nathaniel, placed by Mr. Hastings as private agent with the Nabob of Oude, III. 506. Part of his correspondence in that capacity suppressed by Mr. Hastings, 520. Returns, and Mr. Bristow sent to supply his place, 524. Present received by his from Munny Begum, 558. Re-appointed to the court of the Nabod, IV. 17. Removed again and re-appointed, 373. Report made by him of the character and conduct of the Nabob, 377. Instructed to plunder the Begums, if the Nabob refuses the office, 392. His quarrel with Mr. Hastings, 400. Accused by Mr. Hastings, of remissness in his duty, 403. Examined as a witness on Mr. Hastings's trial, V. 101,102.

	Mignan, Colonel, VI. 112.

	Military order in society, ranks high as civilization is low, I. 166. Rude state of the military art with the Hindus, 180, II. 184. and note.

	Millar, Mr. of Glasgow, on the division of nations into classes, quoted, I. 157, note. On the treatment of servants in primitive times, 169. On the condition of women of the American tribes, 389, note. Only writer from whom elucidations of Hindu history can be drawn, II. 139.

	Milton, on the pretended origin of the English, quoted, I. 138, note. On the superstitions respect of the Indians to vermin, 369, note.

	Minchin, Commandant at Calcutta, accused of quiting it improperly, III. 148.

	Ministers, mode in which the Hindu sovereigns consult with them, I. 179, and note.

	Mirepoix, Duke de, Ambassador of France to superinted a negotiation for peace between the French and English East India Companies, III. 123.

	Mirzapha Jung. Nabob of Beejapore, account of, III. 90. Surrenders himself of Nazir Jung, 97. Vested with the power os Subahdar, 100. Shot through with an arrow, 101. By the generosity of Bussy, his son vested with the powers enjoyed by the father, 127.

	Mofussul Duanee Adaulut, civil court in India, how constituted, III. 470.

	Moguls, embassy sent by Queen Elizabeth to the Emperor of, I. 19. Embassy to, by James the First, 29. Emperor of, gives permission to the East India Company to trade in Orissa, 58. State of the Mogul empire, II. 137. Moguls take Pekin, 237. Conquer Persia, ibid. Invade India, 251,252,253. Plunder Deccan, 255. Reduce Carnatic, 261. Found a kingdom in Deccan, 264. Origin of their dynasty, 283. Their learning, 426. English embassy to their Emperor Feroksere, III. 27. Their confederacy against Bengal, 253. Defeat the Governor of Bahar, 261. Defeated by the English near Patna, 263. Form a treaty with the English, 362.

	Mohabet, General of the army of Jebangire, his persecutions by the Sultana, and generous conduct under them, II. 321. Appointed by Shah Jehan Commander-in-Chief of his forces, 325. His generous proceeding toward the Rajah of Bundelcund, whom he held subdued, 326. Governmetn of Candeshh conferred on him, 330. Having taken Dowlatabad, and laid siege to tehngana, falls sick and dies, 331.

	Mohee al Sunnat, placed on the throne by Ghazee, on the death of Aurungzebe, II. 419.

	Mohtesib, office of, III. 468.

	Mohurree, Indian clerks so denominated, III. 14.

	Moiz ad Dien, son of Shah Aulum, and governor of Multan, II. 374. Defeats his brothers, and succeeds to the throne under the title of Jehandar Shah, 382. Suffers himself to be governed by a concubine, ibid. Defeated by Feroksere, and deprived of his throne, 384.

	Molina, on the names given to the Deity by the Araucanians, quoted, I. 291, note. On the language and
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grammar of the Chilians, quoted, II. 82.

	Moluccas, trade begun with, by the English, I. 10. Portuguese expelled from, by the Dutch, 36. Exclusive right to, claimed by the Dutch, 51.

	Monaim Khan, made Vizir to Shah Aulumn, II. 375.

	Money, not known in Persia, till the time of Darius Hystaspes, I. 280, note. First coined in India by Akbar, II. 183.

	Mongheer taken by the English, III. 308.

	Monopoly, of the East India Company, national and parliamentary proceedings against, in 1690, I. 110.

	Monson, Major, appointed to supersede Sir Eyre Coote in the army before Pondicherry, III. 230. In his first operation against Pondicherry, is wounded, 231. Appointed one of the members of the Supreme Council, and the direction of government, IV. 8.

	Monson, Colonel, wounded in the attack on the fort of Allighur, VI. 411. Left by General Wellesley to guard Holkar's motions, 473. His detachment takes the fort of Hinglais-Ghur, 474. Upon Holkar's advance, he retreats, 475. Loss of his irregular cavalry, ibid. Obliged to abandon his guns, 476. Attacked in crossing the river Bannas, 478. Retreats to Agra in great confusion, 479. Commands a column in the attack of Bhurtpore, 495.

	Montagne, Lady Mary Wortlery, on the Turkish mosques, quoted, II. 14, note.

	Montesquieu, on the tenure of land, quoted, I. 263, note. On the religious worship of the Persians, 340, note.

	Montresor, Colonel, VI. 99.

	Moodoo Kistna, favourite dubash of Lords Pigot, III. 105.

	Moor, moslems in India so denominated, III. 65.

	Moor, John, ship-carpenter, instrumental, by his ingeuity, in the taking of Devi-Cotah, III. 82.

	Moore, Lieutenant, his account of the slow proceedings of the Mahrattas in sieges, V. 326: of the death of Colonel Frederick, 327.

	Moorehouse, Colonel, his death and character, V. 318. note.

	Moorshedabad, taken by the English, III. 169, 306. Opinion of the judges of, respecting the moral character of the Indians, V. 509,533.

	Morabba, sides with Siccaram Baboo in favour of Ragoba, IV. 34.

	Moracin, Governor of Masulipatam, III. 206.

	Morad, son of Shah Jehan, his character, II. 388. On his father's illness, joins Aurungzebe against the other claimants of the throne, 339. Treated treacherously by Aurungzebe, and sent prisoner to Agra, 343.

	Morality, the grand test of religion, I. 341. Pure language of the Hindus respecting, common to all rude nations, 360. Morality, with rude nations, almost always degraded by religion, 362. Loose morality, and harsh austerities, combined in the religion of a rude people, 364. The doctrine of future rewards and punishments of no service to morality, 374. Dissolution of morals in India ascribed to English regulations, V. 473. Morari Row, Governor of Trichinopoly, III. 88. Commands the Mahrattas, acting with the English, 180. His territories conquered by Hyder Ali, 415. His territories restored to him, 418.

	More, Sir Thomas, on grammatical distinctions and subtleties, quoted, II. 79, note.

	Mornington, Lord, appointed Governor-General of India, VI. 63. Arrives at Calcutta, 64. Impression of the Sultan of Mysore's proclamation on his mind, 65. Resolves on immediate war with Tippoo Saib, 68. Compelled to relinguish his intention, 80. Makes a new treaty with Nizam Ali, 81. Instructive view of his demands on Tippoo, 90. Rises in his demands, 95. Commences war, 96. Amount of the forces sent by him against Tippoo, 97. The entire destruction of Tippoo his ultimate view in the wars, III. Manner in which he settles the territory of Mysore, on the defeat and death of Tippoo, 137. Meditates important changes in Oude,
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158. Sends away from Oude all British subjects not empoloyed by the Company, 154. Sends an embassy to the king of Persia, 161. Presses the Vizir Ali to reform his military government, 166. His subsequent treatment of the Vizir, 178. Sends his brother Henry Wellesley to him, 209. Projects a journey through the Oude country, 216. His transactions with the Nabob of Oude, 219. His negotiation with the Peshwa, 308. With Holkar, 336. With Scindia, 339. Prepares fore war with the Mahrattas,352. Gives to General Wellesley plenipotentiary commission for peace or war, 352. His plans for conducting the war, 394. His views with respect to Scindia, 446. Concludes a treaty with him, 448. His account of the benefits resulting from the defensive alliancs and the war, 452. That account investigated, 455. Seeks peace with Holkar, 463. Resolves to conquer, but give away his dominions, 469. Provides for the Emperor and his family, 482. His new plan of defence against Scindia and Holkar, 512. Suceeded by Marquis Cornwallis, 516. Company's opinion of his administration, 517.

	Mortiz Ali, negotiates with the French for the Nabobship of Carnatic, III. 117, Attempt by the English to subjugate him, unsuccessful, 135. Proceedings of Mahomed Ali against him 388.

	Moscow, its magnificence, II. 183, note.

	Mostyn, Mr. English resident at Poonah, III. 536. Appointed one of the Committee to settle the government of Poonah, IV. 35.

	Motte, Mr. performs a journey to the diamond mines of Orissa, I. 263. Quoted on the abject state of women in India, 388, note. On the ferocious and cowardly character of the Hindus, 406, note. On the Hindu music, II. 38.

	Mubarick, son of Alla, charachter of his reign, II. 256.

	Mubarick, son of Chiser, assassinated after a just and humane reign of fourteen years, II. 277.

	Mubarick, nephew of Shere, usurps the throne by the assassination of the son of Selim in his mother's arms, II. 291.

	Mudkul, taken by Shajee, father of Sevagee, II. 359.

	Muftee, office of, III. 468.

	Mujahid, son of Mahomed, assassinated by his uncle Daood, II. 306.

	Muir, Colonel, arrives at Gohund to the relief of Colonel Carnac, IV. 266. Empowered to treat with Scindia, ibid. His instructions on that occassion, V. II.

	Multan, part of, detached from the dominions of the Mogul and added to those of Nadir Shah, II. 404. Taken by the Seiks and Mahrattas, 419.

	Mulwaggle, fort, taken by Hyder Ali, III. 423.

	Munnoo, Meer, Governor of Multan, purchases the retreat of Ahmed Abdalee from his province, II. 411. Generosity of Abdalee to his when defeated, ibid. Viceroy, under Abadalee, of Multan and Lahore, when he dies, 415.

	Munny Begum, her appointment to the guardianship of the young Nabob of Bengal, III. 479. Presents made by her to Mr. Hasting, and Mr. Middleton, while she held the office, 557. Removed by the Council in opposition to Mr. Hastings, 558. Replaced, IV. 25. Investigation by the managers of Mr. Hastings's trial, of Naib Subah of Oude, V. III. Records concerning her present to Mr. Hastings, excluded as evidence on his trial, 128, et seq.

	Munro, Sir Hector, takes the command of the army at Patna, III. 312. Subdues a mutiny, 318. Defeats the armies of the Mogul Emperor and Suja Dowla, 314. Terms on which he concludes a treaty with those powers, 315. Appointed one of the Madras Council and Commander-in-Chief of the forces, IV. 122. Censured by the East India Company, 138. Takes Pondicherry, 142. Commands the first division of the army against Hyder Ali, and defeats him, 183. His disagreement with General Stuart in a subsequent battle with Hyder, 186. Commands the expedition against Negapatam and other Dutch settlements, 194.
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Murray, Colonel, advances into the heart of Holkar's dominions in Malwa, and takes his capital. VI. 479.

	Musaood, son of Mahmood, makes three incursions into India, II. 223. Defeated by the Turkmans, 224. Deposed by a mutiny in his army, 225.

	Musaood, son of Feroze, his reign, II. 238.

	Music, of the Hindus, totally devoid of excellence, II. 37. Skill of the Peruvians in, 38, note.

	Mutilation, punishment practised by the Hindus, I. 218, and note. Banishment substituted by Lord Cornwallis instead of, V. 465.

	Mutiny. See Army.

	Mutseddees, or Brahmen council, their proceedings against Ragoba, III. 529.

	Muttra, taken by thhe Mahomedans, II. 219.

	Mysore and Mysoreans. Mysore described, III. 108. Mysoreans claim Trichinopoly of the English, 113. Attempt to take the fort of trichinopoly by surprize, 115. Attack, while allies of the English, their advanced post and destroy every man, 116. Proceedings of Bussy against Mysore, 134. Further account of Mysore, 404. Proceedings of Hyder Ali against the Rajah of 410. Hyder undisputed master of the kingdom, 414. First war of the Mysoreans with the English, 422. See Hyder Ali. Proclamation of the Sultan of, in the Isle of France, VI. 64. Submission of the country of to the English, 124. Object of its settlement under the English government, 137. Ostensible rajahship of, restored, 139. Partition treaty of 144. Subsidiary treaty of ibid.



	Nabob, deputy, how the title came to imply sovereign, II. 418. note. By whom nominated, III. 85.

	Nadir Shah, his low origin, II. 399. Assumes the title of Thames Koolee Khan, ibid. Declares himself king of Persia, 400. Having defeated the Afghauns, invades Hindustan, 401. His horrible slaughter of the inhabitants on taking Delhi, 402. Provinces added to his dominion by his treaty with the Mogul emperor, 404. Massacred in his tent. 407. Further mention of, III. 86.

	Nagore, purchased of the Rajah of Tanjore, by the Dutch, IV. 101.

	Naib Duan, revenue office, abolished, III. 466. Substitution in its stead, 469.

	Naib Subah, or Nazim, supreme magistrate for the trial of capital offences, III. 468. Abolishing the office without an adequate substitute, reprehanded, 477. Duties of, as connected with the household of the Nabob of Bengal, 478.

	Naik, title given to Hindu govenors of districts, II. 359, note.

	Nairne, Major, killed in the assault on Cutchoura, VI. 247.

	Nairs, of Malabar, customs of, as to sexual intercourse, I. 396.

	Nana Furnavese, in the council at Poonah sides with Siccaram Baboo in favour of Ragoba, IV. 31. Overthrows the party of Siccaram, 34.

	Nannuk, prophet of the SEIKS, account of, II. 377.

	Natal, restored to the English, by the treaty of Paris, III. 342.

	Nations, rude, derive peculiar gratification from pretensions to high antiquity, l. 133. The propensity accounted for, 143, note. All ancient nations trace themselves to a period of rudeness, 150. Publicity of judicial proceedings common to rude nations, 186, note. Cruelty and the principle of relation, features of the laws of a rude people, 217. To make laws which cannot or ought not to be executed, one of the characteristics of a rude people, 237. Grossness of language an ingredient in the manners of a rude nation, 398. Rude nations most addicted to gaming, II. 40. Rude nations are neglecrful of history, 60.

	Naval engagement between the English and Portuguese near surat, I. 44, 57. Between the English and French, on the coast of Coromandel, III. 57. Off Madras, 184. Off Carical, 203. Off ceylon, 215, IV. 214. Off Pondicherry, III. 140. In Praya Bay, 207. Off Negapatam, 218. Off Trincomalee, 220, 236.

	Nazim, office of, III. 368.

	Nazir Jung, son of Cheeu Koolich, in a
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revolt aginast his father, is defeated and taken prisoner, II. 405. Further account of, III. 90. Favours the English against Chunda Saheb and the French, 93. His character, 97. Leaves his army for the pleasures of the harem and the chase, at Arcot, 98. Traitorously shot through the heart, 99.

	Neabut Nizamut, office of, III. 476.

	Neemagee Scindia, Mahratta chief, associate with Daood in the attempt on the life of Hussun, II. 387.

	Negapatam, engagement off, between the French and English fleets, IV. 217.

	Negapatam, taken from the Dutch, IV. 193.

	Nelore, attacked unsuccessfully by the English, III. 176.

	Nesbit, Colonel, leads a column in the night attack on Tippoo Saib, V. 367.

	Neweastle, Duke of, appointed to superintend a negotiation of peace with the French and English East India Companies, III. 123.

	Nicholson, Captain, commands the first expedition sent from England to Bengal, I. 105.

	Nizam Ali, proceedings of, as governor of Berar, III. 189. Divests himself Dowlatabad, 191. Effects the assassination of Hyder Jung, and flies to Boorhanpore, 192. Returns at the head of a considerable body of troops, 252. Assumes the Subahdarship of Deacan having dethroned his brother, 399. His irruption into Carnatic, 400. His treaty with the English, 403. Joins Hyder Ali against the English, 404. His proceedings against the Mahrattas, 417. Disgusted with the war, forms another treaty with the English, 421. Transactions of the Madras presidency with him, respecting Guntoor, IV. 132. These transactions condemned by the Governor-General and council, 136. Forms an alliance with Hyder Ali and the Mahrattas, 148. Supreme Council send a person to his court to represent them, 170. Proposes to the Regent of Berar to invade and ravage Benngal, 173. The Guntoor Circa demanded of him, V. 259. Lord Cornwallis's treaty with, 265. Relations with, entered into by Sir John Shore, VI. 18. War between him and the Mahrattas, 28. DIsmisses the English susbidiary force, 29. Rebellion of his eldest son induces him to request the return of the English battalion, 31. The English jealous of the French troops in his service, 32. In conssequence of a new treaty, dismisses them, 81. Dreadful state of his government, 522.

	Nizam at Mulk. See Cheen Koolich.

	Nizam ul Dien, aids Kei Kobad in his vices, II. 245. Taken off by poison, 247.

	Nizamut Sudder Adaulut, court of appeal, how constituted, III. 470.

	Noah, coincidence between the story of, and that of, and that of the Hindu sire, Satyavrata, I. 149, note.

	Noor Mahl, Sultana, story of, I. 313. Effect produced on her by the death of her father, 318. Her enmity to Nohabet, 321.

	Norris, Sir William, ambassador to the Mogul court, imprisons three of the London Company's council, I. 126.

	North, Lord, his act for the renewal of the East India Company's charter, IV. 460.

	North-east and north-west passage, attempts for the discovery of, I. 5,6, Nujeef Khan, commander of the Mogul forces aginst Zabita Khan, account of, III. 486. His war with the Jaats, 551. His death, V. 11.

	Numerical characters of the Hindus, whetheroriginal or borrowed, considered, II. 99.

	Nuncomar, Governor of Hoogly, his conduct as revenue agent to Dooloob Ram, III. 247. By intrigue, obtains the office of Deputy to the Nabob of Bengal, 321. From his bad character dismissed from that office, ibid. East India Company's account of him, 472. Further ideas of his character, 480. Accuses Mr. Hastings of receiving presents, 560. Accused himself of forgery, and hanged, 563. Mr. Hastings charged with the murder of, by the hands of Sir Elijah Impey, V. 108. Dispute in the
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House of Commons respecting this accusation, ibid. 105, 108.

	Nundydroog, taken by the English, V. 838.

	Nunjeraj, assumes the powers of the Rajah of Maysore, III. 405. Exploits of Hyder Ali, as a subordinate office in his service, 406. Plots o Hyder against him, 410. Hyder presents himself as a suppliant at his door, and ginas him to his side against the Rajah, 412.

	Nuserit Shah, account of, II. 269,275.



	Oakley, Sir Charles, succeeds General Medows as Governor of Madras VI. 49.

	Ochterlony, Lieutenant-Colonel, prudent precautions taken by him against Holkar's attack on Delhi, VI. 480, 481.

	Offences, how classed by the hindus, I. 227.

	Oligarchy, why the most prevalent power in political and other instutitions, III. 5, and 6, note.

	Olivier, on the skill of the modern Persians in the art of weaving, quoted, II. 18, note; and the art of dyeing, 20, note. On the little difference between the rustics in Persia and those who live in towns, 196, note.

	Omdut-ul-Omrah, succeeds his father Mahomed Ali as Nabob of Arcot, VI. 49. English deliberations respecting him, 54. Lord Hobart wishes to transfer the districts under him to the management of the Company, 55. Negotiations with him for that purpose, m 56. Dispute between Lord Mornington concerning him, 261. Transactions of Lord Mornington with him, 262. Refers to the treaty of 1792, in his vindication, 263. Violation of that treaty alledgd aginst him of a criminal correspondence with the servants of Tippoo Saib, 268. Inquiry into the circumstance instituted, 269. Result of the inquiry, 279. Attempt to obtain his consent to his own deposition, 282. His death, 287. Messrs. Webbe and Close commissioned to demand of the family the destined transfer of the Carnatic government, ibid. Negotiations on the subject with Ali Hussain, son of Omdut, 288, who consents to the transfer, 293. Provision for Hussain and the family of his father, 297. Debts of his father transfered to the Company, ibid. Feelings of the family on the consent of hussain to his deposition, ibid. His death, 800.

	Omichund, narrative of the treacherous frauds practised upon him, III. 170, Note. dies insane, in consequence, 172, note

	One, meaning of, as applied to the hindu gods, 1. 318.

	Onore, taken by the english, IV. 290. Oosoor, taken by the english, v. 336. Ootradroog taken bby colonel stuart, V. 345

	Opium, regulations respecting the monopoly of, v. 419

	Ordeal, trial by, held in hish estimation with the hindus, 1. 240. Various kinds of, practised by them. ibid. supposed cause of 402, note

	Orme, mr. quoted on the influence of priestcraft in india, I. 165, note. On the rudeness of the military art in hindostan, 186. On the senure of land in india, 262, nnote. On the absurdity of the hindu religion, 339, nnote. on the sufferings of the fakeers, 355, note. On the characater of the gentoos, as a tricking people, 402, note. On the litigious spirit of the Hindus, 408. Describes the pagoda of seringham, II. 3. On the ignorance of the Hindus in the construction of bridges, 13, nnote. On the ignorance of the hindus in the construction of bridge, 13, note. on the causes of the skill of the indians in spinning and weaving, 16, note. On the excellence of the peruvian music, 38, and note. On the little alteration that has been effected in the government or character of the hindus by the introduction of strangers among them, 146, note. On the avarice of the hindus, and the oppressions it. occasioned, 173, 174, note. On the rude state of the military art in Hindostan, 184. on the extent of country in which the Mahratta language is spoken, 358, note. complained of, that he never gives his authorities, III. 60, note.
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Orrpheus, his description of the celestial king, 1. 291.

	Ostend, trading Company of, to india, particulars of III. 23

	Otaheitans, resemble in many respects the hindus in manners, 1. 400. their ingenuity in handicraft arts, III. 30, note.

	Oude, articles of commerce in II. 23, note. distressed state of, IV. 365. proceedings of Mr. hastings on his arrival at 372. see hastings. its situation as left by sir john shore (Lord Teignmouth), satisfactory to the Company, VI. 150. British subjects driven out of, by lord mornington, 154

	Oude, sujah ad dowla, subahdar or Nabob of, ii. 415. Defeats the mahrattas, 418. confederates with the Mogul Prince Aulumgeer and others against Bengal, III. 253. Confederacy dissolved by his treachery, 256. Raised to the office of Vizir, 260. Views with which he assists Meer causim against the English, 309. Defead by the English, 311, 314. Terms on which he solicits peace with the english, ibid. The proposal of bestowing his dominious on the Emperor, disapproved by the company, 358. Defeated again by the English, throws himself on their generosity, 361. restored toall his dominious except corah and allahabad, ibid. Interview of Lord clive with him, 378. New treaty with him, 398. His project to profit by the necessities of the rohillas, 491. forms a treaty with the robillas, 493. Fails to fulfil the terms of the treaty,494. Solicits and obtains their aid against the Mahrattas, 496. concerts with the English the destruction of the Rohillas, 498. Obtains of the English, by purchase, the provinces of corah and Allhabad, 501. His dastradly conduct in the battle against the Rohillas, 508. Endeavours to evade his treaty with the emperor, who was to share in the plunder of the Rohillas, 508. Endearvours to evade his treaty with the Emperor, who was to share in the plunder of the Rohillas, 511. His Agreement with Fyzoolla Khan, 512. His death, 524. Further mention of, 551

	Oude, Asofful Dowlah, succeeds his father as nabbob of, III. 524. Treaty of the English with him, ibid. his situation on commencing his government, 550. invested by the emperor with the Kelat, 552. Complains of oppression, by the bburdens laid on him by the English, IV. 365. His complaints treated with indignation, 368. His debts, 372. Mr. hastings's agreement with him, 373. Consents to strip the Begums, his mother, and grandmother, of their treasure and jaghires, and deliver the proceeds to Mr. Hastings, 375. His reluctance to enter on the ungracious work, 392. Declares it to be an act of compulsion, 393. Gives a present of 10 lact to Mr. Hstings, 399. Obtains permission by treaty to despoil Fyzoolla Khan, 374, 414. Plans of mr. hastings against him by means of his minister, 431. The residency at his court proposed to be removed, 434. Visit of mr. hastings to his capital, 438. State of his dominions and finances, V. 10. Mr. Hastings's conduct to him and the Begums, one of the articles in his impeachment, 62. Lord cornwallis's treaty with, 259. Distressed state of VI. 34. Lord Cornwallis's expostulatory letters to, 37, 38. Additional burdens imposed on him, 41. His death, 42.

	Oude, Mirza Ali, succeds his father asoff ul Dowla, as Nabob of, VI. 43. Suspected of bastardy, ibid. intrigues in his court, 44. is deposed, 47, removed to Benares, and a pension allowed him, 48. Preparations made to remove him to calcutta, 163. Insurrection by him on this account, 164. Tken and carried to Fort William, 166

	Oude, Saadut Ali, made nabob of, by the Governor-General of India, in consequence of the supposed bastardy of Mirza Ali, VI. 47. Terms on which he receives his elevation, ibid. Pressed to military reform by the Governor-General, 166. Major Scott sent to negotiate the reform, 168. Ordered to govern agreeably to the pleasure of the English, 173. Coercion employed on his, 175. Proposes to abdicate the government, 176. Meaning of his abdication misunderstood, 180. Refusesx, unless in favour of his son, 183. Indignation of the Governor-General on this occasion
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183. Force against his military establishment resorted to, 185. His remonstrance, 187: being unanswerable, treated by the Governor-General as an insult, 190. Complaints of the resident against him, 193. Upbraided by the Governor-General, 194. The mode for annihilating hisarmy judiciously formed, 195. New reasons for the Company's assuming hhis governemnt, 197. More than half his territories demanded, 201. Allowed no independent power in the territory not ostensibly takenfrom him, 205. Arts employed to gain his consent to the transfer demanded of him, 280. Desires to go on a pilgrimage to Jerusalem, 209. Mr. Wellesley sent to win him to the territorial cession, ibid. Cession of more than half his country effected, and a Lieutenant-Governor appointed, 212. Defects of his government, 2221. These defects not worse than those of Bengal, 222.

	Oupnekhat, sacred book of the Hindus, several translations of 1. 316. note. Ox, held sacred in Egypt, 1. 367. Killing of, punished with death by the Greeks and romans, 368.

	Oxenden, Sir George, President and Chief Director of the Company's affairs at Sural, 1. 88



	Pagoda, of Chillambrum, IL 3. See Chillambrum. Of Seringham, ibid.; of Elephanta, 4, and note; of Salsette, ibid.; of mail-Cotay, 10; of Congeveram, 11; of Trivadi, taken by the French, III. 98

	Painting, Hindu, Mexican and Chinese, H. 35, 36, note

	Palacatchery, taken by the English, IV. 241. Taken again by the army under lord cornwallis, V. 290

	Palacatchery, taken by the English, IV. 241. Taken again by the army under Lord Cornwallis, V. 290

	Palmer, Major, sent to Oude as teh private agent of Mr. Hastings, IV. 403. Sent on pecuniary negotiations to Fyzoolla Khan, 416, His salary while agent at Oude, V. 10, note. ascribes insidious designs to note. Ascribes insidious designs to Scindia, 16. Resident with the Peshwa VL. 321

	Panegric principle of, active in the human mind, I. 293. Bestowed on obiject of worship from the wish to please, 294. From the operation of desire and fear, 295. The hindu religion a striking example of its excessive growth, 313

	Paniput, battle of III. 414.

	Panopticon penitentiary house, adapted to the moral improvement of Bengal, V. 532.

	Paramount, used inaccurately by Sir William Jones, 1. 260, note.

	Paris, treaty of, French possessions in India how affected by III. 342. 364. Power sent to India by the English to look after the execution of the eleventh article of IV. 61.

	Park, Mungo, on the tenure of land in Africa, quoted, I. 258, note. Onthe belief of the Africans in one God, and a future state of reward and punishment, 320, note. On the inhabitants of Maniana, who eat, their enemies and horses, but never kill the cow, 369, note. One the passion of the Afrcan negroes for law-suits, 408, note. On the amusement of story telling among the negroes of Africa, 416, note. Gives a striking instance of Gothic scennery in the country near Sullo, ll. 5, note. Gives an account of the African mode of smelting gold, 29, note. Quoted on the afriacn mode of counting, 40, note,

	Parliament, dissolution of no abatement of impeachments by, V. 170

	Parliamentary influence, the beneful source of all our misgovernment, V. 23. Parliamentary responsibility, 78. Parthians, founder of their kingdom, II. 211, and note

	Partholonus, giant, descent of the irish from i. 133. note

	Parties, state of, in parliament, v. 39. Pasquier, ETIENNE, ON THE DISPOSITION OF A PEOPLE BEING KNOWN FROM THEIR LAWS, AND THE REVERSE, QUOTED, I. 148, Note.

	Patans or Afghauns. Pateeta, account of, and its capture by Major Popham, IV. 346

	Paterson, on teh religious controversies of the Hindus, quoted, l. 314, note. One the Hindu worship of the Lingam, 365, note.

	Patna, battles near, between the Mogul Emperor and the english and meeran, III. 263. English attack it, 303; are driven out, 304. Taken by the english, 309. Mutiny at, 312. suit of a Mahomedan widow and her
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nephew instituted before the provincial council and supreme court at, IV. 281. Mis-statement of this cause by Sir Elijah Impey, the judge, 300, note.

	Paucheess, Hindu game, I. 414. Paulinl, P. quoted on the propensity of the astern nations to lying, I. 403, note. On the character of the Hindus, 409, note. On the skill of the Indians in imitating the European arts, II. 33. On the despotism of the Indian kings, 173, note.

	Peelogee and Coantojee, Mahratta chiefs, their contests with the imerial army in Deccan, II. 397.

	Peerambaucum, battle of, IV. 161.

	Pekin, taken by Gingis Khan, II. 236. Pelham, Mr. comments on Mr. Hastings's answer to the first charge against him, V. 101.

	Penal laws, cruel, with a rude people, I. 217. See Courts.

	Pehance, idea of, whence derived, I. 346. In what manner and for what offences, practised by the Hindus, 349. Duties imposed on its profesos, 351.

	Penitents, Hindu, instances of the torments they inflict on themselves, I. 353.

	Penns, species of servants, in india, so denominated, III. 13.

	People, charged with being remiss in the exercise of the power necessary to their protection, III. 6, note.

	Pepper, trade of the East India Companyin, on the coast of malabar, I. 59. Company's whole stock of, seized by Charles the First, 65.

	Perjury, practice of, almost universal with the Hindus, I. 402. A vice peculiarly apposed to the administration of justice, its remedies, V. 521, 522.

	Perring, Mr. Member of the Madras Council, dismissed from the Company's service, Iv. 138.

	Perron, M. commands Scindia's army, VI. 397. His history, 400. Accused falsely of failing in humanity and delicacy to Shah Aulum, 405. Destruction of his force, the first object of General Lake, 406. Retires from the service of Scindia, 413.

	Persia, intercourse with, opened by the East India Company, I. 16. Trade with of but little imortance, 35. Unsuccessful. from the caprice and extortions of the magistrates, 53. Ancient religion of Persia, 324, note. Persian women, 399, and note. Modern Persians excellent lapidaries, 28, note. Defects of ancient ersian history, 63, Defects of ancient Persian history, 63, and noe. Persian accunt of the conquet of Alexander, 65, note. Science of the Persians very confined, 68, note Extent of their knowledge of astronomy, 90, note. Little skilled in the military art, 191. Law of their kings, as given by their select sages, 192. Account of their external demeanor and moral character 195. Their poetry superior to that of the Hindus, 460. Anglo-Indian embassay to the King of, VI. 160.

	Perspective, Hindus have no knowledge of, II. 33.

	Peruvians, distribution of their lands, I. 259. note. Their buildings, H. 7. Their music, 38. Their poetry, 53, note.

	Peshawir, Asghaun cheifs treacherously murdered by the Governor of, II. 368.

	Peshwa, nature of the office of, II. 431. Peshwa of the Mahrattas, See Mahrattas.

	Pettah, suburb of Seringapatam, assaulted and taken by Lord Comwalis's army, V. 317.

	Petty, Sir William, his account of the prosperous advance of the English from the accession of James he First, I. 92, note

	Peyton, Mr. succeeds to the command of the English fleet on the death of Commodore Barnet, III. 469.

	Physics, knowledge of the Hindus in the science of, II. 84.

	Piece goods, meaning of, I. 66, note.

	Pigot, Mr. afterwards Lord, succeeds Saunders as Governor of Madras, III. 154. On the capture of Pondicherry by the King's troops, claims it as the property of the East India Company, 293. Re-appointed to the government of Madras after a residence of twelve years in England, 105. First object of his government the restoratiun of
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the Rajah of Tanjore, who had been dethroned, 109. His opposition to Benfield's claims n the Rajah, 111. Violnt contention between him and the Council, 116. Is imprisoned, 119. Ordered by the Directors to be restored, 120. Recalled, but dies before the order arrived at Madras, 121, 122. Prosecution ordered by parliament, against the Members of Council, who imprisoned him, who are sentenced to a fine of a thousand pounds each, 123.

	Pipley, permission obtained by the East India Company from the Great Mogul to trade at, I. 58.

	Pircy, prevalence of, I. 115. London East India Company charged with being abettors of, 116.

	Pitt, William, his opposition to Fox's India bill, II. 479, Proposes the commutation act. 485. Resemblance of his India bill to that of Mr. Fox, 487. Confirms Mr. Burke's insinuations in regard to Mr. Hastings's designs against the Mogul Emperor and Scindia, V. 14, note. Delivers an eulogium on Lord Macartney in opposition to Mr. Fox, 37. Rejects, in conjunction with Mr. Dundas, the appointment of Lord Macartney to be Governor-General of India, 38. His violent attack on Mr. Fox, in defence of Mr. Dundas, 46. Supports Mr. Hastins against Mr. Burke's charges, 56. Votes for the imperachment of Mr. Hasting, ibid. Recommends a modeof proceeding against him, 65. Operation of his Declaratory bill, 68. Comparison of it with Mr. Fox's India bill, ibid. Merits of his bil discussed, 73. His defence of the bill for renewing the Company's charter, VI. 15.

	Place, Mr. quoted on the tenure of land, I. 276, note.

	Plato, quoted on the effectswhich would men left alone in some uncultivated part of the globe, I. 148, note. On the division of labour and the origin of laws, 157, note. On the division of nations into classes, 159, note. On the baneful influence, on youth, of reading the degrading account ofthe Gods in the Greek poets, 291, note. On the progress of invention in the arts, II. 2, note. On the productions of the loom among he Greeks, 19, note.

	Playfair, a convert to M. Bailly, on he grat progress of the Hindus in astronomy, II. 87. His account of the manner in which the Brahmens make their astronomical claculations, 91.

	Pliny, quoted on the weaving of the ancients, II. 17.

	Plomer, Mr. one of Mr. Hastings's counsel, V. 87.

	Plough, Hindu, described, II. 22.

	Pococke, Admiral, Madras relieved by the arrival of his fleet, III. 214.

	Poetry, the first literature, II. 44. Use to which it was applied before the art of writing was known, ibid, and note. Use of, by the Hindus, 45. Character of the Hindu poetry, 40. Poetry of other rude nations, 54, and note. Turgid style of the poetry of rude nations accounted for, 56.

	Polaroon, taken possession of by the East India Company, I. 38. Claimed by three separate companies, 76. Changes masters, and is at last ceded to the Dutch, 86.

	Police, Lord Cornwallis's new scheme of, V. 436.

	Polybius, his accounts of Ecbatana and is palace, I. 11, note.

	Polygars, meaning of the apellaion, III. 138. Confederate with Maphuz Khan against the English, and take Madura, 136.

	Pondicherry, French form an establishment at, I. 108. Account of, III. 48. English baffled in an attack upon, 72. Distressed sate of, 207. aken by the English, 233, Disputes between the Presidency of the East India Company and the officers of the King's troops to whom it should belong, ibid. Destroyed, 234. Restored to the French, 341. Engagement near, between the French and English fleets, IV. 140. Restored again to the French, and again retaken by the English, VI. 301.

	Poonah, zemindaree of, seized by Sevagee, II. 360. Supreme Council Send an agent to treat with the government of, III, 545. Treaty with the government of, concluded, 549.

	Hoslities by the English commenced against, IV. 34. English obliged to retreat and sisgn a second treaty, 36. Unifruitful negotiations at, VI. 84.

	Poorania, Naib of, revolts and is defeated, III. 265–267.

	Poorundeh, fortress, besieged by the troops of Aurungzebe, II. 262.

	Popham, Captain, defeats the Mahrattas, IV. 51. Takes the fortress oof Gualior, ibid. Promoted, for this achivement, to the rank of Major, 53. takes Pateela, 348.

	Population of India kept down by exaction, I. 273, note.

	Porphyry, quoted, on the introduction of animal sacrifices among the Egyptians, I. 368.

	Porter, Endymion, obtains a charter for a new trading Company to India, I. 60

	Porter, Sir, James, ascribes philosophy to the Turks, II, 69.

	Porto Novo, battle of, between the English and Hyder Ali, IV. 182.

	Portuguese, first settlers in the east Indies, I. 3. Possessions of, in the East Indies, 35. Fight with the English at sea, near Surat, 44, 57. Englsih treaty of amity with, 59. Dutch treaty with, 66. Cede Bombay to the Engish, 84. Portuguese at Chittagong engage to assist the Rajah of Arracan in his invasion of Bengal, and betray him to Aurungzebe, II. 355. Described as buccaniers, ibid. note.
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	Poorundeh, fortress, besieged by the troops of Aurungzeb, II. 262.

	Popham, Captain, defeats the Mahrattas, IV. 51. Takes the fortress of Gualior, ibid. Promoted, for this achievement, to the rank of Major, 53. Takes Pateeta, 348.

	Population of India kept down by exaction, I. 273, note.

	Porphyry, quoted, on the introduction of animal sacrifies among the Egyptians, I. 368.

	Porter, Endymion, obtains a charter for a new trading Company to india, I. 60.

	Porter, Sir James, ascribes philosophy to the Turks, II. 69.

	Porto Nova, battle of, between the English and Hyder Ali, IV. 182.

	Portuguese, first settlers in the East Indies, 35. Fight with the English at sea, near Surat, 44, 57. English treatyof amity with, 59. Dutch treaty with, 66. Cede bombay to the Englsih, 84. Portuguese at Chittagong engage to assist the Rajah of Arracan in his invasion of Bengal, and betray him to Aurangzebe, II. 355. Described as buccanieers, ibid, note.

	Porundeh, taken by Sevage, II. 360.

	Pousta, characterised as the detestable invention of despotic fears, its nature and effects explained, II. 354, and note.

	Power, soveriegn, checks on, II. 431.

	Praya Bay, engagement in, between the French and English fleets, IV. 207.

	Prayers of a Hindu on marrying; I. 448, note.

	Prejudice, English, its operation as to affairs in India, V. 406, 407.

	Presents, proceedings on the charge against Mr. Hastings relating to the receipt of, V. 103, 110.

	Priam, palace of II, 12, note.

	Priesthood, greatest authority usurped by, in the lowest state of society, I. 159, 160, note. Influence of, over superstition, no where so great as in India, 164, note. Mendicity of priests and instrument of imposture, 165, note. Ceremonies to be observed by Hindu priests, as to dress and mode of wearing the hair, 445. Degraded state to which the Hindus are reduced by the priesthood, II. 166. In what way may be instrumental in checking the abuse of sovereign power, 431.

	President in India, his power, III. 16, 19, 20.

	Press, freedom of, its advantages to individual character, V. 106. Its advantages to the people, 542.

	Pretaupa Sing, King of Tanjore, obtains the kingdom by the assassination of Seid, III. 79. Treacherous conduct of the English towards him, 80, and note. See further Tanjore.

	Private Trade. See Trade.

	Proclus, accused of borrowing many of his religious notions from Christianity, I. 328.

	Property of the servants of the Company, obligation to disclose the amount of, taken away, V. 61.

	Prosecutions, investigation of the odium attached to them, V. 180.

	Protest of the Lords, against the judges giving their opinions, without stating their reasons, V. 238.

	Pullicat, English factory established at, I. 53. Compelled by the Dutch to relinquish it, ibid.

	Punishments, object of, defined, I. 216 Nature of those practised by the Hindus, 217, 218. Inequlity of Hindu punishments, 223, 226. Sanguinary nature of Hindu punishments, II. 170. Future punishments. See Morality.

	Puranas, compilers of, ignorant and devoid of judgment, II. 102, note.

	Purchase and sale, Hindu law of, I. 198. English law of, in what respect defective, 200, note.

	Purdhaungar, taken by Sevage, II. 360.

	Purvez, son of Jehangire, defeated by thge Prince of Odipore, II. 316. Made governor of Candesh, ibid. Visited by Sir Thomas Roe, ibid. Unsuccessful in a war with the princes of the Deccan, 307. Dies of apoplexy, 324.
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Pusa, temple of, II. 5, note.

	Pycars, what, III. 13.

	Pythagoras, discoveries of, in science, II. 133.



	Quintus Cartius, on the population of India in the time of Alexander, quoted, II. 171, note.



	Rack, instances of the use of, in England, I. 48, note. Practised by the Dutch at Amboyna. See Amboyna.

	Radcliffe, Major, commands a column at the taking of Deeg, VI. 489.

	Ragoba, Mahratta Nabob, holds the reins of the Mahratta government during the minority of his nephew, III. 527. Dispossessed of his power by the intrigues of the Mutseddees, 529. By the death of his newphew, who is murdered, acknowledged Peshwa, 530. Further hostile measures of the Mutseddees to him, 531. Flies to Guzerat, ibid. Treaty formed with him by the Bombay presidency, 538. Adverse proceedings of the Bengal Presidency towards him, 542, Retires to Surat with only two hundred attendants, 549. Treaty of the Bombay Presidency with him approved by the Directors, ibid. Proceedings of the government of Poonah and the English respecting him, IV. 34. Given up to Scindia, the Mahratta chief, 37. Bombay council determined to support him, 39.

	Ragonaut Raow, Mahratta chief, II. 417.

	Rajapore, taken by Sevage, II. 360.

	Rajpoots, their wretched pusillanimity, II. 184, note. War of Aurungzebe against, 369.

	Raleiggh, Sir Walter, his account of the Dutch fisheries, I. 96.

	Ram Churn, ruin of, attempted by Nuncomar, III, 472.

	Rama, brother of Sambagee, his obstinate defence of the fort of Gingee, II. 372. Terms on which his widow proposes to terminate the predatory incursions of the Mahrattas into Deccan, 389.

	Ramedo, one of the Rajahs of Deccan, defeated by Alla, nephew of Feroze, II. 251.

	Ramnarain, Deputy Governor of Bahar, III. 179, 239. Confederates to raise a brother of Suraja Dowla to the government of Bengal, 241. Critical situation of, as Governor of Patna, 254. Defeated near Patna, 261. Designs of Meer Cauzin against him, 280. These designs favoured byy Mr. Vansittart, and discountenanced by Major Carnac and Colonel Coote, 280, 282. Imprisoned and plundered, 283. Put to death, 307.

	Ramramsing, Governor of Midnaproe, account of, II. 239.

	Ranee of Burdwan, proceedings of the Supreme Council respecting, III. 552.

	Ranee of Bulwant Sing, desire of Mr. Hastings to have her despoiled, III. 350. Outrage committed oh her, and the princess of her house, 353.

	Rayacottah, taken by the English under Major Gowdie, V. 336.

	Raymond, Captain, unfortunate expedition of, to India, I. 18.

	Raynier, Admiral, reduces the Dutch settlements in India, VI. 60.

	Rayree or Rajegur, fortress, taken by Sevagee, II. 360. Taken by Aurungzebe, with the wives and infant son of Sambagee, 372.

	Raz, Rajah of Vizinagaram, arbitrary treatment of, by Governor Rumbold, IV. 127. Intrigues of his brother, Sitteram Raz, against him, ibid. Bribes given by Sitteram to Sir Thomas Rumbold, 129, 130.

	Read, Colonel, has an active command in the last war against Tippoo Saib, VI. 98. Takes Cauveryporam, 123.

	Redhead, Mr. private Secretary to Sir Thomas Rumbold, bribe received by him from Sitteram Raz, IV. 130. Bribe from Ameer ul Omrah, ibid.

	Reading, the power of, little conductive to improvement in a country, without good books, and covered with poverty and wretchedness, V. 542.

	Regiomontanus, great extent of his mathematical knowledge, II. 134.

	Religion, of the Hindus, account of, I. 282. Of the Persians and other nations, 324, note. How a check on the abuse of soveriegn power, II. 431. On the subject of Religion, see further, Ideas, and Mortality.

	Rennel, Major, quoted on Alexander's Invasion of India, I. 145, note. On the state of the fine arts with the Hindus, II. 39, note. On the ancient
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state of Hindustan, 161. On the portion of India included in the empire of Darius Hystaspes, 208, and note.

	Retaliation, law of, with the Hindus, and other nations, I. 219.

	Revenue. See East India Company. New plan for the collection of, in India, IV. 2. Hindu mode of collecting, V. 403. Mogul mode of collecting, 406.

	Rewards and punishments, future, little effect of, on the Hindus, I. 374.

	Reynier, General, on the moral precepts of the Mussulmans of modern Egypt, quoted, I. 362, note.

	Rhandaterrah, assigned to the Company by the Rajah of Cherik as security of a large standing debt, V. 267.

	Rice, the principal food of the Hindus, I. 410.

	Richardson, Captain, leads the storming party at the capture of Baroach, VI. 442.

	Richardson, Mr. quoted on the penances of the Fakeers, I. 354, note. On the authenticity of Duperron's fragments of the Zendavesta, 369, note. His account of the respect paid to women by the Arabians, Persians, and Tartars, disputed, 389, note.

	Ritual of the Hidus, I. 432.

	Rizia, Sultana, reign of, II. 235.

	Roads, state of the Chinese, II. 193.

	Robberies, increase of, in India, to what attributable, V. 465.

	Roberts, Major, leads the storming party at pateeta, IV. 348.

	Robertson, Dr. quoted on the little regard due to the early annals of nationos, I. 136, note. On the Hindu ignorance of Alexander's invasion of India, 145, note. On the abuse of subordination among barbarous tribes, 169, note. Falsely characterizes the Hindu law as arranged in natural and luminous order, 197, note. Quoted on Mexican taxation, 279, note. On the acknowledgement of a Supreme power by the American tribes, 292. On the custom with the American tribes of the wife burning herself on the funeral pile of the husband, 359, note. Mistaken in considering the litigious subtlety of the Hindus as a sign of high civilizagion, 408, note. On the pagoda of Chillambrum, II. 3. VOL. VI.

	On the skill of the Mexicans in the manual arts, 30, note. On the paintings of the Mexicans, 37, note. On the mistaken notions of the Spaniards respecting the civilization of the Mexicans, 143, note. On the division of India into kingdoms and states in the time of Alexander, 165, note.

	Rockets, army of Ahmed Abdallee thrown into confusion by the explosion of a magazine fo, II. 409.

	Rockingham, Marquis, succeeds Lord North as prime minister, IV. 463.

	Roe, Sir Thomas, his embassy to the Mogul court, I. 29, II. 317. Quoted on the Mogul buildings, II. 1.

	Rohillas, name of, whence derived, II. 288, note. Their state, by whom founded, 405, Attacked by the Mahattas and the Mogul, III. 485. Qualities and conduct of their chiefs, 487. Their perilous situation, from the Subahdar of Oude and the Mahattas, 490. Form a treaty with the Subahdar, 492; the conditions of which he fails to fulfil, 494. The Mahrattas and Subahdar, each bidding for their alliance, they join the Subahdar and the English, 498. Pretexts by which this measure was vindicated, 499. Its accomplishment, 507. Features of cruelty attending it, 509, note. This war one of the charges against Mr. Hastings on his impeachement, V. 54. Voted by the House of Commons not worthy of impeachement, 55.

	Ross, Lieutenant-Colonel, when reprimanded by the Directors, the ensure struck out by the Board of Control, V. 69.

	Row, Balagee, Mahratta General, account of, III. 128, 179.

	Row, Govind, brother of Futty Sing, IV. 48.

	Row, Madhoo. See Madhoo.

	Row, Narain, assassinated, III. 530.

	Roy-royan, nature of the office of, III. 466.

	Ruffeh Dirjant, grandson of Arurngzebe, raised to the throne on the deposition of Feroksere, II. 392. Succeded by his brother Ruffeh al Dowla, ibid.

	Rumbold, Sir Thomas, succeeds Lord
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Pigot as Governor of Madras, IV. 122. Suspends the Committee of Circuit, and summons the Zemindars to Madras, 125. His corrupt and mercenary proceedings in the business of the Zemindars, 126, 127. His conduct strongly condemned by the Court of Directors, 130. Dismissed from the Company's service, with four members of the Madras council, 138. Parliamentary proceedings against him, 463.

	Russel, Mr. appointed resident at Tanjore, IV. 114. One of the Committee of Circuit, to explor the Circars, 115.

	Russia, attempts of, to obtain a passage to India, through the Straits of Waygatz, I. 7.

	Russians, their deportment blended with a suavity of address, not warranted by their appearance, I. 400, note. Their expertness in the use of their rude tools, II. 29.

	Ryle, Mr. his examination in the House of Commons relative to the Zemindars of Oude, VI. 245.

	Ryots, husbandmen in India so denominated, I. 271. Question, of the interest in the soil which belonged to them, examined 273. Resort to robbery for a subsistence when driven to despair, 405, note. Example of their profligacy in this respect, ibid. Oppression of, by Devi Sing, agent of Mr. Hastings, V. 83. Their possessions hereditary, 410. Oppressions exercised upon them by the Zemindars, ibid. Handed over to the Zemindars by the Anglo-Indian government, 411. Their importance, 412. Effects of the financial system of Lord Cornwallis on them, 442.



	Saadoolah Khan, joins the army of the Abdallee chief, II. 420.

	Saadut Khan, Nabob of Oude, concerned in the plot for the assassination of Hussun, II. 395. Taken prisoner in the battle against Nadir, 401. While a prisoner acts treacherously against his soveriegn, 402. His death, 403.

	Sabeism, prevalence of, with the early Eastern nations, I. 335, note.

	Sabians, their magnificent mode of living, II. 183, note.

	Sacontala, Hindu poem, story of, II. 48.

	Sacraments, what observed as, by the Hindus, I. 434.

	Sacrifice, human. See Human.

	Sadatullah, Nabob of Carnatic, III. 85.

	Saharunpore, taken from Zabita Khan by the allied forces of the Mogul and the Mahrattas, III. 487.

	Saheb Rajah, decorated by the French with the tide of Nabob of Arcot, III. 204.

	Sahooo Rajah, III. 526.

	Sahujee, Tanjorine Prince, applies to the English to aid his restoration to the throne, III. 77. Flies from the English, who, pretending to assist him, side with his rival, 83.

	Sailors, importance of training them for land operations, III. 55, note.

	St. David, fort, built, I. 109. Attacked by the French, III. 67. Taken by the French, 195.

	St. George, fort first erected into a presidency, I. 70. See further, Madras.

	St. Helena, granted to the East India Company by royal charter, I. 94.

	St. John, Mr. opens the article of impeachment in the case of Mr. Hastings relative to the creating of influence, V. 176.

	St. Thomas, town near Madras, account of, III. 74.

	Sair. See Sayer.

	Salabut Jung, son of Nizam al Mulk, appointed to the sovereignty of Deccan, on the death of Mirzapha Jung, III. 101. His wars in concert with Bussy, 128. His quarrel with Bussy, and subsequent reconcilation, 186, 137. Appoints his two brothers to important stations, contrary to the advice of Bussy, 188. Mutiny in his army, 189. His grief, on Bussy's quitting him, 205. Concludes a treaty with the English, 252. Confirmed, as Subahdar of Deccan, by the treaty of Paris, 342. His death mentioned, V. 259.

	Salsette, seized by the English, III. 537. Ceded to them, with other places, by Ragoba, 538. Ceded to them by the government of Poonah, 548.

	Salt, partnership between Clive and others for the monopoly of, III. 366. Regulations respecting the monopoly of 367. Alterations respecting the monopoly of, by Lord Cornwallis,
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V. 418. Monopoly of, taken by the Company in Oude and Furruckabad, VI. 240.

	Saltpetre, monopoly of, obtained by Clive, for the Company, III. 243.

	Samamides, account of II, 215.

	Sambah, or Sambagee, succeeds his father Sevagee, II. 369. His reception of Akbar, son of Aurungzebe, who takes refuge with him, 370. Taken prisoner, and put to a cruel death by Aurugzebe, 372.

	Sangats, name given to Indian villages, II. 378.

	Sanscrit language, excellences ascribed to it, II. 80.

	Sapor, victory of, not known to the modern Persians, II. 65, note.

	Sardanapalus, sterling amount of his treasurre, II. 183.

	Sartorius, Major, V. 328.

	Sasnee, fort, taken by the English, VI. 243.

	Sassanides, dynasty of, II. 411.

	Sattimungul, taken by the English, V. 290.

	Satyavrata, Noah of the Hindus, fable of, I. 136.

	Saunders, Mr. Madras President, unwisely advises an attack on Gingee, which fails, III. 114. Enters into a negotiation for peace with Dupleix, 121. Departs for Europe, 132.

	Savanoor, Nabob of, reduced to dependence by Hyder Ali, III. 416.

	Saul tree, how used by the Indians, as the ordeal of witchcraft, I. 423.

	Sayer duties, abolished, V. 417, VI. 240.

	Scalds, character of their poetry, II. 57.

	Scandinavians, had a notion of some mysterious power superior to their gods, I. 338, note. Counted their unities to twelve, II. 40, note. Qualities of which their young warriors boasted, to gain the good opinion of their mistresses, 41, note. Their poetry, 57, note.

	Scarlet, dyed best by the Chinese, II. 21, note.

	Schools, of the Hindus, II. 104. Of other Eastern nations, 106.

	Scindia, Dowlut Row, English alliance with him attempted, VI. 157. The idea applauded and abondoned, 159. Attempt to make him substitute for his own, a British military force, 315. Defeated by Holkar 320. Invited to participate in the treaty of Bassein, 330. Arrives in the vicinity of Boorhanpore, 338. Further attempts to make him conclude a treaty similar to that with the Peshwa, ibid. Pressed for a declaration of his intentions in regard to the treaty of Bassein, 347. His declining a direct answer considered as a warlike menace, 350. Joins with the Rajah of Berar in hostilities, 354. Declares with the Rajah his dissatisfaction with the treaty, 356. Commanded to quit their threatening position, 357. Evade compliance, 359. Various objects of the war against himn, 394. Account of his French forces, 396. By the commanding of the Emperor, becomes soveriegn of India, 404. Deserted by the French commander, 413. His French force totally destroyed, 426. His teritory in the Dooab taken, ibid. He and the Rajah separate their forces, 432. Makes an overture of peace, 433. Views of Lord Mornington regarding him, 446. Treaty with him concluded, 448. Enters into the defensive alliance, 450. Leagues with Holkar, 466. Disputes of the British with him, 499. Opportunity overlooked by him of performing a brilliamt exploit, 503. Complaints of the British against him, 506. Account of his forces, 508. Joined by Holkar, 511. Evades the return of the British resident, ibid. Professes amicable intentions, 516. Lord Cornwallis resolves on peace with him, 525. Treaty concluded, 537.

	Scindia, Madagee, Mahratta chief, his possessions, III. 528. Joins the party of the Mutseddies against Ragoba, 532. Joins the party of Nana Furnaves, IV. 34. Baroach given up to him, and Ragoba placed in his hands, 37. Dissension between him and Nana, 46. Negotiation between him and the English broken off, and war resolved on, ibid. Amount of his forces, 47. His camp surprised by General Goddard, and his army put to flight, 49. Alarm given to him by the capture of the fortress of Gualior, 52. Treaty of peace concluded with him, 266. His proceedings
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an object of jealousy to the English, V. II. peace with him an aim of Mr. Hastings's government, ibid. Gets possession of the Mogul and his dominions, 15. Directs his advantages against the Company, ibid. His designs aganist the Mogul's eldest son, 16. Price asked by him, for an alliance against Tippoo Saib, 393. His death and its effects, VI. 28.

	Scott, Major, agent to Mr. Hastings, V. 40. Calls om Mr. Burke to produce his accusations against Mr. Hastings, ibid. Reference to his speech relating to Mr. Francis, 61, note. Presents a petition to the House of Commons from Mr. Hastings, complaining of Mr. Burke's representations, 103. Rebuked by the Commons, for reviling the Managers, 169. Sent to negotiate the military reform at Oude, 168. His conduct in the business, 169, et seq.

	Scott, Mr. Jonathan, on the original country of the Mahrattas, quoted, II. 357, note. On the depraved character of the inhibitants of Hindustan, 404.

	Scriptures, teaching and study of, one of the Hindu sacraments, I. 434.

	Sculpture of the Hindus and Mexicans, I. 34, and note.

	Scythians, their conquests in Asia, II. 207. Invade Persia, 213.

	Secunder, his reign, II> 281.

	Seer Mutakhareen, on the love of learning in India in the time of Aliverdi, quoted, II. 105, note. On the death of Ghazee ad Dien Khan, III. 129, note. Translator of, extenuates the crime of the Blackhole tragedy, and accuses the English of a greater atrocity, 150, note.

	Seets, bankers of Moorshedabad, account of, III. 239. Put to death by Meer Causim, 308.

	Seiks, country of, well cultivated, II. 27, note. Their origin and history, 377, 388.

	Seleucus, his conquests in India, II. 208.

	Self-convicting evidence, its principle examined, V. 132.

	Self-delusion, English in India not well guarded against it. VI. 280.

	Selim, his reign, II. 290.

	Seljukides, dynasty of, II. 224.

	Sepoys, Indian soldiers, account of, III. 19.

	Sera, nabobship, of conferred on Hyderf Ali, III. 415.

	Sereffraz Khan, grandson of jaffier, account of, III. 139.

	Sefogee, Rajah of Tanjore, resigns the powers of government to the English, VI. 268.

	Serhind, plundered by Ahmed Abdallee, II. 408.

	Serigapatam, bridge at, described, II. 13. Preparations for the siege of V. 321. Lord Cornwallis's march upon, 357. Tippoo Saib defeated under its walls, 273. Besieged, 274. General Harris's march upon, VI. 106. Taken by assault, 112.

	Seringham, island, its pagoda described, II. 3. Characterized as constituting an era in the history of India, III. 103.

	Servants, Calmuck, Negro, and Hindu, characterized, I. 169, note.

	Servants of the East India Company, misbehaviour of, in the early period of the Company's concerns. I, 59. Refractory conduct of, at Fort St. George, 87. New regulations for the government of, 99. See further, East India Company.

	Seton, Mr. his account of the Nabob of Surat, VI. 255. 256.

	Sevagee, founder of the Mahratta power, in an attack upon Surat repulsed by the English factory, I. 86. Commencement of his fortunes, II. 358. His exploits against Aurungzebe, 360. Submits to the Emperor, but revolts, from being treated with contumely, 362. Plunders Surat and recovers his former possessions, 364. Artfully obtains a truce, ibid. Enters the teritory of Golconda with 40,000 horse, and takes the fortress of Gingee, Velore, and other places, 365. Extent of his dominions at his death, 367.

	Severndrog, situation of, III. 152. Taken by Clive, 153. Further account of, V. 342. Taken by Colonel Stuart, after immense labour, 344.

	Sex, female, charactereized as the greatest admirers of the military character, and most devoted to superstition and priests, I. 166, note. See further, Women.

	Sahaab, ad Dien, son of Ghazee ad Dien, account of, II. 412.

	Shah Jehan. See Churrum.
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Shah Namu, Hindu poem, account of, II. 57.

	Shajee, father of Sevagee, account of, and his exploits, II. 358, and note.

	Shaista khan, sent by Aurungzebe to command in Deccan, II. 361. Wounded in Deccan, II. 361. Wounded in his bed at Poonah by a banditti, and his son killed, ibid.

	Shaw, quoted on the dexterity of Hindu merchants in calculation, I. 418.

	Shazada, son of Aulumgeer the Second, invades Bengal, III. 253. Repulsed, 257. On the assassination of his father assumes the state and title of Emperor, 260. Defeats the Governor of Bahar near Patna, 261. Is defeated in turn by Meeran and the English, 263. Flies to Bahar, 264. Defeated by the English at Gyah Maunpore, 276. Visited by Major Carnac, who negotiates a peace with him, 279. War being renewed, is again defeated, and a second treaty made, 314, 315. Further arrangements of the English with, 362. Interview of Lord Clive with, 378. Confirms to the English the government of the Northern Circars, 401. Conducted by Mahratta chiefs to Delhi, 484. In concert with the Mahrattas, attacks the country of Zabia Khan. 485. Reduced to abject dependence on the Mahrattas, 494. Revenue due to him refused by the English, 513. Defeated by Zabita Khan, and obliged to remit arrears of tribute, 552. Conduct of Mr. Hastings respecting him, V. 11. Submits himself to the power of Scindia, 14, VI. 404. Cruelty of his treatment by Gholam Khadur, ibid. Places himself under the protection of the English on their taking Delhi, 416. Provision on their taking Delhi, 416. Provision made for him and his family, 482.

	Shelburne, Lord, appointed prime minister, IV. 468.

	Shere khan, his contests with and perfidy to Humaioon, II. 287. His ancestry, 288. Killed by an explosion of gunpowder, 289. His various beneficial establishments, 290.

	Sheridan, Mr. his speech on the Oude charge against Mr. Hastings, considered as one of the brightest efforts of English eloquence, V. 62. Sums up the evidence on this charge, 217.

	Shipping, Committee of, the India House, III. 8.

	Shirley, Sir Robert, Ambassador to Persia, I. 52.

	Shitabroy, Rajah, Naib Duan of Patna, arrested and sent to Calcutta, III. 476. Acquitted after confinement of two years, 483. Dies of a broken heart, ibid.

	Shore, Sir John, Lord Teignmouth, his account of the practice of sitting in dherna, I. 209, note. His ideas of the impracticability by the Company's servants of reform in the government of India, V. 400. In favour of the ryots, against the Zemidars, 412. His description of the Company's servants lamentably true, 504. Succeeds Lord Cornwallis as Governor-General, VI. 18. Directs his attention to Nizam Ali and the Mahrattas, ibid. Urges the Nabob of Oude to arrange the internal administration of his county, 39. His proceedings at Lucknow, 42. His conduct respecting the bastardy, and consequent deposition, of Mirza Ali, Nabob of Oude, 46. His conduct approved and commended by the powers at home, 48. Resigns and sails for England, 61.

	Shumse, sovereign in Deccan, II. 307.

	Siddee, meaning of the appellation, II. 367.

	Siddee Jore, assassinated for losing Dunda Rajapore, of which he was Governor, II. 366. His assassination avenged by his brother, who surrenders the fort of Gingerah and the fleet of Beejaporre to Aurangzebe, ibid.

	Simoga, taken by the Bhow, in alliance with the English, V. 350.

	Sinners, enumeration of, from the Institutes of Menu, who suffers some morbid change in their bodies, I. 348.

	Sirbullund Khan, invited to court by Feroksere, to act against the Seyd brothers, II. 391.

	Sirhind, taken from Seiks, by Shah Aulum, II. 379. Plundered by Ahmed Abdallee, 408.

	Siva, Hindu god, indistinct nature of his functions, I. 298

	Skinner, Sir Thomas, proceedings respecting in parliament for infringing the East India Company's monopoly, I. 88.

	Smith, Colonel, appointed one of the Select Committee at Calcutta, III.
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382. His retreat to Trinomales after being defeated by Hyder, 419. Recalled, 423. Restored, 424.

	Smith, General, employed in expelling Ameer Khan from the Company's teritory, VI. 497.

	Smith, Dr. Adam, on the causes which rendere astronomy the first science cultivated by a rude people, quoted, I. 90. On the province of philosophy to connect the apparently disjoined objects of nature, 92, note.

	Smith, Mr. deprived of his seat in the Madras Council, IV. 138.

	Society. See Human Nature.

	Soffarides, account of, II. 215.

	Soldier, Hindu, ceremonies to observed by, I. 445.

	Soliman, son of Dara, defeats his uncle Suja, II. 338. Flies from Aurungzebe to the Rajah of Serinagur, 342. Betrayed by the Rajah, and imprisoned by Aurungzebe, 348. Desires to be beheaded, fearing the pousta, 354, note.

	Sonnerat, his description of the state of women in India, I. 388, note. On the architecture of the Hindus, quoted, II. 10. His description of an Hindu loom, 19, note. Describes the mode in which an Indian carpenter performs his work, 31, note. Quoted on the state of the fine arts with the Hindus, 33, 36, note. On the laws and religion of the Hindus encouraging spirit of restlessness and warfare, 161, 162, note.

	Sooflees, seet among the Afghauns, account of, II. 76, note.

	Soonda, taken by Hyder Ali, III. 416.

	Sooraje Mul, II. 414. Forms a scheme for the ruin of Ghazee ad Dien, 415.

	Souri, a Gaurian, his revolt, II. 237.

	Speke, Mr. chosen Vice-President of the Council, and Deputy Governor of Fort William, VI. 218.

	Spencer, Mr. succeeds Vansittart as President of Bengal, III. 321.

	Spice trade, attempted by the East India Company, I. 32.

	Spies, crimes in India not remedied by system of, V. 497.

	Spinning, skill of the Hindus in, from the softness of their hands, II. 15.

	Spirits, account of the Hindu sacrament of, I. 489.

	Sraddhas, monthly ceremonies of the Hindus, account of, I. 448.

	Stavorinus, on the apathy of the Hindus to offices of humanity, quoted, I. 404. On their expertness in the use of their rude tools, II. 31, note.

	Stephenson, Colonel, takes Jalnapoor, VI. 428. Joins the army of General Wellesley, 431. Takes Boorhanpore and Asserghur, 432. Commands a division in the siege and capture of Gawilghur, 437.

	Stewart, Mr. Charles, on the Character of Shaista Khan, quoted, I. 107, note. On the Kings of Behar being lordsparamount of India, which he refutes, 179, note. Charged with having softened the account of the insolence of Kei Kobad to his father, 247, note.

	Stinkards, name given to an order in society among the Natchez, I. 169, note.

	Story-telling, Hindu amusement, I. 416. Amusement with the negroes of Africa, ibid, note.

	Strachey, Edward, one of the Moorshedabad judges, his excellent remarks on Indian jurisprudence, V. 531, note.

	Strachey, Mr. III. 366.

	Strachey, Sir H. on the tyranny of the Mahratta power, quoted, II. 174. On the expense Ryots are subject to in prosecuting their suits, V. 459, note. Mentions circumstances which obstrutcts the conviction of delinquents in Indian administration of justice, 477. On the practice of per jury in India, 491.

	Stuart, Colonel, attacks and takes Dindigul, V. 289. Commands at the siege of Severndroog, 342, 369, 374. Commands the Bombay army, VI. 96. Repulses Tippoo Saib, 100. Arrives before Seringapatam, 108.

	Stuart, General, claims the military station at Tanjore, IV. 114. Disputes in the council of Madras respecting the question of his being nominated to the court of the Rajah of Tanjore, 115. His concern in the arrest of Lord Pigot, 119. Succeeds Sir Eyre Coote in the command of the Madras army, 223. Refuses to obey the orders of the Madras President, 228. Defeated before Cuddalore, 235, Put
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under arrest and sent to England, 239.

	Student, one of the periods into which life is distributed by the Hindus, account of, I. 377. Frivolous ceremonies his main business, 378, and note. Dress prescribed for, 445.

	Subactagi, account of, II, 215.

	Subahdar, meaning of, I. 312, III. 84.

	Subahs, numbeer into which the Mogul Empire was divided on the death of Akbar, II. 312.

	Subder Ali, Nabob of Carnatic, assassinated, III. 87

	Succession, right of, in children, suggested in a very early period of society, I. 210. Hindu laws respecting, 211.

	Sudder Duanee Adaulut, Court of Appeal in India, how constituted, III. 470. Sir Elijah Impey appointed Judge of, with a salary, 306. Opinion of the English lawyers upon this appointment, ibid. Reflections of the Select Committee of the House of Commons upon it, 307. Regulations introduced into it, 309. Check proposed respecting in the proceedings in, V. 425 note.

	Sudras, Hindu servants or slaves, degraded state of I. 167.

	Suffder Jung, made Vizir to Ahmed Shah, II. 410. His contest with the Rohillas, ibid. Revolts, 413. Dies, 415.

	Suffrein, Admiral, sails with a fleet for India, IV. 205. Defeated by the English, in Praya Bay, 207. His engagement with the English fleet off Ceylon, 214; further engagement off Negapatam, 217. His character, ibid. Takes Trincomalee, 218. In a naval engagement, after taking Trincomalee, breaks six of his captains for misconduct, 220. Follows the English fleet from Trincomalee, and another engagement takes place, 236.

	Suja, son of Shah Jehan, and Subahdar of Bengal, his character, II. 337. His conduct on the illness of his father, 338. Defeated by his brother Aurungzebe, 344. Seeking refuge with the Rajah of Arracan, is betrayed and imprisoned, 348. A Patan chief, from personal resemblance to him, proclaimed King of India, 368.

	Sujah Khan, account of, III. 138, 139.

	Sullivan, Mr. appointed agent to the Nabob of Carnatic, IV. 196. Appointed minister to the court of the Nabob, 198. Plans the expedition inot Coimbetore, 239. His contract for opium, V. 184.

	Sully, instance cited by, of the difference between the neat produce of taxes, and the amount taken from the people, I. 279.

	Sumatra, first trade to, I. 37.

	Summer, Mr. arrives in India with Clive as Member of the Select Committee at Calcutta, III. 349. His concern in private trade, 366.

	Sumroo, German officer in the service of Meer Causim, III. 306. His assassination offered by Suja Dowla to the English, 315. Abandons Suja Dowla, and seeks service with the Jaats, 359.

	Sun, reserve of the modern Brahmens respecting the title of Deva given to it, I. 326, note. Heat, light, and flame of the sun shadowed forth by the three principal gods of the Hindus, 332. Hidu prayer to the sun, 334. Sun worshipped by other nations, 335, note. Temple erected to the sun, at the expense of the entire revenues of Orissa for twelve years, II. 12, note.

	Sungarpore, taken by Sevagee, II. 360.

	Supervisors, board of, sent to India, III. 428. Lost in their passage, 431. Further appointment of, 460.

	Supreme Council in India, first appointment of, and of whom composed, III. 457. Disagreement between, at the first meeting, 519. Two parties in, 521. Announce their powers to the different provinces, and require from each a statement of its situration, 525. Object to a treaty made by the Bombay Council with Ragoba, 542. Treat with the Poonah government, by a negotiator of their own, 544. Forbid the Bombay Council to receive Ragoba within the limits of their government, 549. Their dissensions respecting the widow of Burdwan and her son, 552; respecting Nuncomar, 561. Their acrimoniouos debates as to the most eligible plan for levying taxes, IV. 4; on the appointment to the office of resident of Oude, 17; on the management of the household of the Nabob Mubarek Ul Dowla, 21;
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on the resolutions of the Madras Presidency to aid the Muteseddies, who proposed to restore Ragoba, 30. Appoint a force to march acrros India to Bombay 31. Their view in this indeterminate and obscure, 40. Disavow the treaty directed by the Mahrattas to the Bombay army, 45. Suspend the Governor of Madras, 174. Form a treaty with the Nabob of Carnatic, without the knowledge of the Council of Madras, 196. Further instances of their opposition to the Madras Presidency, 249. Oppose the Supreme Court of Judicature. See the next article. Appoint the chief justice, judge of the Sudder Duanee Adaulut, 306.

	Supreme court of Judicature, establishment of, and powers given to it, IV. 267. Its operations cruel to the inhabitants, 269; interfere with and suspend the collection of the revenues, 271, 292; suspend the administration of justice, and annihilate the powers of government, 273. Instances of its oppressive spirit, 280. Its conduct in the Patna cause, 282; and Dacca cause, 289. Its servants arrested by the Supreme Council, 294. Supreme Council petition parliament against its proceedings, 296. Bill passed for restraining it, 462.

	Surat, first trade of the English to, I. 26. English factory established at, ibid. Contest at, of the English with the Portuguese, 43. English trade to, suspended, 71. English factory at, attacked by the Mahrattas, 86; seized by Aurungzebe, 107; restored, ibid. The place plundered by Sevages, II. 362, 364. Its situation, VI. 250. Its history, ibid, et seq. English attempt to place the government of, on a new footing, 254. Resolution taken to depose the Nabob of, 257. Reasoning of the Governor, ibid. Mode in which it was effected, 259.

	Surya Sidhanta, chief Hindu book of astronomy, I. 89.

	Sykes, Mr. arrives in India with Clive as Member of the Select Committee at Calcutta, III. 349, 382.

	Symes, on the Birmans, quoted, II. 199–200, note.



	Tadkeratussulatin, historical Hindu treatise, II. 151.

	Taheretes, account of, II. 214.

	Tanjore, taken by Shajee, father of Sevagee, II. 359. Heirs to the Rajahship of ibid. Account of, and its princes, III. 78. Motive of the English for invading it, 80. Their first warlike operations in ibid. Expedition of the French against, 198. Views of Mahomed Ali against, 338. Terms on which pretaupa Sing, the Rajah of, is allowed quiet possession of his territories, 340. Contention of the Rajah of, with Mahomed Ali, as to his territory and supposed wealth, IV. 74. Rajah of, wrests from the Marawars a territory taken from his dominions, 78. War with on this account, discussed by the Madras presidency, and urged by the Nabob of Carnatic, 79, 80. The presidency comphes, and the Rajah is reduced to sign a treaty with the Nabob, 85. Disapproving of this treaty, the presidency threaten to renew hostilities, 86. War renewed, 98. Letter of the Rajah to the English commander, ibid. The Rajah defeatted, dethroned, and imprisoned, 101. Treatment of, while a prisoner, 103. Restored, 111. Resident established at Tanjore, 114. The county overrun by Hyder, 181. Battle of, 212. Ameer Sing, Rajah of, deposed, VI. 267. His death, 301.

	Tanks at Achel, injury that would have resulted, had Lord Cornwallis destroyed them, VI. 342.

	Tartars, religion of, I. 324, note. Characterized as sober, accurate, dexterous, and faithful, II. 188, note.

	Tatta, detached from the dominions of the Mogul, and added to those of Nadir Shah, II. 404.

	Taxation, outline of that of the Hindus, I. 247. Qualities desirable in a system of, 249. Evils resulting from uncertainty in, 250; from unequal partition of, ibid; from such as impedes production, 251; from such asdiminishes useful qualities in the people, ibid
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Taxation of the Hindus tried by these qualities, 252. Instance of the difference between the neat produce of taxes and the amount taken from the people, 279. In Mexico and Persia taxation paid in kind, 280. Paid in kind in China, II. 193, 281. Taxation of the Mahomedans, II. 454. Company's territories in India over-taxed IV. 12.

	Taylor, Mr. sums up the charge of contracts on the trial of Mr. Hastings, V. 217.

	Teeg Bahadur, prophet of the Seiks, accountof, II. 378.

	Teignmouth, Lord. See Shore.

	Telingana, one of the divisions of Deccan, extent and boundaries of, II. 254.

	Tellicherry, exploits of the English garrison at, IV. 204.

	Temples, Hindu. See Pagodas. Mexican temples, II. 6. Temple of Jerusalem, cost of, in building, 183, note.

	Tenant, quoted on the Hindus drowning themselves in the Ganges, I. 358, note. On the preferable attention paid to animals in India, 368, note. ON the proneness of the Hindu husbandman to robbery, when driven to despair, 405, note. On the Hindu propensity to abusive language, 409. On the inferiority of the Hindus to Europeans in every art but weaving, II. 15, note. Ascribes the brilliant colours of the painted cloths of the East to the goodness of the water, 20, note. On the appearance of an Hindu field after one ploughing, 22, note. On the state of the art of painting with the Hindus, 35. On the use of glass by the Europeans in India, 42, note. Could find in the Sanscrit records of Benares no history of the country, 61, note. On the tendency of the Hindu superstition to estrange mankind, 166, note.

	Tenure in land. See Land.

	Tetteeah, fort, sufferings of the English in an attack on, VI. 248.

	Thales, his mathematical knowledge, II. 133.

	Thamas Koolee Khan. See Nadir Shah.

	Thiagar, taken by the English, III. 234.

	Thorne, Robert, suggests the practicability of the North-West passage, I. 5.

	Three, numeral, virtues ascribed to, by the Hindus, II. 78.

	Thurlow, Lord, opposes the appointment of Lord Macartney to the office of Governor-General of India, V. 38. In the House of Lords, declares against uncertain evidence, 122. Asserts that the acts of the Commons are not those of the people, who are a body unknown to the Lords, 174. Considers the misrepresenting the conduct of judges, and magistrates, as a crime of a very high nature, 250. Animadversions on this supposition, ibid, et seq. Speech of Burke on the subject, 254, note.

	Tibet, reduced by one of the Generals of Shah Jehan, II. 332.

	Time, account of, as a divinity in the laws of Zoroaster, I. 337.

	Timery, fort, taken by the French, III. 204. Retaken by the English, 227.

	Timidity, feature of the Hindu character, I. 407, and note.

	Tinivelly, commencement of the war in, III. 132. Attempts of the English to reduce it to more profitable obedience, 174. Plundered by Hyder Ali, 423.

	Tippoo Saib, repelled in an attack on Colonel Baillie, IV. 161. Lays siege to Wandewash, 179. Raises the siege, 184. Joins the French at Porto Novo, 212. Defeats Colonel Braithwaite, on the banks of the Coleroon, 213. Succeeds his father, Hyder Ali, 224. State of his army when joined to that of his father, 229. Retires from Carnatic, ibid. Loses Mangalore, 231. Takes Bednore, 233. Invests Magalore, ibid. Negotiation, into which he had entered with the English, broken off, 237. Further proceedings against him, 239. Negotiation with, again broken off, 243. Attacks Magalore and is repulsed, 245. Peace with, 247. Statement of his subsequent conduct, V. 260. Lord Cornwallis accused of breaking public faith with him, by the arrangements with the Nizam, 265. Suspected of hostile designs, 266. His disputes with the Rajah of Travancore, 269. His demands on the Rajah,
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273. Attacks his lines, and narrowly escapes, 277. Forces the lines and ravages the country, 287. Correspondence between him and General Medows, ibid. Drives back the division of Colonel Floyd, 291. Forces the English depots of Caroor and Sutimungul, 292. His stratagem for cutting off the English army frustrated, 293. Invades Carnatic, 295. Plunders the island of Seringham, ibid. Plan of his operations, 315. His conduct in the battle of Arikera, 324. His negotiations with Lord Cornwallis, 329. Sends a vakeel to treat with the allied army, 337. The inferiority of his means betrayed by the feebleness of his operations, 352. Retakes Coimbetore, 356. Offers to send vakeels for the settlement of disputes, but the offer refused, ibid. Position of his army before Seringaputam, 360. His camp attacked by the English during the night, 362. Several of his redoubts taken, 370. Loss of men on both sides, 373. Makes overtures through the Coimbetore prisoners, 374. Negotiations commenced, 378. Two of his sons received as hostages in the British camp, 380. Ceremony of their reception, 381. Definitive treaty delivered by them to Lord Cornwallis, 385. Character of the abusive terms in which the English speak of Tippoo, 387. Prosperity of his country, and attachment of his subjects to him, 389. Question of profit and loss to the English by the war with him, 392. Receives coldly an offer of a more amicable connexion, on the restoration of his sons to him, VI. 34. His proclamation for aid against the English published in the Isle of FRance, 64. Lord Mornington induced by this proclamation to declare war against him, 68. Demands of the Governor-General on him, 91. Sends a letter to the Governor-General, declaratory of pacific intentions, 93. Prepares an embassy to France, 95. War commenced, 96. Makes fresh overtures, 97. Amount of the army sent against him, ibid. Marches against the Bombay army, 99. compelled by General Stuart to retreat, 100. Defeated in the action of Malvilly, 106. Sends another overture, 108. Draught of a preliminary treaty transmitted to him, 110. Particulars of the siege in which he is killed, 112, et seq. Generous reception of his sons by Major Baird, who had been cruelly treated by him, 120. His dead body found, 122. Retrospect of the views by which he was guided, 125. His character, 128. Superior state of his country compared with the Carnatic and Oude, 129. His mind strongly tinctured with religion, 131. Papers relative to his connexion with the French found in his palace after his death, 133. His poverty, 136. Settlement of his family, 143.

	Torgul Beg, account of, II. 224.

	Tools of the Hindus and other rude nations, II. 29.

	Tooth of Mahomet the Third, buried with solemn pomp, and a tomb erected over it, II. 263.

	Torpasses, Indo-Portuguese so denominated, III. 19.

	Torments, self-inflicted, that the Divine Being is delighted with them in his worshippers accounted for, I. 347, note. Period in human society in which such worship suggests itself, 352, note.

	Torture, See Rack.

	Towerson, Captain, executed by the Dutch at Amboyna, I. 46.

	Trade, begun with Russia by Chancelour, I. 6. Opened with Persia by the East Indies, 35. Private trade injurious to the East India Company, 59. Committee of, and Committee to prevent private trade, III. 8. For account of private trade by the Company's Servants, sees East India Company and Servants. Amount of tonnage for private trade allowed by the bill for the renewal of the Company's charter, VI. 8.

	Trqavencore, King, mode of atoning for his sins recommended by the priests, II. 172. Territory of the Rajah of, V. 268. His alliance with the English ibid. His disputes with Tippoo Saib, 269. Assisted by the English, 271. Buys forts on his boundaries of the Dutch, 273. Lawfulness
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of the purchase questioned, ibid. Demands of Tippoo on him, 276.

	Treasury, Company's Committee of, its occupations, III. 7.

	Triconopoly, account of, III. 85, 103. French attempt upon, baffled, 110. Claimed by the Mysorians, who had assisted in defending it, 112. Is distressed for provisions, and becomes the seat of war, 119, 120. Second attempt of the French upon, baffled, 177. Alarmed at the operations of Lally, 198.

	Trincomalee, taken by the English from the Dutch, III. 195. Taken by the French, 219. Naval battle near, 220.

	Trinomalee, taken by the French, III. 182. Retaken by the English, 227. Country round it, desolated by Hyder Ali, 419, 420.

	Tripassore, taken from Hyder by the English, IV. 185.

	Triptolemus, laws of, I. 369, note.

	Trivatore, fort, taken by the French, III. 204.

	Tronjolly, M. Commandere of the French fleet in India, his engagement with the English off Pondicherry, IV. 140.

	Tuglick, his speech on the throne of Delhi being offered him, II. 259. After a short reign, killed by the falling of the roof of a house, 260.

	Tuglick, grandson of Feroze, assassinated, after a short reign of five months, II. 268.

	Turkey, character of I. 400, note. Philosophical acquirements ascribed to, II. 69. Rise and progress of, 214.

	Turner, Mr. his account of the Anglo-Saxon punishments, I. 218. note. His account of Bootan and its Rajah, 196.

	Tydore, hostilities to the English, at, charged against the Dutch, I. 39.

	Tythings of the Anglo-Saxons, resemblance of, to the divisions observed by the Incas, I. 177. note.



	Vach, Hindu goddess, account of, I. 321. note.

	Vaivaswata. See Satyavrata.

	Valdore, taken from the French by the English, III. 228.

	Vandeleur, killed in the balltle of Laswaree, VI. 423.

	Vansittart, Mr. called from Madras to take the government of Benal, III. 271. State of affairs on his accepting the office, ibid. Proceeds to Moorshedabad to persuade Meer Jaffier to consent to his own dethronement, 273. His measures respecting Jaffier opposed by several members of his council, 274. Recalls Sir Eyre Coote and Major Carnac from Patna, 288. His proceedings against Ramnarain, the fatal error of his administration, ibid. Attempts in vain to mitigate the evils resulting from the private trade of the Company's servants, 293. His visit to Meer Causim, on the subject of this trade, 296. Returns to Europe, 321. Appointed one of the Board of Supervisors for India, 428. Lost in his passage out, 431.

	Vasco de Gama, sails round the Cape of Good Hope, I. 3.

	Veda, or study of the Scriptures, one of the sacraments of the Hindus, account of, I. 435. Resemblance of the Vedas to the Zendavestza, 370, note. Characterized as containing nothing important or rational, ibid.

	Vedanti doctrine, account of, II. 71.

	Vedas, or four sacred books of the Hindus, I. 155.

	Veins and arteries in the human body, pretended accurate calculation of the numbere of, II. 103, note.

	Velore, taken by Mahomed Ali, III. 338. Relieved by the English against Hyder Ali, IV. 188. English army forced from cantenments to convey supplies to it, 202. Appropriated for the residence of the family of Tippoo Saib after his death, VI. 148.

	Vellum, fortress, taken by the English, IV. 86.

	Verelst, one of the Bengal Council, and opposers of the measures of Mr. Vansittart, the President, III. 274. Quoted on the free trade claimed by the Company's servants, 292, note. One of the Select Committee at Calcutta, 349. His conceren in private trade,
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366. Appointed chairman of the Select Committee, 382. Succeeds Lord Clive as Governor of Bengal, 383. His regulation of bill remittances, 398. Resigns, ibid.

	Vicramaditya, sovereign of the world, real story of, II. 152. Other applications of the name, 156.

	Vieta, lived in an ill-instructed age, II. 134.

	Virtue, English, reflection on, as arising from English treatment of the Nabob of Arcot, V. 308, note.

	Vishnu, one of the Hindu gods, I. 298. His various incarnations, 299.

	Visigapatam, seized by Aurungzebe, I. 107. Taken from the English by Bussy, III. 188.

	Umad al Mulk. See Ghazee ad Dien.

	Umber, sovereign in Deccan, wisdom of his government, II. 327. Account of his successors, ibid.

	Ummir ul Hind, title bestowed on Mahomed Ali, III. 402.

	Universe, account, from the Bhagvat Geeta, of the display of the Divine nature in the form of, I. 330, note.

	Volconda, European troops, at the battle of, fly shamefully from the field, III. 102, 103.

	Volga, explored by Jenkinson, an Irishman, I. 16.

	Volney, quoted, on the effiminacy and indolence of the asiatics, I. 413, note. On the inference to be inferred as to the arts, from the Indian labyrinths and temples, II. 6, note. His account of the acquisition of science by the Arabians, 68. How characterised by Gibbon as a traveller, ibid. note. Quoted on the Caravanseras of Syria, 198, note.

	Voltaire, quoted, on the lofty expressions and mean ideas of the Romans towards their gods, I. 293, note. On the absurdity of upon the religion of ancient nations, 328, note. On the absurdities of the religious system of Zoroaster, 340, note. On oblations and penances, 350, note. On the impracticability of legislators enjoining a corrupt morality, 363, note. Says, superstitions are invariably those of the most horrible acts of wickedness, 407, note. On the invention of rude nations in the arts, II. 30, note. His character fo the Song of Solomon, 52, note. Quoted on Eastern poetry, 59, note. Extract from his La Pucelle d'Orleans, ibid. Quoted on the scanty attainments of the Egyptians, 205, note. On the dissensions between Labourdonnais and Dupleix, III. 63, note.

	Voyages, various, account of, I. 3 to 18.

	Upton, Colonel, sent to treat with the Poonah government, III. 544. His instructions, 545. Effects a compromise of difficulties, 548. Concludes a treaty, 549. Accuses the Bombay presidency, and answers for the pacific designs of the Mahrattas, IV. 28.

	Usbecks, invade Transoxiana, II. 284. Invade the Eastern provinces of Persia, 312. Penetrate to Ghisni, but compelled to retreat, 321. Attack Cabul, and are driven out of the province, 326. Beaten again in an attack upon Cabul, and their own territories invated, 333. Subdued by Aurungzebe, but the sovereign reinstated, 334.

	Utility, grand test of civilization, II. 134.



	Waite, Sir Nicholas, accuses the London Company as thieves and confederates with pirates, I. 117, note; and their servants at Surat of using treasonable expressions towards the King, 126.

	Wall, astonishing one built by the Tlascalans as a rampart against their enemies, the Mexicans, II. 7.

	Wallace, Colonel, his operations against Holkar, VI. 483.

	Wallan Jau, title bestowed on Mahmed Ali, III. 402.

	Wandewash, unnecessarily set on fire by Colonel Alderson, III. 179. Taken by the English, 221. Battle of, 223. Besieged by Tippoo Saib, IV. 184.

	War, art of, among the ancient Hindus, I. 181. Wars in Europe in 1740, and 1744, III. 45.

	Ward, Mr. quoted on the immoral influence of the Hindu religion, I. 366, note. On the little effect of future rewards and punishments on the Hindus, 374. On the temples of
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the Hindus, II. 12, note. Suppose the praise bestowed on the religion of the Hindus to be dying away from its being better known, 103, note. Chracterizes the Hindu religion as containing nothing in which a learned man can delight, or of which a benevolent man can approve, 104, note.

	Ward, Rev. W. quoted on the wretched state of the Indian roads, II. 180, note.

	Ware, Major-General, killed in the battle of Laswaree, VI. 425.

	Warehouses, Committee of, at the India House, its nature, III. 7.

	Waring, Mr. Scott, quoted, on the Hindu mythology and history, I. 145, note. On the pliancy of the Hindu religion, 326, note. On the character of the Persian women, 399, and note. His account of the Hindu poem, entitled Shah Namu, II. 57. On the nature of ancient Persian history, 63, note. On the science of the Persians, 69, note. On the extent of the Persian knowledge of astronomy, 90, note. On the wretchedness and misery prevalent among the Persians, 174, note. On the moral character of the Persians, 195, note.

	Watson, Admiral, sent with a squadron under his command to India, III. 127, 151. Sails from Madras to Calcutta, 154. Takes Calcutta in co-operation with Clive, 156. Bombards Chandernagor, 160.

	Watts, Mr. chief of the factory at Cosimbuzar, made prisoner by Suraja Dowla, III. 147.

	Weaving, skill of the Hindus in, to what owing, II. 15. Superiority of the Mexicans in, 16. Skill of the Goths in, ibid. Skill of the Babylonians, 17, note. Spinning, weaving, and dyeing, familiar to the Africans, 15, note. Art of weaving cotton ascribed to Semiranmis, 18. Skill of the Colchians in, 20, note.

	Webbe, Mr. appointed with Mr. Close to depose the Nabob of Arcot, VI. 287.

	Wellesley, Marquis, Earl of Mornington. See Mornington, Lord.

	Wellesley, Honourable Major-General Arthur, appointed one of a diplomatic committee to act as occasion may require in the war with Tippoo Saib, VI. 101. His military concern in that war, 105, 107. Appointed to the command of the army, for carrying into execution the treaty of Bassein, 342. His rapid march to Poona, to prevent its being set on fire, 343. Plenary powers of negotiation and war given to him, 352. Writes a letter to Dowlut Rao Scindia, on the menacing position he had assumed, 357. Objects at which he was to aim in the war against Scindia, and the Rajah of Berar, 394. Takes Ahmednuggur, 427. Defeats Scindia in the battle of Assye, 429. Receives an overture for peace, 433. In conjunction with Colonel Stephenson, gains the battle of Argaum, 435. Lays siege to and takes Gawilghur, 436. Negotiates with the Rajah of Berar, 443, and concludes a treaty with him, 445. Ordered to commence hostile operations against Holkar, 468. Impeded in his military operations in Deccan by a famine, 470. Withdraws into cantonments, 473.

	Wellesley, Mr. appointed Lieutenant-Governor of the territory of Oude, VI. 213. His appointment objected to by the Court of Directors, 230. Confirmed by the Board of Control, ibid. Resigns his situation and returns to Europe, 243.

	Wheeler, Mr. appointed Governor-General of Bengal on the supposed resignation of Mr. Hastings, IV. 16. Fills the vacancy in council occasioned by the death of Col. Monson, 20.

	Whitehill, Mr. President and Governor of Madras, pro tempore, IV. 122.

	Wigley, Mr. opposes Mr. Grey's motion for adjourning the trial of Mr. Hastings, as prejudicial to the justice and character of the House, V. 202.

	Wilford, Captain quoted, on the Hindu dynasties, I. 139, note. On the deficiency of the Hindus in historical records, 144, note. On the Hindu mythology, ibid. On the story of the Noah of the Hindus, 149, note. On the amount of a year of the Creator, by Hindu computation, 287, note. On the Chrisna of the Hindus, 308, note. On the contests of the three
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gods of the Hindus for superiority, 310. On the reserve of the Brahmens respecting their god Deva or the sun, 327, note. Says that neither the Hindus nor Egyptians had any work purely historical, II. 60. Considers the state of ancient history in the East as a blank in literature, 61, note. Ascribes ignorance to the compilers of the Puranas, 102 note. On the propensity of the Hindus to appropriate every thing of antiquity to themselves, 152. Gives the real story of the Vicramaditya of the Hindus, 153.

	Wilkes, Alderman, an advocate in the House of Commons in favour of Mr. Hastings, V. 65.

	Wilkins, Mr. quoted, on a religious comment upon the wanton odes of the Persian poet Hafiz, I. 328, note. On the voluntary infliction of pain by the zealots of India, 354, ote. On the gross language of the Hetopadesa of the Hindus, 398. On the qualities which constitute the perfection of a language, II. 81, note. On the self-abasement of the Hindus before their kings, 171, note.

	Wilks, Colonel, on the states into which India was divided, quoted, II. 178. On the state of civilization fo the Mahomedan princes of Deccan, 182, note. On the increasing wretchedness of the Indians the further they are traced in antiquity, 185, note. Accuses Lord Cornwallis of breach of faith with Tippoo Saib, V. 267, note. Affirsm that Colonel Floyd communicated intelligence of the motions of Tippoo Saib, but was not credited, 291. His account of the assault on the Pettah, near Seringapatam, 317; of the distressed state of the army at the siege of Bangalore, 320; of the march of the army from Arikera to Caniambaddy, 324.

	Willoughby, Sir Hugh, attempts a north-west passage, I. 6.

	Winter, Sir Edward, Chief Company's servant at Fort St. George, suspected of delinquency, and recalled, I. 87. Imprisons his intended successors, ibid.

	Witchcraft, prevalence of, in India, I. 423. Five persons tried and executed for, in one district, in 1792, ibid.

	Women, condition of, with the Hindus, I. 383. Qualities and faults ascribed to them in the Gentoo laws and Institutes of Menu, 387, note. Condition of, with the Arabians, Persians, and Tartars, 389, note. With the North American tribes, ibid. Why secluded from public view by the Hindus, 393, note. Domestic community of, on the Malabar coast, 395. Among the Celtic inhabitants of Britain, 397, note. In the province of Madura, ibid. Condition of women in the island of Formosa, the Ladrones, and other places, ibid. Hindu women kiss and even adore the private parts of the naked Fakeers, who travel in pilgrimage, 398, note. Persian women totally devoid of delicacy, 399. Women in India represented as of exquisite proportion, and their skin of a polish and softness superior to that of all their rivals on the globe, 409. Hindu women accustomed to do their occasions in the public streets, 421, note. Hands of an Indian cookmaid softer than those of an European beauty, II. 16, note.

	Wood, Colonel, attacked twice successfully by Hyder Ali, III. 423.

	Woodington, Lieutenant-Colonel, takes Baroach, VI. 442. Takes the town of Champaneer, 443.

	Worship, of the planets, I. 335, note. Of heroes, how occasioned, 336. Of inanimate objects, 367. Of reptiles, ibid.

	Wyndham, Mr. his speech on the ill treatment of the managers, on Mr. hastings's trial, V. 201.



	Xenophon, quoted, on Persian punishments, I. 219, note. On Eastern magnificance, II. 182.



	Year of the Creator, amount of, according to the Hindu computation, I. 287.

	Yogee, Hindu penitents so denominated, I. 353.

	Yoni, obscene worship of, by the Hindus, I. 365.

	York, Archbishop of, proceedings of the House of Commons, on his intemperate language during the trial of Mr. Hastings, V. 198.
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Zabita Khan, attacked by the Mahrattas and the Emperor, and all his territories taken from him, III. 487, 492. His territories restored to him by the Mahrattas, 294. Defeats the forces of the Emperor, and evades the payment of arrears of tribute, 495.

	Zemaun, Captain General of the Empire, his revolt against Akbar, II. 301.

	Zemindar, meaning and power of the title, I. 271, III. 467. Zemindars, of the Northern Circars, summoned to Madras, IV. 125. Further account of their office and power, V. 406. Not proprietors of land, 407. This opinion suggested by aristocratical principles, 408. New arrangement respecting them not to be reconciled with the interests of the great body of the people, 409. Their power abolished, 436. Relation between the Zemindars and the Ryots, 445. Administration of justice not possible to be aided by the co-operation of the Zemindars, 500. Company's war with the refractory Zemindars of Oude, VI. 241.

	Zendavesta, resemblance of, to the Vedas, I. 370, note.

	Zodiac, of the Hindus, borrowed from the Greeks and other nations, II. 96, and note, 127.

	Zillah, a district, and court of justice, VI. 422.

	Zillah judges, making them penal judges not good policy, V. 507.

	Zoroaster, Deity how described by, I. 292. Made the duties of agriculture a part of his religion, II. 27, note. Similarity of his religious system to that of the Hindus, 192.

	Zulfeccar Khan, subahdar of Deccan, accompanies Shah Aulum in his wars, II. 377. Conduct of, to the sons of Shah Aulum on the death of the Emperor, 380, 381. Sides with Moiz ad Dien, who succeeds to the throne, ibid. Is sefeated by Feroksere, 383: and strangled, 384.




END OF INDEX.










1Report on the Negotiation between the Honourable East India Company and the Public, respecting the renewal of the Company's exclusive Privilege of Trade, for Twenty Years from March 1794. By John Bruce, Esq. M. P., F. R. S. Historiographer to the Honourable East India Company, p. 13.


2Parliamentary Debates, 24th May, 1798.


3Letter from Governor-General to the Resident at Poonah, dated 7th August, 1792. Colonel Wilks says, on this occasion, “The policy of his Mahratta allies was in direct and systematic opposition to every thing explicit and definite in its connexion with other powers.” In this way, it might be supposed, that this was a clause exactly to suit them.


4Sir John Malcolm thinks this good reasoning, p. 142.
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1Papers, ut supra, p. 69.


1Papers, ut supra, p. 414, 415, 82, 83.


2Ibid. p. 86, 87.


1For the dispatch from which these quotations and facts are extracted, see papers ut supra, p. 85–91.


1Papers, ut supra, p. 98, 99.


2Governor-General's Narrative of the late transactions in the Mahratta empire. Ibid. p. 309.


3Narrative, ut supra. Ibid. p. 307.


1Governor-General's Narrative: Ibid. 307–311.


2Vide supra, p. 340.


3Narrative, ut supra, p. 317, 318.


1Narrative ut supra. Ibid p. 334.


1Colonel Collins's dispatch, dated, 29th May, 1803. Ibid, p. 153.


1Dispatch, ut supra. Ibid. p. 153, 154.


1Letter from Gov.-Gen. to home authorities, dated 1st August, 1803. Ibid. p. 148.


1Narrative, ut supra Ibid. p. 325, 326.


1Narrative, ut supra, p. 149, 162.


1Narrative, ut supra, p. 133–136.


1Narrative, ut supra, p. 166, 323.


1Narrative, ut supra, p. 324.


1Gov.-Gen.'s Narrative, Ibid. p. 327–331; Notes relative to the late transactions in the Mahratta empire, Ibid. p. 226–230; Letter from Gov. Gen. in Council to the home authorities, dated 25th of September, 1803, Ibid. p. 170–176.


1In his Narrative, ut supra, p. 331; Notes, ut supra, p. 230; Dispatch of the 25th of September, 1803, ut supra, p. 176.


1In transcribing these words I have left out three expressions, two of vague reprobation which the Governor-General bestows upon the actions of Scindia, and one of applause which he bestows upon his own, because they have only a tendency to substitute the opinion of the Governor-General upon these points, to the opinion which the pure facts may suggest; and I have so altered another of the expressions as to render it grammatical.


1See Gov.-Gen.'s Letter, ut supra, p. 179, 180; Narrative, ut supra, p. 331, 332.


1The following are some of the Governor-General's expressions: “If the negotiation shall prove successful, there is reason to expect that it will promote the complete accomplishment of the general system of defensive alliance, by inducing the other Mahratta powers to concur in the proposed arrangement—with a view to avoid the dependant and subordinate condition to which they must be reduced by their exclusion from an alliance, of which the operation, with respect to them, must be, to control all ambitious views and aggressive designs on their part, without affording to those powers the benefit of the general guarantee.” (Narrative, ut supra, p. 10.)—“The same conveyance will furnish you with a detail of the negotiations, conducted by the resident at Poona, under my authority, with the view to the accomplishment of the important object of comprehending the Mahratta states in the general system of defensive alliance with the Honourable Company and its allies, on the basis of the treaty concluded with his Highness the Nizam in the month of October, 1800.” (Ibid. 29.)—“The intimate connextion with the Peshwa, on principles calculated to secure to him the constant protection of the British arms, could not be formed, without, at the same time, establishing our ascendancy in the Mahratta empire.” (Ibid. 34.)—In the next page (35) he calls it “that degree of control and ascendency, which it must be our interest to establish in the Mahratta state, and which it is his object to avoid.”—“The Peshwa is aware, that the permanent establishment of a British force in the neighbourhood of Poona would immediately place him, in some degree, in a state of dependance upon the British power.” (Ibid.)


1Governor-General's Narrative, ut supra. Ibid. p. 319: Also the Governor-General's instructions to the resident with Dowlut Rao Scindia. Ibid. p. 129.


1For this specimen, see Governor-General's Narrative. Ibid. p. 318: See, too, p. 312. Also his instructions to the resident, ut supra, p. 129; and the dispatch 25th September, 1803, commencing Ibid. p. 169.


1Governor-General's Narrative. Ibid. p. 312.


2Ibid.


3Ibid. p. 303.


1Governor-General's Narrative. Ibid. p. 318.


2Instructions to Colonel Collins. Ibid. p. 8. See, too, his instructions to the resident at Poona, 22d November, 1802, where he describes it as a plan “to combine the principal powers of Hindustan in a general system of defensive alliance and guarantee.” Ibid. p. 65. See also Governor-General's Narrative. Ibid. p. 307.


1Col. Collins's Dispatch. Ibid. p. 17, 18.


2The Governor-General himself was of this opinion, when he first sent Colonel Collins to the camp of Scindia, with an expectation that he would not only dismiss the French officers, but accept the English subsidiary force; that is, give up his military power entirely to the English.


1See Papers of Instructions. Ibid. p. 156, &c.


2Papers on the Mahratta War, ut supra, p. 68.


1Gov.-Gen.'s letter to Scindia, Ibid. p. 134, also 129.


2When the Governor-General, it may be further observed, tells Scindia, that he had not the means of defending himself against the miserable power of Holkar, (Ibid. p. 131, 133,) he surely made very small account of Perron and his battalions. It has been given, in parliament, as the opinion of two men, not apt to agree on disputable ground, of both Hastings and Francis, that European officers, and disciplined battalions, were to the native princes, especially the Mahrattas, a source of weakness, not of strength, who, though formidable by their irregular warfare, could not be so in a pitched battle. See Report of the debate, on the state of affairs in India, 5th of April, 1805. It was affirmed on that occasion by Mr. Francis, that after the minutest investigation, he found there were not more than twelve French officers in the whole Mahratta service. And it is worthy of remark that no specific statement of the number, nothing but large general expressions, is given by the Indian government. Francis, moreover, affirms, that of the force under the command of Perron, the greater part were ordinary Mahratta troops; but a small portion officered by Europeans, or disciplined in the European manner.


1Papers, ut supra, p. 154, 234.


1Gov.-Gen.'s Letter to the Commander-in-chief, dated 27th of July, 1803. Ibid. p. 156.


1Vide Gov-Gen.'s Notes relative to the late transactions in the Mahratta empire. Ibid. p. 235. It is instructive to observe the prevalence of exaggeration: Col. Collins in his letter from Scindia's camp, dated 7th of April, 1802, says; “Since my arrival at this court, I have obtained more accurate information of the state of the regular infantry in the service of Dowlut Rao Scindia than I heretofore possessed. I believe your Lordship may rely on the correctness of the following statement. General Perron commands four brigades of native infantry, each consisting of ten battalions of sepoys. The complement of a battalion is 716 firelocks, and every corps is commanded by two or three European officers.” Ibid. p. 17. By this statement, Perron's infantry amounted to 28,640, more than one half beyond the estimate of the Governor-General, which yet we may suppose beyond the mark.


2This sketch of the history, both of Deboigne and Perron, for which I have been obliged to trust to sources a little uncertain, is given, as exhibiting, which is enough for the present purpose, an idea, correct as to the class of men to which they belonged, rather than, in every minute particular, as to the individuals who are named.


1This account, which savours of exaggeration, is derived from an English gentleman, who served at the same time with Deboigne as an officer in Scindia's army. See Asiat. An. Register for 1805, Characters, p. 22.


1These particulars, collected by the well-informed editor of the earliest volumes of the As. An. Reg. (see vol. iii. Charac. p. 39), are confirmed by common history in all the leading and material points.


1See letters from an officer in Perron's army. Asiat. An. Register, vol. i. Chron. p. 50.


1See Rennel Asiat. An. for 1804, Miscel. Tracts, p. 77: Hamilton's East Ind. Gazetteer. The policy of letting him take possession of this country, is thus represented by Lord Wellesley: “The territories of Scindia between the Jumna and the Ganges interrupt the line of our defence in that quarter; and some of his principal posts are introduced into the centre of our dominions; while the possession of Agra, Delhi, and of the western and southern banks of the Jumna, enables him to command nearly the whole line of the western frontier. In the event of any considerable accession to Scindia's power, or in the event of his forming any connexion with France, or with any enemy to the British interests—the actual position of his territories and forces in Hindostan would furnish great advantages to him, in any attack upon the Company's dominions.” Governor-General's Instructions to the Commander-in-Chief, dated 27th July, 1803, Ibid. p. 156. As the Governor-General was making out a case, allowance is to be made for exaggeration.


1Of this, as of other parts of the Mahratta history, in which the English were not immediately concerned, when our knowledge is sufficiently certain in all the points of any material importance; we must, for the minute particulars, be satisfied to know that they cannot be very remote from the truth.—The remaining history of Gholam Khadur is short. He took refuge in Agra, which Scindia besieged—Seeing resistance hopeless, he took advantage of a dark night, stuffed his saddle with the jewels which he had plundered from the family of the Emperor, and with a few followers took his flight towards Persia. On the second night, having fallen from his horse, he gave time to his pursuers to come up, and make him prisoner. Scindia, after exposing him, for some time, first in irons, next in a cage, ordered him to be deprived of his ears, nose, hands, feet, and eyes; in which deplorable condition he was left to expire.—The party who pursued him was commanded by a Frenchman of the name of Lostoneaux. It was under him that Perron is said to have been first admitted into the service of Scindia, when he served as a quarter-master-sergeant. Lostoneaux is said to have got possession of the saddle, which Gholam Khadur is supposed to have stuffed with diamonds. This at least is known, that he soon after contrived to slip away, and returned to Europe. His corps breaking up after his desertion, Perron was in danger of losing employment, till Scindia's General gave him a battalion of his own. Asiat. An. Reg. for 1804, Chron. p. 63.—Also for 1801, Charac. p. 39.


1The English officer from whose letters, in the Asiat. An. Reg. vol. i. Chron. p. 50. we have the account of the surrender of Delhi to Perron's battalions, says, “The General, from that amiable humanity, which is a noble trait in his character, endeavoured to avoid recourse to hostile measures, in regard to the old king, the numerous princes, and princesses, who are detained in the fort: and even when the siege was laid, it was with full permission of the king, and every measure adopted to obviate any possible injury to the old monarch and the royal family. Though the troops in the fort, amounting to 600, were debarred from all exterior supplies of provisions, yet General Perron ordered that the royal persons should be amply supplied, and their provisions pass unmolested.” The author of a very intelligent letter (dated Oude, November, 1799, on the military state of the north-west part of the Company's frontier; published in the Asiat. An. Register for 1804, Miscel. Tracts, p. 77) says, “General Perron, a French officer of great experience and consummate abilities, both as a statesman and soldier, represents Dowlut Rao Scindia in Hindustan; and is invested with the most full and absolute authority over every department of the government, civil and military.—This power he exercises with great moderation, at the same time with a degree of judgment and energy, that evince very superior talents.”


1Papers relative to the Mahratta war in 1803, ut supra, p. 17.


1Letter to Governor-General, dated, Camp, near Ougein, 18th April 1802. Ibid. p. 18. Compare the statement of 1,35,00,000 in the Governor-General's notes. Ibid. p. 222.


2Ibid. p. 24.


1Letter to Governor-General, dated, Camp near Ougein, 18th April, 1802. Ibid p. 18. Compare the statement of 1,35,00,000 in the Governor-General's notes. Ibid. p. 159.


2Letter, ut suppra. Ibid. p. 161.


1Letter, ut supra. Ibid. p. 267, 268.


1See the Gov.-Gen.'s. Notes, ibid. p. 247–and the Dispatch of the Commander, p. 268.


1Letter from Gov.-Gen. in Council, 25th Sept. 1803. Ibid. p. 187.


1Gov.-Gen.'s Notes. Ibid. p. 248.


1Letter from Gov.-Gen. in Council, to the Secret Committee, 12th of April, 1804; Papers relating to the King or Mogul at Delhi, ordered to be printed 12th of March, 1805. See also the Message of the King, ibid. p. 9, which, so far from expressing great anxiety of wish, exhibits much distrust of the English, complaining of their late conduct, and declaring an apprehension, “lest when they gain possession of the country they may prove forgetful of him.”


1Papers relating to the Mahratta War, ut supra, p. 249.


2Papers, ut supra, p. 234


1They probably said something not less extravagant, when he passed into the hands of Scindia.


2How often, in looking narrowly into the conduct of public affairs, has the friend of humanity occasion to lament the low state in which political morality remains! its deplorable state compared even with private morality! How many men would disdain the practice of hypocrisy in private, who, in public, life, regard it, even in its grossest shape, as far from importing the same baseness of mind! Notes, ut supra, p. 249.


1Ibid. p. 203.


1Notes, ut supra, p. 251.


1Notes, ut supra, p. 251 to 254, 288.


2Ibid. p. 239, 266.


1Notes, ut supra, p. 239, &c. and 280.


1General Wellesley's Dispatch, papers relating to East India affairs, (printed June, 1806,) No. 25, p. 82.


1Let. Gov.-Gen. in council to the Secret Committee, dated 28th Dec. 1803, ibid. p. 297; also Calcutta Gazettes, ibid. p. 290–295.


1Letter, ut supra. Ibid. p. 200, 535.


1Letter, ut supra. Ibid. p. 243–5.


1Letter, ut supra. Ibid. p. 243.


1Memorandum transmitted by General Wellesley to the Governor-General of the conferences between him and the Ambassador of the Rajah of Berar. Papers relating to East India affairs (printed by order of the House of Commons, June 1806), No. 25, p. 124.


1Memorandum, ut supra; Letter of General Wellesley to the Governor-General; and copy of the treaty. Ibid. p. 122–132.


2Notes relative to the peace. Ibid. p. 183.


1Instructions of Gov.-Gen. parag. 62. Ibid. p. 121.


2Notes relative to the peace with the confederate Mahratta chieftains. Ibid. p. 143.


1Memorandum of the conferences between Major-General the Hon. Arthur Wellesley, and the Ambassadors of Dowlut Rao Scindia; Letter from General Wellesley to Gov.-Gen.; Treaty of peace with Scindia; and treaties with the Rajahs of Bhurtpore, &c. Ibid. p. 132–164; and the Governor-General's “Notes relative to the peace concluded between the British government and the confederate Mahratta chieftains, and to the various questions arising out of the terms of the pacification.” Ibid. p. 177–199.


1Treaty of alliance and mutual defence. Ibid. p. 164.


1Subsidiary it could not well be, when he paid no subsidy.


2Papers, ut supra, p. 197, 198.


1Contrast with it the opinions of his successor. Vide infra.


1Papers, ut supra, p. 198.


1The Governor-General, indeed, takes it as one of his benefits, that the native states would be restrained from war among themselves. But he does not inform us to whom the benefit would accrue. If the English were secure from aggression, the wars of the native princes were of no importance to them. If humanity is pretended, and the deliverance of the people from the horrors of war, it is to be replied, with dreadful certainty, that under the atrocities of a native government, supported by British power, the horrors of peace were no improvement upon the horrors of war. The sufferings of the people under the Nabobs of Carnatic and Oude were described by the English government itself, perhaps with some exaggeration, as unmatched in any portion of India.


1Letter from the Governor-General in council to the Secret Committee, dated 15th June, 1804. Papers, ut supra, printed in 1806, No. 23, p. 263; Notes, ut supra, No. 25, p. 205.


1Letter from Major Malcolm; Papers, ut supra, No. 23, p. 298; Gov.-Gen.'s Dispatch, ibid. p. 270.


1Governor-General's Letter, No. 23, ut supra, p. 271: Notes, No. 25, ut supra, p. 208.


1No. 23, p. 264.


2Letters, ut supra, Ibid. p. 303, 304.


1The documents relative to the correspondence and negotiations with Holkar, previous to the commencement of hostilities, were printed by an order of the House of Commons, under date, 11th of February, 1805.


1See the Dispatch of the Governor-General, ut supra, in Papers, No. 23; and Notes, ut supra, No. 25.


2Calcutta Gazettes, Papers, ut supra, No. 25, p. 229.


1Dispatches from the Commander-in-Chief, and General Monson; Papers, ut supra, No. 25, p. 233.


1Printed papers, ut supra, No. 25, pp. 222–339.


1Printed papers, ut supra, p. 240.


1Printed papers, ut supra, p. 233, 243–248.


1Printed papers, ut supra, No. 23, p. 149.


2Ibid. No. 25, p. 209.


1Printed papers, ut supra, p. 250, 251, 266, 267.


1Printed papers, ut supra, p. 224, 252–273; also General Lake's Letter to the Governor-General, dated Muttra, 1st July, 1805; Papers, ut supra, No. 15, p. 35.


1Letter from the Governor-General to the Commander-in-Chief. Papers, No. 15, ut supra, p. 23. Compare the sentiments here expressed, with those employed against the Nabobs of Arcot: vide supra, p. 538.


1Papers, ut supra, No. 15, p. 7–37.


1No. 15, ut supra, p. 37, 38. No. 25, ut supra, p. 272–285.


1No. 15, ut supra, p. 40–45, 53.


1Printed papers, ut supra, No. 23; Extract of a Letter from the Governor-General, 7th June, 1805, relative to Gualior and Gohud, with enclosure, p. 167–203; and copy of a Letter from ditto, 31st May, with enclosures, p. 5–148.


2Compare with these grounds of action, those laid down by Mr. Hastings, in regard to the Rohillas.


1Despatch of the Governor-General, dated 30th July, 1805, with its enclosures, No. 23, ut supra, p. 227–248.


1No. 23, ut supra, p. 253.


1Copies of all letters from the late Marquis Cornwallis, &c. ordered by the House of Commons to be printed, 19th February, 1808, p. 3, 4, and 6. For the reduction of the irregular troops by Lord Wellesley, see the letter of the Commander-in-Chief, No. 23, ut supra, p. 243.


1Papers, ut supra, ordered to be printed 19th of February, 1808, p. 5–13.


1Papers, (1806) ut supra, No. 11, p. 6–12.


1Papers, (1806) ut supra, No. 11, p. 5–13; No. 17; and No. 25, p. 3 and 4.


2Malcolm's Sketch, p. 413.


1Letter of Sir George Barlow, dated on the river near Chunar, 20th Oct. 1805; Papers, ut supra, No. 18, p. 5–7.


1Pepers, ut supra, No. 11, p. 15: and No. 25, p. 19, 20.


1Collection of Treaties in India (published 1812), p. 290–297. Malcolm's Sketch, p. 406–436. On the negotiation of the new treaties with Scindia and Holkar, and on the discussions relative to the dissolution of the alliance with the minor states, the official documents, which have yet been printed, furnish scanty information. The supply afforded by Sir John Malcolm is peculiarly authentic, as he was the negotiator and agent, through whom almost every thing was transacted.


1The following is a table of the particulars:











		Revenues.	Charges.	Net Revenue.



	1793–4	£8,276,770	£6,066,924	£2,209,846

	1797–8	8,059,880	7,411,401	648,479

	1805– 	15,409,409	15,561,328	157,919 net charge



















		Supplies to Out Settlements.	Interest on Debts.	Surplus Revenus.	Surplus Charge.



	1793–4	£40,822	£526,205	£1,642,819	£–

	1797–8	163,299	630,926		118,746

	1805–	250,599	1,860,090		2,268,608










22,992,440l. being deducted, viz. the East India Annuities transferred to the Bank. Fourth Report, 1810, p. 450.


1See the Third Report of the Committee, 1810, p. 368, and Appendix, No. 2.


1See the second and fourth Reports of the Committee of 1810.


1Fourth Report, ut supra, p. 451.


1Fourth Report ut supra, p. 262. App. No. 51.


2Third Report, ut supra, p. 373.


1“The passage in the exposition itself, p. 7, requires to be seen. ‘The company have long been in the habit of paying in England political charges strictly appertaining to the territory. For these charges he Company never have credit in the Indian accounts. The large supplies of stores, and part even of the goods, sent out annually by the Company to India, are intended for political purposes, and the whole amount of them should be brought in India to the credit of the Home concern from the time they are shipped; but the practice has been to credit the Company for them only as they were taken out from the Indian warehouses for use, and no losses of such articles in the way outwards or in India, have ever been brought to the credit of London at all. Moreover, it is evident from what has been already stated in this exposition that the supplies of goods and bullion from England have at times at least exceeded the returns in the same period. The only way therefore to come to an accurate conclusion, is to state all that England has received from India and China; and sent to or paid for India and China in any given period, and thence to strike the balance. Such a statement is exhibited in the accompanying paper, No. 5, which begins with the year 1797-8, and ends with the year 1806-7. On the one side this statement shows all that has been sent to India and China in goods, stores, and bullion, and all that has been paid for bills drawn from thence or for political charges attaching to the Indian territory; and on the other side, the statement shows all that has been sent from India and China in goods and bills and all payments received here from government, or payments made in India for commercial charges, and also for any loss that has occurred in English exports sold there. India and China are not debited for goods lost in the way thither, and they are credited for goods sent thence which have been captured or lost on the passage home. After all these allowances and adjustments, which, according to the best knowledge of the Court, comprehend every thing the account ought to contain, the balance is in favour of England, or of the Company at home 5,691,689l. If it be asked from what funds at home the Company have been able to bring India so largely indebted? the answer is obvious; from the increase of their capital stock and bonded debt, and from the considerable temporary credits they always have for investments outward. From this account it is clear, that of the sum of 19 millions of debt contracted in India since the year 1798-9 down to the year 1807-8, England, or the Company in its commercial capacity, is justly chargeable with no part, and that, on the contrary, India has in that period become largely indebted to England.”
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